
 
 

 
 

 
C O U N C I L  

 
All Members of the Council are 

HEREBY SUMMONED 
to attend a meeting of the Council 

to be held on: 
 

Monday, 24 July 2023 at 7.00 pm  
 Hackney Town Hall,  
Mare Street, E8 1EA 

 
Live stream link: https://youtube.com/live/-aCP-4xwL1Y 

 

Backup link: https://youtube.com/live/M8xk3-KUBTg 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Ian Williams  
Acting Chief Executive 
Published on: 14 July 2023 
www.hackney.gov.uk 

Contact: Natalie Williams  
Senior Governance Officer 

governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
 

 

https://youtube.com/live/-aCP-4xwL1Y
https://youtube.com/live/M8xk3-KUBTg
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

MEETING OF COUNCIL 
MONDAY, 24 JULY 2023 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence   
 
2 Speaker's Announcements  

  
2.1      Tributes to Baron Clinton-Davis, of Hackney  (1928 - 2023) 
 
3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting: Enclosed  (Pages 13 - 22) 

To consider the minutes of the Annual Meeting held on 17 May 2023 
 

4 Declarations of Interest   
 

Members are invited to consider the guidance which accompanies this 
agenda and make declarations as appropriate. 

 
5 Petitions for Debate   
 

Hackney Council has closed numerous roads across the borough without any 
consultation by abusing COVID powers. The road closures have caused a 
major impact for the local residents and businesses, as they are unable to 
access their residence and business premises. The few remaining roads are 
gridlocked all day and not just during rush hour. This is also causing major 
pollution on the gridlocked roads and will also impact the emergency services 
response times 

  
We request: 

  
1. That the road closures are reversed  
2. That the Council carry out a public consultation so that the local 

people can tell you what they want. 
3. A meeting with Mayor Philip Glanville and discussion at Full 

Council meeting  
  
Lead Petitioner: Ruth Parkinson 

 
6 Questions from Members of the Public   
 

The deadline for questions from members of the public is 12 noon, four clear 
working days before the meeting (Monday, 17 July). If you wish to submit a 
question you can do so by emailing governance@hackney.gov.uk or via the 
Council’s website.  

  

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

A supplementary agenda setting out any public questions received after the 
publication of the main agenda will be circulated shortly after this deadline. 
 

7 Questions from Members of the Council   
 
7.1     From Cllr Binnie-Lubbock to the Mayor 
  

Will the Mayor condemn the Defence and Security Equipment International 
(DSEI) arms fair due to take place in East London in September and make it 
clear that Hackney is a place of sanctuary and diversity? 
  

7.2     From Cllr Walker to the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Environment 
and Transport 

  
With energy prices skyrocketing, and a climate disaster impending, it’s clear 
the status quo for our energy market simply isn’t working and we need bold, 
new solutions to tackle some of the biggest challenges we face as a country. 
Hackney's Community Energy Fund is already helping decarbonise 14 
landmark buildings and reduce their energy bills. Can the Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change, Environment and Transport commit to continuing with the 
Community Energy Fund to fund future capital works? 
  

7.3     From Cllr Garbett to the Mayor 
  

I'm concerned that the administration has got rid of its Councillor Markets 
Champion at a time when it is needed most. Can you commit to reinstating 
the post, with independence to speak out for traders? 

  
7.4     From Cllr Turbett-Deloff to Cabinet Member for Health, Adult Social Care, 

Voluntary Sector and Culture 
  

In the month of the NHS’ 75th birthday, we recognise that we could not live 
without its life saving care, which, vitally, is free at the point of access. The 
NHS was created by a Labour Government, yet the Tories are doing their best 
to break it. After 13 years of Tory Party underinvestment, we have a mental 
health service crisis which is seeing a staggering 1.6 million people on waiting 
lists. How is the Council working with the NHS to support residents who are 
impacted by this crisis and waiting for mental health support in Hackney? 

  
7.5      From Cllr Binnie-Lubbock to the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 

Environment and Transport 
  

With spiralling costs, falling levels of residual waste and more than 30 
breaches of emissions limits at North London’s incinerator last year, when will 
the North London Waste Authority's Edmonton incinerator stop representing 
best-value for Hackney and London more widely? 

  
7.6     From Cllr Smyth to Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Environment and 

Transport 
  

Time is running out to address the climate crisis. The King and the Mayor of 
London have activated a climate clock which counts down the time left to 



 
 

balance global greenhouse gas emissions to prevent the Earth heating more 
than 1.5C above pre-industrial levels. Can the Council outline its next steps 
for how it will work with residents to reduce shared carbon footprint and 
explore Hackney establishing its own climate clock to further engage 
residents in our collective battle against climate change? 

  
7.7     From Cllr Garbett to the Mayor 
 

Hackney's Cycling Instructors provide an essential service for residents. 
Unfortunately, the current pay & conditions (particularly the current 
cancellation policy) are making the profession unsustainable in the borough. 
What are you doing to review and improve this? 

  
7.8     From Cllr Patrick to the Cabinet Member for Finance, Insourcing and 

Customer Service 
  

We know that our communities continue to struggle with rising inflation, 
increasing interest rates and the impact this has on the cost of living for all our 
residents. Could the cabinet member for finance update this chamber with the 
latest developments on what the Council is doing to support residents with the 
cost living crises and assist with claiming the benefits they are due? 

  
7.9      From Cllr Troughton to Deputy Mayor for Delivery, Inclusive Economy & 

Regeneration 
  

Due to the cost of living crisis hitting even relatively well-off homeowners and 
the rising cost of materials, small and medium sized local builders are really 
struggling to find work. Simultaneously, the Council is unable to complete 
some major works because it is unable to appoint suitable contractors. Given 
the Council's commitment to supporting local Small to Medium- sized 
Enterprises (SME’s), what is the council doing to help local builders, who are 
vital to the local economy, to make the step up into public works. e.g, by 
breaking contracts into manageable sizes for SME’s or bringing together 
consortia? 

  
7.10   From Cllr Samatar to the Cabinet Member for Health, Adult Social Care, 

Voluntary Sector and Culture 
  

Vapes are being promoted as an aid to quit smoking, but at the same time 
there are worrying stories about young people vaping. Please can the cabinet 
member for health update us on the current thinking around vapes and vaping 
and what the Council is doing to support our partners in the NHS on this 
issue? 
 

7.11 From Cllr Potter to the Mayor  
 
This July many residents, local and far, enjoyed the large music events in 
Finsbury Park. However, some residents have complained that the impact of 
building vibrations during the events was excessive and frightening for many 
residents. Can you outline how the Council is working with neighbouring 
boroughs to reassure our local residents regarding their concerns about 
cumulative structural damage to their homes? 



 
 

8 Elected Mayor's Statement   
 
9 Annual Update on Progress with Decarbonisation Commitments - Report 

of the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Environment and Transport: 
Enclosed (Pages 23 - 86) 

 
10 Adoption of Council Constitution - Report of the Director of Legal, 

Democratic and Electoral Services: Enclosed  (Pages 87 - 616) 
 
11 Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2028 -     Report of the Group Director, 

Climate Homes and Economy: Enclosed  (Pages 617 - 708) 
 
12 Members' Allowances Scheme 2023/24  - Report of the Acting Chief 

Executive & Group Director Finance and Corporate Resources: Enclosed  
(Pages 709 - 736) 

 
13 Appointment of Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and 

Returning Officer, Appointment of Interim Group Director Finance and 
Appointment of Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral 
Services and Monitoring Officer  - Report of the Acting Chief Executive & 
Group Director Finance and Corporate Resources : Enclosed  (Pages 737 - 
740) 
 

13.1 Vote of thanks to the Outgoing Acting Chief Executive & Group Director 
Finance and Corporate Resources  

 
14a Motion 1 - Hackney, A Borough of Sanctuary 
  
This Council notes: 
  

• That the Coalition and successive Conservative governments’ “Hostile 
Environment” policies deliberately make life hard for refugees, asylum 
seekers and for those who cannot prove their right to remain in the UK. 

• During the Windrush 75th anniversary year, the government is rowing 
back on key recommendations made by Wendy Williams in the 2020 
Lessons Learned Review: to create a the post of Migrants’ Commissioner; 
increase the powers of the Independent Chief Inspector of Borders and 
Immigration (ICIBI) to publish reports; and to run a series of reconciliation 
events with members of the Windrush Generation to discuss the impact of 
the scandal on their lives. 

• The Government’s cruel treatment of the Windrush Generation has forced 
many Hackney residents who were born in the UK, to go through 
unnecessary amounts of distress, with some being deported. 

• The Council will continue to celebrate tolerance and diversity and welcome 
refugees and migrants. The Council has already welcomed refugees from 
Afghanistan, Syria, Ukraine and  through formal schemes, who have made 
Hackney their home over the last 5 years. 



 
 

• The Government’s underfunding of the immigration system and the impact 
of migrant and refugee communities results in delayed decision making on 
applications, unjustifiably high and unreasonable fees for immigration 
applications, and the harsh reality of being excluded from fully participating 
in society for those who are granted leave to remain in the UK, but who 
have No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF). 

• The Home Office NRPF policy is inhumane and fails to comply with the 
legal obligation to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. It has 
also been found unlawful by the High Court for the third year in a row. 

• That the pandemic has brought further difficulties for refugees and 
migrants, including insecure work, lack of access to decent housing and 
digital exclusion. 

  
This Council further notes: 
 

• That Hackney celebrates our borough’s history of being a welcoming 
borough, and welcoming everybody, regardless of their background. The 
Council recognises the contribution of refugees, migrants and those 
seeking sanctuary to the Borough of Hackney. We are committed to 
welcoming and including them in all of our activities and actively seek 
ways in which we can support them. 

• That, throughout the pandemic, Hackney Council’s support services were 
open to anyone who needed them, no matter their immigration status. 

• Despite limitations imposed by central government, Hackney Council 
continues to try to find ways to support people with NRPF. For example, 
the Council has extended eligibility for free school meals to include some 
children of groups who have no recourse to public funds. 

• The Council celebrates Refugee Week annually and publicly shares and 
celebrates the contribution of refugees and migrants in Hackney. 

• That the Council is committed to our refugee and migrant communities. 
We support the initiative to make Hackney a recognised ‘Borough of 
Sanctuary,’ welcoming those fleeing violence and persecution and offering 
them safety. 

  
This Council resolves to: 
 

• Join a network of cities and towns which promote the inclusion and 
welfare of people who are fleeing violence and persecution in their 
own countries and become a recognised “Borough of Sanctuary”. 

• Continue to celebrate the contribution of refugee and migrant 
communities to Hackney. 

• Continue to work with organisations in Hackney who support 
refugees, asylum seekers and migrants in the borough to create an 
inclusive and welcoming borough for those seeking sanctuary here. 

• Challenge anti-refugee and anti-migrant attitudes wherever they are 
found. 

• Continue to lobby the government to reform the No Recourse to 
Public Funds condition so that people are no longer blocked from 
fully participating in society for years while they wait for their status 
to be resolved.  



 
 

• Continue to put pressure on the Government to reverse the Home 
Secretary’s plans to abandon key Commitments on the Windrush 
Compensation Scheme, following the publication of the lessons 
learned review, and for the Scheme to be run independently from the 
Home Office. 

• Work with local businesses and community partners to further tackle 
the digital divide, provide affordable access to online services and 
look at ways to donate IT devices locally to those in need, rather than 
scrapping them. 

   
Proposer: Cllr Sophie Conway 
Seconder: Cllr Midnight Ross 
  
 
14b Motion 2 - Working Towards Becoming a Fertility Friendly Borough  
  
This Council notes:  
 

• That Infertility is defined by the World Health Organisation as a disease of 
the reproductive system.  

• In the UK, it’s estimated approximately 1 in 6 heterosexual couples will 
struggle to conceive, or 3.5 million people per year. However, this number 
does not include same-sex couples, single or trans people who must also 
be afforded the right to try for a family.  

• Although often seen as a women’s health issue, the reality is that both 
men and women are just as likely to face fertility problems. Data from the 
fertility regulator, the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority, shows 
that male infertility is the most common reason for a couple to start 
treatment. 

• We welcome the sector leading work of NHS North East London in 
consulting on and then committing to more equitable access to treatment 
for all who need it. As a borough we stand on a long history of 
campaigning around NHS provision and believe all who face fertility issues 
must be treated with the same dignity.  

• There is no legal right to time off for fertility treatment. But, if a woman is 
refused leave, it could be regarded as unlawful sexual discrimination. It 
can be ruled that a failure to accommodate conditions specific to women 
are unlawful.  

• The Trade Union Congress (TUC) has asked the Equal Opportunities 
Commission to recommend leave for fertility treatment in their equality law 
reform submission.  

  
This Council: 
  

• Welcomes the sector leading work of NHS North East London in 
consulting on and then committing to more equitable access to treatment 
for all who need it. As a borough we stand on a long history of 
campaigning around NHS provision and believe all who face fertility issues 
must be treated with the same dignity. 

  



 
 

Hackney Council is therefore pleased to announce its commitment to 
becoming a fully Fertility friendly borough as endorsed by the national charity 
Fertility Network UK, and resolves: 
  

• To begin to work towards becoming a beacon of best practice via 
training for staff and managers, working towards policy 
implementation and committing to ongoing support for staff facing 
fertility issues. 

• To campaign for places of work within the London Borough of 
Hackney to be Fertility friendly, supportive to staff and to join the 
work of Fertility Networks own Fertility in the Workplace initiative.   

• To write to the Government to act upon its own recommendations in 
the women’s health strategy and the recommendations of NICE in 
fully implementing three cycles of IVF for all who are eligible.  

• To call for the implementation of recommendations in the national 
Government’s Women’s Health Strategy that same sex couples be 
afforded the same access to treatment as heterosexual couples. 

• To commit to marking fertility awareness week each year as a 
Council thereby recognising the need to support and help many of 
our residents facing this issue. 

 
Proposer: Cllr Sem Moema 
Seconder: Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge  
  
 
 
 
 
 
Dates of Future Meetings  
 

Members are requested to note the dates of Full Council meetings for 2023/24. 
All meetings of Full Council will commence at 7.00pm and are scheduled as follows: 

• 27 September 2023 
• 29 November 2023 
• 24 January 2024 (Calculation of Council Tax & Business Rates) 
• 28 February 2024 (Budget Setting) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Public Attendance  
 
The Town Hall is open.  Information on forthcoming Council meetings can be 
obtained from the Town Hall Reception.  
 
Members of the public and representatives of the press are entitled to attend Council 
meetings and remain and hear discussions on matters within the public part of the 
meeting. They are not, however, entitled to participate in any discussions. Council 
meetings can also be observed via the live-stream facility, the link for which appears 
on the agenda front sheet of each committee meeting.  
 
On occasions part of the meeting may be held in private and will not be open to the 
public. This is if an item being considered is likely to lead to the disclosure of exempt 
or confidential information in accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). Reasons for exemption will be specified for 
each respective agenda item.  
 
For further information, including public participation, please visit our website 
https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions or contact:  
governance@hackney.gov.uk 
 
Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings   
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 give the public the 
right to film, record audio, take photographs, and use social media and the internet at 
meetings to report on any meetings that are open to the public. 
 
By attending a public meeting of the Council, Executive, any committee or sub-
committee, any Panel or Commission, or any Board you are agreeing to these 
guidelines as a whole and in particular the stipulations listed below: 
 

• Anyone planning to record meetings of the Council and its public meetings 
through any audio, visual or written methods they find appropriate can do so 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting;  

• You are welcome to attend a public meeting to report proceedings, either in 
‘real time’ or after conclusion of the meeting, on a blog, social networking site, 
news forum or other online media;  

• You may use a laptop, tablet device, smartphone or portable camera to record 
a written or audio transcript of proceedings during the meeting; 

• Facilities within the Town Hall and Council Chamber are limited and recording 
equipment must be of a reasonable size and nature to be easily 
accommodated. 

• You are asked to contact the Officer whose name appears at the beginning of 
this Agenda if you have any large or complex recording equipment to see 
whether this can be accommodated within the existing facilities;  

• You must not interrupt proceedings and digital equipment must be set to 
‘silent’ mode;  

• You should focus any recording equipment on Councillors, officers and the 
public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. The Chair of 
the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they have objections 
to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a meeting are asked to 
respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed. 

https://hackney.gov.uk/menu#get-involved-council-decisions
mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


 
 

Failure to respect the wishes of those who do not want to be filmed and 
photographed may result in the Chair instructing you to cease reporting or 
recording and you may potentially be excluded from the meeting if you fail to 
comply;  

• Any person whose behaviour threatens to disrupt orderly conduct will be 
asked to leave;   

• Be aware that libellous comments against the council, individual Councillors 
or officers could result in legal action being taken against you; 

• The recorded images must not be edited in a way in which there is a clear aim 
to distort the truth or misrepresent those taking part in the proceedings; 

• Personal attacks of any kind or offensive comments that target or disparage 
any ethnic, racial, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability status 
could also result in legal action being taken against you. 

 
Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the support and 
assistance of the Council in the recording of proceedings being withdrawn. The 
Council regards violation of any of the points above as a risk to the orderly conduct 
of a meeting. The Council therefore reserves the right to exclude any person from 
the current meeting and refuse entry to any further council meetings, where a breach 
of these requirements occurs. The Chair of the meeting will ensure that the meeting 
runs in an effective manner and has the power to ensure that the meeting is not 
disturbed through the use of flash photography, intrusive camera equipment or the 
person recording the meeting moving around the room. 
 
Advice to Members on Declaring Interests  
 
If you require advice on declarations of interests, this can be obtained from: 
 

• The Monitoring Officer; 
• The Deputy Monitoring Officer; or 
• The legal adviser to the meeting. 

 
It is recommended that any advice be sought in advance of, rather than at, the 
meeting. 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) 
 
You will have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (*DPI) if it: 
 

• Relates to your employment, sponsorship, contracts as well as wider financial 
interests and assets including land, property, licenses and corporate 
tenancies. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner. 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to DPIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
If you are present at any meeting of the Council and you have a DPI relating to any 
business that will be considered at the meeting, you must: 

• Not seek to improperly influence decision-making on that matter; 



 
 

• Make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent; and 

• Leave the room whilst the matter is under consideration 
 
You must not: 
 

• Participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 
aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business; or 

• Participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 
 
If you have obtained a dispensation from the Monitoring Officer or Standards 
Committee prior to the matter being considered, then you should make a verbal 
declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI and that you have obtained a 
dispensation. The dispensation granted will explain the extent to which you are able 
to participate.  
 
 
Other Registrable Interests 
 
You will have an ‘Other Registrable Interest’ (ORI) in a matter if it 
 

• Relates to appointments made by the authority to any outside bodies, 
membership of: charities, trade unions,, lobbying or campaign groups, 
voluntary organisations in the borough or governorships at any educational 
institution within the borough. 

• Relates to an interest which you have registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs as being an interest of you, your spouse or civil 
partner, or anyone living with you as if they were your spouse or civil partner; 
or 

• Relates to an interest which should be registered in that part of the Register of 
Interests form relating to ORIs, but you have not yet done so.  

 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects a body or 
organisation you have named in that part of the Register of Interests Form relating to 
ORIs, you must make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of the DPI at 
or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 
been granted a dispensation.  
 
Disclosure of Other Interests 
 
Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which directly relates to your 
financial interest or well-being or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must 
not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 



 
 

Where a matter arises at any meeting of the Council which affects your financial 
interest or well-being, or a financial interest of well-being of a relative or close 
associate to a greater extent than it affects the financial interest or wellbeing of the 
majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest, you must declare the interest. You may only speak 
on the matter if members of the public are able to speak. Otherwise you must not 
take part in any discussion or voting on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
In all cases, where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that the interest in question is a 
sensitive interest, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest itself. 



London Borough of Hackney
Annual Meeting of Council
Municipal Year 2023/24
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

Councillors in
Attendance:

Mayor Philip Glanville - Hackney Mayor
Cllr Humaira Garasia - Outgoing Speaker
Cllr Anya Sizer - Incoming Speaker

Cllr Kam Adams, Cllr Grace Adebayo, Cllr Soraya Adejare,
Cllr Frank Baffour, Cllr Alastair Binnie-Lubbock, Deputy Mayor
Anntoinette Bramble, Cllr Robert Chapman, Cllr Mete Coban,
Cllr Sophie Conway, Cllr Michael Desmond,
Cllr Susan Fajana-Thomas, Cllr Zoë Garbett,
Cllr Eluzer Goldberg, Cllr Margaret Gordon,
Cllr Ben Hayhurst, Cllr Christopher Kennedy, Cllr Shaul
Krautwirt, Cllr Lee Laudat-Scott, Cllr Michael Levy, Cllr
Hershy Lisser, Cllr Anna Lynch, Cllr Clayeon McKenzie,
Cllr Sem Moema, Deputy Mayor Guy Nicholson,
Cllr Joseph Ogundemuren, Cllr Deniz Oguzkanli, Cllr M Can
Ozsen, Cllr Sam Pallis, Cllr Benzion Papier,
Cllr Sharon Patrick, Cllr Clare Potter, Cllr Fliss Premru,
Cllr Steve Race, Cllr Ian Rathbone, Cllr Midnight Ross,
Cllr Ali Sadek, Cllr Ifraax Samatar, Cllr Gilbert Smyth,
Cllr Simche Steinberger, Cllr Sheila Suso-Runge,
Cllr Lynne Troughton, Cllr Claudia Turbet-Delof, Cllr Joe
Walker, Cllr Carole Williams, Cllr Caroline Woodley,
Cllr Penny Wrout and Cllr Sarah Young

Apologies:

Officer Contact:

LIve Stream View:

Cllr Sade Etti, Cllr Richard Lufkin, Cllr Yvonne Maxwell,
Cllr Caroline Selman and Cllr Jessica Webb

Natalie Williams, Senior Governance Officer

https://youtu.be/EKZLI2T2eD0

Cllr Humaira Garasia in the Chair

1 The Speaker's Welcome

1.1 The Speaker welcomed everyone to the Annual Meeting of Council. A special mention
was given to Mr Stephen Howlett, CBE DL, Representative Deputy Lieutenant for the
London Borough of Hackney.

1.2 The Speaker announced the death of former Councillor David Pollock who had
recently passed away. David served as a Councillor in the late 1970’s and 1980’s and

Page 13

Agenda Item 3

https://youtu.be/EKZLI2T2eD0


Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

lived in the Stamford Hill area for many decades where he remained active in the local
community.

2 Election of the Speaker for the Municipal Year 2023/24

2.1 It was moved by Mayor Glanville and seconded by Cllr Race that Cllr Anya Sizer be
elected Speaker of the London Borough of Hackney for the Municipal Year 2023/24.

2.2 Mayor Glanville and Cllr Race (ward colleague) both spoke in support of the
nomination. Having been elected to the Hoxton East and Shoreditch ward in a
by-election in June 2021 she was returned to office in the local elections in 2022. Cllr
Sizer was commended for her campaigning for better equity in the health system and
workplace. Her advocacy for a better care system especially in the areas of fostering
and adoption and families with children with special educational needs was
highlighted. Her passion for community engagement, managing casework and love of
cake were referenced. It was noted that she had carried out the role of Deputy
Speaker with distinction.

2.3 Cllr Woodley spoke in support of the nomination.

2.4 There were no other nominations.

RESOLVED: That Cllr Anya Sizer be elected to the office of Speaker for the Municipal Year
2023/24.

Adjournment - there was a brief pause in proceedings during which the outgoing Speaker
vacated the Chair and the newly elected Speaker, Cllr Sizer was invested in the Speaker’s
robe, chain and badge of office. Cllr Sizer assumed the role of Chair for the remainder of the
meeting.

2.5 The Speaker Elect made the Declaration of Acceptance of Office, following which she
announced that her consort would be Bernadette Bramble.

Cllr Anya Sizer, Speaker in the Chair

3 Vote of Thanks to the Outgoing Speaker

3.1 Mayor Glanville moved a vote of thanks to the outgoing Speaker. He thanked Mr
Stephen Howlett, CBE DL, Representative Deputy Lieutenant for the London Borough
of Hackney, her predecessor, Cllr Desmond and her consort and mother Najma
Garasia all of whom had contributed to making Cllr Garasia’s speakership a success.
The Mayor spoke of her journey from Youth Parliament to Speaker as well as her
passion for youth activism and empowerment. Cllr Garasia was the youngest
Councillor and the youngest and first hijabi Speaker. The grace, dignity and leadership
with which she managed a very unique civic year which included the Platinum Jubilee
celebrations, marking the passing of Her Majesty, Queen Elizabth ll and
commemorating the Coronation of KIng Charles lll was commended.

3.2 The Mayor advised that Cllr Garasia had conducted over 200 events during her
tenure. He highlighted some of the specific events which Cllr Garasia had organised
which had raised over £7,500 for her chosen charities with donations still to come. He
applauded Cllr Garasia’s chairing of Council meetings which were done with “calm

Page 14



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

authority and generosity”. It was hoped that bringing together the community, including
diverse Muslim communities in the borough to celebrate Eid would continue and
become a permanent civic fixture and legacy of her speakership.

3.3 Cllr Levy, Leader of the Conservative Group offered a vote of thanks to Cllr Garasia,
for her efforts in promoting community harmony and cohesion as well as her
commitment to the charitable causes she supported. He particularly commended her
“even handed” chairing of Council meetings.

3.4 Cllr Binnie-Lubbock, on behalf of the Green Group, extended a vote of thanks to Cllr
Garasia for her warm welcome at many fundraising events. Thanks were also
extended to Cllr Garaisa’s consort, her mother, Najma Garasia for her warmth and
hospitality.

3.5 Councillors Ross (ward colleague) and Steinberger (Conservative Group Whip) also
contributed to the vote of thanks.

RESOLVED: To agree on the vote of thanks to the outgoing Speaker, Cllr Humaira Garasia.

3.4 The Speaker presented Cllr Garasia with the civic album and badge and a gift for her
consort Najma Garasia; following which Cllr Garasia addressed the Council. She
expressed gratitude for the privilege and honour of having served as Speaker of the
London Borough of Hackney, where she was born and raised and where her parents
had received citizenship.

3.5 Highlighting her most memorable moments, the Speaker thanked: fellow Councillors,
the Hackney Labour Group, officers, Cllr Sizer, Mr Stephen Howlett, CBE DL,
Representative Deputy Lieutenant for the London Borough of Hackney, her consorts
and her family for their assistance and support during her speakership.

4 Election of the Deputy Speaker 2023/24

4.1 It was moved by Deputy Mayor Bramble and seconded by Cllr Hayhurst that Cllr
Sheila Suso-Runge be elected as Deputy Speaker of the London Borough of Hackney
for the Municipal Year 2023/24.

4.2 Deputy Mayor Bramble and Cllr Hayhurst (ward colleague) both spoke in support of
the nomination. Cllr Suso-Runge’s community advocacy was praised. Described as a
‘genuine community facilitator’, she had lived in Hackney for over 40 years and had
served in the positions of Secretary, Chair, and Treasurer of her local Tenant and
Residents’ Association. Cllr Suso-Runge’s tireless work running youth and music
groups and her passion for youth engagement and ending food poverty were
highlighted.

4.3 Cllr Turbet-Delof spoke in support of the nomination.

4.4 There were no other nominations.

RESOLVED: That Cllr Suso-Runge be elected to the office of Deputy Speaker for the
Municipal Year 2023/24.Adjournment - there was a brief pause in proceedings during which
the outgoing Speaker and her consort vacated the dais and the newly elected Deputy
Speaker, Cllr Suso-Runge was invested in the Deputy Speaker’s robe and chain.

Page 15



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

4.4 The newly elected Deputy Speaker made the Declaration of Acceptance of Office. Cllr
Suso-Runge returned thanks for her election and thanked the outgoing Speaker. She
looked forward to supporting the Speaker and serving a borough that welcomed and
valued all nations, that supported fairness and inclusion and celebrated diversity. Cllr
Suso-Runge announced that her consort was Charmain Humphey.

5 Apologies for Absence

5.1 Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Etti, Lufkin, Maxwell and Selman.

6 Declarations of Interest

6.1 There were no declarations of interest.

7 MInutes of the Previous Meeting

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 1 March 2023 be agreed as a
true and accurate record of proceedings.

8 The Speaker’s Programme for the Municipal Year 2023/24

8.1 The newly elected Speaker thanked the Council for her election and the opportunity to
serve the London Borough of Hackney as Speaker for 2023/24. She relayed thanks to
Council officers who organised the Annual Meeting and supported the Speaker’s
Office and Hackney Labour Group for their encouragement and support. She thanked
the outgoing Speaker for her kindness and leadership over the past year.

8.2 The Speaker was proud to call Hackney her home and was privileged to have met
various people serving and shaping the borough. She praised the diverse,
compassionate and determined spirit of Hackney. This persevering spirit ran through
her family who had suffered adversities as Jewish and Irish immigrants. The Speaker
spoke of her advocacy work in the fertility and adoption sector as well as raising
awareness of foetal alcohol disorder, all of which were charged by her personal
circumstances. She committed to continue to champion the voices of others during her
speakership.

8.3 The Speaker thanked her friends and family in particular her husband and three
children for their unwavering support and understanding.

8.4 The Speaker announced that her consort would continue to be Bernadette Bramble
and her chosen charities would be: St Joseph's Hospice, Hoxton Hall and MInistry of
Stories.

9 Establishment and Composition of the Council’s Committees, Commissions,
Panels and Boards

RESOLVED:

1. That the Committees, Sub-Committees, Commissions, Panels and Boards as
referred to in this report and the accompanying appendices be established for
the 2023 / 2024 municipal year.

Page 16



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

2. That the appointments to those Committees etc. as set out in Appendices 2 and
3 attached to this report be approved.

3. That the nominations for Chairs and Vice-Chairs to those Committees etc. as
set out in Appendix 2 to this report be approved.

10 Appointments and Nominations to Outside Bodies

RESOLVED: To agree the appointments, or nominations for appointments, of Councillors to
outside bodies on behalf of the Council as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

11 Elected Mayor's Statement

11.1 Mayor Glanville congratulated Cllr Sizer on her election as Speaker and welcomed all
guests present, acknowledging the Representative Deputy Lieutenant for the London
Borough of Hackney and Freemen of the Borough. He thanked the Mayor and
Speaker’s Office and Governance Officers for coordinating and organising the Annual
Meeting. The Mayor wished Cllr Garbett a Happy Birthday.

11.2 The Mayor praised the collective action, commitment and dedication as well as strong
community relationships which he believed were evident in Hackney. He reflected on
some of the challenges of the past year which had impacted Hackney’s communities.
These included; inequalities highlighted by Covid, the war in Ukraine, recent
earthquakes in Turkey and Syria, the crisis in Sudan and the lack of safe and legal
routes for those seeking refuge. Focussing on some of the challenges related to
Central Government’s fiscal policy, the Mayor highlighted the cost of living and
housing crises, 10 years plus of austerity and cuts to Local Government and Public
sector funding as well as the impacts of the pandemic.

11.3 Reflecting on the achievements of the past year, he described Hackney as an
internationalist place. Mayor Glanville spoke proudly of the generosity of residents
who signed up to the Homes for Ukraine Scheme and the Council’s ongoing support
to refugees and asylum seekers. The Council would continue to oppose those who
stood against those seeking sanctuary and a better life. He was pleased to reaffirm
the twinning relationship with Suresnes, France, a commitment made 60 years ago.
Closer to home, the Mayor highlighted the Council’s commitment to support the most
vulnerable in Hackney. He reported that the Council had seen an increase of 15% in
the number of people presenting as homeless, with at least one child in every
classroom in Hackney being homeless. He described this as a national scandal and
failure of the Government. The Mayor outlined his administration's response to these
issues which included: poverty reduction work (creation of the Money Hub, Free
School Meals Task Force), investment in Special Educational Needs and Disability
school places, tackling the climate emergency through a cohesive Climate Action
Plan, investment in parks and green spaces and reviewing the housing stock; holding
housing partner’s to account.

11.4 The Mayor was pleased to highlight some of the recognition and awards that the
Council had received. These included: The Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA)
award to Taylor, Chatto and Wilmott Courts on the Frampton Park Estate and
highlighting The Hackney School of Food (winner of the Stephen Lawrence Prize
2022). Veronica Ryan OBE won a Turner Prize for her Hackney Windrush Art

Page 17



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

Commission. The Britannia site won numerous awards and Hackney also won the
‘Circular Economy Success’ award at Awards for Excellence in Recycling and Waste
Management. Hackney’s Youth Justice Service had also been recognised by
Inspectors from His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation for its ‘powerful anti-racist’
stance and bid to reduce the number of Black and Global Majority children impacted
by racism in the justice system.

11.5 Concluding, Mayor Glanville reported that Ian Williams, Group Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources and Acting Chief Executive would be leaving the Council in
August. Tributes would be paid to him at the next Council meeting in July. The Mayor
thanked Polly Cziok, former Strategic Director for Engagement, Culture and
Organisational Development who had recently left the Council for her long standing
service.

11.6 Cllr Levy, leader of the Conservative Group, responded to the Mayor’s statement. He
congratulated the new Speaker on her appointment and looked forward to working
collaboratively with her. He recognised that the current climate of unprecedented
uncertainty presented new challenges alongside the need to maintain crucial front line
services which residents relied on. Reflecting on the Council’s commemoration of
Holocaust Memorial Day, earlier in the year, Cllr Levy drew parallels with its theme of
‘Ordinary People’ and the unsung heroes of Hackney who supported the most
vulnerable residents. Concluding, he thanked Ian Williams for 17 years of exemplary
service and contribution to the Council and wished him well for his new role at
Liverpool City Council.

11.7 Cllr Garbett, responded to the Mayor’s statement on behalf of the Green group and
thanked everyone for the kind birthday wishes. She concurred that it had been a
challenging year and thanked officers for their efforts. She thanked Ian Williams for his
guidance and wished him the best for the future. Citing the recent local elections in
England, Cllr Garbett highlighted the increase in the number of Green seats by 250,
totalling 772 and the growth in support of the Greens across the country.

11.8 Reflecting on their first year in office, Cllr Garbett thanked officers for all of their help
and highlighted some of the prominent areas of work undertaken by the Green group.
These included: working with the Ridley Road Market Traders and cross party working
to prevent threat of closure to Kidzmania, a soft play centre for children. The Green
group had attended a range of community events and had attended and submitted
questions to Cabinet, Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee and the
Pensions Committee holding the Executive to account.

11.9 In support of workers’ rights, they had taken part in solidarity action for fair pay and
conditions and worked with the Unions against proposals for compulsory
redundancies within Hackney’s Library Service. The Greens had led on a motion on
Striking Workers which was passed by Full Council. In relation to housing, the Green
group continued to push for the Council to introduce borough-wide landlord Licensing
to enable greater accountability and welcomed investment in this area. They also
continued to push for the Council to address damp and mould in its housing stock. Cllr
Garbett highlighted measures taken to address the climate and biological emergency.
These included: leading on the Council passing a motion in support of the Climate and
Ecological Bill, exposing fossil fuel investment in the Council’s pension fund and
ensuring that the climate emergency was considered in all decision making.

Page 18



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

11.10 Concluding, Cllr Garbett highlighted the Green group’s ongoing commitment to
protecting human rights within a democratic society, which she believed to be
fundamental to addressing inequalities and other challenges. Work in this area
included: bringing the fair votes motion which was passed by Council, working with
community groups and campaigners, speaking out and advocating for a directly
elected Head of State and holding the police to account.Cllr Garbett expressed
concerns at the policing of the Coronation and the protests. Further concerns were
raised about the arrests of 20 people attending Non Violent Direct Action (NVDA)
training taking place in Hackney and Night Stars (volunteers) in Westminster. She
believed that Hackney had a history of activism which needed to be protected and
emphasised the importance of providing a safe space where people could voice
dissent.

11.10 In reply, the Mayor noted the importance of recognising and celebrating the
contributions of those who make a difference in Hackney. This was one of the primary
reasons for the Annual Meeting and Civic Awards. With regard to the challenges
addressing poverty, he stated that there was no equity in a ‘one size fits all’ response
and outlined the poverty reduction measures the Council had undertaken. The Mayor
explained that such measures were developed with cultural sensitivities at the
forefront with the aim of ensuring a circular and not extractive economy. The Mayor
advised that going into the summer and autumn spending review, the Council would
be advocating for the Household Support Fund which was essential to the Council’s
food justice and poverty work .

12 The Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation, Composition of the Cabinet, Establishment
and Membership of Executive Committees and/or Sub Committees; and
Appointment of Deputy Cabinet Members and Member Champions

12.1 Mayor Glanville advised that there were no significant changes to the previous year;
the most notable being the change in title from Mayoral Advisor to Deputy Cabinet
Member. This was a common title across London and would assist in the wider
recognition of the work undertaken. The other change pertained to delegated functions
in relation to school closures which were brought back under democratic control.

RESOLVED:

1. The Elected Mayor’s composition of Cabinet and appointments of Councillors to
serve as Cabinet Members as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

2. The appointments of Councillors to serve as Deputy Cabinet Members as set out
in Appendix 2 of the report.

3. The establishment of, and appointments to, executive committees as set out in
Appendix 3 of the report.

4. The appointment of Member Champions as set out in Appendix 4 of the report.

5. The Elected Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation for 2023/2024 as set out in Appendix
5 of the report.

6. That the amendments to the Constitution set out in Appendix 6 of the report are
approved and authority is delegated to the Monitoring Officer to make any further
consequential amendments that may be required to give effect to these changes.

Page 19



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

13 Strategic Plan Update - Working Together for a Better Hackney 2022-2026

13.1 The Mayor explained that the commitment was to provide an annual update for
residents on the delivery of the plan. He thanked Deputy Mayor Nicholson in his role
of Cabinet Member for delivery of the plan, Sonia khan, Head of Policy and Strategic
Delivery and the Corporate Leadership Team.

13.2 The Mayor highlighted the need for collaborative partnership working which was
integral to the delivery of the Strategic Plan - Working Together for a Better Hackney.
The contributions of the voluntary sector, activists and trade unions were recognised
within the Council system and beyond. The plan was split into three key areas and sat
alongside the Mayor’s manifesto commitments. The Mayor acknowledged that many
of the objectives of the plan were in direct contrast to Central Government Policy.

13.3 Mayor Glanville highlighted the measures and initiatives undertaken by the Council to
achieve a safer fairer Hackney; steps to reduce poverty and tackle inequalities which
were not dependent on immigration status. These included: the creation of the Money
Hub, a single point of access for emergency funding which had submitted almost
£400,000 in discretionary funds; working with refugees and migrants which had seen
almost 500 Ukranians guests housed under the Homes for Ukraine Scheme and 37
Afghan refugees accommodated as well as support for those with no recourse to
public funds. Concluding, the Mayor outlined further measures which included
refurbishment of temporary accommodation units, commitment to build new Council
homes, a refresh of the Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy which had
resulted in drug related deaths being the lowest for a decade, campaigning and
investment in the private rented sector, and support to the Windrush Generation. The
Mayor was pleased to report that 87% of all temporary accommodation placements
were moved to registered buildings in comparison to the London average which was
below one third.

13.4 Cllr BInnie-Lubbock welcomed the report. He stated that there were two areas that the
Green group would like to see definitive progress in which were the expeditious
delivery of retrofit and plant based eating.

13.5 The Mayor advised that the commitment to plant based eating would be demonstrated
at the reception following the meeting. The carbon impact of the hospitality would be
measured as a baseline with a view to reducing it. The Mayor advised that there were
manifesto commitments relating to supporting decarbonising Hackney through lifestyle
and food choices and the local economy. In addition, there was a task force group
looking at how plant based eating could be better supported throughout the wider
public sector. With regard to retrofit, the Mayor stated that it was difficult to deliver this
in the current climate of Government cuts and amidst the Housing Revenue Account
facing severe financial challenges. Ultimately the Council would need to deliver retrofit
through external funding, match funding or service charges. The Council was applying
for funding and was committed to delivering this accross its corporate estate, housing
estate and partnerships with communities. The first phase of energy efficiency and
retrofit work would be delivered to 700 Council homes throughout the next municipal
year.

RESOLVED: To note the annual update of the Strategic Plan

Page 20



Annual Meeting of Council
Wednesday, 17 May 2023

14 Amendments to the Pay Policy Statement 2023/24

RESOLVED: To note the amendments and approve the amended Pay Policy Statement
2023-24.

15 Dispensation Report - Resolution To Extend Six Month Rule - Section 85 Local
Government Act 1972

RESOLVED:

1. To note, in accordance with Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972, Cllr
Selman’s non-attendance at meetings until 24 January 2024 to accommodate
her maternity leave.

2. That during this time, Cllr Selman is exempted from the requirements of Section
85(1) so that she may lawfully continue to be a Member of the Authority.

16 Calendar of Meetings for the Municipal Year 2023/2024

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposed calendar of meetings for the 2023/2024 Municipal Year as set
out in Appendix 1 be approved.

2. That the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services be authorised to
make any changes to the calendar as may prove necessary from time to time

End of meeting.

Duration of the meeting: 7:00-8:55 pm

Contact: Natalie Williams
Senior Governance Officer
governance@hackney.gov.uk

Page 21

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Title of Report Annual Update on Progress with Decarbonisation
Commitments

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24th July 2023

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All

Group Director Rickardo Hyatt, Group Director Climate Homes and
Economy

1. Cabinet Member Introduction

1.1. This is our fourth annual decarbonisation report demonstrating progress with
the key goals that were outlined last year for the past 12 months. This year
has seen us, alongside ongoing practical delivery, develop the Climate
Action Plan (CAP) as the framework to take the increasingly urgent need for
action forward, both as a Council and a borough.

1.2. Global and national reports over the last year though have not provided any
comfort regarding progress to address the climate and ecological crisis.
Those from the Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change, the United
Nations and our own Climate Change Committee confirm a narrowing
window to reduce carbon emissions, protect and enhance biodiversity,
alongside the very real impacts that are already happening globally.

1.3. Last summer saw the UK pass 40C, with problems for our infrastructure and
excessive demands on services such as hospitals. Wildfires caused one of
the biggest firefighter call-outs known, heat-related deaths across Europe
numbered in the tens of thousands.

1.4. We are all experiencing this in some way, particularly the most vulnerable
and whilst progress may need to be faster, the Council remains ambitious in
its plans. In particular our newly adopted CAP with its 21 goals, 5 themes
and related objectives provides the focus for the change needed by 2030 or
sooner locally. This will need close collaboration across a wide range of
partners, putting our residents and businesses at the heart.

1.5. Rather than just setting goals, the CAP is now underpinned by a three year
Council Implementation Plan (CIP) that contains a robust set of initial actions
to achieve the changes needed, with an emphasis on where we currently
have most control and influence. The CIP will need to evolve over time,
adding actions as they arise but fixed on the strategic direction of travel

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



needed. Hence, it doesn’t capture everything we as a Council might be
doing, noting that the levels below the CAP will contain more detailed and
granular plans.

1.6. Whilst there is a recognition of the challenge, we are committed to trying to
stay ahead where we can, providing thought leadership on various
innovative initiatives such as our Community Energy Fund. A recent trip to
Denmark looked at how the country has made such significant progress in
delivering heat networks, with 64% of households connected compared to
relatively low levels in the UK. We are now looking at participating in a longer
term relationship through the Danish Embassy to be able to bring this
experience to the benefit of Hackney.

1.7. External funding applications for building retrofit continue to have successes,
with our attention aimed at our social housing portfolio and wider corporate
buildings. Our plans to secure more are growing, by being well prepared
when they become available and making larger sized bids. We have already
committed some £61 million investment over the next three years, was
approved as part of budget setting for 2023/24 for climate initiatives to
underpin and provide the necessary impetus to our plans and there are
ambitions to commit more as further external funding is secured.

1.8. Prior to adoption of the CAP in May this year we rejoined the UK100
network, commiting to a 2030 net zero target for our non-tenanted buildings
and fleet vehicles. In this Full Council report we clarify the initial scope of
Council buildings, which goes further by including our leisure centres some
of the biggest tenanted energy users. The full list will be made publicly
available after the Summer.

2. Summary

2.1. This report and its appendices provide an update to Full Council on progress
with the Council’s decarbonisation commitments and covers:

● The Council Implementation Plan (IP) for the three year period to July
2026 to support the delivery of the recently adopted Climate Action
Plan, in Appendix 1;

● Confirmation of the initial scope of Council buildings to meet the UK100
membership requirements of ‘net zero’ by 2030;

● Key practical achievements from the last 12 months including specific
sections of funding and awards, and a review of progress on key tasks
for the Environmental Sustainability Board (ESB) set out in the report to
Full Council in July 2022, in Appendix 2: and

● An outline of the ESB outline work plan for the next 12 months to July
2024.

Page 24



3. Recommendations

3.1. There are no formal recommendations contained within this report. This
report is to provide Full Council with an annual update on progress with our
decarbonisation commitments and supporting appendices.

4. Background

Hackney Climate Action Plan

4.1. The climate and ecological crisis is having a significant negative impact in
Hackney and across the world through increased extreme weather events,
such as flooding and extreme heat, putting communities, ecosystems and
natural resources at risk. Without drastic reductions in emissions, and
adaptation to higher rainfall and warmer temperatures, the impacts of climate
change will continue to worsen – affecting our lives and those of future
generations. In response, the Council declared a climate emergency in 2019,
supported by an ambitious vision to rebuild a greener Hackney in the wake
of the coronavirus pandemic.

4.2. Hackney has made progress in reducing emissions over the last decade.
Nevertheless, without faster action, driven by ambitious policies and targets,
we won’t be able to protect communities and ecosystems from the effects of
climate change.

4.3. The Hackney Climate Action Plan (CAP) is the first holistic borough-wide
plan to address the climate and ecological crisis, bringing together the
various strands into one overall document and as such, is a key marker in
consolidating the journey to net zero. The CAP was formally adopted at
Cabinet in May 2023.

4.4. The Hackney CAP sets out the ambitious, science-based changes to work
towards achieving a reduction in carbon emissions by 2030. All of these
changes are organised into five themes: Adaptation, Buildings, Transport,
Consumption and Environmental Quality. Within each theme, are a set of
ambitious 2030 goals. There are also cross-cutting themes of Green
Economy and Social Justice.

4.5. The CAP sets out an integrated approach for tackling the climate and
ecological crisis. It provides a framework for everyone to take action to
reduce emissions and adapt to the climate change that is already occurring,
driven by an ambitious vision for a fairer and greener Hackney in 2030.
Designed to set us in the right direction, it will continue to need to be
developed to keep pace with shifts across society, technology and wider
policy, including the changing needs of communities, groups and
organisations in Hackney.

Page 25



Council Implementation Plan

4.6. Sitting alongside the CAP is a Council Implementation Plan (IP), which
provides a detailed set of proposed key actions for the Council to undertake
(by theme) initially over the next three years. The IP contributes to delivering
the goals and objectives, considering where the Council has direct control
and most influence to maintain momentum with its own climate response.
The IP is the key strategic programme delivery document for the Council’s
climate emergency commitments for the next three years. This document will
continue to be subject to regular review and will further evolve over time.

4.7. A summary of the key areas of focus are set out below:

● Actions where the Council either have direct control or influence, as
well as potential for wider co-benefits;

● Developing robust funding models and funding bids to meet delivery
requirements;

● Resolving or reducing technical and legal constraints to delivery, e.g.
understanding the Council’s building stock better, delivering pilots;

● Getting the organisation into the best place to meet the challenge, to
include reskilling and carbon literacy, tailoring additional staff
resources, as well as making better use of resources already in place
and embedding accountability for net zero more widely;

● Joining up the work more effectively both internally and with others,
including consolidating partnerships to accelerate delivery - London
Councils, Local Government Association (LGA), Mayor of London
(MoL), and Local Authorities (LAs), amongst others;

● Ensuring social justice and fairness are fully considered in actions such
as impacts on vulnerable and/or at risk communities/groups;

● Putting in place the right local policy and guidelines to aid delivery, e.g.
informing future Local Plan review; and

● Scaling quickly areas of high impact that are already well advanced
such as ‘No regrets’ actions such as Low Traffic Neighbourhoods and
active transport.

4.8. It is likely that progress may be faster in some thematic areas of the CAP
than others. This is evident within the IP where actions that address the
objective of retrofitting and decarbonising the Council’s social housing
include significant enabling actions to facilitate future scaling of delivery.

4.9. The Council’s own ability to make carbon reductions is based on what it can
control or influence. It is directly responsible for about 5% of local area
territorial emissions. However, it has many levers that can be used to deliver

Page 26



wider local action to reduce emissions and prepare local areas for a
changing climate particularly through leadership and placemaking.

4.10. There are a further 25% of territorial emissions that it has strong influence
over. For example, from a built environment perspective the Council would
be considered to have high influence over new housing and social housing
activities. There is also good influence in respect of transport and waste.

4.11. Non-territorial emissions associated with consumption are where the
Council’s leverage may be more variable. Many decisions lie with individuals
and require behavioural change with consumption emissions from a diverse
range of sources. Notwithstanding, the Council has prioritised areas where it
has strong levers to effect change such as waste, food, procurement, the
circular economy, the Council's pension fund, as well as the embodied
carbon within its own future developments, amongst others.

4.12. The IP includes actions regarding adaptation and environmental quality that
apply similar guiding principles as that for emissions, with the Council having
key direct control responsibilities for its parks, green spaces and housing
amenity sites, as well as emergency planning responsibilities for extreme
weather events, alongside others. Key enabling actions in the IP regarding
adaptation reflect the need for more focus nationally to drive progress.
Furthermore, there are wide ranging influencing roles in respect of new
biodiversity net gain responsibilities through planning and statutory
responsibilities for air quality.

4.13. An initial period of three years was selected for the IP to:

● Provide a sharper focus on the key actions needed now to maintain
momentum;

● Help focus on actions that would enable the Council to scale activities
for the period post the initial three year plan robustly; and

● Recognise that the technology and costs associated with net zero
actions are changing rapidly and hence deliverability may change
markedly over time potentially creating shifting focuses for action in the
future.

4.14. An earlier draft of the IP was included in the appendices for the October
2022 Cabinet approval for the draft CAP to go out to public consultation.
Although this wasn’t a formal part of the consultation, a number of more
detailed comments and suggestions were received, generally from those
with a specialist knowledge of the climate and ecological agenda. These
were assessed as part of the consultation responses. Changes needed to
the IP have included:

● Addressing additional and/or updated objectives plus developing
related actions where needed;

Page 27



● Making actions SMARTer where possible;

● Finalising indicative timings and lead responsibilities; and

● Further prioritisation and review of the actions already included for
impact for both carbon and other significant co-benefits.

4.15. Original plans were that the IP should form part of the additional documents
for the May 2022 Cabinet report to adopt the CAP. However, due to the more
significant revisions needed to the IP noted above, it now forms a part of this
annual report to Full Council. The IP is attached as Appendix 1.

UK100 membership 2030 ‘net zero’ commitment

4.16. The Council’s existing target for its own greenhouse emissions requires a
45% reduction by 2030 based on a 2010 baseline and ‘net zero’ by 2040.
However, it has also been clear that where it can move faster it will
endeavour to do so, regardless of the stated ‘net zero’ targets. In January
2022, the Mayor and Lead Member made a statement to Full Council
outlining their ambition to rejoin the UK100 network. This followed earlier
work to review ‘net zero’ targets set out within the original Climate
Emergency declaration and to bring the Council in closer alignment with key
stakeholders across London.

4.17. UK100 outline the benefits of membership of UK100 as:

● Support the Council in fulfilling our commitments to tackling the climate
emergency and delivering net zero;

● Facilitating dialogue with national politicians and senior officials across
Whitehall, amplifying the voices of local leaders via collective advocacy
to national government;

● Enabling knowledge sharing between members including meetings,
webinars, roundtables and workshops, and promoting best practice via
social media (Twitter and Linkedin) and newsletters;

● Providing tailored insights, evidence and recommendations on the
challenges and solutions to local Net Zero, inviting members to inform
and participate in research connecting us with world-leading business
and industry to help plan and implement the solutions needed to
reduce emissions in our local area; and

● Demonstrating the collective ambition, commitment and ability of
democratically elected local leaders to deliver Net Zero.

4.18. The Council was previously a member of the UK100 membership network,
albeit based on different membership criteria that required the Council to
sign up to a commitment to ‘use 100% clean energy across the full range of
functions by 2050’. UK100 have since modified their membership criteria and
now require the adoption of a ‘net zero’ target for Council territorial

Page 28



emissions (within the current UK100 emission scope) by 2030 and
boroughwide by 2045 (some five years later than the current Council ‘net
zero’ commitment). In respect of the latter, committing to a boroughwide ‘net
zero’ target wider than the Council activities will require further dialogue with
external stakeholders.

4.19. The current UK100 2030 ‘net zero’ membership requirements for Council
‘direct control’ emissions includes greenhouse gas emissions reductions for
non-tenanted buildings e.g. Hackney Service Centre etc, as well as Council
owned vehicle fleet e.g. light commercial vehicles etc. The Council rejoined
the UK100 membership network on 17th May 2023. As such the Council
now has a revised ‘net zero target’ of 2030 for territorial emissions that fall
within the above scope.

4.20. It was agreed at Cabinet in May 2023 as part of adoption of the CAP that the
full detail of the initial territorial emissions buildings scope to be applied in
pursuance of the Council’s revised 2030 ‘net zero’ target be brought to Full
Council in July 2023 as part of the annual decarbonisation report.

4.21. The initial territorial emissions scope is therefore summarised below. The full
detailed list will be made public on the Council’s website in September 2023:

● Core Council Buildings including libraries and frontline service delivery
depots;

● Housing community halls and housing depots; and

● Leisure Centres - some of the largest energy users.

4.22. There is no standard scope definition provided by UK100 and it is for each
local authority to choose what they want to report on as their core
non-tenanted buildings list. The above list is however wider than strictly
Council non-tenanted buildings.

4.23. Schools have not been included in the initial scope, noting they are classed
as tenanted. Initial assessment has revealed some significant complexities
regarding data collection based on their status - academies, maintained
schools etc, as well as managing impacts on annual emissions reporting
should schools that are currently supplied their energy via the Council's
energy supply contract, cease to do so; note, only a proportion of schools
have energy supplied through the Council’s energy supply contract. Further
discussions between the Energy and Carbon Management Service and the
Education Service are underway regarding addressing these matters.

Outline annual Environmental Sustainability Board (ESB) work plan

4.24. Each year a high level summary of the 12 month work plan for the ESB is
included, noting that some tasks due to their complexity may extend beyond
the 12 month period. This is set out below and looks at five key focus areas:

Page 29



(a) Monitoring, reviewing and reporting

● Oversight of the further development of the monitoring and reporting
framework for borough-wide and Council territorial emissions;

● Oversight of the development of headline performance indicators and
targets to track progress on territorial emissions within the Council's
direct control;

● Approval of annual progress reporting on decarbonisation to Full
Council and annual review of UK100 scope;

● Oversight of the development of options with key partners to establish
the headline key performance indicators for tracking progress on
carbon reduction associated with the overall CAP, focusing on the
relevant borough-wide goals in the CAP;

● Oversight of the development of headline key performance indicators
where carbon reduction is not the focus e.g. adaptation and green
economy;

● Oversight of the assessment of options to capture wider social and
economic co-benefits of climate actions such as health to inform
considerations of social justice and inequality, and green economy;

● Oversight of the assessment of options with key partners for public
reporting of progress on the borough-wide CAP;

● Oversight of updates to the Council Implementation Plan; and

● Oversight of the updating of the current borough-wide baseline
assessment where needed to establish an updated baseline and inform
targets with which to track progress against.

(b) Governance

● Oversight of formal programme management arrangements for the
adopted CAP;

● Review of Terms of Reference of the Council’s internal climate
response governance structures;

● Oversight of the development of the role for the Scrutiny Panel and
Commissions in the governance of climate activities;

● Oversight of the establishment of the external Hackney Net Zero
Partnership; and

● Development and agreement of the community oversight structures for
the CAP, working alongside others.

Page 30



(c) Communications and Engagement

● Oversight of the development and review of internal and external
Communications Plans to support the Council’s climate response; and

● Oversight of the development of the wider external deliberative
engagement programme to support the delivery of CAP.

(d) Organisational Development

● Oversight of the delivery of an internal Green Skills Review and its
recommendations;

● Oversight of development of an internal carbon literacy programme
across the organisation; and

● Oversight of the broader internal training programme to enhance
engagement expertise to support the Council's climate response.

(e) Funding and resourcing

● Oversight of the further development of the Funding Strategy for the
Council’s climate response; and

● Oversight of horizon scanning activities and approval for bids and
resources in respect of external funding to aid the Council's climate
response.

5. Annual update on progress with decarbonisation commitments

5.1. The annual update on progress with decarbonisation commitments is
attached as Appendix 2.

6. Comments of the Group Director of Finance and Corporate Resources.

6.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report however,
dealing with the Climate Emergency represents the single largest financial
challenge that Local Government faces over the medium to long term.
Significant capital resources need to be identified, investment in new
technology is needed, new methods of delivery and collaborative ways of
working both within and outside the Council are required.

6.2. Hackney is at the forefront of these efforts, both recognising the scale of the
Climate Emergency and building in remediating action to tackle it as part of
Business As Usual, as well as developing plans to tackle the big ticket items.

6.3. As part of the Council’s existing programme of work to tackle the Climate
Emergency, £61 million investment over the next three years was approved
as part of budget setting for 2023/24. This investment includes programmes
to decarbonise non-housing buildings, complete the switch of street lights

Page 31



and estate lighting to energy efficient LED bulbs, green initiatives across our
housing estates and green screens in the borough’s schools, investment in
fleet vehicles with greener alternatives, additional cycle hangars for residents
and rolling out Electric Vehicle charging points. In addition, the Council was
awarded £4.5m in Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) grant, in
March 2023 to fund retrofit improvements to over 500 Council homes to
make them more energy efficient. There is a minimum 50% match
contribution required by the grant and this project will see upwards of £9m
investment over the next 2 years in our hardest to heat street properties to
bring them up to an energy efficiency C rating.

6.4. The Council continues to seek a diverse range of sources of funding, bidding
for government grants, when they become available, to support the green
agenda. However, the scale of funding required to deliver works to meet the
Council’s Net Zero ambitions is vast & far beyond what can be achieved
through traditional funding mechanisms, from either local or national
Government. To that end, innovative ways of delivering funding on the scale
required are being explored, ranging from lobbying Government for
long-term financing, to issuing municipal bonds, to leveraging in patient
capital from private sector institutions such as pension funds.

6.5. It is expected that the delivery of Net Zero will create green job opportunities
within the borough, provide an associated boost to the local economy and
deliver co-benefits across the borough.

7. VAT implications on land and property transactions

7.1. Not applicable

8. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

8.1. The purpose of this report is to provide Full Council with an annual update
on progress with the Councils decarbonisation commitments. There are no
legal implications arising from this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 Council Implementation Plan 2023-2026

Appendix 2 Annual update on progress with decarbonisation commitments
July 2023

Background documents

Adoption Climate Action Plan 2023-2030

Page 32

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1E7AyY0wzWjlMJ-BGqF0K2dJBXsfprAFf/view


Report Author Matthew Carrington
Strategic Corporate Lead - Climate Emergency
matthew.carrington@hackney.gov.uk
0208 356 7969

Comments for the Group
Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources
prepared by

Deirdre Worrell
Director of Finance, Climate Homes and
Economy
deirdre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
0208 356 7350

Comments for the Director
of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services
prepared by

Josephine Sterakides
Senior Lawyer, Litigation and Public Realm
josephine.sterakides@hackney.gov.uk
0208 356 2775

Page 33

mailto:matthew.carrington@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:deirdre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:josephine.sterakides@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Hackney Council  
Implementation Plan
2023–2026

black
11 mm clearance 
all sides

white
11 mm clearance 
all sides

CMYK
11 mm clearance 
all sides

Hackney

Page 35



Contents

The Hackney Council Implementation Plan provides a detailed 
set of proposed actions for the Council to carry out over the next 
three years that contribute to delivering the goals and objectives 
under each of the five Climate Action Plan themes. 

The Implementation Plan outlines action that the Council has 
direct control over and considers where it has most influence to 
maintain momentum on its own climate response. In addition  
to the five themes, there are actions under a cross-cutting theme 
of Green Economy.

For more detail please see the full version online:

 
Climate Action Plan 2023–2030

If you need any information in this document in a different format, please email: 

 
consultation@hackney.gov.uk 

We’ll consider your request and get back to you in five working days. 

- Adaptation  3

- Buildings  6

- Transport 10

- Consumption 13

-  Environmental Quality 16

-  Green Economy 19

Page 36

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1E7AyY0wzWjlMJ-BGqF0K2dJBXsfprAFf/view
mailto:consultation%40hackney.gov.uk?subject=


Adaptation
Ensuring that we are prepared for and resilient to the impacts of 
the climate emergency, protecting our most vulnerable residents. 

3

Page 37



1

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

A.1 Overheating

A.1.1
Build understanding and raise awareness of the 
possible risks and impacts of overheating in Hackney

Assess emergency response plans to ensure extreme 
heat risks are adequately reflected, prioritising 
vulnerable and at risk groups

No
Civil Protection 

Service
Y1 Strategies & plans

Deliver a communications programme on extreme heat 
risks, focusing on behavioural change advice for 
vulnerable and at risk groups, alongside others

No Communications Y2 Education & training

A.1.2
Create a network of ‘cool spaces’ in existing buildings, 
streets and public spaces

Map and track publicly and freely accessible cool spots 
in Hackney parks and spaces, including council 
buildings, adding these to the GLA Cool Spot Map

No Civil Protection 
Service

Y1 Strategies & plans

Develop further phases of tree planting to increase 
tree canopy and solar shading - prioritising hottest 
areas of Urban Heat Island mapping and vulnerable 
communities.

Planning Stage Streetscene Y2-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

A.1.3
Ensure new and existing buildings are both energy 
efficient and not prone to overheating during 
heatwaves

Review planning documentation and guidance to 
ensure overheating is adequately embedded in new 
area action plans and supplementary planning 
guidance

Planning Stage Planning Y1-3
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Consider resilience to future overheating as part of 
capital works to retrofit council owned or managed 
buildings, accounting for critical systems, energy use 
and occupant comfort - see 'Buildings' theme

No
Corporate Property 

and Housing 
Services

Y2-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Assess a representative stock of Council-owned and 
managed buildings for overheating risks, identifying 
those typologies most likely to overheat 

No
Corporate Property 

and Housing 
Services

Y2 Strategies & plans

A.2 Flooding

A.2.1
Expand the sustainable urban drainage network 
(SuDS), including increased urban greening

Further develop a programme of works for Sustainable 
Drainage systems, particularly in areas where flooding 
is recurrent

Yes Streetscene Y1 Strategies & plans

A.2.2
Ensure new buildings are flood resilient and don’t 
contribute to increased surface water run-off

Produce a practical guide to ensure all future basement 
developments are resistant and resilient to 
groundwater and surface water flooding

No Planning Y2 Education & training

Establish SuDS approval body in line with government 
requirements and implement new national standards 
once agreed

No Streetscene Y2 Strategies & plans

A.2.3
Ensure Hackney is fully integrated with cross-borough 
flood management schemes

Establish effective avenues to fund major flood 
mitigation schemes and secure funding needed

No Streetscene Y1-2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Implement two larger flood risk alleviation schemes 
within the borough

Planning Stage Streetscene Y3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

A.3 Conservation & Resilient Planting

A.3.1
Plant climate-resilient species, particularly in streets 
and civic spaces to support transport related objectives 
for increased walking and cycling
Review and update 50% of parks and greenspace 
management plans to embed climate resilience 
principles

Yes
Parks and Green 

Spaces
Ongoing Strategies & plans

Develop a Hackney Urban Forest Plan No Streetscene Y1-2 Strategies & plans

A.3.2
Tackle invasive species and new plant diseases in line 
with national protocols and guidance

Better understand primary locations of invasive species 
and develop action plan for control where the Council 
is responsible or has influence

No
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y2 Strategies & plans

4

Page 38



2

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

A.4 Community Preparedness

A.4.1 Partner and collaborate with climate resilience groups

Undertake a borough climate resilience assessment 
with partners and community

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

A.4.2
Ensure better advance warning of potential flood and 
heatwave events and signpost the support available

Review existing extreme weather plans and processes 
with partners

Planning Stage Public Health Y1 Strategies & plans

Update the Multi-Agency Flood Response Plan in 
Hackney to ensure a robust response plan is in place in 
case of emergency

No Streetscene Y2 Strategies & plans

Implement a new flood reporting system by 2025 that 
collects data in a central location, making it easier to 
share with partners

No Streetscene Y3
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Provide signposts for partners and residents to climate 
risk guidance on the Hackney Council website

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1 Education & training

A.4.3
Ensure borough-wide systems and processes are 
prepared for extreme events

Assess relevant Council front line service business 
continuity plans for resilience to extreme weather 
events

No Various Y2 Strategies & plans

Implement recommendations that arise out of the 
Borough climate resilience assessment

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y2-3 Strategies & plans

5

Page 39



Removing gas boilers, adding solar panels and 
decreasing energy use in our buildings, reducing  
fuel poverty. 

Buildings
Removing gas boilers, adding solar panels and decreasing energy 
use in our buildings, reducing fuel poverty. 

6

Page 40



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

B.1 Retrofit

B.1.1
Increase retrofits and energy monitoring in private 
buildings

Signpost private housing owners to guidance that 
supports them to access funding for retrofit

No Y2 - dependant on 
stock modelling 

project

Strategies & plansDevelop robust future enforcement response to MEES 
regulations for applicable commercial and residential 
properties

No Housing Strategy Y2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Update planning requirements for minor 
developments and extensions to incentivise retrofits

No Planning Y2-3
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Deliver further phases of Green Homes programme in 
privately owned or rented homes (based on eligibility 
criteria) and leverage other funding (e.g. HUG2)

Yes
Hackney Light and 
Power

Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Deliver area-based awareness campaign for residents 
in privately owned homes to help them reduce energy 
use and access government funding schemes

Planning Stage Communications Y2-3 Education & training

B.1.2 Increase retrofits in Council buildings (owned or 
managed) and other public buildings

Deliver approved Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund 
projects at London Fields Lido, Clissold Leisure Centre 
and Queensbridge Leisure Centre, amongst others. 

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y1-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Submit Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund 
applications for future bidding rounds once launched – 
subject to eligibility criteria.

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y1

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Survey 50% of Council operated commercial buildings 
embedding identified energy efficiency improvements 
in funding bids.

Yes
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Deliver approved Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund 
project to retrofit 600–700 Council housing street 
properties.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

Planning Stage Housing Services Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Submit Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund 
applications for future bidding rounds once launched – 
subject to eligibility criteria.

Planning Stage Housing Services Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Secure expertise and resources to develop scalable 
solutions to the 'non-technical' barriers to 
decarbonisation of Hackney owned housing 

Planning Stage Housing Services Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Review energy saving advice to vulnerable resident 
groups

No Housing Services Y2 Strategies & plans

B.1.3
Increase retrofits in conservation areas and heritage 
buildings where appropriate

Produce new guidance on achieving retrofit & 
refurbishment in conservation areas and provide high 
level guidance for listed buildings, seeking to balance 
energy demand reductions and heritage

Planning Stage Planning Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Pilot projects to trial new methods & technologies to 
retrofit traditionally constructed [pre 1919] buildings 
(including those on the statutory list); sympathetic 
retrofit of post war buildings in conservation areas

Yes Corporate Property Y2-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Signpost residents to existing guidance on the retrofit 
and refurbishment of historic buildings

Yes Planning Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

B.2 Gas Phase-out

B.2.1
Deliver additional infrastructure that supports low 
carbon heating & hot water, including District Heat 
Networks

Assess options to further establish Hackney Light and 
Power as a municipal energy services company.

Planning Stage
Hackney Light & 

Power
Y1 Strategies & plans

Develop area-based Local Area Energy Plan (LAEP) and 
engage anchor organisations, businesses and residents 
to produce these

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Develop a programme of works to improve the 
efficiency of existing communal heating networks in 
housing.

Planning Stage Housing Services Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

7

Page 41



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Deliver two new heat networks at Woodberry Down 
and on the Colville Estate and adjoining public 
buildings (e.g. Britannia Leisure Centre).

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y1-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Explore the feasibility of pursuing zero emissions 
waste-to-energy (excluding incineration) & direct 
carbon removal systems and their potential for 
delivering low / zero carbon energy to heat networks

No
Energy & Carbon 

Management 
Y2-3 Strategies & plans

B.2.2
Replace gas boilers with heat pumps and other low 
carbon heat sources in public and private buildings and 
infrastructure

50% of the Council's total electricity needs are covered 
by a renewable Power Purchase Agreement.

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management 
Y2-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Deliver pilots to a minimum of two schools through 
provision of decarbonised energy sources

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y1-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop an action plan to support maintained schools 
to reach net zero or best achievable outcome by 2030

No Corporate Property Y2-3 Strategies & plans

Replace gas boilers with decarbonised energy 
generation for Council owned & operated buildings 
inline with the emerging Heat Network Strategy 

Planning Stage
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y2-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Prepare a net zero roadmap for retrofit and removal of 
gas from the Council’s housing stock aligned with 1.5 
degree C pathway (incorporated into the Housing Asset 
Management Strategy) - in line with the Heat Network 
Strategy [see above]

No Housing Services Y2-3 Strategies & plans

B.3 Embodied & Operational Carbon of New Builds

B.3.1
Prioritise maintenance, thermal upgrades and adaptive 
reuse instead of building demolition

Develop a methodology to assess the relative merits of 
refurbishment vs new-build in planning assessments

No Planning Y2-3
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Confirm Article 4 Directions, where feasible, to ensure 
any 'change of use' from commercial to residential are 
subject to climate change policies

Yes Planning Y1-2
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

B.3.2
Increase the reuse of construction materials and 
reductions in construction waste

Prepare circular economy guidance applicable to major 
planning applications & large regeneration projects.

No Planning Y2-3 Strategies & plans

Adopt relevant guidance and best practice including 
the planned new Code of Practice (CoP) to reduce and 
manage waste in construction

Planning Stage
Land Water Air 

Team 
Y2 Strategies & plans

Join cross-borough efforts to accelerate material reuse Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y2

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

B.3.3

Embed higher operational and embodied carbon 
standards in future policy and design, considering 
alignment with UK Net Zero Building Standards, LETI 
and other relevant industry led best practice for 
developments

Update carbon pricing standards Planning Stage Planning Y1-2
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Develop and approve embodied and operational 
carbon standards for future Council building 
development projects and adopt climate resilient 
design code for Council-led development

Planning Stage
Housing 

Regeneration and 
Delivery

Y2
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Review feasibility of extending requirements for the 
production of pre-demolition, energy and whole-life 
carbon assessments to a greater proportion of 
planning applications

No Planning Y2-3
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Enhance the Sustainability category in Hackney's 
Design Awards, adding measure of whole life carbon

Planning Stage Planning Y2
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

8

Page 42



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Meet ambitious operational and embodied carbon 
planning requirements, as set out in the London Plan 
2021

Lead on London Councils Low Carbon Development 
programme, improving cross borough collaboration 
and knowledge sharing to substantially increase the 
delivery of low carbon buildings

Yes Planning Ongoing
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

B.4 Renewable Power

B.4.1
Increase the deployment of solar panels across public 
and private buildings

Explore strengthening microgeneration and battery 
storage requirements for future Council development 
projects

No
Housing 

Regeneration and 
Delivery

Y2-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Set up a public database for reporting renewable 
energy installations in the borough, and monitor 
renewable performance

Planning Stage
Hackney Light & 

Power
Y1

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Promote the Solar Together scheme to all eligible 
Hackney residents with target of 0.3 MWpeak by 2026

Yes
Hackney Light & 

Power
Ongoing Education & training

Develop 5 MWpeak of bid-ready projects for PV 
installation on Council residential and non-residential 
buildings

Planning Stage
Hackney Light & 

Power
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Install a minimum of 2 MWpeak of renewables on 
Council-owned residential and non-residential 
buildings

Yes
Hackney Light & 

Power
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

B.4.2 Explore further opportunities for renewable energy.

Explore feasibility of wind power for microgeneration 
of clean & green electricity (any large scale onshore 
wind is subject to central government policy)

No
Energy & Carbon 

Management
Y2-3 Strategies & plans

B.4.3
Increase the number of community and cooperative 
solar panel projects

Deliver annual rounds of Hackney's Community Energy 
Fund to multiple community interest groups.

Yes
Hackney Light & 

Power 
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

9

Page 43



Reducing emissions from the transport network, 
improving air quality and helping residents live active 
and healthy lifestyles.

Transport
Reducing emissions from the transport network, improving air 
quality and helping residents live active and healthy lifestyles.

10

Page 44



Hackney AQAP

.

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever  

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

T.1 Clean Fuels

T.1.1
Expand the EV charging network, both on street and in 
commercial and domestic settings

Continue installing EV charging points to provide 3,000 
accessible charging points by 2026.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Tighten parking control measures designed to 
disincentivise the use of petrol and diesel vehicles

Planning Stage Parking Services Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Support the proposed expansion of the TfL London 
Ultra Low Emission Zone across Hackney

Yes Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.1.2
Reduce transport greenhouse gas emissions from 
Council, business and institutional vehicle fleets
Replace 10% of the Council’s diesel fleet with electric 
vehicles, bikes and e-bikes

Yes Fleet services Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Undertake assessment of charging needs and options 
to enable Council fleet transion to electric

Planning Stage Fleet services Y1 Strategies & plans

T.2 Walking and cycling
T.2.1 Increase rates of walking and cycling

Offer cycle training to 6,000 children at the primary 
and secondary school level.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

Work with local business networks to better 
understand travel to work needs and promote cycle to 
work schemes (Zero Emissions Network)

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Undertake campaigns to promote walking and cycling 
in schools, public spaces and with local groups

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

T.2.2
Expand cycling infrastructure and promote 
opportunities for green infrastructure on cycle 
corridors

Design and complete a Cycling Network incorporating 
LTNs and tracks on main roads

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Roll out cycling road safety measures, including traffic 
filters and junction improvements

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Publish an accessible map showing all key cycling 
routes in the borough and share asset data with 
relevant organisations and travel apps

Planning Stage Streetscene Y3 Education & training

Continue to expand the cycle hangar network with 
4,000 new cycle spaces by 2026

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.3 Car and Motorbike Traffic

T.3.1 Improve the accessibility of public transport

Deliver accessible bus stop network and streetscape 
upgrades for accessibility at rail stations

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Review a minimum of 15 bus stop interchanges to 
ensure that they work well in the transport network 
and their impact as trip generators

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Strategies & plans

T.3.2
Research the feasibility and viability of introducing 
Road User Charging in Hackney

Increase proportion of low traffic streets in Hackney, 
subject to investigation and engagement – target of 
75% of all eligible roads in Hackney to be within an LTN

Planning Stage Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Complete early documentation: feasibility study, 
options appraisals, impacts assessment, and business 
case. This will include defining possible exemptions and 
charging mechanisms

No Streetscene Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Initial engagement programme for Road User Charging No Streetscene Y2
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.3.3
Increase the use of car sharing and other types of 
shared mobility

Deliver 100 additional car club vehicles – 50% of car 
club cars to be electric.

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Introduce shared mobility infrastructure at 10 
transport nodes within high demand areas and LTNs

No Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.4 Freight & Delivery Traffic
T.4.1 Reduce freight traffic

11

Page 45



Hackney AQAP

.

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever  

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Publish a Freight Reduction Action Plan No Streetscene Y1 Strategies & plans

Undertake consultation exercise with local business 
networks and partners to inform freight innovation and 
mitigation for public realm schemes

No Streetscene Y1-2
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.4.2 Increase the uptake of alternative delivery systems

Extend Cargo bike and ebike switch grants scheme Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Promote and enable 3 freight consolidation hubs with 
multiple logistic suppliers, this could include micro-
distribution hubs

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Create 12 cargo bike hubs Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.5 Green & Resilient Streets

T.5.1
Convert roadspace to public realm, SuDs and other 
uses
Convert 2,700 parking spaces into alternative forms of 
public spaces such as pocket parks, sustainable urban 
drainage solutions, green links, cycle lanes and cycle 
hangars

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Assess potential green links identified in the Green 
Infrastructure Strategy for deliverabilty and added 
value

No Streetscene Y1-2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Implement a minimum of 15 smaller scale SuDS 
schemes across Hackney to address local surface water 
drainage issues.

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Further develop community parklet programme Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.5.2 Expand the network of school and play streets

Complete the delivery of a School Street or traffic 
calming measure at 100% of Hackney’s state primary 
and secondary schools, and School Streets at six 
Independent Schools

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Expand network of Play Streets based on applications 
received

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Install air pollution screens (green screens) at 28 
schools

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Continuation of School Travel Plan programme 
(including school cycle parking)

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Strategies & plans

T.5.3 Plan for future changes that can reduce motor traffic

Develop and consult on an updated Transport Strategy Yes Streetscene Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Expand the Zero Emissions Network (ZEN) to cover the 
whole of Hackney

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Complete a Main Roads Strategy to explore and plan 
new ways of reducing traffic and improving air quality 
on key routes

Yes Streetscene Y1 Strategies & plans

Undertake data mapping to understand post-COVID 
travel patterns and service coverage

No Streetscene Y1 Strategies & plans

Gain access to real-time public transport data from TfL Yes Streetscene Y1 Strategies & plans

Continue to analyse and measure the impact of Low 
Traffic Neighbourhood schemes across the borough 
and make sure that all traffic counts, air quality 
measurements, bus journey times and the responses 
from residents are published and publicly available

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Hackney AQAP

.

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever  

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

T.1 Clean Fuels

T.1.1
Expand the EV charging network, both on street and in 
commercial and domestic settings

Continue installing EV charging points to provide 3,000 
accessible charging points by 2026.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Tighten parking control measures designed to 
disincentivise the use of petrol and diesel vehicles

Planning Stage Parking Services Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Support the proposed expansion of the TfL London 
Ultra Low Emission Zone across Hackney

Yes Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.1.2
Reduce transport greenhouse gas emissions from 
Council, business and institutional vehicle fleets
Replace 10% of the Council’s diesel fleet with electric 
vehicles, bikes and e-bikes

Yes Fleet services Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Undertake assessment of charging needs and options 
to enable Council fleet transion to electric

Planning Stage Fleet services Y1 Strategies & plans

T.2 Walking and cycling
T.2.1 Increase rates of walking and cycling

Offer cycle training to 6,000 children at the primary 
and secondary school level.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

Work with local business networks to better 
understand travel to work needs and promote cycle to 
work schemes (Zero Emissions Network)

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Undertake campaigns to promote walking and cycling 
in schools, public spaces and with local groups

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

T.2.2
Expand cycling infrastructure and promote 
opportunities for green infrastructure on cycle 
corridors

Design and complete a Cycling Network incorporating 
LTNs and tracks on main roads

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Roll out cycling road safety measures, including traffic 
filters and junction improvements

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Publish an accessible map showing all key cycling 
routes in the borough and share asset data with 
relevant organisations and travel apps

Planning Stage Streetscene Y3 Education & training

Continue to expand the cycle hangar network with 
4,000 new cycle spaces by 2026

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.3 Car and Motorbike Traffic

T.3.1 Improve the accessibility of public transport

Deliver accessible bus stop network and streetscape 
upgrades for accessibility at rail stations

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Review a minimum of 15 bus stop interchanges to 
ensure that they work well in the transport network 
and their impact as trip generators

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Strategies & plans

T.3.2
Research the feasibility and viability of introducing 
Road User Charging in Hackney

Increase proportion of low traffic streets in Hackney, 
subject to investigation and engagement – target of 
75% of all eligible roads in Hackney to be within an LTN

Planning Stage Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Complete early documentation: feasibility study, 
options appraisals, impacts assessment, and business 
case. This will include defining possible exemptions and 
charging mechanisms

No Streetscene Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Initial engagement programme for Road User Charging No Streetscene Y2
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.3.3
Increase the use of car sharing and other types of 
shared mobility

Deliver 100 additional car club vehicles – 50% of car 
club cars to be electric.

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Introduce shared mobility infrastructure at 10 
transport nodes within high demand areas and LTNs

No Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.4 Freight & Delivery Traffic
T.4.1 Reduce freight traffic

Hackney AQAP

.

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever  

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

T.1 Clean Fuels

T.1.1
Expand the EV charging network, both on street and in 
commercial and domestic settings

Continue installing EV charging points to provide 3,000 
accessible charging points by 2026.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Tighten parking control measures designed to 
disincentivise the use of petrol and diesel vehicles

Planning Stage Parking Services Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Support the proposed expansion of the TfL London 
Ultra Low Emission Zone across Hackney

Yes Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.1.2
Reduce transport greenhouse gas emissions from 
Council, business and institutional vehicle fleets
Replace 10% of the Council’s diesel fleet with electric 
vehicles, bikes and e-bikes

Yes Fleet services Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Undertake assessment of charging needs and options 
to enable Council fleet transion to electric

Planning Stage Fleet services Y1 Strategies & plans

T.2 Walking and cycling
T.2.1 Increase rates of walking and cycling

Offer cycle training to 6,000 children at the primary 
and secondary school level.

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

Work with local business networks to better 
understand travel to work needs and promote cycle to 
work schemes (Zero Emissions Network)

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Undertake campaigns to promote walking and cycling 
in schools, public spaces and with local groups

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Education & training

T.2.2
Expand cycling infrastructure and promote 
opportunities for green infrastructure on cycle 
corridors

Design and complete a Cycling Network incorporating 
LTNs and tracks on main roads

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Roll out cycling road safety measures, including traffic 
filters and junction improvements

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Publish an accessible map showing all key cycling 
routes in the borough and share asset data with 
relevant organisations and travel apps

Planning Stage Streetscene Y3 Education & training

Continue to expand the cycle hangar network with 
4,000 new cycle spaces by 2026

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.3 Car and Motorbike Traffic

T.3.1 Improve the accessibility of public transport

Deliver accessible bus stop network and streetscape 
upgrades for accessibility at rail stations

Yes Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Review a minimum of 15 bus stop interchanges to 
ensure that they work well in the transport network 
and their impact as trip generators

Yes Streetscene Ongoing Strategies & plans

T.3.2
Research the feasibility and viability of introducing 
Road User Charging in Hackney

Increase proportion of low traffic streets in Hackney, 
subject to investigation and engagement – target of 
75% of all eligible roads in Hackney to be within an LTN

Planning Stage Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Complete early documentation: feasibility study, 
options appraisals, impacts assessment, and business 
case. This will include defining possible exemptions and 
charging mechanisms

No Streetscene Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Initial engagement programme for Road User Charging No Streetscene Y2
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

T.3.3
Increase the use of car sharing and other types of 
shared mobility

Deliver 100 additional car club vehicles – 50% of car 
club cars to be electric.

Planning Stage Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Introduce shared mobility infrastructure at 10 
transport nodes within high demand areas and LTNs

No Streetscene Y1-3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

T.4 Freight & Delivery Traffic
T.4.1 Reduce freight traffic

12

Page 46



Changing what and how we buy, use and sell, 
creating a new green economy in Hackney.

Consumption
Changing what and how we buy, use and sell, creating a new 
green economy in Hackney. 

13

Page 47



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

C.1 Waste

C.1.1
Reduce household waste arisings and improve recycling 
rates

Increase participation in recycling services and 
reductions in waste arisings via behaviour change 
initiatives

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Strategies & plans

Deliver awareness campaigns to improve the 
segregation and quality of recycling and reduce waste 
arisings

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

C.1.2
Reduce business waste arisings and improve recycling 
rates

Expand recycling services for businesses and (schools - 
75% participation by 2026) and encourage reduced 
waste arisings

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Encourage businesses to remove single use packaging 
and embrace re-use through Hackney Business Network 
and existing channels

No
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y2-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.1.3
Maximise rates of food waste composting in households 
and businesses
Deliver education campaign about reducing food waste 
(households and businesses)

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

Provide all households with access to food waste 
collection services

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.2 Food

C.2.1
Reduce food poverty and enable equitable access to 
healthy and more sustainable diets for all
Join the Sustainable Food Place network to explore 
practical solutions and develop best practice in all 
aspects of sustainable food

No
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y2

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Introduce climate friendly menus in 25 schools Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y1-3

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Maximise surplus food deliveries from partners and 
suppliers to members of the Hackney Food Partnership

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Embed the Council's approach to affordable, sustainable 
and healthy food across the system to tackle food 
poverty

Yes
Policy and Strategic 

Delivery
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

C.2.2
Procure sustainable and healthy foods in Council, school, 
healthcare, leisure and other institutional settings, and 
influence local businesses to do the same
Deliver the "London Food Purchasing Commitment" to 
reduce food emissions and food waste, and improve 
food provenance from all Council catering contracts 
whilst encouraging all London boroughs to sign up to the 
committment

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y1-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Create a minimum of 9 new community food growing 
areas on housing estates

Yes Housing Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.2.3
Increase public awareness and understanding of healthy 
and more sustainable diets

Deliver a communications campaign around climate 
friendly and healthy diets to residents and local 
businesses and combine with healthy eating messages

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Education & training

C.3 Consumption Emissions

C.3.1
Raise the awareness of residents of the impact and 
diversity of consumption emissions and how moving 
towards a more circular economy benefits them

Undertake a review of where consumption emissions are 
concentrated in Hackney and develop a set of 
recommendations to reduce these emissions with 
supporting guidance for households and businesses

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

C.3.2
Increase repair and reuse of goods (electronics, clothing, 
furniture and more)

Expand the reuse network via Textiles Banks, Library of 
Things, Furniture Collections, Repair Shops, Real Nappy 
Service and Clothes Swaps

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

14

Page 48



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Encourage residents to set up their own community 
networks to enable item swaps between households

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Develop a Circular Economy Action Plan aiming to 
increase reuse, refill, repair, rent and share items

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Develop and implement two circular economy zones for 
businesses

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y2

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

C.3.3

Embed actions to reduce consumption related emissions 
into internal procurement and management processes 
for the Council, businesses and institutions

Assess feasibility of Scope 3 monitoring and reporting for 
the Council's large spend contracts

No Procurement Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Adopt an updated Sustainable Procurement and 
Insourcing Strategy

Yes Procurement Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

C.4 Investments & Finance
C.4.1 Raise awareness of the environmental impact of finances

Signpost residents and businesses to guidance on the 
environmental impacts of investments and pensions

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Education & training

Continue to review the adoption of low cost carbon 
advertising on all Council owned media products

No Communications Y1-2 
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

C.4.2
Increase opportunities for funding local emissions 
reduction projects

Identify opportunities to secure funding that can be used 
to invest in local decarbonisation programmes.

Planning Stage Finance Ongoing Strategies & plans

Develop green bond community wealth investment 
proposals

Planning Stage Finance Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.4.3
Reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s Pension 
Fund and encourage others to the same

Invest the Council's Pension fund in sustainable and low 
carbon equity funds

Yes Finance Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Update the Investment Strategy Statement and 
Responsible Investment Policy to align with Taskforce on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures requirements

Yes Finance Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Influence large Council contractors to commit to 
divesting their own pension portfolios

No Procurement Y2-3
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Encourage residents to set up their own community 
networks to enable item swaps between households

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Develop a Circular Economy Action Plan aiming to 
increase reuse, refill, repair, rent and share items

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Develop and implement two circular economy zones for 
businesses

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y2

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

C.3.3

Embed actions to reduce consumption related emissions 
into internal procurement and management processes 
for the Council, businesses and institutions

Assess feasibility of Scope 3 monitoring and reporting for 
the Council's large spend contracts

No Procurement Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Adopt an updated Sustainable Procurement and 
Insourcing Strategy

Yes Procurement Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

C.4 Investments & Finance
C.4.1 Raise awareness of the environmental impact of finances

Signpost residents and businesses to guidance on the 
environmental impacts of investments and pensions

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Education & training

Continue to review the adoption of low cost carbon 
advertising on all Council owned media products

No Communications Y1-2 
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

C.4.2
Increase opportunities for funding local emissions 
reduction projects

Identify opportunities to secure funding that can be used 
to invest in local decarbonisation programmes.

Planning Stage Finance Ongoing Strategies & plans

Develop green bond community wealth investment 
proposals

Planning Stage Finance Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.4.3
Reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s Pension 
Fund and encourage others to the same

Invest the Council's Pension fund in sustainable and low 
carbon equity funds

Yes Finance Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Update the Investment Strategy Statement and 
Responsible Investment Policy to align with Taskforce on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures requirements

Yes Finance Y1
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Influence large Council contractors to commit to 
divesting their own pension portfolios

No Procurement Y2-3
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

C.1 Waste

C.1.1
Reduce household waste arisings and improve recycling 
rates

Increase participation in recycling services and 
reductions in waste arisings via behaviour change 
initiatives

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Strategies & plans

Deliver awareness campaigns to improve the 
segregation and quality of recycling and reduce waste 
arisings

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

C.1.2
Reduce business waste arisings and improve recycling 
rates

Expand recycling services for businesses and (schools - 
75% participation by 2026) and encourage reduced 
waste arisings

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Encourage businesses to remove single use packaging 
and embrace re-use through Hackney Business Network 
and existing channels

No
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y2-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.1.3
Maximise rates of food waste composting in households 
and businesses
Deliver education campaign about reducing food waste 
(households and businesses)

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

Provide all households with access to food waste 
collection services

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.2 Food

C.2.1
Reduce food poverty and enable equitable access to 
healthy and more sustainable diets for all
Join the Sustainable Food Place network to explore 
practical solutions and develop best practice in all 
aspects of sustainable food

No
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y2

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Introduce climate friendly menus in 25 schools Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y1-3

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Maximise surplus food deliveries from partners and 
suppliers to members of the Hackney Food Partnership

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Embed the Council's approach to affordable, sustainable 
and healthy food across the system to tackle food 
poverty

Yes
Policy and Strategic 

Delivery
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

C.2.2
Procure sustainable and healthy foods in Council, school, 
healthcare, leisure and other institutional settings, and 
influence local businesses to do the same
Deliver the "London Food Purchasing Commitment" to 
reduce food emissions and food waste, and improve 
food provenance from all Council catering contracts 
whilst encouraging all London boroughs to sign up to the 
committment

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y1-3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Create a minimum of 9 new community food growing 
areas on housing estates

Yes Housing Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

C.2.3
Increase public awareness and understanding of healthy 
and more sustainable diets

Deliver a communications campaign around climate 
friendly and healthy diets to residents and local 
businesses and combine with healthy eating messages

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Education & training

C.3 Consumption Emissions

C.3.1
Raise the awareness of residents of the impact and 
diversity of consumption emissions and how moving 
towards a more circular economy benefits them

Undertake a review of where consumption emissions are 
concentrated in Hackney and develop a set of 
recommendations to reduce these emissions with 
supporting guidance for households and businesses

No
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

C.3.2
Increase repair and reuse of goods (electronics, clothing, 
furniture and more)

Expand the reuse network via Textiles Banks, Library of 
Things, Furniture Collections, Repair Shops, Real Nappy 
Service and Clothes Swaps

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment 
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

15

Page 49



Maximising the potential for biodiversity  
in our green spaces, reducing pollution and  
helping local ecosystems thrive.

Environmental Quality
Maximising the potential for biodiversity in our green spaces, 
reducing pollution and helping local ecosystems thrive. 

16

Page 50



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

EQ.1 Air Quality

EQ.1.1
Reduce air pollution from development and 
construction

Develop planning guidance for reducing emissions 
during construction and demolition

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y3

Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Pilot zero and low emissions technology, machinery 
and methods to reduce emissions on construction sites

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y3

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Implement Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) air 
quality policies ensuring compliance with standards set 
by the GLA for the NRMM LEZ 

Yes
Land Water Air 

Team
Ongoing

Regulations, licencing 
and planning

EQ.1.2
Reduce solid fuel burning and raise awareness of its 
contribution to air pollution
Continue to collaborate in the cross-borough projects 
encouraging canal boat owners to switch from wood 
burning stoves and diesel engines to electric or more 
sustainable fuels

Planning Stage
Land Water Air 

Team
Y1-3 Education & training

Develop a communications campaign on the health 
impacts of wood burning and diesel engines, and of 
regulatory requirements on burning and supplying 
solid fuel

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y1-2 Education & training

Partner with other London boroughs and the GLA to 
lobby for tighter restrictions on wood burning as part 
of the efforts to consult on a new Smoke Control Order

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y1-3

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

EQ.1.3
Improve awareness of the impact of air pollution on 
public health

Undertake follow up Air Quality survey scheduled for 
2025 as per Air Quality Action Plan

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y3 Strategies & plans

Monitor and review pollutant concentrations at 
healthcare centres, hospitals and care homes to 
determine where audit and improvement schemes 
could be implemented

No
Land Water Air 

Team
Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Deliver an air quality awareness raising campaign 
around exposure reduction techniques, focusing on 
groups impacted the most by high levels of air 
pollution and pre-existing health conditions

Yes
Land Water Air 

Team
Ongoing Education & training

EQ.2 Biodiversity

EQ.2.1
Enhance habitats in managed green spaces to support 
biodiversity

Increase biodiversity in parks, open spaces and small 
urban greenspaces including cul-de-sac parks, pocket 
parks and open spaces within housing estates  and 
embed in management plans

Yes Various Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Incorporate Green Infrastructure Strategy spatial 
framework and Local Nature Recovery Plan Nature 
Recovery areas in relevant decision making to enhance 
biodiversity outcomes

No Planning Ongoing Strategies & plans

EQ.2.2
Increase connectivity between green spaces by 
supporting others to create new habitats and green 
corridors
Assess green corridors identified in the LNRP where 
Council is a landowner or has influence to enhance 
biodiversity and space for wildlife

No Various Y1-2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Collaborate with adjacent Boroughs to connect green 
spaces across boundaries and coordinate upgrading 
approaches

Yes Various Ongoing
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

EQ.2.3
Review Council operations and decision-making 
processes to meet the requirements of the 
‘biodiversity duty’ within the Environment Act

Implement and resource new Biodiversity Net Gain 
planning requirements from November 2023 onwards.

Planning Stage Planning Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop reporting mechanisms to meet the 
requirements of the Enviroment Act 'biodiversity duty'

No Planning Y2 Strategies & plans

17

Page 51



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Build on existing ‘weedkiller free zone’ trials to reduce 
the use of harmful weedkillers

Yes Various Y3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Increase skilled staff resources for Council biodiversity 
response in parks and housing services

Planning Stage Various Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

EQ.2.4
Support community groups and individuals to 
volunteer to benefit nature, drawing on their 
knowledge and expertise
Facilitate land access and dedicated spaces for 
community gardens and stewardship with a key focus 
on utilisation of space within housing estates

Yes Housing Services Ongoing
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Signpost local groups and support existing Park User 
Groups for funding bids for parks

Yes
Parks and Green 

Spaces
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Share promotional material for local groups Yes Parks and Green 
Spaces

Ongoing Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Assess options for the Hackney Biodiversity Partnership 
to oversee implementation of Local Nature Recovery 
Plan

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Environment
Y1

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

EQ.3 Water

EQ.3.1
Ensure all new development immediately adjacent to 
rivers, canals or waterbodies contribute to achieving 
good ecological status
Apply planning policy consistently around the Regent's 
Canal, River Lea and New River to protect pedestrian 
routes, public spaces and avoid surface water runoff

Yes Planning Ongoing
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Update the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy to 
include water pollution requirements

No Streetscene Y2 Strategies & plans

EQ.3.2

Support Thames Water campaigns to reduce water 
consumption, whilst also lobbying them to reduce 
leakage levels and avert pollution discharges into local 
water bodies

Install flow restrictors, sensor taps in Council-owned 
buildings if appropriate for the uses of the buildings

Yes Corporate Property Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Align LP53 planning policies for water consumption 
with industry best practice

No Planning Y3
Regulations, licencing 
and planning

Via the Council website, signpost residents and 
businesses to information regarding water resource 
management and community preparedness for 
drought

Planning Stage
Sustainability and 

Envirnonment
Y2 Education & training

EQ.3.3
Improve water body health through maintenance of 
surface water drains and promotion of sustainable 
urban drainage

Assess management plans for the watercourses in 
Hackney as part of future Local Plan review

No Planning Y3 Strategies & plans

Continue regular annual servicing of gully pots within 
Council maintenance responsibility

Yes Streetscene Ongoing
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Continue to positively manage the West Reservoir and 
the portions of the River Lea where the Council has 
obligations

Yes
Parks and Green 

Spaces
Ongoing

Delivery and flagship 
projects

Collaborate with Thames Water to identify 
misconnections and urban diffuse pollution 

Yes
Land Water Air 

team
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Continue to work with stakeholders as a member of 
the Lea River Catchment Partnership to encourage 
improvement of water body health, supporting 
opportunities for most effective catchment wide 
solutions

Yes
Land Water Air 

team
Ongoing

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

18

Page 52



Green Economy

Hackney

A growing green economy means opportunities for businesses 
already delivering green products and services, and opportunities 
for new green businesses. 

Individuals in carbon intensive roles will need specific support 
such as retraining programmes to take up new forms of work. 

New opportunities for jobs, skills and business will need to be 
widely available to Hackney’s residents both within and outside 
the Council – the green economy as a whole needs to be diverse 
and inclusive. 

19

Page 53



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

GE.1 Green economy

GE.1.1

Increase the number of Hackney businesses and jobs 
that contribute to the green economy, including 
through regeneration delivery programmes and 
procurement

Produce an Economic Development Plan that includes 
growth of the green economy as a key theme.

Planning Stage Area Regeneration Y1 Strategies & plans

Complete baseline work on Hackney's business and 
labour market for both the green economy and carbon 
intensive industries to inform decisions on strategy and 
delivery

Yes Area Regeneration Y1 Strategies & plans

Use the Council's commercial assets to identify sites to 
support green economic activity

No Area Regeneration Y1-3 Strategies & plans

Assess the options for increasing green economic 
activity in the borough and develop workstreams to 
achieve this growth

Planning Stage Area Regeneration Y1 Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Ensure the Sustainable Procurement and Insourcing 
Strategy maximises the opportunity of the Council's 
own spending to create green jobs and training 
opportunities

Planning Stage Procurement Y1 Strategies & plans

Use the Council's wider influence to increase green job 
and training opportunities - development agreements, 
regeneration programmes and s106 agreements via 
Employment and Skills Plans (or equivalent) 

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Ongoing Strategies & plans

GE.1.2
Create green apprenticeships and training pathways 
with a focus on disadvantaged groups

Complete an assessment of local skills availability and 
skills gaps in the green economy 

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1 Strategies & plans

Deliver green skills courses through the Council's adult 
learning service, initially focused on construction and 
infrastructure 

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Set up partnership agreements to create a brokerage 
between prospective employees and green jobs

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

GE.1.3
Ensure Hackney residents have the skills for and access 
to training and job opportunities linked to the Green 
economy
Promote new low carbon apprenticeships through the 
Hackney Apprenticeship Network - linked to actions 
from GE 1.1

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y2-3 Education & training

Sgnpost residents to wider external courses and green 
apprenticeships

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Deliver a focused communications campaign to 
Hackney residents about opportunities in the green 
economy - working with key local employment & skills 
partners

No
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Develop a Climate Action Curriculum that teaches 
pupils about the causes of climate change and how 
they can take action in their local areas

No Education Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Support Hackney schools to become greener and more 
sustainable by taking part in the Eco-School 
Programme

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

GE.1.4
Support Hackney businesses and partners to 
decarbonise

Identify opportunities to secure funding for targeted 
business grant and loan programmes that support 
decarbonisation activity

Yes Area Regeneration Ongoing
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Provide signposting to regional, national or industry 
materials that make a compelling case for businesses 
to decarbonise and provide information on preparing 
for relevant regulatory changes

Yes Area Regeneration Y1-3 Strategies & plans

See also actions under C.1.2 (reduce business waste), C.
2.3 (encourage sustainable food in business), C.3.2 
(repair and reuse)

GE.1.5 Attract new green businesses into the borough 

20

Page 54



Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

GE.1 Green economy

GE.1.1

Increase the number of Hackney businesses and jobs 
that contribute to the green economy, including 
through regeneration delivery programmes and 
procurement

Produce an Economic Development Plan that includes 
growth of the green economy as a key theme.

Planning Stage Area Regeneration Y1 Strategies & plans

Complete baseline work on Hackney's business and 
labour market for both the green economy and carbon 
intensive industries to inform decisions on strategy and 
delivery

Yes Area Regeneration Y1 Strategies & plans

Use the Council's commercial assets to identify sites to 
support green economic activity

No Area Regeneration Y1-3 Strategies & plans

Assess the options for increasing green economic 
activity in the borough and develop workstreams to 
achieve this growth

Planning Stage Area Regeneration Y1 Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Ensure the Sustainable Procurement and Insourcing 
Strategy maximises the opportunity of the Council's 
own spending to create green jobs and training 
opportunities

Planning Stage Procurement Y1 Strategies & plans

Use the Council's wider influence to increase green job 
and training opportunities - development agreements, 
regeneration programmes and s106 agreements via 
Employment and Skills Plans (or equivalent) 

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Ongoing Strategies & plans

GE.1.2
Create green apprenticeships and training pathways 
with a focus on disadvantaged groups

Complete an assessment of local skills availability and 
skills gaps in the green economy 

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1 Strategies & plans

Deliver green skills courses through the Council's adult 
learning service, initially focused on construction and 
infrastructure 

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Set up partnership agreements to create a brokerage 
between prospective employees and green jobs

Yes
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1

Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

GE.1.3
Ensure Hackney residents have the skills for and access 
to training and job opportunities linked to the Green 
economy
Promote new low carbon apprenticeships through the 
Hackney Apprenticeship Network - linked to actions 
from GE 1.1

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y2-3 Education & training

Sgnpost residents to wider external courses and green 
apprenticeships

Planning Stage
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Deliver a focused communications campaign to 
Hackney residents about opportunities in the green 
economy - working with key local employment & skills 
partners

No
Employment, Skills 

& Adult Learning
Y1-3 Education & training

Develop a Climate Action Curriculum that teaches 
pupils about the causes of climate change and how 
they can take action in their local areas

No Education Y1-2 Strategies & plans

Support Hackney schools to become greener and more 
sustainable by taking part in the Eco-School 
Programme

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

GE.1.4
Support Hackney businesses and partners to 
decarbonise

Identify opportunities to secure funding for targeted 
business grant and loan programmes that support 
decarbonisation activity

Yes Area Regeneration Ongoing
Partnerships & private 
sector collaboration

Provide signposting to regional, national or industry 
materials that make a compelling case for businesses 
to decarbonise and provide information on preparing 
for relevant regulatory changes

Yes Area Regeneration Y1-3 Strategies & plans

See also actions under C.1.2 (reduce business waste), C.
2.3 (encourage sustainable food in business), C.3.2 
(repair and reuse)

GE.1.5 Attract new green businesses into the borough 

Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Understand the types of green business that can be 
attracted to the borough (based on initial research 
under GE.1.1)

No Area Regeneration Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop and run targeted inward investment 
promotional campaigns regionally and nationally

No Area Regeneration Y2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop and deliver a package of support for green 
economy businesses (sub-sectors) interested in 
locating to Hackney 

No Area Regeneration Y3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

GE.1.6
Reskill, train and/or recruit Council officers to meet the 
needs of the climate emergency
Deliver carbon literacy training for senior managers 
and councillors

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

Provide Continuous Professional Development and/or 
training opportunities for Planning Committee 
members and planning officers on low carbon buildings 
and technologies

Planning Stage Planning Y1-3 Education & training

Deliver internal communications campaign with a focus 
on increasing climate literacy

Planning Stage Communications Y1 Education & training

Conduct internal audit into the need for green skills 
and green roles in the Council’s own workforce

No
Organisational 
Development

Y1 Education & training

Prepare a Workforce Development Plan to address 
green skill gaps identified - with a focus on staff in at 
risk carbon intensive roles

No
Organisational 
Development

Y2 Education & training

Hackney AQAP

Definition Implementation

Objective Action Underway?
Indicative lead 
responsibility 

Indicative timing Lever

What we will do
Yes / No / 

Planning stage

Which teams to 
take 

responsibility?

Y1 - 2023/24
Y2 - 2024/25
Y3 - 2025/26

What type of action is 
this?

Understand the types of green business that can be 
attracted to the borough (based on initial research 
under GE.1.1)

No Area Regeneration Y1
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop and run targeted inward investment 
promotional campaigns regionally and nationally

No Area Regeneration Y2
Delivery and flagship 
projects

Develop and deliver a package of support for green 
economy businesses (sub-sectors) interested in 
locating to Hackney 

No Area Regeneration Y3
Delivery and flagship 
projects

GE.1.6
Reskill, train and/or recruit Council officers to meet the 
needs of the climate emergency
Deliver carbon literacy training for senior managers 
and councillors

Yes
Sustainability and 

Environment
Ongoing Education & training

Provide Continuous Professional Development and/or 
training opportunities for Planning Committee 
members and planning officers on low carbon buildings 
and technologies

Planning Stage Planning Y1-3 Education & training

Deliver internal communications campaign with a focus 
on increasing climate literacy

Planning Stage Communications Y1 Education & training

Conduct internal audit into the need for green skills 
and green roles in the Council’s own workforce

No
Organisational 
Development

Y1 Education & training

Prepare a Workforce Development Plan to address 
green skill gaps identified - with a focus on staff in at 
risk carbon intensive roles

No
Organisational 
Development

Y2 Education & training

21

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 57



 Annual     update     on     progress     with 
 decarbonisation     commitments 
 July     2023 

 Accessibility     statement 
 If     you     need     any     information     in     this     brochure     in     a     different     format,     please     email: 

 consultation@hackney.gov.uk 

 We’ll     consider     your     request     and     get     back     to     you     in     five     working     days. 

 Contents 
 Summary     –  Page     2 

 Headline     progress     since     the     July     2022     annual     update     –  Page     6 

 Council     external     awards     and     shortlisting     achievements     –  Page     20 

 Securing     external     funding     and     support     for     the     Council’s     climate 
 response     –  Page     22 

 Review     of     outline     annual     Environmental     Sustainability     Board     work     plan 
 July     2022     –  Page     26 

 1 
Page 58

mailto:consultation@hackney.gov.uk


 Summary 
 This     report     provides     an     update     of     the     Council’s     key     practical     and     strategic 
 actions     over     the     last     12     months     to     support     its     climate     response.     The     list     is     not 
 exhaustive     but     draws     attention     to     some     of     the     key     outcomes.     They     are 
 arranged     in     accordance     with     the     five     priorities     established     in     the     first     2020 
 annual     update,     noting     that     this     approach     will     be     replaced     by     a     new     format 
 annual     report     from     July     2024     onwards. 

 In     addition,     a     number     of     key     plans     and     strategies     have     been     adopted     over     the 
 last     12     months     and     set     the     framework     for     the     Council’s     holistic     climate 
 response.     There     are     also     a     number     of     further     pieces     of     strategy     and     planning 
 work     at     different     stages     of     completion,     some     of     which     will     shortly     be     finalised. 
 The     first     section     below     captures     all     this,     followed     by     a     summary     of     key     Council 
 activities     by     priority. 

 Summary     tables     of     funding     secured     and     awards     are     then     set     out,     followed     by 
 a     review     of     progress     in     respect     of     the     July     2022     outline     work     plan     of     the 
 Council’s     Environmental     Sustainability     Board. 

 Progress     on     developing     plans,     strategies     in     respect     of     the     Council's 
 climate     response     and     other     assessment     work 

 Climate     Action     Plan     2023–2030 
 The  Hackney     Climate     Action     Plan     2023-2030  (CAP),     was  formally     adopted     at 
 Cabinet     in     May     2023.     It     is     the     first     holistic     borough-wide     plan     to     address     the 
 climate     and     ecological     crisis,     bringing     together     the     various     strands     into     one 
 overall     document.     This     is     underpinned     by     the     Council’s     Implementation     Plan 
 which     sets     out     the     key     actions     for     the     Council     for     the     next     three     years     to 
 deliver     the     goals     and     objectives     of     the     CAP     and     forms     part     of     the     Full     Council 
 report     as     Appendix     1. 

 Green     Infrastructure     Strategy     2023–2030 
 The  Green     Infrastructure     Strategy     2023-2030  was     formally  adopted     at     Cabinet 
 in     May     2023.     Green     infrastructure     is     integral     and     essential     to     the     Borough’s 
 resilience,     meeting     its     future     challenges     and     the     delivery     of     its     wider 
 strategies,     both     at     a     community     and     individual     level.     London     Plan     policy     on 
 Green     Infrastructure     recommends     that     boroughs     should     prepare     green 
 infrastructure     strategies.     The     term     green     infrastructure     describes     the     network 
 of     parks     and     green     spaces,     trees     and     woodlands,     rivers     and     wetlands,     and 
 new     green     features     in     the     urban     environment     such     as     green     roofs     and     walls. 
 This     network     can     be     planned,     designed     and     managed     to     provide     a     wide     range 

 2 
Page 59

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1E7AyY0wzWjlMJ-BGqF0K2dJBXsfprAFf/view
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s84229/Appendix%201%20-%20Green%20Infrastructure%20Strategy%202023-2030.pdf


 of     environmental,     social     and     economic     benefits     that     support     more     sustainable, 
 liveable     and     resilient     neighbourhoods. 

 Local     Nature     Recovery     Plan     2023–2030 
 Alongside     the     widely     publicised     climate     crisis     there     is     also     an     increasingly 
 severe     ecological     crisis.     Conserving     wildlife     in     urban     areas     is     challenging 
 because     there     are     multiple     competing     land-uses     in     urban     areas,     exacerbated 
 by     high     population     density     and     intense     recreational     demand     on     existing     parks 
 and     green     spaces.     Providing     space     for     nature     also     has     benefits     for     people 
 too,     not     least     for     improving     public     health     and     mitigating     the     impacts     of     climate 
 change.     The  Hackney     Local     Nature     Recovery     Plan     2023-2030  was     formally 
 adopted     at     Cabinet     in     May     2023     and     identifies     a     number     of     nature     recovery 
 areas     alongside     practical     actions     for     their     improvement. 

 Parking     and     Enforcement     Plan     (PEP)     2022–2027 
 The  Parking     and     Enforcement     Plan     (PEP)  2022-27     was  formally     adopted     at 
 Cabinet     in     October     2022.     Key     elements     of     the     PEP     seek     to     implement 
 measures     to     reduce     the     impact     of     highly     polluting     vehicles,     encouraging 
 cleaner     alternatives.     There     is     an     emphasis     on     reducing     poor     air     quality     and 
 CO2,     as     well     as     fulfilling     duties     set     out     in     the     Department     for     Transport’s 
 (DfT’s)     guidance     to     local     authorities     on     parking,     and     Hackney     Council’s     traffic 
 management     duties     under     the     Road     Traffic     Regulation     Act     1984. 

 Transport     Strategy     2025–2030 
 Preparatory     work     for     the     2025–2030     Transport     Strategy     continues     with     the 
 intention     to     have     an     updated     strategy     document     for     adoption     by     the     end     of 
 2024/25.     To     support     this     the     Council     has: 

 ●  Updated     the     through     traffic     study; 

 ●  Reviewed     the     need     for     further     data     analysis;     and 

 ●  Further  developed  the  Main  Roads  Programme,  the  scope  of  which 
 was  detailed  in  the  Local  Implementation  Plan  (LIP),  agreed  by  Cabinet 
 in     January     2023  1  . 

 1  Low     traffic     Hackney     plans     approved     by     Cabinet  and  Low     traffic     Hackney     at 
 heart     of     vision     for     greener,     healthier     borough 

 3 
Page 60

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s84241/Appendix%202%20-%20Local%20Nature%20Recovery%20Plan%202023-2030%20R.pdf
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1CRbiLB_PDrKSpnuhm9s6odhA2JsqRTW8/view
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s80984/Cabinet%20Report_%20CHE%20S152%203%20year%20Local%20Implementation%20Plan%20LIP%20delivery%20plan%2022_23%20-%2024_25%20Signed.pdf
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-hackney/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-hackney-at-heart-of-vision-for-greener-healthier-borough/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-hackney-at-heart-of-vision-for-greener-healthier-borough/


 Housing     Strategy     2024–2029 
 In     2024     a     new     five     year     Housing     Strategy     will     be     published     including     a     more 
 explicit     recognition     of     net     zero     ambitions     of     the     Council     for     its     own     housing 
 stock     and     development     activities,     as     well     as     housing     outside     its     direct     control. 
 The     new     strategy     will     take     into     account     all     new     relevant     regulations,     policies 
 and     legislation     and     focus     on     work     cross-departmentally     and     with     external 
 stakeholders     to     achieve     the     identified     goals     throughout     the     5     year     period     and 
 beyond.     As     a     precursor     to     the     strategy,     the     Council     developed     a  Housing 
 Strategy     Position     Paper     2023  that     was     approved     at  the     December     2022 
 Cabinet     meeting.     Since     then     two     studies     have     been     commissioned:     a 
 Strategic     Housing     Market     Assessment     and     Housing     Needs     Survey     so     as     to 
 provide     the     key     evidence     base.     The     draft     of     the     strategy     is     scheduled     to     be     an 
 item     for     decision     at     the     December     2023     Cabinet     meeting.     A     formal     public 
 consultation     period     is     scheduled     to     begin     in     early     2024. 

 Sustainable     Procurement     and     Insourcing     Strategy 
 A     draft     of     the     new     Sustainable     Procurement     and     Insourcing     Strategy     (SPIS) 
 has     been     prepared.     The     new     strategy     is     not     intended     to     be     time     bound     due     to 
 the     uncertainty     of     national     and     international     political     and     environmental 
 landscapes.     It     will     provide     procurement     staff,     colleagues     and     partners     a 
 framework     of     strategic     priorities,     commitments     and     targets.     The     Strategy 
 aligns     with     the     requirements     of     the     National     Procurement     Policy     Statement 
 (NPPS),     whilst     ensuring     systems,     capability     and     capacity     of     procurement 
 teams     to     support     the     borough's     Climate     Action     Plan     are     addressed.     The 
 Council     is     in     the     final     stage     of     stakeholder     consultations     and     working     towards 
 submitting     the     new     Strategy     for     Cabinet     endorsement     later     this     year. 

 Net     Zero     Scrutiny     Review 
 A     Net     Zero     Review     (NZR)     overseen     by     the     Scrutiny     Panel     commenced     in 
 October     2021.     The     report     and     recommendations     from     this     review     are 
 available  here  .     A     full     response     from     the     Council     to  the     recommendations     is 
 scheduled     to     go     to     Cabinet     in     September     2023.     The     NZR     was     set     up     to     look 
 at     what     may     be     needed     to     meet     both     national     and     local     net     zero     targets,     and 
 to     ask     how     the     Council     could     better     meet     its     ambitions     in     a     manner     that     is 
 affordable,     efficient     and     fair.     The     Scrutiny     Panel     and     thematic     Scrutiny 
 Commissions,     engaged     with     a     wide     range     of     organisations,     businesses, 
 industries     and     communities     on     a     number     of     issues     and     policy     areas     from 
 decarbonising     buildings,     transport     and     waste,     to     supporting     the     delivery     of 
 clean     energy     projects,     managing     a     transition     to     a     low     carbon,     circular 
 economy     and     enabling     green     growth. 

 4 
Page 61

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79544/Cabinet%20Report%20-%20Housing%20Strategy%20Position%20Paper%202023.pdf
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s79544/Cabinet%20Report%20-%20Housing%20Strategy%20Position%20Paper%202023.pdf
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s83279/FINAL%20REPORT%20OF%20THE%20SCRUTINY%20PANEL%20-%20Net%20Zero%20Review.pdf


 Economic     Development     Plan 
 External     consultancy     support     for     preparation     of     an     Economic     Development 
 Plan     is     to     be     commissioned     shortly     with     a     scheduled     time     frame     for     Cabinet 
 approval     of     the     EDP     in     Spring     2023.     The     EDP     will     set     out     the     economic 
 opportunities     and     challenges     for     the     borough     and     where     the     Council     can 
 realistically     have     an     impact     through     its     economic     development     levers. 
 Primarily     this     will     include     how     to     better     leverage     purchasing     power,     capital 
 assets,     regulatory     functions,     service     delivery,     status     as     a     large     employer, 
 convening     power     and     the     ability     to     assemble     funding.     All     with     a     focus     on 
 supporting     residents     and     local     businesses     to     benefit     from     these     opportunities. 

 5 
Page 62



 Headline     progress     since     the     July 
 2022     annual     update 
 Priority     1:  Reduce     the     borough’s     carbon     emissions  – 
 including     the     target     of     net     zero     carbon     emissions     by     2040 
 for     the     Council’s     own     functions     and     2030     target     for     the 
 Council’s     non-tenanted     buildings     and     fleet     vehicles 

 ●  In     May     2023,     the     Council     signed     up     to     the     UK100     climate     membership 
 network,     a     network     of     local     leaders     who     have     pledged     to     lead     a     rapid 
 transition     to     net     zero     ahead     of     the     government’s     legal     target     of     2050. 
 The     pledge     will     see     the     Council     commit     to     decarbonising     its 
 non-tenanted     buildings     and     its     transport     fleet     by     2030,     and     it     will 
 continue     to     review     this     commitment     to     expand     its     scope     over     time  2  . 

 ●  Phase     2     of     the  Green     Homes     Programme  was     completed  this     year     and 
 phase     3     is     open     for     applications     with     an     additional     £200,000     funding 
 approved  3  to     improve     the     energy     efficiency     of     private     homes. 

 ●  The     Corporate     Solar     Programme     (tier     1)     focuses     on     generating     solar 
 energy     from     Council-owned     buildings.     The     Council     has     completed     five 
 solar     panel     installations     in:     Kingshold     Community     Hall     (40kWp), 
 Haggerston     Depot     (33kWp),     Lee     View     Community     Hall     (19kWp),     Wren 
 Park     Community     Hall     (33kWp),     and     Hackney     Marshes     Centre  4 

 (79kWp).     It     has     been     working     to     install     up     to     1MW     of     solar     energy     by 
 March     2024     in     the     Concorde     Community     Centre,     Queensbridge 
 Leisure     Centre,     Wrens     Park     Community     Centre,     Webb     Estate 
 Community     Hall,     Rose     Lipman     Building     and     Gascoyne     Community 
 Centre. 

 ●  The     Council     has     also     completed     a     business     case     with     a     specialist 
 energy     consultancy     to     develop     plans     to     install     solar     PV     on     residential 
 housing     estates     and     aims     to     deliver     a     further     1MWp     pilot     project     in 
 2024. 

 4  Marshes     Centre     now     powered     by     solar 

 3  Apply     now     for     insulation     and     heating     grants 

 2  Hackney     brings     forward     net     zero     target     to     2030 

 6 
Page 63

https://hackney.gov.uk/hlp-green-homes
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/marshes-centre-now-powered-by-solar/
https://hackney.gov.uk/hlp-green-homes
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/hackney-brings-forward-net-zero-target-to-2030/


 ●  In     November     2022,     working     with     local     energy     groups,     the     Council 
 launched     Hackney     Light     and     Power’s     Community     Energy     Fund.     The 
 fund     aims     to     support     community-led,     innovative     energy     projects 
 benefiting     Hackney     –     particularly     schools,     students     and     communities. 
 The     first     round     was     awarded     in     April     2023     and     The     Hackney     Empire, 
 Mildmay     Club     and     Parkwood     Primary     School     received     capital     funding 
 for     solar     panels.     A     church,     a     gurdwara,     a     wellness     charity     and     seven 
 schools     also     received     funding     to     develop     carbon-saving     projects. 
 Throughout     the     duration     of     the     projects,     the     community     energy     groups 
 will     work     with     people     who     use     the     buildings     to     encourage 
 carbon-saving     behaviour.     The     round     one     projects     are     due     for 
 completion     in     2023.     Hackney     is     working     with     local     energy     groups     to 
 develop     the     fund     and     design     round     2,     aimed     to     be     launched     in     2023. 
 The     goal     is     to     establish     the     fund     as     an     annual     grant     programme  5  . 

 ●  Using     a     specialist     software     package     (Portfolio),     the     Council     has     started 
 to     develop     a     more     detailed     understanding     of     the     energy     efficiency     of     its 
 social     housing     stock     including     testing     the     modelled     carbon     impacts 
 associated     with     different     retrofitting     options     etc. 

 ●  A     number     of     strategic     District     Heat     Network     opportunities     have     been 
 identified: 

 ○  Green     Heat     Network     Fund     for     Colville     –     the     project      is 
 transitioning     to     a     commercial     stage     and     the     business     plan     is     to 
 be     submitted     for     approval; 

 ○  Shoreditch     –     a     detailed     delivery     plan     is     under     preparation;     and 

 ○  Woodberry     Down,     Stamford     Hill,     Stoke     Newington     and     /or     other 
 areas     in     Hackney     have     seen     works     carried     out     to      connect     to     the 
 Energetik     energy     recovery     facility     in     Edmonton.     This     project     is 
 funded     by     Greater     London     Authority  North     London     District 
 Energy     Network  ,     with     the     study      due     to     report     in     July  23. 

 ●  The     Council     has     progressed     works     on     ground     heat     pump     projects: 

 ○  Abney     Park     Cemetery’s     ground     source     heat     pump     has     now 
 been     installed,     with     the     building     due     to     open     by     the     end     of     2023. 
 This     was     part     of     a     £5m     project     funded     by     the     National     Lottery 
 Heritage     Fund,     The     National     Lottery     Community     Fund     and 
 Hackney     Council  6  ;     and 

 6  Installation     of     heat     pump     marks     latest     phase     of     Abney  Park     restoration 
 project     and     step     towards     delivering     Hackney’s     Climate     Action     Plan 

 5  Council     funds     carbon-saving     projects     at     14     Hackney  landmarks 

 7 
Page 64

https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2700-north-london-district-energy-network
https://www.london.gov.uk/decisions/md2700-north-london-district-energy-network
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/installation-of-heat-pump-marks-latest-phase-of-abney-park-restoration-project-and-step-towards-delivering-hackneys-climate-action-plan/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/installation-of-heat-pump-marks-latest-phase-of-abney-park-restoration-project-and-step-towards-delivering-hackneys-climate-action-plan/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/council-funds-carbon-saving-projects-at-14-hackney-landmarks/


 ○  Installation     of     water     source     heat     pumps     at     the     West     Reservoir 
 Centre     was     completed     in     May     2023.     This     project     was     made 
 possible     with     £263.000     secured     from     the     Department     for 
 Business,     Energy     &     Industrial     Strategy     (BEIS)     through     an     earlier 
 Public     Sector     Decarbonisation     Fund     round. 

 ●  The     Council     has     appointed     a     supplier     to     deliver     both     slow     and     fast 
 Electric     Vehicles     (EV)     charger     types     as     part     of     the     borough-wide 
 network     delivery.     The     rapid     charger     supplier     appointment     is     expected 
 to     be     concluded     shortly.     The     target     date     for     expansion     of     the     EV 
 network     to     3,000     residential     charge     points     has     been     brought     forward 
 from     2030     to     2026.     The     EV     network     map     with     the     initial     proposed     new 
 locations     (2,650)     is     currently     being     reviewed     internally     and     is     due     to     be 
 made     public     for     resident     feedback     in     July     2023.     The     Council     is     on 
 target     to     deliver     the     first     set     of     new     EV     chargers     by     the     end     of     the 
 year  7  . 

 ●  The     Council     has     upgraded     11,107     street     lights     to     LED.     Approximately 
 100     units     are     outstanding     due     to     their     decorative     nature,     with 
 completion     scheduled     by     March     2024,     ensuring     the     full     LED     upgrade 
 for     all     street     lights     in     Hackney  8  . 

 ●  The     Council’s     fleet     currently     operates     84     electric     vehicles,     which 
 account     for     approximately     15.8%     of     the     total     fleet.     Apart     from     the 
 Housing     fleet     almost     all     other     (non     electric)     vehicles     in     the     fleet     are 
 running     on     renewable     biofuel     known     as     Hydrotreated     Vegetable     Oil 
 (HVO).     The     use     of     HVO     biofuel     helps     in     reducing     carbon     emissions.     In 
 the     year     2022/23,     the     adoption     of     HVO     biofuel     has     resulted     in     a     total 
 carbon     emissions     savings     of     2,599     tonnes. 

 ●  The     Council     agreed     contracts     for     the     rollout     of     2,500     fast     and     slow 
 chargers     and     are     in     the     process     of     agreeing     a     contract     to     also     deliver 
 rapid     chargers.     The     network     of     charge     points     has     been     mapped     and     all 
 planned     locations     for     charge     points     will     undergo     a     public     consultation 
 during     which     residents     can     share     their     views.     All     of     the     charging     points 
 will     use     100%     renewable     energy,     with     a     discounted     rate     available     for 
 Hackney     residents     through     Hackney     Light     and     Power,     the     Council’s 
 energy     services     arm  9  . 

 9  Hackney     to     become     national     leader     in     electric     vehicle  charging 

 8  All     street     lights     to     be     LED     by     next     year 

 7  Hackney     helping     lead     the     electric     vehicle     charge 

 8 
Page 65

https://news.hackney.gov.uk/hackney-to-become-national-leader-in-electric-vehicle-charging/%20electric%20vehicle%20charging
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/all-street-lights-to-be-led-by-next-year/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/hackney-helping-lead-the-electric-vehicle-charge/


 ●  In     November     2022,     Transport     for     London     (TfL)     made     the     decision     to 
 proceed     with     the     expansion     of     the     Ultra     Low     Emission     Zone     (ULEZ) 
 starting     in     August     2023.     Alongside     this     expansion,     a     £110     million 
 scrappage     scheme     was     introduced.     However,     there     has     been 
 opposition     to     the     ULEZ     expansion,     as     evidenced     by     the     plans     of     five 
 councils     (Bexley,     Bromley,     Harrow,     Hillingdon,     and     Surrey)     to     challenge 
 the     legality     of     the     ULEZ     expansion     process     through     a     judicial     review 
 scheduled     for     July     2023,     which     may     slow     implementation. 

 Priority     2:  Improve     local     resilience     to     impacts     of  climate 
 emergency 

 ●  The     Council     has     successfully     completed     the     planting     of     5,000     new 
 street     trees. 

 ●  Nine     Sustainable     Drainage     Schemes     (SuDS)     schemes     have     been 
 implemented     to     July     2023     (Chapman     Road,     Eastway     EAST     and     WEST, 
 Haggerston     Road,     Duncan     Road,     Well     Street,     Bushberry     Road,     Penn 
 Street     and     Flanders     Way).     More     than     650m2     of     highway     has     been 
 depaved,     benefiting     the     public     realm,     improving     biodiversity     and 
 amenity     value,     as     well     as     reducing     flood     risk     and     improving     water 
 quality. 

 ●  Public     consultation     on     the     plans     to     deliver     improvements     to     increase 
 the     accessibility     of     West     Reservoir,     including     creating     access     to     new 
 green     space     as     well     as     upgrading     some     elements     of     the     West 
 Reservoir     Centre     facilities     was     undertaken     between     April     and     May 
 2023.     The     results     of     the     consultation     are     currently     being     analysed. 

 ●  The     Mayor     of     London's     Climate     Resilient     Schools     programme     has 
 concluded,     and     the     Council     had     the     highest     representation     with     16 
 schools     participating     out     of     95     schools     on     the     programme.     As     part     of 
 the     initiative,     12     schools     in     Hackney     received     visits     from     Smarter 
 Business,     an     organisation     focused     on     improving     sustainability 
 practices.     Additionally,     12     schools     implemented     SuDS     Rain     Planters, 
 which     help     manage     rainwater     runoff,     and     four     schools     were     equipped 
 with     Weather     Stations     to     monitor     weather     conditions.     A     total     of     12 
 schools     developed     Climate     Adaptation     Plans     to     address     the     challenges 
 posed     by     climate     change. 

 ●  Successfully     delivered     the     Grow     Back     Greener     Fund  10  ,  a     project 
 linking     two     parts     of     a     local     park     with     new     greenery     and     a     playful 
 stepping     stone     trail.     The     project     on     Ufton     Road     was     funded     by     the 

 10  New     project     to     link     Ufton     Gardens     shows     future     ambitions 

 9 
Page 66

https://news.hackney.gov.uk/new-project-to-link-ufton-gardens-shows-future-ambitions/


 Council     and     the     Mayor     of     London’s  Grow     Back     Greener     Fund  11  , 
 enabling     55m2     of     road     space     to     be     converted     into     a     brand     new     rain 
 garden     complete     with     201     new     plants,     three     new     street     trees     and     a     bug 
 hotel. 

 ●  New     parklets     have     been     installed     on     Wilton     Way     (three)     and     Stoke 
 Newington     (nine),     repurposing     car     parking     spaces     into     green     sitting 
 areas     and     providing     additional     space     for     local     cafes     and     restaurants  12  . 

 Priority     3:  Promote     active     travel     and     public     transport 
 ●  The     Council     has     49  School     Streets  across     the     borough,  47     of     which     are 

 permanent     and     2     are     experimental.     Hackney     has     the     largest     School 
 Street     programme     in     the     country     –     with     86%     of     the     borough's     state 
 primary     schools     and     15%     of     secondary     schools     being     covered     by     a 
 School     Street. 

 ●  The  Zero     Emissions     Network  (ZEN)     continues     to     support  businesses     in 
 the     transition     to     low-carbon     transport     and     promotes     a     shift     to     active, 
 shared,     collective     and     electric     mobility,     particularly     in     areas     of     the 
 borough     where     traffic     filters     have     been     or     are     being     introduced.     ZEN 
 does     this     through     understanding     business     delivery     and     servicing 
 requirements,     providing     cargo     bike     trials,     discounts     for     zero     emission 
 delivery     companies     and     offers     from     other     ZEN     partners,     supporting     and 
 promoting     local     Hackney     businesses.     Residents     also     benefit     from     the 
 ZEN     measures     available. 

 ●  The     Council     is     in     the     process     of     converting     the     three     hangar     based 
 cargo     bike     hire     stations     at     Calvert     Street     (currently     underway     June 
 2023),     Pitfield     Street     (including     complete     relocation     to     Leonard     Street) 
 and     Fleetwood     Street     to     open     air     hubs,     to     improve     operational 
 efficiency     for     users. 

 ●  The     Council     is     actively     expanding     the     cycle     hire     bay     network     to     provide 
 more     convenient     options     for     residents.     An     ideal     parking     density     of     400 
 cycle     hire     bays     has     been     identified,     ensuring     that     a     bay     is     available 
 within     100     metres     of     all     residents.     In     Spring     2023,     a     consultation     was 
 conducted     for     an     additional     60     bays,     which     are     now     being 

 12  Wilton     Way     parklets     get     thumbs     up  and  Six     new     parklets  now     open     in     Stoke 
 Newington 

 11  New     project     to     link     Ufton     Gardens     shows     future     ambitions 

 10 
Page 67

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-and-strategies/environment-and-climate-change/parks-green-spaces-and-biodiversity/green-space-funding/grow-back-greener-fund-2022
https://hackney.gov.uk/school-streets/
https://zeroemissionsnetwork.com/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/wilton-way-parklets-get-thumbs-up/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/six-new-parklets-now-open-in-stoke-newington/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/six-new-parklets-now-open-in-stoke-newington/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/new-project-to-link-ufton-gardens-shows-future-ambitions/


 implemented.     The     Council     is     engaging     with  Lime  to     improve     parking 
 compliance     and     with     London     Councils     to     develop     a     London-Wide 
 Contract. 

 ●  The     second     entrance     to     Hackney     Central     station     on     Graham     Road 
 opened     in     July     2021,     and     has     now     recorded     3,200     weekly     trips     –     up 
 from     2,500     in     early     November     2022. 

 ●  In     June     2023,     the     Council     with     the     City     of     London     Corporation     hosted 
 the     annual  London     Walking     and     Cycling     Conference.  The     primary 
 objective     of     the     conference     was     to     look     at     the     ways     in     which     to     better 
 support,     encourage     and     develop     walking     and     cycling     as     the     primary 
 modes     of     transportation     for     individuals. 

 ●  Bike     Around     the     Borough,     a     cycling     event     aimed     at     promoting     cycling 
 among     Hackney's     school     children,     made     a     comeback     after     the 
 pandemic.     Twelve     schools     participated     in     the     event,     which     took     place 
 on     14     July     2022.     The     event     received     support     from     London     Marathon 
 Events     and     the     London     Cycling     Campaign  13  . 

 ●  The     Council     is     set     to     undergo     a     major     expansion     of     secure     on-street 
 cycle     parking     with     the     installation     of     675     new     bike     hangars     by     2026  14  . 
 To     date     47     hangars     were     installed     in     2022/23     –     this     equates     to     282 
 spaces. 

 ●  The     Council     is     continuing     the     programme     of     introducing  Low     Traffic 
 Neighbourhoods  (LTNs)     with     a     target     of     75%     of     all  eligible     roads     low 
 traffic     by     2026.     Engagement     with     local     residents     is     underway     in     2023 
 and     depending     on     feedback     new     LTNs     could     be     introduced     in     2024     and 
 2025  15  . 

 Priority     4:  Reduce     waste     and     promote     the     circular 
 economy 

 ●  The     unaudited     recycling     rate     for     2022/23     is     26.2%,     with     a     street     level 
 household     recycling     rate     of     41.9%     and     an     estate     household     recycling 
 rate     of     18.5%.     Recycling     rates     are     typically     seeing     a     fall     as     the     impact 
 of     behaviour     change     takes     effect.     People     are     ensuring     food     waste     is 

 15  Walking     and     cycling     up     after     Stoke     Newington     LTN  ,  Safer     walking     and 
 cycling     after     traffic     enforcement     boost  ,  Main     road  traffic     in     Hackney     6%     lower 
 than     last     year 

 14  Number     of     cycle     hangars     set     to     double     in     next     four  year 

 13  Bike     Around     the     Borough     returns 

 11 
Page 68

https://www.li.me/en-gb
https://hackney.gov.uk/london-walking-cycling-conference
https://hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-neighbourhoods
https://hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-neighbourhoods
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/walking-and-cycling-up-after-stoke-newington-ltn/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/safer-walking-and-cycling-after-traffic-enforcement-boost/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/safer-walking-and-cycling-after-traffic-enforcement-boost/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/main-road-traffic-in-hackney-6-lower-than-last-year/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/main-road-traffic-in-hackney-6-lower-than-last-year/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/number-of-cycle-hangars-set-to-double-in-next-four-years/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/bike-around-the-borough-returns/


 reduced,     reusing     and     refilling     instead     of     purchasing     items     in     glass     or 
 plastic     bottles     and     jars,     and     possibly     consuming     less     in     general     due     to 
 the     cost     of     living     crisis.     Further,     manufacturers     are     changing     packaging 
 types     and     lightweighting     materials,     which     target     the     materials     that     are 
 typically     recycled,     rather     than     those     that     end     up     in     the     general     waste. 
 With     hotter     and     drier     summers,     garden     waste     tonnages     are     also     less. 

 ●  Phase     4     of     the     Estate     Recycling     Programme,     whereby     waste     chutes 
 are     closed     and     dedicated     bin     stores     installed,     has     seen     recycling     rates 
 increase     to     28.7%     from     9.6%.     The     Council     has     also     reduced     the     3rd 
 weekly     waste     collection     on     three     of     the     Phase     4     estates     and     this     has 
 contributed     to     the     improving     recycling     rate.     Further     estate     based 
 interventions     included     installing     354     new     design     recycling     bins     on 
 selected     estates,     assisting     with     an     increase     in     recycling     rates     for     estate 
 based     properties. 

 ●  The     Council     is     leading     the     food     consumption     emissions     theme     of     the 
 pan-London     One     World     Living     (OWL)     Programme     (an     element     of     the 
 London     Councils     Climate     Programme  ),     which     has     so     far  delivered: 

 ○  A  circular     food     procurement     working     group  –     currently  21 
 boroughs     and     one     waste     authority     have     joined     to     introduce 
 climate     friendly     menus     for     all     catering     services     provided     by 
 councils,     such     as     schools     and     care     services,     as     well     as     to 
 reduce     food     waste; 

 ○  A  London     Food     Purchasing     Commitment  –     which     was     launched 
 in     March     2023     for     all     London     boroughs     to     sign     up.     Hounslow 
 and     Hackney     are     the     first     boroughs     signing     up     to     it,     which 
 commits     the     Council     to     reduce     meat     consumption,     reduce     food 
 waste     and     improve     food     provenance     with     targets     for     each     to     be 
 achieved     by     2030;     and 

 ○  A     pan     London     (26     boroughs)     Food     Waste     and     Sustainable     Diet 
 crowdfunding     campaign,     launched     in     April     2023     –     delivering     the 
 EatLikeaLondoner.com  campaign. 

 ●  #ZeroWasteHackney,     Go     Beyond     Recycling  is     the     Council’s 
 award-winning     circular     economy     campaign     empowering     residents     to 
 reduce     waste,     reimagine     resources,     and     save     money.     The     campaign     is 
 dedicated     to     making     a     positive     difference     in     the     lives     of     all     Hackney 
 residents,     especially     those     who     are     vulnerable     or     on     a     low     income. 
 Through     the     support     of     residents     and     local     partners,     more     than 
 2,000,000     household     items     have     been     kept     in     the     local     circular 
 economy,      engaging     with     over     5,000     residents     face-to-face. 

 12 
Page 69

https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/our-key-themes/climate-change
https://relondon.gov.uk/circular-food-procurement
https://relondon.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/Londons-Food-Purchasing-Commitment_Formatted.docx
http://eatlikealondoner.com/
https://hackney.gov.uk/reduce-reuse-and-repair


 ●  From     July     2022     to     the     end     of     June     2023,     the     Library     of     Things     based     in 
 Dalston     Library     performed     2,080     borrows,     saving     residents     circa 
 £59,000,     diverting     14.5     tonnes     of     waste     from     direct     disposal     and 
 avoiding     25.4     tonnes     of     carbon     emissions.     It     also     brought     almost     5,000 
 extra     visits     to     the     library. 

 ●  The     Council     participated     in     the     annual     campaign     to     promote     the 
 national  Refill     app  to     reduce     single-use     plastics  via     signposting 
 residents     to     businesses     where     they     accept     reusable     containers     and 
 refill     water     stations. 

 ●  In     September     2022,     the     Council     launched     a     month-long     challenge     to 
 encourage     residents     to     reduce     their     non-recyclable     waste.     Participants 
 were     motivated     by     the     opportunity     to     win     Library     of     Things     credit     prizes. 
 Throughout     the     challenge,     the     Council     provided     weekly     email 
 communications     with     waste     forms     and     zero     waste     ideas.     Out     of     the     72 
 people     who     signed     up,     19     actively     participated,     and     8     successfully 
 completed     the     challenge.     The     average     weekly     non-recyclable     waste 
 per     person     decreased     from     0.8     bags     to     0.6     bags,     while     the     average 
 weekly     recyclable     waste     decreased     from     1.7     bags     to     0.6     bags.     Overall, 
 challengers     produced     50.3%     less     waste     (mixed     recycling     and     general 
 waste)     during     the     challenge,     highlighting     the     significant     impact     of 
 individual     efforts     in     waste     reduction. 

 ●  The     Council     actively     promoted  Hackney     shops  that     offer  refills     and     food 
 without     packaging.     To     raise     awareness     and     provide     easy     access     to 
 these     eco-friendly     options,     the  Hackney     Zero     Waste  map  was     created. 
 This     comprehensive     map     showcases     local     shops     where     residents     can 
 bring     their     own     containers     for     refilling     household     cleaning     products     and 
 purchase     food     without     packaging.     The     impact     of     this     initiative     has     been 
 significant,     with     the     map     generating     22,812     views. 

 ●  The     Council     has     delivered: 

 ○  Four  Zero     Waste     Hubs  :     the     Hubs     deliver     reuse     and     repair 
 pop-ups     where     residents     can     donate     items     they     don’t     need,     take 
 things     they     do,     and     repair     their     electrical     items,     textiles     and 
 bicycles     for     free.     In     2022/23     approximately     850     residents 
 attended     the     events     with     200     items     including     bikes,     electricals 
 and     clothes     repaired     (or     advice     on     repair     was     provided).     Nearly 
 5.5     tonnes     of     waste     was     diverted     from     direct     disposal     and     15 
 tonnes     of     CO2     equivalent     avoided; 

 ○  Four  clothes     swaps     and     repair     sessions  :     555     attendees  in 
 2022/23,     with     nearly     3,000     pieces     of     clothing     exchanged,     and 
 swaps     therefore     contributing     to     extending     the     lifespan     of 

 13 
Page 70

https://www.refill.org.uk/
https://hackney.gov.uk/reduce-reuse-and-repair
https://www.google.com/maps/d/viewer?mid=1IhZ8QpHYKqB8Cvh8MfWXeIdxpF52yHnc&usp=sharing
https://hackney.gov.uk/reduce-reuse-and-repair
https://hackney.gov.uk/reduce-reuse-and-repair


 garments     and     reducing     waste     in     the     fashion     industry. 
 Additionally     there     was     an     estimate     savings     of     £40,000; 

 ○  The     Toy     Reuse     Scheme,     whereby     circa     1,500     toys     (1.2     tonnes) 
 have     been     distributed     reaching     vulnerable     families,     including 
 families     affected     by     domestic     violence     and     poverty,     refugees, 
 children     in     hospitals,     and     children     affected     by     brain     injuries;     and 

 ○  Ten     plastic-free     workshops     and     sessions     helping     residents 
 reduce     single-use     plastic     by     showing     them     how     to     make     their 
 own     low-cost     and     plastic-free     products     e.g.     reusable     sanitary 
 products     and     wipes,     cleaning     and     toiletries     products,     as     well     as 
 providing     information     about     sustainable     alternatives     to     single 
 use     items     (plastic     and     non-plastic). 

 ●  The     Council     promotes     furniture     reuse     to     facilitate     a     transition     to     a 
 circular     economy     and     encourages     residents     to     use     a     variety     of 
 services,     including     apps     like  Ferris  and  TipTapp  ,  which     enable 
 individuals     to     give     and     receive     reusable     items     for     free.     Also 
 encouraged     is     the     use     of     platforms     such     as  Freecycle  ,  Freegle  and 
 LoveJunk,  where     people     can     give     away     unwanted     items  and     find 
 preloved     furniture     and     appliances.     Residents     are     signposted     to     the 
 British     Heart     Foundation  for     free     collection     service  for     donating 
 unwanted     furniture     and     household     items     and     to  OLIO  which     allows     for 
 the     sharing     of     household     items     among     neighbours. 

 ●  200     tonnes     of     nappy     waste     have     been     avoided     between     1     July     2022 
 and     11     July     2023     working     with  Real     Nappy     for     London  to     help     parents 
 reduce     disposable     nappy     waste     by     providing     them     with     a     voucher     to 
 get     started     with     washable     alternatives. 

 ●  541     tonnes     of     clothing     and     textiles     were     collected     between     June     2022 
 and     May     2023     as     a     result     of     the     90     public  reuse     clothes  banks  across 
 the     borough     in     partnership     with     Traid,     Islamic     Relief     and     Oxfam,     where 
 clothing     and     textiles     are     sold     for     re-use     in     charity     shops.     32     tonnes 
 were     also     collected     via     home     collections     operated     by     Traid.     An 
 estimated     total     of     5,453.3     tonnes     CO2     equivalent     has     been     saved 
 through     circular     clothing     collection. 

 ●  Three     cooking     and     sustainable     food     shopping     workshops,     aimed     at 
 promoting     plant-based     foods,     reducing     food     waste     and     encouraging 
 healthy     eating     have     been     delivered     and     also     provided     information 
 about     avoidable     and     unavoidable     food     waste.     Throughout     the     duration 
 of     the     workshops,     participants     had     the     opportunity     to     learn     valuable 
 cooking     skills,     explore     sustainable     food     shopping     practices,     and     gain 
 knowledge     about     the     importance     of     plant-based     diets.     The     workshops 

 14 
Page 71

https://www.ferrisapp.co/download
https://www.tiptapp.com/en
https://www.freecycle.org/town/HackneyUK
https://www.ilovefreegle.org/
https://www.lovejunk.com/
https://www.bhf.org.uk/shop/donating-goods/book-furniture-collection-near-me
https://olioex.com/
https://www.realnappiesforlondon.org.uk/
https://hackney.gov.uk/reduce-reuse-and-repair/#banks


 aimed     to     raise     awareness     about     food     waste     reduction,     both     in     terms     of 
 avoidable     waste     that     can     be     prevented     and     unavoidable     waste     that     can 
 be     properly     managed. 

 ●  The     Council     supported     the  GetComposting     campaign  ,  which     aimed     to 
 offer     our     residents     access     to     affordable     and     environmentally     friendly 
 products,     including     home     compost     bins.     By     participating     in     this 
 scheme,     residents     are     encouraged     to     engage     in     composting     at     home, 
 thereby     reducing     organic     waste     for     collection     and     promoting 
 sustainability. 

 ●  Created     the  Circular     Economy     Knowledge     Base,  a     collection  of 
 resources     aimed     at     helping     businesses     in     Hackney     transition     and     thrive 
 in     the     circular     economy.     The     report     encompasses     information     to 
 support     those     in     different     stages     of     circular     economy     development, 
 from     beginner     to     more     advanced,     plus     funding     a     number     of     businesses 
 to     deliver     circularity     projects     –     in     depth     case     studies  here  . 

 ●  There     are     currently     65     schools     registered     to     take     part     in     the 
 Eco-School     programme  with     a     total     of     18     Green     Flag  awarded     schools. 
 Schools     continue     to     take     part     in     waste     audits     and     waste     prevention     & 
 recycling     assemblies     to     improve     environmental     performance     at     school. 
 More     details     of     specific     initiatives     are     as     follows: 

 ○  Rushmore     School     is     trialling     a     surplus     food     waste     redistribution 
 project     with     OLIO; 

 ○  Five     schools     took     part     in     the     Eco-School     'Cut     Your     Carbon' 
 Campaign     which     was     about     raising     awareness     about     food, 
 energy     and     fashion     contribution     to     carbon     emissions; 

 ○  Schools     conducted     assemblies     and     worked     on     carbon     related 
 projects;     and 

 ○  Four     Eco-Schools     took     part     in     'Running     Out     of     Time     Relay', 
 Britain's     largest     sporting     event     celebrating     environmental 
 awareness. 

 ●  A     number     of     activities     as     part     of     the  London     Climate  Action     Week     2023 
 were     delivered     by     the     Council,     alongside     others,     including: 

 ○  A     ‘Healthy     and     climate-friendly     cooking’     masterclass     with 
 ProVeg     International  to     inspire     and     motivate     school  chefs     and 
 cooks     to     embrace     plant-based     food     with     a     positive     attitude; 

 15 
Page 72

https://getcomposting.com/
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1TI_gbvNed6-71Lj7eV02EkeQsnD4sqSI/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JZ1IeRIzJJP31qjDYYzYlLqUqTT_iiPJ/view
https://hackney.gov.uk/eco-schools
https://www.londonclimateactionweek.org/
https://proveg.com/


 ○  The     Eco     School     Annual     Event     where     three     schools     came 
 together     for     a     round     table     discussion     on     Hackney's     Climate 
 Action     Plan;     and 

 ○  The     annual     Sustainability     Day,     an     event     to     showcase 
 sustainable     actions     in     Hackney,     featuring     engaging     activities, 
 workshops     and     exhibitions. 

 ●  Restrictions     in     the     use     of     single-use     plastics     in     Council     run     markets     has 
 been     implemented     through     new     terms     and     conditions,     with     traders     and 
 business     operators     currently     still     in     the     24-month     period     to     transition     to 
 alternative     suppliers     and     products. 

 Priority     5:  Reduce     and     remove     pollution 
 ●  The     Council     has     progressed     actions     within     the  Air  Quality     Action     Plan  . 

 An  Annual     Status     Report  which     contains     details     of  progress     against     all 
 of     the     measures     in     the     Action     Plan     was     submitted     to     the     GLA     in     May 
 2023.     The     report     contains     all     of     the     borough's     air     quality     monitoring 
 data     for     the     2022     calendar     year. 

 ●  The     network     of     automatic     monitoring     stations     was     expanded     with     2022 
 the     first     year     for     which     data     was     available     from     the     new     sites.     The 
 network     saw     additional     automatic     monitoring     of     NOx     being     carried     out 
 at     Green     Lanes,     Amhurst     Road,     Homerton     Library     and     Queensbridge 
 Road.     The     latter     three     sites     also     contain     an     automatic     monitor 
 measuring     PM10     concentrations. 

 ●  A     contract     to     manage     and     publish     data     from     the     automatic     air     quality 
 monitoring     stations     was     awarded     to     Ricardo.     The     data     is     now     publicly 
 available     on     the  AirQualityEngland  website.  Breathe  London  also 
 continues     to     operate     monitoring     nodes     within     the     borough     and     publish 
 the     data     on     their     website.     A     further     round     where     monitors     were     made 
 available     to     schools     and     community     groups     was     launched     and     a 
 campaign     to     raise     awareness     was     carried     out. 

 ●  Modelled     data     and     analysis     of     the     air     quality     impacts     in     and     around 
 three  Low     Traffic     Neighbourhoods  was     added     to     the  Council     website. 
 An     additional     dispersion     modelling     study     was     carried     out     to     assess     the 
 air     quality     impacts     from     the     introduction     of     the     Stoke     Newington     Low 
 Emission     Neighbourhood. 

 ●  The     campaign     to     tackle     engine     idling     continued     with  anti-idling 
 workshops     being     held     at     two     schools     (Olive     &     Southwold     Primary 
 School).     The     campaign     also     increased     the     number     of     signs     asking 
 drivers     to     switch     off     their     engines.     The     Council     has     commenced     work 

 16 
Page 73

https://hackney.gov.uk/air-quality-reports
https://hackney.gov.uk/air-quality-reports/#report
https://www.airqualityengland.co.uk/
https://www.breathelondon.org/
https://hackney.gov.uk/low-traffic-neighbourhoods
https://hackney.gov.uk/air-quality-sustainable-transport/#idling


 on     developing     systems     for     reporting     and     responding     to     complaints 
 about     vehicle     idling     using     the  Fix     My     Street  platform. 

 ●  The     Council     continued     to     use     social     media     to     raise     awareness     of     the 
 impacts     on     air     quality     and     health     from  solid     fuel  burning  .     All     solid     fuel 
 suppliers     in     the     borough     have     now     received     a     visit     to     advise     on     the 
 requirements     brought     in     by     the     Environment     Act     2021.     Details     of     all 
 historic     Smoke     Control     Orders     covering     the     borough     have     been 
 collated     and     the     areas     covered     mapped     on     GIS. 

 ●  The     Council     continued     to     provide     comment     and     advice     on     the     air 
 quality     impacts     of     new     developments     and     to     ensure     appropriate 
 mitigation     measures     are     in     place.     A  guidance     document  for     developers 
 on     controlling     dust     and     emissions     during     the     demolition     and 
 construction     phase     was     developed     and     made     available  here  . 

 ●  A     DEFRA     funded     project     to     raise     awareness     on     air     quality     has     included 
 the     development     of     a     web-based     tool     in     conjunction     with     volunteers 
 from     each     of     the     delivering     boroughs     (Hackney,     City     of     London, 
 Newham     and     Tower     Hamlets).     To     help     promote     the     campaign     and     tool, 
 the     Council: 

 ○  Delivered     training     to     healthcare     professionals     so     that     they     can 
 give     appropriate     advice     to     patients     who     may     be     affected     by 
 exposure     to     air     pollution; 

 ○  Invited     residents     within     the     community     to     join     a     Champions 
 programme     where     they     will     receive     training     on     air     pollution; 

 ○  Supported     residents     to     deliver     three     events/studies/campaigns 
 within     their     community;     and 

 ○  Delivered     a     Clean     Air     Day     2023     including     a     workshop     with     the 
 volunteers     on     the     subject     of     air     quality     in     Hackney. 

 ●  A     pollution-blocking     green     screen     has     been     installed     at     Rushmore 
 Primary     School     in     Clapton,     as     part     of     a     roll-out     to     32     primary     and 
 secondary     schools     in     Hackney  16  . 

 16  Pollution-blocking     green     screens     to     be     rolled     out  to     32     primary     schools 

 17 
Page 74

https://www.fixmystreet.com/
https://hackney.gov.uk/smoke-control-and-solid-fuel
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RxsXunSfyXaOBPbaJFgm2z7OH368xjJw/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1RxsXunSfyXaOBPbaJFgm2z7OH368xjJw/view
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/pollution-blocking-green-screens-to-be-rolled-out-to-32-primary-schools/


 Other:  Understanding     the     Green     Economy     and     supporting 
 business     to     transition 

 ●  A  green     economy     webpage  was     launched     on     the  Hackney  Business 
 Network     website  to     provide     businesses     with     resources  and     links, 
 eliminating     the     need     for     extensive     research     across     multiple     sources. 

 ●  The     Council     has     completed     the     initial     work     of     establishing     a  baseline     of 
 businesses  that     are     active     within     the     green     economy.     This     piece     of 
 work     will     support: 

 ○  The     Council     lobbying     of     the     Greater     London     Authority     and 
 Central     Government; 

 ○  Future     funding     bids;     and 

 ○  Future     plans     including     the     Economic     Development     Plan. 

 ●  The     Council     delivered     a  general     large-scale     business  survey  (25,400 
 businesses)     and     key     findings     are: 

 ○  74%     of     businesses     are     not     aware     of     the     Climate     Action     Plan; 

 ○  Only     4%     of     businesses     (potentially     980)     have     made     a 
 commitment     to     reach     net     zero     by     2030; 

 ○  7%     (potentially     1,700)     have     made     the     commitment     but     without     a 
 deadline;     and 

 ○  The     main     barriers     to     becoming     net     zero     were     cited     as     lack     of 
 knowledge     (18%),     lack     of     grants     (15%)     and     lack     of     finance 
 (13%),     and     32%     of     businesses     said     they     didn't     face     any     barriers 
 to     net     zero     transition. 

 ●  The     Adapt     Your     Business     programme     is     an     element     of     the     wider 
 business     support     programme,     that     used     the     government’s     Additional 
 Restrictions     Grant     post     pandemic     to     help     businesses     go     greener     and 
 strengthen     the     circular     economy.     As     a     result     of     the     programme: 

 ○  35     businesses     attended     three     circular     economy     webinars     -     the 
 live     session     can     be     seen  here  ; 

 ○  42     businesses     participated     in     the     Green     Business     Programme 
 and     the     Achieving     Net     Zero     masterclasses; 

 ○  43     businesses     completed     decarbonisation     or     environmental 
 performance     plans;     and 

 ○  27     businesses     were     funded     to     deliver     sustainability     projects. 

 18 
Page 75

https://www.hackneybusinessnetwork.co.uk/green-business
https://www.hackneybusinessnetwork.co.uk/
https://www.hackneybusinessnetwork.co.uk/
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-EubQGd0dnQHU_02Rx3uphEwKAyD_bHe/view
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-EubQGd0dnQHU_02Rx3uphEwKAyD_bHe/view
https://drive.google.com/drive/search?q=green%20economy%20report
https://www.hackneybusinessnetwork.c/


 ●  Collectively     businesses     reported     that     funding     enabled     them     to     make 
 average     savings     of: 

 ○  8,110     tonnes     of     CO2     equivalent     per     month; 

 ○  4,538     kg     of     waste     per     month;     and 

 ○  11     businesses     reported     making     financial     savings     from 
 sustainability     changes. 

 ●  A     final     report     summarising     what     was     delivered     alongside     small-scale 
 findings     on     the     key     barriers     and     support     needs     of     businesses     in 
 implementing     circular     practices     and     models     has     been     prepared.     The 
 report     encompasses     information     to     support     those     in     different     stages     of 
 their     circular     economy,     from     beginner     to     more     advanced. 

 ●  The     Council     offers     Green     Skills     Courses,     which     are     3-hour     sessions 
 with     an     end-of-course     test.     These     courses     focus     on     green 
 apprenticeships     and     training     pathways,     with     an     emphasis     on 
 supporting     disadvantaged     groups.     Currently,     the     Council     is     exploring 
 ways     to     expand     and     enhance     these     courses     and     improve     the 
 management     of     participation     until     completion.     Several     staff     members 
 have     already     completed     the     courses     as     part     of     their     Continuing 
 Professional     Development     (CPD). 

 ●  The     Council’s     Pension     Fund     has     set     a     new,     highly     ambitious,     series     of 
 climate     targets     to     help     achieve     net     zero     by     2040     (  Pension  Committee 
 in     March     23  ).     The     fund     has     previously     committed     to  reducing     its 
 exposure     to     fossil     fuel     reserves     by     50%     between     2016     and     2022, 
 surpassing     the     target     with     a     reduction     of     97%.     The     fund     is     expanding 
 its     focus     beyond     fossil     fuel     reserves     and     has     set     three     targets     to     stay 
 on     track     towards     net     zero: 

 ○  Target     1:  Reduce     the     fund’s     carbon     footprint     by     50%  (scopes     1 
 and     2)     by     2030     compared     to     the     2023     baseline.     This     will     cover 
 carbon     emissions     across     all     sectors     of     the     economy; 

 ○  Target     2:  Align     the     fund’s     portfolio     to     a     2C     warming  scenario     by 
 2030     with     a     1.5C     goal     for     2040.     This     forward-looking     target 
 encourages     investment     in     assets     that     contribute     to     the     transition 
 to     net     zero;     and 

 ○  Target     3:  Allocate     no     less     than     10%     of     assets     to     climate 
 solutions     over     the     next     five     years     including     renewable     energy 
 and     nature-based     solutions. 

 19 
Page 76

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s82904/5%20PC%20March%202023%20-%20Climate%20Target%20Setting%20-%20Cover%20Report.pdf
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s82904/5%20PC%20March%202023%20-%20Climate%20Target%20Setting%20-%20Cover%20Report.pdf


 Council     external     awards     and 
 shortlisting     achievements 
 The     Council     has     won     or     been     shortlisted     for     a     number     of     awards     –     the     full     list 
 is     as     follows: 

 Award  Project  Recognition 

 National     Energy 
 Efficiency 
 Awards 

 Solar     panel     installations, 
 Hackney's     Green     Homes 
 Programme,     wider 
 decarbonisation     programmes, 
 and     commitments     to     achieve     a 
 net-zero     target     by     2040. 

 Special 
 Commendation  – 
 Council     of     the     Year 

 (November     2022). 

 London     Energy 
 Efficiency 
 Awards 

 Hackney's     Green     Homes 
 Programme     –     improve     energy 
 efficiency     and     sustainability     in 
 residential     properties     within     the 
 Borough. 

 Shortlisted     –  Small 
 Project     of     the     Year 
 (June     2023). 

 Local     Authority 
 Recycling 
 Advisory 
 Committee 
 (LARAC)     Awards 

 Partnership     with     Library     of 
 Things     –     a     lending     library     where 
 residents     can     borrow     items     and 
 equipment     at     affordable     prices. 

 Finalist     –  Best     Waste 
 Prevention     Project 
 (October     2022). 

 LARAC     Awards  #ZeroWasteHackney,     Go 
 Beyond     Recycling     –     circular 
 economy     and     waste     prevention 
 programme. 

 Finalist     –  Circular 
 Economy 
 Achievement 
 (October     2022). 

 Global     Public 
 Service     Awards 

 Efforts     in     promoting     and 
 delivering     #ZeroWasteHackney, 
 Go     Beyond     Recycling. 

 Won     –  Team     of     the 
 Year     Award     –     Planet 
 Protector 

 (January     2023). 

 Keep     Britain     Tidy 
 Awards 

 #ZeroWasteHackney,     Go 
 Beyond     Recycling. 

 Won     –  Environmental 
 Campaign     of     the     Year 

 20 
Page 77



 Award  Project  Recognition 

 (February     2023). 

 Awards     for 
 Excellence 

 #ZeroWasteHackney,     Go 
 Beyond     Recycling. 

 Won     –  Circular 
 Economy     Success 

 (May     2023). 

 Global     Action 
 Plan     – 
 Sustainable     City 
 Awards 

 #ZeroWasteHackney,     Go 
 Beyond     Recycling. 

 Finalist     –  Best 
 Campaign     of     the     Year 
 2023 

 (May     2023). 

 Local 
 Government 
 Chronicle 
 Awards 

 Partnership     with     Library     of 
 Things. 

 Finalist     –  Best 
 Public/Private 
 Partnership     2023. 

 Good     Food     for 
 All     Londoners 
 report     2022 

 Leadership     in     sign     up     boroughs 
 to     the     London     Food     Purchasing 
 commitment.     Co-delivering     the 
 Eat     Like     A     Londoner, 
 sustainable     food     and     food     waste 
 campaign. 

 Most     improved 
 council. 

 Green     Flag  Standard     for     well-run     and 
 accessible     parks. 

 Hackney’s     parks     and 
 green     spaces     have 
 maintained     their 
 record     of     28     green 
 flags. 

 21 
Page 78



 Securing     external     funding     and 
 support     for     the     Council’s     climate 
 response 
 The     Council     has     submitted     several     funding     applications     –     the     full     list     with 
 description     and     results     is     as     follows: 

 Grant/fund  Description  Results 

 Successful     applications 

 Social     Housing 
 Decarbonisation 
 Scheme 

 Grant     to     improve     the     energy 
 efficiency     of     600-700     street     properties 
 homes     to     EPC     'C'  17  .     Overall     project 
 cost     is     circa     £9     million. 

 £4.5     million 
 awarded. 

 Public     Sector 
 Decarbonisation 
 Scheme     Fund 

 Decarbonising     heat     in     nine     buildings. 
 The     overall     project     cost     is     £16.8m.     It 
 aims     to     achieve     carbon     savings     of 
 over     1,550     tonnes.     The     project 
 includes     the     installation     of     three 
 ground     source     heat     pumps     and     four 
 air     source     heat     pumps     to     manage     the 
 heating     needs     of     the     nine     buildings  18  . 

 £12.2     million 
 awarded. 

 Central 
 Government 
 Levelling     Up     fund 

 Supports     the     Hackney     Central     Town 
 Centre     Strategy     to     facilitate     the 
 transformation     of     the     town     centre     into 
 a     greener     space,     addressing     issues 
 such     as     traffic     congestion     and     poor 
 air     quality  19  . 

 £19     million 
 awarded. 

 19  Fairer,     safer     and     more     sustainable     -     Hackney     Central     plan     approved 

 18  £12m     energy     boost     for     Council     buildings 

 17  Major     boost     for     ambitious     plans     to     improve     energy  efficiency     of     Hackney 
 Council     homes 

 22 
Page 79

https://news.hackney.gov.uk/fairer-safer-and-more-sustainable---hackney-central-plan-approved/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/12m-energy-boost-for-council-buildings/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/major-boost-for-ambitious-plans-to-improve-energy-efficiency-of-hackney-council-homes/
https://news.hackney.gov.uk/major-boost-for-ambitious-plans-to-improve-energy-efficiency-of-hackney-council-homes/


 UK     Shared 
 Prosperity     Fund 
 (SPF) 

 Council-led     delivery     of     business 
 support. 

 £500,000 
 awarded. 

 Mayor     of 
 London’s     Grow 
 Back     Greener 
 Fund  20 

 Rewilding     of     three     areas     of     London 
 Fields,     with     improvements     to     the 
 woodland     and     green     classroom,     new 
 planting     and     habitats     created     around 
 the     edge     of     the     park. 

 £50,000 
 awarded. 

 Nature     recovery     work     in     Hackney 
 Marshes,     and     introduce     a     new 
 wildlife-rich     area     around     North     Marsh 
 Pavilion. 

 £25,000 
 awarded. 

 DEFRA     Air     Quality 
 Awareness 
 Programme 

 London     Borough     of     Hackney,     in 
 collaboration     with     the     London 
 Borough     of     Newham,     Tower     Hamlets 
 and     the     City     of     London     to     address     the 
 issue     of     low     public     awareness     around 
 air     pollution     and     how     individuals     can 
 reduce     their     exposure     to     air     pollution. 

 £313,000 
 awarded. 

 Transport     for 
 London     Local 
 Implementation 
 Plan     Funding 

 Funding     for     a     variety     of     capital 
 schemes     that     support     the     delivery     of 
 the     Council’s     Transport     Strategy. 

 £1.935     million 
 awarded     for 
 23/24     year. 

 Submitted     and     awaiting     outcome 

 Green     Heat 
 Network     Fund 

 £2.9     million     grant     application     for     a 
 District     Heat     Network     for     Colville 
 Estate     etc     to     support     the     £14     million 
 cost     of     implementing     the     network. 

 Outcome 
 expected     circa 
 August     2023. 

 UK100     |     Local  An     application     has     been     submitted     to 
 secure     a     political     consultant     known     as 

 Outcome 
 expected     July 

 20  Wildlife     boost     for     Hackney     Marshes     and     London     Fields 

 23 
Page 80

https://news.hackney.gov.uk/wildlife-boost-for-hackney-marshes-and-london-fields/


 Power     into     Action  Net     Zero     Pathfinders     across     a     9 
 month     period     from     Autumn     2023     to 
 provide     support     to     overcome 
 challenges     with     The     Council’s     net 
 zero     projects. 

 2023. 

 London     Legacy 
 Development 
 Corporation 
 Carbon     Offset 
 Fund 

 Provision     of     solar     panels     to 
 permanent     residential 
 accommodation     on     Travellers     pitches 
 in     the     Hackney     Wick     area     £199,000. 

 Outcome 
 expected. 
 October     2023. 

 Hackney     Dine     Out,     Carbon     Down     for 
 £160,000:     Increase     the     uptake     of 
 climate     friendly     meals     when     our 
 residents     are     out     and     about. 

 School     based     child     led     ECO     Refill 
 Shop     project     for     £132,000:     10     eco 
 refills. 

 Water     fountains     in     Haggerston 
 £25,000:     Eliminate     35,000     plastic 
 bottles     a     year. 

 Solar     Project     at     New     Wave 
 Federation:     £270,000.     Solar 
 installation     at     two     schools. 

 Unsuccessful     applications 

 Innovate     UK  Submitted     a     ‘Pioneer     Places’ 
 application     for     a     social     housing     estate 
 in     November     2022. 

 Scored     highly 
 but 
 unsuccessful. 

 Submitted     a     ‘Fast     Followers’ 
 application     in     March     2023     to     resolve 
 non-technical     barriers     (finance,     legal 
 and     leaseholder     charging)     to 
 retrofitting     social     housing     property. 

 Scored     highly 
 but 
 unsuccessful. 

 24 
Page 81



 Work     in     progress 

 Public     Sector 
 Decarbonisation 
 Scheme     Fund 
 future     round 

 A     second     portfolio     of     corporate 
 buildings     is     being     assessed     for     grant 
 submission. 

 Submission 
 expected     to     be 
 made     later     this 
 year     –     subject 
 to     eligibility 
 criteria. 

 Social     Housing 
 Decarbonisation 
 Fund     future     round 

 A     second     portfolio     of     social     housing 
 buildings     is     being     assessed     for     grant 
 submission. 

 Submission 
 expected     to     be 
 made     later     this 
 year     –     subject 
 to     eligibility 
 criteria. 

 Knowledge 
 Transfer 
 Partnership 

 Working     with     Loughborough 
 University     to     establish     a     2     year 
 Knowledge     Transfer     Partnership     to 
 work     on     non-technical     barriers     to 
 building     decarbonisation. 

 Submission 
 expected     to     be 
 made     later     this 
 year. 

 25 
Page 82



 Review     of     outline     annual 
 Environmental     Sustainability     Board 
 work     plan     July     2022 
 Each  year  an  outline  annual  work  plan  is  included  as  part  of  the  annual 
 update.  The  key  tasks  from  the  July  2022  report  are  set  out  below  alongside  a 
 progress     update. 

 Key     task  Progress     update 

 Oversight     of     the 
 programme     for 
 development     and 
 production     of     the 
 Climate     Action     Plan 
 (CAP)     for     public 
 consultation     later     this 
 year. 

 The     development     of     the     draft     CAP     has     been     a 
 regular     item     at     the     ESB’s     bimonthly     meetings     over 
 the     last     12     months.     Following     the     decision     by 
 Cabinet     on     24     October     2022,     a     public     consultation 
 was     carried     out     which     included     a     consultation 
 survey     that     was     open     for     10     weeks     from     1st 
 November     2022     to     10th     January     2023.     These 
 responses     alongside     a     broader     set     of     engagement 
 activities     were     reviewed     and     considered     by     the 
 ESB     prior     to     the     CAP     being     adopted     at     Cabinet     on 
 26th     May     2023. 

 Oversight     and 
 approval     of     annual 
 progress     reporting     on 
 decarbonisation     to 
 Full     Council. 

 The     ESB     has     guided     the     content     of     this     year’s 
 annual     report     and     approved     it     on     7th     July     2023     to 
 go     to     Full     Council     on     26th     July     2023. 

 Maximising     the 
 benefits     that     come 
 from     the     recent 
 establishment     of     the 
 Climate,     Homes     and 
 Economy     (CHE) 
 Directorate. 

 Staff     resources     have     been     increased     within     CHE 
 with     a     specific     focus     on     climate     and     include     a     new 
 Climate     Manager     and     Strategic     Climate     Delivery 
 Officer,     expected     to     be     in     post     by     September     2023. 
 In     addition     senior     capacity     has     been     enhanced     as 
 a     result     of     the     Strategic     corporate     lead     –     climate 
 emergency     moving     from     the     corporate     centre 
 within     the     Chief     Executive's     Directorate     to     the 
 Sustainability     &     Environment     Service     in     CHE     in 
 2022,     better     consolidating     key     climate     staff     and 
 functions.     A     new     Head     of     Finance     has     been 
 recruited     to     support     climate     work     across     CHE     and 
 net     zero. 

 26 
Page 83



 Key     task  Progress     update 

 Oversight     of     longer 
 term     plans     for 
 community 
 engagement     and 

 further     development 
 of     the     external 
 engagement 
 framework     required     as 
 part     of     delivering     the 
 CAP. 

 A     set     of     engagement     principles     to     guide     all 
 stakeholders     was     part     of     the     adopted     CAP.     The 
 Council     has     developed     a     Council     Implementation 
 Plan     for     the     next     three     years     identifying     a     number 
 of     key     projects     where     engagement     is     needed.     The 
 Local     Climate     Engagement     programme     has     been 
 rescheduled     to     23/24     and     aims     to     enhance     skills     in 
 respect     of     climate     engagement     across     the     various 
 teams     that     have     outward     facing     engagement 
 responsibility,     thereby     supporting     Manifesto 
 Commitments     to     hold     more     localised     deliberations 
 on     specific     topics     related     to     the     climate     emergency. 
 A     restructure     of     the     consultation     team     in     the 
 corporate     centre     is     underway.     One     of     its     aims     is     to 
 provide     more     support     on     scoping     the     Council’s 
 wider     engagement     activities     deploying     expertise     as 
 required. 

 Ensuring     a     system     is 
 put     in     place     for     the 
 reporting/monitoring 
 requirements     of     the 
 CAP. 

 A     commitment     was     made     in     the     October     2022 
 Cabinet     report     to     develop     a     monitoring     and 
 reporting     framework     and     include     it     as     part     of     the 
 adoption     of     the     CAP.     This     has     been     progressed, 
 assessing     both     Council     and     borough-wide 
 monitoring     and     reporting     needs.     Where     there     is 
 certainty     regarding     future     monitoring     and     reporting, 
 this     was     set     out     within     the     adopted     CAP     in     May 
 2023. 

 Ensuring     robust 
 participation     with     the 
 London     Council     led 
 regional     climate 
 action     plan     work     and 
 associated     oversight 
 structures,     plus     the 
 London     Recovery 
 Board     Green     New     Deal 
 mission. 

 A     number     of     staff     are     participating     in     London 
 Councils     thematic     groups     and     oversight     structures. 
 The     Council     is     also     leading     on     the     Low     Carbon 
 development     theme.     London     Councils     has 
 undertaken     a     number     of     specialist     peer 
 engagement     sessions     which     a     range     of     Council 
 officers     have     attended     depending     on     the     topic 
 area.     The     Council     officers     participated     in     the 
 development     of     future     London     Council     policy     on 
 climate.     The     Council     is     also     leading     on     the     Food 
 theme     of     the     One     World     Living     Programme, 
 resulting     in     the     Eat     Like     a     London     campaign     and 
 the     launch     of     the     London     Food     Purchasing 

 27 
Page 84



 Key     task  Progress     update 

 Commitment.     The     Mayor     continues     to     participate     in 
 the     London     Recovery     Board     Green     Deal     mission. 

 Ensuring     an     effective 
 interface     with     political 
 participation     in 
 regional     climate 
 emergency 
 governance. 

 A     clear     set     of     lobbying     tasks     was     set     out     in     the 
 adopted     CAP,     providing     steer     and     guidance     to     the 
 Mayor     and     others     regarding     the     lobbying     required 
 to     unlock     some     of     the     existing     challenges     in 
 respect     of     the     Council’s     climate     response. 

 Overseeing     and 
 shaping     the 
 production     of     the 
 funding     and     resource 
 strategy     for     the 
 delivery     of     the     CAP. 

 An     outline     funding     and     resourcing     strategy     has 
 been     developed     which     has     been     reviewed     by     the 
 ESB.     The     Council’s     Medium     Term     Financial     Plan 
 has     identified     key     projects     where     financial 
 commitments     have     been     made     within     the     capital 
 programme. 

 Establishing     and 
 approving     further 
 governance     structures 
 where     required     to 
 support     this     work. 

 Post     the     adoption     of     the     CAP,     the     ESB     will     oversee 
 a     review     of     the     membership     and     terms     of     reference 
 of     the     internal     governance     structures     to     ensure     the 
 widest     participation     across     the     Council.     The 
 adopted     CAP     identified     a     number     of     future 
 governance     areas     for     consideration     including 
 funding     and     resourcing,     green     economy, 
 communications     and     engagement     amongst     others, 
 whilst     ensuring     specific     topic     areas     are     aligned 
 within     other     organisational     governance     structures. 

 Establishing     robust 
 future     internal     and 
 external     scrutiny 
 arrangements. 

 Internal     governance     structures     were     set     out     in     the 
 adopted     CAP     in     May     2023     whose     function     is     to 
 provide     oversight     and     scrutiny     links     to     the     key 
 Council     political     and     corporate     governance 
 structures.     Corporate     oversight     takes     place 
 through     Climate,     Homes     &     Economy     Directorate 
 Leadership     Team,     Corporate     Leadership     Team     and 
 the     Strategic     Leadership     Group.     Member     oversight 
 is     provided     by     the     Cabinet,     various     Scrutiny 
 Commissions     and     Full     Council. 

 Proposals     for     key     actions     to     develop     external 
 scrutiny     arrangements     were     outlined     in     the 
 adopted     CAP     and     are     a     key     future     action     for     the 
 ESB     over     the     next     12     months. 

 28 
Page 85



 Key     task  Progress     update 

 Building     in     related 
 manifesto 
 commitments     to 
 future     plans     for 
 delivery     effectively. 

 Relevant     Manifesto     Commitments     (MC)     were 
 assessed     as     part     of     developing     the     Council 
 Implementation     Plan     and     are     aligned     to     a     number 
 of     key     actions     where     relevant.     The     Council     has     a 
 well     established     and      robust     wider     MC     monitoring 
 system     which     is     overseen     by     the     Mayor’s     office     to 
 ensure     effective     linkages     back     to     the 
 administration. 

 29 
Page 86



Title of Report Adoption of Council Constitution

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24 July 2023

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All

Director Dawn Carter-McDonald, Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services and Monitoring Officer

1. Summary

1.1. The Council is required by the Local Government Act 2000 to prepare and
maintain a Constitution which contains a copy of the Council’s standing
orders, a copy of the Council’s code of conduct, and such other information
(if any) as the Council considers appropriate.

1.2. This report recommends the approval of a new Constitution following a
review and refresh led by the Constitution Committee and a Constitution
Officer Working Group (COWG) to take effect from Monday, 4 September
2023.

1.3. The Council’s Constitution has not been the subject of a comprehensive
review and refresh for some time. Such reviews are considered good
practice because over time changes made to the Constitution on an ad hoc
basis can lead to a situation where it becomes inconsistent, difficult to
navigate and inaccessible. Such reviews also ensure that the Constitution as
a whole remains fit for purpose.

1.4. Although the Council’s Monitoring Officer is the responsible officer for the
Constitution, they do not ‘own’ the document. Everyone within the Council
has individual and collective responsibility to understand the Constitution,
which is the most important document within the Council’s governance
framework, and their roles in upholding it by acting in accordance with it and
the principles it contains.

1.5. References to Parts / Sections in this report are to Parts / Sections within the
new Constitution.

Page 87

Agenda Item 10



2. Recommendations

2.1. That the Constitution appended to this report at Appendix 1 be
approved to take effect from Monday, 4 September 2023.

2.2. That the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services be given
delegated authority to make any changes of a typographical or
grammatical nature prior to its effective date and to insert appropriate
hyperlinks and bookmarks to aid navigation through the document.

3. Background

3.1. Since 2000, the Council has been required to prepare and make available a
Constitution which sets out key requirements relating to service delivery,
decision-making principles and protocols, i.e. this is a document that assists
the public in describing the functions of the council and how it proposes to
carry out those functions.

3.2. To support Councils at that time, the Secretary of State issued a direction
which mandated the use of a template approach to constitutions on the basis
that this would offer a degree of consistency at a time when new forms of
local authority governance were introduced. That requirement has been
repealed insofar as authorities in England are concerned. However, the
direction nonetheless provides a useful starting point as to the contents of
the Constitution document. In preparing or keeping the Constitution up to
date, the Council must also have regard to any guidance issued by the
Secretary of State under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000.
Guidance previously issued by the Secretary of State entitled “Modular
constitutions for English local authorities” has now been archived, although it
has not been formally repealed. In undertaking the review of the
Constitution, regard has been had to that direction and guidance.

3.3. The Council’s Constitution in its current form was adopted in 2011 and the
latest iteration, April 2023, is the 33rd edition of that document.

3.4. In January 2022, Full Council established a Constitution Committee whose
principle terms of reference are as follows:

(a) ... review areas in the Constitution to ensure that they are fit for
purpose and propose appropriate changes;

(b) receive requests to review certain areas of the Constitution;

(c) consider changes proposed by Members, Officers and
Committees;

(d) recommend proposed changes to Council for approval.

Page 88



Membership of the Committee is cross-party and draws upon Councillors
from the executive and non-executive and includes representation from the
Audit Committee and the Scrutiny Panel.

3.5. As explained within the January 2022 report to Full Council, the Constitution
review has not sought to change the balance of decision-making within the
Council nor how decisions are made generally, rather it has aimed to provide
greater clarity for the public and Members alike as to how the Council
operates and improve upon the information provided to the public /
businesses / other organisations with regards to the operation of the Council
with particular reference as to how they can become involved with the formal
aspects of Council decision-making.

3.6. The Constitution Review is also linked to one of the Elected Mayor’s
priorities, namely ‘[w]e will make the Council’s democratic functions more
accessible and review the Council’s constitution’.

3.7. In April 2022, the Constitution Committee endorsed the following vision
statement to guide their work and the work of the Constitution Officer
Working Group (COWG):

To produce a clear and succinct Constitution for the London Borough of
Hackney which is user-focused and accessible for all; which provides
helpful instruction on the manner in which the Council conducts its
business; and which ensures excellence in governance across the
Council.

3.8. This report will provide information on the overall approach taken to the
Constitution by both the COWG and the Constitution Committee in terms of
drafting principles, will explain how the new Constitution will be organised
and will then consider each Part in turn.

3.9. The vast majority of amendments are around language and grammar to give
effect to the principles of plain English; this has resulted in significant drafting
changes to the text of the Constitution. Where drafting changes have not had
the effect of altering the overall meaning of the existing Constitution, this
report does not deal with those changes in detail. Given the major
re-organisation of the Constitution, and the inclusion of new Parts / Sections,
a comparative red-line version has not been drawn up because it is
considered that it would be virtually impossible to follow. Finally,
amendments which have been made to give effect to other changes, such as
the titles of Officers’ posts, are again not highlighted in this report. This
report therefore focuses on the substantive changes that have been made.

Page 89



4. Overall approach

4.1. The COWG has also approached its work on the review with the ideal that
the Constitution ought to be a locally driven document which reflects the
character and culture of the Council and which facilitates Council business,
rather than something which creates bureaucratic procedures for the sake of
it. Of course, there is a delicate balance between this and the need to ensure
that the Council can demonstrate good governance lies at the heart of
everything it does.

4.2. The COWG and Constitution Committee have attempted to ensure that
drafting of the document applies the principles of plain English, particularly:

(a) Keeping sentences short;

(b) Using active verbs;

(c) Using words that are appropriate for the reader;

(d) Using lists where appropriate;

(e) Not being afraid to give instructions where appropriate; and

(f) Avoiding taking verbs or adjectives and making them into nouns
(nominalisation).

An attempt has been made to avoid the use of legal jargon and local
government speak wherever possible. Where that has not proven possible,
the COWG has sought to explain those terms either in the main glossary or
through ‘micro glossaries’ at the beginning of a section, for example, the
Contract Standing Orders. The COWG has also sought to remove
duplication where appropriate.

4.3. The COWG and Constitution Committee have considered with care how to
refer to the Elected Mayor and Councillors throughout the document. A
distinction is needed in certain places in the Constitution, where the
collective whole of people who have been elected is referred to - for example
in respect of voting at Council meetings or raising points of order within the
Council Procedure Rules. Consideration was given as to whether the
collective whole should be referred to as ‘Elected Members’ or ‘Elected
Mayor and Councillors’ distinction is needed because in some instances the
Constitution refers to all those who have been elected - for example in the
existing ‘Member / Officer Relations Protocol’ - rather than just the Elected
Mayor or Councillors. The clear preference expressed by the Constitution
Committee was for the former rather than the latter, accepting that it is a
longer phrase and might, in some instances, prove cumbersome in its
usage.

Page 90



4.4. The Constitution now adopts one consistent format throughout, with the
Hackney logo in the header and with footers being used to remind the reader
where in the Constitution they are.

5. Organisation of new Constitution

5.1. The Constitution has been fundamentally re-organised and now comprises
nine Parts, rather than the previous six. Each of the Parts now has a specific
focus and is subdivided into sections which are ‘lettered’ rather than
‘numbered’. The document has also been moved from MS Word to Google
Docs.

5.2. The Glossary has been moved from the back to the front of the Constitution.

5.3. The rationale for the approach to the ordering of the Constitution is to assist
the reader in accessing that Part / Section that they are interested in more
easily and also to enable amendments to be made without necessarily
re-issuing the entire Constitution. It will also assist with the publication of the
Constitution on the Council’s website.

5.4. Hyperlinks / bookmarks will be used throughout the Constitution to enable
readers to easily move from one Part / Section to another and also to link
specific terms to the explanation contained within the Glossary. These have
not been added at this stage and will be added following the adoption of the
Constitution by Full Council. The rationale for this is because it will take a
considerable amount of officer time to insert and then cross-check links and
should Full Council wish to make any amendments to the document there is
a risk that those amendments would impact upon the hyperlinks /
bookmarks. Similarly links to the Council’s website will be included at that
stage.

6. Part 1 - Your Council

Section A - An overview of the London Borough of Hackney

6.1. This section is an updated version of the previous Summary and is designed
to provide the reader with information about the Council. Additional wording
has been incorporated around the responsibilities of the Elected Mayor and
Councillors to include reference to protecting and enhancing the natural
environment and acting to mitigate and ensure resilience to climate change
in recognition of the Council’s declared climate emergency.

6.2. Section B - Principles of Decision Making

6.3. This is a new section for the Constitution designed to provide the reader with
an explanation about how the Council makes decisions, including who can

Page 91



make decisions, the need to comply with the law, considering options and
impacts, equalities, consultations, and evidence based decisions. It also
references the need for decision makers to consider the impact of decisions
on sustainability and climate change, including any environmental benefits
and disbenefits, taking into account the Council’s declared climate
emergency. Finally, the section deals with openness and transparency in
decision making, and how decisions are published via reports and decision
notices.

6.4. Section C - Citizens’ Rights and Responsibilities

6.5. This is a new section in the Constitution, although the contents
predominantly comes from existing Part 2, Article 2 and the information
currently contained under the heading ‘Citizen’s Rights’ in the Summary. The
purpose in including the content at this stage of the Constitution is to bring it
into greater prominence.

7. Part Two - Articles of the Constitution

7.1. The Articles of the Constitution remain as existing within the current
Constitution, although they have been re-drafted from the perspective of
plain English.

(a) Article 3 has been expanded to include the requirements for
standing for election for Elected Mayor or Councillor.

(b) Within Article 3, the COWG and Constitution Committee has paid
close attention to how the opposition groups should be referred to
and what would happen in the event of the two or more opposition
groups having an equal number of seats. A review of the way in
which the Council’s Constitution dealt with the issue when there
was last more than one opposition group was undertaken, as was
a benchmarking exercise amongst a selection of other local
authorities with more than one opposition group. The results of the
benchmarking indicated that none of the Councils included
specific reference as to how matters would be approached in such
circumstances. Having been presented with a number of options,
the Constitution Committee resolved that the Council’s
Constitution should remain similarly silent on the issue, leaving
matters to be determined if the situation arose.

(c) Within Article 4, the list of policy framework documents has been
reviewed to ensure that it remains up to date either with legal
requirements or to reflect name changes.

(d) Within Article 5, an express reference has been included in the
roles and functions of the Elected Mayor to have regard to the
impact that any policies they might promote might have on

Page 92



sustainability and climate change, including any environmental
benefits and disbenefits, taking into account the Council’s
declared climate emergency. This has been included for
consistency with Section on Principles of Decision Making and

(e) Within Article 7, amendments have been made to reflect changes
proposed by the Scrutiny Panel, including reference to the
Children in Care Council as being a potential source of
representatives for the Children and Young People Scrutiny
Commission alongside the Hackney Youth Parliament.

(f) Within Article 9, the overarching responsibilities of the
Appointments Committee have been amended in line with
changes proposed by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that there is
appropriate oversight of discretionary payments, paid in
accordance with the Pay Policy Statement, to Chief Officers.

(g) Within Article 15, the circumstances when the Monitoring Officer
may make amendments to the Constitution without the approval of
Full Council has been the subject of clarification and to include
changes which improve public accessibility of the document and
changes which would be necessary as a result of any
restructuring of the Council’s staffing arrangements agreed by the
Head of the Paid Service, including re-naming posts / service
areas.

(h) Within Article 16, the wording around the interpretation of the
Constitution has been amended to ensure that whilst the
Speaker’s (or Chair of a Committee’s) ruling on such matters is
final, a Councillor can seek an explanation.

8. Part Three - Responsibility for Council and Executive Functions

8.1. This Part of the Constitution has been the subject of considerable
reorganisation. The following information has been moved from this Part to
the Appendices:

(a) The list of executive and non-executive functions;

(b) The Terms of Reference for the Council’s various committees.

This will enable any changes to the lists / terms of reference to be updated
as required without necessitating a re-issue of the entire Constitution due to
pagination changes at this point.

Page 93



9. Part Four - Procedure Rules

9.1. Section A - Council Procedure Rules

9.2. The substantive amendments to the Council Procedure Rules are as follows:

(a) Rules 9 and 10 - The requirements around questions by the public
and councillors have been harmonised around length of the
questions (50 words as exists for public questions) and reasons
for not accepting questions. With regards to the latter, an
additional reason for refusing to accept a question has been
included where the question relates to legal proceedings in which
the Council is involved to bring this more into alignment with the
Council’s petition scheme; this is because the Council will be
constrained about what can be said whilst such proceedings are
in contemplation or active. The other change is to recast the
current wording around similar questions being posed at differing
meetings of the Council. Whilst we do not wish to preclude
questions from being asked at council meetings as they are an
essential part of the democratic process, we have recently
experienced an increase in essentially the same question being
asked in different types of meeting, for example at both Cabinet
and then Council and the same answer being given in both
forums. This impacts upon the number of questions that can then
be answered ‘in person’ at meetings. The text has therefore been
amended such that the issue of whether a question is
substantially the same as an earlier question, motion, petition or
deputation is to be determined by reference to any meeting of the
council rather than just the specific meeting.

(b) Rule 11 - Similar amendments to the above have been made in
respect of deputations.

(c) Rule 13 - Currently the Constitution refers to opposition sponsored
business being conducted at meetings which have been
‘identified’ for the inclusion of such business. However, in practice
there is no such formal identification of meetings. This rule has
therefore been amended such that opposition sponsored business
can be put forward for any meeting of Council, other than the
Annual Meeting and budget meeting. The Rule has also been
harmonised with the text for questions, petitions and deputations
as to the reasons for rejecting such business. Finally, the
Constitution currently provides that debates on opposition
sponsored business will continue until the Speaker concludes that
‘sufficient time’ has been given which does not provide clarity for
anyone; therefore an explicit time period has been introduced, in
the same way as there is a time limit for questions, petitions and
deputations.

Page 94



(d) Rules 14 - 17 (Motions) - Apart from the amendment to permit
consideration of motions for action for longer than 30 minutes, the
opportunity has been taken to amend the wording around motions
as there can be some confusions between the types of motion -
motions which are purely procedural and motions which call for
the Council to take action or adopt a particular stance on a topic
(motions for discussion) - and the differences when those motions
are proposed, discussed and voted on. Officers are also drafting a
guidance note for internal purposes only to explain the
administrative processes that should be followed for Councillors
wishing to propose motions for discussion.

(e) Rule 18 - This now includes a specific reference to Lead
Members/Committee Chairs introducing annual reports, to accord
with current practice, even though the reports which usually
accompany Annual Reports are prepared by the relevant Group
Director.

(f) Rule 23 - Many authorities have explicit requirements for
members to be in attendance for a certain length of time in order
for their attendance to ‘count’. Therefore this Rule has been
modified to introduce a similar requirement of either 30 minutes or,
if the meeting is of a shorter duration, the entirety of that duration.

(g) Rule 27 - Reference has been added to the ability to suspend the
rules regarding the amount of time set aside for Motions to enable
these to be considered for longer than 30 minutes, subject to the
guillotine for ending Council meetings.

(h) A previous rule around smoking at meetings has been deleted
given that this is dealt with under legislation which prohibits
smoking in the workplace and public buildings. The remainder of
the Rules thereafter have been renumbered.

(i) Rule 29 - This Rule, which deals with the use of electronic
communications devices, has been rephrased to make it more
relevant to how devices are used during meetings.

9.3. Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

9.4. Cabinet’s procedure rules have been aligned with Council procedure rules,
e.g. questions, petitions, deputations with appropriate amendments to take
account of differences, such as the length of time for questions at the
meeting.

9.5. Where procedure rules are identical to those relating to Council, such as
conduct at meetings, then rather than stating these again in full, a
cross-referencing approach has been used with amendments as necessary.

Page 95



9.6. Rule 5 has been updated to include all of the standing items that form part of
a Cabinet meeting agenda.

9.7. A new rule, Rule 14, has been added to make it explicitly clear which of the
Cabinet Procedure Rules apply to executive committees and
sub-committees, such as Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee,
with appropriate amendments where necessary.

9.8. Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Rules

9.9. These Rules govern how those documents which form the Council’s Budget
and Policy Framework, as described in Article 4.7 of the Constitution, are to
be developed and adopted. The Rules also govern how decisions outside of
the framework can be made and call-in arrangements by Scrutiny
Commissions.

9.10. Amendments have been made to the Rules to ensure that the Council’s
decision-making is compliant with legislation. These amendments relate to
the procedures to be followed in the event that Council does not wish to
approve either the budget or policy document proposed by the Elected
Mayor and Cabinet.

Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

9.11. Changes have been made, at the request of the Scrutiny Panel, to
procedures around members of the Executive and Senior Officers being
called to ‘give account’. The notice period has been extended from at least 5
working days to at least 10 working days and the requirement for the Chair
to inform the Monitoring Officer who then notifies the relevant person has
been simplified such that the Chair of the Panel can notify the person
directly.

9.12. One proposal that was put forward by the Scrutiny Panel was to use the
word “Committee” rather than “Commission”. This proposal was put forward
given the manifesto commitment to set up ‘commissions’ on behalf of the
Executive and the possibility that residents may then associate these with
the Council’s overview and scrutiny function. This was not something that
the Constitution Committee were in agreement with and therefore the current
name of “Commission” continues to be used.

9.13. There was also some discussion at the Scrutiny Panel about amendments to
the remit of various Commissions, with responsibilities being moved as
between them. However, this is something that is outside of the ambit of the
Constitution Review as outlined earlier in this report and is better considered
as part of a separate review led by Scrutiny with any agreed changes then
being adopted into the Constitution.

Page 96



Section E - Call-in Procedure Rules

9.14. In the current Constitution, the Call-in Procedure Rules are embedded within
the wider Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. In order to ensure that
they are given appropriate prominence within the Constitution, these have
been moved into their own Section.

9.15. In terms of substantive amendments:

(a) The overarching principles of decision-making have been included
in paragraph 1.2(a) for ease of reference; and

(b) The ordering of the rules has been amended to provide a better
flow for the reader in terms of the procedures to be followed and
headings and sub-headings have been inserted.

10. Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules

Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

10.1. The Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for the financial
administration of the Council with a view to ensuring that the Council’s
financial affairs are conducted in a sound and proper manner, constitute
value for money and minimise the risk of legal challenge to the Council.

10.2. The Rules have been the subject of review to ensure that they remain
appropriate and consistent with the Council’s practice. Some minor
amendments have been made by finance colleagues, but these do not affect
the overall scope or approach to the existing rules.

10.3. In addition, there has been some adjustment as to the order in which
information is presented, but again this does not affect the overall scope or
approach to the existing rules.

10.4. A ‘mini glossary’ has been included at the start of this Section to provide the
reader with an explanation of some of the more specific terms used.

Section B - Contract Standing Orders

10.5. Contract Standing Orders are made by the Council pursuant to section 135
of the Local Government Act 1972. Section 135 provides that the Council
may make standing orders with respect to the making of contracts and shall
make standing orders with respect to contracts for the supply of goods or
materials or the execution of works. The section requires that such standing
orders shall include provision for securing competition for contracts and for
regulating the way in which tenders are invited, although they may exempt
from these provisions contracts below a price specified by the Council and
may exempt contracts where the Council is satisfied that the exemption is
justified by special circumstances.

Page 97



10.6. As with the Financial Procedure Rules, the Contract Standing Orders have
been the subject of review to ensure that they remain appropriate and
consistent with the Council’s current practice. In addition, references to EU
legislation have been removed.

10.7. Council should note that the Contract Standing Orders will need to be
reviewed again once the Procurement Bill, which is at the final stage
(consideration of Commons amendments) in the House of Lords, is enacted
and brought into force with accompanying statutory guidance to ensure that
they remain compliant with the law.

10.8. A ‘mini glossary’ has been included at the start of this Section to provide the
reader with an explanation of some of the more specific terms used.

11. Part Six - Public Participation

11.1. This new Part of the Constitution is aimed at providing members of the public
with easy to access information about how they can participate in the
Council’s decision-making processes.

11.2. Until now, members of the public have had to refer to different parts of the
Constitution in order to find the information that is most relevant to their
participation in the Council’s decision-making processes. The creation of this
new Part enables us to bring together all of the information into one place
and provide additional information around attending meetings and public
speaking.

11.3. Whilst this does have the effect of lengthening the Constitution, due to
repetition of some information contained elsewhere, for example in the
Council Procedure Rules, it is considered that this is disbenefit more than
offset by the benefits which arise from the public being able to easily access
this information.

Section A - Attendance at Meetings

11.4. The purpose of this Section is to advise the public that they are actively
encouraged to attend meetings of the Council, that they can speak at certain
meetings and where they can find information about meetings, agendas and
reports. It also provides information about asking questions and links back to
the relevant sections of the Constitution which contains the appropriate
rules. Finally, the Section also advises the public about where they can
watch livestreams of our meetings and how long they will remain on the
YouTube channel.

Section B - Protocol for Public Speaking

11.5. This Section advises the public of their speaking rights at the Planning
Sub-Committee and Licensing Sub-Committees and how they can exercise
those rights.

Page 98



Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

11.6. The existing Access to Information Rules have been divided into two parts,
the first concerns the public’s rights to access information under the Local
Government Act 1972, and the second concerns the rights that the Elected
Mayor and Councillors have to access information.

11.7. The Section summarises the legal rights that the public have to attend
meetings; access agendas, reports and background papers; and provides
information as to when and in what circumstances they may be excluded
from meetings or from accessing reports. It also contains information as to
how key decisions are made and how they are publicised in advance via the
Forward Plan and in what circumstances key decisions can be made in
exceptional or urgent situations. It should be noted that this is a change to
the existing name for the Executive Meetings and Key Decisions Notice
(EMKDN). The use of the term ‘Forward Plan’ is almost universal amongst
local authorities and this change will ensure that the Council is consistent
with other councils. Finally, the Rules deal with how the Council records
executive and non-executive decisions.

Section D - Petitions

11.8. The Constitution currently contains the Council’s Petition Scheme and this,
renamed, Section contains that scheme. In terms of substantive
amendments to the scheme:

(a) An additional reason for not accepting a petition is where the
subject of the petition has been the subject of concluded legal
proceedings. The rationale for this inclusion is because if the
Council has been successful in those proceedings then a petition
would not change that outcome. Conversely if the Council has
been unsuccessful in those proceedings then it would have to
review that decision in any event.

(b) We will be encouraging people to use the Council’s website for
the creation of petitions via Mod.Gov rather than third party
websites. However, this does not mean that petitions created via
third party websites would not be accepted. The use of the
Mod.Gov system for petitions will ensure that Officers are aware
of petitions as they are happening, which is not the case for third
party websites, and will also ensure that appropriate action under
the scheme can be taken if and when petitions reach the relevant
signature thresholds. It is recommended that petitions remain
open for accepting signatures for 3 months after their creation
before being ‘closed’. All of these steps should assist in ensuring
that petitions are not ‘stale’ at the point of consideration.

(c) Currently the Council’s scheme requires all petitions with over 750
signatures to be referred to Full Council for consideration, even
when those petitions concern matters which fall to Cabinet as the

Page 99



decision-maker. This can lead to delays in the petition being
considered by the most appropriate forum, as it means that the
petition first has to go to the next available meeting of Full Council
before then being referred by Full Council to Cabinet. This change
will ensure that such delays do not occur as it will enable relevant
petitions to be considered by Cabinet without the intervening step.

Section E - Deputations

11.9. This new Section aims to provide the public with an easy to read explanation
of how to submit a deputation to complement the relevant Council Procedure
Rule.

Section F - Protocol for Recording / Livestreaming of Council meetings

11.10. This new Section sets out the Council’s arrangements for livestreaming
meetings and when editing of livestreamed meetings may take place after
the event (for example if an attendee is taken ill on screen). The Section also
contains information for the public as to their rights under the Openness of
Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 around their rights to film,
record, photograph and use social media during meetings of the Council and
the steps which the Council expects people to adhere to in exercising those
rights to ensure the effective conduct and management of the meeting.
These expectations are not new and currently appear on Council agendas.

12. Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors

Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

12.1. The Councillor Code of Conduct was reviewed by the Standards Committee
during 2021 and a new edition was adopted by Full Council in January 2022.
This took effect following the May 2022 elections. It has not therefore been
the subject of further review, save that the Monitoring Officer has revised the
frequency of mandatory training under the Code as they are permitted to do
by the Code. This change was reported to the Standards Committee in
March 2023.

Section B - Standing Orders relating to the Holding of Office

12.2. This is a new section for the Constitution aimed at providing information on
the various legislative provisions with regards to when elections are held,
taking office, resignations, filling of casual vacancies, and vacation of office
through non-attendance at meetings.

Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme

12.3. Full Council approves the Members’ Allowance Scheme annually via a
separate report. The Scheme has not therefore been subject to any
amendment as part of the Constitution Review. The Scheme published as
part of the Constitution will, as has always been the case, be replaced with

Page 100



the latest edition once an amending Scheme has been approved by Full
Council.

Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information (Part 7,
Section E)

12.4. As referred to earlier in this report, the existing Access to Information section
has been divided into two, one dealing with the rights of the public and one
dealing with the rights of the Elected Mayor and Councillors.

12.5. The Section covers the common law rights that the Elected Mayor and all
Councillors have to access information where this is necessary to enable
them to perform their duties and the limitations that the law also applies. It
details that the Elected Mayor and Councillors have the same rights as any
other member of the public to make requests under Freedom of Information
legislation and a reminder that the Elected Mayor and Councillors are data
controllers under the General Data Protection Regulations and responsible
for the personal data that they may collect, store and use. The Rules also
cover certain types of information which cannot be accessed, such as
information relating to care proceedings.

13. Part Eight - Officers

Section A - Proper Officers Roles and Functions

13.1. A proper officer is an officer appointed by the Council to carry out certain
administrative functions as required by statute; for example receiving or
giving notices, certifying or authenticating documents, keeping registers, and
issuing summonses for meetings. This section of the Constitution lists such
functions and identifies the officer who is responsible.

13.2. The amendments made to this Part, other than with regards to formatting
are:

(a) To update the titles of various Officers to reflect current title
names; and

(b) To provide that the Chief Executive will be the Proper Officer in
respect of any statutory provisions which either have not yet been
the subject of ‘allocation’ or which may come into force in the
future. This is considered necessary to protect the Council’s
interests.

Section B Officer Employment Rules

13.3. The Council’s Officer Employment Procedure Rules give effect to the
legislative provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and
other statutory regulations around the employment, discipline and dismissal
of Council employees. These include the statutory safeguards afforded to

Page 101



the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), s151 Officer and Monitoring
Officer.

13.4. Amendments have been made where necessary to ensure that the Rules
remain compliant with legislative requirements.

13.5. Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

13.6. As part of the review process, a large amount of benchmarking was
undertaken by the COWG to compare the Council’s Constitution against
those of other local authorities. A significant majority of other local authorities
include a Monitoring Officer Protocol within their Constitution which sets out
the working arrangements and working relationships necessary for the
Monitoring Officer to effectively discharge their statutory obligations. It is
therefore proposed that such a Protocol be introduced into the Council’s
Constitution. The Protocol does not provide the Monitoring Officer with any
powers over and above those which they are given through legislation.

14. Part Nine - Codes and Protocols

Section A - Planning Code of Practice

14.1. The Planning Code of Practice is currently being reviewed separately from
the Constitution Review. This work is being led by Officers from Planning,
Legal and Governance and will be reported to the Planning Sub-Committee
and the Corporate Committee in due course. Once a new edition of the Code
has been finalised then it will be substituted for the existing Code which
appears here.

Section B - Licensing Code of Practice

14.2. The Licensing Code of Practice is currently being reviewed separately from
the Constitution Review. This work is being led by Officers from Licensing,
Legal and Governance and will be reported to the Licensing Committee in
due course. Once a new edition of the Code has been finalised then it will be
substituted for the existing Code which appears here.

Section C - Protocol on Elected Mayor / Councillor and Officer Relations

14.3. The Council’s Protocol on Elected Mayor / Councillor and Officer Relations is
designed to promote the highest standards in public life and harmonious
working relationships between politicians and officers, whilst recognising the
varied and complex relationships that exist.

14.4. The existing protocol has been the subject of a review and refresh to provide
greater clarity and understanding not only for those of us who work in this
environment but also for those outside of the Council who would wish to

Page 102



understand more about the relationship between the Elected Mayor &
Councillors and Officers. The substantive revisions to the Protocol include:

(a) The summary table at the beginning of the document;

(b) A new section entitled “The Relationship: General Points”;

(c) Re-drafting of the sections around roles and expectations,
including the use of bulleted lists;

(d) An update to the publicity and press releases section to refer to
the Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity;

(e) An update to the correspondence section to reflect that letters are
not the sole means of communication and many formal
communications now occur via email; and

(f) The collation of the mechanisms for dealing with any issues into
one section.

Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

14.5. It is essential from a good governance perspective that the Council needs to
ensure the right balance between the needs of any local authority trading
companies with regards to their ability to have the right tools to enable them
to be successful, whilst also acknowledging the need for democratic
accountability, a commitment to the Council's goals, and compliance with the
Council’s organisational systems.

14.6. This has been brought into sharper focus with local authority company
failures being cited in various recent best value reports and public interest
reports (e.g. Liverpool, Nottingham, Croydon).

14.7. Therefore, in addition to the internal documentation which exists around the
establishment of such alternative service delivery vehicles, this protocol
provides details of the high-level governance arrangements which will apply
to Council owned companies. The Protocol has been derived from a model
protocol issued by Lawyers in Local Government, with appropriate
amendments to reflect the Council’s current practice.

Section E - Protocol on Remote Attendance at Council Meetings,

14.8. Although the law does not currently permit the Council to conduct its
meetings other than in person, it is recognised that Councillors have come to
value the option of being able to ‘attend’ a meeting remotely from time to
time because of various other personal and professional commitments.

14.9. A protocol on remote attendance is therefore proposed for adoption so that
the expectations and limitations as to how such attendance is to be
facilitated are clear not only for the Elected Mayor and Councillors but also

Page 103



members of the public and other persons who may be interested in the
conduct of Council meetings.

15. Appendices

Appendix 1 - Council (non-executive) Functions

15.1. This Appendix lists in tabular form the current functions of the Council which
cannot be the responsibility of the Elected Mayor and Cabinet as a
consequence of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities)
(England) Regulations 2000, as amended.

15.2. Appendix 2 - Local Choice Functions

15.3. This Appendix lists in tabular the current local choice functions as defined in
the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000, as amended, and other local Acts and who Full Council has
determined should be responsible for exercising those functions.

15.4. Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc

15.5. The opportunity has been taken to amend the content and formatting of the
Terms of Reference of the Council’s various Committees etc to ensure that
as much information as possible is presented in one place - for example,
around the quorum of Committees. Currently, a reader has to access
multiple sources of information to discover information about our Committees
and this is not user friendly.

15.6. For the avoidance of doubt, no changes have been made to the
responsibilities of the various Committees although it is understood that
some of the Scrutiny Commissions may look to move some of their
responsibilities as between Commissions in due course. That, however, is a
separate exercise to the review of the Constitution which has been
undertaken.

15.7. A change is proposed in respect of the Licensing Committee to allow for the
appointment of substitutes who will be able to be called upon to sit on
Licensing Sub-Committees, subject to the appropriate mandatory training
being undertaken by them. There has been an increase in the number of
sub-committees needing to be called at short notice, due to the legal
requirements around the timing of decisions, as a consequence of
Temporary Event Notice applications or requests for reviews of licensing by
responsible authorities and it has, on occasion, proved difficult to secure
sufficient numbers of Councillors for a quorum to be achieved. The
appointment of substitutes would go some way to alleviate these difficulties
and also enable a wider pool of Councillors to be called upon for those
sub-committee meetings which meet during the day.

Page 104



16. Public Engagement

16.1. As part of the process of undertaking the Constitution Review, members of
the public were invited to complete a survey via Hackney Matters and the
respondents invited to participate in a focus group.

16.2. 17 members of the public responded to the survey. Of those 17 people, 4
responded that they knew that the Council had a Constitution, but only 2
respondents indicated that they knew how to find a copy. Only 1 respondent
indicated that they had read all or any part of the existing Constitution but
that they found it ‘fairly easy’ to find the information they were looking for and
that the document was ‘fairly clear’ as to the roles and functions of the
Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers, how they could engage and
participate in meetings and that it made clear the decision-making process.

16.3. Given the responses to the survey, prior to the focus group participants were
sent some pre-reading material to provide them with some basic insight into
those aspects of the Constitution that were most relevant to public
engagement and participation. Given the lack of prior knowledge about the
Constitution, the focus group became more of an informative session about
these topics rather than serving to provide feedback on specific wording in
the revised Constitution.

16.4. Participants considered that the new section on Citizen’s rights and
responsibilities was a helpful distillation and were surprised to see it being
included in the Constitution as they had thought the document would just be
about Councillors and Officers. Many of those participating in the focus
group, whilst being aware that they could attend meetings, were unaware of
the procedures in terms of being able to participate and one expressed the
view that they would feel intimidated to come into a Council meeting. Several
participants expressed the view that whilst they were aware of their ward
Councillors, they had not had much contact with them and found that MPs
were easier to approach and were more visible.

16.5. The engagement exercise has shown that there is considerable work to be
done to publicise the existence of the Constitution following the adoption of
the new edition. Similarly, the engagement has demonstrated the need for
more publicity around public involvement in Council meetings and to
demystify the process. The COWG will give detailed consideration as to how
best to go about this, including drawing on some of the ideas from the focus
group and using local democracy week later in the year. Participants in the
focus group were supportive of the Constitution containing
hyperlinks/bookmarks to aid navigation and publishing it in sections to aid
navigation. Participants also indicated that they would welcome the
publication of a short guide to sit alongside the Constitution.

16.6. This engagement exercise has helped in providing a baseline of knowledge
against which we will be able to judge the success of the steps taken to
widen public knowledge about the Constitution and how to get involved in
democratic processes more generally. Similarly, the engagement exercise

Page 105



has provided some interesting suggestions around the proposed summary
guide and how to make it more of an interactive document.

17. Future Work

17.1. Once Council has adopted the Constitution, the primary focus prior to it
coming into effect will be on the insertion of hyperlinks / bookmarks to enable
its publication and ‘launch’ at the beginning of September. Drop-in sessions
will be arranged to introduce everyone to the new Constitution and a
communications strategy will be developed in consultation with Constitution
Committee members. The work of the COWG and Constitution Committee to
date is being highlighted at the summer meeting of the Council’s Senior
Managers’ Network. The new Constitution, the Council’s decision-making
processes and how people can get involved will also be a focus for the Legal
and Governance Service as part of its contributions to Local Democracy
Week in October.

17.2. Alongside this, the COWG intends to turn its attention to devising a summary
guide which will sit as a companion document to the Constitution.

17.3. The COWG will also begin work on refreshing the Officer Scheme of
Delegations to ensure that they remain fit for purpose and to reduce the
need, where possible, to issue updates to the Schemes as a consequence of
amending legislation. This would not seek to amend the Schemes so as to
expand or contract upon the delegations currently given to Officers, rather
consideration would be given as to how the Schemes are presented; and
whether they should be negative or positive in construction i.e. whether they
should start from the premise of Officers only being able to exercise those
powers which are specifically listed (negative) or whether they should start
from the premise of Officers being able to exercise legislative powers under
relevant Acts unless they have expressly excluded from doing so (positive).

17.4. It is also proposed that a review of the operation of the Constitution be
carried out one year after its adoption. Surveys will be carried out with the
Elected Mayor and Councillors, Officers and the public to discover whether
our publicity efforts around the new Constitution have increased awareness
of it, how people find using it as a means of reference and whether there are
any other improvements that could be made. It will also serve as a useful
point to reflect on the operation of the Constitution with regards to supporting
participation in decision-making. The review will consider whether any
changes have had a different effect to that intended. Alongside this, the
COWG will maintain a log of any suggestions/comments made for future
development/alterations etc

Page 106



18. Comments of the Group Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

18.1. There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation
contained within this report. Any costs associated with the review of the
Constitution have been and will continue to be met from within existing
budgets.

19. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

19.1. Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires that the Council must
prepare and keep up to date a document known as the Constitution which
contains a copy of the Council’s standing orders, a copy of the Council’s
code of conduct, and such other information (if any) as the Council considers
appropriate.

19.2. In addition, Article 15 of the Constitution requires the Monitoring Officer to
monitor and review the operation of the Constitution and to make
recommendations for the way in which it could be amended in order to
achieve its purposes.

19.3. It is the responsibility of Full Council to adopt any new Constitution.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Council Constitution (July 2023)

Background documents

None

Report Author Louise Humphreys
Head of Legal & Governance
louise.humphries@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 4817

Comments for the Group
Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources
prepared by

Deirdre Worrell
Director, Finance
deirdre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 7350

Comments for the Director
of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services
prepared by

Dawn Carter-McDonald
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services
dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 6234

Page 107

mailto:louise.humphries@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:deidre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:dawn.carter-mcdonald@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Index to the Constitution

Pages

Glossary of Terms i - xii

Part 1 - Your Council

Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of
Hackney

Section B - Principles of Decision Making

Section C - Citizens’ Rights

1

2 - 6

7 - 11

12 - 13

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution

Articles of the Constitution

14

15 - 64

Part 3 - Responsibility for Council and Executive Functions

Responsibility for Council and Executive Functions

65

66 - 68

Part 4 - Procedure Rules

Section A - Council Procedure Rules

Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Section E - Call-in Procedure Rules

69

70 - 100

101 - 109

110 - 115

116 - 123

124 - 128

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules

Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

Section B - Contract Standing Orders

129

130 - 167

168 - 204

Index to the Constitution Page 109



Pages

Part 6 - Public Participation

Section A - Attendance at Meetings

Section B - Public Speaking

Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

Section D - Petitions

Section E - Deputations

Section F - Protocol for Recording / Livestreaming of
Council meetings

205

206

207 - 208

209 - 220

226 - 228

229 - 230

231 - 233

Part 7 - Elected Mayor and Councillors

Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

Section B - Standing Orders relating to the Holding of Office

Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme

Section D - Elected Mayor and Councillors Access to
Information

234

235 - 253

254 - 257

258 - 288

289 - 293

Part 8 - Officers

Section A - Proper Officers Functions

Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

294

300 - 308

314 - 317

318 - 322

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols

Section A - Planning Code of Practice

Section B - Licensing Code of Practice

323

324 - 331

332 - 339

Index to the Constitution Page 110



Pages

Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor / Officer
Relations

Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests
in Companies

Section E - Protocol on Remote Attendance at Council
meetings

340 - 351

352 - 361

367 - 365

Appendices

1 - Council (non-executive) Functions

2 - Local Choice Functions

3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc

366

371 - 416

417 - 436

443 - 493

Index to the Constitution Page 111



Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

Throughout the Constitution the following words and phrases shall have the
meaning set out below.

Any reference to legislation in the Constitution is a reference to that legislation as
may be amended from time to time.

Access to Information Rules
The Council’s rules detailing how notice of meetings is to be given, how the public
can access agendas and reports, the circumstances in which the public may be
excluded from meetings and procedures for the making of key decisions. The
Access to Information Rules can be found in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution.
Additional rules relating to information which the Elected Mayor and Councillors are
entitled to can be found in Part 7, Section D of this Constitution.

Agenda
A document which sets out the items to be considered at any meeting of the
Council. Agendas must be published in advance of the meeting in accordance with
legislation and the Access to Information Rules.

Annual Meeting
The meeting of Full Council at which the Speaker is elected. Other business related
to the beginning of a new municipal year is also conducted.

Articles of the Constitution
The Articles of the Constitution set out the basic rules which govern the Council’s
business. More detailed procedures are found in the various Rules, Codes of
Conduct and Standing Orders.

Background Paper
Any document which has been relied upon by an Officer in the preparation of a
report for one of the Council’s meetings. Background papers must be retained and
available for inspection for 4 years beginning with the date on which the decision
was made.

Best Value
The duty imposed on the Council by the Local Government Act 1999 to secure
‘continuous improvement in the way in which functions are exercised having regard
to economy, efficiency and effectiveness’.
Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

iPage 112



Budget
The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and
projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council tax base, setting the Council tax
and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement, the
control of the capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits.

Budget and Policy Framework
The plans and strategies which have to be adopted by Full Council and within which
the Elected Mayor and Cabinet, Committees and Officers must operate. Details of
the policies which make up the Policy Framework are set out in Article 4.7 of Part 2
of the Constitution.

Byelaws
Byelaws are local laws made by the Council requiring something to be done, or not
done – in a specified area. They are accompanied by some sanction or penalty for
non-compliance. Byelaws can be made about a number of things, for example
market places; hairdressers & barbers; nuisances etc. The process for making
byelaws is set out in legislation.

Cabinet
The Cabinet is made up of the Elected Mayor of between two and nine other
Councillors appointed by the Elected Mayor. Cabinet is responsible for the
discharge of those functions and responsibilities defined as ‘executive functions’
under the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations
2000 and also those functions which are known as ‘local choice functions’ where
Full Council has decided they should be the responsibility of Cabinet.

Cabinet Councillors
Those Councillors appointed by the Elected Mayor to the Cabinet. Each Cabinet
Member is responsible for a Portfolio and attends, speaks and votes at meetings of
the Cabinet.

Cabinet Committees
Committees that may be set up from time to time by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet
to make decisions about certain executive functions. Only Cabinet Councillors may
be appointed to Cabinet Committees.

Cabinet Procedure Rules
Rules which the Council has adopted to regulate the business and proceedings of
Cabinet meetings. These are set out in Part 4, Section B of this Constitution.

iiPage 113



Call for Action
A process introduced by the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health
Act 2007 to strengthen the role of Councillors, to act on behalf of residents to
resolve a local issue of consent, acting as a last resort for people who cannot get
issues resolved through any other means.

Call-in
The mechanism through which executive decisions which have been made but not
yet implemented, can be reviewed by the Scrutiny Panel; this includes decisions
taken by Cabinet or decisions which have been delegated to Officers.

Capital Expenditure
Spending, usually on major assets like a building, where the benefit of the asset
lasts for more than one year.

Chair
The person who presides over a meeting of Council, a Committee or any
Sub-Committee.

Chief Executive
The Officer with overall management and operational responsibility for the Council.
The post holder is also the Head of the Paid Service as defined in section 4 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

Chief Finance Officer
The Officer appointed in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act
1972 who has responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the
authority. Hackney’s Chief Finance Officer is the Officer appointed to the position of
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

Chief Officers
The Chief Officers of the Council are the Chief Executive; the Group Director,
Adults, Health and Integration; the Group Director, Children and Education; the
Group Director, Climate, Homes and Economy; the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources; Monitoring Officer (Director of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services); and the Director, Public Health.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

iiiPage 114



Clear Day
A clear working day excludes Saturdays, Sundays and bank and public holidays.
When referring to Council meetings and the legal requirements around publication
of agendas, clear working days also exclude the date of publication of the agenda
and the date of the meeting.

Committee
A group of Councillors, and potentially voting and non-voting co-optees, which has
been appointed by the Council or Cabinet to discharge specific functions. The terms
of reference of Committees and Sub-Committees are set out in Appendix 3 of this
Constitution.

Confidential Information
Defined in section 100A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 as:

(a) Information given to the Council by a Government department upon
terms which forbids its disclosure to the public, or

(b) Information which cannot be disclosed to the public by law or by Court
order.

The management of confidential information is explained in the Access to
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution.

Constitution
The document setting out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and
the procedures that have to be followed.

Contract Standing Orders
The rules and procedure which govern the Council’s procurement processes and
how it enters into contracts as set out in Part 5, Section B of this Constitution.

Co-optee
A person who is appointed to serve on a Committee or Sub-Committee of the
Council but who is not a Councillor or Officer. Co-optees do not normally have
voting rights on Committees although there are exceptions; for example, parent
governor and church representatives on the Children and Young People’s Scrutiny
Commission, who by law are voting members.

Council, The
The short name used when referring to the legal body of The Mayor and Burgesses
of the London Borough of Hackney.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

ivPage 115



Council Procedure Rules
Rules which the Council has adopted to regulate the business and proceedings of
meetings of Full Council. These are set out in Part 4, Section A of this Constitution.

Councillor
An individual who is democratically elected to serve on the Council by registered
electors within a Ward. Councillors may sometimes be referred to as ‘members’,
although this is a broader term that includes the Elected Mayor. There are currently
57 Councillors.

Councillor Code of Conduct
The document which has been adopted by the London Borough of Hackney setting
out what is expected of the Elected Mayor, Councillors and co-optees in terms of
their conduct and behaviour. A copy of the Councillor Code of Conduct can be found
in Part 7, Section A of this Constitution.

Delegated Powers
Powers delegated by the Elected Mayor or Full Council to another body or individual
to enable them to make decisions or discharge functions in their place.

Deputations
A deputation is a presentation from registered electors about a matter for which the
local authority has a responsibility or which affects the Borough. Deputations can be
made to Full Council or Cabinet. Further information about deputations can be
found in Part 6, Section E of this Constitution.

Deputy Cabinet Members
Councillors appointed by the Elected Mayor to support them in discharging the
Mayor’s executive functions. Deputy Cabinet Members may attend and contribute to
Cabinet meetings but cannot vote. Their attendance does not count towards the
quorum of the meeting.

Deputy Speaker
A Councillor, who is not a member of the Cabinet, appointed by Full Council at the
Annual Meeting. In the absence of the Speaker, the Deputy Speaker will perform the
functions of Speaker.

Director, Public Health
The Director, Public Health is a statutory Officer who has responsibility and duties
as specified in legislation across all three main areas of public health (health
protection, health improvement and healthcare services). The Director, Public
Health is appointed jointly by the Council and the Secretary of State, although they
are then employed by the Council.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

vPage 116



Elected Mayor, the
An individual who is democratically elected to serve on the Council by registered
electors within the whole borough and who is entitled to carry out all of the Council’s
executive functions. Elections for the office of Elected Mayor are usually held at the
same time as elections for Councillors.

Executive Functions
Those functions of the Council which the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 states are
to be the responsibility of the Elected Mayor or if they decide by Cabinet, individual
Cabinet Councillors or Officers. Executive Functions also include those local choice
functions which the Council has decided should be the responsibility of the Elected
Mayor.

Exempt Information
Information falling within 7 categories specified in Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972 which usually cannot be disclosed to the public. The
management of exempt information is explained in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules set out in Part 6, Section C of the Constitution.

Extraordinary Meeting
A meeting of the Full Council, a Committee or the Cabinet, which is called in
addition to those which appear on the Council’s calendar of meetings.

Financial Procedure Rules
The rules and procedures which govern financial management and control within
the Council as set out in Part 5, Section A of this Constitution.

Forward Plan
A document prepared by the Monitoring Officer on behalf of the Council which gives
a minimum of 28 clear days’ notice of Key Decisions to be made by the Cabinet, its
Committees or Officers. The document may also include other important decisions
to be made by Full Council, its Committees or Officers.

Full Council
A meeting that the Elected Mayor and all 57 elected Councillors are entitled to
attend.

Group Directors
Officers who have responsibility for more than one directorate are known in the
Council as Group Directors.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

viPage 117



Group Leader
The person appointed by a Political Group to act as the leader of that group of
Councillors.

Head of the Paid Service
The Officer appointed by the Council who is responsible by law for coordinating the
manner in which the Council discharges its different functions, determining the
number and grades of staff required by the Council to discharge its functions, the
organisation of Council staff and the appointment and proper management of
Council staff. The Head of the Paid Service is the Chief Executive.

Independent Adviser
Refers to the person appointed by the Council and reporting to the Secretary of
State, Chief Executive and Elected Mayor to provide advice and to monitor
compliance by the Authority with Government Directions in respect of Financial
Regulations.

Independent Member
A member of the Council who is not a Co-optee, Councillor, Elected Mayor or a
Council Officer.

Independent Panel
A Committee appointed by the Council for the purpose of advising the Council on
matters relating to the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer
or Chief Finance Officer. The Independent Panel must include at least two
Independent Persons.

Independent Person
A person appointed by the Council under section 28 of the Localism Act 2011. The
Monitoring Officer is required by law to seek the views of the Independent Person
and to take these into consideration where an allegation is made that there has
been a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct prior to making a decision whether
to investigate that allegation. The Localism Act prescribes a number of conditions
which must be met before an individual can be appointed to the role of Independent
Person.

Joint Committee
A committee comprising Councillors of two or more local authorities created under
section 102 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

viiPage 118



Key Decision
A Key Decision is a decision which is defined in the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) Regulations 2012 as an
executive decision which is likely to:

(a) Result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of
savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for
the service or function to which the decision relates; or

(b) Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in
an area comprising two or more wards in the area of the Council.

Further guidance on Key Decisions is included in the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C and in Article 13 of this Constitution.

Licensing Code of Practice
A document which provides guidance on how Councillors and Officers should deal
with licensing matters. The aim of the Licensing Code of Practice is to ensure that
licensing decisions are made openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for
justifiable reasons.

Local Choice Functions
Those functions which by law the Council can choose to be either an Executive
Function or a Non-Executive Function.

Majority Group
The Majority Group is the Political Group who has the majority in terms of the
number of Councillors who form that Political Group when compared to the total
number of elected Councillors.

Members’ Allowance Scheme
The scheme under which the Elected Mayor, Councillors, Independent Person,
Independent Members and Co-opted Members are entitled to receive allowances in
respect of carrying out their duties and for fulfilling any special responsibilities
allocated to them. The Scheme is set out in Part 7, Section C of the Constitution.

Member Champions
A Councillor who acts as an advocate or spokesperson for a specific area of the
Council's business. Member Champions are appointed by the Elected Mayor.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

viiiPage 119



Monitoring Officer
The Officer appointed by the Council in accordance with section 5 of the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989 to promote and maintain high standards of
ethical conduct and to ensure the lawfulness and fairness of decision-making. The
Monitoring Officer may personally appoint one or more Deputy Monitoring Officers
who may act in place of the Monitoring Officer if they are unable to act owing to
absence or illness. At the Council the Monitoring Officer is the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services.

Motion
A Motion can be either:

(a) A procedural matter affecting the course of a meeting.

(b) A request made by a Councillor for a matter for which the Council has a
responsibility, or which affects the Borough, to be discussed at a meeting of
Full Council. A Motion can be to adopt a certain course of action, to do an act
or to declare a particular attitude.

Municipal Year
The period between the Annual Meetings of the Council, which are usually held in
May.

Non-Executive Functions
Those functions of the Council which the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 states are
not to be the responsibility of the Elected Mayor and Cabinet along with those local
choice functions which the Council has decided should not be the responsibility of
the Elected Mayor and Cabinet.

Officers
The staff employed by the Council to work for it and make decisions on its behalf.

Opposition Group(s)
Opposition Group(s) is / are those Political Group(s) who have a minority in terms of
the number of Councillors who form that Political Group when compared to the total
number of elected Councillors.

Petition
A formal written request appealing to the Council in respect of a particular cause or
question. The Council operates a Petition scheme detailing how the Petitions can be
submitted and the process by which they will be considered. This is set out in Part
6, Section D of the Constitution.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

ixPage 120



Planning Code of Practice
A document which provides guidance on how Councillors and Officers should deal
with planning matters. The aim of the Planning Code of Practice is to ensure that
planning decisions are made openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for
justifiable reasons.

Policy Framework
See Budget and Policy Framework

Political Assistant
An Officer of the Council who is appointed specifically to provide assistance to
members of a Political Group or the Elected Mayor. The Local Government and
Housing Act 1989 and the The Local Authorities (Elected Mayor and Mayor’s
Assistant) (England) Regulations 2002 set out the framework regulating the
appointment and conduct of Political Assistants for Political Groups and the Elected
Mayor respectively.

Political Balance Rules
The rules set out in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 which direct how
Political Groups are to be proportionately represented on the Council’s Committee,
Sub-Committees and certain other bodies.

Political Group
A group of two or more Councillors who have given notice to the Chief Executive
that they wish to be treated as a political group and who have indicated the name by
which they are to be known and the person who is to act as its leader.

Portfolio
The responsibilities or roles allocated to a Cabinet Member by the Elected Mayor.

Predetermination
Predetermination occurs where a decision-maker approaches a decision with a
mind which is closed to the merits of any arguments for or against that decision.

Proper Officer
An Officer appointed in accordance with section 270(3) of the Local Government Act
1972 to carry out specified actions and duties on behalf of the Council. A list of the
Council’s Proper Officers can be found in Part 8, Section A of this Constitution.

Protocol
A document forming part of the Constitution which provides guidance on how
individuals interact with each other or how things should operate.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

xPage 121



Quorum
The minimum number of people who have to be present before a meeting can take
place. The quorums for Full Council and Cabinet are set out in the relevant
procedure rules in Part 4, Sections A and B of this Constitution. The quorums for
Committees and Sub-Committees are set out in the relevant terms of reference in
Appendix 3 of this Constitution.

Reserve
A sum set aside for future spending where the timing and amounts are unknown.

Returning Officer
The person who is responsible for arranging elections and who formally announces
the results.

Revenue Expenditure
Day to day running costs. Revenue expenditure is financed out of the revenue
budget which is set every year.

Scheme of Delegation
A document which sets out which powers / functions have been delegated by the
Elected Mayor or Council and explains the limitation on the exercise of those
powers / functions. The Schemes of Delegation may be general, which apply across
the Council, or specific to Officers.

Scrutiny Commission(s)
Those bodies which have been appointed by Council to discharge the overview and
scrutiny functions as set out in the Local Government Act 2000. The Commissions
hold the Executive to account through consideration of decisions and undertake
policy reviews of matters that affect the borough’s residents. The findings of the
Commissions can be reported to Cabinet, Full Council or to an outside partner. The
Commissions undertake functions relating to particular themes and service areas as
set out in their terms of reference. The membership of the Commissions is politically
balanced and consists of Councillors who are not Cabinet Councillors.

Scrutiny Panel
The Scrutiny Panel has been established to co-ordinate and oversee the work of the
Scrutiny Commissions and which is responsible for considering Call-Ins.

Secretary of State
The title typically held by Cabinet Ministers in charge of Government Departments,
for example the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs. There are currently 16
different Secretaries of State.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

xiPage 122



Section 151 Officer
The Officer appointed in accordance with section 151 of the Local Government Act
1972 who has responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the
authority. This position is also known as the Chief Finance Officer. The Section 151
Officer is the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

Speaker, the
The Speaker of Hackney Council is the first citizen of the borough and, as such, will
normally carry out the ceremonial duties of the Council. In addition to their roles and
duties as a Councillor, the Speaker will have the additional responsibilities set out in
Article 6 of this Constitution. The Speaker is elected by Full Council at the Annual
Meeting. The Speaker may not be a member of Cabinet.

Statutory Deputy Mayor
A member of the Cabinet appointed by the Elected Mayor to act as their deputy. In
specified circumstances, the Statutory Deputy Mayor may exercise any and all of
the powers of the Elected Mayor.

Sub-Committee
A group of Councillors (including where appropriate co-opted members) appointed
by a Committee to take responsibility for one or more aspects of its functions.

Task & Finish Group
A small working group of interested Councillors who review specific issues of
concern within a designated time frame. Task & Finish Groups report to the
Committee or Commission that established them.

Terms of Reference
A written document setting out the responsibilities and boundaries of a particular
Committee or Sub-Committee.

Vice-chair
The person appointed to preside at meetings in the absence of the Chair.

Virement
The movement of funds during the course of a financial year from one area of
expenditure to another.

Ward
A subdivision of the borough. The London Borough of Hackney has 21 Wards and
the electors in each ward elect 2 or 3 Councillors to represent them.

Glossary of Terms Found in the Constitution

xiiPage 123



Part One - Your Council

Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of
Hackney

Section B - Principles of Decision Making

Section C - Citizens’ Rights

1
Page 124



Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

The London Borough of Hackney

1.1 The London Borough of Hackney is in the north east of London and made up of
the former metropolitan boroughs of Stoke Newington, Shoreditch and
Hackney. Our neighbouring boroughs are; Haringey to the north; the boroughs
of Newham and Waltham Forest to the east and north east; the City of London
Corporation and the borough of Tower Hamlets to the south and south east;
and the borough of Islington to the west.

1.2 Hackney is divided into 21 areas, called wards. 15 of the borough’s wards elect
3 Councillors each. 6 wards elect 2 Councillors each.

Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

2Page 125



The Council

1.3 The Council is made up of the Elected Mayor and 57 Councillors who are
elected every four years. Together they are known as “Full Council”. The
Elected Mayor is democratically accountable to residents of the borough as a
whole. Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward.
You can find details of the Elected Mayor and Councillors, along with the
parties and wards they represent, on the Council’s website [link inserted].

1.4 The legal name for the authority is ‘The Mayor and Burgesses of the London
Borough of Hackney’. We use the phrase ‘the Council’ to refer to this legal
entity.

Elected Mayor and Councillors

1.5 The Elected Mayor and all Councillors will maintain the highest standards of
conduct and ethics, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Code of Conduct
and the other Codes and Protocols adopted by the Council.

1.6 The Elected Mayor and all Councillors will
(a) Act as a ‘corporate parent’ to Hackney’s looked-after children and

care leavers;
(b) Contribute to the good governance of the authority;
(c) Actively encourage community participation and resident involvement

in decision making;
(d) Effectively represent the interests of communities and, in the case of

Councillors, individual residents in their own ward;
(e) Respond to residents' enquiries and representations fairly and

impartially
(f) Protect and, if possible, enhance the natural environment to the

benefit of the borough and its residents and act to mitigate and ensure
resilience to climate change in recognition of the Council’s declared
climate emergency

(g) Provide community leadership and work for the good of the borough
with local, regional and national organisations

(h) Be available to represent the Council on other bodies and attend
meetings of the bodies to which they are appointed or, if they are
unable to attend, present their apologies.

Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

3Page 126



The Speaker

1.7 The Speaker is the “first citizen” of the borough and acts as an ambassador for
the Council locally, regionally and nationally. They are responsible for the
ceremonial duties of the Council, which may include opening community
buildings, welcoming visitors to the Town Hall and attending various community
events. The Speaker is elected at the Annual Meeting of the Council and chairs
meetings of the full Council.

The Elected Mayor and Cabinet

1.8 The Elected Mayor is the political leader of the Council and is directly elected
by those residents in the borough who are on the electoral roll. They are
responsible for the appointment of the Statutory Deputy Mayor. They also
appoint Councillors to serve on the Cabinet. The Elected Mayor may also
appoint Councillors to serve as Deputy Cabinet Members and Mayoral
Champions.

1.9 The Cabinet proposes priorities to the Council and suggests how resources
should be used to fund these. The Cabinet is also responsible for the
development of Council policies. These documents are collectively known as
the Budget and Policy Framework. Once Full Council has approved the
documents, Cabinet must ensure that any decisions made comply with the
Budget and Policy Framework. If Cabinet wishes to make a decision outside
the budget and policy framework this must be referred to Full Council.

Council Committees and Sub-Committees

1.10 Full Council has a legal duty to perform certain responsibilities (also called
functions) and Cabinet cannot perform those responsibilities. You can find out
more details of which responsibilities fall to Full Council and which fall to
Cabinet in Part 3 of this Constitution. Most of these responsibilities are
delegated, or given, to Officers or to Council Committees or Sub-Committees.

1.11 The terms of reference of the Council’s Committees and Sub-Committees are
set out in Appendix 3 of this Constitution.

Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

4Page 127



Overview and Scrutiny

1.12 Good governance requires effective Scrutiny arrangements. These ensure
appropriate checks and balances on the exercise of powers, as well as value
for money and best practice.

1.13 The Scrutiny Panel and Scrutiny Commissions are entitled to review and
scrutinise all the Council’s work. They do the same for work done by other
organisations working in partnership with the Council. In particular, they are
responsible for ensuring the effectiveness of Cabinet. They review matters
before, during or after any decision has been made. They also review serious
issues affecting the work of the Council or its citizens. This usually happens via
an inquiry process and may lead to reports and recommendations being made
to Cabinet and/or Full Council. Cabinet or Full Council may also consult
Scrutiny Commissions on the development of policy or budget proposals.

1.14 The Scrutiny Panel co-ordinates and oversees the scrutiny function of the
Council and provides support to the work of the Scrutiny Commissions. The
Scrutiny Panel is responsible for considering any call-in of an executive
decision that has recently been made by the Cabinet or under delegated
authority by an Officer. You can find out more information about call-ins in Part
4, Section E of this Constitution.

Ward Forums

1.15 Ward Forums provide an opportunity for effective engagement between ward
Councillors and local citizens. They enable local discussion and locally
developed plans to make a difference to their areas.

1.16 Ward Councillors run Ward Forums in each ward area supported by Officers.
All Ward Forum meetings are held in public at a venue within the ward area.

Officers

1.17 Any person who works for the Council to deliver services. It can include
employees, contractors, consultants and agency staff. Officers advise and
support Members, implement their decisions and manage the day-to-day
delivery of services. Most decisions and actions taken by the Council are taken
by Officers under the Council’s arrangements for delegation of powers.

Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

5Page 128



1.18 Some Officers have specific and separate legal duties to ensure that the
Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. These officers are
known as “Statutory Officers” or “Proper Officers” and may have specific legal
titles in addition to their normal job titles.

The Constitution

1.19 The Council is legally required to have a Constitution. This Constitution sets out
how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the Council’s
procedures. The Council follows its procedures so that decisions are taken in
an efficient, transparent and accountable way. Some of these procedures are
required by law whilst others are a matter of choice for the Council.

1.20 The Constitution may be amended by Full Council or the Monitoring Officer
from time to time. More information about the Monitoring Officer’s role can be
found in Part 8, Section C of this Constitution. Information about when the
Monitoring Officer can amend the Constitution can be found in Article 15 of Part
2 of the Constitution.

Part One - Your Council
Section A - An Overview of the London Borough of Hackney

6Page 129



Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

This Section explains how the Council makes decisions.

1.1 The Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers must familiarise themselves with
the controls and principles set out in this Section. They must be satisfied that
they comply with them every time they make a decision. They must also be able
to demonstrate this.

The Correct Decision Maker

1.2 Each decision must be made by the most appropriate person or body who has
authority to make the decision.

1.3 Certain decisions must be made either by Full Council or its committees, whilst
others are made by the Elected Mayor / Cabinet. You can find out more
information about which body is responsible for making decisions in Part 3 of
this Constitution. Decisions may also be delegated to Officers. More information
about delegations can be found in Part 3 of this Constitution.

1.4 Occasionally it may be unclear who has authority to make a decision. When this
happens, the Legal and Governance Service must provide advice.

Avoiding Conflicts of Interest and Bias

1.5 Individual decision makers must avoid potential or perceived conflicts of
interest. They should also observe any rules that govern Interests and
Predetermination.

Best Interests and Best Value

1.6 Decision makers must act in the best interests of the communities of the
London Borough of Hackney. They should take the option that will deliver the
best value for money and will result in the most effective and efficient use of
resources.

Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

7Page 130



Compliance with the Law, Guidance and Codes of Practice

1.7 All decisions must be made in accordance with the law, including ensuring that
any procedural steps are followed. In addition, decision makers must have
regard to any guidance and codes of practice that may apply. Where the
decision maker is affiliated to a professional body that operates a code of
conduct and sets professional standards, they must also comply with these.

The Budget and Policy Framework

1.8 All decisions must be made in accordance with the Budget and Policy
Framework set by Council. This includes Directorate and Service budgets,
business plans and any other policies, arrangements, procedures, rules,
practices or protocols that are in force when a decision is made.

1.9 If any decision maker proposes to make a decision which is, or which the
Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer advise is, not in accordance with the
Budget and Policy Framework then that decision must (unless any exceptions
set out by Council apply) be referred to Full Council. More information on the
Budget and Policy Framework, the Financial Procedure Rules and Contract
Standing Orders, is set out in Part 4, Section C and Part 5 of this Constitution.

1.10 The Scrutiny Panel also has powers in respect of decisions which have or will
be made which they consider to be contrary to the Budget and Policy
Framework. These powers include requiring reports in respect of decisions
made or to suspend, subject to review, decisions that are yet to be made. More
information on the Scrutiny Panel’s powers is set out in Part 4, Section D of this
Constitution.

Considering Options and Impacts

1.11 Decision makers must identify and evaluate any options that may be available.
They need to assess the likely impacts of each option, with particular regard to
human rights and the public sector equality duty.

Sustainability and Climate Change

1.12 Decision makers must consider the impact of the proposed decision on
sustainability and climate change, including any environmental benefits and
disbenefits, taking into account the Council’s declared climate emergency.

Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

8Page 131



Equalities

1.13 Decision makers must ensure that they consider how the decision will affect
people who have protected characteristics under the Equality Act. The
characteristics which are protected under the Act are age; disability; gender
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race;
religion or belief; sex and sexual orientation.

Consultations

1.14 Decision makers must ensure that any consultations are properly undertaken at
the appropriate time and in accordance with relevant law and guidance.
Decision makers should carefully consider what the most appropriate method
for undertaking any required consultation might be.

Evidence Based Decisions

1.15 Decision makers must make rational, evidence based decisions, taking into
account all relevant considerations. Decision makers must provide proper
reasons for their decisions.

“Judicial” Decisions

1.16 Decision makers acting in a ‘judicial’ capacity, for instance when determining
appeals, must observe the principles of “natural justice”.

1.17 Natural justice requires that a fair, reasonable and transparent decision making
procedure is followed. All parties must be afforded a fair opportunity to make
representations. Procedures followed should eradicate any bias or conflict of
interests (as far as possible) and full reasons for decisions should be given and
recorded. Decision makers must ensure that they take all relevant information
into account and disregard any information, considerations or circumstances
that are not relevant to the matter that has to be decided.

Openness and Transparency in Decision Making

1.18 Most meetings where decisions are made will be held in public. Further
information on meetings that are held in public and meetings that are not is set
out in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution. Decision makers need to
understand and comply with these requirements.

1.19 All decision makers need to ensure that the processes they follow are as open
and transparent as possible, particularly when decisions are made by

Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

9Page 132



individuals or in meetings that are not open to the public. The aims, outcomes,
options and assessed impacts, who was consulted (and when and how they
were consulted), what information was taken into account and the reasons for
decisions must be clear.

Notice of Decisions and Meetings and Record Keeping

1.20 An important part of ensuring openness and transparency in decision making is
making sure that appropriate notice is given that decisions are going to be
taken, and that appropriate records are kept of decisions taken and the reasons
for them.

1.21 The nature of any notice or decision record required will depend on the type of
decision in question and is, in most cases, a matter of judgement for the
decision maker. There are, however, particular requirements for certain types of
decisions.

Decision Reports

1.22 Formal reports are used to record all decisions taken by Council, Cabinet and
committees.

1.23 Every report will list those documents (called background papers) relating to
the subject matter of the report which:

(a) Disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part
of the report is based; and

(b) Which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report.

1.24 In addition, all reports to the Cabinet on proposals relating to the Budget and
Policy Framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation
with stakeholders and relevant Scrutiny Committees, and the outcome of that
consultation.

1.25 Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation
as appropriate. The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the
nature of the matter under consideration.

1.26 Group Directors may initiate reports on any matter where they believe the
Council, Cabinet, committee or sub-committee should make a decision or
should be informed.

1.27 Where such a report affects another Service, the appropriate Group Director
must be consulted.

Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

10Page 133



1.28 The appropriate Cabinet member shall be consulted prior to the publication of a
Cabinet report which concerns their portfolio.

1.29 Reports shall communicate all relevant factual information and professional
opinions, together with appropriate recommendations.

Part One - Your Council
Section B - Principles of Decision Making

11Page 134



Part One - Your Council
Section C - Citizens’ Rights and Responsibilities

This Section explains some of the rights and responsibilities of citizens. The word
“Citizen” is used in this document to describe everyone who lives in, works in, or
visits the London Borough of Hackney.

Citizen’s Rights

1.1 Citizens have a number of rights when receiving services from the Council, for
example when making planning or licensing applications or seeking housing
benefit. These rights are not covered in this Constitution. Citizens can get
advice about these rights from the relevant Council department, the Citizens’
Advice Bureau or a solicitor.

1.2 Citizens have the right to:-

(a) Vote at local elections and referenda if they are registered as an
elector on the electoral roll;

(b) Contact their local Councillor or the Elected Mayor about any relevant
matters of concern to them;

(c) Obtain a copy of the Constitution;
(d) Find out, from the Forward Plan, what major executive decisions will

be decided by the Cabinet or by Officers and when;
(e) Attend meetings of the Cabinet, particularly where key decisions are

being discussed or decided, except where, for example, personal or
confidential matters are being discussed;

(f) Attend meetings of the Council, and its committees, except where, for
example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed;

(g) See reports and background papers and any record of decisions
made by the Council and the Cabinet;

(h) Petition to request a referendum on a change in the Council’s
governance arrangements if they are registered as an elector on the
electoral roll;

(i) Contribute to investigations by the Scrutiny Commissions;
(j) Complain to the Council about a problem with a Council service;
(k) Complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not

followed its procedures properly. However, they should do this only
after using the Council’s own complaints procedure;

(l) Complain to the Council’s Monitoring Officer if they have evidence
which they think shows that the Elected Mayor, a Councillor or a
co-optee has not followed the Council’s Code of Conduct;

Part One - Your Council
Section C - Citizens’ Rights and Responsibilities

12Page 135



(m) Inspect the Council’s accounts if they are resident in the borough or
an interested person and make their views known to the external
auditor

(n) Submit petitions or form a deputation if they are resident in the
borough;

(o) Participate in Tenant and Residents’ Associations when acting as
open forms if they live in a property covered by a Tenant and
Residents’ Association;

(p) Participate in Ward Forums when they are a resident of that ward; and
(q) Respond to any consultation issued by the Council.

Citizen’s Responsibilities

1.3 Being a Citizen also carries with it a number of responsibilities:
(a) Assisting the Council with the compilation of the electoral register;
(b) Exercising their right to vote in local, regional and national elections;
(c) Respecting and valuing the diversity of communities which make up

the London Borough of Hackney;
(d) Treating other Citizens with respect;
(e) Meeting obligations by paying any rent, Council Tax, National

Non-Domestic Rates or other charges which are owed to the Council;
and

(f) Ensuring that their children receive an appropriate education.

1.4 When dealing with the Council, Citizens are expected to conduct themselves in
an appropriate and respectful manner and must not

(a) Engage in violent, abusive or threatening behaviour or language to
anyone, including elected members and officers of the Council;

(b) Use language or make statements that are racist, derogatory or
offensive; or

(c) Cause damage to Council property or property owned by elected
members and officers of the Council.

Part One - Your Council
Section C - Citizens’ Rights and Responsibilities

13Page 136



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 1 - The Constitution

Powers of the Council

1.1 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law
and this Constitution.

The Constitution

1.2 This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of the London
Borough of Hackney.

Purpose of the Constitution

1.3 The purpose of the Constitution is to:

(a) Enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in
partnership with Citizens, businesses and other organisations;

(b) Support the active involvement of Citizens in the process of local
authority decision-making;

(c) Help Councillors to represent their constituents effectively;

(d) Enable decisions to be taken efficiently and appropriately;

(e) Create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to
public account;

(f) Ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they
were directly involved;

(g) Ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for
decisions; and

(h) Provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the
community.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 1 - The Constitution

15Page 137



Interpretation and review of the Constitution

1.4 Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different
courses of action, the Council will always choose the option which it thinks is
closest to the purposes stated above.

1.5 Full Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 1 - The Constitution

16Page 138



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 2 - Citizens

Council responsibilities

2.1 The Council recognises and values the rich cultural diversity of the citizens
who work, live or study in the borough and is committed to working in
partnership with the communities of Hackney to improve existing services and
develop new services to meet their needs. The Council will aim to achieve this
by: -

● Working in partnership with the following groups:
○ The Community Strategy Partnership
○ Tenant and Residents’ Associations
○ Voluntary sector and community groups
○ Local business organisations and relevant partners;

● Consulting all sections of the community on matters that affect them.
The Council will use a variety of methods to consult with the
community;

● Listening to the views of all sections of the community and developing
more effective ways of working with local people, particularly those in
hard to reach groups such as young people and global majority ethnic
communities;

● Respecting the Citizens of the borough, and valuing and promoting
the cultural and economic diversity of the borough.

Citizens’ rights

2.2 Citizens’ rights are set out in Part One, Section C of this Constitution. Further
information on the rights of Citizens to obtain information is set out in Part 6,
Section A of this Constitution.

Citizens’ participation in Council business

2.3 The Council is committed to supporting Citizens in contributing to the
Council’s decisions.

2.4 Citizens have the right to:

(a) Ask questions of the

(i) Elected Mayor;

(ii) Councillors of the Cabinet;

(iii) Deputy Cabinet Members;
Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 2 - Citizens

17Page 139



(iv) the Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee; and

(v) Councillors as representatives on outside bodies

at Full Council and Cabinet meetings;

(b) Speak on agenda items at Planning Sub-Committee and Licensing
Sub-Committee meetings where they have made representations;

(c) Contribute to the work of the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions;

(d) Form part of a deputation to a Full Council or Cabinet in accordance
with the rules set out in Part 6, Section E of this Constitution;

(e) Participate in Ward Forums when they are a resident of that ward;

(f) Take up one or many roles within the Council, such as a co-opted
member;

(g) Respond to consultations and participate in a focus group or
stakeholder group, or attend a roadshow;

(h) Present petitions in accordance with Part 6, Section D of this
Constitution. Citizens on the electoral register may also present a
petition to request a referendum to change how the Council operates;

(i) Submit an expression of interest on behalf of a voluntary or
community body to provide, or to assist in providing, a relevant
service on behalf of the Council; and

(j) Nominate, on behalf of a voluntary or community body, land of
community value to be included on the Council’s list of assets of
community value.

Complaints

2.5 The views of Citizens about how the Council is performing are important and
valued by the Council.

2.6 Citizens have the right to:

(a) Contact the Elected Mayor and Ward Councillors;

(b) Make a formal complaint using the Council’s complaints procedure;

(c) Make a complaint to the Ombudsman after using the Council’s own
complaints scheme;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 2 - Citizens

18Page 140



(d) Complain to the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillor
Code of Conduct.

Citizens responsibilities

2.7 The responsibilities of Citizens are set out in Part One, Section C of this
Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 2 - Citizens

19Page 141



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 3 - Members of the Council

Composition and eligibility

3.1 Composition - The Council comprises the Elected Mayor and 57 Councillors.
Councillors will be elected by the voters in accordance with a scheme drawn
up by the Electoral Commission and approved by the Secretary of State.

3.2 Eligibility – To stand for election as Elected Mayor or Councillor you must:

(a) Be at least 18 years old; and

(b) Be a British citizen, an eligible Commonwealth Citizen or a citizen of
any member state of the European Union;

You must also meet at least one of the following four qualifications:

(a) You are, and will continue to be, registered as a local government
elector for the borough from the day of your nomination onwards;

(b) You have occupied, as owner or tenant, any land or premises in the
borough for the whole of the 12 month period before the day of
nomination and the day of election;

(c) Your main or only place of work has been in the borough for the whole
of the 12 month period before the day of nomination and the day of
election; or

(d) You have lived in the borough during the whole of the 12 month period
before the day of nomination and the day of election.

A person cannot hold office as both the Elected Mayor and Councillor. If you
are in any doubt about whether you are eligible to stand as the Elected Mayor
or as a Councillor, you should contact the Council’s Electoral Services
department for advice.

Election and terms of office of Councillors

3.3 The local election of Councillors will usually be held on the first Thursday in
May every four years. The terms of office of Councillors will start on the fourth
day after being elected and will finish on the fourth day after the date of the
next local election unless they are disqualified, resign or die.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 3 - Members of the Council

20Page 142



Groups

3.4 The political party, or combination of parties, with the largest number of
members shall form the Majority Group.

3.5 The political party, or combination of parties, with the largest number of
members who are not members of the Majority Group shall form the Principal
Opposition Group. Other political parties will be Minority Opposition Groups.

Rights and responsibilities of Members

3.6 The Elected Mayor and all Councillors will:

(a) Act collectively as ultimate policy-makers;

(b) Communicate the Council’s work and role to Citizens and promote
their understanding of the Council’s work;

(c) Represent and become advocates for their communities and, having
regard to the rich cultural diversity of the borough, bring their views
into the Council’s decision-making process;

(d) Contribute to the good governance of the area and actively encourage
community participation and Citizen involvement in decision making;

(e) Deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for constituents
in resolving particular concerns or grievances;

(f) Balance different interests identified within the ward and borough and
represent the ward and borough as a whole; dealing with these
interests with integrity and with regard to the Code of Conduct
contained in Part 7, Section A of the Constitution;

(g) Be involved in decision-making;

(h) Be available to represent the Council on other bodies;

(i) Maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics;

(j) Have rights of access to such documents, information, land and
buildings of the Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of
their functions and in accordance with the law;

(k) Not make public information which is confidential or exempt without
the consent of the Council;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 3 - Members of the Council

21Page 143



(l) Not divulge information given in confidence to anyone other than a
Councillor or Officers entitled to know it;

(m) Be entitled to join a political group of their choice; and

(n) Be called a member of a party group, providing the requirements of
section 15 of the Local Government Act 1989 are complied with,
which requires that a party group must consist of at least two
Councillors.

Rights and responsibilities specific to non-executive Members

3.7 In addition to the other rights and responsibilities set out above, non-executive
Members have the right to:

(a) Act as a check and balance on the powers and actions of the Elected
Mayor and Cabinet through serving as a member of the Scrutiny
Panel and Scrutiny Commissions, providing that any rules on political
balance which apply to that Panel or Commission are maintained;

(b) Call-in any decision of the Cabinet which is capable of being called in
as set out in Part 4, Section E of the Constitution;

(c) Call an extraordinary Full Council meeting as set out in Part 4, Section
A of the Constitution;

(d) Serve as a member of any non-executive Committee, providing that
any rules on political balance which apply to that Committee are
maintained;

(e) Ask a question on a report to the Cabinet or introduce a deputation;
and

(f) Receive agendas, minutes and reports of meetings of the Cabinet as
set out in Part 7, Section D of the Constitution.

Election of the Mayor

3.8 The ordinary election of the Elected Mayor will be at the time of the local
Council elections. The term of office of the Elected Mayor will be 4 years. They
will take office on the fourth day after their election and will continue in office
until the fourth day after their successor is elected, unless they are disqualified,
resign or die.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 3 - Members of the Council

22Page 144



Role of the Elected Mayor

3.9 The Elected Mayor shall, in addition to the rights and responsibilities for all
Councillors contained in Article 3.6 above, carry out the roles and functions
contained in Article 5.

Conduct

3.10 Councillors and the Elected Mayor must comply with the requirements of the
Councillor Code of Conduct and observe the Protocol for Elected Mayor &
Councillor/Officer Relations as set out in Part 9, Section C of this Constitution.

3.11 Members of the Licensing Committee and Planning Sub-Committee must also
comply with the requirements of the Licensing and Planning Codes of Practice
respectively.

Allowances

3.12 Councillors and the Elected Mayor are entitled to receive allowances in
accordance with the Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 7, Section
C of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 3 - Members of the Council

23Page 145



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 4 - Full Council

Role of Full Council

4.1 Full Council comprises the Elected Mayor and the 57 Councillors who
represent the areas of the London Borough of Hackney, called wards.

4.2 Full Council determines the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, and
agrees the strategic direction for the Council which is then implemented by
Cabinet and monitored by Overview and Scrutiny. Further explanation of the
term Budget and Policy Framework is set out in the Glossary and Part 4,
Section C of this Constitution.

4.3 The Full Council meeting is the assembly, where Councillors speak up for and
on behalf of their constituents. It is an opportunity for deliberation and political
debate on issues of concern on which the Council should express a view, and
also an opportunity for Councillors from all political parties to come together
as the elected voice of the borough.

4.4 Full Council meetings provide the opportunity for Citizens to engage and hold
the Elected Mayor and Councillors to account by asking questions and making
deputations as set out in Part 6, Section E of this Constitution.

4.5 The frequency of the meetings of Full Council is determined at the Annual
Meeting.

Full Council meetings

4.6 There are three types of Full Council meetings:

(a) The Annual Meeting

(b) Ordinary meetings

(c) Extraordinary meetings

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules
as set out in Part 4, Section A of this Constitution.

Functions of Full Council

4.7 The following functions will be exercised by Full Council only: -

(a) Adopting and changing the Constitution in accordance with Article 15;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 4 - Full Council

24Page 146



(b) Approving or adopting the Budget and Policy Framework, the annual
Council Tax requirements, and any application to the Secretary of
State responsible for housing in respect of any housing land transfer;

(c) Making decisions about any matter relating to the discharge of an
executive function covered by the Budget and Policy Framework,
where the Cabinet is minded to make a decision in a manner which
would be contrary to the policy framework or contrary or not wholly in
accordance with the budget;

(d) Establishing Committees, Panels, Boards and Commissions (other
than Cabinet Committees), agreeing their terms of reference, making
appointments to them subject to the legal rules regarding
proportionality between different political groups and appointing the
Chair and Vice-Chair;

(e) Appointing representatives to outside bodies, unless the appointment
is a decision of the Executive, or has been delegated by Full Council;

(f) Adopting or revising the Members’ Allowances Scheme;

(g) Changing the name of the area or any part of the area;

(h) Conferring the title of Honorary Freeman or granting the Freedom of
the Borough;

(i) Considering petitions which are referred to Full Council;

(j) Confirming the appointment, dismissal, redundancy or early
retirement of the Head of Paid Service;

(k) Confirming appointments to the roles of Chief Finance Officer and
Monitoring Officer;

(l) Determining the level of disciplinary action or dismissal of specified
Statutory Officers;

(m) Adopting a Code of Conduct for Councillors and the Elected Mayor;

(n) Appointing the Independent Person;

(o) Approving the annual Pay Policy Statement which includes details of
the pay of Chief Officers; the pay of the Council’s lowest paid
employees, and the relationship between the pay of Chief Officers
and the pay of its employees who are not Chief Officers;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 4 - Full Council

25Page 147



(p) Making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting Byelaws and
promoting or opposing the makings of local legislation or personal
bills;

(q) All local choice functions as set out in Appendix 2 of this Constitution
which Full Council has decided should be undertaken by itself rather
than by Cabinet, a Committee, a Sub-Committee or an officer; and

(r) All other matters which must be reserved to Full Council by law.

Policy framework

4.8 The policy framework documents, plans and strategies shall consist of the
following:

(a) Mandatory (as required by law)

Local Transport Plan under section 108(3) Transport Act 2000

Local Development Framework and Local Area Action Plans under
section 15 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Licensing Authority Policy Statement under section 5 Licensing Act
2003

Gambling Policy Statement under section 349 Gambling Act 2005

Crime & Disorder Reduction Strategy under sections 5 and 6 Crime
and Disorder Act 1998

Youth Justice Plan under section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998

(b) Discretionary (as recommended by the Secretary of State )

Strategic Plan

(c) Discretionary (as decided by Full Council)

Housing Strategy

Equalities Statement

4.9 The policy framework plans and strategies will vary, from time to time in
response to legislation. Any change to the framework which is necessary
because of a change in legislation will be incorporated into this Constitution by
the Monitoring Officer without the need for the agreement of Full Council.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 4 - Full Council

26Page 148



Budget

4.10 The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services
and projects, proposed contingency funds, the Council Tax base, setting the
Council Tax and decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing
requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement
limits.

Housing Land Transfer

4.11 A Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications
(whether in draft form or not) to the Secretary of State responsible for housing
for a programme of disposal of 500 or more properties to a person under the
Leasehold Reform Housing and Urban Development Act 1993 (as amended)
or the disposal of land used for residential purposes where approval is
required under sections 32 or 43 of the Housing Act 1985.

Responsibility for functions

4.12 The Monitoring Officer will maintain the tables in Appendices setting out the
responsibilities for the Council’s functions. Any change to the functions arising
from a change in legislation will be incorporated into this Constitution by the
Monitoring Officer without the need for the agreement of Full Council.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 4 - Full Council

27Page 149



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

5.1 In accordance with the Local Government Acts, and following a local
referendum, the Council operates with an Elected Mayor and Cabinet model
of governance.

5.2 The Elected Mayor and Cabinet shall carry out all of the Council’s functions
which are not the responsibility of any other part of the Council, whether by
law or under this Constitution. This is explained further in paragraphs 5.4 and
5.5 below. The Elected Mayor and Cabinet shall also be responsible for
exercising the general power of competence conferred by the Localism Act
2011.

Form and composition

5.3 The Cabinet will consist of the Elected Mayor together with at least 2, but not
more than 9, Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the Elected Mayor. One
of the appointed Councillors will be Deputy Mayor as defined by legislation,
known as the Statutory Deputy Mayor. The Elected Mayor will advise the
Annual Meeting who they have nominated to the Cabinet and who has been
appointed to be the Statutory Deputy Mayor.

Role and functions of the Elected Mayor

5.4 The Elected Mayor is entitled to carry out all of the Council’s executive
functions and retains this entitlement whether they choose to delegate any or
all of these functions. The Elected Mayor may choose to delegate functions to
be carried out by the Cabinet collectively, or by a member of the Cabinet, or
by a committee of the Cabinet, or by an Officer of the Council.

5.5 The precise nature of the Elected Mayor’s role and functions will depend on
the choice of the office holder and their policies but will include the following:

(a) To give overall political direction to the Council and, in drawing up
policies for the Council, seek to balance the interests of the diverse
community;

(b) To set priorities that contribute to the life and development of the
borough;

(c) To appoint the Cabinet and the Statutory Deputy Mayor;

(d) To determine a scheme of delegation for executive functions;

(e) To chair meetings of the Cabinet;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

28Page 150



(f) To represent the Council on such external bodies as they decide;

(g) To represent the interests of Hackney to the government and other
partners and stakeholders;

(h) To promote and improve the economic, social and environmental
well-being of Hackney and its inhabitants;

(i) To have regard to the impact that any policies that they and the
Council promote might have on sustainability and climate change,
including any environmental benefits and disbenefits, taking into
account the Council’s declared climate emergency;

(j) To lead and speak for Hackney as the principal public spokesperson
and act as a champion for the whole borough;

(k) To promote the rich cultural diversity of Hackney as one of the key
strengths of the borough;

(l) To ensure the Council is an effective partner to other agencies in the
development of Hackney;

(m) To be accessible to Citizens when carrying out their duties;

(n) To act with the highest degree of integrity in accordance with the
Councillor Code of Conduct;

(o) To take action in emergencies, in consultation with the Chief
Executive.

The Elected Mayor as a member of Full Council

5.6 The Elected Mayor will be treated as a member of Full Council unless the law
or context requires otherwise. In particular the Elected Mayor:

(a) Is subject to the same rules about qualification and disqualification as
any Councillor;

(b) Must follow the rules about disclosure of interests and comply with the
Councillor Code of Conduct set out in Part 7, Section A of this
Constitution;

(c) May be a member of, attend and speak at any meeting of Full
Council, its committees and sub-committees, except the Standards
Committee and the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions. The Elected

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

29Page 151



Mayor may, however, be invited to address the Standards Committee
and the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions;

(d) Is subject to the Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 7,
Section C of the Constitution; and

(e) Is subject to the same rules about casual vacancy as apply to all
Councillors.

The title of Mayor may only be used by the Elected Mayor.

Inability of the Elected Mayor to act

5.7 If for any reason the Elected Mayor is unable to act, or the office of the
Elected Mayor is vacant, the Statutory Deputy Mayor will act in their place
until either the Elected Mayor is able to act or an election has been held.

5.8 If both the Elected Mayor and Statutory Deputy Mayor are unable to act or
their offices are vacant at the same time, then Cabinet must act in the Elected
Mayor’s place, or arrange for a Councillor of the Cabinet to do so.

5.9 Where the Elected Mayor and Statutory Deputy Mayor are unable to act
because of suspension from office or because they are unfit to act on health
grounds, then an interim Elected Mayor may be appointed by Full Council and
the provisions of Regulation 47 Local Authorities (Cabinet and Alternative
Arrangements) (Modification of Enactments and Other Provisions) (England)
Order 2001 will apply.

The Cabinet

5.10 Composition – Only Councillors may be appointed to the Cabinet by the
Elected Mayor. Cabinet Councillors cannot have substitutes. Neither the
Speaker nor Deputy Speaker of the Council may be appointed to the Cabinet.
Councillors of the Cabinet may not be members of the Scrutiny Panel or a
Scrutiny Commission.

5.11 Term of office – Councillors of the Cabinet will hold office until their
appointment is terminated by the Elected Mayor, they resign from the Cabinet
or they are no longer a Councillor.

5.12 Appointment by the Elected Mayor – Subject to Article 5.3, the size and
composition of the Cabinet will be solely a matter for the Elected Mayor to
decide. They may choose to appoint Councillors from any political group or
those not in a political group. The Cabinet need not reflect the political
balance of the Council as a whole. The Elected Mayor will report their
appointments to Full Council at the Annual Meeting.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

30Page 152



5.13 Removal from office – The Elected Mayor will notify the Monitoring Officer
and the next Full Council meeting of any changes to the Councillors appointed
to the Cabinet.

5.14 Inability of the whole Cabinet to act – If all the Councillors of the Cabinet
are unable to act for any reason, then Full Council will appoint an Interim
Cabinet to discharge the relevant executive functions.

Cabinet Committees

5.15 Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee (CPIC) – The Committee
has been authorised by Cabinet to give detailed consideration on all issues
relating to procurement practice and policy and to award all high-risk
contracts.

5.16 Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) – The Board is an advisory committee of
Cabinet and oversees the implementation of the Corporate Parenting Strategy
and Action Plan and monitors the quality and effectiveness of services to
ensure they fulfil the Council’s responsibilities and achieve good outcomes for
children in care.

5.17 Hackney Integrated Commissioning Board – The Committee has been
authorised by Cabinet to make decisions and manage pooled funds with the
Integrated Commissioning Board in accordance with the Boards’s terms of
reference and schemes of delegation.

Detailed terms of reference for these committees and boards are set out in Appendix
3 of this Constitution.

Proceedings of Cabinet

5.18 Proceedings of Cabinet meetings shall take place in accordance with the
Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section B of this Constitution.

Responsibility for functions

5.19 The Elected Mayor will advise the Annual Meeting of their scheme of
delegation. The scheme of delegation will set out which individual Councillors
of the Cabinet, Committees, Officers or joint arrangements are responsible for
the exercise of particular Cabinet functions. The Elected Mayor will notify the
Monitoring Officer of any changes to the scheme within 48 hours of changes
coming into effect.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

31Page 153



Statutory Deputy Mayor

5.20 Appointment - At the first Annual Meeting of Full Council after an election,
the Elected Mayor will appoint one of the Councillors of the Cabinet to act as
the Statutory Deputy Mayor.

5.21 Term of office – The Statutory Deputy Mayor will hold office until the end of
the Elected Mayor’s term of office, unless they resign from the Cabinet or the
office of Councillor, they resign as Statutory Deputy Mayor, or are removed by
the Elected Mayor from the office of Statutory Deputy Mayor.

5.22 Duties of the Statutory Deputy Mayor – The Statutory Deputy Mayor, as
referred to in paragraph 5.3 above, will deputise for the Elected Mayor or act
in their absence and in this capacity will exercise all of the powers of the
Elected Mayor. The Statutory Deputy Mayor will also serve on any bodies and
undertake any tasks, or hold any positions or responsibility assigned to them
by the Elected Mayor.

5.23 Removal from office – The Elected Mayor will notify the Monitoring Officer
and the next Full Council meeting if they have appointed a new Statutory
Deputy Mayor.

Deputy Cabinet Members

5.24 The Elected Mayor may appoint any number of Deputy Cabinet Members who
may attend and contribute to meetings of the Cabinet. Deputy Cabinet
Members are not part of the executive of the Council to comply with the
requirements of the Local Government Act 2000.

5.25 The role of Deputy Cabinet Member is to provide support to the Elected Mayor
and Cabinet; their brief will be determined by the Elected Mayor. Deputy
Cabinet Members are responsible to the Elected Mayor and Cabinet Members
and can answer questions at Full Council and other meetings of the Council
including scrutiny.

5.26 Deputy Cabinet Members have no voting rights at Cabinet meetings. The
attendance of Deputy Cabinet Members does not count towards the quorum
of a Cabinet meeting.

5.27 Deputy Cabinet Members are entitled to receive an allowance in accordance
with the Members’ Allowance Scheme set out in Part 6, Section C of this
Constitution.

5.28 The Monitoring Officer will maintain a list of Deputy Cabinet Members as
notified by the Elected Mayor from time to time.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 5 - The Executive (known as the Elected Mayor and Cabinet)

32Page 154



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 6 - The Speaker & Deputy Speaker

6.1 The Speaker and Deputy Speaker are elected at the Annual Meeting and act
as the Council’s civic ambassadors. The Speaker is the London Borough of
Hackney’s ‘First Citizen’.

6.2 The Speaker, and in their absence, the Deputy Speaker, has the following
responsibilities:

(a) Together with the Elected Mayor, to promote the Council as a whole
and act as a focal point for the community;

(b) To promote public involvement in the Council’s activities;

(c) To attend such civic, public and ceremonial functions as the Council
and Elected Mayor determine appropriate;

(d) To be the guardian of the democratic process of the Council and the
rights laid out in the Constitution;

(e) To uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and to
interpret the Constitution on the advice of the Monitoring Officer, when
necessary;

(f) To preside over meetings of the Full Council so that its business can
be carried out efficiently, and having appropriate regard to the rights of
elected members and the interests of the community;

(g) To ensure that Full Council meetings are a forum for a debate of
matters of concern to the local community, and at which Councillors
who are not Councillors of the Cabinet are able to hold the Cabinet to
account;

(h) To be the Councillor with primary responsibility for twinning with other
places which reflect the diversity of the borough. To take the lead, to
support and participate in any twinning events or functions with other
boroughs, organisations or individuals and promote new twinning
arrangements.

6.3 Chains of Office will only be worn by the Speaker and Deputy Speaker when
carrying out civic and ceremonial duties. No other elected member will wear
Chains of Office.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 6 - The Speaker & Deputy Speaker

33Page 155



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

The Scrutiny Panel and Scrutiny Commissions carry out the Council’s overview and
scrutiny function and are set up to hold the Elected Mayor and Cabinet to account.
The role of scrutiny is non-adversarial and non-partisan. The Scrutiny Panel and
Commissions act as a critical friend and provide challenge to decision makers at the
Council as well as external agencies.

7.1 The Council must appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny body to:

(a) Hold the Elected Mayor and Cabinet to account by examining
executive decisions that are about to be made, decisions which have
been made but not yet implemented (known as the call-in process);
and decisions which have been implemented (post-hoc review);

(b) Review Policy Framework documents and policies more generally and
make suggestions for improving them;

(c) Contribute to continuous improvement of service delivery by
considering performance, participation by citizens in the functions
delivered by the service, value for money reviews and budget
investigations;

(d) Review and make recommendations on the discharge of regulatory
functions;

(e) Consider and make recommendations to Full Council and external
partner stakeholder organisations on matters which have a direct
bearing on the economic, social or environmental well-being of
Citizens;

(f) In the case of the Health in Hackney Scrutiny Commission, to review
and scrutinise matters relating to the health service in the Council’s
area and to prepare reports and make recommendations in
accordance with any Regulations and Directions made under the
Health and Social Act 2001. The Health in Hackney Scrutiny
Commission may, from time to time, decide to appoint a Joint Health
Scrutiny Committee involving one or more other local authorities;

(g) In the case of the Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission, to review
and scrutinise decisions made, or actions taken, by the Council or any
responsible authority relating to crime and disorder. To prepare
reports or make recommendations to Full Council and to provide

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

34Page 156



copies to the responsible authorities and any co-operating persons
and bodies in accordance with the Police and Justice Act 2006;

(h) Request information from relevant external partner authorities, invite
interested parties to comment as appropriate and make
recommendations.

(i) Consider any referral by a Councillor under the Councillor Call for
Action, and if considered appropriate to scrutinise decisions and/or
actions taken in relation to a matter;

(j) Consider any Petitions referred to it in accordance with Part 6, Section
D of this Constitution.

7.2 The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions may make recommendations arising
from such work to the Elected Mayor and Cabinet, Full Council and external
partner / stakeholder organisations.

Attendance by Elected Mayor, Cabinet Councillors and other persons

7.3 The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions may require the Elected Mayor, Cabinet
Councillors or Chief Officers to attend meetings of the Panel or Commissions
to answer questions and may invite other persons to attend meetings of the
Commissions.

7.4 The Elected Mayor, Cabinet Councillors or Chief Officers shall comply with
any requirement to attend a meeting.

7.5 A Councillor must not be involved in scrutinising a decision in which they were
directly involved.

7.6 A person is not obliged to answer any question. In addition a person is entitled
to refuse to answer any question where the topic under discussion is the
subject of legal proceedings.

Role and Function of the Scrutiny Panel

7.7 The Council shall appoint a Scrutiny Panel to coordinate and oversee the
work of the Scrutiny Commissions.

7.8 The Scrutiny Panel will be responsible for establishing task-finish scrutiny
panels and for considering a request made by any 5 non-executive Members
for the call-in of a cabinet decision or a decision of the Joint Committee of the
Fourth Growth Boroughs. The Scrutiny Panel’s terms of reference are set out
in Appendix 3 of the Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

35Page 157



7.9 The Scrutiny Panel shall comprise 9 Members, who cannot be Members of
the Cabinet. It shall include the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Scrutiny
Commissions.

7.10 The Scrutiny Panel’s Chair shall be a member of the Majority Group. Chairs of
the Scrutiny Commissions are not eligible for the position of Chair of the
Scrutiny Panel. The Vice-Chair of the Panel should be a member of the larger
opposition party.

7.11 The Scrutiny Panel may invite the Elected Mayor and the Deputy Mayor to
attend meetings of the Panel to assist in considering the scrutiny work
programme, and how the Elected Mayor and Deputy Mayor can participate in
the Panel’s work programme. The Scrutiny Panel may also invite the Chairs of
the Audit and Corporate Committees to assist in discharging the functions of
the Panel.

Role and function of the Scrutiny Commissions

7.12 Full Council will appoint the following Scrutiny Commissions:

Commission Scope

Living in Hackney Scrutiny
Commission

Quality of life in local communities
covering neighbourhoods, place,
wellbeing and amenities.

Skills, Economy and Growth Scrutiny
Commission

Prosperity of the borough and
development, in particular economic
development, employment and
large-scale schemes.

Health in Hackney Scrutiny
Commission

Health Services, Adult Social
Services and Older People

Children and Young People’s
Scrutiny Commission

Children’s Social Care Service,
Hackney Education Service and
Young People

7.13 The Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission shall include in its
membership the following voting representatives:

(a) One London Diocesan board for Schools (Church of England)
representative;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

36Page 158



(b) One Roman Catholic Westminster Diocesan Schools Commission
representative;

(c) Two parent governor representatives: and the following non-voting
representatives;

(d) One Orthodox Jewish community representative;

(e) One representative from the North London Muslim Community
Centre;

(f) One representative from the Free Churches Group;

(g) One representative from the Hackney Schools Governors’
Association; and

(h) Up to five representatives from the Hackney Youth Parliament or
Children in Care Council.

7.14 Within their terms of reference, the Scrutiny Commissions may:

(a) Develop a rolling programme of scrutiny and review which shall be
reviewed on a quarterly basis;

(b) Have oversight of the Community Strategy for the purpose of
contributing to policy development;

(c) Review and/or scrutinise decisions or actions relating to the discharge
of the Council’s functions within its terms of reference, which may
include reviewing decisions before they have been taken (policy
development) or after they have been implemented (post-hoc review);

(d) Consider a request made by any 5 non-executive Members for the
call-in of a Cabinet decision where the request is referred to the
Commission;

(e) Make reports and or recommendations to the Cabinet for possible
forwarding to Full Council and/or the Cabinet, and/or Corporate
Committee and/or any Ward Forum with the discharge of any Council
functions; and

(f) Exercise responsibility for any resources made available to them.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

37Page 159



Specific functions of Scrutiny Commissions

7.15 The specific functions are: -

Policy Development and Review

(a) To assist Full Council and the Cabinet in the development of the
budget and policy framework by in-depth analysis of policy issues;

(b) To conduct research and consult with the community on policy issues
and options available to the Council;

(c) To liaise with other external organisations operating in the area,
whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the interests of local
people are enhanced by collaborative working; and

(d) To consult or question Councillors of the Cabinet and Chief Officers
about their views on issues and proposals affecting the area.

Scrutiny

(e) To review and scrutinise executive decisions made by the Elected
Mayor, the Cabinet, by an individual Councillor of the Cabinet, by a
Committee of the Cabinet, or by an Officer of the Council;

(f) To review and scrutinise the work of the Council in relation to its policy
objectives, performance targets and or particular service areas;

(g) To question Councillors of the Cabinet and Chief Officers about their
decisions and the performance of the services for which they are
responsible, whether generally in comparison with service plans and
targets over a period of time or in relation to particular decisions
initiatives or projects;

(h) For the Health in Hackney Scrutiny Commission, to carry out health
scrutiny in accordance with Section 244 Regulations under that
section of the National Health Services Act 2006 (as amended by the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the
Health and Social Care Act 2012 relating to reviewing and scrutinising
local health service matters). Where the proposal relates to more
than one local authority area, it must be considered by a Joint Health
Scrutiny Committee appointed by each of the local authorities in
question;

(i) For the Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission, to discharge the
functions conferred under the Police and Justice Act 2006;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

38Page 160



(j) To make recommendations to Cabinet arising from the outcome of the
scrutiny process for possible forwarding to Full Council;

(k) To review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the
area, invite them to address the Scrutiny Commission, and prepare
reports about their initiatives and performance;

(l) To gather evidence from any person or organisation outside the
Council;

(m) To consider referrals from Ward Forums and Enhanced Tenants
Residents Associations and initiate reviews of issues as deemed
appropriate.

Community Representation

(n) To promote closer links between Overview and Scrutiny Councillors
and Citizens;

(o) To encourage an enhanced community representation role for
Overview and Scrutiny Members including enhanced methods of
consultation with local people;

(p) To receive information from the Council’s consultative Ward Forums
and Enhanced Tenants Residents’ Associations on matters that affect
or are likely to affect the local area;

(q) To keep the Council’s area-based governance arrangements under
review and to make recommendations to the Scrutiny Panel, to the
Cabinet and/or Full Council as to how participation in the democratic
process by local people can be enhanced;

(r) To receive petitions, deputations and representations from local
people and other stakeholders about matters of concern within the
Scrutiny Commission’s remit. Where considered appropriate, to refer
them to the Cabinet, an appropriate Committee or Officer for action,
with a recommendation for a report back if requested.

Developing the Work Programme

7.16 In developing their work programmes, the Scrutiny Commissions shall take
into account the following:

(a) Recommendations received from the Scrutiny Panel;

(b) Cross-cutting items proposed by the Scrutiny Panel;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

39Page 161



(c) Petitions received from the public;

(d) The contents of the Forward Plan;

(e) Issues emerging from the ward/representational role of any
Councillor;

(f) Issues relating to Councillor Call for Action;

(g) Referrals from Healthwatch Hackney relating to health and social care
matters;

(h) Referrals from any elected member on any matter within the remit of
the Scrutiny Commission;

(i) Referrals from any Councillor on a local crime and disorder matter;

(j) Referrals from Full Council, the Cabinet or another Committee;

(k) Issues which, whilst not the direct responsibility of the Council, have a
direct bearing on the economic, social or environmental well-being of
the borough’s Citizens;

(l) Issues relating to any Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Proceedings of Overview and Scrutiny

7.17 The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions will conduct their proceedings in
accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4,
Section D of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 7 - Overview and Scrutiny

40Page 162

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1jc8Lc4hgA2wiK8Y-suridm79UcbPiebj/edit#bookmark=id.49x2ik5
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1jc8Lc4hgA2wiK8Y-suridm79UcbPiebj/edit#bookmark=id.49x2ik5


Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 8 - The Standards Committee and Independent Person

Role of the Standards Committee

8.1 Full Council has established a Standards Committee which works to promote
high standards of conduct of the elected and co-opted members within the
Council. The proceedings of the Standards Committee are governed by the
Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section A of this Constitution.

8.2 The Committee shall comprise:

(a) The Councillor(s) of the Cabinet who holds the ethical governance
portfolio;

(b) Eight non-executive Members; and

(c) Up to six non-voting co-opted Members.

8.3 Full Council may not appoint a person as a non-voting co-opted member of
the Standards Committee unless the appointment has been advertised in the
local area and the appointee:

(a) Has submitted an application to the Council;

(b) Has been interviewed by the Monitoring Officer, or an Officer
appointed by them;

(c) Has not been a Councillor or Officer of the Council in the five years
immediately preceding the appointment;

(d) Is not a close relative or close friend of a Councillor or Officer of the
Council;

(e) Has the ability to consider and evaluate information and arguments
and reach sound, justifiable and fair conclusions based on that
information;

(f) Is independent of party politics; and

(g) Is not currently a Councillor or Officer of another local authority.

8.4 Co-opted members are not entitled to vote at meetings of the Committee or
its Sub-Committees.

8.5 The Standards Committee will operate within the terms of reference, as
detailed in Appendix 3 of the Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 8 - The Standards Committee and Independent Person

41Page 163



Proceedings of the Standards Committee

8.6 Proceedings of the Standards Committee relating to complaints against
Councillors shall take place in accordance with the requirements of the law.

Sub-Committees

8.7 The Committee may appoint Sub-Committees to determine complaints
against the Elected Mayor and Councillors and/or to discharge any of its
other functions.

Independent Person

8.8 Full Council will appoint an Independent Person in accordance with section
28 of the Localism Act 2011.

Role of the Independent Person

8.9 The Council’s Monitoring Officer must seek and take into account the views
of the Independent Person before making a decision whether to investigate a
complaint about the conduct of an elected member or co-opted member.

8.10 The Monitoring Officer may consult the Independent Person on other matters
not referred to in paragraph 8.9.

8.11 An elected member or co-opted member who is the subject of a complaint
may consult the Independent Person.

8.12 The Independent Person, as part of an Independent Panel, has a role in
providing Full Council with advice, views and recommendations on the
proposed disciplinary action or dismissal of specified statutory senior officers
in accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2015.

Appointment of the Independent Person

8.13 Full Council may not appoint an Independent Person unless the appointment
has been advertised in the local area and the appointee:

(a) Has submitted an application to the Council;

(b) Has been interviewed by the Monitoring Officer, or an Officer
appointed by them;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 8 - The Standards Committee and Independent Person

42Page 164



(c) Has not been a Councillor or Officer of the Council in the five years
immediately preceding the appointment;

(d) Is not a close relative or close friend of a Councillor or Officer of the
Council;

(e) Has the ability to consider and evaluate information and arguments
and reach sound, justifiable and fair conclusions based on that
information;

(f) Is independent of party politics; and

(g) Is not currently a Councillor or Officer of another local authority.

8.14 The appointment of the Independent Person must be approved by a majority
of Councillors at Full Council.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 8 - The Standards Committee and Independent Person

43Page 165



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 9 - Council Committees and Other Bodies

The following Committees / Boards help Full Council perform its functions.

Appointments Committee

9.1 The Appointments Committee discharges, on behalf of the Council, the
functions of the employer in relation to the appointment, discipline, pay, and
terms and conditions of service, and dismissal for all Chief Officers (as defined
by section 43 of the Localism Act 2011), subject to the Officer Appointment
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution, and the approval of the
Full Council where required.

9.2 The Appointments Committee also approves any discretionary payments
made to a Chief Officer either by way of honorarium or severance payment in
accordance with the Pay Policy Statement.

Audit Committee

9.3 The Audit Committee’s responsibilities relate to the Council’s risk
management framework, internal financial and governance control and the
integrity of financial reporting. The Audit Committee oversees internal and
external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance
arrangements are in place.

Constitution Committee

9.4 The Constitution Committee is responsible for oversight of the Council’s
Constitution and may review and recommend amendments to the Constitution
to ensure that it remains fit for purpose.

Corporate Committee

9.5 The Corporate Committee oversees the Council’s regulatory functions,
planning, elections and human resources. The Committee is also responsible
for any other Council function that has not been specifically allocated to Full
Council or any other committee.

9.6 The Corporate Committee establishes a Planning Sub-Committee for the
purposes of determining planning applications in accordance with that
Sub-Committee’s terms of reference.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 9 - Council Committees and Other Bodies

44Page 166



Health and Wellbeing Board

9.7 The Health and Wellbeing Board is a multi-agency partnership board under
which the local authority, the Integrated Commissioning Board and other
partners improve the commissioning of health and social care services and
work towards improving the health of the local population. It has responsibility
for the duties set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Licensing Committee

9.8 The Licensing Committee is responsible for licensing functions under the
Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 and other statutory licensing
functions. The Committee is responsible for developing and monitoring the
Council’s licensing function, which includes making recommendations on the
Council’s licensing and gambling policies.

9.9 The Licensing Committee establishes Licensing Sub-Committees which are
responsible for considering and deciding some individual licensing
applications.

Pensions Committee

9.10 The Pensions Committee acts as trustee of the Council’s pension fund, in line
with legislation. The Committee is responsible for monitoring performance of
the fund, setting and reviewing strategic objectives and appointing
administrators, advisers, investment managers and custodians.

Scrutiny Panel and Scrutiny Commissions

9.11 The Scrutiny Panel and Scrutiny Commissions help hold the Cabinet to
account, assist with developing Council policies and scrutinise budgetary
proposals.

Standards Committee

9.12 The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting and maintaining high
ethical standards at the Council.

9.13 The Standards Committee has established two Sub-Committees: the
Standards Assessment Sub-Committee and the Standards Hearing
Sub-Committee. These may be called upon to consider allegations of a
breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 9 - Council Committees and Other Bodies

45Page 167



Pensions Board

9.14 The local Pensions Board is an advisory Board of the Council. It is responsible
for ensuring compliance with local government pension scheme regulations
and ensuring the effective and efficient governance and administration of the
London Borough of Hackney Pension Fund.

Terms of reference

9.15 All Council Committees and Sub-Committees must operate in line with their
terms of reference. The terms of reference are set out in Appendix 3 of this
Constitution.

Proceedings

9.16 Proceedings of the Committees and Sub-Committees must comply with the
Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section A of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 9 - Council Committees and Other Bodies

46Page 168



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 10 - Ward Forums

Role and Function

10.1 The Council has 21 Wards. The Councillors in these Wards form bodies
known as Ward Forums.

10.2 Ward Forums represent and promote the needs of the ward within the
Council.

10.3 Ward Forums meet up to three times a year at venues within the ward and
will look at issues which concern Citizens.

10.4 Ward Councillors lead Ward Forum meetings and they are supported by
officers. Ward Councillors determine whether there will be specific roles for
Citizens in managing the business of the Ward Forum.

10.5 Councillors can opt to hold joint Ward Forum meetings with Councillors from
another Ward on a regular or case-by-case basis.

Delegation to Forums

10.6 Ward Forums have no delegated authority from the Cabinet or Full Council.
They are not decision-making bodies.

Chair

10.7 Each Ward Forum is chaired by a Councillor, who is elected by the
Councillors present.

Meetings

10.8 Each Ward Forum meets in public and each meeting is advertised in
advance. Ward Forums usually meet up to three times a year. The principal
objectives of the meetings are to hear the views of Citizens to help improve
the local area, and to agree actions that can be taken to address issues that
arise. Councillors set the agenda of the Ward Forum in advance of the
meeting.

Access to information

10.9 Ward Forums are not subject to the Access to Information Rules as set out in
Part 6, Section C of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 10 - Ward Forums

47Page 169



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 11 - Joint Arrangements

Arrangements to promote well-being

11.1 The Council or the Cabinet may, in order to promote the economic, social or
environmental well-being of its area:

(a) Make arrangements or agreements with any person or body;

(b) Co-operate with, facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of any person or
body; and

(c) Exercise on behalf of that person or body any of its functions.

Joint arrangements

11.2 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities and may authorise them to undertake Council functions or advise
the Council in line with these arrangements. The arrangements may involve
the appointing a Joint committee with these other local authorities.

11.3 The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local
authorities to exercise functions which are executive functions. These
arrangements may involve the appointing a joint committee with these other
authorities. Cabinet may only appoint Councillors of the Cabinet to the joint
committee and appointments do not need to reflect the political composition
of the Council as a whole.

11.4 When the Council is planning changes to the way they deliver health
services which could be substantial and/or which extend beyond the
borough, the Council may need to form a Joint Health Scrutiny Committee
with other boroughs. It will then be able to consult with local providers and
commissioners of health and social care services. This Committee would
review and scrutinise issues relating to the health service and make reports
and recommendations about them. The process by which this is established
shall be agreed by the Health in Hackney Scrutiny Commission.

11.5 If there is an urgent need to establish a Joint Health Scrutiny Committee with
other local authorities, the Monitoring Officer can make arrangements for
establishing Joint Health Scrutiny Committee after consulting with the Chair
and Vice-Chair of the Health in Hackney Scrutiny Commission.

11.6 Authorities responsible for crime and disorder strategies may require Full
Council to appoint a Joint Crime and Disorder Committee and to arrange for

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 11 - Joint Arrangements

48Page 170



crime and disorder scrutiny functions in relation to any (or all) of those
Councils to be excisable by that Committee.

Delegation to and from other local authorities

11.7 Full Council may delegate non-executive functions to another local authority
or, in cases where that function is carried out by the executive of another
local authority, to the executive of that authority.

11.8 Cabinet may delegate executive functions to another local authority or, in
cases where that function is carried out by the executive of another local
authority, to the executive of that authority.

11.9 The decision whether or not to accept a delegation from another local
authority is reserved to Full Council.

Delegation to and from other organisations

11.10 Full Council may delegate non-executive functions to other organisations or
boards where legislation allows.

11.11 Cabinet may delegate executive functions to other organisations or boards
where legislation allows.

11.12 The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another
organisation or board is reserved to Full Council.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 11 - Joint Arrangements

49Page 171



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

Management structure

12.1 The Council can employ the staff it considers necessary to carry out its
functions. Council staff are called “Officers”.

12.2 Chief Officers – The Council must by law employ a person to fill each of the
following posts. These officers are called Chief Officers.

(a) Head of Paid Service;
(b) Monitoring Officer;
(c) Chief Finance Officer (also known as the s151 Officer);
(d) Director of Children’s Services;
(e) Director of Adult Social Services; and
(f) Director of Public Health.

12.3 The Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive may decide to appoint other Chief
Officers. The Chief Executive has authority to vary the portfolios, functions
and areas of responsibility of all Chief Officers other than any statutory
duties associated with that role.

12.4 Structure – The Chief Executive determines and publicises a description of
the overall structure of the Council by department that shows the
management structure and deployment of officers.

Responsibilities of the Head of Paid Service

12.5 The Chief Executive is the Head of Paid Service.

12.6 The Head of Paid Service reports to Full Council, the Elected Mayor and
Cabinet and other Committees on how the Council should be staffed,
managed and organised so that it operates efficiently and effectively.

12.7 Corporate management responsibility – The Head of Paid Service is
responsible for the overall corporate management and operations of the
Council and its staff. They are responsible for the recruitment of all staff
below Group Director level, except the Council’s Monitoring Officer and
Director of Public Health.

12.8 Providing advice – The Head of Paid Service provides advice to all elected
members involved in the decision-making process.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

50Page 172



12.9 Service strategies – The Head of Paid Service advises and assists in
planning and delivering effective policies and programmes that make best
use of available resources to achieve the Council’s priorities.

12.10 Representing and Negotiating on behalf of the Council - The Head of Paid
Service is responsible for representing the Council and negotiating with
external bodies and networks.

12.11 Emergency Powers – The Head of Paid Service has the power to discharge
the responsibilities of other Chief Officers when there is an emergency or
action is needed urgently. They do this in consultation with the Elected
Mayor.

12.12 Restrictions on who may be the Head of Paid Service – The Head of Paid
Service cannot be the Monitoring Officer, but they can be Chief Finance
Officer if they are a qualified accountant as described in section 5(1A) Local
Government and Housing Act 1989.

Responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer

12.13 The Monitoring Officer is the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services. The role of the Monitoring Officer is to ensure that the Council
operates within the law and its Constitution. Further information can be found
in the Monitoring Officer Protocol set out in Part 8, Section C of this
Constitution. The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or
the Head of the Paid Service.

Unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice by the Council

12.14 If the Monitoring Officer considers that any proposal, decision or omission by
the Council or by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet would be unlawful or has
given rise to maladministration, they must make a report to Full Council.
Before making a report they must consult with the Head of Paid Service and
Chief Finance Officer. When the Monitoring Officer makes such a report, no
further action can be taken and the proposal or decision cannot be
implemented until the report has been considered. The report must be
considered by Full Council within 21 days.

12.15 The Monitoring Officer shall not have a duty to prepare a report with regard
to maladministration and injustice unless a Local Commissioner has
conducted an investigation (as provided for in Part III of the Local
Government Act 1974) in relation to that proposal, decision or omission.
When such a report is completed, the Monitoring Officer will ensure that a
copy is sent to each member of the Council.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

51Page 173



Unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet

12.16 Where the proposal, decision or omission that has led to or would lead to
unlawfulness or maladministration is that of the Elected Mayor or Cabinet,
the Monitoring Officer must make a report to Cabinet, which must be
considered within 21 days.

12.17 As soon as practicable after Cabinet has considered the Monitoring Officer’s
report, it must prepare a report that will include:

(a) What action Cabinet has taken in response to the report; or

(b) What action Cabinet proposes to take in response to the report and
when it proposes to take that action; and

(c) The reasons for taking that action, or the reasons for not taking any
action.

As soon as practicable after Cabinet has prepared this report, it must
circulate a copy of the report to all Councillors and the Monitoring Officer.

Supporting the Standards Committee

12.18 The Monitoring Officer, together with the Independent Person, will contribute
to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct through
provision of support to the Standards Committee.

Maintaining the Constitution

12.19 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date hard copy version of the
Constitution and will ensure that it is made widely available to the Elected
Mayor, Councillors, Officers and the public.

Conducting investigations regarding the conduct of the Elected Mayor and
Councillors

12.20 The Monitoring Officer will consider complaints about the conduct of Elected
Mayor and Councillors and will, where necessary, arrange the conduct of
investigations, and make reports or recommendations about them to the
Standards Committee.

Register of Interests

12.21 The Monitoring Officer will establish and maintain a register of interests of
the Elected Mayor, Councillors and voting co-opted members.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

52Page 174



Proper Officer for access to information

12.22 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that all non-exempt or confidential Cabinet
and Committee decisions, together with the reasons for those decisions and
relevant Officer reports and background papers, are publicly available as
soon as possible.

Advising whether Cabinet decisions are within the policy framework

12.23 The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in
line with the policy framework.

Providing advice

12.24 The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and budget and policy framework issues to Councillors and Officers.

Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer

12.25 The Chief Finance Officer is appointed under Section 151 of the Local
Government Act 1972. The Council has designated the Group Director of
Finance and Corporate Resources as its Chief Finance Officer.

12.26 The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the administration of the
financial affairs of the Council.

12.27 The Chief Finance Officer provides advice on the scope of powers and
authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity
and budget and policy framework issues to all Councillors and supports and
advises Councillors and Officers.

Ensuring lawfulness of expenditure

12.28 After consulting the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the
Chief Finance Officer will report to Full Council, or to Cabinet in relation to a
Cabinet function, and to the Council’s external auditor if they consider that
any proposal, decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful
expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or if the
Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. Where the Chief
Finance Officer makes such a report, no further action can be taken and the
proposal or decision cannot be implemented until the report has been
considered.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

53Page 175



12.29 When the report is completed, the Chief Finance Officer must send a copy of
the current audit of the Council’s accounts to each Elected Mayor and
members of the Council. The Chief Finance Officer will as soon as is
reasonably practicable notify the Council’s auditors of the date, time and
place of the proposed meeting. As soon as is reasonably practicable after
the meeting, the Chief Finance Officer will notify its auditor of any decision
made at the meeting.

Ensuring lawfulness of expenditure by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet

12.30 Where the Chief Finance Officer considers that any proposal, decision or
course of action on the part of the Elected Mayor and Cabinet will involve
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or
deficiency, or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully,
Cabinet must consider the report referred to above at a meeting and decide
whether it agrees or disagrees with the report. The Cabinet must also decide
what action to take when it meets. The meeting must be held on, or within,
21 days from the day that the copies of the report are sent.

12.31 As soon as practicable after the Cabinet has considered the Chief Finance
Officer’s report it must prepare a report that will include:

(a) What action the Cabinet has taken in response to the report;
(b) What action the Cabinet proposes to take in response to the report

and when it proposes to take that action;
(c) The reasons for taking that action, or the reasons for not taking any

action.

As soon as practicable after Cabinet has prepared this report, it shall
arrange for a copy of the report to be circulated to the person who has the
duty to audit the Council’s accounts, all Councillors and the Chief Finance
Officer.

Providing financial information

12.32 The Chief Finance Officer will provide financial information to the media,
members of the public and the community.

Advising whether Cabinet decisions are within the budget framework

12.33 The Chief Finance Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in
line with the budget framework.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

54Page 176



Responsibilities of the Director of Children’s Services

12.34 Every top-tier or unitary local authority in England is required by the Children
Act 2004 to appoint a Director of Children’s Services and to designate a lead
Councillor for children’s services in accordance with section 18 Children’s
Act 2004.

12.35 At the London Borough of Hackney, the Group Director of Children and
Education is the designated Director of Children’s Services. As such, they
are accountable for the delivery of education and social services functions
for children, and any health functions for children delegated to the authority
by an NHS body.

Responsibilities of the Director of Adult Social Services

12.36 Section 6 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 requires the
appointment of an Officer, to be known as the Director of Adult Social
Services. The Authority shall also secure the provision of adequate staff to
assist the Director of Adult Social Services in the discharge of their functions.

12.37 At the London Borough of Hackney, the Group Director of Adults, Health and
Integration is the designated Director of Adult Social Services and
responsible for all of the authority’s social services functions, other than
those for which the authority’s Director of Children’s Services is responsible
under Section 18 of the Children Act 2004.

Responsibilities of the Director of Public Health

12.38 Full Council must act jointly with the Secretary of State to appoint an Officer
known as the Director of Public Health in accordance with Part 3 of the
National Health Service Act 2006. The Council’s Director of Public Health is
jointly appointed with the City of London Corporation and provides
leadership to secure better health for the citizens of both Hackney and the
City.

12.39 The responsibilities of the Director of Public Health are broadly to implement
all the health improvement and public health duties of local authorities. The
responsibilities of the Director of Public Health include:

(a) The health improvement duties that the National Health Service Act
2006 places on local authorities;

(b) The exercise of any public health functions which the Secretary of
State requires the local authority to exercise by regulations made
under section 6C National Health Service Act 2006;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

55Page 177



(c) Any public health activity undertaken by the local authority under
arrangements with the Secretary of State;

(d) Local authority functions in relation to planning for, and responding to,
emergencies that present a risk to public health;

(e) The local authority role co-operating with police, probation and prison
services in relation to assessing risks of violent or sexual offenders;
and

(f) Other public health functions that the Secretary of State may specify
in regulations.

The Council’s duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer
and Chief Finance Officer

12.40 The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with
such officers, accommodation and other resources it considers to be
sufficient to perform their duties.

Conduct of Officers

12.41 All officers must comply with the Council’s Employee Code of Conduct and
the Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor / Officer Relations. The Protocol
is set out in Part 9, Section C of this Constitution.

Employment

12.42 The recruitment, selection, disciplining and dismissal of Officers must comply
with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the
Constitution.

Proper Officers

12.43 The Monitoring Officer must maintain a list of Proper Officers. This list can be
found in Part 8, Section A of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 12 - Officers

56Page 178



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 13 - Decision Making

Responsibility for decision-making

13.1 The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the
Council or which individual has responsibility for particular types of
decisions, or for decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This
record is set out in Part 3 of the Constitution.

13.2 Notice of decisions to be taken and publication of decisions made will be in
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in Part
6, Section C of the Constitution.

Principles of decision-making

13.3 All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the principles
set out in Part 1, Section B of the Constitution.

Decisions reserved to Full Council

13.4 Full Council will make decisions relating to those functions listed in Article
4.6.

Key Decisions

13.5 A key decision is an executive decision which is likely to

(a) Result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of
savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget
for the service or function to which the decisions relates, or

(b) Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working
in an area comprising two or more wards in the area of the Council.

13.6 Key decisions can be made by the Elected Mayor alone, by Cabinet
collectively, by any executive committees, by individual Cabinet Councillors
and by Officers. The decision maker must comply with the requirements of
the Access to Information Procedure Rules as set out in Part 6, Section C of
this Constitution.

Decision-making by the Full Council

13.7 Subject to Article 16, Full Council meetings will comply with Council
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section A of this Constitution.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 13 - Decision Making

57Page 179



Decision-making by the Cabinet

13.8 Subject to Article 16, the Cabinet will comply with the Cabinet Procedure
Rules set out in Part 4, Section B of this Constitution.

Decision-making by the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions

13.9 The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions will follow the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section D of this Constitution when
considering any matter.

Decision-making by Council Committees and Sub-Committees etc

13.11 Subject to Article 16, other Council Committees and Sub-Committees etc will
comply with the Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 4, Section A of this
Constitution.

Decision-making by Council bodies acting as tribunals

13.12 Council bodies or persons acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner
will follow a procedure which accords with the requirements of natural
justice.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 13 - Decision Making

58Page 180



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

Financial management

14.1 The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in
accordance with the financial standing orders set out in Part 5, Section A of
the Constitution.

Contracts

14.2 Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract Standing
Orders set out in Part 5, Section B of this Constitution.

Legal Procedures

14.3 The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services is authorised to:

(a) Issue, defend, settle or participate in any legal proceedings or
mediation (including preparatory steps) where this is necessary to
give effect to the decisions of the Council or where the Director
considers that such action is necessary to protect the Council’s
interests;

(b) Prepare any legal document or agreement;

(c) Sign any legal document on behalf of the Council;

(d) Witness the affixing of the Council’s seal;

(e) Register, enforce and remove any charge on the title of any property,
in conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Councillor;

(f) Consent to the registration of other charges on the title of any property
where the Council already holds a charge;

(g) Take out letters of administration or grant of probate on behalf of the
Council;

(h) Instruct Counsel and external solicitors;

(i) Engage professional experts and witnesses;

(j) Waive, alter or modify the rules relating to the hearing of applications
for licences, registrations and consents by the Council;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

59Page 181



(k) Delegate authority to carry out any of the responsibilities listed above
to such other Officers within the Legal Service as they consider
appropriate.

Authentication of documents

14.4 Where the production of any document is required in connection with any
legal proceedings, including mediation, the Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services, or any other person(s) authorised by them, is
authorised to produce the document and certify that it is a true copy of the
original.

Entering into a contract or agreement

14.5 Any contract entered into by the Council will be made in writing.

14.6 The following contracts or agreements must be made under the Common
Seal of the Council, which is attested by either the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services or some other person authorised by
them:

(a) Any contract entered into by the Council which is valued at £500,000
or more;

(b) All high risk contracts;

(c) Any civic agreements;

(d) Any agreement where no price or other tangible consideration is
mentioned;

(e) Any agreement which is required by law to be made under seal;

(f) Any document which in the opinion of the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services should be made under seal.

14.7 A decision made by the Council will be sufficient authority for signing or
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the decision.

Common Seal of the Council

14.8 The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody
of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services. The Common
Seal may be applied to documents physically or electronically.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 14 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters

60Page 182



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution

Duty to monitor and review the Constitution

15.1 Full Council and the Monitoring Officer are responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and
principles of the Constitution are given full effect.

15.2 To ensure that the Monitoring Officer is aware of the strengths and
weaknesses of the Constitution, and to enable them to make
recommendations for ways in which it could be amended, the Monitoring
Officer may:

(a) Observe any meetings of the Council, whether conducted by elected
members or Officers;

(b) Undertake an audit of decisions made;

(c) Record and analyse issues raised with them by elected members,
co-optees, Officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and

(d) Compare practices in this authority with those in other comparable
authorities, or national examples of best practice.

Changes to the Constitution

15.3 Full Council must approve changes to the Constitution other than as set out
below. Where amendments concern ethical governance issues, the
Standards Committee must consider them before Full Council.

15.4 Unless the change relates only to the operation of the Council’s scrutiny
functions, any resolution of Full Council to approve any amendment to the
Constitution will not take effect unless the Elected Mayor has first been
notified of the amendment and has either consented in writing to the
amendment or a period of 5 working days has elapsed since being notified of
the amendment.

15.5 The Monitoring Officer may make amendments to the Constitution without
the approval of Full Council which:

(a) Are required as a result of any legislation, including new or amending
legislation;

(b) Correct any typographical, grammatical or formatting errors;

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution

61Page 183



(c) Improve public accessibility of the Constitution;

(d) Arise as a result of any restructure of the Council’s staffing
arrangements agreed by the Head of the Paid Service, including
re-naming of posts and service areas.

15.6 Before any change from an Elected Mayor and Cabinet system to another
form of organisational system, e.g. Leader and Executive system,
Committee system, the Council must take reasonable steps to consult with
local electors and other interested persons in the area and must hold a
binding referendum. If a referendum votes for change, this will not take effect
until the end of an Elected Mayor’s term of office.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 15 - Review and Revision of the Constitution

62Page 184



Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution

Suspension of the Constitution

Limit to suspension

16.1 The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. However, Full
Council may suspend Council Procedure Rules to the extent permitted within
the Rules and the law.

Procedure for suspension

16.2 Unless otherwise stated, a motion to suspend any of the Council Procedure
Rules set out in Part 4, Section A of the Constitution may not be moved
without notice unless at least one third of the whole number of elected
members are present. The extent and duration of suspension must be
proportionate to the reason for that suspension and must take into account
the purposes of the Constitution.

Rules capable of suspension without notice by less than one half of the whole
number of elected members

16.3 The following Council Procedure Rules may be suspended:

(a) Duration of meeting (Rule 7);
(b) Questions by the public (Rule 9);
(c) Questions by Councillors – except there shall be no suspension of the

time limit for Councillors’ questions (Rule 10);
(d) Deputations (Rule 11);
(e) Petitions (Rule 12);
(f) Total time for consideration of motions for discussion (Rule 16.4);
(g) Debating reports (Rule 18);
(h) Previous decisions and motions (Rule 20);
(i) Conduct of the Elected Mayor and Councillors (Rule 25).

Interpretation

16.4 At any meeting of the Council, the Speaker or Chair is responsible for rulings
as to the construction, interpretation or application of the Constitution having
taken advice from the Monitoring Officer or legal adviser. A member may
request an explanation from the Speaker or Chair as to their ruling, but once
an explanation has been provided the ruling will be final.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution

63Page 185



Publication

16.5 The Monitoring Officer will ensure elected members receive an electronic
copy of the Constitution. and is available for inspection on the Council’s
website.

16.6 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a printed copy of the Constitution is
available for inspection at Hackney Town Hall on request. Paper copies of
the Constitution can be purchased by the press and the public on payment of
a reasonable fee.

Part Two - Articles of the Constitution
Article 16 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution

64Page 186



Part Three - Responsibility for Council and Executive
Functions

65
Page 187



Part Three - Responsibility for Functions

Introduction

1.1 Local authority functions are split between “executive functions”, which are the
responsibility of the Mayor and Cabinet and “non-executive functions” which
are the responsibility of Full Council and its committees.

1.2 Whether a function is an executive or non-executive function is specified in
legislation - the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000.

1.3 The Council is required to explain when a function is delegated to
Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels, Board or Officers. The Council does
this through the Terms of Reference of those Committees etc and in Schemes
of Delegation to Officers.

1.4 The tables which appear in Appendix 1 of this Constitution set out how the
Council has decided to allocate responsibility for non-executive functions.
Where a table indicates that the function is exercisable by both a Committee
or Sub-Committee and an Officer, the Officer may only exercise the function to
the extent that is not covered within the terms of reference of the Committee
or Sub-Committee.

1.5 The Elected Mayor is entitled to carry out all of the Council’s executive
functions. The Elected Mayor retains this entitlement whether or not they
choose to delegate any or all of these functions. The Elected Mayor may
choose to delegate functions to be carried out by the Cabinet collectively, by
another Councillor of the Cabinet, by a Committee of the Cabinet, or by an
Officer of the Council. The Elected Mayor will notify Full Council at the Annual
Meeting of their scheme of delegation, which will set out which individual
members of the Cabinet, Committees, officers or joint arrangements are
responsible for the exercise of particular executive functions. The Elected
Mayor will notify the Monitoring Officer of any changes to the scheme within
48 hours of any changes coming into effect.

1.6 In addition to executive and non-executive functions there are also ‘local
choice’ functions and the Council is able to decide whether those functions
should be exercised by the executive or by Council. The tables which appear
in Appendix 2 of this Constitution set out how the Council has decided to
allocate responsibility for these local choice functions.

Part Three - Responsibility for Functions
66Page 188



Terms of reference of Full Council, Council Committees, Executive Committees
etc

1.7 The terms of reference of Full Council and all of the various committees,
sub-committees, commissions, boards etc are set out in alphabetical order in
Appendix 3 of this Constitution.

Delegation to Officers

Delegation of executive functions

1.8 The Chief Executive may exercise any executive function in cases of extreme
urgency.

1.9 In cases where the exercise of an executive function is not specifically
reserved to the Elected Mayor, the wider Cabinet or a Committee of the
Cabinet, then the function is delegated to and exercisable as follows:

(a) Any Group Director may exercise any executive function falling within
their directorate or budget area;

(b) Any Group Director may exercise any executive function falling within
such other corporate areas of responsibility to which a Group Director
may be nominated from time to time;

(c) The Chief Executive may exercise any executive function in the
absence of a relevant Chief Officer or nominate another Group
Director to do so in the Chief Executive’s absence;

(d) The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services shall have
authority to issue, defend, settle or participate in any legal
proceedings where such action is necessary to give effect to the
decisions of the Council, or in any case where the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services considers that such action is
necessary to protect the Council’s interests;

(e) The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services shall have
authority to prepare any legal agreement or document.

Delegation of non-executive functions to Officers

1.10 The Chief Executive may exercise any non-executive function in cases of
extreme urgency.

1.11 In cases where the exercise of a non-executive function is not specifically
reserved to Full Council or delegated to a Council committee by law or by this
Constitution, the function is delegated to and exercisable as follows:

Part Three - Responsibility for Functions
67Page 189



(a) Any Group Director may exercise any non-executive function falling
within their directorate or budget area;

(b) Any Group Director may exercise any non-executive function falling
within such other corporate areas of responsibility to which a Group
Director may be nominated from time to time;

(c) The Chief Executive may exercise any non-executive function in the
absence of a relevant Group Director or nominate another Group
Director to do so in the Chief Executive’s absence.

(d) The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services shall have
authority to issue, defend, settle or participate in any legal
proceedings where such action is necessary to give effect to the
decisions of the Council, or in any case where the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services considers that such action is
necessary to protect the Council’s interests;

(e) The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services shall have
authority to prepare any legal agreement or document.

Schemes of delegations for each directorate

1.12 Each Group Director will establish a scheme of delegation for their directorate
or budget area which specifies the function, names the post which may carry
out that delegated decision and explain any limits on the delegation. The
limits on delegation may include the obligation to consult, record and/or refer
back to the Group Director in certain circumstances.

1.13 The Monitoring Officer will specify the format for the scheme of delegation and
may issue guidance to Group Directors from time to time.

1.14 Each Group Director has a duty to review their directorate scheme of
delegation at least half-yearly and otherwise keep their directorate scheme of
delegation up to date to take account of any legislative changes, changes in
job titles etc.

1.15 It is the responsibility of each Group Director to provide a copy of their
directorate scheme of delegation to the Monitoring Officer within 2 working
days of it being amended or updated.

Proper Officer Functions

1.16 Certain Officers, known as “Proper Officers”, are designated to carry out
certain functions. These functions appear in Part 8, Section A of this
Constitution.

Part Three - Responsibility for Functions
68Page 190



Part Four - Procedure Rules

Section A - Council Procedure Rules

Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules

Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Section E - Call-in Procedure Rules

69
Page 191



Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

The Council Procedure Rules explain:

● How Full Council meetings are conducted and managed; and
● How these Rules apply to meetings of committees and sub-committees.

Index of Council Procedure Rules:

Rule 1 - Annual Meeting

Rule 2 - Ordinary Meetings

Rule 3 - Extraordinary Meetings

Rule 4 - Notice of summons to meetings

Rule 5 - Chair of meeting

Rule 6 - Quorum

Rule 8 - Elected Mayor’s statement

Rule 9 - Questions by the public

Rule 10 - Questions by Councillors

Rule 11 - Deputations

Rule 12 - Petitions

Rule 13 - Opposition Sponsored Business

Rule 14 - Motions

Rule 15 - Motions without notice

Rule 16 - Procedure regarding motions

Rule 17 - Rules of debate for motions

Rule 18 - Debating reports

Rule 19 - State of Hackney debate

Rule 20 - Previous decisions and motions

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

70Page 192



Rule 21 - Voting

Rule 22 - Minutes

Rule 23 - Record of attendance

Rule 24 - Exclusion of public

Rule 25 - Conduct of the Elected Mayor and Councillors

Rule 26 - General disturbance and / or disturbance by the public

Rule 27 - Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules

Rule 28 - Interpretation of Council Procedure Rules

Rule 29 - Mobile phones and other electronic communication devices

Rule 30 - Application to committees and sub-committees

Rule 32 - Convening meetings of committees and sub-committees

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

71Page 193



Rule 1 - Annual Meeting

1.1 Usually, the Annual Meeting will take place on a date to be agreed in May.

1.2 In a year when there is an ordinary election of the Elected Mayor and
Councillors the Annual Meeting will take place either:

● On the eighth (12th) day after the election; or
● On any other day that the Council has agreed, within 25 days after the

election.

What happens at the Annual Meeting

1.3 The Council will:

(a) Elect the Speaker;

(b) Elect the Deputy Speaker;

(c) In an election year, note the results of the elections of the Mayor and
Councillors to the various wards in the borough.

(d) Establish Committees;

(e) Approve membership of these Committees and appointments to
Chairs and Vice-Chairs for them.

(f) Receive nominations of Councillors to serve on outside bodies, where
the appointment is the responsibility of Full Council;

(g) Receive a statement from the Elected Mayor outlining their priorities
for the year ahead and, where appropriate, reflecting on the previous
year. The Leader(s) of the Opposition Group(s) will be invited to
respond;

(h) Note the Elected Mayor’s appointments to Cabinet, Mayoral Advisors
and Mayoral Champions for the coming municipal year.

(i) Note the establishment of any Executive Committees for the coming
year, and appointments to these Committees;

(j) Note the Elected Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation for executive
functions;

(k) Approve a calendar of Ordinary Meetings of Council for the year; and

(l) Consider any additional business set out in the notice convening the
meeting.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

72Page 194



Rule 2 - Ordinary Meetings

2.1 Dates for Ordinary Meetings of the Full Council are agreed at the Council’s
Annual Meeting.

What happens at an Ordinary meeting?

2.2 Full Council will:

(a) Elect a person to act in place of i the Speaker or Deputy Speaker if
neither is present;

(b) Receive apologies for absence;

(c) Receive any announcements from the Speaker;

(d) Approve the minutes of the previous Ordinary Meeting, any
Extraordinary Meeting and, where relevant, the Annual Meeting;

(e) Receive any declarations of interest from the Elected Mayor and
Councillors;

(f) Receive deputations or petitions if these are included on the agenda;

(g) Receive and answer questions from the public and Councillors that
are included on the agenda;

(e) Deal with any business outstanding from the last Full Council meeting;

(f) Receive a statement from the Elected Mayor (or the Statutory Deputy
Mayor in their absence), if they wish to make a statement. The
Leader(s) of the Opposition Group(s) will be invited to respond;

(g) Receive any reports from Cabinet, the Elected Mayor and Cabinet
Councillors and the Council’s Committees;

(h) Receive any reports from Officers;

(i) Receive reports from an Independent Panel on disciplinary action or
dismissal of specified statutory senior officers;

(j) Consider any motions listed on the agenda;

(k) Agree any changes in membership or chairs / vice-chairs of
committees; and

(l) Consider any other business specified in the summons to the
meeting.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

73Page 195



2.3 The Speaker can vary the order of business and may take urgent items (as
specified in the Access to Information Procedure Rules) at their discretion.

Rule 3 - Extraordinary Meetings

Calling Extraordinary Meetings

3.1 The following can request that the Monitoring Officer calls a meeting of Full
Council in addition to the ordinary meetings set out in the Council’s calendar
of meetings:

(a) Full Council by resolution;

(b) The Speaker;

(c) Any five elected members of the Council if;

● they have each signed a written request to call a meeting. This
must provide the specific purpose for the request and must be
sent to the Speaker; and

● the Speaker has either refused to call a meeting or has failed to
call a meeting within seven days of the date the request was sent.

3.2 The Monitoring Officer may call an extraordinary Full Council meeting.

Business

3.3 Only matters raised in the request for an extraordinary meeting may be
discussed at that meeting.

Time and Place of extraordinary meetings

3.4 The Monitoring Officer will decide the time and place of any extraordinary
meeting, after consulting the Speaker.

Rule 4 - Notice of summons to meetings

4.1 The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the time and place of any
meeting, following the Access to Information Rules. At least five clear working
days (which does not include the date of the meeting, the date of publication
or bank holidays) before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons
they have signed to every Councillor, or leave it at their usual place of
residence. A Councillor can agree to the summons being transmitted in
electronic form to a specified email.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

74Page 196



4.2 The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting. It will
specify the business that will be considered and will be accompanied by any
reports as are available.

Rule 5 - Chair of meeting

5.1 The Speaker will preside at all meetings of Full Council if they are present.

5.2 If the Speaker is absent the Deputy Speaker will preside.

5.3 If the Deputy Speaker is unable or unwilling to preside, Full Council must
appoint another Councillor (other than the Elected Mayor, Statutory Deputy
Mayor or any other member of the Cabinet) to do so.

5.4 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the
Speaker.

Rule 6 - Quorum

6.1 The quorum, or number of Members of Full Council needed to be present at a
meeting for it to take place, is one quarter of the total number of the Elected
Mayor and Councillors.

6.2 If there is no quorum when the meeting is due to start, those present will wait
for 20 minutes to see if a quorum can be achieved. If after 20 minutes there is
still no quorum, the meeting will be abandoned.

6.3 If at any time during the meeting there are not enough councillors to maintain
a quorum, the meeting will be adjourned, or held over, immediately for a
maximum of 20 minutes. If a quorum is achieved during that time, the meeting
will resume. If after that 20 minutes a quorum is not possible the meeting will
be abandoned.

6.4 Any business not carried out because of the rules on quorum will be
adjourned to a specified date and time or the next ordinary meeting.

Rule 7 - Duration of Meeting

7.1 Meetings must end by 10pm. When the business of the meeting has not
finished by 10pm, the meeting will be adjourned to another agreed time,
unless there is a motion (or request) for it to continue. The motion can be
made without notice and must be seconded. The motion must be made by
9:50pm. An extended meeting must conclude by 10:30pm.

7.2 Remaining business not dealt with under Rule 7.3 will be considered at a time
and date fixed by the Speaker. If they do not fix a time and date, any

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

75Page 197



remaining business not dealt with under Rule 7.3 will be considered at the
next ordinary meeting.

7.3 At the end of the meeting, the remaining business on the agenda shall be
dealt with as follows:

(a) If a report, a motion (or an amendment to a motion) is still being
discussed, the Councillor speaking at the time can continue speaking
for the rest of the time allowed for speeches under these rules;

(b) The Councillor who moved the report or motion has a right of reply
before the motion or amendment is put to the vote. No other right to
reply is allowed;

(c) All outstanding reports are deemed to have been moved for adoption,
and motions and amendments moved and seconded;

(d) The Speaker must put the remaining matters on the agenda to the
meeting in turn. These items will not be discussed. Full Council will
decide and, if necessary, vote on each item;

(e) The vote will be carried out by a show of hands only. Questions are
not allowed. No other motion will be allowed. If a Councillor wishes to
record that they do not agree, they must immediately tell the Speaker;

(f) Any outstanding individual Councillors’ motions are referred to a
relevant committee or the Cabinet, unless the mover of the motion
has requested that it be voted on at the meeting; and

(g) When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the
Speaker will declare the meeting closed.

Rule 8 - Elected Mayor’s statement

8.1 The Elected Mayor (or the Statutory Deputy Mayor in the Elected Mayor’s
absence) may make a statement at any Ordinary Meeting of Full Council on
any issue.

8.2 Following this statement, the Leader(s) of the Opposition Group(s), or the
Deputy Opposition Group Leader(s) in the Group Leader(s) absence, will be
given the opportunity to respond.

8.3 Following the Opposition’s right to respond, the Elected Mayor will have a right
of reply.

8.4 All such speeches will follow the rules set out in Rule 17.4.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

76Page 198



Rule 9 - Questions by the public

General

9.1 At ordinary meetings of the Full Council, any person who lives, works or
studies in the Borough may ask questions of

(a) the Elected Mayor;

(b) Councillors of the Cabinet;

(c) Deputy Cabinet Members;

(d) The Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee; or

(e) Councillors as representatives on external bodies.

Notice of questions

9.2 A question may only be asked if the Monitoring Officer has received notice in
writing or by email no later than 12 noon, four clear working days in advance
of the Full Council meeting.

9.3 The notice must state to whom the question is to be addressed and the name
and address of the questioner.

Number and length of questions

9.4 No person may submit more than one question to a meeting of Full Council
and the question must be no longer than fifty words.

Scope of questions

9.5 The Monitoring Officer may reject a question if it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility,
or which affects the Borough;

(b) Is potentially defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious;

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put at any meeting of the Council in the past six
months;

(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter;

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application; or
Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

77Page 199



(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any contemplated or
actual legal proceedings in which the Council is involved, either as a
claimant, defendant or interested party. This also includes any
matters which are the subject of mediation.

9.6 The Monitoring Officer will include all valid questions on the Full Council
agenda. If a question is rejected, the questioner will be advised in writing and
given reasons for the rejection.

Order of questions

9.7 Questions will be asked in the order that they were received. If the Speaker
decides that some questions are similar to others, they can group these
together.

Asking the question at the meeting

9.8 The Speaker will invite the questioner to put the question to the person named
in the agenda. If the person who has submitted the question is unable to be
present at the meeting, the Speaker may:

(a) Ask the question on the questioner’s behalf and invite the relevant
person to respond;

(b) Indicate that a written reply will be given; or

(c) Decide that the question will not be dealt with.

Responses

9.9 An answer may take the form of:

(a) A direct verbal answer;

(b) Where the reply cannot be given verbally, a promise that a response
will be sent later to the question; or

(c) Where the information is in a publication of the Council or other
published work, a reference to that publication.

9.10 The Elected Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Councillor of the Cabinet or Mayoral
Advisor may nominate a Councillor of the Cabinet or Mayoral Advisor to
answer the question or any supplemental question and the Chair of a
Committee may likewise nominate another Councillor to reply.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

78Page 200



Supplementary questions

9.11 The person asking a question may ask one supplementary question without
notice to the Councillor to whom the first question was asked. A further
supplementary question may be asked by any other Councillor, if the Speaker
agrees. Each supplementary question must arise directly from the original
question and must not be a speech or statement.

Timing

9.12 At each Full Council meeting a total of 30 minutes will be set aside for public
questions. Any questions not addressed within this time will be dealt with by
way of a written reply within 10 working days of the meeting.

9.13 Timing of questions:

(a) The initial reply will last up to five minutes;

(b) A supplementary question will last up to one minute; and

(c) Any reply to a supplementary question will last up to two minutes.

Reference of question to the Elected Mayor or Cabinet or a Committee

9.14 No discussion will take place on any question, unless the Speaker decides
otherwise. However, the Elected Mayor or any Councillor may ask that a
matter raised by a question is referred to Cabinet, the appropriate Committee
or Sub-Committee. Once seconded, the motion will be voted on without
discussion.

Rule 10 - Questions by Councillors

General

10.1 A member of the Council may ask any question in relation to their role as the
Council's representatives on any outside body. They may also ask a question
on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties, or which
affects Hackney to the following:

(a) The Speaker;

(b) The Elected Mayor;

(c) Councillors of the Cabinet;

(d) Deputy Cabinet Members;

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

79Page 201



(e) The Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee; or

(f) Councillors as representatives on external bodies

Notice of questions

10.2 A question may only be asked if the Monitoring Officer has received notice in
writing or by email no later than 12 noon, eight clear working days in advance
of the Full Council meeting.

10.3 The notice must state to whom the question is to be addressed.

Number and length of questions

10.4 A Councillor may ask a maximum of two questions per meeting and each
question must be no longer than fifty words.

Scope of questions

10.5 The Monitoring Officer may reject a question if it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility,
or which affects the Borough;

(b) Is potentially defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious;

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put at a Council meeting in the past six months;

(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter;

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application; or

(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any contemplated or
actual legal proceedings in which the Council is involved either as a
claimant, defendant or interested party. This also includes any matters
which are the subject of mediation.

10.6 The Monitoring Officer will include all valid questions on the Full Council
agenda. If a question is rejected, the Councillor will be advised in writing and
given reasons for the rejection.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

80Page 202



Order of Questions

10.7 Questions will be placed on the Full Council agenda in the order that they are
received by the Monitoring Officer. Questions from the majority group and
opposition groups will be alternated.

Asking the question at the meeting

10.8 The Speaker will ask the Councillor to put the question to the person named in
the agenda. If the Councillor who submitted a question is not present when
the question is called, the question may, with the consent of the Speaker, be
asked by another Councillor.

Responses

10.9 An answer may take the form of:

(a) A direct verbal answer;

(b) Where the reply cannot be given verbally, a promise that a response
will be sent later to the question; or

(c) Where the information is in a publication of the Council or other
published work, a reference to that publication.

10.10 The Elected Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Councillor of the Cabinet or Mayoral
Advisor may nominate a Councillor of the Cabinet or Mayoral Advisor to
answer the question or any supplemental question. The Chair of a Committee
may nominate another Councillor of the Council to reply.

Supplementary Questions

10.11 A Councillor asking a question may ask one supplementary question without
notice to the Councillor to whom the first question was asked. Any other
Councillor may ask further supplementary question if the Speaker agrees.
Each supplementary question must arise directly from the original question
and must not be a speech or statement.

Timing

10.12 At each Full Council meeting a total of 30 minutes will be set aside for
questions by Councillors. Any questions not addressed within this time will be
dealt with by way of a written reply within 10 working days of the meeting.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

81Page 203



10.13 Timing of questions:

(a) The initial reply will last up to five minutes;

(b) A supplementary question will last up to one minute; and

(c) Any reply to a supplementary question will last up to two minutes.

Rule 11 - Deputations

11.1 A deputation is a presentation from registered electors about a matter for
which the Council has a responsibility or which affects the Borough

11.2 Full Council may only receive a deputation if the Monitoring Officer has
received a Notice of Deputation no later than 12-noon eight clear working
days prior to the Full Council meeting.

11.3 No more than two deputations will be taken at each meeting of Full Council.

Notice of Deputation

11.4 The Notice of Deputation must be signed by no less than ten registered local
government electors of the Borough, state the subject of the deputation and
the name of the Councillor who will introduce it.

11.5 The Councillor who is to introduce the deputation must sign the Notice of
Deputation form to indicate their agreement to do so.

Scope of Deputation

11.6 The Monitoring Officer may reject a deputation if it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility,
or which affects the Borough;

(b) Is potentially defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious;

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put at any meeting of the Council in the past six
months;

(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter;

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application;

(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any contemplated or
actual legal proceedings in which the Council is involved either as a

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

82Page 204



claimant, defendant or interested party. This includes any matters
which are the subject of mediation; or

(g) Is submitted by or on behalf of a political party, or it is submitted on
paper bearing the name, insignia or other identifier of a political party.

11.7 Upon receipt of a Notice of Deputation, the Monitoring Officer will decide
whether it will appear on the agenda papers. In making that decision, the
Monitoring Officer must have regard to:

(a) whether the deputation concerns an executive function, in which case
the deputation should be referred to Cabinet; and

(b) the other business to be considered at the meeting and the efficient
conduct of the meeting.

A deputation will normally be accepted where there is an item on the agenda
which relates to the same subject matter. Where there is no such item, the
Monitoring Officer will consult the relevant lead Cabinet Councillor and / or the
Elected Mayor as to whether it should be heard at Full Council.

11.7 The deputation leader must be notified promptly in writing if the deputation is
not to be taken at the meeting.

Taking the Deputation at the Meeting

11.8 A maximum of 15 minutes will be allocated to each deputation.

11.10 When the item is called by the Speaker, any Councillor can, without notice,
move a motion that the deputation:

(a) Should not be heard at Full Council; and

(b) Should be referred to either:

(i) The Elected Mayor

(ii) Cabinet

(iii) A Councillor of the Cabinet

(iv) A Deputy Cabinet Member

(v) A Committee of the Council

(vi) The Scrutiny Panel

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

83Page 205



This motion must be seconded. Once seconded, the motion must be put to a
vote. There will be no debate.

11.11 The Deputation Leader will be given five minutes to introduce the deputation,
following which the Elected Mayor and Councillors may ask questions for a
period of five minutes.

11.12 The Elected Mayor, relevant Councillor of the Cabinet or Deputy Cabinet
Member must be given the opportunity to respond to Full Council on the
issues raised, and advise Full Council what actions will be taken as a result of
the deputation. This response must last no more than five minutes. If no
response is given at the meeting, a response should be given at the next
ordinary meeting of Full Council.

11.13 A copy of the response will be sent to the Deputation Leader.

Rule 12 - Petitions

12.1 Full Council will consider petitions in accordance with the terms of the adopted
Petitions scheme set out in Part 6, Section D of this Constitution.

Rule 13 - Opposition Sponsored Business

13.1 Opposition sponsored business may take place at any meeting of Full Council
except the budget setting meeting and the Annual Meeting.

13.2 If any Opposition Group wants to have an item of business included in the
agenda for a meeting, they must notify the Monitoring Officer by 12 noon,
eight clear working days in advance of the meeting.

13.3 The Monitoring Officer will include the item on the agenda for the meeting but
may reject an item if it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility,
or which affects the Borough;

(b) Is potentially defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious;

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put at any meeting of Council in the past six months;

(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter;

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application; or

(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any contemplated or
actual legal proceedings in which the Council is involved either as a

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

84Page 206



claimant, defendant or interested party. This includes any matters
which are the subject of mediation.

13.4 An item of opposition sponsored business is not a motion. If the Monitoring
Officer considers that the notification from the Opposition Group should more
appropriately be treated as a motion, they will include it in the agenda as a
motion.

13.5 A representative of the Opposition Group sponsoring the item will open the
debate. No seconder is required.

13.6 The Speaker must then invite Councillors to debate the item for a maximum of
10 minutes. Once the debate has been concluded, or the time period has
expired, the Speaker will move on to the next business.

Rule 14 - Motions

14.1 A Motion can be either:

(a) A procedural matter affecting the course of a meeting.

(b) A request made by a Councillor for a matter for which the Council has
a responsibility, or which affects the Borough, to be discussed at a
meeting of Full Council. A Motion can be to adopt a certain course of
action, to do an act or to declare a particular attitude.

Motions must be proposed and seconded.

Notice of Motions

14.2 Other than those motions listed in Rule 15, written notice of every Motion for
discussion must be signed by at least two Councillors. It must be delivered to
the Monitoring Officer not later than 12 noon, eight clear working days prior to
the Full Council meeting.

Scope of Motions

14.3 The Monitoring Officer may reject a Motion for discussion if it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility, or
which affects the Borough;

(b) Is potentially defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious;

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put at a meeting of Full Council in the past six
months;

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

85Page 207



(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter;

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application.

(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any contemplated or
actual legal proceedings in which the Council is involved either as a
claimant, defendant or interested party. This includes any matters
which are the subject of mediation.

(g) Is not expressed in positive terms requiring the Council to adopt a
certain course of action or to do some act or to declare a particular
attitude.

14.4 The Monitoring Officer will include all valid Motions for discussion on the Full
Council agenda. If a Motion is not valid, the Councillors will be advised in
writing, including the reasons for the rejection.

14.5 The Motion for discussion will be listed on the agenda in the order in which the
notice was received and determined to be compliant with these procedure
rules unless the Councillors giving notice state in writing that they wish the
motion to be considered at a later meeting.

Withdrawal of Motion

14.6 A Councillor proposing a Motion may withdraw it if both the meeting and the
seconder consent. There will be no discussion about the decision of the
meeting to consent or not. No Councillor may speak on the Motion after
permission to withdraw has been requested, unless permission is refused.

Rule 15 - Motions without notice

15.1 The following procedural Motions may be moved and seconded without
written notice:

(a) To appoint a chair of the meeting;

(b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes;

(c) To change the order of business in the agenda;

(d) To refer a matter to an appropriate body or individual;

(e) To appoint a committee or a Councillor to a position arising from an
item on the summons for the meeting;

(f) To receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or
officers and any resolutions following from them;

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

86Page 208



(g) To withdraw or amend a Motion;

(h) To proceed to the next business;

(i) That the question be now put;

(j) To adjourn a debate;

(k) To adjourn a meeting;

(l) To suspend a particular Council procedure rule;

(m) To continue the meeting beyond 10pm;

(n) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules;

(o) To not hear further a Councillor who has been named under Rule 26.3
or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 26.4.

Rule 16 - Procedure regarding motions

16.1 Any Councillor may move that a Motion be referred for consideration to the
Cabinet, the Elected Mayor, another Councillor of the Cabinet, a Deputy
Cabinet Member, a Committee of the Council, the Scrutiny Panel or the
Scrutiny Commissions, as appropriate. The Motion, if seconded, will be put
and determined without discussion.

16.2 A Motion on any matter for which the Cabinet has decision-making powers will
be referred to the Cabinet for consideration only.

16.3 When a Motion is to be debated and the Councillor who gave notice of the
motion is not present at the meeting, the Speaker may exercise discretion and
call upon another Councillor of the Council to move the Motion.

16.4 The total time for consideration of Motions for discussion will not exceed 30
minutes in one meeting. Any Motion for discussion not debated will be
referred, without discussion, to the next ordinary meeting of Full Council for
discussion.

Moving and Seconding a Motion

16.5 A Motion must be moved and seconded by the Councillors who gave notice,
or, with the consent of Full Council, by any other Councillor before it can be
debated.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

87Page 209



Seconder of Motion - Right to speak

16.6 Any Councillor who seconds a Motion or amendment may choose whether
they wish to speak immediately after the proposer or reserve their speech until
a later period in the debate.

Rule 17 - Rules of debate for motions

Right to require Motion in writing

17.1 The Speaker may require a notice of Motion to be written down and handed to
them before it is discussed.

Content, conduct and length of speeches

17.2 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion, or a personal
explanation or point of order;

17.3 Councillors and Officers at any meeting must be addressed or referred to by
their respective titles;

17.4 The Speaker will decide on the length of speeches;

17.5 Unless otherwise stated in these Rules, no speech may exceed 5 minutes or
10 minutes in the case of the Elected Mayor without the consent of Full
Council.

When a Councillor may speak again

17.6 A Councillor who has spoken on a Motion may not speak again whilst it is the
subject of debate, except:

(a) To speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor;

(b) To move a further amendment if the Motion has been amended since
they last spoke;

(c) If their first speech was on an amendment moved by another
Councillor, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment
on which they spoke was carried);

(d) In exercise of a right of reply;

(e) On a point of order, naming the procedure rule on which they rely;

(f) By way of personal explanation.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

88Page 210



Amendments to motions

17.7 An amendment to a Motion moved by a Councillor and seconded by another
Councillor must be in writing and relevant to the Motion and must be either:

(a) To refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for
consideration or reconsideration; or

(b) To leave out, insert or add words as long as the effect is not to negate
the Motion.

17.8 Councillors who wish to propose amendment(s) to a Motion for discussion as
printed on the agenda for full Council must provide a copy of the proposed
amendment(s) to the Monitoring Officer by noon the day before the Council
meeting. This is to ensure that the proposed amendment(s) can be circulated
to all Councillors in readiness for the meeting itself.

17.9 Where proposed amendments are not received by the deadline, the
Monitoring Officer, in consultation with The Speaker, may exercise their
discretion to accept the proposed amendment if there are exceptional
circumstances.

17.10 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has
been disposed of.

17.11 If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original Motion may
be moved.

17.12 If an amendment is carried, the Motion as amended takes the place of the
original motion. This becomes the substantive Motion to which any further
amendments are moved, replacing the original one.

17.13 After an amendment has been carried the Speaker may read out the new
substantive Motion before accepting any further amendments if this would
provide clarity for the meeting. If there are no further amendments, the
substantive Motion shall be put to the vote.

Altering a Motion with notice

17.14 Where a Councillor has given notice, they may alter their Motion with the
consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent or otherwise will be signified
without discussion. If the alteration is simply to accept an amendment
proposed by another Councillor the consent of the meeting is not required.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

89Page 211



Altering a Motion moved without notice

17.15 A Councillor may alter a Motion which they moved without notice, only with
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent or
otherwise will be signified without discussion. Only alterations which could be
made as an amendment may be made.

Right of reply

17.16 The proposer of a Motion has the right to reply at the end of the debate,
before it is put to the vote, where the Elected Mayor or any Councillor has
spoken in opposition to the Motion.

17.17 The proposer shall not introduce new matters when exercising a right of reply.

Motions which may be moved during debate

17.18 When a Motion is under debate, no other Motion may be moved except the
following procedural Motions:

(a) To withdraw or amend a Motion;

(b) To close the Motion (this must be seconded and vote has to take
place);

(c) To proceed to the next business;

(d) That the question be now put;

(e) To adjourn the debate;

(f) To adjourn the meeting;

(g) To extend the time of the meeting;

(h) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to
Information Procedure Rules; or

(i) To not hear further a Councillor who has been named under Rule 26.3
or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 26.4.

Closure Motions

17.19 A Councillor may move, without comment, the following Motions at the end of
a speech of another Councillor:

(a) To proceed to the next business;

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

90Page 212



(b) That the question be now put;

(c) To adjourn the debate;

(d) To adjourn the meeting.

Point of Order

17.20 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor may raise a point of order at any time.
The Speaker will hear it immediately. A point of order may only relate to an
alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or the law. Elected Mayor
or Councillor must indicate the Rule or law and the way in which they consider
it has been broken. The ruling of the Speaker on the matter will be final.

Personal Explanation

17.21 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor may make a personal explanation at any
time. A personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an
earlier speech by the The Elected Mayor or Councillor which may appear to
have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Speaker on
the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

Rule 18 - Debating reports

18.1 When the report is a Cabinet member’s report, the Cabinet member must
introduce the report and propose any recommendations.

18.2 When the report is an Officer’s report, the Officer must introduce the report
and the recommendations will be taken as being proposed to the meeting. In
the case of Annual Reports, these may be introduced by the relevant Lead
Cabinet Member or Committee Chair even if the report is an Officer’s report.

18.3 When the report is from a Council Committee, the Chair of that Committee will
introduce the report and propose any recommendations.

18.4 The recommendations in the report do not have to be seconded.

18.5 The Speaker must invite the Elected Mayor and Councillors to ask questions
of the Cabinet Member, Officer or Committee Chair as appropriate.

18.6 The Speaker must then ask whether those present wish to debate the report.
If the Elected Mayor or any Council indicates that they do, the report must be
debated. The Speaker has the absolute discretion to determine the length of
the debate and speeches.

18.7 Once the debate has concluded, the Speaker will put the recommendation(s)
to the vote.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

91Page 213



Rule 19 - State of Hackney debate

Calling of debate

19.1 The Elected Mayor may call a State of Hackney Debate on a date and in a
form to be agreed with the Speaker.

Form of debate

19.2 The Elected Mayor will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling
the widest possible public involvement and publicity. This may include holding
workshops and other events prior to or during the State of Hackney Debate.
Council Procedure Rules may be suspended by the Speaker on the advice of
the Monitoring Officer to ensure maximum flexibility.

Chairing of debate

19.3 The debate will be chaired by the Speaker.

Results of debate

19.4 The results of the debate will be:

(a) Disseminated as widely as possible within the community and to
agencies and organisations in the area; and

(b) Considered by the Elected Mayor in proposing the budget and policy
framework to Full Council for the coming year.

Rule 20 - Previous decisions and motions

Motion to revoke a previous decision

20.1 A Motion to revoke a decision made at a meeting of Full Council within the
past six months cannot be moved unless notice of motion is signed by at least
one third of the Councillors, which may include the Elected Mayor.

Motion similar to one previously rejected

20.2 A motion which has the same effect as one rejected in the past six months by
Full Council cannot be moved unless a notice of motion or amendment is
signed by at least one third of the Councillors of the Council. Once Full
Council has determined such a motion, no one may propose a similar motion
or amendment within a further period of six months.

20.3 The above Rules do not apply to Motions moved following a recommendation
to Full Council made by Cabinet or a Committee.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

92Page 214



Rule 21 - Voting

Majority

21.1 Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a
simple majority. The vote of the Elected Mayor and any Councillor will not be
counted or recorded unless, when the vote is started, they are in a seat in the
Council Chamber.

Show of hands

21.2 Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 21.3, or the Constitution
provides otherwise, the Speaker will take the vote by a show of hands, and if
there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting.

Recorded vote

21.3 If ten Councillors, which may include the Elected Mayor, present at the
meeting demand it, a recorded vote will be taken where each person will be
asked to confirm whether they vote for or against the motion or amendment or
abstain from voting.

21.4 Where a recorded vote is taken, the names of those persons for or against the
motion and those persons abstaining from voting will be recorded in the
minutes.

Recorded vote on the Council’s budget and council tax

21.5 In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014, a recorded vote will be taken at Full Council
and Cabinet on any vote in respect of the Council’s budget and council tax
(including any amendments).

21.6 The names of persons who voted for or against the motion or any amendment
and those persons abstaining from voting will be recorded in the minutes.

Right to require individual vote to be recorded

21.7 Where the Elected Mayor or any Councillor makes a request to have their
vote recorded immediately after a vote is taken, their vote will be recorded in
the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained
from voting.

Speaker’s casting vote

21.8 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Speaker will have a
second or casting vote providing that they have already voted on the motion.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

93Page 215



There will be no restriction on how the Speaker chooses to exercise a casting
vote.

Voting on appointments or nominations to committees

21.9 Where a vote is required on an election or appointment and two or more
persons are nominated, the Speaker will call for a vote on the nominations in
turn. No-one may vote for more than one person.

21.10 The procedure to be followed is

(a) Members will be invited to vote for one of the nominees

(b) If one nominee secures an absolute majority of those present and
voting, they will be declared elected/appointed

(c) If no nominee secures an absolute majority of those present and
voting, the nominee with the least number of votes shall be eliminated
from the contest;

(d) The above steps will be repeated until one nominee secures an
absolute majority of those present and voting.

Rule 22 - Minutes

Signing the minutes

22.1 The Speaker, or in their absence the Deputy Speaker or other person
presiding over the meeting, will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the
next suitable Council meeting.

22.2 The Speaker will ask whether the minutes of the previous meeting can be
signed as a correct record. Only the accuracy of the minutes can be
discussed.

No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at an Extraordinary meeting

22.3 The agenda for an extraordinary meeting will not include an item for the
approval of minutes of an ordinary Full Council meeting.

Rule 23 - Record of attendance

23.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must sign their names on the attendance
sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to provide a record of their
attendance.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

94Page 216



23.2 The Elected Mayor and Councillors will not be counted as being present if
they attend the meeting for less than 30 minutes. Where a meeting is of less
than 30 minutes’ duration, the period shall be the duration of the meeting.

Rule 24 - Exclusion of public

24.1 The public and press may only be excluded from a meeting either because an
item of exempt or confidential business is to be discussed (see the Access to
Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 5, Section C of this Constitution)
or because of a public disturbance to the meeting (Rule 27).

24.2 A Motion may be moved at any time for the exclusion of the public from the
whole or any part of the proceedings of Full Council to discuss exempt or
confidential business. The Motion shall specify, by reference to Section 100(A)
of the Local Government Act 1972, the reason why the public is to be
excluded.

Rule 25 - Conduct of the Elected Mayor and Councillors

25.1 When the Elected Mayor or a Councillor speaks at Full Council they must
stand and address the meeting through the Speaker. If more than one person
stands, the Speaker will ask one to speak and the others must sit. The
Elected Mayor and Councillors must remain seated whilst someone is
speaking, unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of personal
explanation.

25.2 If the Elected Mayor or any Councillor wishes to make a point of order or point
of personal explanation whilst someone else is speaking they must stand and
wait for the Speaker to address them.

25.3 If the Elected Mayor or a Councillor is unable to stand through illness or
disability, they may remain seated and the Speaker will ensure that they are
given full and equal access to participation and debate.

Speaker standing

25.4 When the Speaker stands during a debate, the Elected Mayor or any
Councillor speaking must stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent.

Elected Mayor or any Councillor not to be heard further

25.5 If the Elected Mayor or any Councillor persistently disregards the ruling of the
Speaker by behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs
business, a motion may be moved that they are not heard further. If seconded,
the motion will be voted on without discussion.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

95Page 217



Elected Mayor or any Councillor asked to leave the meeting

25.6 If the Elected Mayor or any Councillor continues to behave inappropriately
after such a motion is carried, a motion may be moved that either they leave
the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specific period. If seconded,
the motion will be voted on without discussion.

Rule 26 - General disturbance and / or disturbance by the public

Removal of member of the public

26.1 If a member of the public interrupts or otherwise disrupts a meeting, the
Speaker will warn that person that if they continue to interrupt or be disruptive
they will be removed. If, despite the warning, the person continues to interrupt
or disrupt the meeting, the Speaker will order their removal from the meeting.

General disturbance

26.2 If there is a disturbance by the public that makes the conduct of the meeting
impossible, the Speaker may:

(a) Adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary to resolve the
disturbance. The meeting may not resume any later than 9:50pm;

(b) Call for any part of the meeting room to be cleared of those causing
the disturbance;

(c) Decide to move the meeting to another room in the Council's
buildings; or

(d) Adjourn the meeting to another date.

Recording a meeting

26.3 Any photography or recording of sound and/or video made during the meeting
must comply with the provisions in the Protocol for Recording/Livestreaming
of Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of this Constitution.

Rule 27 - Suspension and amendment of Council Procedure Rules

Suspension

27.1 The following Council Procedure Rules may be suspended for the duration of
the meeting either:

(a) By motion on notice in accordance with Rule 14, or

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

96Page 218



(b) By motion without notice provided that at least one half of the whole
number of members of Full Council are present and a majority of
those present support the motion:

(i) Duration of meeting (Rule 7);

(ii) Questions by the public (Rule 9);

(iii) Questions by Councillors – except there shall be no suspension
of the time limit for Councillors’ questions (Rule 10);

(iv) Deputations (Rule 11);

(v) Petitions (Rule 12);

(vi) Total time for consideration of motions (Rule 16.4);

(vii) Debating reports (Rule 18);

(viii)Previous decisions and motions (Rule 20); or

(ix) Conduct of the Elected Mayor and Councillors (Rule 25).

Amendment

27.2 Other than as detailed above, any motion to add to, vary or revoke these
Council Procedure Rules will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned
without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of Full Council where it will be
considered alongside a report from the Monitoring Officer.

Rule 28 - Interpretation of Council Procedure Rules

28.1 At any meeting of the Council, the Speaker will make decisions, or rulings,
about the construction, interpretation or application of the Council Procedure
Rules. They will take advice from the Monitoring Officer or legal adviser before
doing so. A member may ask the Speaker to explain the ruling, but once an
explanation has been provided the ruling will be final.

28.2 Any representations should be made to the Monitoring Officer following the
meeting.

Rule 29 - Mobile phones and other electronic communication devices

29.1 No one is allowed to make or receive telephone calls during a meeting.

29.2 Electronic communication devices, such as mobile phones, laptops, tablets
etc, may be used during a meeting to access agendas, reports, speeches etc

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

97Page 219



or use social networking sites for the purposes of live reporting of the meeting.
Audible notifications must be turned off.

29.3 Photography or recording of sound and/or video made during the meeting
must comply with the Protocol for Recording/Livestreaming of Council
meetings as set out in Part 6, Section F of this Constitution.

Rule 30 - Application to committees and sub-committees

30. The following Council Procedure Rules apply to all non-executive meetings of
Council Committees, and Sub-Committees:

(a) Business (Rule 3);

(b) Time and Place of Meetings (Rule 4);

(c) Notice of meeting (Rule 5);

(d) Chair of meeting (Rule 6);

(e) Quorum - but see different rules for Sub-Committees (Rule 7);

(f) Duration of Meeting - but not to meetings of any quasi-judicial
Committee or Sub-Committee or one at which the appointment of staff
is being considered (Rule 8);

(g) Motions and amendments without notice - but not establishment of
Committee or appointment of Councillors except where the terms of
reference permit (Rule 15);

(h) Speeches (Rule 17.4);

(i) Points of Order (Rule 17.12)

(j) Points of personal explanation (Rule 17.13);

(k) Voting (Rule 21);

(l) Minutes (Rule 22);

(m) Conduct of the Elected Mayor and Councillors (Rule 25);

(n) Disturbance by the Public (Rule 26);

(o) Mobile phones and other electronic communication devices (Rule 29).

30.1 References to the Speaker have the same meaning as references to the Chair
of Committee or Sub-Committee as appropriate.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

98Page 220



31.2 References to motion have the same meaning as references to the matter
under consideration.

31.3 References to Full Council shall be construed as references to the Committee
or Sub-Committee as appropriate.

Order of Business

31.4 The Committee / Sub-Committee will:

(a) Appoint a person to preside as chair if the Chair and Vice-Chair are
not present;

(b) Approve the minutes of the last meeting;

(c) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(d) Receive deputations and questions from the public referred by the
Monitoring Officer, as long as these are in line with any particular rules
or procedures that apply to the Committee/Sub-Committee;

(e) Carry out the business on the agenda. This is determined by the
terms of reference for each Committee or Sub-Committee.

Attendance

31.5 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor can attend meetings of Committees and
Sub-Committees as an observer. If they do they:

(a) Cannot vote; and

(b) Can speak with the permission of the Chair

31.6 Where a motion has been referred to a Committee or Sub-Committee by Full
Council, the Councillor who proposed the motion must be given notice of the
meeting and can attend the meeting and explain the motion.

Sub-Committees

31.7 Committees can establish Sub-Committees to carry out any of the functions
within the Committee’s terms of reference. These functions will still remain the
responsibility of the parent Committee overall.

31.8 The quorum of a Sub-Committee will be one-quarter of the whole number of
members of that Sub-Committee, subject to a minimum quorum of two
Councillors per meeting. Any Councillor who is attending in a substitute
capacity will count for the purposes of the quorum.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

99Page 221



Working Parties

31.9 Committees and Sub-Committees can from time to time set up working
parties. Working parties are not decision-making bodies and may comprise a
combination of Members, Officers, external advisers etc. Meetings of working
parties are not governed by these rules of procedure. The appointing body will
decide the business and conduct of the meetings. These will form part of the
terms of reference for the working party.

31.10 Rights of access to working party meetings and to information relating to
these meetings are the same as general rights of access to information under
legislation or the common law.

Rule 32 - Convening meetings of committees and sub-committees

32.1 The Monitoring Officer will call all meetings of Committees and
Sub-Committees and will decide the venue and time of the meeting.

32.2 The Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee may ask the Monitoring
Officer to call a special meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee at any
time.

32.3 If at least one-quarter of the members of a Committee or Sub-Committee
inform the Monitoring Officer in writing that they wish to call a special meeting,
the Monitoring Officer must call such a meeting at the earliest opportunity
consistent with the requirements of the Access to Information Procedure
Rules, set out in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section A - Council Procedure Rules

100Page 222



Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

The Cabinet Procedure Rules explain:

● How Cabinet meetings are conducted and managed; and
● How these Rules apply to meetings of any Cabinet committees and

sub-committees.

Index of Cabinet Procedure Rules:

Rule 1 - Power to make executive decisions

Rule 2 - Delegation

Rule 3 - Conflicts of Interest

Rule 4 - How decisions are made by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet

Rule 5 - Cabinet Meetings

Rule 6 - Deputations

Rule 7 - Questions to Cabinet

Rule 8 - Petitions

Rule 9 - Agenda for meetings of the Cabinet and Notice and Summons to
meeting

Rule 10 - Extraordinary meetings

Rule 11 - Motions without notice

Rule 12 - Voting

Rule 13 - General rules about the conduct of the meeting

Rule 14 - Application to executive committees and sub-committees

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

101Page 223



Rule 1 - Power to make executive decisions

1.1 By law, some areas of responsibility, or functions, are the responsibility of a
Council’s Executive. These are called executive functions, and decisions
relating to them are executive decisions. The Elected Mayor can make
executive decisions. The Elected Mayor can also delegate authority to
exercise these functions to any extent:

(a) To Cabinet as a whole;

(b) To a committee of Cabinet;

(c) To an individual Councillor of Cabinet;

(d) To an Officer;

(e) To an area committee;

(f) Under joint arrangements; or

(g) To another local authority.

Rule 2 - Delegation

2.1 At the Annual Meeting, the Elected Mayor will present a report that gives details
of delegations they wish to make for the municipal year. The report will contain
the following information:

(a) The names of the Councillors appointed to Cabinet by the Elected
Mayor;

(b) Details of any authority delegated to an individual Councillor of the
Cabinet. This will include details of the nature, extent and any
limitation of their authority.

(c) Details of any Cabinet committees to be appointed and the names of
Councillors appointed to them;

(d) Details of the appointment of any Deputy Cabinet Members;

(e) The nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to any
area committee, another authority or any joint arrangements;

(f) The names of members of the Cabinet appointed to any joint
committee for the coming year; and

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

102Page 224



(g) The nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to
officers.

Sub-delegation of Cabinet functions

2.2 Cabinet functions can be sub-delegated, or delegated further, except where
the Elected Mayor says that this can not happen.

2.3 If the Elected Mayor delegates functions to Cabinet, the Cabinet can delegate
further to the following people or bodies:

(a) A Committee of Cabinet;

(b) An officer;

(c) Under joint arrangements;

(d) To another local authority; or

(e) Area committees

2.4 If the Elected Mayor delegates functions to a Committee of the Cabinet, the
Committee may delegate further to an officer, except where the Elected Mayor
has said that they are not allowed to delegate further.

2.5 When the Elected Mayor or Cabinet has delegated functions to another
person or body, the Elected Mayor or Cabinet may still discharge these
functions.

2.6 The Elected Mayor may amend the scheme of delegation relating to the
executive functions at any time during the year. To do so, the Elected Mayor
must give written notice to the Monitoring Officer and to the person, body or
Committee concerned. The notice must set out the extent of the amendment
to the scheme of delegation, and whether it entails the withdrawal of
delegation from any person, committee or Cabinet as a whole.

Rule 3 - Conflicts of Interest

3.1 By law any member of the Executive must declare any conflict of interest, and
any dispensation granted in respect of that conflict of interest, when taking a
decision either collectively at Cabinet or individually. These conflicts of interest
are required to be noted in the published decision notice(s).

3.2 There is no clear definition as to what is meant by a conflict of interest. The
following is a non-exhaustive list of situations where a member of the
Executive may be regarded as having, or being perceived to have, a conflict

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

103Page 225



of interest that is incompatible with their duty to take decisions in accordance
with Part 1, Section B of this Constitution:

(a) They may have two or more different interests in a particular matter
that are incompatible with each other or the general principles of the
Councillor Code of Conduct or the Principles of Public Life;

(b) They may profit personally from decisions made in their official
capacity;

(c) They may owe separate duties to act in the best interests of two or
more constituents and these duties conflict or there is a significant risk
that they may conflict;

(d) Their duty to act in the best interest of any constituent conflicts, or
there is a significant risk that it may conflict, with their own interest in
that matter.

3.3 Where a member of the Executive believes that they may have a conflict of
interest over and above any personal interest they are already required to
declare under the Councillor Code of Conduct, they should seek advice from
the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer will decide whether a
dispensation is required.

3.4 Where a conflict of interest exists, a member of the Executive should only
remain, speak and vote on any item if a dispensation has been granted.

Rule 4 - How decisions are made by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet?

4.1 Executive decisions that have been delegated to Cabinet, or to a committee of
Cabinet, will be taken at a meeting held as required by the Access to
Information Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Constitution.

Rule 5 - Cabinet Meetings

5.1 The Cabinet meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar. It
meets at the Council’s main offices or any other location to be decided by the
Elected Mayor.

5.2 If the Elected Mayor is present, they will chair the meeting. If the Elected
Mayor is absent, the Statutory Deputy Mayor will chair the meeting.

5.3 Meetings of Cabinet will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed or the Access to Information Procedure
Rules set out in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution require this.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

104Page 226



5.4 The rights of the public in respect of attending and recording Cabinet
Meetings are set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 6,
Section C of this Constitution and the Protocol for Recording/Livestreaming
Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of this Constitution.

5.5 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet is 3 members of the Cabinet. This
must include the Elected Mayor or the Statutory Deputy Mayor. If neither of
these are present the meeting will not be quorate.

5.6 The quorum for a meeting of a committee of the Cabinet shall be one quarter
of the total number of elected members of the Cabinet, or 2, whichever is the
larger.

5.7 The leader of any opposition group, the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the Scrutiny
Commissions and the Speaker may attend and speak at any meeting of the
Cabinet. They must be sent all Cabinet agendas and reports, including
confidential and exempt items.

5.8 Meetings of Cabinet will:

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting;

(c) Receive any declarations of interest from elected members;

(d) Receive any deputations or petitions for which notice has been given
and that are included on the agenda;

(e) Receive any questions from, and provide answers to, members of the
public that are included on the agenda;

(f) Consider any matters referred to the Cabinet by a Scrutiny
Commission or by Full Council for reconsideration by the Executive.
The referral must comply with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure
Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Rules;

(g) Consider reports from Scrutiny Commissions;

(h) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(i) Receive details of any decisions made by individual Cabinet
Members, committees of the Cabinet and key decisions delegated to
and taken by Officers.

(j) Consider any item of business that the Elected Mayor has asked to be
placed on the agenda.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

105Page 227



(k) Consider any report that any two of the Council’s statutory Officers,
acting within their statutory duties, decide ought to be considered by
the Cabinet.

(l) Consider any items of urgent business.

Rule 6 - Deputations

6.1 Council Procedure Rule 11 (Deputations) will apply to Cabinet with the
following changes:

(a) All - references in that Rule to “Full Council” will be taken to mean
“Cabinet”.

(b) All - references to the “Speaker” will be taken to mean the person
chairing Cabinet.

(c) Rule 11.2 - no more than one deputation may be taken at each
meeting of Cabinet.

(d) Rule 11.6(i) does not apply.

(e) Rule 11.10 does not apply.

Rule 7 - Questions to Cabinet

7.1 A member of the public who lives, works or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of Cabinet.

7.2 Council Procedure Rule 9 (Questions by the public) applies to Cabinet and
references in that Rule to “Full Council” must be taken to apply to “Cabinet”
with the following changes:

(a) All - references to the “Speaker” will be taken to mean references to
the person chairing the meeting.

(b) Rule 9.1 - questions may be asked of the Elected Mayor, Councillors
of the Cabinet and Mayoral Advisors.

(c) Rule 9.12 - the total amount of time for questions at Cabinet will be no
more than 15 minutes.

7.3 If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at Cabinet
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer on the night and that
a written response will be provided.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

106Page 228



7.4 A Councillor may ask a question at Cabinet at the discretion of the Chair.
Questions should relate to the items on the published agenda and should be
submitted to the Monitoring Officer no later than 12 noon, four clear working
days in advance of the Cabinet meeting.

Rule 8 - Petitions

8.1 Where a petition is considered by, or referred to, Cabinet, paragraphs 7.2 to
7.7 of the Council’s Petition scheme apply.

Rule 9 - Agenda for meetings of the Cabinet and Notice and Summons to
meeting

9.1 The Monitoring Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of
any meeting as detailed in the Access to Information Rules, set out in Part 6,
Section C of this Constitution.

Rule 10 - Extraordinary meetings

10.1 When any two of the Council’s statutory Officers, acting within their statutory
duties, are of the opinion that Cabinet should consider a report from them and
no Cabinet meeting is scheduled to take place within the specified timeframe,
the Monitoring Officer can call an extraordinary meeting of Cabinet.

Rule 11 - Motions without notice

11.1 The following motions may be moved without notice:

(a) To change the order of business in the agenda;

(b) To refer a matter to an appropriate body or individual;

(c) To appoint an Executive committee or a Councillor to a position
arising from an item on the agenda for the meeting;

(d) To withdraw a motion;

(e) To amend a motion;

(f) To proceed to the next business;

(g) To adjourn a debate;

(h) To adjourn a meeting;

(i) To suspend a particular Cabinet Procedure Rule; and

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

107Page 229



(j) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules.

Rule 12 - Voting

12.1 Unless this Constitution or the law provides otherwise the Elected Mayor and
Councillors of the Cabinet voting and present in the room at the time the
question was put will decide the matter by a simple majority.

12.2 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a
second or casting vote. There is no restriction on how the Chair chooses to
exercise a casting vote.

12.3 A recorded vote will be taken at Cabinet on any vote in relation to the
Council’s budget and council tax. This is required by the Local Authorities
(Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014. The names of
those who voted for or against such a decision or abstained must be recorded
and included in the minutes of the meeting. A recorded vote must also be
taken on any proposed amendments relating to the budget and council tax.

Rule 13 - General rules about the conduct of the meeting

13.1 The following Council Procedure Rules will apply to meetings of Cabinet and
any references in those Rules to “Full Council” shall be taken to refer to
“Cabinet” and any references to “the Speaker” to the person chairing the
meeting.

(a) Rule 26 - General disturbance and/or disturbance by the public;

(b) Rule 28 - Interpretation of Council Procedure Rules; and

(c) Rule 29 - Mobile phones and other electronic communications
devices.

Rule 14 - Application to executive committees and sub-committees

14.1 The following Cabinet Procedure Rules apply to all meetings of Cabinet
Committees or Sub-Committees:

(a) Conflicts of interest (Rule 3);

(b) Cabinet meetings (Rule 5, other than Rules 5.2 and 5.5);

(c) Questions to Cabinet (Rule 7);

(d) Agenda for meetings of the Cabinet and Notice and Summons to
meeting (Rule 9);

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

108Page 230



(e) Extraordinary meetings (Rule 10);

(f) Motions without notice (Rule 11);

(g) Voting (Rule 12); and

(h) General rules about conduct of the meeting (Rule 13)

14.2 References in the above rules to the “Elected Mayor” and “Statutory Deputy
Mayor” shall be taken to refer to the “Chair” and “Vice-Chair” of the Cabinet
Committee or Sub-Committees.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section B - Cabinet Procedure Rules

109Page 231



Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

Responsibility

1.1 Full Council is responsible for the adoption of:

(a) Those plans and strategies which form part of the Council’s policy
framework;

(b) The annual Council Tax requirements; and

(c) The Council’s budget.

1.2 Following adoption, responsibility for implementation rests with the Elected
Mayor and Cabinet.

Process for developing the framework

2.1 The process by which the budget and plans/strategies within the policy
framework are developed shall be as follows:

(a) Before a plan/strategy or a budget needs to be adopted, Cabinet will
publish initial proposals having first canvassed the views of local
stakeholders as appropriate and in a manner suitable to the matter
under consideration.

(b) Any representations made to Cabinet shall be taken into account in
formulating the initial proposals and shall be reflected in any report
dealing with them. If the matter is one where a Scrutiny Commission
has carried out a review of policy, then the outcome of that review will
be reported to the Cabinet and considered in the preparation of initial
proposals.

(c) Cabinet may seek advice from a Scrutiny Commission on any
proposals. The Scrutiny Commission may report to Cabinet on the
outcome of its deliberations. Cabinet should allow the Scrutiny
Commission four weeks, or any other reasonable time, to respond to
the initial proposal unless Cabinet considers that there are special
reasons that make this timetable inappropriate. If this is the case then
it will inform the Scrutiny Commission of the time for response when
the proposals are referred to it. The Commission may establish a task
and finish group to carry out the review.

(d) Having considered the report of a Scrutiny Commission, Cabinet may
amend its proposals before submitting them to the Full Council
meeting for consideration. It will also report to Full Council on how it

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

110Page 232



has taken into account any recommendations from the Scrutiny
Commission, or its reasons for not doing so.

(e) Full Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may adopt
them, amend them, refer them back for further consideration, or
substitute its own proposals in their place. The report to Full Council
will include Cabinet’s proposals and any report from any relevant
Scrutiny Commission.

(f) If Full Council accepts Cabinet’s recommendation without
amendment, then the decision will have immediate effect. If Full
Council wishes to amend Cabinet’s proposals, or substitute its own
proposals in their place, it may only make an ‘in principle’ decision. In
either case, the decision will be made on the basis of a simple
majority of votes cast at the meeting.

(g) If an ‘in principle’ decision is made, the decision will be published in
accordance with the Access to Information Rules contained in Part 6,
Section C of this Constitution and a copy will be given to the Elected
Mayor.

(h) If an ‘in principle’ decision is made Full Council must inform the
Elected Mayor of their objections to the proposals and must give
instructions requiring Cabinet to reconsider, in the light of those
objections, the proposals.

(i) The instruction must specify a period of at least 5 working days
beginning with the day after the Elected Mayor receives notice of the
decision within which Cabinet may:

(i) Submit revisions of the original Cabinet proposal with
reasons for any amendments that have been made; or

(ii) Advise of any disagreement that Cabinet has with any of the
‘in principle’ decisions, and their reasons for that
disagreement.

(j) The Monitoring Officer will convene an extraordinary meeting of Full
Council within 10 clear working days of the receipt of Cabinet’s
response and Full Council may either:

(i) Approve either the original Cabinet proposal or any revision
to that proposal put forward by Cabinet by way of a simple
majority of those present and voting; or

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

111Page 233



(ii) Approve a different decision which does not accord with
either the original Cabinet proposal or any revision to that
proposal put forward by Cabinet by way of a two thirds
majority of those present and voting.

(k) The decision will be published in accordance with the Access to
Information Rules set out in Part 6, Section C of this Constitution and
will take immediate effect.

(l) In approving the budget and/or document within the policy framework,
Full Council will also specify the extent of virement within the budget
and degree of in-year changes to the policy framework document
which may be undertaken by the Cabinet. Any other changes to the
budget and policy framework are reserved to Full Council.

(m) The timescales referred to in paragraphs (i) and (j) above, may be
varied if this is required to meet the statutory deadlines for fixing the
Council’s budget.

Opposition Budget Proposals

(n) Any Opposition Group may submit an alternative budget proposal for
consideration by Full Council. This should be provided in writing to the
Governance Service by 5pm one working day before the meeting.
Amendments may be considered after this deadline with the
agreement of the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer.

(o) In developing alternative proposals, an Opposition Group must seek
advice from the Chief Finance Officer. This is so the Chief Finance
Officer can fulfil their statutory duty to comment on the robustness of
the estimates and the adequacy of reserves contained within the
alternative proposal as required by section 25 of the LGA 2003.

(p) When considering any alternative budgets the Council shall consider
each individually in the order they were received by the Governance
Service. If following debate an alternative budget proposal is carried
by way of a simple majority of those present and voting, then this
amounts to an amendment to Cabinet’s proposals and the steps
specified in paragraphs (g) to (j) will be followed.

Decisions outside the budget or policy framework

3.1 Subject to the provisions of Rule 9 (virement), the Elected Mayor and Cabinet
(which includes a committee of the Cabinet, Officers to whom powers have
been delegated as well as those acting under any joint arrangements that may
be in place) may only make decisions which are in line with the budget and

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

112Page 234



policy framework. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision
which is:

(a) Contrary to any policy framework document, or

(b) Contrary to, or not wholly in accordance, with the budget

approved by Full Council then that decision may only be made by Full
Council, subject to rule 3.2 below.

3.2 If any body or person wants to make a decision to which Rule 4 applies, they
must take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer
prior to making the decision. If the advice of either of those Officers is that the
decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy framework,
then the discussion must be referred by the body or person to Full Council for
decision, unless the decision is urgent in which case Rule 4 shall apply.

Urgent decisions outside the budget or policy framework

4.1. The Elected Mayor and Cabinet (which includes a committee of the Cabinet,
Officers to whom powers have been delegated as well as those acting under
any joint arrangements that may be in place), may make a decision which is
contrary to the Council’s policy framework, or contrary to, or not wholly in
accordance with the budget approved by Full Council, if the decision is a
matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be made:

(a) If it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of Full Council; and

(b) If the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Commission agrees that the
decision is a matter of urgency. If the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny
Commission is absent, then the consent of the Speaker must be
sought. If both are absent, then the consent of the Deputy Speaker
must be sought.

4.2 The reasons why 4.1(a) and (b) apply must be noted on the record of the
decision.

4.3 Following the decision, the decision-maker will provide a full report to the next
available Full Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it, and
why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

113Page 235



Virement

5.1 Virements are restricted in the following ways:

(a) Chief Officers may vire budget provision between budget heads within
their areas of responsibility subject to the Financial Procedure Rules;
and

(b) The Elected Mayor and Cabinet may only vary directorate cash limits
in the circumstances set out in the Financial Procedure Rules.

In-year changes to budget and policy framework

6.1 No changes to the budget or any plans or strategies which make up the policy
framework may be made by Elected Mayor and Cabinet (which includes a
committee of the Cabinet, Officers to whom powers have been delegated as
well as those acting under any joint arrangements that may be in place) other
than:

(a) Changes necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial
direction or government guidance; or

(b) Where Full Council has agreed in advance the circumstances in which
changes may be made.

Call-in of decisions outside the budget or policy framework

7.1 Where a Scrutiny Commission is of the opinion that an executive decision is,
or if made would be, contrary to the policy framework, or, contrary to or not
wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget, then it shall seek advice from
the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer.

7.2 The Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer will prepare a report for
Cabinet with a copy being sent to every member of the Council. If the
Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer concludes that the decision
was a departure, then regardless of whether the decision was delegated or
not, Cabinet must meet to decide what action to take in respect of the report
and then prepare a report to Full Council. If the Monitoring Officer and/or the
Chief Finance Officer concludes that the decision was not a departure, then a
report must be prepared for the relevant Scrutiny Commission.

7.3 If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet
implemented, and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief
Finance Officer is that the decision is or would be contrary to the policy
framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget, the
relevant Scrutiny Commission may refer the matter to Full Council.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

114Page 236



7.4 In such cases, no further action will be taken in respect of the decision or its
implementation until Full Council has met and considered the matter at its
next normal meeting. At the meeting, Full Council will receive a report of the
decision or proposals and the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief
Finance Officer. Full Council may either:

(a) Endorse a decision or proposal as falling within the existing budget
and policy framework. In this case no further action is required, except
that the decision of Full Council will be minuted and circulated to all
Councillors in the normal way; or

(b) Amend the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules or the policy
concerned to encompass the decision or proposal of the body or
individual responsible for that executive function and agree the
decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further action is
required except that the decision of Full Council will be minuted and
circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; or

(c) Accept that the decision or proposal is contrary to the policy
framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget
but not amend the existing framework to accommodate it. In this case,
it may require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with
the advice of either the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Financial
Officer.

Part 4 - Procedure Rules
Section C - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

115Page 237



Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

Arrangements for overview and scrutiny

1. The Council will have a Scrutiny Panel and four Scrutiny Commissions as set
out in Article 7 of this Constitution. Article 7 sets out the broad framework for
the operation of the Council’s overview and scrutiny function. These rules set
out some of the more detailed working arrangements.

Meetings of the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions

2. The Scrutiny Panel will hold 4 ordinary meetings in every municipal year.
Extraordinary Meetings may be called from time to time if the Chair of the
Panel or the Monitoring Officer considers it necessary or expedient.

3. The Scrutiny Commissions are each expected to meet at least 8 times every
municipal year; this may include site visits and informal meetings undertaken
as part of a review.

Quorum

4. The quorum for the Scrutiny Panel and the Scrutiny Commissions shall be
one quarter of voting members or three voting members, whichever is the
greater.

Chairs and Vice-chairs

5. The Chairs of the Scrutiny Panel and the Scrutiny Commissions shall be
appointed at the Annual Meeting. The Vice-Chairs may be appointed at the
Annual Meeting or at the first meeting of the Panel/Commission.

6. The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel must be a Councillor of the majority political
group of the Council, but may not be a Chair of a Scrutiny Commission. The
Vice-Chair shall ordinarily be a Councillor from a minority political group of the
Council. However, if the minority political group fails to make a nomination
then the Scrutiny Panel may elect a Vice-Chair at their first meeting.

Reports from Scrutiny Panel or Commissions

7. Once a Scrutiny Panel or Commission has prepared recommendations, it will
prepare a formal report for consideration by the Elected Mayor, a Councillor of
Councillor, the Cabinet or Full Council as appropriate. A report to Full Council
is only usually necessary if the recommendation(s) would require a departure
from or a change to the agreed Budget or Policy Framework. Where

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

116Page 238



recommendations are made that relate to an external organisation (such as
an NHS Trust), the report will also be submitted to that body.

8. A copy of any report must be given to the Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring
Officer must also be told by which decision making body the report is to be
considered.

9. If the Scrutiny Panel or Commission cannot agree on one single final report,
then up to one minority report may be prepared and submitted for
consideration alongside the majority report.

10. When a report is referred to Full Council or Cabinet, the report of the Scrutiny
Panel or Commission will normally be considered at the next scheduled
meeting.

Ensuring that reports are considered by the Cabinet and other bodies

11. If a report is referred to Full Council, it must also consider the Executive’s
response to the recommendations. The decision made by Full Council will be
placed on the agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Scrutiny Panel
and/or Commission.

12. If the report is referred to Cabinet, the report will be considered under the
standing item “Issues Arising from Overview and Scrutiny”, unless it can be
considered in the context of Cabinet’s deliberations on a substantive item on
the agenda. Cabinet shall also consider the response of the lead Cabinet
Councillor(s) for the portfolio area(s) to which the report’s recommendations
relate. The outcome of the discussion by Cabinet will be placed on the agenda
of the next scheduled meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and/or Commission.

13. In cases where the decision maker is the Elected Mayor personally or any
other individual Councillor of the Cabinet, they must consider the matter and
report back to the Scrutiny Panel and/or Commission within 2 weeks. If the
Elected Mayor or Councillor does not accept some or all of the
recommendations, then they must include within that report the reasons for
not doing so. A copy of the response must be sent to the Monitoring Officer.
The Elected Mayor or Councillor must attend the meeting of the Scrutiny
Panel and/or Commission that considers their response.

14. Where the decision-maker is an external (non-Council) organisation and they
have a statutory duty to respond to the Scrutiny Panel and/or a Commission, a
written response shall be requested within the timescale required, or if
mutually agreed, by another set deadline, so the response can be placed on
the agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Panel and/or Commission.
Where that organisation does not have a statutory duty to respond to the

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

117Page 239



Scrutiny Panel and/or a Commission, a written response shall be invited within
a reasonable period of time noting that, if submitted, the response would be
placed on the agenda of the next scheduled meeting of the Panel and/or
Commission.

15. The Scrutiny Panel and each Scrutiny Commission will in any event have
access to the Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for
consultation. Even where an item is not the subject of detailed consideration
by the Panel or a Commission, the Panel or Commission will be able to
respond in the course of the Executive’s planned consultation process in
relation to any Key Decision.

Rights of access to documents

16. The additional rights that members of the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions
have to access documents are detailed in the Elected Mayor and Councillors
Access to Information Rules set out in Part 7, Section D of this Constitution.

Elected Mayor, Councillors of the Cabinet and Officers giving account

17. The Scrutiny Panel and any Scrutiny Commission may scrutinise and review
decisions made, or actions taken, in connection with the discharge of any
Council functions relevant to the issues it is examining. As well as reviewing
documentation, it may require any member of the Executive, the Head of the
Paid Service and/or any Senior Officer and, subject to contractual
arrangements, any other person delivering a Council service, to attend before
it to explain in relation to matters within their remit:

(a) Any particular decision or series of decisions;

(b) The extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy;

(c) The performance of relevant services; and/or

(d) As required under the Council Petition Scheme.

It is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.

18. Where the Elected Mayor, Councillor of the Cabinet, or Senior Officer is
required to attend the Scrutiny Panel or a Commission under this provision,
the Chair of that Panel/Commission will inform the Elected Mayor, Councillor
of the Cabinet or Senior Officer in writing giving at least 10 working days’
notice of the meeting at which their attendance is required. The notice will
state the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give
account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the
Commission. Where the account to be given to the Commission will require

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

118Page 240



the production of a report, then the Elected Mayor, Councillor of the Cabinet or
Senior Officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation
of that document.

19. Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Elected Mayor, Councillor of the
Cabinet or Senior Officer is unable to attend on the required date, the Scrutiny
Panel/Commission will, in consultation with the Elected Mayor, Councillor of
the Cabinet or Senior Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance, or,
an alternative attendee.

20. If a Senior Officer considers that another Officer should attend because their
knowledge and experience is more relevant to the issue being discussed, the
Senior Officer will advise the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel/Commission.

Attendance by others

21. The relevant Scrutiny Panel or Commission will be able to exercise legal
rights to require attendance by individuals who are not Officers, or the Elected
Mayor or a Councillor of the Cabinet, such as:

(a) The right to require attendance by an Officer of a local NHS body -
Local Authority (Overview and Scrutiny Committees Health Scrutiny
Functions) Regulations 2013;

(b) The right to require attendance by Officers or employees of
responsible authorities and co-operating bodies of a local Community
Safety Partnership - Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Regulations 2009; and

(c) The right to require information from partner authorities which relate to
local improvement targets - Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny
Committees) (England) Regulations 2012.

22. A Scrutiny Panel or Commission may invite people other than those referred
to above to address it, discuss issues of local concern, and/or answer
questions. It may, for example, wish to hear from citizens, stakeholders and
members and/or officers in other parts of the public or private sector; and shall
be free to invite such people to attend.

Councillor Call for Action

23. The Councillor Call for Action is a procedure which enables Councillors to
have a matter referred to the Scrutiny Panel or relevant Scrutiny Commission
for consideration. Prior to requesting such reference, Councillors are required
to raise the matter with the relevant Group Director and Councillor of the
Cabinet in order to achieve a resolution without the need for formal reference.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

119Page 241



24. Any member of any Scrutiny Panel/Commission may, by giving written notice
of at least 15 working days to the Monitoring Officer prior to the date of the
meeting at which the Councillor wishes to raise the matter, request that any
matter which is relevant to the functions of the Scrutiny Panel/Commission is
included in the agenda for discussion at a meeting of the Panel/Commission.

25. Any Councillor may, by giving written notice of at least 15 working days to the
Monitoring Officer, request that any local government matter which is relevant
to the functions of the Scrutiny Panel/Commission is included in the agenda
and is discussed at a meeting of the Panel/Commission.

26. Any Councillor may, by giving written notice of at least 15 working days to the
Monitoring Officer, request that a local crime and disorder matter is included in
the agenda for discussion at a meeting of the Living in Hackney Scrutiny
Commission.

27. A local government matter pursuant to paragraph 25 shall not include:

(a) Any matter relating to a planning decision;

(b) Any matter relating to a licensing decision;

(c) Any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that
individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right of
appeal conferred by or under any enactment;

(d) Any matter which the Monitoring Officer determines to be vexatious,
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the agenda for, or to
be discussed at, a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel/Commission.

28. A matter shall not fall within a description above if it consists of an allegation
that a function for which the authority is responsible has not been discharged
at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a systematic basis,
notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or refers to a planning
decision, a licensing decision or a matter relating to an individual or entity in
respect of which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to review or
right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment.

29. The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions will undertake their proceedings
pursuant to the powers set out in Article 7 of the Constitution.

30. Where a local government matter is referred to the Scrutiny
Panel/Commission by a Councillor, the Scrutiny Panel/Commission may, in
considering whether or not to exercise any of its powers in relation to a matter,
have regard to:

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

120Page 242



(a) Any powers which a Councillor may exercise in relation to the matter
by virtue of section 236 of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (exercise of functions by local
Councillor s in England); and

(b) Any representations made by the Councillor as to why it would be
appropriate for the Scrutiny Panel/Commission to exercise any of its
powers to include a matter on the agenda for discussion at a meeting
of any Panel/Commission.

31. If the Scrutiny Panel/Commission decides not to exercise any of those powers
in relation to the matter, it shall notify the Councillor of –

(a) Its decision; and

(b) The reasons for it.

32. The Scrutiny Panel or Commission shall provide the Councillor with a copy of
any report or recommendations which it makes to the authority or the Cabinet
if the matter is included in the agenda and discussed at a meeting of the
Scrutiny Panel/Commission.

Crime and Disorder Matters

33. The Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission is the designated Crime and
Disorder Commission. A “crime and disorder matter” means a matter
concerning crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and
disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or other behaviour adversely
affecting the local environment) or the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other
substances in that area.

34. Where the Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission, as the Crime and Disorder
Commission, makes a report or recommendations to Full Council it must:

(a) Provide a copy of the report or recommendations to any member of
the authority who referred the local crime and disorder matter in
question to the Commission;

(b) Provide a copy of the report or recommendations to such of the
responsible authorities, co-operating persons and bodies as it thinks
appropriate.

35. Where a copy of a report or recommendations is provided to a responsible
authority, co-operating person or body under paragraph 34 above that
authority, person or body shall:

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

121Page 243



(a) Consider the report or recommendations;

(b) Respond to the Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission indicating
what (if any) action it proposes to take;

(c) Have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its
functions.

Joint Committee of the Four Growth Boroughs

36. This Committee is a formally constituted Joint Committee undertaking
executive functions on behalf of the Four Growth Boroughs (Hackney,
Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest).

37. Decisions of the Joint Committee may be called-in by one or more
participating boroughs pursuant to the Joint Committee’s Procedure Rules.
Each of the boroughs shall apply their existing overview and scrutiny
arrangements to decisions of the Joint Committee.

38. Upon publication of the record of Joint Committee decisions, members of
Hackney Council may call-in any such decision pursuant to the Joint
Committee Procedure Rules.

Agenda items at Scrutiny Panel and Commission meetings

39. The Scrutiny Panel and Commissions shall include within their agendas the
following business:

(a) Declarations of interest (including whipping declarations);

(b) Minutes of any previous meetings;

(c) Consideration of the body’s own work programme;

Other business

40. Where the Scrutiny Panel or Commissions conducts investigations (e.g. with a
view to policy development), the Panel/Commission may also ask people to
attend to give evidence at meetings which are to be conducted in accordance
with the following principles; that:

(a) The investigation be conducted fairly and all Councillors (including
co-opted members) of the Panel / Commission be given the
opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and
speak;

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

122Page 244



(b) Those assisting the meeting by giving evidence be treated with
respect and courtesy;

(c) The investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the
investigation or analysis;

(d) Evidence collected is analysed; and

(e) Any recommendations made are based upon that evidence.

41. Following any investigation or review, the Scrutiny Panel or Commission, may
prepare a report for submission to the relevant decision-maker, Executive
and/or Full Council as appropriate and shall make its report and findings
public except to the extent that they may include confidential or exempt
information.

42. These procedure rules shall apply to any Scrutiny Commissions and working
parties.

43. Nothing in these procedure rules prevents more detailed liaison between the
Executive and the Scrutiny Panel and Commissions as appropriate,
depending on the particular matter under consideration.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section D - Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

123Page 245



Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

A ‘call-in’ is the process whereby Councillors who are not members of the Cabinet
can request that executive decisions are considered by the Scrutiny Panel.

Scope of the rules

1.1 All Councillors have the ability to call-in the majority of “executive decisions”,
and this is a fundamental aspect of the Council’s scrutiny processes. This
includes decisions taken by the Elected Mayor and Cabinet, or Officers acting
under powers delegated to them.

1.2 The power should only be used in exceptional circumstances where the
Councillors calling-in the decision have evidence to suggest that:

(a) The decision maker did not take the decision in accordance with the
principles of decision making, namely

● proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired
outcome).

● due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers.
● respect for human rights.
● a presumption in favour of openness.
● clarity of aims and desired outcomes.
● relevant matters have not been ignored.
● consideration and evaluation of alternatives and reasons for

decisions.
● due regard to the statutory framework, guidance and Codes of

Conduct.

(b) The decision maker did not act in accordance with the policy
framework.

(c) The decision maker did not act in accordance with the Council’s
budget.

(d) The decision maker failed to consider relevant evidence when making
the decision.

(e) The decision would not be in the interests of the borough’s residents
and a preferable alternative decision could be adopted.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

124Page 246



Requirements for call-in

2.1 In order to ensure that call-in is not abused, nor causes unreasonable delay,
the following requirements must be fully satisfied before a matter will be
considered for call-in:

(a) At least five Councillors who are not members of the Council’s
executive (one of which will be the named signatory) must request a
call-in of the decision. The Councillors requesting the call-in will
decide who will be the ‘lead requestor’.

(b) The request for call-in must specify the reason for the call-in based
upon paragraph 1.2 above and provide sufficient detail to enable the
decision to be scrutinised.

(c) The request for call-in must be received by the Monitoring Officer
within 5 working days of the decision being published. The request for
call-in should be submitted electronically. The lead requestor must
complete and submit a form and each of the other Councillors
supporting the call-in must send an email in support. All emails must
be sent from the Councillors’ individual Council email addresses.

(d) The decision for which call-in is requested must not have been subject
to a prior call-in request.

Suspension and publication of the decision

3.1 Decisions made by the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member or an executive decision
made by an officer under delegated powers, will be published on the working
day following the decision being made.

3.2 The decisions will include the date of publication and will specify that it will
come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiration of 5 days
after publication unless the decision is called-in.

Assessing the call-in request

4.1 Upon receipt of any call-in request, the Monitoring Officer will assess the call-in
form and the information supporting the request to decide whether it meets the
requirements set out in these Rules.

4.2 The Monitoring Officer will have the final say as to whether the request is a
valid call-in, with the presumption in favour of it being valid.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

125Page 247



4.3. The decision will remain suspended until the Monitoring Officer has completed
their assessment of the request. If the call-in request is deemed valid, the
decision will remain suspended to enable the consideration of the call-in to take
place, as detailed below.

Consideration of the call-in

5.1 The Monitoring Officer shall notify the Elected Mayor and Cabinet of any call-in
that they determine to be valid.

5.2 The call-in shall be placed on the agenda for the next meeting of the Scrutiny
Panel. However, if there is no meeting of the Scrutiny Panel scheduled to take
place within 10 working days of the Monitoring Officer’s decision, the
Monitoring Officer shall arrange for a special meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to
be held as soon as reasonably practicable, taking into account the existing
calendar of Council meetings.

5.3 A report for the Scrutiny Panel shall be prepared, which shall include a copy of
the decision called-in and a copy of the call-in request form.

5.4 The Scrutiny Panel will hear from the lead requestor, the Councillor of Cabinet
within whose portfolio the decision rests and, in the case of a delegated officer
decision, the officer who took the decision. The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel has
the discretion to enable other persons to be heard at the meeting.

Outcomes of call-in

6.1 When considering the call-in, the Scrutiny Panel has the following options:

a) Uphold the original decision: In this case, the original decision stands and
can be implemented.

b) Uphold the call-in: In this case, the decision will be referred to either:

(i) The original decision maker for reconsideration.

(ii) The Cabinet for its consideration (where the original decision was
taken by an officer under delegation).

(iii) Full Council, if the Scrutiny Panel concludes that the decision was
contrary to the Council’s Policy Framework or contrary to (or not
wholly in accordance with) the approved Budget.

NB: In relation to (i) and (ii) above, the matter may not be called-in a second time.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

126Page 248



Protection from call-in

7.1 The call-in procedure shall not apply where the decision being taken has been
protected from call-in by the Chief Executive. A decision may only be protected
if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process, would seriously prejudice
the interests of the Council or the public interest.

7.2 The Chair of the Scrutiny Panel must be consulted before any decision to
protect is taken. In the absence of the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel, the Speaker
is to be consulted.

7.3 To allow the protection to take place the Chief Executive must indicate their
reasons for the decision to protect, this should be published online alongside
the decision in question.

7.4 Any protection from call-in decision must be reported to the next meeting of the
Full Council, including the rationale.

7.5 The operation of the protection provisions shall be monitored annually and a
report submitted to Full Council if it is considered that any review of the
provisions is necessary.

Referral of decisions contrary to the Policy Framework or the Budget

8.1 Where the Scrutiny Panel concludes that the decision called-in is, or if made
would be, contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to, or not wholly in
accordance with, the Budget then as indicated above, the decision will be
referred to Full Council.

8.2 The Monitoring Officer will prepare a report for Full Council, consulting with the
s151 Officer in cases where the Scrutiny Panel concludes that the decision is
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. That report will include
the original decision, the call-in request form and the minutes of the Scrutiny
Panel. The Monitoring Officer, and s151 Officer as required, will include their
findings as to whether the decision is or is not contrary to the Policy Framework
or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the Budget.

8.3 The Monitoring Officer’s report will be submitted to the next available meeting
of Cabinet for their consideration and to determine what action it wishes to take
having regard to the Monitoring Officer’s findings.

8.4 At that meeting, Cabinet must decide upon the action it wishes to take, if any,
having regard to the Monitoring Officer’s findings and will prepare and submit
its own report to Full Council.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

127Page 249



8.5 When Full Council considers the Call-In and associated reports on the matter it
has the following options:

a) Endorse that the decision falls within the existing Policy Framework or the
Budget. In this case no further action is required, and the decision of the
Full Council will be recorded in its minutes and circulated to all Councillors
in the normal way.

b) Amend the existing Policy Framework or the Budget to encompass the
decision of the body or individual responsible for that “Executive” function,
and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this case, no further
action is required, and that decision of the Full Council will be recorded in
its minutes and circulated to all Councillors in the normal way.

c) Uphold the view that the decision is contrary to a Policy Framework
Document or the Budget and choose not to amend policy to
accommodate it, requiring the Cabinet to reconsider the matter further in
accordance with the advice of the Monitoring Officer.

Part Four - Procedure Rules
Section E - Call In Procedure Rules

128Page 250



Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules

Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

Section B - Contract Standing Orders

129
Page 251



Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

Definitions of Terms within these Financial Procedure Rules

Assets
Includes land, buildings, vehicles, furniture and equipment, computer systems,
stocks and materials, money and investments, data and information.

Budget
A statement of the Council’s plans for revenue and capital expenditure and income
over a specified period of time.

Budget holder
The person responsible for the day to day control of income and expenditure against
a set budget for a cost centre or group of cost centres. The budget holder will also be
responsible for budgetary monitoring of their cost centres, including preparation of
regular monitoring reports as required.

Business Case
A written document, setting out the reasons for a project, including analysis of
options, risks and resources needed.

Capital Expenditure
All expenditure (from whatever source financed or to be financed) on the acquisition
of land and buildings, the erection of buildings, the execution of works of a
permanent nature and the purchase of vehicles, plant, machinery, equipment or
furniture, or payments to third parties for such purposes.

Capital Programme
The Council’s financial plan covering capital schemes and expenditure proposals for
the current year and a number of future years. It also includes estimates of the
capital resources available to finance the programme.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy is responsible for
interpreting accounting standards and recommending working practices to be
followed by all local authorities.

Financial Year
The Council’s financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

130Page 252



Government Grants
Sums paid by central government towards either specific services or in aid of
services generally.

Group Director
An Officer reporting to the Chief Executive and defined as Tier 1 within the General
Scheme of Delegation.

Housing Revenue Account
The account which records expenditure and income for running the Council’s own
housing stock and closely related services or facilities.

Imprest
A sum of money to be used as petty cash.

International Financial Reporting Standards
A set of accounting standards that govern how particular types of transactions and
events should be reported in financial statements.

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards
Rules based on the International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), intended
to promote improvement in the professionalism, quality, consistency and
effectiveness of internal audit across the public sector.

Revenue Budget
A budget which is set every year and from which the day to day running costs of the
Council are met.

Treasury Management
Management of the Council’s cash balances on a daily basis, to obtain the best
return while maintaining an acceptable level of risk.

Treasury Management Strategy
A document stating how the Council plans to borrow and optimise its return on its
cash and investments in the coming financial year whilst ensuring the over-riding
criterion of security of public money.

Value Added Tax (VAT)
A tax added to most products and services sold by VAT-registered businesses.. The
standard rate of VAT is currently 20%.

Variation
A variation is an increase or decrease in a budget after the budget has been
approved at the start of the year.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

131Page 253



Virement
A Revenue virement is a transfer of amounts from one budget heading to another
within, or between, Heads of Service. Capital virements cover any changes to Capital
budgets funded from within the existing Capital programme.

Introduction

In these Rules, reference to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
includes any person authorised by them to act on their behalf.

The Officer designated by the Council as having the statutory responsibility set out in
Section 151 of the 1972 Act shall be the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources.

Financial Procedure Rules (FPR) provide the framework for the financial
administration of the Council with a view to ensuring that the Council’s financial
affairs are conducted in a sound and proper manner, constitute value for money and
minimise the risk of legal challenge to the Council. Financial Procedure Rules are not
intended to constitute a set of detailed rules to respond to every contingency.

All financial decisions and decisions with financial implications shall have regard to
proper financial control. Any doubt as to the appropriateness of a financial proposal
or correctness of a financial action shall be clarified in advance of the decision or
action with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

Detailed Financial Guidance, Codes of Practice and other financial instructions (e.g.
Financial Management System Business Process Procedures) may be issued from
time to time by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, where
assistance is needed with the interpretation of Financial Procedure Rules.

Failure to observe Financial Procedure Rules, Financial Procedure Notes, Codes of
Practice and financial instructions issued under Financial Procedure Rules, may
result in action under the Council’s disciplinary procedures.

FPR1 - Responsibilities

Responsibilities to the Council

1.1 All elected Councillors and employees of the Council shall be responsible for
ensuring that they use the resources and assets entrusted to them in a
responsible and lawful manner. They shall strive to achieve value for money
and avoid legal challenge to the Council. These responsibilities shall apply

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

132Page 254



equally to Councillors and employees when representing the Council on
outside bodies.

Personal Responsibilities

1.2 Any person charged with the use or care of the Council’s resources and
assets shall inform themselves of the Council’s requirements under Financial
Procedure Rules. If anyone is in any doubt as to their obligations, then they
shall seek advice. Unresolved questions of interpretation shall be referred to
Internal Audit.

1.3 An employee shall report immediately to their manager, or other responsible
Officer any suspected illegality, impropriety, serious breach of procedure or
serious deficiency in the provision of service. Employees are able to do this
without fear or recrimination providing they act in good faith via the Council’s
Whistleblowing policy. In such circumstances, managers shall record and
investigate such reports and take appropriate action. Compliance with the
Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy and Code of Conduct for officers
shall be mandatory for all officers.

Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources

1.4 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall maintain on
behalf of the Council an adequate and effective system of internal audit of the
accounting records and internal control systems of the Council.

1.5 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial Procedure Rules and
financial schemes of delegation and submitting any additions or changes
necessary to the full Council for approval.

1.6 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall also be
responsible for reporting, where appropriate breaches of the Financial
Procedure Rules to the Council and/or to Cabinet Councillors.

1.7 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be authorised to
temporarily suspend Financial Procedure Rules in exceptional circumstances,
and where such suspension is authorised, a written record shall be kept for
this.

1.8 Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources to report to Full Council or the
Cabinet (as appropriate) and the external auditor if the authority or one of its
officers:

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

133Page 255



(a) Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring
unlawful expenditure;

(b) Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted
or would result in a loss or deficiency to the authority;

(c) Is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts.

Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires the authority to provide the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources with sufficient staff, accommodation and other
resources – including legal advice where this is necessary – to carry out the duties
under Section 114.

Group Directors

1.9 Group Directors shall ensure that any financial procedures/guidelines
produced by their Directorate in support of financial control are fully compliant
with these Financial Procedure Rules and that Internal Audit have been
consulted in the development of such procedures.

1.10 Group Directors shall be responsible for ensuring that all staff in their
Directorates are aware of the existence and content of the authority’s
Financial Procedure Rules and other internal regulatory documents and that
they comply with them.

1.11 Group Directors shall be responsible for ensuring that Financial Procedure
Rules are observed throughout all areas under their control and shall:

(a) Provide the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources with
such information and explanations as the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources feels is necessary to meet their obligations
under Financial Procedure Rules;

(b) Consult with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
and seek approval to any matter liable to affect the Council’s finances
materially, before any commitments are incurred;

(c) Ensure that Cabinet Councillors are advised of the financial
implications of all significant proposals and that the financial
implications have been agreed by the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources;

(d) Inform the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources of
failures of financial control resulting in additional expenditure or
liability, or loss of income or assets;

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

134Page 256



(e) Wherever any matter arises which may involve irregularities in
financial transactions consult with the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources and, if a serious irregularity is confirmed, the
matter shall be reported to the Chief Executive, appropriate Cabinet
Councillor and the Head of Human Resources and Organisational
Development;

(f) Ensure the legality of the Directorate’s or service’s actions.

FPR2 - Financial Planning and Annual Estimates

2.1 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall, each year,
recommend to Cabinet a timetable for consideration of revenue and capital
estimates by Directorates, the Cabinet and the Council. The programme shall
include adequate time for such discussions to take place. The form of the
annual estimates shall be agreed by the Cabinet upon the recommendation of
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

2.2 Detailed estimates of revenue income and expenditure, capital and receipts
and payments shall be prepared by Group Directors in the form required by
the Cabinet. The Estimates shall align with the Council’s Corporate &
Business Plans and follow the guidelines issued annually by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. A copy of the estimates shall be
forwarded to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources by each
Chief Officer in accordance with the agreed Programme in order that they can
be examined and submitted to the Cabinet.

2.3 The Cabinet shall review the estimates and submit them to the Council
together with such summaries, statements and reports as are considered
desirable and shall recommend the Council Tax to be levied for the ensuing
year.

2.4 Council shall:

(a) Approve the Council’s annual Council Tax Base;

b) Approve the Council’s revenue budget and capital programme and set
the level of Council Tax for each year within statutory deadlines and
requirements;

(c) Approve forecast Business Rates Income.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

135Page 257



Revenue Budget Preparation

2.5 The Cabinet shall keep under review the medium-term financial position of the
Council taking into account the Council’s performance, plans and anticipated
future levels of capital and revenue resources.

2.6 Group Directors shall be responsible for preparing directorate financial plans
and ensuring they are clearly aligned with relevant service plans; and for
ensuring that prior approval is given by the full Council or the Cabinet (as
appropriate) for any measures that are likely to extend or reduce the Council’s
services or policy objectives, and for new commitments for which there would
otherwise be no agreed budget.

Revenue Budgetary Control

2.7 In accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, Group Directors, and
their budget holders, shall have powers to incur revenue expenditure in
carrying out the functions allocated to them provided:

(a) The expenditure is lawful and there is sufficient budget provision;

(b) Procurement Rules have been complied with;

(c) Expenditure is within the approved revenue budget or capital
programme provision;

(d) Expenditure is in respect of Council policy;

(e) Consultations have taken place with the appropriate Group Director
and with Councillors of the Cabinet/Committee

2.8 Nothing in these Rules shall prevent a Group Director incurring expenditure to
meet the needs of an emergency or which is referable to Section 138 of the
Local Government Act 1972, subject to their action being reported at the
earliest opportunity to the Cabinet and where appropriate the Council.

2.9 Each Group Director in charge of a revenue budget shall:

(a) Monitor and control Directorate expenditure within their approved
budget;

(b) Report progress against their budget through the Overall Financial
Position (OFP) Report to Cabinet in consultation with the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources;

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

136Page 258



(c) Keep the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources informed
of any actual or likely changes which will/may have a significant
impact on current or future budgets.

2.10 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall also provide
guidance on and co-ordinate the budget monitoring process and the form,
basis, supporting information and timetable for the preparation thereof.

2.11 Virement (or transfers) between Budgets. Chief Officers must fulfil the
following requirements to exercise virements within the financial limits of these
Rules:

(a) Virement should only apply to the transfer of funds within the
delegated budget of the Chief Officer;

(b) The proposals should be consistent with approved Council policy;

(c) Virement should only involve the transfer of funds between Services;

(d) Virement should only be allowed where the total net delegated budget
is still within the delegated costs limit;

(e) There should be no consequential revenue effects in later years;

(f) There are some restrictions on the type of budgets that can be vired
i.e. you are not allowed to vire central recharge budgets, insurance or
salary budgets;

(g) Virements for less than £100,000 require the specific approval of
relevant Heads of Service and Heads of Finance.

(h) Virements for £100,000 or more require the specific approval of the
relevant Service Directors and Directors of Finance.

2.12 Should a virement be requested which is contrary to one of the above
conditions, it is necessary to seek the prior approval of the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources.

2.13 Transfers from contingencies to revenue budgets shall require the approval of
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, the appropriate
Cabinet Member and the Cabinet.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

137Page 259



Capital Programme Preparation

2.15 The Council shall determine a strategic approach to Capital, which takes due
account of Asset Management Plans, and shall include the process for setting
the Council’s investment priorities and the principles upon which directorate
and corporate Capital Programmes will operate.

2.16 In order to gain budget and spend approval Group Directors shall ensure that:
for all major capital schemes an option appraisal is completed outlining the
business case and the full financial implications, including those relating to
whole life costing and component accounting, to ensure that all schemes are
fully evaluated and disclosed. This shall be submitted to the Capital and Asset
Steering Board prior to submission to Cabinet for approval.

2.14 Each year, each Group Director, supported by their Director of Finance and
budget holders, shall draw up proposals for capital expenditure for their
directorate, taking into account:

(a) Statutory requirements;

(b) Performance and service plans;

(c) Supported capital expenditure guidelines issued by Central
Government including available resources;

(d) Government capital grants and specific borrowing approvals,
availability of capital receipts, other resources;

(e) Level of existing capital commitments.

2.15 The Council shall determine a strategic approach to Capital, which takes due
account of Asset Management Plans, and shall include the process for setting
the Council’s investment priorities and the principles upon which directorate
and corporate Capital Programmes will operate.

2.16 In order to gain budget and spend approval Group Directors shall ensure that
for all major capital schemes an option appraisal is completed outlining the
business case and the full financial implications, including those relating to
whole life costing and component accounting, to ensure that all schemes are
fully evaluated and disclosed. This shall be submitted to the Capital and Asset
Steering Board prior to submission to Cabinet for approval.

2.17 The proposals for capital spending, together with financial implications shall
then be submitted to the Cabinet for determination of the Capital Programme
to be recommended to Council.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

138Page 260



Capital Programme Monitoring and Budgetary Control Arrangements

2.18 The Cabinet shall exercise control over capital spending and resources and
may authorise variations to the Council’s Capital Programme provided such
variations:

(a) Are within available resources;

(b) Are consistent with Council policy.

2.19 Where projects in the Capital Programme are included on the assumption of
resources becoming available, no financial commitments shall be entered into
on these projects unless resources are confirmed as being available to the
satisfaction of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. In the
case where joint schemes are entered into by one Chief Officer that will impact
on another Chief Officer’s Directorate then a full consultation process shall be
completed before expenditure is incurred.

2.20 Group Directors shall:

(a) Make arrangements for the implementation of the agreed Capital
Programme in accordance with Procurement Procedure Rules;

(b) Monitor progress against established milestones and spending against
the Capital Programme and report accurately the position at least
quarterly through the Overall Financial Position (OFP);

(c) Review and update costings and phasing of projects and programmes
as appropriate.

2.21 In the event that project costs are at variance with programme, either in terms
of cash flow or in total, the Chief Officer shall seek to bring the scheme in line
with programme or, if that should not prove possible, shall attempt to contain
variances within the overall programme for which the Chief Officer is
responsible.

2.22 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be consulted
where significant variances to the Capital Programme are in prospect. Should
the Chief Officer be unable to accommodate variations in expenditure within
the approved capital programme, the approval of Cabinet shall be required to
a variation in the Capital Programme subject to resources being available.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

139Page 261



FPR3 -   Accounting

3.1 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall:

(a) Determine accounting systems and procedures and the form of
financial records and statements;

(b) Provide guidance and advice on all accounting matters;

(c) Monitor accounting performance to ensure an adequate standard for
all services; and

(d) Certify all financial returns, grant funding applications and claims and
other periodic financial reports required of the Council.

3.2 Each Group Director shall:

(a) Implement accounting procedures and adopt the form of financial
records and statements as determined by the Group Director, Finance
and Corporate Resources.

(b) Obtain the approval of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources prior to introducing or changing the form or method of
existing accounting systems and procedures, financial records or
statements. Approval shall be requested from the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources in writing. The request shall give
details of the proposed change and the anticipated benefit from the
change, an estimate of the costs involved and the proposed
implementation date. Internal Audit advice shall be sought for all
proposed changes at as early a stage as possible;

(c) Complete and pass to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources financial returns and other financial reports requiring
certification in good time; and

(d) Keep a proper segregation of duties for staff with financial
responsibilities.

3.3 The following principles shall be observed in connection with accounting
systems:

(a) The duties of providing information regarding sums due or from the
Council and of calculating, checking and recording these sums shall
be separated as completely as possible from the duty of collecting or
disbursing them; and

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

140Page 262



(b) Officers charged with the duty of examining and checking the
accounts of cash transactions shall not themselves be engaged in any
of these transactions.

FPR4 - Internal Audit

4.1 Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management,
control and governance processes.

4.2 Internal Audit is established by the Council under the requirements of the
Accounts & Audit Regulations 2011 that requires the Council to undertake an
adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and of its
system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices in relation to
internal control.

4.3 The prime objective of Internal Audit is to provide assurance to the Council in
relation to its internal control environment and assist management in
delivering the objectives of the Council and its associated bodies through
assessing exposure to risk and recommending, where appropriate, practical
improvements to the control environment. To this end it shall be the
responsibility of Internal Audit to review, appraise and report to management
upon:

(a) Whether operations are being carried out as planned and objectives
and goals are being met.

(b) The adequacy of systems established to ensure compliance with
policies, plans, procedures, laws and regulations, i.e. rules established
by the management of the organisation, or externally;

(c) The completeness, reliability and integrity of information, both financial
and operational;

(d) The extent to which the Council’s assets, data and interests are
properly accounted for and safeguarded from losses of all kinds,
including fraud and corruption, waste, extravagance, abuse,
ineffective management and poor value for money; and

(e) The economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are
employed.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

141Page 263



4.4 A continuous internal audit, under the independent control and direction of the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, shall be arranged to carry
out an examination of accounting, financial and other operations of the
Council.

4.5 Internal Audit shall be required to provide an objective audit service in line with
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and professional auditing
standards. To this end Internal Audit shall have no Cabinet responsibilities and
the Corporate Head of Audit, Anti-Fraud and Risk Management shall report
directly to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, and shall
have direct access to, and freedom to report to, all senior management
including the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, Chief
Executive and Members.

4.6 Internal Audit will produce a Strategic Internal Audit Plan, subject to the
agreement of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, and
ratification of the Audit Committee. In producing the strategic plan the
Corporate Head of Audit, Anti-Fraud and Risk Management will have the
freedom to determine the priorities for Internal Audit in consultation with the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources and other Group Directors,
and shall have an unrestricted range of coverage of the Council’s operations.
In general, but not exclusively, the priorities for Internal Audit will be
determined by a risk assessment process.

4.7 All material findings will be communicated to the relevant departmental
management and once agreed a final report will be issued and where
appropriate, copied to the relevant Group Director and the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources. Management are expected to implement
all agreed audit recommendations within a reasonable timeframe. Internal
Audit will undertake appropriate follow up work in this regard.

4.8 An annual report will be produced and presented to the Audit Committee
which will include a view on the effectiveness of the Council’s system of
internal control based on the work carried out by Internal Audit.

4.9 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources will:

(a) Report material failures of financial control to the Chief Executive, the
Chair of the Audit Committee and the appropriate Councillor of the
Cabinet and relevant Chief Officer; and

(b) Decide upon the relevant course of action where evidence of fraud,
misappropriation or theft is suspected or identified, (e.g. referral to
police).

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

142Page 264



4.10 Each Group Director will:

(a) Respond without undue delay to any enquiries or recommendations
made by the Corporate Head of Audit, Anti-Fraud and Risk
Management and their representatives; and

(b) Inform the Corporate Head of Audit, Anti-Fraud and Risk Management
as soon as possible of failures of financial control, including matters
which involve, or may involve, fraud/financial irregularity.

4.11 All issues of potential fraud/financial irregularity will be investigated in
accordance with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy. Concerns
should be reported at the earliest opportunity to the Corporate Head of Audit,
Anti-Fraud and Risk Management who will have lead responsibility for any
subsequent investigation, in certain circumstances investigations may be
carried out in collaboration with individual Group Directors.

(a) Supported capital expenditure guidelines issued by Central
Government including available resources;

(b) Government capital grants and specific borrowing approvals,
availability of capital receipts, other resources;

(c) Level of existing capital commitments.

4.12 If serious irregularity is suspected or confirmed the Corporate Head of Audit,
Anti-Fraud and Risk Management will report the matter to appropriate officers
which may include the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, the
Chief Executive, the Cabinet Member, the Chair of the Audit Committee, the
appropriate Chief Officer and, where staff are involved, the Head of Human
Resources and Organisational Development.

4.13 It shall be the responsibility of all Council officers to provide, upon the request
of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or a person
nominated by them for this purpose, a full explanation and any information or
document under the control of the Officer concerned or access to any
premises, facilities or systems, which is required for the purposes of or in
connection with an Internal Audit inquiry, project, or investigation. This applies
to not only the Council, but also associated bodies and partners including: -

(a) Organisations to which the Council has given grants;

(b) Organisations with whom the Council contracts; and

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

143Page 265



(c) Partner organisations in any scheme for which the Council has
responsibility as lead body.

4.14 Group Directors shall ensure that such rights of access are written into
appropriate agreements with these organisations.

FPR5 - Procurement Arrangements

Procurement Procedure Rules

5.1 The rules for procurement shall be embodied in the Council’s Procurement
Procedure Rules which shall cover the process of acquiring supplies, works
and services from third parties, including:

(a) The purchase of goods, materials and related services;

(b) All contracting including the execution of works;

(c) Commercial partnering; and

(d) Commissioning of supplies, works or services

FPR6 - Income

6.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that all income due
to the Council is collected, banked and properly accounted for. This includes
sums received by electronic means such as debit/credit cards, internet,
telephone and direct debits. Further detailed guidance on collecting debtor
income can be found in “Collecting the Council’s Money”.

6.2 The collection of all sums due to the Council shall be under the supervision of
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. In conjunction with the
Chief Officer concerned or the appropriate Officer of any third party collecting
sums on behalf of the Council, the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources shall make and maintain adequate arrangements for prompt and
proper accounting for all cash, cheques, standing orders, direct debits, and
debit/credit card payments. The arrangements shall include the collection and
deposit of sums received.

6.3 Particulars of all charges to be made for work done, services rendered, or
goods supplied by the various Directorates of the Council, and all other
amounts due, shall be promptly notified to the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources in a form approved by them and all income due to the
Council shall be collected by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources, subject to any other arrangements made by them.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

144Page 266



6.4 The Council’s Financial Management Systems (CedAr/PARIS) shall be used
as the Billing, Account Maintenance and Collection system unless there are
very good reasons otherwise.

6.5 Chief Officers shall put in place additional controls if some of the income is to
be collected as cash. These arrangements shall provide that:

(a) Officers are appropriately trained in income collection, accounting and
cash handling arrangements;

(b) Sufficient separation of duties is in place, in particular between raising
invoices and receiving payments;

(c) Official receipts are always given;

(d) Proper records are kept;

(e) All money received is banked as soon as practicable. All insurance
limits on safes shall be adhered to and all cash/cheques shall be
banked no later than one week after receipt;

(f) VAT is properly accounted for in accordance with the VAT Guidance
Manual for Directorate Staff;

(g) Where it is necessary for cash to be held prior to it being paid into the
Council’s bank account, it shall be recorded and kept in an appropriate
secure environment; and

(h) Security of staff shall be maintained when cash collections are
involved.

6.6 Directorate records and forms used in collecting income shall be approved by
the relevant Director of Finance on behalf of the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources. All invoices shall clearly state that cheques or any other
payment shall be made payable to the ‘London Borough of Hackney’.

6.7 All sums received by either:

(a) A cashier; or

(b) Another person authorised by a Chief Officer to collect sums due to
the Council shall be immediately acknowledged, by the issue of a
receipt or ticket or by other method agreed by the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

145Page 267



6.8 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another shall be
immediately evidenced in the records by the signature of the receiving officer.

6.9 Where an invoice is raised, officers shall observe guidelines issued by the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. These shall be covered in
detail in Collecting the Council’s Money and shall include:

(a) A debtor account shall be opened, and the debtor details verified. For
trading organisations, a credit check shall normally be carried out;

(b) Invoices raised shall be accurate, stating what the invoice is for and
when the goods/services were provided;

(c) Invoices shall be raised promptly (normally within 14 days of the
service being provided);

(d) If the invoice remains unpaid after 28 days, the formal escalation
process shall begin, and this shall be progressed quickly;

(e) If the debtor disputes the invoice, it shall be recorded as in dispute
and referred to the operational area for resolution. Disputes shall be
resolved quickly and where necessary credit notes shall be raised
without delay;

(f) Where the invoice remains unpaid after the escalation process and
there is no dispute or ongoing dialogue, a decision shall be made as
to whether to refer the debt for legal action or write to it off;

6.10 The approval of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or the
Director, Financial Management is required to write-off a debt.

6.11 Each Officer who pays in money on behalf of the Council shall enter on the
paying in slip and duplicate or counterfoil, particulars of such payment,
including in the case of each cheque paid in:

(a) The amount of the cheque;

(b) The account/invoice number if one exists;

(c) If an account/invoice number does not exist then a reference (such as
the number of the receipt given, or the name and/or address of the
debtor), which will connect the cheque with the debt for which it was
received;

(d) Their name and contact number.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

146Page 268



6.12 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources may advance such
sums as may be necessary for the purpose of change money and the
existence of these sums shall be periodically verified by an independent
officer.

6.13 Changes in all fees and charges and the introduction of new fees and charges
including proposals affecting rents and associated charges for Council
dwellings shall require Cabinet approval. The Cabinet shall review the fees
and charges on the advice of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources, at least annually.

6.14 Chief Officers shall ensure that levels of income received are compared to
budget figures of income due on a regular basis and differences promptly
investigated. This shall mean that responsible officers carry out regular
reconciliations between monies sent to the bank and monies credited to the
bank account.

6.15 The advice of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be
sought on agreements which provide for variable income.

6.16 Wherever possible/practical, income shall be collected in advance of service,
or where not possible, by an official invoice.

6.17 Agreements for payment by instalment shall be authorised by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

6.18 When receiving payment by debit or credit card, under no circumstances shall
the card details be recorded other than when keyed directly into the payments
system, which shall normally be PARIS. Similarly, card details shall not be
retrieved from systems on which they are taken. Failure to adhere to this risks
a substantial fine for breaching the payment card industry’s security rules.

6.19 Unused manual receipts, tickets or vouchers shall be held securely at all
times. A record of stocks held shall be kept and blank receipt books/unused
tickets and shall only be issued to staff on receipt of their signature in the
stock record. Individual receipt books held by staff shall be kept in a secure
manner. Chief Officers shall ensure that a regular independent reconciliation is
carried out of stock records to physical stocks held.

6.20 Security and retention of safe keys shall be in accordance with the dictates of
the Council’s Insurers. Advice on the matter shall be sought from the Council’s
Insurance Section.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

147Page 269



6.21 Authorisation of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall
be obtained before uncollected income due is written off.

6.22 Grant claims or certificates requiring certification in the name of the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be submitted for approval in
a timely manner.

6.23 Personal cheques shall not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the
Council unless they are cheques drawn on the Council’s bank account and
express authority of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
has been given to such action.

FPR7 - Banking Arrangements

7.1 The Council's banking arrangements shall be the responsibility of the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. Bank accounts shall only be
opened in consultation with the Banking Team within the Directorate of
Finance and Corporate Resources and shall be approved by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. All bank accounts shall include
London Borough of Hackney in their title.

7.2 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall approve the
signing arrangements for each bank account including the names of officers
authorised to sign cheques and issue instructions to the bank and the limits of
their authority.

7.3 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall issue guidance
on how bank accounts shall be operated, controlled and reconciled.

7.4 Directors of Finance shall be responsible for ensuring that all bank accounts
within their directorate area are operated in accordance with guidance issued
by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources and that they are
reconciled at least once a month in accordance with guidance issued by the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

7.5 Group Directors shall also ensure that loans are not made to third parties and
that interests are not acquired in companies, joint ventures or other
enterprises without the approval of the Cabinet or the Council, following
consultation with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

7.6 Group Directors/Directors of Finance shall be responsible for ensuring that all
monies collected are banked promptly and properly accounted for in
accordance with guidance issued by the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

148Page 270



FRP8 - Orders for Goods and Services

8.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that work, goods
and services are only ordered for the purpose of Council business and the
resulting expenditure is within budget and properly approved. Further details
of how the ordering process works are contained in “Spending the Council’s
Money”.

8.2 Group Directors shall be responsible for ensuring an authorised and
appropriate Scheme of Financial Delegation has been established within their
directorate and is operating effectively. The scheme shall identify staff
authorised to act on the Group Director’s behalf regarding orders and
payments for works and goods and services.

8.3 Other than for agreed exceptions as defined in “Spending the Council’s
Money”, orders shall be raised, using the Council's Financial System (CedAr)
for the supply of all goods and services.

8.4 Group Directors, supported by their budget holders, shall be responsible for
orders issued from their directorates. Each order shall conform to the
directions of the Council with respect to corporate purchasing and the
standardisation of supplies and materials. Each employee responsible for
purchasing shall comply with the Council’s Corporate Procurement
Framework.

8.5 Orders shall be raised and authorised through the Council's Financial
Management System (CedAr). Verbal and manual orders are not acceptable,
except in emergencies. In those cases, orders shall be confirmed by an
authorised Purchase Order in CedAr within two working days. Officers who do
not have access to raise orders in CedAr shall ask their line manager or cost
centre manager how to get an order raised.

8.6 Before orders are made, the authorising Officer shall ensure that there is
adequate budget provision to cover the cost of the order.

8.7 Every Officer raising an order shall be responsible for making sure they have
complied with the Council’s rules about tenders and quotations. In any case,
officers shall make every effort to secure the best terms for the Council.

8.8 All officers shall check with the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services before accepting unusual terms and conditions as part of their order.

8.9 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for approving the operation of ordering and payment systems across the

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

149Page 271



Council. No system may be established without the explicit agreement of the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources. These rules shall apply to
all existing payment systems across the Council which have been approved
by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

8.10 Group Directors shall be responsible for payments made by their directorate.
They shall make sure there are secure systems in place so that:

(a) Only officers approved by them can initiate or certify payments;

(b) Those officers are appropriately trained, and adequate written
instructions are available;

(c) There are effective financial controls including separation of duties;
and

(d) VAT is calculated, recorded and treated appropriately in all cases and
supported by a valid VAT invoice in accordance with the VAT
Guidance Manual for Directorate Staff.

8.11 The duties of ordering, receiving goods and certifying the respective invoices
for payment shall not be performed by one officer. Every Officer receiving
works or goods or services of satisfactory quality shall ensure this receipt is
promptly recorded. This shall usually be by a goods receipt note in the CedAr
system, or by authorising a timesheet in the electronic timesheet system for
temporary staff. If the Officer does not input the receipt themselves, they shall
supply evidence of satisfactory receipt to the Officer who does so.

8.12 Every Officer receiving works or goods or services of unsatisfactory quality
shall notify the supplier promptly and ensure suitable corrections are made.

8.13 Areas of spending where CedAr purchase orders are not mandatory shall be
specified in the document ‘Spending the Council's Money as Agreed
Exceptions’. These shall include spending managed by specialist systems,
payments initiated by the Council from its own records and contracts paid by
direct debit.

FPR9 - Payment of Accounts

9.1 The purpose of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that all payments
made by the Council are:

(a) Lawful;

(b) Properly authorised by an appropriate officer; and

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

150Page 272



(c) Within the amount provided by the Council’s budget.

9.2 Officers shall not process or certify payments to themselves or to anyone to
whom they are related or with whom they have a close personal or domestic
relationship outside work.

9.3 Invoice-related payments shall only be made through the Council’s on-line
payment system (CedAr) and officers shall use this official payment system,
unless the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources has given their
explicit agreement to make other arrangements.

9.4 The Group Director or authorised Officer shall be responsible for examining,
verifying and certifying accounts for payment and certification shall mean that:

(a) The goods have been received, the work done, or the services
rendered and that they are satisfactory as to quality and correct as to
quantity;

(b) The goods or services have not been paid for previously;

(c) Prices are in accordance with the agreement, quotation or current
market rate, whichever is applicable and that all trade or cash
discounts have been applied;

(d) Any special authority needed has been obtained;

(e) The payment is lawful and is in accordance with the Council’s policy
and instructions and complies with the Council’s procurement rules;

(f) The expenditure is within the amount provided by annual estimates or
approved supplementary estimate; that it has been charged in the
financial year in which the work is done or the goods received,
irrespective of the years in which provision has been made in annual
estimates;

(g) The amount/invoice is correctly coded;

(h) VAT is properly accounted for and evidenced by a valid VAT invoice;

(i) Appropriate entries have been made in inventories or stock or stores
records; and

(j) The account is arithmetically correct or subject to a sample test
agreed by Directorate’s Directors of Finance.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

151Page 273



9.5 The Central Payments Team shall be responsible for receiving and paying
invoices by matching them to purchase orders and Goods Receipt Notes
(GRNs). The Group Director shall be responsible for ensuring that purchase
orders have been raised and GRNs entered before the invoice is received so
that payment can be made promptly.

9.6 It shall be the buying officer’s responsibility to raise a GRN in CedAr as soon
as the goods or services have been received unless the quantity is unknown,
in which case the GRN shall be raised as soon as the invoice is received.

9.7 The buying Officer shall be responsible for resolving price and quantity
mismatches between invoices and Goods Receipt Notes as soon they are
notified, so that the invoice can be paid within terms.

9.8 Payments shall only be made against valid invoices unless the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources has given their explicit agreement to make
the payment. Inaccurate, unclear or incomplete invoices, or those written in
pencil or invoices not addressed to the London Borough of Hackney, are not
valid. They shall be returned to the supplier who shall submit a valid one.
Officers shall not amend or alter invoices.

9.9 Payments shall not normally be made in advance. Officers shall check with
their Director of Finance if they are considering making advance payments.

9.10 Payments which are not CedAr PoP related shall be certified by an authorised
officer. Certifying officers shall make adequate checks to satisfy themselves
that:

(a) The goods and/or services have been received and are satisfactory;

(b) The expenditure is covered by a budget; (c) the prices, arithmetic and
cost allocations are correct; and

(c) VAT is correctly identified and supported by a valid VAT invoice.

9.11 Officers shall follow the Council’s payments policy, which requires that valid
payments shall be processed promptly and paid in good time to take account
of early settlement discounts. Invoices shall be paid in accordance with the
terms agreed with the supplier or in the absence of such terms, 30 days from
the receipt of a correct invoice or the goods and/or services (whichever is the
later). In exceptional circumstances earlier payment may be effected where
there are valid reasons to do so.

9.12 The requirements of the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act
1988 and the policies and procedures adopted by the Group Director, Finance

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

152Page 274



and Corporate Resources in relation to the Act shall be fully adhered to by all
Chief Officers.

9.13 Accounts duly certified shall be processed daily in the manner prescribed by
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, who shall examine
them as they see necessary.

9.14 Certificates for contract payments shall be submitted together with a valid VAT
invoice to the appropriate Group Director or authorised officer, who shall
authorise the certificate and VAT invoice for payment after examining it to see
that it is within the contract sum, subject to any agreed variations, and is
reasonable. Certificates shall include details of the value of the work, retention
money, amounts previously certified and amounts now certified.

9.15 All invoices shall be retained for at least six years by each Group Director. The
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be consulted before
any disposal takes place. This shall be in line with the Council’s legal
obligations to keep all original invoices, and paid and copy debtor accounts,
for six years from the date they were paid or raised, for VAT purposes.

FPR10 - Payment of Employee Related Expenses

10.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that staff are
appointed in accordance with the Hackney Recruitment Policy, shall be paid in
accordance with their Contract of Employment and to ensure leavers are
removed from the payroll.

10.2 All staff shall be appointed in accordance with the Hackney Recruitment Policy
and there shall be written evidence to support this kept on file.

10.3 The Director, Human Resources and Organisational Development is
responsible for the operation of the Council's payroll services. This shall
include making sure that there are appropriate arrangements in place so that
staff pay and deductions are made accurately and promptly, and that statutory
records are properly maintained.

10.4 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for the accurate accounting for all payroll transactions. Each Group Director
shall keep a personal record file for each employee within their approved
establishment, containing a copy of the employee’s contract of employment
together with sufficient information to identify service, salary scale and current
amount payable, sickness leave taken and annual leave taken and due.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

153Page 275



10.5 Group Directors shall be responsible for notifying the Director, Human
Resources and Organisation Development of any changes in employees'
circumstances which would affect their payments or deductions. Where
employees submit timesheets, they shall accurately record the hours they
worked.

10.6 On a regular basis, and at least annually, each Director of Finance shall be
provided by the Director, Human Resources and Organisational Development
with a list of staff currently paid within their directorate and the rate at which
they are currently being paid. The Director, Financial Management shall certify
that every name on the list is a bona fide employee of their directorate and
that the rate of payment to the employee is correct.

10.7 Any prime records shall be checked and certified by an approved Officer
before being passed to the Director, Human Resources and Organisational
Development in time for them to meet their established deadlines.

10.8 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for the calculation of pension and retirement benefits as well as making
appropriate arrangements for their payment.

10.9 Officers can claim reimbursement of costs they incur on Council business,
including car mileage and subsistence, as long as they follow the correct
procedures including seeking their line manager's approval before incurring
significant expenditure. All claims shall be made on standard forms with the
receipts attached. Claims shall be authorised by the employee's line manager
or a more senior Officer and then certified before being passed for payment.

10.10 Expenses claims shall be submitted within one month of incurring the
expenditure. All officers shall take reasonable steps to minimise costs when
spending the Council's money. Officers who deliberately claim expenses to
which they are not entitled may be guilty of gross misconduct and may be
dismissed.

FPR11 - Imprest and Petty Cash Accounts

11.1 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall provide petty
cash accounts of such amounts as may from time to time be required for the
purpose of paying minor items of equipment and postage stamps and other
such urgent payments as he may determine.

11.2 Directors of Finance shall be responsible for determining the petty cash
arrangements in their directorate, subject to authorisation and procedures
issued by the Group Director Finance and Corporate Resources

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

154Page 276



11.3 Directors of Finance shall issue detailed guidance to officers holding cash
floats setting out how they expect them to be operated and what security
arrangements they require to be maintained.

11.4 A petty cash slip shall be completed for every reimbursement that is made,
signed by the claimant, authorised by their manager and signed by the person
making the payment. Receipts shall be obtained to back up all expenditure
made and reclaimed through the petty cash account and attached to the petty
cash payment slip in line with an agreed HMRC prerequisite.

11.5 Proper VAT invoices shall be obtained when VAT is applicable.

11.6 Petty cash accounts shall not in any circumstance be used to cash personal
cheques or make personal loans.

11.7 On leaving the Council’s employment or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to
hold a petty cash advance, an employee shall account to the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources for the amount advanced to them.

FPR12 - Risk Management and Insurance

12.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that the Council
manages all potential risks and liabilities and to limit the authority for arranging
insurance cover to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

12.2 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for the development, monitoring and review of the Council’s risk management
policy, which shall be approved by the Audit Committee.

12.3 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be the Council’s
principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator.

12.4 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall assess the
Council’s overall insurance requirements and shall be responsible for
arranging all insurance cover. The Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources shall review insurance cover on an annual basis.

12.5 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for identifying, assessing and
controlling risks within their Directorate and shall undertake an annual review
of Directorate risk in consultation with the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources.

12.6 Group Directors shall submit an Annual Risk Register in respect of their
Directorate to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources and shall
report quarterly on its implementation.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

155Page 277



12.7 All line managers shall ensure that they are familiar with the extent of their
insurance cover.

12.8 Group Directors shall inform the Head of Insurance of any new risks they take
on and of any alterations, which affect insurable risks in their department as
soon as is practically possible.

12.9 All employees shall provide information required by the Head of Insurance,
which shall be relevant to the Council's risk exposure or relate to an insurance
claim within specified timescales.

12.10 Group Directors shall be responsible for ensuring that anyone covered by the
Council’s insurance is aware that they shall not admit liability or make any
offer to pay compensation that may prejudice the assessment of liability in
respect of any insurance claim.

12.11 All employees concerned with the receipt, custody and/or disbursement of the
monies and property of the Council shall be included in a suitable fidelity
guarantee insurance. Group Directors shall ensure that the Insurance Section
is notified of such persons.

12.12 An annual insurance review shall be carried out which will take the form of a
declaration of existing covers and values provided by all Group Directors; and
any changes in covers, activities, changes to assets, major projects or
contracts shall be notified to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources in the review (or within 14 days if mid-year).

12.13 Group Directors shall notify the Head of Insurance in writing of any loss or
damage to property or goods in their department, whether insured or not. If the
loss arose as a result of theft, the relevant Group Director shall notify the
Corporate Head of Audit, Anti-Fraud and Risk Management. They shall also
inform the Head of Insurance of all claims made or of incidents that may give
rise to a claim against the Council.

12.14 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be consulted
about any insurance policies that Group Directors may wish to arrange on
behalf of other parties.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

156Page 278



FPR13 - Treasury Management

13.1 All investments and borrowing shall be made by the Group Director, Finance
and Corporate Resources and shall be in the name of the London Borough of
Hackney.

13.2 All securities which are the property of, or are in the name of, the Council shall
be recorded, managed and monitored by the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources.

13.3 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall:

(a) Produce a Treasury Management Policy Statement and Annual
Strategy Report and submit them to Cabinet and then to Council each
year;

(b) Report on Treasury Management activity during the year, at least
mid-year, and revise the Treasury Management Strategy as
appropriate and submit to Cabinet for approval, as and where
appropriate to Council; and

(c) Produce an outturn report for the previous year’s activity against the
agreed strategy and also a report on the treasury management activity
for the first half of the current financial year.

13.4 All Treasury Management activities shall be conducted by the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources in line with the relevant Chartered Institute
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice for Treasury
Management in the Public Services and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities.

13.5 Adequate division of duties shall exist between arranging and settling of
transactions. Additional segregation shall exist between arranging and
recording of transactions.

13.6 Arrangements shall exist which provide for someone other than the Treasury
Officer to monitor investment levels, which shall be periodically reviewed.
Investment levels shall by monitored by the Treasury & Pensions Manager
reviewing the weekly strategy reports produced by the Treasury Officer.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

157Page 279



FPR14 - Reimbursement of Expenses and Payment of Allowances

14.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that the
reimbursement of allowances and expenses to staff and members is in
accordance with the appropriate agreements and legislation.

14.2 All claims by employees for payment of car allowances shall be submitted at
monthly intervals to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources in
an approved form, duly certified by the Group Director or other nominated
officer. Payment of other travelling expenses, subsistence allowances and
incidental expenses shall be made upon receipt of the appropriate form duly
certified, in line with the Council’s expenses policy and guidance issued by the
Human Resources section of the Council.

14.3 Receipts shall be provided for all expenditure claimed wherever possible in
line with HMRC requirement. A valid VAT invoice shall also be obtained where
appropriate.

14.4 All claims for a financial year shall be submitted not later than one month
following 31st March in any year, except with the express approval of the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

14.5 Certification of a claim shall be taken to mean that the journeys were
authorised and the expenses properly and necessarily incurred, and that the
allowances are properly payable by the Council in accordance with the rates
approved by Cabinet. Claims submitted shall provide sufficient information to
allow such certification to take place.

FPR15 - Security and Control of Assets

15.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure the proper use and
safeguarding of assets owned by the Council or for which the Council has
responsibility. This Rule applies to all assets, including stocks, stores,
furniture, equipment, vehicles, cash, land and buildings, software and
information that are owned by, or are in the possession of the Council and for
which the Council is responsible.

15.2 The use of assets shall be restricted to authorised Council business. Surplus
assets shall be disposed of in accordance with Council procedures.

15.3 It shall be the responsibility of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources to ensure the Council’s Corporate Asset Management Plan support
the strategic approach to Capital as well as complying with best practice and
guidance issued by the Government.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

158Page 280



15.4 Group Directors shall be responsible for other Asset Management plans
prepared for the Council’s key assets such as Highways, Maintenance,
Vehicles, and ICT. In some instances, these may be encompassed within the
appropriate strategy e.g. ICT.

15.5 The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services shall have custody
of all title deeds of properties owned by the Council and be responsible for
their security, and the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall
maintain a register of all land and properties owned by the Council recording
the location, extent, plan, reference, purchase details, nature of the interests,
tenancies granted, rents payable and purpose for which held.

15.6 It shall be the responsibility of Group Directors to ensure compliance with the
measures, processes and policies outlined in the Asset Management Plans
and to ensure the maintenance and annual review of an inventory of their
directorate’s assets including those leased or loaned to the Council. The
directorate review shall be undertaken in accordance with directions and
guidance issued by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

15.7 Group Directors shall be responsible for the land and properties in their
directorate. They shall take all reasonable steps to safeguard them. Properties
shall be adequately insured, and appropriate procedures put in place to
ensure their security and safety.

15.8 An independent register of land and properties held by the Council and shall
be reconciled to the Council’s asset register held by the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources.

15.9 Group Directors shall inform the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources if they propose to acquire, lease or dispose of land and properties
by lease or freehold. They shall also inform the Insurance Section within the
Directorate of Finance and Corporate Resources for insurance purposes and
ensure that their actions are in accordance with Council rules and procedures.

15.10 Group Directors shall obtain the written prior approval of the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources for all transactions involving land and
properties which involve the Council in taking or granting an interest.

15.11 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for making sure that land and property is sold for the best consideration
possible with exceptions of Right-to-Buy sales.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

159Page 281



15.12 Right-to-Buy sales shall be the responsibility of the Group Director, Climate,
Homes and Economy and the scheme shall be administered by the Council’s
Housing Service.

15.13 The Group Director, Climate, Homes and Economy shall be responsible for
ensuring that the Council obtains best consideration for Right-to-Buy
properties and these shall comply with the rules approved by Cabinet.

15.14 Appropriations shall require approval by Cabinet.

15.15 To appropriate land and property held for one purpose to another under s122
of the Local Government Act, 1972, the asset shall first be declared surplus
and appropriated by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
after consultation with the relevant Group Director. The Group Directors and
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall ensure the Asset
Register and other records are updated and the necessary ministerial
consents obtained.

15.16 Disposals shall be made in accordance with Council rules and procedures;
and in the case of disposals of property all disposal requires Cabinet approval.
In relation to all disposals the same rules as those covering tendering
contracts shall apply. The disposal of all property shall be reported to the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources to be reflected in the
resources available to the Capital Programme and reported to Cabinet.

15.17 Group Directors shall arrange for an end of year check to make sure the
assets are still there, and their inventories are accurate. They shall send a
copy of their inventory to the Head of Insurance who shall use it to make sure
adequate insurance arrangements are in place.

15.18 No property of the Council shall be removed otherwise than in the ordinary
course of business or used otherwise than for the Council’s purposes.

15.19 Group Directors shall have power to dispose of assets with a sale value of
between £500 and £5,000 with the agreement of their Director of Finance.
This limit shall apply to single items or the aggregate value of identical items
within the financial year. Other assets can only be disposed of with the
approval of Cabinet. Assets shall be sold at the best consideration obtainable.
Under no circumstances shall Council assets be sold to employees of the
Council.

15.20 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for issuing rules on the purchase and disposal of ICT related equipment.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

160Page 282



15.21 Inventories shall be maintained by all Directorates and kept up to date. They
shall contain an adequate description (including serial numbers where
appropriate) of furnishings, fittings, equipment, plant, machinery, vehicles and
other property of the Council with an individual value exceeding £250.

15.22 Portable items such as computers, cameras and video recorders shall be
identified with security markings as belonging to the Council.

15.23 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for making checks of such inventories
not less than once per year and certifying within the inventory documentation
that the check has taken place.

15.24 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for maintaining the lists of assets of community value in compliance with the
Council’s protocol and discharge the requirements of Chapter 3 of Part 5 of
the Localism Act 2011.

FPR16 - Payment of Grants and Benefits

16.1 The objective of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that only properly
authorised grant and benefit payments are made and where discretionary, to
ensure that the purpose of the payment is achieved.

16.2 All claims shall be correctly certified and submitted only if all conditions are
met. The Group Director or designated Officer shall be responsible for
examining, verifying and certifying grant/benefit payments and certification
shall mean that:

(a) The grant/benefit payment has not been paid previously;

(b) The payment is lawful and in accordance with the Council’s policy;

(c) The payment is arithmetically correct; and

(d) The grant is within budget provision.

16.3 When making payments for which external funding can be claimed, Group
Directors shall be aware of any conditions/obligations laid down by the
external funder that the Council shall meet (e.g. monitoring of spending) and
be satisfied that these conditions/obligations are being met.

16.4 Where funding is dependent on the achievement of outputs, such outputs shall
be evidenced and monitored accordingly.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

161Page 283



16.5 The approval of the Cabinet shall be sought before a Group Director provides
assistance to industry by way of loan, grant or guarantee over £50,000 to any
one body in any one financial year.

16.6 Each Group Director shall provide a record justifying the award of the grant.

FPR17 - Record of Contracts for Capital Works

17.1 Each Group Director shall be responsible for maintaining proper records for all
contracts and for informing the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources and appropriate Councillor of the Cabinet when the final cost is
likely to exceed the financial provision.

17.2 In every case, before a Group Director or consultant issues or certifies a final
certificate of payment under a contract, the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources shall examine the contractor’s final account together
with such relevant documents and information as may be required.

17.3 These requirements shall be set out in Contract Standing Orders and shall be
applicable to all contracts.

FPR18 - Grants from External Bodies

18.1 The purpose of this Financial Procedure Rule is to ensure that all grant claims
submitted to external funders in respect of specific projects are:

(a) Lawful and in line with statutory obligations;

(b) Accurate;

(c) Complete;

(d) Timely;

(e) Within the approved grant allocation;

(f) In accordance with each funder’s eligibility criteria;

(g) Submitted with due regard to the Council’s continuing commitment to
the project; and

(h) In accordance with Council priorities.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

162Page 284



18.2 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall be responsible
for:

(a) Building in any agreed financial implications (e.g. matched funding)
into the budget strategy; and

(b) Accounting for non-specific Government Grants received and
receivable.

18.3 Group Directors shall be responsible for:

(a) Ensuring that all external funding agreed with external bodies is
received and is properly recorded in the Council’s accounts; liaising
with the Grants Team in Financial Management;

(b) Maintaining a Directorate Grant Register and reconciling this with the
Central Grants Register held by the Grants Team in Financial
Management;

(c) Ensuring that the Director of Finance is aware of and agrees all bids
for external funding;

(d) Ensuring that external funding which is sought supports the Councils
service priorities;

(e) Ensuring that any matched funding requirements relating to external
funding agreements are provided for in the budget prior to any
external funding agreement being concluded;

(f) Ensuring that necessary approvals are obtained before external
funding agreements are concluded; and

(g) Investigating ways of maximising income.

18.4 Where the use of external funding for projects requires a financial commitment
from the Council for which budget provision is not available, or where the
acceptance of external funding would lead to a financial commitment beyond
the current year, the relevant Group Director, in conjunction with the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, shall provide a written report to
Cabinet giving a full appraisal of the financial implications for the Council of
the scheme both in the current year and beyond. This report shall also set out
the ways that the external funding sought supports the Councils service
priorities.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

163Page 285



18.5 The applicant Directorate shall nominate a named responsible (senior) Officer
to be accountable for the performance and financial monitoring of each
project. The named responsible Officer shall agree deadlines for the
preparation of claims and returns with the Grants Team in Financial
Management and adhere to the “How to Guidance on Grants” issued by them.

18.6 Written approval shall be obtained from the funder which clearly shows the
approved allocation, the purpose of the grant and the financial period to which
it relates.

18.7 The responsible Officer shall ensure, prior to submission of a grant claim, that
all expenditure declared is eligible in accordance with the relevant funder’s
criteria, including purposes and deadlines.

18.8 Should there be any uncertainty as to the purpose of such funding the
responsible Officer shall make such enquiries as necessary, to the funder, to
ensure proper use of grant.

18.9 Grant claims and monitoring returns working paper files shall include an
internal authorising form approved by the Directorate Director of Finance prior
to submission to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, and
be submitted within the funder’s timescales.

18.10 Where receipt of funds from a third party (i.e. matched funding) is part of any
grant submission, Group Directors shall adhere to the guidance which has
been provided by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

18.11 The manner in which external funding is managed shall be in accordance with
Council policy, Contracts Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure Rules, in
addition to the funder’s own requirements.

18.12 Grant claim working papers shall be maintained in a form agreed by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources.

FPR19 - Partnerships

19.1 A partnership shall be defined as “a relationship between two or more
independent legal bodies, organisations or individuals working together to
achieve a common vision with clear aims and objectives”.

19.2 All Councillors and Officers currently involved in or considering partnership
working shall have regard to the Council’s Partnership Code of Practice and
ensure compliance with it.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

164Page 286



19.3 The selection of partners shall be underpinned by a procurement process as
set out in Contract Standing Orders except for the following circumstances:

(a) Where there is no exchange of funds (e.g. information sharing only);

(b) Where the Council is providing grant (e.g. this would not apply where
funding depends upon detailed specified requirements);

(c) Where it is permitted, required or encouraged by law (e.g. joint
committee, pooled budgets and integrated services with Health
Trusts).

19.4 The view of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources and Chief
Executive shall be sought before any discussions are held with potential
partners.

19.5 Any financial relationship with a partner shall be fully documented and legally
binding.

19.6 Where the entering into a partnership requires a financial commitment from
the Council, either immediate or potential, for which the budget provision is not
available, or where the acceptance of external funding would lead to a
financial commitment beyond the current year, the relevant Group Director in
conjunction with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall
provide a written report to Cabinet giving a full appraisal of the financial
implications for the Council of the scheme both in the current year and
beyond.

19.7 The approval of Cabinet shall be secured before the Group Director commits
the Council to any partnership agreement. In addition, a clear exit strategy
shall be in place prior to entering into any partnership agreement.

19.8 The Group Director of the applicant Directorate shall be responsible and
accountable for the performance and financial monitoring of each partnership.
A risk assessment shall be maintained in relation to the Council being a party
to each Partnership.

19.9 Where receipt of funds from a partner or third party (i.e. matched funding) is
part of any grant submission, Group Directors shall adhere to the guidance
which has been provided by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources

19.10 Internal Audit’s rights of access to all officers, buildings and information,
explanations and documentation required to discharge the audit and

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

165Page 287



investigation role shall be written into the appropriate agreements with these
organisations. This shall be the responsibility of Group Directors.

FPR20 - Acquisition and Disposal of Land and Buildings

20.1 Proposals for the acquisition and disposal of land or buildings, whether
freehold or leasehold, shall be referred to the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources for recommendation to Cabinet.

20.2 The acquisition and disposal of land or buildings by the Council which shall
have due consideration to the Council’s strategic approach to capital and be
executed as part of the Revenue Budget or Capital Programme as
appropriate.

20.3 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall have
responsibility for advising on land and building issues and as such:

(a) The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall
maintain a detailed record of all land and buildings owned by the
Council; and

(b) Chief Officers shall be responsible for providing information in a form
specified by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
to ensure that this record is accurate, complete and up to date.

20.4 The acquisition or lease of land or disposal of land shall be agreed by Cabinet.

20.5 All proposed new lease arrangements (whether as a lessee or a lessor) shall
be referred to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources for a
technical assessment of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS
implications), prior to any further action taking place.

FPR21 - Demolition of Council Owned Property

21.1 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources may, after consultation
with the lead Councillor of the Cabinet, authorise the demolition of a Council
owned property valued at £500,000 or less. Any property valued over
£500,001 shall be approved by the Chief Executive up to the value of £1
million. Properties requiring demolition valued at over £1 million shall be
referred to Cabinet for a decision.

21.2 The Director of Housing/Director of Regeneration may, after consultation with
the lead Councillor of the Cabinet, authorise the demolition of Housing
Revenue Account (HRA) property valued at £100,000 or less. Any property
valued £100,001 and over shall be approved by the Group Director of Climate,

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

166Page 288



Homes and Economy, up to the value of £500,000. Properties requiring
demolition valued at £500,001 and over shall be approved by the Chief
Executive up to the value of £1 million. Properties requiring demolition valued
at over £1million shall be referred to Cabinet for a decision.

Part Five - Finance and Contract Rules
Section A - Financial Procedure Rules

167Page 289



Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

Definitions of Terms within these Standing Orders

Agent
A person or organisation authorised to represent the Council’s interests and act on
its behalf.

Business Case
A document used to obtain management commitment and approval for investment in
business change, which alters the way that suppliers are selected and goods and
services are purchased, or how the Council delivers a service. It provides a
framework for planning and management of this change and ongoing identification of
risks. The viability of the resulting project will be judged on the contents of the
Business Case.

Category Lead
A procurement specialist responsible for a category of services or works. Formerly
designated as a Directorate Procurement Manager.

Consultant
A person or organisation providing professional advice or services to the Council.

Contract Manager
An Officer or Agent of the Council authorised by the responsible Director to exercise
the functions of the Council as an employer and/or client.

Contracting Officer
An Officer or Agent of the Council authorised by the responsible Director, to
undertake the design, competition and evaluation process leading to the award of a
contract.

Contractor
A person or organisation undertaking works or delivering services on behalf of the
Council or to the Council.

Director
An Officer reporting to a Group Director and defined as Tier 2 within the General
Scheme of Delegation.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

168Page 290



Dynamic Purchasing System or DPS
An electronic purchasing system for Contracts for works, services and goods
commonly available in the market as described in Regulation 34 of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015.

External Framework
A framework contract let by an external organisation (such as Crown Commercial
Services) which is compliant with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and can be
accessed by the Council.

Find a Tender Service (FTS)
The UK e-notification service where notices for new procurements are published. It
replaces the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) and applies to goods,
services and works that must be procured in accordance with Procurement
Legislation.

Group Director
An Officer reporting to the Chief Executive and defined as Tier 1 within the General
Scheme of Delegation.

Novation
The transfer of rights and obligations from one party to another in an existing
contract, with the consent of all parties involved. It allows for the substitution of a
new party who assumes all contractual responsibilities and liabilities.

Parent Company Guarantee
A guarantee which binds the parent of a subsidiary company as follows: If the
subsidiary company fails to deliver its contractual obligations, the Council, under the
terms of the guarantee, can require the parent company to do so instead or pay
money in lieu.

Procurement Instruction
Procedural advice, codes of practice or best practice guidance which explain but not
override any provision in these Contract Standing Orders.

Procurement Legislation
The relevant (where applicable) UK Regulations as amended or replaced from time
to time including The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and The Concession
Contracts Regulations 2016.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

169Page 291



State Aid
Financial or other forms of assistance provided by the government to businesses or
organisations. It includes the allocation of public resources such as grants,
subsidies, tax breaks, or loans to support specific industries, regions, or economic
activities.

Threshold(s)
The financial threshold (inclusive of VAT) at which the Procurement Legislation is
applicable. The current thresholds for the following types of contracts are:

● in the case of contracts for Works, £4,733,252;
● in the case of contracts for services or supplies, £189,330;
● in the case of contracts for Schedule 3 Services, £663,540; and
● in the case of contracts for public works or services concession contracts,

£4,733,252.

Value for Money
The optimum combination of whole-life costs and quality to meet the Council’s
defined requirements.

1. General Provisions

1.1 All Officers of the Council and agents, consultants and contractors of the
Council who carry out procurements are subject to these Contract Standing
Orders.

Regulatory and Legislative context

1.2 Every contract made by or on behalf of the Council must comply with World
Trade Organisation agreements, the Local Government Act 1999 and all
relevant domestic legislation, regulations or legally binding guidance, the
Council’s Constitution and these Standing Orders.

1.3 “Brexit”: The EU Public Procurement Directives are enacted in domestic
legislation, for example The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and The
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. Having left the European Union, this
legislation remains in force unless amended or repealed by new domestic
legislation, at which point these Contract Standing Orders will be updated
accordingly.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

170Page 292



1.4 All procurement activity must be carried out, not only in accordance with these
Standing Orders, but also in compliance with the Council’s Constitution
including the General Scheme of Delegation to Officers, Best Practice Guides
and other relevant guidance, as published by the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources, or designated deputy.

1.5 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or designated deputy
may from time to time issue Procurement Instructions on matters concerning
procedural advice, codes of practice and best practice guidance, which will
explain but not override any provision in these Contract Standing Orders,
unless authorisation in writing has been given by the Chief Executive or the
Elected Mayor and Cabinet. Failure to follow a Procurement Instruction issued
in accordance with this Standing Order will be considered a breach and
subject to Standing Order 1.7.

1.6 Group Directors are responsible for ensuring compliance with these
procedural instructions and with the detailed processes set out in the Council’s
Procurement intranet pages, within their Directorate and within the timescales
specified in the instructions. If no timescale is specified, the instruction is to
be implemented with immediate effect.

1.7 It is the responsibility of all Officers to report any breach of Contract Standing
Orders of which they become aware, to their Director and the Director of
Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services. The Director is required to report
any breach to the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and to
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or designated deputy.
A breach of these Standing Orders may result in the application of the
Council’s disciplinary procedures.

Conduct of Officers and Members

1.8 All Councillors and Officers must carry out their duties having regard to
relevant current Codes of Conduct in force in the Council and all appropriate
legislation such as the Bribery Act 2010.

1.9 All Councillors and Officers involved in the letting of contracts are expected to
seek best value for money and continuous improvement, and to behave in a
demonstrably fair and even-handed manner, whatever the contract value.

1.10 All Councillors and Officers who may have, or may appear to have, a conflict
of interest in the award or management of a contract, shall declare this to the
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and to the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or designated deputy, and must

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

171Page 293

http://staffroom.hackney.gov.uk/finance-procure-procurement.htm


take no part in any decision making or other process with regard to that
contract.

1.11 No Member, employee or agent of the Council shall improperly use their
position to obtain any personal or private benefit from any Contract entered
into by the Council. This includes the accepting of gifts or hospitality of any
nature and/or value either pre, during or post the contracting activity, unless
this is pre-approved and entered onto the Gifts and Hospitality Register.
Guidance can be found within the Councillor Code of Conduct and Officers’
Code of Conduct and on the Council intranet.

Effective Period and Reviews

1.12 These Contract Standing Orders shall be effective from the date of adoption
by Full Council and will be reviewed periodically as required but, in their
entirety, once every five years by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources and the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services
Services.

Partnering Agreements and Partnering Arrangements

1.13 The Contracting Officer must seek advice from the appropriate Category Lead
when considering the development of a Collaborative or Partnering approach
to a contract. Unless the terms and conditions are drawn up specifically for
the purpose of a Collaborative or Partnering contract, this approach will have
no legal status and will only define the behaviour and approach within the
formal Contract rather than to supersede or add to any legal responsibilities
inherent within the Contract.

1.14 No arrangement which is stated as being “Partnering” or “Partnership” should
have the legal status this implies under the Partnership Act 1890 unless this
has been considered in writing as set out in Standing Order 1.15 below. This
is to say the Council’s default position is that there is no intention to create a
new partnership entity from any arrangement or to incur joint liability for its
debts and obligations.

1.15 For any Partnering Arrangement where the Council is the accountable body
for expenditure, the Council’s Contract Standing Orders normally apply. Any
exception or class of exception to this principle must be agreed by Cabinet or
Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee. Where the Council is not the
accountable body, to ensure proper use of funds paid from the Council
Officers must be satisfied that the procurement framework of the partnership
is broadly comparable with the Council’s. The proposed arrangements must

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

172Page 294



be agreed with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or
designated deputy.

1.16 Where the Council proposes to enter into a Partnering Agreement with a
Contractor, the Gateway Process shall be applied to the selection process.

1.17 Where the Council proposes to participate as a Partner in an arrangement
that may generate revenue or incur financial or operational liability, this
proposal must be considered through the Gateway Process, and the written
advice of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources obtained, regarding the
legal and financial ability of the Council to trade or to provide the services
required. The resulting agreement will be considered a Partnering Agreement.

Tender and Contract Documents

1.18 Where procurements are above the relevant threshold, all procurement
documents, including the draft contract, must be available at the time the
contract opportunity is advertised via a Find a Tender (FTS) advert. All Tender
Documents including Conditions of Contract, or (where Standard Forms of
Contract are used) associated contractual documents must include certain
clauses to protect the Council. These are that:

(a) The Council may terminate a Contract on the grounds of:

- Insolvency of the Contractor;
- Corruption;
- Collusive tendering;
- Breach of Contract Conditions;
- Breach of any part of the Procurement Legislation.

(b) The consequences of any termination are provided for.

(c) Equalities and diversity matters are as set out in the Council’s
‘Equality and Diversity Policy’ and the Council’s ‘Corporate Equality
Plan’ and its responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010, the Race
Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, the Sex Discrimination (Gender
Reassignment) Regulations 2003, the Equal Pay (Amendment)
Regulations 1983, the Pensions Act 1995, the Employment Equality
(Age) Regulations 2006, the Human Rights Act 1998, the Statutory
Code of Practice on Racial Equality in Employment 2006 and all other
relevant legislation and any statutory modification or re-enactment of
such legislation during the life of these Standing Orders.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

173Page 295



(d) The Council will have due regard to the Public Services (Social Value)
Act 2012 and the Modern Slavery Act 2015, as amended from time to
time, when procuring Contracts. The Council will also always have
regard to payment of the London Living Wage for contractors’ staff
engaged on its contracts for services or works.

(e) There is provision for the recovery of sums due to the Council.

(f) The Contractor’s rights to assign and sub-contract are properly
controlled e.g. if it is permissible in our contract with Entity A for Entity
B or C to do all or some of the work and if so, what authorisation must
first be sought from the Council by Entity A for this to happen.

(g) The arrangements for payments are properly defined. Any contractual
payment due from the Council to a Contractor must be paid no later
than 30 days from the date of a valid and undisputed invoice. Such
contract payment terms shall be replicated in any sub-contract
entered into by the main Contractor and any further sub-contracts.

(h) The Council reserves its right not to accept the lowest, or any, tender
or to award a contract.

(i) Insurance and indemnity provisions including professional indemnity
where applicable. (This should be agreed on a project basis with the
Head of Insurance to ensure the appropriate level of cover is identified
for the contract – to facilitate this, the Risk Assessment, completed at
the Business Case stage, must be sent to the Head of Insurance as
soon as possible).

(j) In respect of all other clauses, Contracting Officers are responsible for
considering all aspects of the intended contract and ensuring that
clauses are incorporated in their documentation to cover all
appropriate matters. Standard contract conditions are published on
the procurement pages of the Council’s intranet and must be used
where relevant. The advice of Category Lead or the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services must be sought.

(i) In the event of any query concerning the applicability of standard
contract conditions; or

(ii) Regarding the guidance published under Contract Standing
Order 1.5.2 below; or

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

174Page 296



(iii) If amendments of the Council’s standard documents or drafting
of bespoke contract specific clauses are contemplated.

1.19 The Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services, after consultation
with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or designated
deputy, may approve standard procurement documents for use by the Council
and to issue instructions on the precise form of contract to be used for a
procurement.

Financial Parameters

1.20 Where monetary figures are specified in these Standing Orders:

(a) The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources shall review
them at least as frequently as once in every financial year.

(b) They shall be without prejudice to the financial thresholds of the
relevant Procurement Legislation which shall take precedence.

1.21 Where monetary figures refer to Contract values against which an estimate of
Contract expenditure is made, the requirements shall not be artificially split to
avoid competition, neither shall:

(a) Any other form of disaggregating be accepted for similar purposes.

(b) A department or section of the Council be permitted to regard itself as
a ‘discrete operational unit’ within the terms of Procurement
Legislation, unless specifically approved by the Council.

1.22 These Standing Orders relate to the estimated value over the term of a
Contract (or over four years, if the term is four years or longer) and, in
estimating the Contract value, the Contracting Officer shall take account of
historic cost and an assessment of future trends, or, where the requirement is
new, the best estimate of value available at the time.

1.23 All monetary values referred to within this document are total contract values,
including all proposed extensions, not annual values, and exclude Value
Added Tax unless otherwise stated.

1.24 Contracts must be packaged appropriately to achieve maximum value for the
Council. They must never be split in order to avoid quotation or tendering
limits in these Standing Orders or relevant Thresholds or any other
requirements of these Standing Orders or packaged in any way to reduce the
potential for fair and open competition.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

175Page 297



1.25 The value of a contract should be estimated in good faith and with due care
and attention. Where the estimated value is within 10% of either the
thresholds within Contract Standing Orders or the relevant Thresholds, advice
must be sought from the Category Lead.

1.26 If it becomes evident during the procurement process that the likely value of
the contract will either exceed one of the Thresholds or will exceed the original
estimate by more than 10%, advice must be sought from the Category Lead.

1.27 The Council may decide to advertise a contract in the form of separate lots
and may determine the size and subject matter of such lots. The Council shall
provide an indication of the main reasons for any decision not to subdivide
into lots, which shall be included in the procurement documents for any
contract above the relevant Threshold.

Budgetary Provision

1.28 No order shall be placed or tender invited unless there is sufficient budgetary
provision for the minimum term of the contract intended to be entered into.
Any report must clearly identify a cost estimate and whether the funding is
from Capital, Revenue or from another source.

Performance Guarantee Bond or Parent Company Guarantees

1.29 The Council may require a Performance Guarantee Bond or Parent Company
Guarantee included in the contract having considered the Council’s exposure
to risks. The Contracting Officer shall seek advice from the Category Lead on
whether there is a need for a bond and/or Parent Company Guarantee.

1.30 Where a Contract is expected to exceed £1,000,000 then the Contracting
Officer shall consult with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources, or designated deputy, as to whether a bond or guarantee is
required.

Electronic Auctions (E-Tendering)

1.31 Where goods, services or works are purchased by use of electronic means
that require the successful contractor to be notified immediately at the
termination of the electronic process and in receipt of a signed contract within
a significantly reduced time period, Contracting Authority and Gateway
exemption must be obtained in advance.

1.33 Where an electronic auction is permitted, activities for post-tender assessment
shall be carried out prior to the closing of the auction i.e. the evaluation of

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

176Page 298



“quality” must have been concluded on a pass-or-fail basis for every bidder,
prior to closing prices being submitted in an electronic auction. All closing
prices for remaining bidders will, therefore, be equally capable of acceptance,
and contract award will be on the basis of lowest price alone.

1.34 A retrospective Contract Award report must be submitted to the next available
Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee or Hackney Procurement
Board, depending on the applicable contracting process.

Grant Funded Expenditure

1.35 Where the Council is the Accountable Body for expenditure under Grant
Funded Initiatives and the timescale for the Grant expenditure precludes
adherence to the Gateway Process and these Standing Orders, the Chief
Executive and the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or
designated deputy, shall solely have the authority to authorise necessary
contract expenditure, provided always that:

(a) Authorisation is granted in relation to specific contracts and specified
amounts;

(b) The best practicable observance of the Gateway procedure has been
adopted;

(c) The action is permissible in law;

(d) UK requirements prohibiting State Aid are observed (see Contract
Standing Order 1.36 below); and

(e) The matter is reported to the next available meeting of the Hackney
Procurement Board or Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing
Committee or Cabinet as appropriate.

1.36 State Aid is a complex area and legal advice must always be sought if it is
considered that State Aid may be an issue. Breaching State Aid rules can
lead to the requirement to repay, with interest, all monies that comprise the
aid.

1.37 Where a project is to be funded as a grant from the Council, the Council will
not apply the procurement processes, except for the fact that as part of the
grant agreement, the Council would oblige money expended by the project
from the grant sum to be spent, in accordance with appropriate Procurement
Legislation and the conditions of the grant.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

177Page 299



1.38 Where the Council proposes to undertake procurement following receipt of a
grant or as part of Pooled Funding Arrangements, these Contract Standing
Orders apply unless superseded by the specific conditions of that grant, in
which case such conditions take precedence.

Application of the Procurement Legislation

1.39 A main factor affecting the application of Procurement Legislation is the value
of the supplies, services, or works that are provided or undertaken for the
organisation. In valuing a contract or transaction, it is also necessary to
consider whether the “aggregation” rules apply. In principle, the relevant value
for threshold purposes is the value of each individual contract. However, in
certain circumstances it is necessary to add together the value of purchases
made under a number of similar contracts. In essence this means that the
value to be used is the greater of:

(a) The individual contract value;

(b) The total value of a series of similar contracts; and

(c) The total value of the contract if it is renewed in accordance with the
terms of the contract.

1.40 The highest value must always be used and “estimates” must be genuine.
Contracts must not be subdivided or split to try and avoid the application of
the rules. Note that dividing the work among two or more
suppliers/contractors/service providers does not avoid application of the rules.

1.41 In estimating the contact value, the aggregation rules of the Procurement
Legislation should be used. Where the estimated value is within 10% of the
relevant Thresholds, advice must be sought from the Category Lead.
Deliberate disaggregation of any development scheme or procurement to
avoid the application of the Public Procurement Directives will be treated as a
disciplinary offence.

1.42 All Services are regulated by Procurement Legislation but certain Services
such as Health, Social Care and Legal Services are subject to a “light touch”
regime. Advice from the Category Lead should be sought with regards to the
procurement of any such Services.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

178Page 300



Consortia Procurement

1.43 Where the Council is acting as the lead authority in a consortium for the
procurement of goods, works or services, these Contract Standing Orders will
be applicable.

1.44 Where the Council is participating in a consortium for the procurement of
goods, services or works, the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources, or designated deputy, and the Director of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services, or designated deputy, shall satisfy themselves that the
procurement process being followed provides at least the same level of
comfort and security to the Council as its own Contract Standing Orders and
that a proper process has been followed in respect of Procurement Legislation
where the value of the contract is above the threshold.

1.45 Where goods, services or works are purchased by another public body on
behalf of the Council or by the Council through a contract properly let by
another such organisation in accordance with Standing Order 2, then this shall
be deemed as having satisfied the requirement or competition.

Disposal of Assets

1.46 Subject to compliance with Financial Procedure Rules and any instructions of
the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, Directors have
authority to dispose of all materials, plant, machinery, fittings, equipment,
stocks or stores which because of damage, wear or obsolescence are no
longer serviceable for the purposes for which they are held or are surplus to
the Council’s requirements. Any salvageable or useable items or parts must
be sold in the best available market and at the best price reasonably
obtainable:

(a) Where the outcome from the disposal of an asset exceeds £6,000, the
disposal must be reported to the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources or designated deputy for accounting purposes
and accounted for as a capital receipt;

(b) Where the likely income from any disposal exceeds £10,000, then the
arrangements for such disposal must be approved by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, prior to any negotiations
commencing;

(c) Assets acquired under operational leasing arrangements must not be
disposed of during the period of the lease; any subsequent disposal of

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

179Page 301



obsolete equipment will need to be subject to negotiation between the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources and the leasing
company; and

(d) In all cases, records must be maintained of disposals to ensure assets
can be properly accounted for.

1.47 The off-hire and disposal of vehicles must be undertaken by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or designated deputy.

1.48 The disposal of property, land or interests in land is dealt with under separate
provision determined by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources.

Responsibilities

1.49 The Chief Executive, Group Directors, Directors and Service Heads (referred
to collectively in these Standing Orders as “Service Managers”) and all other
Managers and Supervisors must ensure that their staff are aware of and have
access to these Standing Orders and other issued Procurement Instructions
at all times.

1.50 There shall always be a Director responsible for a Contract throughout the
Contract term as well as during its formation.

1.51 No Officer may carry the responsibility of both the Director and the Contracting
Officer for the same contract. Any suitable officer may be the Contracting
Officer providing that the responsibility has been delegated to them within the
duties of their Job Description or in writing by the Director.

1.52 Any Officer may discharge both the duties of a Contracting Officer and a
Contract Manager for the same Contract at the discretion of the Director, the
Director having first considered the desirability of any separation of duties.

Duties

1.53 The duties that fall under the responsibility of a Group Director, Director,
Contracting Officer, Contract Manager and other Officers with defined
responsibilities are set out under these Contract Standing Orders and the
Council’s Constitution.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

180Page 302



Procurement of Vehicles (Fleet)

1.54 The procurement of all Council Vehicles (through purchase, hire or lease)
must be undertaken by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
or designated deputy, or other Group Director having responsibility for
Corporate Fleet Management, or nominated deputy.

2. Procurement Procedures

2.1 These Standing Orders outline 6 procurement routes to be followed for all
procurement activities within the London Borough of Hackney:

(a) Single Tender

(b) De minimis

(c) Request for Quotation (RFQ)

(d) Low Risk Contract

(e) Medium Risk Contract; and

(f) High Risk Contract

Single Tender Action (STA)

2.2 Procurement by virtue of a single tender action may only be permitted if any of
the following applies:

(a) By reason of regulation or legislation only one supplier of the Product
or Service exists;

(b) Only a Proprietary Product or Service is suitable, or is justifiably
acceptable to external customers, or the Product or Service consists
of repairs or works to an existing Proprietary Product or Service,
where, by reason of intellectual property rights, there is only one
supplier;

(c) The value of the Contract is below the relevant Threshold and the
Contracting Officer can demonstrate to the Group Director, Finance
and Corporate Resources, or designated deputy, why a single tender
action affords the Council Best Value; and

(d) In exceptional cases of such extreme urgency that a Tender process
cannot be undertaken.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

181Page 303



And, in all cases, there is not a suitable existing contract or framework
agreement (See Section 5 below).

2.3 In all the above cases, where the value of the proposed procurement is below
£100K, the Contracting Officer must submit a written case to the Director,
including comments from the Category Lead and, subject to acceptance of the
case, retain a copy of the written agreement with the contract documents. The
Director must always have regard to Standing Orders 1.8 to 1.11 and 2.2
when considering the request and shall retain a written record of their
consideration. The Director will submit a list of all single tenders authorised by
them, showing contract value, contract description, contractor and duration, to
their Group Director, and each Group Director shall on a quarterly basis
submit a single list for their department to the Group Director Finance and
Corporate Resources or nominated deputy. These decisions shall be regularly
reported to Cabinet by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
in the Overall Financial Position Report.

2.4 In all the above cases, where the value of the proposed procurement is
£100,000 or more, the Director and the Contracting Officer must submit a
written case to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or
designated deputy, and, subject to acceptance of the case, retain a copy of
the written agreement with the contract documents. The Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources must always have regard to Standing
Orders 1.8 to 1.11 and 2.2 when considering each request and shall retain a
written record of their consideration. These shall be regularly reported to
Cabinet by the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources in the
Overall Financial Position Report.

2.5 In all such cases above, the Contract Officer must:

(a) Specify the Product or Service in writing;

(b) Where only one Tenderer is identified, ensure the best price and
conditions are negotiated and that these are recorded;

(c) Ensure that provisions for the adjustment in price, volumes or other
variable factors have been agreed and recorded in writing;

(d) Ensure there are provisions for effective performance management
and termination; and

(e) Be mindful of Standing Orders 1.18 and 1.19.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

182Page 304



De Minimis Procurement

2.6 De Minimis Procurements or “Contracts on a price” are instances where there
is no, or limited, requirement for competition. Contracts with an estimated
value of up to £5,000 do not require competition, although an oral quotation
must always be sought and all transactions must be fully recorded.

Contracts with a value greater than £5,000

2.7 Contracts with a value greater than £5,000 will follow the Hackney
Procurement Framework. Where the total value is less than £25,000,
quotations should be obtained as set out in the flowchart below:

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

183Page 305



Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

184Page 306



Total Value Number
of Quotes

Procedure
(minimum requirement)

Award Process

£0- £5,000 1 Minimum 1 verbal quote
must be sought - competition
not required however
evidence of value for money
must be demonstrated and
all transactions must be fully
recorded.

Budget holder

£5,000-
£25,000

2 Quotations obtained via the
e-Tendering system
(ProContract)

Budget
holder/Service
Director

£25,000
-£100,000

3 Quotations obtained, against
a formal specification, via
the e-Tendering system
(ProContract)

Service Director

2.7.1 The relevant Head of Service must keep a record of:

(a) Invitations to quote and quotations;
(b) Any waivers to the procurement process and the reasons for them;
(c) The reason if the lowest price is not accepted;
(d) Written communications with the successful contractor or an

electronic record if a written record of the transaction would normally
not be produced;

Copies of the quotes received must be appended to the relevant requisition.

Contracts with a value greater than £100,000

2.8 All proposed procurements with a value in excess of £100,000 must follow the
“over £100K” flow on the flowchart above. The Contracting Officer must
complete a procurement impact assessment (PRIMAS) and a risk
assessment, utilising the Risk Assessment Tool (RAT). Where the value is
more than £100,000, a written Business Case must also be completed.

2.9 The completed RAT and PRIMAS and Business Case must be forwarded by
the Contracting Officer to the Category Lead who will advise on the proposals

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

185Page 307



and will confirm the risk rating of the RAT. For procurements over £100K, the
Category Lead will also provide comments on the Business Case. The RAT
and PRIMAS and the Business Case shall then be submitted for approval by
the Director. The Category Lead’s commentary will provide any relevant
procurement comments that the Director needs to be aware of and will include
a professional view on the risk categorisation. This will, therefore, determine
the Procurement Strategy to be adopted.

2.10 The Risk Assessment will categorise each procurement activity as:

Low Risk

Procurement to be managed by the Contracting Officer and the Category
Lead and must consist of the following components.

(a) Entry on to the Procurement Pipeline where the contract is to be
awarded by Hackney Procurement Board (HPB) or Cabinet
Procurement and Insourcing Committee (CPIC);

(b) Specification;

(c) Simple Invitation to Tender (ITT) document;

(d) Minimum of three (3) external tenderers (CSO 3.1 refers to advertising
requirements);

(e) Evaluation and Award Criteria;

(f) Contract Management Arrangements; and

(g) Recording of the contract on the Corporate Register.

For the award of contract, the Contracting Officer must complete the required
template report. This report is approved by the Group Director or Director but
cannot be further delegated in line with the financial Scheme of Delegation
approval levels.

If the value of the Contract is above the delegated authority of the Group
Director within the Scheme of Delegation, then the report is approved by the
Chair of Hackney Procurement Board, if less than £2m, or by Cabinet
Procurement and Insourcing Committee, if more than £2m.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

186Page 308



Medium Risk

Procurement to follow the Gateway Process through the Hackney
Procurement Board.

High Risk

Procurement to follow the Gateway Process through the Cabinet Procurement
and Insourcing Committee.

See Table 1 below for a summary of approval required at each review point
depending on risk and value.

Risk
Category

Contract
Value

Business
Case
Approval

Business
Case Report
template

Contract
Award
Approval

Contract
Award Report
template

LOW Up to £500k Director

Low risk report

Director Simple CA
report

£500k - £1M Director Group Director

£1m - £2m Director HPB HPB low risk
report

£2m + Director CPIC CPIC report

MEDIUM Up to £2m HPB

HPB report

HPB HPB report

£2m + HPB CPIC

CPIC report

HIGH Regardless of
the value

CPIC CPIC report CPIC

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

187Page 309



* Please note that Regeneration and Hackney Education have higher thresholds for
delegated authority to approve reports. Speak to the relevant Procurement Category
Lead if unsure.

2.11 Where the Director does not agree with the procurement strategy being
recommended by the Category Lead, the Director should present a written
appeal to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or a
designated deputy.

For Contracts where there are fewer than the required minimum invitations to Quote
or Tender

2.12 In cases where the Contracting Officer wishes to proceed with competitive
Quotation or Tender, but to invite fewer than the minimum number set out in
Standing Orders 2.7 and 2.10, the Director and the Contracting Officer must
certify the reason and obtain the written agreement of the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources or designated deputy, this correspondence
to be retained with the procurement records for the contract.

Gateway Procurement Framework

2.13 Contracts with a risk assessment of Low (if by virtue of their value to be
awarded at Hackney Procurement Board or Cabinet Procurement and
Insourcing Committee), Medium or High shall be entered onto the
Procurement Pipeline.

2.14 A procurement activity shall be placed on to the Procurement Pipeline once
the proposal has been agreed by the Director and the risk-based procurement
route endorsed by the Category Lead.

2.15 The procurement of ICT related goods and services (including procurements
which have implications for the Council’s information assets) must be agreed
and approved by the Director of ICT, or designated deputy, before acceptance
on to the Procurement Pipeline. Early consultation with ICT is advised to avoid
any delay to the delivery of projects.

2.16 Business Cases that relate to the procurement of vehicles must be approved
by the Corporate Fleet Manager before acceptance on to the Procurement
Pipeline.

2.17 Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee and Corporate Leadership
Team will review the progress of all contracting activities on the Procurement
Pipeline.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

188Page 310



2.18 All procurements with a risk assessment of “High Risk” will be overseen by the
Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee.

2.19 All procurements with a risk assessment of “Medium Risk” will be overseen by
the Hackney Procurement Board at the Business Case stage and at Contract
Award up to a value of £2m. Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee
will determine the award of contracts above £2m.

2.20 A Group Director, having considered the Procurement Pipeline may require
that authority generally delegated to a Director in their department is instead
reserved to them in respect of a particular procurement or specified class or
group of procurements. This discretion will normally be exercised when an
item is placed on the Procurement Pipeline and will be given in writing to the
relevant Director.

2.21 Under no circumstances is a procurement to be de-classified from High Risk
to Medium Risk or lower or removed from the Gateway Programme without
the consent of the relevant approving body.

2.22 For High Risk procurement the approval to progress to market or award a
contract following Gateway Reviews at Business Case and Contract Award
will be with Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee. Nevertheless,
the Chair of Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee has discretion to
refer any Gateway Business Case or Contract Award review for decision by
Cabinet if they deem it appropriate. This discretion will normally be exercised
when the item is placed on the Procurement Pipeline.

2.23 For Medium Risk procurements, the approval of a Gateway Review Business
Case will rest with the Chair of Hackney Procurement Board. The approval to
award a contract following Gateway Contract Award will rest with the Chair of
Hackney Procurement Board, up to a maximum contract value of £2m. Above
£2m the Contract Award will be referred to the Cabinet Procurement and
Insourcing Committee for award. The Chair of Hackney Procurement Board
has discretion to refer any Gateway Business Case or Contract Award for
decision by Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee, if they deem it
appropriate. This discretion will normally be exercised when the item is placed
on the Procurement Pipeline.

Review Point 2 – Business case

2.24 Contracting Officers are required to complete a Business Case paper. For Low
Risk Procurements this will normally be considered by the Director. For
Medium Risk procurements, if time scales permit, this will be considered at

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

189Page 311



the next available Hackney Procurement Board Meeting, but, if this is
impractical due to time constraints, the paper may be submitted to the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or nominated deputy for approval
and then subsequently submitted to the next available Hackney Procurement
Board or for High Risk Procurements the next available Cabinet Procurement
and Insourcing Committee (as appropriate) as an Information Paper.

Review Point 4 – Contract Award

2.25 Following an appropriate competitive process, with oversight by the relevant
Category Lead, a Contract Award paper must be produced and submitted to
the Director, Group Director, Hackney Procurement Board or Cabinet
Procurement and Insourcing Committee (as relevant).

2.26 The flowchart below outlines the component parts of the Gateway
Procurement Process which applies to all Medium and High-Risk procurement
within the Hackney Procurement Framework.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

190Page 312



Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

191Page 313



3. Procedural Requirements

Advertising your requirements

3.1 For contracts below £100,000, the Council must take all reasonable steps to
obtain Best Value in selecting its bidders from which competitive quotations
are sought. This must be done always having reference to the requirements
of Contract Standing Orders 1.8 to 1.11, although advertising is not mandatory
for such value contracts. Where the estimated value of the contract exceeds
£100,000 subject to Standing Order 5 on the use of Framework Agreements
and Approved Lists, the following methods must be used to identify potential
suppliers. If the Council identifies a requirement to advertise for any contracts
with a value above £25,000 (net of VAT) then this opportunity must be
advertised on Contracts Finder:

(a) If the value is between £100,000 and the relevant Threshold, subject
to 3.2 below – an invitation to tender shall be sent to at least four
suitable persons or organisations, unless there is only one supplier,
following advertisements in appropriate publications, the Council’s
website and Contracts Finder;

(b) If the value is at the relevant Threshold or above, officers must apply
the competitive process in accordance with the Procurement
Legislation Current levels are given on the Procurement pages on the
Council intranet.

3.2 Specifically, for works contracts with an estimated value between £100,000
and the relevant Threshold, Officers may use, as approved by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, a nationally recognised
pre-qualification system such as Constructionline, subject to current advice
from the Category Lead. The use of Constructionline does not replace
competitive tendering.

Evaluation of Suppliers

3.3 Officers shall apply criteria in addition to price when evaluating potential
suppliers. All contracts awarded under the Procurement Legislation, shall be
awarded using the Most Economically Advantageous Tender approach.

3.4 Where the contract is risk assessed as either Medium or High Risk, a bidder’s
financial viability shall be assessed in all instances prior to making an award
of contract. This must be a pass or fail test and should be assessed in relation
to the likely severity of the consequences of a contractor’s financial failure

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

192Page 314



during the contract term. Lower value and shorter-term contracts and
contracts with multiple suppliers will carry lower risk. External credit reports
can be taken into account but must not be relied upon in isolation. A supplier
should ordinarily be required to satisfy certain financial metrics or ratios.
These metrics ratios must be published as part of the selection criteria. The
assessment of financial viability must never be used to arbitrarily restrict a
potential field of bidders. The impact on SMEs and start-up businesses may,
in particular, be disproportionate. A bidder should always be given the
opportunity to comment on a negative assessment of their financial viability
and their comments should be taken into account when reaching an award
decision.

3.5 Where a contract is valued below the relevant threshold for works, services
and supplies, a single stage process shall be used without a supplier
questionnaire (SQ) unless this is agreed by the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources or their designated deputy. Any procurements above
the relevant threshold must use SQs, on the basis of Central Government
Guidance, in accordance with the relevant Procurement Legislation, as
prescribed by the Category Lead.

3.6 Where a procurement activity is following the Gateway Procurement Process,
sustainability policies must be assessed in accordance with statutory
requirements and Council policy as part of the evaluation of the tender
response.

3.7 If a tender is received with an abnormally low price in proportion to the tender
requirements, the Council Officer leading the procurement, in consultation with
the Category Lead, shall require the tenderer to explain the price or costs
proposed in the tender. If after consulting the tenderer, the Officer is not
satisfied that the evidence or explanation provided can satisfactorily account
for the low price or costs proposed, the Officer in liaison with the Category
Lead will decide whether to reject the tender or not.

Late Tenders and Quotations

3.8 The time limits for the receipt of tenders shall be fixed in accordance with
Regulation 47 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

3.9 Tenders or quotations which are received by the Council after the specified
time and date will not be considered.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

193Page 315



Tender Opening

3.10 All tenders shall be returned to a deputy designated by the Group Director,
Finance and Corporate Resources who shall be responsible for the
safekeeping of tenders, including tenders received electronically until opening.
All tenders, other than those received electronically, shall be opened by two
Tender Opening Officers, at least one of whom shall be from the Directorate of
Finance and Corporate Resources. Tenders received electronically may be
opened by one Tender Opening Officer from the Directorate of Finance and
Corporate Resources, or two where the tender relates to the Directorate of
Finance and Corporate Resources, where one officer is not employed within
the tender letting area.

3.11 The Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or designated deputy
shall ensure that sufficient persons designated as Tender Opening Officers to
enable at least two persons to open and record all Tenders received in
connection with each contract, who have had, or will have, no material
involvement in the procurement.

‘Request for Quotation’ (RFQ) Process

3.12 Directors are responsible for ensuring that quotations are received, opened
and stored in their service area so that they are available for future reference,
and Group Directors must be satisfied that their Directors have made
satisfactory arrangements to discharge this responsibility.

Post Tender Appraisal to Award

3.13 Providing clarification of an invitation to tender to bidders or seeking
clarification of a tender is permitted subject to this Standing Order 3.13
Officers may clarify mistakes or errors in the tender submitted, or apparent
inconsistencies in the tender documentation. Where there are post tender
clarifications, all tenderers involved should be notified and all information
documented by the Officers conducting the clarification.

3.14 Discussion with tenderers, after submission of a tender and before the award
of a contract, with a view to obtaining variations to scope, price or
specification is generally not permitted and is always subject to the
Procurement Legislation.

3.15 Where post-tender clarification results in a significant material change to the
specification or scope of the procurement, then the contract must not be
awarded but re-tendered.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

194Page 316



Contract Award

3.16 Contracts will only be awarded in accordance with these Contract Standing
Orders and the Schemes of Delegation.

3.17 Contracts subject to the full Procurement Legislation must be awarded in
accordance with the “Mandatory Standstill Period”. There must be a minimum
of 10 calendar days between the dispatch of the notification of the award
decision and contract conclusion (‘Day 1’ is the day after the award decision is
issued by fax or email and in writing to all tenderers. If the standstill period
ends on a UK non-working day, it must be extended to the end of the next
working day). The standstill period need not apply following application of the
urgency provision under the negotiated procedure where single tendering
takes place.

3.18 All contracts awarded by Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee
may be subject to the Council’s Call-in procedure. Subject to Standing Order
3.17, contracts can be awarded 5 days after the publication of the decision
unless it is Called-in.

Signing and Sealing Of Contracts

3.19 All contracts, whatever the value, will be in writing and entered into at the
appropriate level set out below taking account of value in accordance with
these Contract Standing Orders and the Schemes of Delegation.

3.20 Contracts shall be awarded on the terms and conditions as approved by the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or designated deputy, and
the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and may be signed
on behalf of the Council “under hand” by the relevant Director or Group
Director or the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services or
designated deputy.

3.21 Subject to 3.22 below, contracts valued at less than £500,000 may be entered
into “under hand” by Council Officers in accordance with the financial
thresholds set out in the Schemes of Delegation.

3.22 For Low and Medium Risk contracts valued at £500,000 or more and all High
Risk contracts, and Civic Agreements or where there is no price or other
tangible consideration or as may be recognised in Law, the Director of Legal,
Democratic and Electoral Services or designated deputy will affix the Council’s
seal in order to execute such contracts as deeds unless authority is given by

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

195Page 317



the said Officer whether generally or specifically that a contract can be
entered into “under hand” by the Chief Officer without affixing the seal.

3.23 No works or delivery of supplies or services of any value, or payment for
those, shall be allowed prior to the relevant contracts having been awarded. In
cases of unavoidable urgency, the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral
Services may issue guidance generally or for specific procurements on
committing to contractual arrangements through an initial exchange of
correspondence, as provided in Contract Standing Orders (above) to written
contracts being formalised and entered into as quickly as possible.

Archiving of Data

3.24 Contract documentation shall be retained by the relevant Director as well as
details of the decision-making process for all contracts including documented
evidence of the justification for award of contract, the evaluation criteria used,
and the results of applying these criteria. Group Directors must satisfy
themselves that suitable arrangements are in place.

3.25 Contract documents shall be retained for 12 years after the period of
obligation if the Contract was awarded under seal and for six years if it was
awarded “under hand”. Contract final accounts shall also be retained for 12
years. Quotations and unsuccessful tenders shall be retained for two years.

3.26 The Contracts Registers (see 3.29 to 3.31 below) shall be permanently
retained.

3.27 The Contracting Officer shall make an electronic copy of every signed or
sealed contact over £100,000 in Portable Document Format (PDF) and shall
send this to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources
(contract.library@hackney.gov.uk) within 10 working days of signing or
sealing.

3.28 The Legal and Governance Services Division shall also make an electronic
copy of all sealed contracts in PDF. It shall be retained on the Legal Services
document management system.

Contracts Register

3.29 In accordance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, once a
contract over £5,000 in value has been awarded, the Central Procurement
Team (Procurement.Admin@Hackney.gov.uk) must be notified of the following
information by the Contracting Officer so that the Contract Register can be
updated and details of the contract published:

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

196Page 318



(a) Contract title;

(b) Supplier name, details of company and, where relevant, registered
company number;

(c) Contract term including details of start and end date;

(d) Whether or not the contract was the result of an invitation to quote or
a published invitation to tender;

(e) Estimated total contract value;

(f) Description of goods and / or services being provided;

(g) Name of Contract Manager;

(h) Department responsible for contract; and

(i) Any VAT that cannot be recovered.

3.30 In addition, the Contracting Officer must ensure the following records must be
available:

(a) Details of any pre-qualification process and the results;

(b) How suppliers were selected for a bidding list;

(c) The Business case for a single tender action;

(d) Copies of tenders;

(e) Notes of the evaluation process, award procedure and any
post-tender negotiations; and

(f) Copies of final orders or Contracts.

3.31 Where appropriate, the Contract Manager will maintain records to show:

(a) Maintenance of bonds and appropriate insurances;

(b) Any variations;

(c) Disputes and their outcomes;

(d) Stage payments;

(e) Acceptance of deliveries;
Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

197Page 319



(f) Copies of guarantee, warranties etc and other appropriate records;
and

(g) Supplier performance.

4. Variations Including Contract Extensions, Assignment and Novations

4.1 As approved at Contract Award stage, variation provisions allowed for in a
contract should be included in the contract documents and be exercised in
line with the provisions detailed under this section of the Contract Standing
Orders.

4.2 Directors are responsible for ensuring that sound financial controls and
contract management are applied to all contracts to ensure that the number of
variations to requirements is minimised. Agreement and management of any
necessary variations must be with due regard to paragraphs 1.8 to 1.11 of
these Standing Orders.

4.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the total cost of a contract for this purpose is
always the cost of the original contract plus the cumulative cost of all previous
and proposed variations.

4.4 In all cases, contract variations, regardless of value, are subject to:

(a) The responsible Director or Group Director having the budget
provision to allow the variation; and

(b) Where the proposed variation is not provided for within the contract,
and the total cost of the contract exceeds the relevant Threshold, the
Director or Group Director shall obtain written authorisation from the
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services to proceed with
the variation in accordance with Regulation 72 of the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015.

4.5 If the proposed variation is authorised by the Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services, the Director or Group Director may proceed. The
Contract Officer or Contract Manager must then complete a Record of
Contract Variation Form to be included as an addendum to the contract on the
e-Tendering system. Where a variation is not authorised any
recommendations on how to proceed must be followed including the
requirement to retender.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

198Page 320



4.6 Contract Managers or Contracting Officers may authorise the following
variations, provided they are satisfied that the variation is in the best interests
of the Council and there is an approved budget available:

(a) The contract has provision for a negotiated variation; or

(b) Minor operational changes to the Specification or delivery of the
Contract that have minimal, or no effect, on the overall costs of the
Contract, subject to them not exceeding 20% of the original total
contract value or £25,000 whichever is the lower value.

4.7 Where the contract does not permit the proposed variation, or it is outside the
financial limits stated in paragraphs 4.5 above, the Director may authorise the
variation or additional costs, if the total cost of the variation is within the
approved budget and their authorisation limit under the Scheme of Delegation.
Where neither paragraphs 4.4 nor 4.5 apply, the Group Director may authorise
the variation or additional costs, if the total cost of the variation is within their
budget and authorisation limit under the Scheme of Delegation.

4.8 For the purposes of paragraphs 4.5-4.6, all variations must be considered in
consultation with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or
their designated deputy.

4.9 If none of paragraphs 4.4 to 4.7 applies, the Group Director may authorise a
variation, subject to consultation with the Group Director, Finance and
Corporate Resources, submitting a written report setting out the justification
for the variation. If the total cost of the contract, inclusive of the proposed
variation is under £2m, approval must be sought from the Hackney
Procurement Board or Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee, if the
total cost of the contract is above £2m.

4.10 All variations shall be priced and confirmed in writing at the earliest
opportunity. All variations shall be appended to the contract documents and
recorded on the Council’s eProcurement system.

4.11 In circumstances permitted in Regulation 72 of the Public Contract
Regulations 2015 or Regulation 43 of the Concession Contracts Regulations
2016, or where the value of a contract is below the relevant Threshold in
accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the Council may
agree to the novation or assignment of a contract. Where the value of the
contract is above the relevant threshold, the Director or Group Director shall
obtain written authorisation from the Director of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services to novate or assign the contract.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

199Page 321



5. Framework Agreements and Approved Lists

Framework Agreements

5.1 Framework Agreements or Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) shall be set
up in accordance with the Contract procedures appropriate to the risk
assessment, as set out in these Standing Orders. Directors must ensure that,
where it is intended that a Framework Agreement be set up within their
service, the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or their
designated deputy, is notified at the earliest opportunity and it is recorded on
the Procurement Pipeline as a Framework Agreement or DPS.

5.2 Officers must ensure that orders under a Framework Agreement or DPS are
placed using procedures set out in the Framework Agreement.

5.3 The maximum duration of a Framework Agreement, including any provision
for extension shall be four years.

5.4 Where a Framework Agreement or DPS has been established by the Council
for the supply of goods, works or services, Officers shall only procure those
goods, works or services regardless of value, through this route unless the
written consent of the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or
their designated deputy is obtained. Such procurements shall be carried out in
accordance with these Contract Standing Orders having regard to the
Directorate’s Procurement Plan and to the need to achieve value for money.

5.5 A register of approved Framework Agreements shall be maintained by the
Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or their designated deputy.
The register will be updated regularly and reissued at least annually.

5.6 Officers may also use a Framework Agreement or DPS, set up by other
Central or Local Government organisations and/or other public bodies
(“External Framework Agreements”) as instructed or agreed by the Group
Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or designated deputy. For the
avoidance of doubt:

(a) The first use of an External Framework Agreement is regarded as a
procurement by these Standing Orders and the Hackney Procurement
Framework applies in full, except as set out in Standing Order 5.7
below;

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

200Page 322



(b) Subsequent use of the approved External Framework Agreement
shall be limited to the scope of the business case presented and
approved. Intended use of an approved External Framework
Agreement in excess of this authorisation must be subject to fresh
consideration.

5.7 Where it is proposed to use an External Framework Agreement for a project
and prices and terms are certain at the point the Business Case is formulated,
because there is only one contractor (or exceptionally where is permissible
under the framework to use a single contractor) within a relevant category, or
where selection from contractors within a relevant category is solely based on
the lowest price (i.e. the quality for all bidders within a category is equal and
prices have already been obtained), a single stage combined Business Case
and Contract Award report may be presented where otherwise two separate
reports would be required.

5.8 G-Cloud (Digital Marketplace) is a set of specialist ICT frameworks let by
Crown Commercial Services and comprise:

● Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS), e.g. content delivery networks or
hosting;

● Platform as a Service (PaaS), e.g. platforms that provide a basis for
building other services and applications;

● Software as a Service (SaaS), e.g. accounting tools or customer
service management software; or

● Specialist Cloud Services (SCS), e.g. IT health checks or data
migrations.

G-Cloud is an External Framework and must be used in accordance with
Standing Orders 2.15 and 5.2–5.7. Its procedures for use are, however, quite
different from most other External Frameworks and users must give particular
attention to following this guidance.

Approved Lists

5.9 A Director may decide whether or not to keep Approved Lists of suppliers
willing and able to supply products or services of any particular type or
description. Where a decision is taken to keep such an Approved List, this
shall be established and maintained in accordance with Sections 17 to 22 of
the Local Government Act 1988.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

201Page 323

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/g-cloud-buyers-guide


5.10 Permission must be sought from the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources, or designated deputy, justifying why an Approved List is required
as opposed to a Framework Agreement.

5.11 Directors must adhere to Standing Orders in the creation and use of Approved
Lists, including use of the Council’s pre-qualification procedures.

5.12 Approved Lists cannot solely be used for the exclusive selection of Tenderers
for any Contract above the value thresholds set out in Procurement
legislation.

5.13 A review of an Approved List shall be carried out by the Director every two
years with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, or
designated deputy.

5.14 A Framework or “call off” contract will not be considered an Approved List.

5.15 A Director may use a nationally recognised Approved List such as
Constructionline subject to any guidance issued under these Standing Orders,
or by the Government or the Category Lead.

6. Exemptions

6.1 Exemptions from these Standing Orders shall only be awarded in exceptional
circumstances and no exemption shall be awarded that would contravene
Procurement Legislation or any other legislation.

6.2 In no circumstances shall a Director or Group Director requesting an
exemption from these Standing Orders have the authority to award that
exemption.

Medium and High-Risk Procurements – Contract Award

6.3 Where a procurement has been assessed as a Medium or High-Risk
Procurement, an exemption from these Standing Orders shall not be applied
without prior endorsement by Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing
Committee. The request for exemption, the reasons for it, the estimated value
of the contract and the potential risks shall be set out in writing for the Elected
Mayor and Cabinet to consider.

6.4 In a situation of genuine emergency, where the Group Director has robust
evidence that the proposed exemption must be exceptionally applied, the
Chief Executive alone has delegated authority to award an emergency
exemption.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

202Page 324



6.5 An emergency may include situations where e.g. delivery of a significant
service to the public is threatened in the short-term, where the Council is
required to do something immediately by the Courts or where there is
significant risk to personal safety or the protection of property. Applications for
emergency exemption will be considered on their individual merits but should
only be made in exceptional circumstances.

6.6 Where an emergency exemption is granted, the Group Director shall ensure
that the request for exemption, the justification for it and the decision is
reported to the next meeting of Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing
Committee.

Low Risk Procedure – Contract Award

6.7 Where a procurement has been risk assessed as Low Risk and where a
Director has robust evidence that the application of these Standing Orders
would not offer the Council an improved balance of quality and price or where
they have tried and failed to award the contract by applying these Standing
Orders, an exemption may be agreed by the Group Director in writing, in
consultation with the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources or
designated deputy; and where a breach of 6.2 above might result, additionally
the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services.

Procurements for Personal Social Care

6.8 The Group Directors or Director having responsibility for the provision of
personal social care services to adults or children (“the Director”) shall not be
required to competitively tender contracts for social care where the purchase
is required in order that the Council may meet its statutory obligations, and the
application of the Hackney Procurement Framework contained within these
Standing Orders would prevent the discharge of those statutory obligations.

6.9 The Group Director or Director shall, nevertheless, make arrangements to
ensure that evidence exists to show that all such purchases are systematically
reviewed to ensure that they appropriately meet the needs of the user and
that they provide value for money in relation to national and local cost
indicators.

6.10 All personal social care contracts (including the provision of nursing care,
residential care, supported living) shall be made in writing, or, where this has
not been possible due to urgency, confirmed in writing at the earliest
opportunity and in any event within one calendar month of contract
commencement. Any subsequent amendment of the contracted services shall

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

203Page 325



similarly be made or confirmed in writing within one calendar month of the
change.

6.11 This exemption shall not apply to block, framework or term contracts for social
care or to contracts for other types of goods, services or works; these shall be
let in accordance with the general provisions of these Standing Orders. The
Director shall also take all reasonable steps to ensure that the use of
collaborative procurement arrangements and the use of block, framework and
term contracts for social care are maximised.

Part 5 - Finance and Contract Rules
Section B - Contract Standing Orders

204Page 326



Part Six - Public Participation

Section A - Attendance at Meetings

Section B - Public Speaking

Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

Section D - Petitions

Section E - Deputations

Section F - Protocol for Recording / Livestreaming of
Council meetings

205
Page 327



Part Six - Public Participation
Section A - Attendance at Meetings of Council, Cabinet and Committee

Meetings

1.1 Members of the public are actively encouraged to attend meetings of Full
Council, Cabinet and their Committees/Sub-Committees.

1.2 Members of the public may ask questions at Full Council and Cabinet.
Members of the public may also ask questions at Committee meetings
where this is permitted under their specific terms of reference. More
information about asking questions at Council and Cabinet can be found in
Part 4, Section A (rule 9) and Part 4, Section B (rule 7) of this Constitution
respectively. Information about the terms of reference of the various
Committees can be found in Appendix 3 of this Constitution.

1.3 Members of the public are only able to speak at certain meetings, but all our
meetings are open to the public. All meetings are livestreamed on the
Council’s YouTube channel and will remain on that channel for 2 years.

1.4 Members of the public can find out when and where meetings of the Council
will be held on the Council’s website.

1.5 Members of the public can view the meeting agendas and reports on the
Council’s website, where they will be published at least five clear working
days before the date of the meeting.

1.6 Occasionally meetings of the Council may need to exclude the public and
the press to consider confidential business. This will be clearly signposted on
the agenda for the meeting and during the meeting itself. Meetings will only
move into ‘private’ session when absolutely necessary and where legally
justified. When this happens, the livestream will stop.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section A - Attendance at Meetings of Council, Cabinet and Committee Meetings

206Page 328

https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1.
https://hackney.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1


Part Six - Public Participation
Section B - Protocol for Public Speaking at Public Meetings of the Council

Some meetings of the Council actively promote the attendance of the public to
contribute to items on the agenda, for example, Licensing Sub-Committees and the
Planning Sub-Committee. However, when participating in these meetings, the
following rules apply:

1.1 Members of the public who wish to speak at a meeting must notify the
Governance Officer named on the agenda in writing of their request. Members
of the public may only speak on items that are on the published agenda.

(a) In the case of the Planning Sub-Committee, any person may speak on
an application provided they have informed the Governance Officer of
their wish to speak no later than 4pm on the day before the meeting.

(b) In the case of the Licensing Sub-Committee, only those persons who
have submitted valid representations during the application’s
consultation period are permitted to speak.

1.2 The Council is not able to rearrange Sub-Committee meetings if a speaker is
unable to attend on the date of the meeting. However, the speaker can
nominate someone to speak on their behalf.

1.3 Planning Sub-Committee meetings are conducted in person and anyone
wishing to speak can either attend the meeting in person or can do so
remotely.

1.4 All Licensing Sub-Committees are held remotely and therefore anyone
wishing to speak are required to make their representations remotely. If for
any reason this is not possible, you should contact the Governance Officer
concerned who will endeavour to make arrangements for you to access the
meeting at the Town Hall.

1.5 Those attending remotely should ensure that they familiarise themselves with
the Council’s Protocol Concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings.

1.6 Speakers are not permitted to present any additional information that had not
already been submitted prior to the meeting.

1.7 In the case of the Planning Sub-Committee, the total time allowed for public
speaking will be 5 minutes.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section B - Protocol for Public Speaking at Public Meetings of the Council

207Page 329



1.8 After a member of the public has spoken, Councillors will be permitted to ask
questions for clarification only; there is no opportunity for debate.

1.9 The minutes will record a summary of the representations made by any
person exercising their public speaking rights. However, libellous, offensive
and discriminatory comments will be disregarded and will not be minuted.

1.10 Members of the public must not disrupt the meeting and must respect the
rulings of the Chair. The Chair has the right to exclude a disorderly person at
any time or to adjourn the meeting to allow a serious disorder to be diffused.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section B - Protocol for Public Speaking at Public Meetings of the Council

208Page 330



Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

Introduction

1.1 The Council is committed to the principles of openness and transparency as
laid down in access to information legislation, such as the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

1.2 These procedure rules detail the specific rights that members of the public
have to access information relating to the Council’s decision making
processes. These rules do not affect any of the additional rights that the public
has set out elsewhere in this Constitution or the law.

1.3 In these rules the term “clear working day” excludes the date on which the
notice of a meeting is published and the date on which the meeting is to be
held and also excludes any weekends and public/bank holidays.

1.4 In these rules the term ‘the public’ includes members of the press.

1.5 The additional rights that Elected Mayor and Councillors have are set out in
Part 7, Section D of this Constitution.

Scope

2.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, including meetings of the
Cabinet, any committees, sub-committees, panels and commissions which the
Council may establish.

Right to attend meetings

3.1 The public may attend all meetings subject only to those exceptions specified
in these rules.

3.2 Details of the rights of the public to record meetings of the Council are
contained in the Protocol on Live Streaming/Recording Meetings as set out in
Part 6, Section F of this Constitution.

Notice of meetings

4.1 Unless a meeting is called at shorter notice, the Council will give at least five
clear working days’ notice of any meeting by publishing details of the time and
place of the meeting on its website and displaying a notice at Hackney Town
Hall.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

209Page 331



Access to agendas and reports before a meeting

5.1 Subject to any exception specified in these rules, the Council will make copies
of the agenda and reports open to the public available for inspection at
Hackney Town Hall and on the Council website at least five clear working days
before the meeting.

5.2 Where the meeting is convened at shorter notice, copies of the agenda and
reports shall be made available to the public from the time the meeting is
called.

5.3 Where a report is not open to inspection by members of the public for five
clear working days before the meeting, it can only be considered at the
meeting if the Chair is of the opinion that it should be considered as a matter
of urgency by reason of special circumstances. Those circumstances shall be
specified in the minutes of the meeting.

Supply of copies

6.1 The Council will supply copies of:

(a) Any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection;

(b) Any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature
of the items in the agenda; and

(c) If the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied
to the Elected Mayor and Councillors in connection with an item.

to any member of the public on payment of the Council’s reasonable charges
for copying and postage.

Background papers

7.1 Every report will contain a list of those documents (called background papers)
relating to the subject matter of the report which in the opinion of the report
author and Proper Officer:

(a) Disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part
of the report is based; and

(b) Which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report

7.2 This does not include published works or documents which disclose exempt or
confidential information or the advice of a political advisor or assistant.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

210Page 332



7.3 Any background papers will be retained by the Council and made available for
inspection by the public for a period of four years beginning with the date of
the meeting, or the date of the decision.

Exclusion of access by the public to meetings

Confidential information – requirement to exclude public

8.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that
confidential information would be disclosed.

8.2 “Confidential information” means information given to the Council by a
Government Department on terms which forbid its disclosure or information
which cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order.

Exempt information – discretion to exclude public

8.3 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that
exempt information would be disclosed. Information is only exempt if, and so
long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

8.4 Meaning of exempt information

“Exempt information” means information falling within one of following
categories, subject to any condition:

CATEGORY CONDITION

1. Information relating to an
individual

Information is not exempt unless it
relates to an individual of that
description in the capacity indicated by
the description i.e. it must relate to and
be recognisable as referring to a
particular living individual in the roles
indicated.

Information is only exempt:
(a) where disclosure is prohibited by
statute; or
(b) where disclosure might involve
providing personal information about
individuals; or

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

211Page 333



CATEGORY CONDITION

(c) where disclosure might breach a
duty of confidentiality; and
(d) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

2. Information which is likely to
reveal the identity of an individual

Information is not exempt unless it
relates to an individual of that
description in the capacity indicated by
the description i.e. it must relate to and
be recognisable as referring to a
particular living individual in the roles
indicated.

Information is only exempt:
(a) where disclosure is prohibited by
statute; or
(b) where disclosure might involve
providing personal information about
individuals; or
(c) where disclosure might breach a
duty of confidentiality; and
(d) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

3. Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding the
information)

‘financial or business affairs’
includes contemplated, as well as
past or current, activities.

This category will include
commercial and contractual
interests

Information is not exempt if it is required
to be registered by law e.g. Companies
Act 1985, the Charities Act 1993 etc

Information is only exempt if and for so
long as:
(a) disclosure of the amount involved
would be likely to give advantage to a
person entering into or seeking to enter
into a contract with the Council in
respect of property, goods or services
whether the advantage would arise as
against the Council or as against other

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

212Page 334



CATEGORY CONDITION

persons; or
(b) disclosure would prejudice the
efficiency and effectiveness of the use of
Council resources; or
(c) disclosure of trade secrets and other
information would, or would likely,
prejudice the commercial interests of
any person, including the Council; and
(d) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

4. Information relating to any
consultations or negotiations or
contemplated consultations or
negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matters
arising between the authority or a
minister of the crown and
employees of, or office-holders
under, the authority

‘Labour relations matters’ are as
specified in paragraphs (a) to (g)
of Section 29(1) of the Trade
Unions and Labour Relations Act
1974
i.e. matters which may be the
subject of a trade dispute

‘employee’ means a person
employed under a contract of
service

‘office-holder’ means the holder
of any paid office appointments
which are or may be made or
confirmed by the authority or by
any joint board on which the
authority is represented or by any

Information is only exempt if and for so
long as its disclosure to the public:
(a) would prejudice the Council in those
or any other consultations or
negotiations in connection with a labour
relations matter; and
(b) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

213Page 335



CATEGORY CONDITION

person who holds any such office
or is an employee of the authority

5. Information in respect of which
a claim to legal professional
privilege could be maintained in
legal proceedings

Information is only exempt:
(a) where a claim of legal professional
privilege could be maintained in legal
proceedings
e.g. correspondence such as legal
advice and assistance between the
Council’s Legal Services and its client;
(b) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

6. Information which reveals that
the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment
a notice under or by virtue of
which requirements are imposed
on a person, or
(b) to make an order or direction
under any enactment

Information is exempt only if and so long
as:
(a) disclosure to the public might afford
an opportunity to a person affected by
the notice, order or direction to defeat
the purpose or one of the purposes for
which the notice order or direction is to
be given or made; and
(b) in all circumstances of the case, the
public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

7. Information relating to any
action taken or to be taken in
connection with the prevention,
investigation or prosecution of
crime

Information is only exempt if its
disclosure would, or would be likely to,
prejudice-
(a) criminal investigations and
proceedings; or
(b) the apprehension or prosecution of
offenders; or
(c) the administration of justice; or
(d) the assessment or collection of any
tax or duty or of any imposition of a
similar nature; or
(e) regulatory enforcement; or

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

214Page 336



CATEGORY CONDITION

(f) any civil proceedings; or
(g) Health and safety; or
(h) information obtained from
confidential sources; and
(i) in all the circumstances of the case,
the public interest in not disclosing the
information outweighs the public interest
in disclosing the information.

Information which would be exempt under any of the categories listed above is
not exempt if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning
authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to Regulation 3 of the
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992.

Exclusion of access by the public to reports

9.1 The Monitoring Officer may exclude access to a report which in their opinion
relates to items which will be considered when a meeting is likely not open to
the public or was not open to the public. Such reports will be marked “not for
publication” and the reason why this is the case.

Application of rules to the executive

10.1 The above rules apply to the Elected Mayor and Cabinet, its committees and
individuals. In addition, where a key decision is to be made then the following
procedure applies.

Procedure before making a key decision

11.1 A key decision is an Elected Mayor and Cabinet decision which is likely to:

(a) Result in the Council incurring expenditure or the making of savings
that is significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service
or function to which the decisions relates, or

(b) Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in
a ward comprising two or more wards in the area of the Council.

11.2 Every month the Council will publish a document that sets out each Key
Decision that will be made on behalf of the Council. This document is known
as the Forward Plan and will be kept updated on the Council’s website and will
also be available for inspection by request at Hackney Town Hall.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

215Page 337



11.3 The Forward Plan shall include:

(a) The matter is in respect of which a decision is to be made;

(b) The date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be
made;

(c) Where the decision maker is an individual, their name and title, if any;

(d) Where the decision maker is a decision-making body, its name and
details of its membership;

(e) Where the decision relates to confidential or exempt information, as
defined above, a statement that the decision will be made in private;

(f) A list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for
consideration in respect of their decision;

(g) The address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on
their disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is
available;

(h) That other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to
the decision maker;

(i) The procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as
they become available.

11.4 In addition, it will contain the following:

(a) A unique reference number;

(b) A brief summary of the need for the decision and the impact of its
implementation;

(c) Details of the Wards affected by the decision.

11.5 A key decision will not normally be made unless:

(a) Notice of the decision has been published on the Forward Plan;

(b) At least twenty eight clear days have elapsed since the publication of
the Forward Plan;

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

216Page 338



(c) Where the decision is to be made at a meeting of the Elected Mayor
and Cabinet or its committees, notice of the meeting has been given in
accordance with Rule 5 (notice of meetings).

General Exception

11.6 If it is not possible to provide twenty eight clear days’ notice of a decision on
the Forward Plan because the decision must be made by such a date that it
would be impractical to defer it, then the decision may still be made if:

(a) The Monitoring Officer has been informed of the reasons for urgency
and is satisfied that the reasons meet the criteria for an urgent
decision;

(b) The Monitoring Officer has informed the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel,
or, if there is no such person or if the Chair is unable to act, the
Speaker of the proposed decision and the reasons for urgency;

(c) The Monitoring Officer has arranged for a notice of the date and
nature of the forthcoming decision and the reasons for urgency on the
Council’s website and made a copy available for inspection at
Hackney Town Hall; and

(d) At least five clear days have elapsed since the Monitoring Officer has
complied with the requirement to inform and place a notification.

11.7 If the Monitoring Officer is not available to act, then the Deputy Monitoring
Officer shall act in their place. If both the Monitoring Officer and Deputy
Monitoring Officer are not available to act, then the Chief Executive or s151
Officer shall act in their places.

Special Urgency

11.8 Where an urgent key decision is required, but compliance with the general
exception rules is impractical, then the decision shall only be made where the
decision maker obtains the agreement of the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel that
the making of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred.

11.9 If there is no Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Panel, or if the Chair is unable to
act, then the agreement of the Speaker or in their absence the Deputy
Speaker must be sought.

11.10 As soon as it is reasonably practicable after the decision maker has obtained
the necessary agreement, the Monitoring Officer must arrange for a notice of
the date and nature of the forthcoming decision and the reasons for special

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

217Page 339



urgency on the Council’s website and make a copy available for inspection at
Hackney Town Hall.

11.11 The Elected Mayor will submit a twice-yearly report to Full Council on any
executive decisions which have been made under the special urgency
provisions. This report will include the number of decisions made and a
summary of the matters in respect of which each decision was made.

11.12 The Monitoring Officer will submit a twice-yearly report to Full Council on
non-executive decisions made under the special urgency provisions. This
report will include the number of decisions so made and a summary of the
matters in respect of which each decision was made.

Private meetings of the Cabinet or its Committees

11.13 A private meeting of the Cabinet or one of its Committees is a meeting, or part
of a meeting, during which the public are excluded during an item of business
relating to confidential or exempt information.

11.14 A private meeting is also a meeting where a Councillor(s), or members, of the
public have been excluded in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent
misbehaviour.

11.15 Prior to a private meeting being held and in the case of a key decision, the
Forward Plan will identify which items are likely to be considered by the
Cabinet or one of its Committees, and shall include a statement of the reasons
for the meeting being held in private. This will not apply where a meeting is
required to exclude persons in order to maintain orderly conduct or prevent
misbehaviour.

11.16 At least 5 clear working days before a private meeting takes place, a notice
will be published on the Council website and made available at Hackney Town
Hall. This notice shall include:

(a) A statement of the reasons for the meeting to be held in private;

(b) Details of any representations received concerning why the meeting
should be held in public, and a statement of the response to any such
representations.

11.17 This notice will be included as part of the published agenda for the meeting.

11.18 If it is not practicable to comply with the above rules, the Monitoring Officer
may seek the agreement of the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Commission
Panel to that part of the meeting being held in private.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

218Page 340



11.19 If there is no Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Commission, or if the Chair is
unable to act, then the agreement of the Speaker or in their absence the
Deputy Speaker will suffice.

11.20 If the Chair of the Scrutiny Commission agrees that the decision is urgent and
cannot reasonably be deferred and ought to be considered in private, the
Monitoring Officer will make available at Hackney Town Hall and on the
Council’s website a notice setting out this decision and the reasons for it.

Recording of Executive Decisions

11.21 As soon as is reasonably practicable after a meeting of Cabinet or one of its
Committees, the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that a written statement is
produced in respect of every executive decision made at that meeting which
includes:

(a) A record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b) A record of the reasons for the decision;

(c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected at the
meeting by the decision-making body at the meeting when the
decision was made;

(d) A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Councillor of the
decision-making body which made the decision; and

(e) In respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any relevant
dispensation granted by the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer.

11.22 Where the Mayor’s Scheme of Delegation permits, a decision may not be
made by an individual Councillor of the Cabinet unless a written report has
been prepared. Such individual decisions may only be made in the presence
of the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer or their
nominee (unless they waive that requirement) and the Officer whose
responsibility it is to record the decision. As soon as is reasonably practicable
after an individual Councillor of the Cabinet has made a decision, the
Monitoring Officer shall ensure that a written statement is produced which
includes the same matters as referred to above.

11.23 Where an Officer acts under the Scheme of Delegation to make an executive
decision, then as soon as is reasonably practicable after the Officer has made
a decision they shall notify the Monitoring Officer and produce a written
statement which includes the same matters as referred to above.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

219Page 341



Recording of Non-Executive Decisions

11.24 As soon as is reasonably practicable after a meeting of non-executive
Committee etc, the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that a written statement is
produced in respect of every executive decision made at that meeting which
includes:

(a) A record of the decision including the date it was made;

(b) A record of the reasons for the non executive decision;

(c) Details of any alternative options considered and rejected at the
meeting by the decision-making body at the meeting when the
decision was made;

(d) A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Councillor of the
decision-making body which made the decision; and

(e) In respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any relevant
dispensation granted by the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer.

11.25 Where an Officer acts under the Scheme of Delegation to make a
non-executive decision, then as soon as is reasonably practicable after the
Officer has made a decision they shall notify the Monitoring Officer and
produce a written statement which includes the same matters as referred to
above.

11.26 The requirement to produce a written record of any decision, including those
taken under delegated powers, shall comply with the Openness of Local
Government Bodies Regulations 2014.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section C - Access to Information Procedure Rules

220Page 342



Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petitions

Introduction

1.1 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way in
which people can let the Council know their concerns and participate in the
democratic process.

1.2 Petitions are not the only way in which to make your views known. You could
also:

(a) Contact the relevant service or Officer directly;

(b) Contact your local ward Councillor;

(c) Participate in a deputation to Full Council;

(d) Participate in a Ward Forum;

(e) Respond to a consultation

(f) Contact the Elected Mayor or relevant Cabinet Member;

(g) Ask the Scrutiny Panel / Scrutiny Commissions to look into a matter;
or

(h) Make a complaint to the Council.

1.2 Petitions submitted to the Council must comply with the guidelines and
requirements set out below.

What is a Petition?

2.1 A petition is any communication which is signed by or sent on behalf of a
number of people; for practical purposes there is a requirement that it contains
at least 10 signatures before it is treated as a petition.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

221Page 343



Guidelines for submitting a petition

3.1 Petitions submitted to the Council must include:

(a) A clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition. It
should state in clear and unambiguous terms what action the
petitioners want the Council to take.

(b) The name, address and signature of any person supporting the
petition.

(c) The name and contact details of the petition organiser (including email
address or telephone number). This is the person the Council will
contact to explain how the petition will be responded to. These contact
details of the petition organiser will not be placed on the website.

3.2 The Council will take into account identifiable signatures of people who provide
valid addresses providing they live, work or study within the London Borough of
Hackney.

3.3. The majority of petitions will be accepted, but there are some circumstances
where we will not be able to deal with a petition under this scheme. Petitions
that fall outside of this scheme include:

(a) Any matter that the Council is not directly responsible for, or has no
influence over.

(b) Any matter relating to a planning decision, including development plan
documents - see section 12 below.

(c) Any matter relating to a licensing decision - see section 12 below.

(d) A statutory petition, such as a request for a referendum.

(e) Any specific issues that the Council is carrying out formal consultation
on - see section 13 below.

(f) Any matter over which there is already an existing right of appeal or
separate complaints process; these will be dealt with using these
existing rights.

(g) Where the Council has received another petition on the same issue
within the last year (starting from the date of receipt of the petition) In

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

222Page 344



these circumstances the Council will refer the petitioner to the
response to the first petition.

(h) Any petition which is considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise
inappropriate.

(i) Any petitions which include potentially libellous, false or defamatory
statements.

(j) A petition that asks the Council to do something that is unlawful or
which makes criminal accusations.

(k) A petition relating to something which is the subject of any
contemplated, actual or concluded legal proceedings in which the
Council is involved either as a claimant, defendant or interested party.
This also includes any matters which are the subject of mediation.

(l) A petition which could require the disclosure of confidential or exempt
information or commercially sensitive information in order for the
Council to properly consider the petition.

(m) A petition which contains advertising or marketing statements.

(n) A petition which relates to the day to day operation of any local
authority controlled school.

(o) A petition which relates to a safeguarding matter.

(p) A petition which names individuals or provides information where they
may be easily identified, other than Officers where the petition is
seeking to hold them to account.

3.4 If the Monitoring Officer considers that the petition falls within one of the
categories listed above, they will write to the petition organiser to explain why
the petition cannot be considered. The Monitoring Officer’s decision is final.

3.5 In the period immediately before an election or referendum, the Council may
need to deal with your petition differently. If this applies the Council will explain
the reasons.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

223Page 345



How do I submit a petition?

4.1 Paper petitions (hard copies) can be sent to: Governance Services, 1 Reading
Lane, London E8 1GQ.

4.2 Petitions can also be created, signed and submitted through the Council’s
website by following this link [INSERT LINK]. Petitions created through the
Council’s website will be open for a period of 3 months for the acceptance of
signatures.

4.3 Petitions created also on 3rd party websites provided that they comply with the
requirements of the petition scheme as to what they must include and the
petition organiser emails governance@hackney.gov.uk.

What happens after I submit my petition?

5.1 The Council will send an acknowledgement within 10 clear working days of
receipt of the petition. The acknowledgement will say as much as we can
about what we plan to do with the petition.

5.2 To ensure that people know what the Council is doing in response to the
petitions received, the details of petitions will be published on the Council
website, except in cases where this would be inappropriate. All personal
details will be removed or redacted.

How will the Council respond to my petition?

6.1 The response to the petition will depend on what it asks for and how many
people have signed it, but it may include the following actions:

(a) Taking the action requested in the petition.

(b) Writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the
request in the petition;

(c) Considering the petition at a meeting of the Council or one of its
Committees or Sub-Committees;

(d) Holding a meeting with the petition organisers;

(e) Commissioning research;

(f) Writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council's views on the
request in the petition; or

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

224Page 346

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


(g) Referring the petition to a Scrutiny Panel for review.

Petitions requiring debate at Full Council / Cabinet

7.1 A petition of more than 750 valid signatures will, unless it is a petition to Hold
an Officer to Account, trigger a right to be debated at Full Council or Cabinet
depending upon whether the subject matter of the petition is a council or
executive function.

7.2 Every effort will be made to consider petitions at the next ordinary meeting of
the relevant body, although this may not always be possible depending upon
the volume of business to be transacted at that meeting. In addition, no
petition debates will take place at budget setting meetings (usually in
February/March each year) or at the Annual Meeting.

7.3 At the meeting, the petition organiser, or their appointed representative, will be
given up to 5 minutes to present the petition.

7.4 The petition will then be considered by Councillors for a maximum of 15
minutes following the usual rules of debate.

7.5 The lead Cabinet Member or relevant Committee Chair, as appropriate, will
have the opportunity to respond to the petition for a period of up to 5 minutes.

7.6 Following the debate, a decision will be made as to what action should be
taken. A decision does not need to be made in circumstances where the
proposed action is not something which is within the gift of the Council/Cabinet
to do. In such circumstances the minutes of the meeting will stand as the
Council's/Cabinet’s response.

7.7 Following the meeting, the Council will write to the petition organiser to let
them know the outcome of the debate.

Petitions to Hold an Officer to Account

8.1 A petition may ask for a senior Officer to give evidence at a public meeting of
the Scrutiny Panel or one of its commissions. Senior Officers include the Chief
Executive and Group Directors. Such petitions must contain at least 500
Signatures.

8.2 The relevant Scrutiny Panel or Commission may decide that it is more
appropriate for another senior Officer to give evidence rather than the Officer
named in the petition.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

225Page 347



8.3 At the meeting, the petition organiser will be given 5 minutes to present the
petition. The relevant Officer or Councillor of the Cabinet will then be given 5
minutes to outline the Council’s response to the petition. The meeting will then
discuss the petition for a maximum of 25 minutes, before making appropriate
recommendations about how to respond to the petition. Any deviation from
this format will be at the discretion of the committee.

8.4 The petition organiser will be given a copy of the minutes containing the
recommendations and any follow up responses.

General Petitions

9.1 A general petition is one signed by between 10 and 750 persons and which
contains a specific request.

9.2 Once received, Governance Services will arrange for the petition to be
reported either to the senior Officer in the service area concerned or to the
next relevant meeting of the Committee or Sub-Committee with the power to
make the decision sought by the petition.

9.3 In the case of the petition being reported to a senior Officer, they will be asked
to respond to the petition organiser within six weeks of the date of the
acknowledgement letter to set out what action they have taken to respond to
the request in the petition. If more time is required, that senior Officer must
write to the petition organiser to advise them that more time is needed and the
date when they will provide a response to you.

9.4 In the case of a Committee or Sub-Committee, the petition will be reported to
the next ordinary meeting of that body.

Can I challenge how my petition has been dealt with?

10.1 Other than the Monitoring Officer’s decision whether to accept a petition or not
for the reasons set out in paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4 above, if the petition
organiser feels that the Council has not dealt with your petition properly, then
they have the right to request that the Council’s Scrutiny Panel review the
steps that the Council or Cabinet has taken in response to the petition. A
request cannot be made for a review on the grounds that the petition organiser
does not agree with the outcome or Council’s decision. The petition organiser
must give a short explanation of the reasons why the Council’s response is not
considered to be adequate.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

226Page 348



10.2 The Scrutiny Panel will endeavour to consider the request at its next meeting.
In instances where this is not possible, consideration of your petition will take
place at the following meeting. If the Panel determines that the Council has
not dealt with your petition adequately, it may use any of its powers to deal
with the matter. These powers include instigating an investigation, making
recommendations to the Cabinet and arranging for the matter to be
considered at a meeting of the Full Council. Once the appeal has been
considered the petition organiser will be informed of the results within 5
working days. The results of the review will also be published on the Council's
website.

How will the Council respond to petitions outside of this scheme?

11.1 The Council often receives correspondence that is intended to be a petition
but which does not necessarily meet the criteria set out in this scheme.

11.2 Petitions that fall outside the criteria of the scheme will be treated as
correspondence and sent to the relevant service area for a response. The
Head of Service will have discretion and flexibility to decide how to reply to this
correspondence so that they are able to take appropriate action to respond to
the request.

Petitions relating to Planning and / or Licensing matters

12.1 Petitions received in response to planning (development management and
planning policy) and licensing matters will be taken into consideration either as
part of any delegated or Committee decision depending upon the identity of
the decision-maker for the matter in question.

Petitions relating to matters upon which the Council is undertaking formal
consultation

13.1 All petitions received that concern a matter upon which the Council is
undertaking formal consultation (whether statutory or not) will automatically be
incorporated into that consultation process at the earliest stage possible.
Petition organisers will be informed of this and the petition will be submitted to
the service area managing the consultation for them to respond in accordance
with the Council’s policy.

13.2 This approach will also be taken for petitions that are received relating to any
issue about the Council’s budget during the Council’s annual budget setting
process. In addition to being incorporated into the formal consultation process,
all petitions relating to budget issues will be made available for inspection at

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

227Page 349



the budget meeting of the Council so that they can properly inform the
Council’s budget decisions.

13.3 Sometimes we receive petitions after the consultation deadline has passed but
before the final decision has been made. In these circumstances, if the
specific issue is being discussed at one of the Council’s meetings, you will be
invited to the meeting to make representations about your petition.

13.4 Petitions received after a decision has been made will not be considered
under the scheme but will be passed to the relevant senior Officer to respond.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section D - Petition Scheme

228Page 350



Part Six - Public Participation
Section E - Deputations

Introduction

1.1 Any organisation or group may make a written request to address
Council/Cabinet about a specific issue which relates to the borough or a
specific function or responsibility of the Council/Cabinet. This is known as a
deputation.

1.2 A deputation provides an opportunity to lobby the Council about a shared
concern.

Notice of Deputations

2.1 In accordance with Part 4, Section A of the London Borough of Hackney’s
Constitution, notice of a deputation must be received by the Monitoring
Officer no later than 12:00 noon eight clear working days before the meeting
of Full Council/Cabinet. This is to ensure that the deputation appears on the
agenda papers for the meeting. Deputations should be sent to
governance@hackney.gov.uk

2.2 A clear working day means a complete period of 24 hours (excluding
weekends and Bank Holidays) excluding the day when notice is given or
deemed to be given and the day for which it is to take effect.

2.3 The deputation must be signed by 10 or more residents of the borough, must
clearly set out its purpose and must also be signed by the Councillor who is
to introduce the deputation at the Council meeting.

2.4 The deputation should clearly state what action(s) the Council is being asked
to take and should not be more than 200 words long.

2.5 A deputation may be rejected where the Monitoring Officer considers that it:

(a) Is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility,
or which affects the Borough.

(b) Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive or vexatious.

(c) Is substantially the same as a question, motion, petition or deputation
which has been put to a Council meeting in the past six months.

(d) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information or
relates to a safeguarding matter.

(e) Relates to an individual planning or licensing application.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section E - Deputations

229Page 351

mailto:governance@hackney.gov.uk


(f) Relates to something which is the subject of any actual or
contemplated legal proceedings in which the Council is involved either
as a claimant, defendant or interested party; this also includes any
matters which are the subject of mediation.

(g) Is submitted by or on behalf of a political party, or it is submitted on
paper bearing the name, insignia or other identifier of a political party.

2.6 Where the agenda for Full Council/Cabinet does not contain an item relating
to the same subject matter as the deputation, the Monitoring Officer will
consult with the Elected Mayor and/or relevant Councillor of the Cabinet r as
to whether it could be heard.

2.7 No more than two deputations will be taken at each meeting of Full Council.
No more than one deputation will be taken at each meeting of Cabinet.

2.8 The Council will let you know once it has received the deputation, how the
request is being dealt with and, if accepted, will send you details of what
happens before, during and after the meeting.

2.9 Deputation requests that are accepted will be published on the Council’s
website.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section E - Deputations

230Page 352



Part Six - Public Participation
Section F - Protocol for Livestreaming/Recording Council Meetings

Livestreaming

1.1 At the start of each meeting to be livestreamed, an announcement will be
made to the effect that the meeting is being livestreamed.

1.2 Livestreaming will commence at the beginning of a meeting when the Chair
opens the meeting and it will finish when the meeting is closed. No exempt or
confidential agenda items shall be livestreamed. No part of any meeting will
be live streamed after the Council has voted to exclude the press and public.

1.3 The Chair has the discretion to terminate or suspend the livestream if, in their
opinion, continuing with it would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting.
Circumstances that could lead to suspension or termination of the livestream
include public disturbance or the potential infringement of the rights of any
individual.

1.4 The content of livestreamed meetings will not be edited unless:

(a) There is a legal reason to do so, for instance, confidential personal
information is inadvertently disclosed or defamatory comments are
made.

(b) There are exceptional circumstances, such as an attendee being
taken ill on screen.

No editing will take place unless the Monitoring Officer has first given their
consent. A log will be maintained of webcasts where content has been edited
and the reasons for this.

1.5 Should the livestream be halted for any reason, a note will be placed on the
Council’s YouTube channel as soon as practicable to advise of the reasons for
this.

1.6 Recordings of livestreamed meetings will be available for playback on the
Council’s YouTube channel for 2 years from the date of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings by the Public

2.1 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 gives the
public the right to film, record audio, take photographs, and use social media
and the internet at any Council meeting that is open to the public.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section F - Protocol for Livestreaming/Recording Council Meetings

231Page 353



2.2 In order to ensure the effective conduct and management of Council
meetings, the following guidelines and requirements apply:

(a) Anyone planning to record meetings of the Council and its public
meetings through any audio, visual or written methods they find
appropriate must not disturb the conduct of the meeting;

(b) Anyone can attend a public meeting to report on proceedings, either
in ‘real time’ or after the conclusion of the meeting, on a blog, social
networking site, news forum or other online media;

(c) A laptop, tablet device, smartphone or portable camera can be used
to record a written or audio transcript of proceedings during the
meeting;

(d) Facilities within the Town Hall and Council Chamber are limited, so
recording equipment must be of a reasonable size and nature to be
easily accommodated.

(e) Anyone intending to bring large or complex recording equipment must
contact the Governance Officer whose name appears on the Agenda
papers to see whether this can be accommodated.

(f) Proceedings must not be interrupted so digital equipment must be set
to ‘silent’ mode.

(g) Recording equipment should be focused on Councillors, Officers and
the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting. The
Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they
have objections to being visually recorded. Those visually recording a
meeting are asked to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to
be filmed or photographed. Failure to respect the wishes of those who
do not want to be filmed and photographed may result in the Chair
instructing that reporting or recording cease and a failure to comply
with that instruction may lead to the person responsible being
excluded from the meeting.

(h) Any person whose behaviour threatens to disrupt orderly conduct will
be asked to leave.

(i) Recorded images must not be edited in a way in which there is a clear
aim to distort the truth or misrepresent those taking part in the
proceedings.

2.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements may result in the support and
assistance of the Council in the recording of proceedings being withdrawn.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section F - Protocol for Livestreaming/Recording Council Meetings

232Page 354



2.4 The Council regards violation of any of the points above as a risk to the
orderly conduct of a meeting. The Council therefore reserves the right to
exclude any person who disregards the protocol on recording meetings from
the meeting in question and refuse entry to any further council meetings.

2.5 A copy of the protocol on recording meetings will appear on every meeting
agenda published by the Council.

Part Six - Public Participation
Section F - Protocol for Livestreaming/Recording Council Meetings

233Page 355



Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors

Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

Section B - Standing Orders relating to the Holding of
Office

Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme

Section D - Members’ Access to Information

234
Page 356



Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

Adopted by Full Council on 26 January 2022
Monitoring Officer amendments to Mandatory Training Requirements on 16 February 2023
Effective date: 17 February 2023

Introduction

The role of Councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our
country’s system of democracy. It is important that Councillors can be held
accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the
role. Our conduct as an individual Councillor affects the reputation of all Councillors.
We want the role of Councillor to be one that people aspire to. We also want
individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves
forward to become Councillors.

As Councillors we represent local residents, work to develop better services and
deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to
represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and transparently. We have
both individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by
maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging
behaviour which falls below expectations.

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a Councillor without being
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public.

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good
conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.

Definitions

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct:

A “Councillor” includes the directly Elected Mayor, elected Councillors or co-opted
members of the London Borough of Hackney.

A “co-opted member” is defined in section 27(4) of the Localism Act 2011 as “a
person who is not a member of the authority but who

a. is a member of any committee sub-committee the authority, or;
b. is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint

sub-committee of the authority;
Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

235Page 357



and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of
that committee or sub-committee”.

In addition to Councillors and voting co-optees, the London Borough of Hackney also
requires non-voting co-optees to comply with this Code of Conduct.

A “local authority” includes county councils, district councils, London borough
councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, police
authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and
National Park authorities.

Purpose of the Code of Conduct

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Councillor, in modelling
the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and
to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is
also to protect you, the public, fellow Councillors, local authority Officers and the
reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of
all Councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The
fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role
of Councillor and local government.

General principles of Councillor Conduct

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public
services, including ministers, civil servants, Councillors and local authority Officers;
should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan
Principles. These seven principles are set out in full in Appendix A.

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed
specifically for the role of Councillor.

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:
● I act with integrity and honesty;
● I act lawfully;
● I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and
● I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role

of Councillor.

In undertaking my role:
● I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local

community;

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

236Page 358



● I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any
person;

● I avoid conflicts of interest;
● I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and
● I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local

authority’s requirements and in the public interest.

Application of the Code of Conduct

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of
acceptance of the office of Councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Councillor.

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a
Councillor which may include when:

● you misuse your position as a Councillor; and
● your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Councillor.

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including:
● face-to-face meetings;
● online or telephone meetings;
● written communication;
● verbal communication;
● non-verbal communication; and
● electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments.

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at
all times when acting as a Councillor.

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the
Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct.

Standards of Councillor Conduct

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct
required of you as a Councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken.

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they
should be followed.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

237Page 359



General Conduct

1. Respect

As a Councillor:

1.1 I treat other Councillors and members of the public with respect.

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of
partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority
with respect and respect the role they play.

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written
word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a
Councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas,
opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject
individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack.

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude
and offensive behaviour lowers the public's expectations and confidence in
Councillors.

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members
of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop
any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local
authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow
Councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct,
and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local
authority’s Councillor - Officer protocol.

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination

As a Councillor:

2.1 I do not bully any person.

2.2 I do not harass any person.

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any
person.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

238Page 360



The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on
social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social
events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others.

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such
conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose
unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be
expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person.

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity
defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment,
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation.

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a
central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's
performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public
commitment to equality across public services.

3. Impartiality of Officers Of The Council

As a Councillor:

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a
way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question Officers in order to
understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the
content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them
to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so
would prejudice their professional integrity.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

239Page 361



4. Confidentiality And Access To Information

As a Councillor:

4.1 I do not disclose information:
a. given to me in confidence by anyone;
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is

of a confidential nature, unless
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;
ii. I am required by law to do so;
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of

obtaining professional legal advice provided that the third party
agrees not to disclose the information to any other person; or

iv. the disclosure is:
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the

reasonable requirements of the local authority; and
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its

Release; or
c. which is exempt information within the meaning of Section 100F and

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role
as a Councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family
members, my employer or my business interests.

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled
to by law.

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and
printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is
required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held
by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include
personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

240Page 362



5. Disrepute

As a Councillor

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute

As a Councillor you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary
members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an
adverse impact on you, other Councillors and/or your local authority and may lower
the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can
bring your local authority into disrepute.

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow Councillors to account and are
able to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes
undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code
of Conduct.

6. Use of position

As a Councillor:

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage
or disadvantage of myself or anyone else.

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain
opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that
will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to
further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly.

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities

As a Councillor:

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising
their use by others:
● act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

241Page 363



● ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes
unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate,
or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local
authority or of the office to which I have been elected or appointed.

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you
in carrying out your duties as a Councillor.

Examples include:
● office support;
● stationery;
● equipment such as phones and computers;
● transport; and
● access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Councillor more
effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be
used in accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the
local authority’s own policies regarding their use.

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct

As a Councillor:

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or
determination.

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to
be involved with the administration of any investigation or proceedings.

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I
have breached the Code of Conduct.

It is extremely important for you as a Councillor to demonstrate high standards, for
you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in
the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned
about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this
with the Monitoring Officer.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

242Page 364



Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority

9. Interests

As a Councillor:

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and
maintain a register of interests of members of the authority.

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and
fellow Councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of
interest. The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an
issue arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate
openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible
for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be
helpful for you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is
also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be
disclosed by you or other Councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so
that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure
that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained.

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as
set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. If convicted you
may be subject to an unlimited fine or disqualified from being a Councillor for up to
five years.

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests.
If in doubt, you should always seek advice from the Monitoring Officer.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

243Page 365



10. Gifts and hospitality

As a Councillor:

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value,
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a
reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from
persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local
authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for any
permission, licence or other significant advantage.

10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an
estimated value of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt.

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality
that I have been offered but have refused to accept within 28 days of the
offer being made.

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a Councillor. The
presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality.

However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as
rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered.
You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as
a Councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family.

It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and
hospitality associated with your duties as a Councillor.

If you are unsure, contact the Monitoring Officer for guidance.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

244Page 366



11. Training

As a Councillor:

11.1 I attend any training that may be prescribed by the Monitoring Officer as
being essential to my role.

In order to ensure that Councillors are properly equipped to carry out their role and
are knowledgeable about the obligations that are placed upon the Council in respect
of certain functions and decision-making processes, it has been determined that the
following training should be mandatory either for all Councillors or for a limited class
of Councillors as follows:

● Safeguarding children and corporate parenting - all Councillors - annually
● Safeguarding adults - all Councillors - annually
● Equalities, Diversity and Inclusivity - all Councillors - biennially
● Bullying, harassment and sexual harassment - all Councillors - biennially
● Data Protection and Freedom of Information / Environmental Information

Regulations - all Councillors - biennially
● Councillors’ Code of Conduct - all Councillors - annually
● Local government finance & budget setting - all Councillors - following election

with additional training to be undertaken as and when required by the Chief
Finance Officer

● Dealing with the media / social media - all Councillors - biennially
● Town and Country Planning - members of the Planning Sub-Committee -

annually
● Licensing - members of the Licensing Committee and its Sub-Committees -

annually
● Recruitment and Selection - members of the Appointments Committee and its

Sub-Committees - upon first appointment to the Appointments Committee
prior to attending any meeting.

The Monitoring Officer may from time to time review and amend the list of mandatory
training and update this Code accordingly and advise Members of any changes.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

245Page 367



Appendices and Tables

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

246Page 368



Appendix A: The Seven Principles of Public Life

The principles are:

Selflessness
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.

Integrity
Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work.
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends.They must disclose and resolve
any interests and relationships.

Objectivity
Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit,
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias.

Accountability
Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.

Openness
Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear
and lawful reasons for so doing.

Honesty
Holders of public office should be truthful.

Leadership
Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

247Page 369



Appendix B: Registering interests

Within 28 days of becoming a member, or your re-election or re-appointment to
office, you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as
described in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations
2012. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall
within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1
below.

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28
days of becoming aware of any new interest or of any change to a registered
interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the
Councillor, or a person connected with the Councillor, being subject to violence
or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with
the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer
agrees, they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you
have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered
or is being considered by you as a Councillor in exercise of your executive
function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

248Page 370



any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else
to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other
Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest.
You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote
on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature
of the interest.

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you
must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the
public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take
part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you
do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects–
● Your own financial interest or well-being;
● A financial interest or well-being of a relative, close associate; or
● A body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests as set out in Table 2
you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in
the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied.

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:
● To a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority

of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;
● A reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe

that it would affect your view of the wider public interest
you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to
speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or
vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been
granted a dispensation.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

249Page 371



If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the
interest.

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you
have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make
sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and
nature of your interest.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

250Page 372



Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.

Subject Description

Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.
[Any unpaid directorship.]

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit
(other than from the Council) made to the Councillor
during the previous 12-month period for expenses
incurred by them in carrying out their duties as a
Councillor, or towards their election expenses.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract made between the Councillor or their
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the
Councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners
(or a firm in which such person is a partner, or an
incorporated body of which such person is a director1 or
a body that such person has a beneficial interest in the
securities of2) and the council —
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

2 ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building
society

1 ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and
provident society

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

251Page 373



Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of
the council.
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right
in or over land which does not give the Councillor or
their spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the
Councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners
(alone or jointly with another) a right to occupy or to
receive income.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land
in the area of the council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Councillor’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the council; and
(b) the tenant is a body that the Councillor, or their
spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the
Councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners
is a partner of or a director* of or has a beneficial
interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Councillor’s knowledge) has a place
of business or land in the area of the council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one
class in which the Councillor, or their spouse or civil
partner or the person with whom the Councillor is living
as if they were spouses/civil partners has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that class.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

252Page 374



Table 2: Other Registerable Interests

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is
likely to affect:

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which
you are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union).

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section A - Councillor Code of Conduct

253Page 375



Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section B - Standing Orders Relating to the Holding of Office

In this Section, all references are to the Local Government Act 1972, unless
otherwise stated.

Ordinary Day of Election of Councillors
Section 37, Representation of the People Act 1983

1. The “ordinary day of election” of Councillors is the first Thursday in May
unless the Secretary of State changes it. To change the date the Secretary of
State must use a special legal procedure before 1 February in the year before
the change.

Election of Elected Mayor
Section 9H Local Government Act 2000

2. Elections for the Elected Mayor are held on the same day as the ordinary day
of election, except in a small number of circumstances.

Term of Office of Councillors
Paragraph 6, Schedule 2

3. Councillors are elected for four years. This is called the term of office, which
is the time they hold their position.

4. Councillors retire, or leave office, together every fourth year, four days after
the ordinary day of election.

5. On that day, the newly elected councillors start their term of office.

Term of Office of Elected Mayor
Section 9H Local Government Act 2000 and Regulation 6, Local Authorities (Elected
Mayors) (Elections, Terms of Office and Casual Vacancies) (England) Regulations 2012

6. The term of office of an Elected Mayor is four years.

7. The Elected Mayor’s term of office starts on the fourth day after the election
and ends at the start of the next term of office of an Elected Mayor.

Resignation of Mayor or Councillor
Section 84

8. An Elected Mayor or Councillor can resign from office by giving signed, written
notice to the Chief Executive. The resignation takes effect when the Chief
Executive receives the notice.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section B - Standing Orders Relating to the Holding of Office

254Page 376



Filling of “Casual Vacancy” in Office of Councillor
Section 89

9. When a Councillor does not complete the four year term office (because they
resign, are disqualified, or die), a vacancy arises that is called a casual
vacancy. In these circumstances an election to fill the vacancy is held -

(a) Where the High Court or the Council have declared the office to be
vacant, within thirty-five days of the date of the declaration.

(b) In all other cases, within thirty-five days of notice being given to the
Chief Executive. This must be in writing and given by two local
government electors for the Borough.

10. The Returning Officer fixes the date for the election to fill a casual vacancy.

11. When a casual vacancy occurs within six months of the ordinary day that
councillors retire from office, an election for a casual vacancy is not unusually
held. Instead, the election will take place at the next ordinary election.
However, if the total number of unfilled vacancies in the membership of the
Council is more than one third of the full number of members, an election to fill
the casual vacancy will be held.

Filling of “Casual Vacancy” in Office of Elected Mayor
Regulation 9, Local Authorities (Elected Mayors) (Elections, Terms of Office and Casual
Vacancies) (England) Regulations 2012.

12. When a casual vacancy arises in the office of Elected Mayor, an election to fill
the vacancy is held -

(a) Where the High Court or the Council have declared the office to be
vacant, within thirty-five days of the date of the declaration.

(b) In all other cases, within thirty-five days of notice being given to the
Chief Executive. This must be in writing and given by two local
government electors for the Borough.

13. If the Council has passed a resolution to make a change to its governance
arrangements, there will be no election to fill this casual vacancy.

14. Where a casual vacancy occurs within six months of the ordinary day of
retirement from the office, no election will be held before the next ordinary
election.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section B - Standing Orders Relating to the Holding of Office

255Page 377



Election and Term of Office of Speaker
Paragraphs 2 and 3, Schedule 2

15. The Speaker is elected annually by the Council. All Councillors who are not
members of the executive may be elected as Speaker. This election happens
at the beginning of the Annual Meeting.

16. The Speaker continues in office until a new Speaker is elected, unless they
resign, become disqualified, or die.

17. During their term of office, the Speaker continues to be a member of the
Council, despite paragraph 4 above.

18. If the outgoing Speaker has ceased to be a member of the Council by the time
of the Annual Meeting, they are not entitled to vote in the election of a new
Speaker, unless there are equal votes for one or more nominees, when they
will have a casting vote.

Filling of Casual Vacancy in the Office of Speaker
Section 88

20. If a casual vacancy for the office of Speaker arises, an election to fill the
vacancy must be held no later than the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

21. However, if the next ordinary meeting of the Council is to be held within 14
days from the date the vacancy arises, the election to the office of Speaker
must be held no later than the following ordinary meeting.

Term of office of persons filling casual vacancies
Section 90

22. A person elected to fill a casual vacancy holds office until the day the person
in whose place they were elected would have retired.

Members of Council not to be appointed as officers
Section 116

23. A Councillor cannot be appointed by the Council to any paid office while they
are a member of the Council, or for a year after they stop being a member of
the Council.

Acceptance of Office
Section 83

24. A person elected to the office of Speaker, Deputy Speaker, Councillor or
Elected Mayor cannot act in that office unless:

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section B - Standing Orders Relating to the Holding of Office

256Page 378



(a) they have made a declaration of acceptance of office as prescribed
by rules made by the Secretary of State, and

(b) they have delivered this to the Chief Executive within two months
from the date of election.

25. If the declaration is not made and delivered to the Chief Executive within this
time, the office of the person elected becomes vacant.

Vacation of office by failure to attend meetings
Section 85

26. If a member of the Council fails to attend any meeting of the Council (including
any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, joint board or other body
discharging the functions of the Council) for six consecutive months from the
date of their last attendance, they will cease to be a member of the Council,
unless Full Council approved the absence before the end of the six months.

27. If any Cabinet member fails to attend any meeting of the Cabinet (including a
Cabinet committee or decisions made by Cabinet members acting alone) for
six consecutive months from the date of their last attendance, they will cease
to be a member of the Council, unless Full Council approved the absence
before the end of the six months.

28. A person will not be disqualified from office only for failing to attend meetings
as above if:

(a) they are a member of any branch of His Majesty’s naval, military or air
forces when employed during war or any emergency on any naval,
military or air force service, or

(b) their employment is in the service of His Majesty in connection with
war or any emergency,

and

the Secretary of State decides that they should not be disqualified from office
because of this absence, if the failure to attend is due to this employment.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section B - Standing Orders Relating to the Holding of Office

257Page 379



Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

Adopted by Council: 25 January 2023

Introduction

1.1 This Scheme is based on the independent report and recommendations of
Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL, Chair of London Councils Independent
Remuneration Panel. It also takes account of London Council’s report “The
Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022” published by its independent
panel of which Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL is a member.

1.2 This Scheme has been approved by Full Council of the London Borough of
Hackney in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances)
(England) Regulations 2003.

1.3 This Scheme may be cited as the London Borough of Hackney Members’
Allowances Scheme for 2022/23.

1.4 At the start of each municipal year, Full Council shall adopt a Scheme for
the payment of Basic Allowances, as required by the Regulations.

1.5 In addition, provision for the following allowances shall be made in
accordance with the Regulations for payments of:

● Special Responsibility Allowance;
● Independent and Co-opted Members Allowance;
● Independent Person Allowance;
● Carers Allowance;
● Parental Leave and Sickness Pay;
● Travel and Subsistence Allowance;

1.6 The London Borough of Hackney has arrangements for its Scheme to be
independently reviewed when required with reference to London Councils
Independent Remuneration Panel.

Basic Allowance

2.1 A Basic Allowance is paid to all Councillors in recognition of their
commitment to attend formal meetings of the Council as well as meetings
with officers and constituents. The Basic Allowance is intended to cover

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

258Page 380



any incidental costs which may arise, such as the use of private
telephones.

2.3 Each Councillor is entitled to claim a Basic Allowance of £12,014.00 per
annum, which is payable monthly via the Council’s payroll.

Special Responsibility Allowance

3.1 A Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) is payable in addition to the
Basic Allowance to those Councillors that are given significant additional
Council duties.

The Allowances

4.1 The Basic Allowances and SRAs are as follows:

Basic Allowance

Basic Allowance
All Councillors (except the Mayor) £12,014.00

Special Responsibility Allowances

Political Roles – Majority Group

Majority Group Chair £2,807.00
Majority Group Secretary £2,807.00
Majority Group Whip £6,119.34

Political Roles – Opposition Group
(When the Council is formed with one opposition group)

Opposition Group Leader £24,317.65
Opposition Group Whip £2,807.00

Political Roles – Opposition Groups
(When the Council is formed of two opposition groups and where
there is a majority and minority group)

First Opposition Group Leader £15,281.99
First Opposition Group Whip £2,807.00
Second Opposition Group Leader £9,532.61

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

259Page 381



Panel Members

Adoption Panel Member £2,807.00
Fostering Panel Member £2,807.00

Committee Chairs

Chair of Audit Sub Committee £8,671.22
Chair of Corporate Committee £8,671.22
Chair of Licensing Committee £19,256.42
Chair of Pensions Board £2,807.00
Chair of Pensions Committee £17,342.46
Chair of Planning Sub Committee £19,256.42
Chair of Standards Committee £2,807.00

Scrutiny

Scrutiny Commission Chairs £15,708.23
Chair of Scrutiny Panel £9,532.61
Vice Chair of Scrutiny Panel £6,355.07

Speaker and Deputy Speaker

Speaker (see 4.3 below) £21,145.70
Deputy Speaker (see 4.3 below) £5,853.05

Mayoral Advisers

Mayoral Advisers £17,342.46

Cabinet Members

Cabinet Members £39,015.33

Deputy Mayor

Deputy Mayor £45,964.43

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

260Page 382



Directly Elected Mayor

Directly Elected Mayor (see 4.4 below) £89,224.50

4.1 Only one SRA may be claimed. It will be for individual Members who
would otherwise qualify for more than one SRA to inform the Head of
Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services which allowance they
wish to claim, otherwise the highest allowance will be paid.

4.2 The roles of Speaker and Deputy Speaker do not attract a SRA but are
covered by a separate legal regime. Schedule 2 of the Local Government
Act 1972 provides that a London Borough may pay the Chair of the
Council (known as the Speaker in the London Borough of Hackney) such
allowances and full Council thinks reasonable for the purpose of enabling
the Chair to meet the expense of the office. There is a similar power in
respect of the Vice Chair (Deputy Speaker).

4.3 The role of the directly elected Mayor does not attract a Basic Allowance
or SRA. The Mayor receives one single allowance which covers all of the
responsibilities included in the role.

Member Allowance Uplift

5.1 The Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances are normally uplifted
each year in line with the Local Government Pay Settlement Pay Rate
when this becomes known, and will be reviewed and approved by Full
Council at the start of each Municipal Year. The 202/23 allowances have
been uplifted as that now increase exceeds the officer pay award, which
was a lump sum, whilst aligning closer to the London Councils
independent panel report.

Pensions

6.1 In accordance with legislation, since the start of the 2014-18 electoral
term, Members of the Council are not entitled to participate in the Local
Government Pension Scheme.

Parental Leave and Sickness Pay

7.1 The Member Parental Leave Scheme is defined as Members’ entitlement
to maternity, paternity, adoption, surrogacy and shared parental leave.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

261Page 383



7.2 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full in the
case of parental and sickness leave.

7.3 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to
receive their allowance in the case of parental and sickness leave in a
similar way that Council officers do. A replacement to cover the period of
absence can be appointed by Full Council, and the replacement will be
entitled to claim a SRA. Where the SRA in question relates to the Cabinet,
the appointment will be made by the Mayor.

7.4 Full details of the Member Parental Leave Scheme are attached at
Appendix A

Dependant Carer’s Allowance

8.1 The Council will make reasonable payments for the reimbursement of the
care of dependant relatives living with the Elected Member. Full details of
the Dependant Carer’s Allowance Scheme are attached at Appendix B.

Travel and Subsistence Allowance

9.1 The Council will provide an allowance to Members for any travel or
subsistence costs incurred as a result of attending a Council Approved
Duty or event outside of the Borough. Independent Members, Co-opted
Members and the Independent Person can claim for any travel or
subsistence costs associated with their Council duty. Full details of the
Travel and Subsistence Allowance are attached at Appendix C.

Approved Council Duties

10.1 The schedule of approved Council duties can be found at Appendix D of
this Scheme. Members of the Council may claim a Travel and Subsistence
Allowance and/or Carers’ Allowances when attending these duties.

Council Cycle Scheme

11.1 Members are entitled to join the Council’s employee Cycle Scheme
whereby they can choose a bicycle and equipment from an approved
supplier (up to £3,000 in value) and the Council purchases it and loans it
to the Member. The Member will then repay the loan from their Basic
Allowance in return for the loan of the VAT free bicycle across an agreed
period. At the end of the loan period the Council may sell the bicycle to the
Member at a fair market value.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

262Page 384



Part Payments

12.1 In the case of Basic Allowances, Special Responsibility Allowances, Travel
and Subsistence Allowance, or Dependent Carers’ Allowances, payment
will only be made for the period during which a person performs the duties
for which these allowances are payable. Where a Member, Independent
Member, Co-opted Member or Independent Person resigns or ceases to
be a Member, the part of the allowance payable for the period for which
they cease to be a Member, may be withheld by the Council.

Repayments

13.1 Where payment of any allowance has already been made in respect of
any period during which the Member, Independent Member, Co-opted or
Independent Person concerned ceases to be a Member, or is in any other
way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of that period, the
Member, shall repay to the Council on demand such part of the allowance
as relates to any such period.

Opting to Forgo an Allowance

14.1 Basic Allowance and SRAs will be paid automatically unless notice is
received in writing from the Member concerned forgoing the entitlement in
whole or in part. All such notices should be sent to the Head of Business
Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

Claims and Payment

15.1 Payments in relation to Basic Allowances, SRAs, Independent Member,
Co-opted Member and Independent Person allowances shall be paid in
monthly instalments in accordance with this Scheme.

15.2 Basic, SRA, Independent Member, Co-opted Member and Independent
Person allowance payments are made net of income tax and National
Insurance through the PAYE system used for salaried employees. Bank
details are therefore required for each Member. If a Member changes their
bank details, the revised details should be provided to Member Services.

15.3 Claims for Travel and Subsistence allowances, and Dependent Carer’s
allowance should be submitted no later than three months from the date
that expenses are incurred. Claims must be made on the agreed claim
form available from Member Services.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

263Page 385



15.4 Claims will be checked on receipt by Member Services. Claims received
before the 20th day of the month will be paid on or before the 15th day of
the following month.

Allowances for Independent Members and Co-Opted Members

16.1 The standard rate for Independent Members and Co-opted Members
allowances is £129.80 per meeting. This is translated into an annual
allowance by multiplying this by the anticipated number of meetings. This
amount is payable to Co-opted Members on the Children and Young
People Scrutiny Commission, Pensions Board, Pensions Committee and
Standards Committee.

The Independent Person

17.1 The Council’s Independent Person for ethical governance matters shall be
entitled to an allowance of £523.16 per annum.

Chair and Members of the Design Review Panel

18.1 The Chair of the Design Review Panel shall be entitled to an allowance of
£450.00 per meeting.

18.2 Members of the Design Review Panel shall be entitled to an allowance of
£50.00 per hour, capped at £200.00 per meeting.

Publication

19.1 The Council is required to publish details of the Members’ Allowances
Scheme and the total amount received by each Member. The records
must also be available for inspection by any local government elector for
the authority, or by any local government elector of any principal Council in
whose area the authority operates.

Review of the Scheme

20.1 The Council has arrangements for its Scheme to be independently
reviewed with reference to London Councils Independent Remuneration
Panel.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

264Page 386



20.2 Minor revisions are the responsibility of the Head of Business Intelligence,
Elections & Member Services in consultation with the Chair of the
Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel where needed.

Queries

21.1 Any specific queries regarding the entitlement to the Scheme should, in
the first instance, be addressed to the Head of Business Intelligence,
Elections & Member Services (members.services@hackney.gov.uk).
Queries regarding the processing of claims and payments should be
addressed to the Member Services team (020 8356 3373).

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

265Page 387

mailto:members.services@hackney.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Member Parental Leave Scheme

The Member Parental Leave Scheme (and the term Parental Leave) is defined
as Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, adoption, surrogacy, and shared
parental leave.

The objective of the scheme is to ensure that insofar as possible Members are
able to take appropriate leave at the time of birth, adoption or surrogacy; that
both parents are able to take leave and that reasonable and adequate
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and others in
receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any period of leave
taken.

Introduction

1.1 In accordance with the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme, Members
shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full during Parental
Leave.

1.2 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance will also continue
to receive this allowance during Parental Leave up to the same benefit
levels as officers in their equivalent policies.

Six-month rule

1.3 Any Member who takes Parental Leave retains their legal duty under the
Local Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of the Council within a six
month consecutive period unless the Council Meeting agrees to an
extended leave of absence prior to the expiration of that six month
consecutive period.

Resigning from Office

1.4 If the Member decides to not return to office following their Parental Leave,
Member Services must be notified. The Payroll Team must then be
informed within two working days of receiving notification.  Member
allowance(s) will cease from the effective resignation date, however any
outstanding Maternity Pay entitlement will continue to be paid by the
Council.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

266Page 388



Elections

1.5 If an election is held during the Parental Leave and Members are not
re-elected, or decide not to stand for re-election, their basic allowance and
SRA if appropriate will cease from the Monday after the election date.

Cover arrangements and returning to post

1.6 If a Member holds a position attracting a SRA, a temporary replacement
would normally be appointed for periods of extended Parental Leave.  The
temporary appointment would also be entitled to receive a SRA.

1.7 Unless the Member taking Parental Leave is removed from their post at an
Annual General Meeting of the Council whilst on Parental Leave, or unless
the Party to which they belong loses control of the Council during their
Parental Leave period, they will return at the end of their Parental Leave
period to the same post which they held before the Parental Leave began.

1.8 The Mayor however can change their Cabinet members and portfolios at
any time, though this would normally be in exceptional circumstances.  In
such circumstances, it is expected that any Cabinet member on Parental
Leave would normally return from their Parental Leave to a similar portfolio
size.  

1.9 If there is a Mayoral election during a period of Parental Leave, any new
Mayor can form a new Cabinet and if this does not include the Member on
Parental leave, then their SRA will cease from the date the new Cabinet is
formed.

Maternity Leave

Entitlement

2.1 All pregnant Members are entitled to Maternity Leave totalling 52 weeks,
regardless of their length of term in office (unless their term of office ends
earlier than this).

Compulsory Maternity Leave

2.2 Members must take a minimum of two weeks Maternity Leave from the
date the baby is born.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

267Page 389



Maternity Leave Start Date

2.3 Maternity Leave will start:
● On a date chosen by the Member, which can be at any time after the

beginning of the 11th week before the Member’s expected week of
childbirth and up to the date the baby is born

2.4 Maternity Leave may be triggered before the chosen date where:
● The baby is born early. Maternity leave commences the day after the

Member gives birth; or
● The Member has sickness absence for a pregnancy-related

reason in the four weeks before the expected week of childbirth.
Maternity Leave commences the date after the sickness absence

2.5 In summary, Maternity Leave is triggered by the date notified by the
pregnant person, the actual birth of the baby, or pregnancy related
sickness immediately prior to the due date - whichever occurs first.

Notification of Maternity Leave

2.6 The Member must notify Member Services in writing no later than the end
of the 15th week, or as soon as reasonably practicable, before the
expected week of childbirth.

2.7 Information must include:
● Confirmation of the expected date of childbirth.
● A copy of the MATB1 (a certificate available from a doctor or midwife).

The original must be provided if the Member wishes to claim Maternity
Pay (MP) from the Council.

● The Parental Leave Confirmation Form, which will confirm the date
Maternity Leave will start.  It should be noted that Maternity Leave can
start any day of the week.

2.8 On receipt of the information, within two weeks, Member Services will
acknowledge that the period of absence has been noted and forward the
information to the Council’s Payroll Team.

2.9 The Council’s Payroll Team will write to the Member to confirm the
Maternity Leave period, including the end date, i.e. a maximum of 52
weeks and entitlement to allowance(s).

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

268Page 390



Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

269Page 391



Member Maternity Allowance Entitlement

Basic Allowance

3.1 A Member on Maternity Leave will continue to receive this allowance
throughout the Maternity Leave period. If, however, an election is held
during the Member’s Maternity Leave and they are not re-elected, or they
decide not to stand for re-election, the basic allowance will cease from the
Monday after the election date, when their office officially ends.

Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA)

3.2 If a Member receives a SRA during their Maternity Leave it will be paid as
follows:

For Members not claiming Maternity Pay (MP) through the Council:

First six weeks 90% of SRA plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus basic allowance

25 to 52 week Basic allowance only

For Members claiming MP:

First six weeks 90% of SRA, including MP plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus MP and basic allowance

25 to 39 weeks MP and basic allowance

40 to 52 weeks Basic allowance only

Member Maternity Special Circumstances

Premature Baby Leave

4.1 Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive one
extra day of Premature Baby Leave receiving full SRA for every day their
premature baby spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave
entitlement will be added to the end of the Members Maternity Leave
period after this leave entitlement has been exhausted.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

270Page 392



Illness due to pregnancy

4.2 If a Member has not started Maternity Leave, and cannot discharge their
duties as a Councillor due to a pregnancy related illness at anytime after
the beginning of the fourth week before the expected week of childbirth,
Maternity Leave will have to start the day after the first day of their illness.

4.3 The Member is responsible for informing Member Services if this situation
occurs.

4.4 Members Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed
within two working days of receipt of the details.

4.5 The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation of Maternity Leave
and allowance entitlement to the Member, with a copy to Members
Services, within ten working days.   

Early Delivery

4.6 If the baby is born earlier than expected and the Member has not yet
started their maternity leave, the Maternity Leave will automatically start
the day after the baby is born.

4.7 As soon as is practically possible, the Member must inform Member
Services with a MATB1 form produced to confirm the baby’s date of birth
and the original expected date of delivery.

4.8 Members Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed
within two working days of receipt of the details.    

4.9 The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation of Maternity Leave
and pay entitlement to the Member, with a copy to Members Services,
within ten working days.

Maternity Pay (MP)

4.10 For Members in receipt of a SRA who want to claim a Statutory Maternity
Pay equivalent (members are not entitled to SMP), an original copy of their
MATB1 form must be provided.  

Multiple Births

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

271Page 393



4.11 Maternity Leave arrangements are unaffected by the number of babies
born from a single pregnancy.

Returning from Maternity Leave early

4.12 If a Member wishes to return from Maternity Leave earlier than originally
planned they should inform Member Services in writing.

4.13 Member Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed
within two working days of receipt of the details.

4.14 The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation that the information
has been received and relevant reinstatement or adjustment of the SRA
has been actioned, with a copy to Member Services, within ten working
days.  

Still Birth

4.15 If a baby is delivered after 24 weeks of pregnancy the Member is entitled
to Maternity Leave and allowance(s).

Paternity Leave

Entitlement

5.1 Members are entitled to a maximum of two weeks Paternity Leave (Six
working days at full allowance and four at the statutory rate).

Paternity Leave Qualifying Criteria

Birth

5.2 To qualify the Member must
● Be the biological father and have or expect to have responsibility for

the child’s upbringing; or
● Be the spouse (husband or wife), civil partner or partner of the person

giving birth and have or expect to have the main responsibility for the
child’s upbringing, along with the person who gave birth

Adoption

5.3 The Member must

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

272Page 394



● Be the spouse (husband or wife), civil partner or partner of the adopter
and have or expect to have the main responsibility for the child’s
upbringing, along with the other parent

Surrogacy

5.4 To qualify the Member must (with their partner) meet the criteria for
‘Adoption Leave’. The Member must
● Be the intended parent and be responsible for the child (with their

partner);
● Be in a couple; and

● Not be the parent who will take ‘Adoption Leave’

Note: Partners, couples and spouses can be of the same or a different sex.

Member Paternity Allowance Entitlement

Basic Allowance + Special Responsibility Allowance

6.1 A Member on Paternity Leave will continue to receive their basic
allowance and SRA throughout the Paternity Leave period.

Starting and ending Paternity Leave

Birth

7.1 A Member can chose to start their leave:
● From the date of the child’s birth (whether this is earlier or later than

expected)
● From a chosen number of days after the date of the child’s birth

(whether this is earlier or later than expected) e.g. ten days after the
child is born

● From a chosen date after the baby is expected to be born
● From the date of the child’s birth if the baby is ‘stillborn’ at 24 weeks

7.2 Normally Paternity Leave must be taken within eight weeks of the birth of
the child. However, if the baby is premature, then the eight weeks starts
from the expected date of childbirth. If the baby is born late, the eight
weeks starts from the actual birth of the baby.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

273Page 395



7.3 If a Member chooses to start their Paternity Leave from the date the baby
is born and they are at work on that date, then the Paternity Leave will
begin the next day.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

274Page 396



Adoption

7.4 Where the child is adopted within the UK, a Member can choose to start
their leave:
● On the date the child is place; or
● From a chosen number of days after the date the child is placed (e.g.

ten days after the child is place); or
● From a chosen date after the child is expected to be placed

7.5 Paternity Leave must be taken after the child is placed.

7.6 Where the child is adopted from overseas, a Member can choose to start
their leave:
● The date the child enters Great Britain; or
● From a chosen date after the child enters Great Britain

Surrogacy

7.7 Paternity Leave can commence the day the child is born or the day after if
the Member is working that day.  Normally Paternity Leave must be taken
within eight weeks of the birth of the child. However, if the baby is
premature, then the eight weeks starts from the expected date of
childbirth. If the baby is born late, the eight weeks starts from the actual
birth of the baby.

Notification of Paternity Leave

7.8 The Member must notify Member Services in writing no later than the end
of the 15th week before the baby is expected, unless this is not reasonably
practicable.

7.9 Information must include:
● The week the child is due (included in the Parental Leave

Confirmation Form)
● When they want to start their leave (included in the Parental Leave

Confirmation Form)
● SC3 form for Birth Parents (Link to Gov.uk website)
● SC4 form for an Adopting or Parental order parent (Link to Gov.uk

website)
● SC5 form for a parent adopting from overseas (Link to Gov.uk website)

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

275Page 397

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-a-birth-parent-sc3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-an-adoptive-parent-sc4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-an-adoptive-parent-sc4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-adopting-a-child-from-abroad-sc5


7.10 The Member must notify Member Services when their child was actually
born or adopted as soon as is reasonably practicable after the birth or
placement.

7.11 Where the baby is adopted within the UK, the Member must notify Member
Services no later than seven days after the date they are notified of being
matched with a child.

7.12 Where the child is adopted from abroad, the Member must notify Member
Services no later than 28 days after receipt of the official notification.

7.13 The Member must give at least 28 days notice of the date they want the
Paternity Leave to begin.

Paternity Leave Special Circumstances

Multiple Births

8.1 Only one period of Paternity Leave is available, even if more than one
child is born as the result of the same pregnancy or if more than one child
is placed with the individual or couple for adoption under the same
arrangement.

Premature Baby Leave

8.2 Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive one
extra day of Premature Baby Leave on full SRA allowance for every day
their premature baby spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave
entitlement will be added to the end of the Members Parental Leave period
after this leave entitlement has been exhausted.

Adoption and Surrogacy Leave (referred to as Adoption Leave)

Entitlement

9.1 Members are entitled to Adoption Leave totalling 52 weeks (unless their
office officially ends before this).

Qualifying Criteria

9.2 For Adoption and ‘Fostering to Adopt’ - The Member must be newly
matched with the child by an adoption agency, which must be recognised
in the UK.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

276Page 398



9.3 For Surrogacy – The Member must have applied, or be intending to apply
for a Parental Order in relation to the child.

Exclusions

9.4 Private adoptions do not qualify e.g. a foster parent adopting a foster child,
or a step-parent adopting their partner’s child.

Notification of Adoption Leave

Adoption and ‘Foster to Adopt’

10.1 Members must notify Member Services in writing of their intention to take
adoption leave within seven days of being notified of the match by the
adoption agency; advising:
● The date the child is being placed with them
● The date the leave will start
● Whether or not they intend to return to work following the Adoption

Leave.

10.2 The notification must be accompanied by the following evidence:
● Name and address of the adoption agency
● The date the employee was notified they would be matched with the

child
● The date the agency expects to place the child
● Matching certificate completed by the adoption agency.

Surrogacy

10.3 Members must notify Member Services in writing of their intention to take
leave advising:
● The date that the leave is expected to start (which is the date the baby

is expected to be born)
● The period of time they intend to take.

10.4 This notification must be made either during or before the 15th week
before the date the child is expected to be born.

10.5 If requested, the Member must provide (within 14 days of receiving the
request) a declaration confirming that:
● The leave is being requested for the intended purpose

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

277Page 399



● That they meet the qualifying conditions
● That they will be applying for a parental order, with an appropriate

other person, who may be another person of the same sex.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

278Page 400



Member Adoption Leave Allowance Entitlement

Basic Allowance

11.1 A Member on Adoption Leave will continue to receive this allowance
throughout the leave period.

Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA)

11.2 If a Member receives a SRA during their Adoption Leave it will be paid as
follows:

First six weeks 90% of SRA  plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus basic allowance

25 to 52 weeks Basic allowance only

Commencement of Adoption Leave

12.1 The Adoption Leave period may begin:

For Adoption and ‘Foster to Adopt’:
● From the date of the child’s placement – whether earlier or later than
expected; or
● From a pre-determined date which can be up to 14 days before the
expected date of placement

Or, where adopting a child from overseas:
● The date the child enters Great Britain
● A pre-determined date which is no later than 28 days after this date.

For surrogacy the leave period begins from the date the baby is born. If
the baby is born while the Member is at work, then the leave can start from
the next day.

Adoption Leave Special Circumstances

Premature Baby Leave

13.1 Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive 1 extra
day of Premature Baby Leave on full SRA allowance for every day their
premature baby spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

279Page 401



entitlement will be added to the end of the Members Adoption Leave
period after this leave entitlement has been exhausted.

13.2 For Adoption and ‘Fostering to Adopt’ eligibility will depend on the
circumstances. However, normally where a premature baby is placed with
the adopting parents before 37 weeks, premature baby leave will apply.

13.3 For surrogacy these provisions will normally apply from the birth of the
premature baby i.e. the date the new parents receive the baby.

Adopting more than one child

13.4 Adoption leave entitlements are the same regardless of the number of
children adopted at any one time.

13.5 This also applies to surrogacy in the event of a multiple birth.

Shared Parental Leave

14.1 Shared Parental Leave enables eligible parents to choose how to share
the care of their child during the first year of birth or adoption. Its purpose
is to give parents more flexibility in considering how best to care for, and
bond with, their child.

14.2 A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through
their employment is requested to advise Member Services of these at the
earliest possible opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such
arrangements in terms of leave from Council.

14.3 Requests will be looked at on a case-by-case basis.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

280Page 402



APPENDIX B
Dependant Carer’s Allowance

Legality

1.1 The Scheme is established by the Council under the Local Authorities
(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Dependent
Carers’ Allowance is payable in respect of the approved duties set out in
Appendix D. The Scheme requires Members claiming the allowance to
demonstrate and certify that carer expenses are actually and necessarily
incurred in the conduct of their official duties.

Entitlement

2.1 The Scheme provides for payments to be made to Members in respect of
care for “dependent relatives” living with the Member. For the purposes of
the scheme, “dependent relatives” are defined as:

(a) children aged 15 or under;
(b) relatives requiring full time care as a result of disability or infirmity.

2.2 Under no circumstances will the allowance be payable to an immediate
relative of the Member.

2.3 For meetings or duties within the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will
be paid for the duration of the meeting or approved duty plus an allowance
for up to one hour’s travelling time before and after the meeting. For duties
outside the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will be paid for the
duration of the duty plus the actual travelling time to and from the venue.
In all instances, total time claimed should be rounded to the nearest
half-hour.

Rates of Allowance

3.1 The Dependent Carers’ Allowance is set at the same level as the London
Living Wage and is paid at this rate irrespective of the number of
dependants.

3.2 Where a dependent relative requires specialist professional care, the full
cost of care will be allowed, with the prior written approval of the Director
of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

281Page 403



Claims Procedures

4.1 Members wishing to apply for Dependant Carers’ Allowance must submit
an application form to the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections &
Member Services, declaring that:

(a) claims made shall only be made in respect of a named dependent
relative (or relatives) as defined in the Scheme;

(b) claims shall only be made in respect of the entitlements set out in
paragraph 2 above;

(c) receipts shall be provided in support of all claims; and

(d) where a specialist professional carer is to be engaged, that this is
a necessary expense for which full reimbursement will be claimed.

4.2 Members are required to notify Member Services in the event of their
entitlement to Dependant Carers’ Allowance ending.

4.3 All claims will be processed through the Council’s Payroll system.

Audit

5.1 Internal Audit will review the systems for payment of Members’ Allowances
on a routine basis and include sample testing of Members’ Allowances
transactions in annual probity programmes.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

282Page 404



APPENDIX C
Travel and Subsistence Allowance

Public Transport

1.1 Elected Members may claim expenses for journeys associated with an
approved duty or event (see Appendix D) outside of the Borough. The
Council will not provide an allowance for any travel within the Borough.

1.2 Independent Members and Co-opted Members of the Council and the
Independent Person may claim for travel both inside and outside the
Borough for journeys associated with an approved duty.

1.3 The rate must not exceed the ordinary standard class fare or any available
saver fare.

1.4 Booking arrangements for travel outside of London must be made by
Member Services to seek the most cost-effective deal within current
parameters.

1.5 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

1.6 For travel within London, Members may claim for travel on an Oyster Card.
To claim for travel paid for on an Oyster Card, Members must provide
Member Services with a printed record of the journey travelled, which can
be obtained from the TfL website.

Private Vehicle

2.1 Elected Members, Independent Members, Co-opted Members and the
Independent Person may claim expenses for journeys by private vehicle
associated with an approved duty outside of the Borough. The Council will
not provide an allowance for any travel within the Borough.

2.2 An allowance of 24p per mile can be claimed for travel by motorcycle.

2.3 An allowance of 46.9p per mile can be claimed for travel by motor vehicle
up to the first 8,500 miles annually. After the first 8,500 miles, an
allowance of 13.7p per mile.

2.4 Members, if using a private motor vehicle, should note that the Council
does not provide any insurance cover. Members should have Business
Use cover as part of their policy.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

283Page 405



Taxi

3.1 Members can claim an allowance for the amount of a taxi fare, and any
reasonable gratuity, to enable them to attend an approved duty if the
following exceptional circumstances and criteria apply:

(a) in cases of a genuine emergency;

(b) when no public transport is reasonably available to travel to the
approved duty;

(c) for safety reasons; or

(d) f there is insufficient time to travel from one approved duty to
another by public transport.

3.2 The cost of travel by taxi must have been incurred wholly and exclusively
for a Member’s attendance at an approved Council duty. Taxi fares can
only be claimed by Members once approved by the Head of Business
Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

3.3 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

Hired Vehicle

4.1 Other than for a taxi, Members will only be able to claim an allowance per
mile as per the rates detailed in paragraph 2 above. As such, Members will
be reimbursed as if they had owned the vehicle, and will not be
reimbursed for the cost of hiring the vehicle.

4.2 A receipt must be produced for any claim by the Member who hired the
vehicle.

Aeroplane

5.1 Subject to prior approval by the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections &
Member Services, the cost of travel at the ordinary fare or any available
cheap fare by regular air service or where no such service is available or
in case of urgency the actual fare paid by the Member where the saving in
time against other available means of transport is so substantial as to
justify payment of the fare by that means.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

284Page 406



5.2 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

Bicycle

6.1 Members may claim an allowance in respect of travel by bicycle or by any
other non motorised form of transport undertaken, of 20p per mile, in
connection with or relating to an approved Council duty outside of the
Borough.

6.2 Independent Members, Co-opted Members and the Independent Person
may claim a cycling allowance for journeys inside and outside of the
Borough.

Subsistence

7.1 The payment of subsistence allowance will only be payable to Members
for approved Council duties and conferences subject to the approval of the
Head of Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

7.2 When more than 4 hours away from normal place of residence, the
repayment of subsistence allowances will be made to cover the actual cost
incurred up to the following rates –

(a) Breakfast - £5.50
(b) Lunch - £7.50
(c) Evening Meal - £10.50
(d) Out of pocket expenses (per night) - £4.50

7.3 Members are also entitled to overnight accommodation, if required, when
attending an approved duty outside of London, subject to the approval of
the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services. Member
Services shall be responsible for making any bookings and will pay for the
accommodation directly.

7.4 Receipts must be produced for any claim in order to be valid.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

285Page 407



APPENDIX D
Approved Council Duties

For the purposes of the payment of Travel, Subsistence and Carers’ Allowances,
Approved Council duties are defined as the following official meetings set out
below. For information, some outside bodies may pay an allowance to Members
for their role and work on that specific outside body.

1. Appointments Committee or Sub Committees

2. Cabinet or Cabinet Sub Committees

3. Corporate Committee or Sub Committees

4. Corporate Parenting Board

5. Council

6. Council Joint Committee

7. Health and Wellbeing Board

8. Joint Committee of the Six Growth Boroughs

9. Licensing Committee or Sub Committees

10. Overview and Scrutiny Commissions

11. Pensions Board

12. Pensions Committee

13. Planning Committee or Sub Committees

14. Standards Committee or Sub Committees

15. Ward Forums

16. Duties for the office of Speaker or Deputy Speaker

17. Education related meetings such as:

● the Schools Admissions Forum

● School Governing Bodies

18. Independent Statutory Panels

● Adoption Panel

● Fostering Panel

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

286Page 408



19. A meeting of outside bodies:

● Abney Park Cemetery Trust

● Agudas Israel Housing Association

● Bangla Housing Association

● Chats Palace Arts Centre

● Clapton Park TMO

● CREATE London Ltd

● East London NHS Foundation Trust

● Finsbury Park Trust

● Groundwork London

● Hackney CAB

● Hackney Community Law Centre

● Hackney Empire Ltd Board

● Hackney Parish Almshouse Charity

● Hackney Parochial Charity

● Homerton NHS Foundation Trust

● Hornsey Parochial Charity

● Lee Valley Regional Park Authority

● LGA General Assembly

● Local Government Information Unit (LGIU)

● London Councils Executive

● London Councils Grants Committee

● London Councils Greater London Employment Forum (GLEF)

● London Councils Leaders’ Committee

● London Councils Transport and Environment Committee (TEC)

● London Housing Consortium

● London Pensions Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV)
Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

287Page 409



● London Legacy Development Corporation Planning Decisions
Committee (LLDC)

● London Road Safety Council

● London Youth Games Foundation

● Manor House Trust

● Newable Ltd

● North London Waste Authority

● Reserve Forces and Cadets Association (GL RFCA)

● Shoreditch Town Hall Trust

● Shoreditch Trust

● South Hackney Parochial Charity

● Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE)

● Sun Babies Trust

● West Hackney Parochial Charity

20. Attendance at Conference meetings:

● London Councils

● Local Government Association

21. Attendance at any meeting which is an induction training session, seminar,
presentation, or briefing arranged by Chief Officers of the Council for all
Members of a Committee, Sub Committee or Panel to discuss matters
relevant to the discharge of the Council’s functions and to which Members
of more than one party Group have been invited.

22. Attendance at visits and inspection of sites and premises arranged by
officers (e.g. opening of new facilities).

23. Attendance by Members who have the relevant special responsibility on
matters concerning the discharge of the Council’s functions.

24. Attendance before parliamentary Committees, official bodies and inquiries
to give evidence or make representations on the Council’s behalf.

25. Attendance at events by Members where they are invited to showcase or
represent the work of Hackney.

Part Seven - Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section C - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23

288Page 410



Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

1. The Elected Mayor and Councillors have a right to see the majority of
information which the Council holds so they can carry out their duties as
elected members of the Council. This can range from information about
services, to information about their constituents.

2. This document sets out guidance on the circumstances in which members may
gain access to information owned by the Council. If further advice regarding a
particular situation is required, this can be obtained from the Monitoring Officer.

Rights to Access Material

3. The Elected Mayor and Councillors have a right to see documents, or parts of
documents, where this is reasonably necessary to enable them to perform their
duties as elected members or their role within the Council. This is commonly
referred to as the ‘need to know’ principle. This covers cases where they seek
to see information which relates to a committee of which they are a member.

4. This does not amount to an automatic right to see documents and the right of
access does not extend to areas which are not within their direct responsibility.

5. In addition to the general right, any elected member has a statutory right to see
documents which contain information relating to:

(a) Business transacted at meetings of the Executive (including panels
and forums), the Council and its Committees;

(b) Any decision that might be made by a portfolio holder in accordance
with the Council’s Constitution; and

(c) Any key decision made by the Officer.

6. Some categories of information are exempt from this provision and the list of
exemptions is set out at the end of this document. The practice in the Council is
that the Elected Mayor and Councillors can generally see all information, even
if it is exempt. However, there will be some circumstances where this is not the
case, for example, where it concerns personal matters. If exempt information is
disclosed then it is to be treated in confidence in accordance with the
requirements of the Councillor Code of Conduct.

7. If the Council is minded not to disclose exempt information, it will consider
whether, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in disclosing

Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

289Page 411



the information outweighs the public interest in maintaining the exemption. If
so, the information will be disclosed.

Overview and Scrutiny

8. In addition to the above rights, members of the Scrutiny Panel and Scrutiny
Commissions can obtain exempt information or confidential information if it is
relevant to an action or decision that is being reviewed or scrutinised. These
members will also be entitled to copies of any document which is in the
possession or control of the Executive, Cabinet (or any of its sub-committees),
a Portfolio Holder, Advisory Panel or Consultative Forum and which contains
material relating to:

(a) Any business transacted at a meeting of Cabinet (or any of its
sub-committees), Advisory Panel or Consultative Forum; or

(b) Any decision made by an individual member of the Executive.

9. Confidential information is defined as:

(a) Information provided to the local authority by a government
department which has forbidden the disclosure of the information to
the public; or

(b) Information which cannot be disclosed to the public by a law or court
order

Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA)

10. The Elected Mayor and Councillors have the same rights as any other member
of the public to request information under the FOIA. Any such request should
be dealt with under the Council’s procedure for FOI requests.

11. It should be noted that political groups are not part of the Council and therefore
the Freedom of Information Act does not apply to them.

Data Protection Act/General Data Protection Regulations

12. The provisions of the Data Protection Act/General Data Protection Regulations
apply to any personal information relating to individuals. The position differs
according to the capacity in which the Elected Mayor and Councillors may be
acting.

Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

290Page 412



Elected members as data controllers

13. The Elected Mayor and Councillors are ‘data controllers’ under the General
Data Protection Regulations and are responsible for the personal data that they
collect, store, use and delete. A data controller is defined in the Regulations as
a person who determines the purposes for which and the means by which
personal data is processed

Acting on behalf of local residents

14. A local authority does not generally have to get the consent of an individual to
disclose their personal information to the Councillors provided that:

(a) The Councillor represents the ward in which the individual lives;

(b) The Elected Mayor or Councillor makes it clear that they are
representing the individual in any request for their personal
information to the local authority; and

(c) The information is necessary to respond to the individual.

Sensitive information

15. Certain information is classified as sensitive under the Data Protection Act and
General Data Protection Regulations including information about racial or
ethnic origins, political opinions and religious beliefs. Normally, consent from
the individual or another condition specified under the Act is required before
disclosure can be made. However, disclosure of such information to the Elected
Mayor and Councillors are allowed where they have been asked by the
individual to take action on their behalf and the information is necessary in
order for them to assist.

Care Proceedings

16. The Family Proceedings Court Rules 1991 lay down strict rules in respect of
information relating to family proceedings. Information can only be disclosed
with leave of the court. This is not restricted to documents filed with the court
but covers any information relating to these proceedings. The Elected Mayor
and Councillors cannot see any such information in any circumstances, even
where they are representing a constituent.

Councillor Code of Conduct

17. The provisions of the Councillor Code of Conduct contains details as to when
confidential or exempt information can/cannot be disclosed. The disclosure of

Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

291Page 413



confidential or exempt information other than as permitted is a breach of the
Code of Conduct.

Requests for Information

18. Where the Elected Mayor or Councillor makes a request for information and the
Officer to whom it is made is unsure whether the information can be disclosed,
advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer.

19. Where a request for information is granted, the appropriate Service Head,
Director or Group Director may place restrictions on how that information is to
be accessed, for example by viewing it at the Council’s offices, and/or specify
steps which are to be taken to ensure the security of that information.

20. The Elected Mayor and Councillors must not use information for any other
reason than that specified in their request.

Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

292Page 414



Appendix 1

Exempt information

(1) Information relating to any individual.

(2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.

(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
(including the authority holding that information).

(4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or
office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be
maintained in legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes:

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue or which
requirements are imposed on a person; or

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment.

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime.

----------

The following categories apply to meetings of the Standards Committee or
Sub-Committees in connection with the investigation and consideration of an
allegation of a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct:

● Information which is subject to any obligation of confidentiality.
● Information which relates in any way to matters concerning national security.
● The deliberations of a Standards Committee or of a sub-committee of a

Standards Committee in reaching any finding on a matter relating to the
conduct of the Elected Mayor, Councillor or Co-opted member.

Part Seven - The Elected Mayor and Councillors
Section E - The Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to Access Information

293Page 415



Part Eight - Officers

Section A - Proper Officer Functions

Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

294

Page 416



Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

The posts below are Proper Officers for the Council. Specific responsibilities are
attached to each role.

If any of these Officers are unable to act or the post is vacant, the Chief Executive
will nominate another officer to act in their place.

The Chief Executive is appointed as Proper Officer for all existing or future statutory
provisions, where no Proper Officer appointment has been made.

Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

1 Chief Executive Certification of
documents as a decision
of any Officer of the
Council exercising
delegated powers.

Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act
1969

2 Chief Executive The Officer to whom a
person elected to the
office of Councillor shall
deliver a declaration of
acceptance of office on
a form prescribed by
rules.

s83(1) Local
Government Act
1972

3 Chief Executive
The Officer before whom a
declaration of acceptance of
office of Speaker or Deputy
Speaker may be made

s83(3)(b) Local
Government Act
1972

4 Chief Executive The Officer to whom written
notice of resignation of
elected office shall be
delivered.

s84 Local
Government Act
1972

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

295Page 417



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

5 Chief Executive To declare any vacancy in
any office under the Section.

s86 Local
Government Act
1972

6 Chief Executive The Officer by whom a
meeting of the Council for
the election of the vacant
office of Chairperson of the
Council may be convened.

s88(2) Local
Government Act
1972

7 Chief Executive The Officer to whom notice
in writing of a casual
vacancy occurring in the
office of Councillor may be
given by two local
government electors for the
Borough.

s89(1)(b) Local
Government Act
1972

8 Chief Executive To give notice and send
summonses in respect of
any Council meeting.

s99 & Schedule
12 Local
Government Act
1972

9 Chief Executive To give public notice of any
meeting to which the public
are entitled to attend,
provide copies of agenda
and facilities for the press.

s100 Local
Government Act
1972

10 Chief Executive The Officer to exclude from
committees, sub
committees, Council or

s100B(2) Local
Government Act

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

296Page 418



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

Executive meeting agendas
any information to be dealt
with in a meeting room
which the public are likely to
be excluded.

1972

11 Chief Executive The Officer to supply to any
newspaper copies of
documents supplied to
Members of committees,
sub-committees, Council or
Executive meetings in
connection with an item for
consideration.

s100B(7)(c)
Local
Government Act
1972

12 Chief Executive The Officer to supply to any
newspaper copies of
documents supplied to
Members of committees,
sub-committees, Council or
Executive meetings in
connection with an item for
consideration.

s100C(2) Local
Government Act
1972

13 Chief Executive The Officer to prepare a list
of background papers for
reports considered by
committees,
sub-committees, Council or
the Executive.

s100D(1)(a)
Local
Government Act
1972

14 Chief Executive The Officer to determine
which documents constitute
background papers and

s100D(5) and
s100H Local
Government Act

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

297Page 419



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

ability to charge for the
provision of such documents

1972

15 Chief Executive The Officer to decide which
documents are not, by virtue
of containing exempt
information, required to be
open to inspection.

s100F(2) Local
Government Act
1972

16 Chief Executive To maintain a register of the
names and addresses of
Councillors and membership
of committees, lists of
delegations and the like.

s100G Local
Government Act
1972

17 Chief Executive The Officer to whom money
properly due from officers
shall be paid.

s115 Local
Government Act
1972

18 Chief Executive The Officer responsible for
the keeping of the roll of
freeman.

S248 Local
Government Act
1972

19 Chief Executive The Officer responsible for
the receipt of notices
regarding the address to
which summons to meetings
is to be sent.

Paragraphs
4(2)(b) and 4(3),
Schedule 12
Local
Government Act
1972

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

298Page 420



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

20 Chief Executive Officer responsible for the
certification of true copies of
resolutions.

Paragraph 25(7),
Schedule 14
Local
Government Act
1972

21 Chief Executive The Officer to certify copies
of any resolution, order,
report or minutes of
proceedings of the Authority
as evidence in any legal
proceedings.

s41 Local
Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act
1976

22 Chief Executive Notices requiring details of
interest in land.

s16
Representation
of the People Act
1983

23 Chief Executive The Registration Officer for
the purpose of the
registration of electors.

s8
Representation
of the People Act
1983

24 Chief Executive The Returning Officer at an
election of London Borough
Councillors.

s35
Representation
of the People Act
1983

25 Chief Executive Acting Returning Officer at
an election of a Member of
Parliament.

s28
Representation

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

299Page 421



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

of the People Act
1983

26 Chief Executive The Officer responsible for
the grant and supervision of
exemptions from political
restriction.

S3A Local
Government and
Housing Act
1989

27 Chief Executive The Officer to be designated
Head of the Paid Service

s4 Local
Government and
Housing Act
1989

28 Chief Executive The Officer to hold on
deposit the list of politically
restricted posts and provide
certificates as to whether a
post is politically restricted

s2 Local
Government and
Housing Act
1989

29 Chief Executive The Officer responsible for
ensuring a proper record is
made of Executive decisions
and that the Authority’s
Executive Meetings and Key
Decisions Notice is
published in accordance
with the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to
Information) (England)
Regulations 2012.

Local
Government Act
2000

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

300Page 422



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

30 Chief Executive To make payments of
relevant allowances in
accordance with the
Council’s Members’
Allowances Scheme

Local
Government Act
2000

31 Chief Executive To defray expenses of any
Members making official and
courtesy visits, receptions
and entertainment of
distinguished persons
visiting the Borough.

Local
Government Act
2000

32 Chief Executive Responsible person for
ensuring that the Council
complies with statutory
requirements relating to
complaints made to the
Council about its public
health functions and, where
necessary, action is taken in
light of the outcome of such
complaints.

Health and
Social Care Act
2012

33 Chief Executive The Officer responsible for
ensuring that the Council, in
the exercise of its functions,
have due regard to the need
to prevent people vulnerable
from being drawn into
terrorism

Counter
Terrorism and
Security Act
2015

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

301Page 423



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

34 Group Director,
Finance &
Corporate
Resources

Proper Officer for Births,
Deaths and Marriages.

Registration Services
Act 1953

35 Group Director,
Finance &
Corporate
Resources

The Officer to make
statutory declarations and
issue any certificate with
regard to securities held by
local authority companies.

s146 Local
Government Act
1972

36 Group Director,
Finance &
Corporate
Resources

The Officer to be
responsible for the proper
administration of the
Authority’s financial affairs
(and to issue a report to
Members if there is or is
likely to be unlawful
expenditure or an
unbalanced budget).

s151 Local
Government Act
1972

37 Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate
Resources

Notification to the Council’s
auditor of any meeting to be
held under Section 15 of the
1988 Act (meeting to
consider any report of the
Chief Finance Office under
Section 114).

S116 Local
Government
Finance Act 1988

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

302Page 424



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

38 Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate
Resources

Provision of information to
the Secretary of State in
relation to the exercise of his
powers under this Act as
and when required.

s139A Local
Government
Finance Act 1988

39 Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate
Resources

Requirement to report to
Council annually on the
robustness of estimates and
financial reserves

Local
Government Act
2003

40 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

Authorising Officers to
attend court and appear on
behalf of the Council under
Local Government Act 1972
and the County Courts Act
1984.

s223 Local
Government Act
1972

s60 County Courts
Act 1980

41 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

The Officer to receive and
retain statutory documents
on behalf of the Authority

s225(1) Local
Government Act
1972

42 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

The Officer to certify
photographic copies of
documents.

s229(5) Local
Government Act
1972

43 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral

The Officer to receive
documents required to be
served on the Authority.

s233 Local
Government Act
1972

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

303Page 425



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

Services

44 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

The Officer to authenticate
documents on behalf of the
Authority.

s234(1) & (2)
Local
Government Act
1972

45 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

The Officer to certify printed
copies of Byelaws.

s238 Local
Government Act
1972

46 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

The Officer to be designated
Monitoring Officer.

s5 Local
Government and
Housing Act
1989

47 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

To certify Council records for
the purposes of admitting
the document in evidence in
civil proceedings.

Civil Evidence
Act 1985

48 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

Certification of relevant
powers to enter into
contracts.

Local
Government
(Contracts) Act
1997

49 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

To ensure that copies of
the Constitution are
available for inspection.

Local
Government Act
2000

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

304Page 426



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

50 Director, Legal,
Democratic &
Electoral
Services

Responsibility for
establishing and maintaining
a register of Councillors and
co-opted members interests,
and for ensuring that it is
published on the Council’s
website.

Section 29
Localism Act
2011

51 Group Director,
Climate, Homes
& Economy

The Officer to act as Local
Registrar as defined in
Section 3 of the Land
Charges Act 1975.

s19 Local Land
Charges Act
1975

52 Group Director,
Climate, Homes
& Economy

The appointment of a
suitably qualified person as
the Council’s Medical
Advisor on Environmental
Health and Proper Officer
for notifiable diseases.

Public Health
(Control of
Diseases) Act
1984 and The
Milk and Dairies
(General)
Regulations 1969

53 Director of Public
Health

The exercise by the
authority of its functions
under section 2B, 111 or 249
or Schedule 1 – health
improvement duties to take
steps to improve the health
of the people in the area.

s73A(1)(a)
Health and
Social Care Act
2012

54 Director of Public
Health

The exercise by the
authority of its functions by

s73A(1)(b)
Health and

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

305Page 427



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

virtue of section 6C(1) or (3)
– The exercise of the
Secretary of State’s public
health protection or health
improvement functions that
they delegate to local
authorities, either by
arrangement or under
regulations – these include
services mandated by
regulations.

Social Care Act
2012

55 Director of Public
Health

Anything done by the
authority in pursuance or
arrangements under section
7A – Any public health
activity undertaken by the
local authority under
arrangements with the
Secretary of State.

s73A(1)(c)
Health and
Social Care Act
2012

56 Director of Public
Health

The exercise by the
authority of any of its
functions that relate to
planning for, or responding
to, emergencies involving a
risk to public health.

s73A(1)(d)
Health and
Social Care Act
2012

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

306Page 428



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

57 Director of Public
Health

The functions of the
authority under section 325
of the Criminal Justice Act
2003 – the local authority’s
role in coordinating with the
police, the probation service
and the prison service to
assess the risks posed by
violent and sex offenders.

s73A(1)(e)
Health and
Social Care Act
2012

58 Director of Public
Health

Other public health functions
that the Secretary of State
may specify in regulations.

s73A(1)(f) Health
and Social Care
Act 2012

59 Group Director & all
Chief Officers

To have regard to the effect
of the exercise of any
function on the need to
prevent crime and disorder
and offending by children
and young persons.

S13 and 37
Crime and
Disorder Act
1998

60 The Chief
Executive, Group
Directors and
Service Directors

Power to authorise officers
to enter premises and seize
items where the Council has
a power of seizure under
this Act and to perform other
related duties (return and
security of seized items).

Criminal Justice
and Police Act
2001

61 Group Director,
Children & Education

To apply for the discharge or
variation of a Child Safety
Order.

s12 Crime and
Disorder Act
1998

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

307Page 429



Function
exercised by

Function Statutory
provision

62 Head of Scrutiny and
Ward Forums

The Officer designated as
Scrutiny Officer.

Section 9FB Local
Government Act
2000.

Part Eight - Officers
Section A - Proper Officer Functions

308Page 430



Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

General

1.1 At the Annual Meeting, Full Council will establish an Appointments
Committee. That Committee will establish Sub-Committees, which will be
responsible for the appointment, disciplinary and appeal processes relating to
the Head of Paid Service and all Chief Officers, as required. The Disciplinary
Sub-Committee must include at least one member of the Cabinet.

1.2 Where an appointment is the responsibility of the Appointment
Sub-Committee, all elements of the recruitment procedure up to final panel
interviews shall be the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or an Officer
authorised by him/her.

1.3 The Council is required by law to appoint a number of senior officers; these
are known as statutory chief officers. These statutory chief officers are the
Head of Paid Service, Director of Adult Social Services, Director of Children’s
Services, s151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Director of Public Health. The
Council may also designate posts as non-statutory chief officer posts.

1.4 For the purposes of these Rules, the Council’s Chief Officer posts are set out
below. Where the post is a statutory chief officer post, the statutory name
appears in brackets immediately afterwards. If the post is a non-statutory post
then this is also stated.

(a) Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service)

(b) Group Director, Adults, Health and Integration (Director of Adult
Social Services)

(c) Group Director, Children and Education (Director of Children’s
Services)

(d) Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources (Chief Finance
Officer/s151 Officer)

(e) Group Director, Climate Homes and Economy (non statutory)

(f) Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services (Monitoring
Officer)

(g) Director, Public Health (Director of Public Health)

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

309Page 431



(h) Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development (non
statutory)

1.5 In these Rules, Deputy Chief Officers are defined as Officers, who may be
statutory officers, in Directorates who report to or are directly accountable
either to the Head of Paid Service or to a statutory or non-statutory Chief
Officer.

1.6 The appointment or dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against, all
other members of staff of the Council must be discharged, on behalf of the
Council by the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) or by an Officer
nominated by them.

Declarations

2.1 The Council will require any candidate for appointment as an Officer of the
Council to state in writing whether they are the parent, grandparent, partner,
child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew
or niece of the Elected Mayor, Councillor or Officer of the Council or of the
partner of such person.

2.2 No candidate that is related to the Elected Mayor, Councillor or a Chief Officer
will be appointed without the permission of the relevant Chief Officer or an
Officer nominated by them.

Seeking support for appointment

3.1 Any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the support of the Elected Mayor
and a Councillor for an appointment with the Council will be disqualified from
the process. The content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment
information.

3.2 The Elected Mayor or Councillors are not permitted to provide a written
reference or testimonial in support of any applicant nor are they permitted to
support the candidature of any applicant.

Recruitment of Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and Chief Officers
(statutory and non-statutory)

4.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Head of Paid Service and Chief
Officers the Council will:

(a) Prepare a job description/person specification for the role, including
any qualifications and qualities to be sought in the person to be
appointed; and

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

310Page 432



(b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply
for it

Appointment of the Head of the Paid Service (Chief Executive)

5.1 The Council’s Appointments Committee will establish a Sub-Committee, which
must include at least one Councillor from the Cabinet, who will be responsible
for making recommendations about the appointment of the Head of Paid
Service (Chief Executive).

5.2 Full Council will consider the recommendation of the Sub-Committee and
make a decision. Full Council may only approve the appointment of the Head
of Paid Service (Chief Executive) if neither the Elected Mayor nor any
Councillor of the Cabinet has made, following the procedure in 7.1(b) and 7.2
below, a well-founded objection to that appointment.

Appointment of Chief Officers

6.1 The Council’s Appointments Committee will establish a Sub-Committee, which
must include at least one Councillor from the Cabinet, to appoint a Chief
Officer to a permanent position.

6.2 In the case of temporary or interim appointments to Chief Officer positions:

(a) The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) is responsible for
temporary appointments, in consultation with the Elected Mayor,
where this is an acting up appointment; i.e. where an existing
employee carries out additional duties of a higher graded post.

(b) An Appointments Sub-Committee is responsible for interim
appointments where it is proposed to make an appointment other than
of a person currently employed by the Council.

Director of Public Health

6.3 Full Council must, in accordance with Part 3 of the National Health Service
Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 30 of the Health and Social Care Act
2012, jointly with the Secretary of State, appoint an individual to have
responsibility for all the Council’s public health functions, including any
conferred by regulation. The individual is to be an Officer of the Council.

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

311Page 433



Procedure for the appointment of Chief Officers

7.1 The following process will apply after the Appointments Sub-Committee has
interviewed all shortlisted candidates for Chief Officer posts:

(a) If the Sub-Committee agree on a candidate suitable for the post, they
will indicate their ‘provisional intention to make an offer’ to the Head of
the Paid Service (Chief Executive) together with any particulars which
the Sub-Committee considers relevant in making the appointment;

(b) The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) will notify the Elected
Mayor and each Councillor of the Cabinet of the name of the person
the Appointments Sub-Committee wishes to make an offer to, and any
other particulars relevant to the appointment notified by the
Appointments Sub-Committee, allowing an opportunity for any
objection to be made to the proposed appointment by the Elected
Mayor on behalf of any Councillor of the Cabinet.

7.2 The notification in 7.1(b) will be by email and the period of objection will
normally be two working days. If the period of objection is to be shortened,
notification will be by telephone and email.

7.3 The ‘provisional intention to make an offer’ will become a firm offer and the
offer will be made without the need for the Appointments Sub-Committee to
re-convene if:

(a) The Elected Mayor notifies the Appointments Sub-Committee that
neither they nor any other member of the Cabinet has an objection to
an offer being made; or

(b) The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) notifies the Appointments
Sub-Committee that no objection has been received from the Elected
Mayor within the objection period.

Procedure where an objection is received to an appointment

8.1 If an objection is received from the Elected Mayor, the Appointments
Sub-Committee will re-convene to consider the objection. If the Appointments
Sub-Committee is satisfied that any objection received from the Elected
Mayor is not material, or is not well founded, they will confirm their decision
and a formal offer will be made.

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

312Page 434



Other Appointments

All Officers below Chief Officer

9.1 The appointment of all Officers below Chief Officer (other than any assistants
to the Elected Mayor and political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of
Paid Service (Chief Executive) or their nominee, and may not be made by the
Elected Mayor or any Councillor.

9.2 In the case of the employment of a Deputy Chief Officer, an offer will only be
made if neither the Elected Mayor nor any Councillor of the Cabinet has made
a well-founded objection to that appointment.

Assistants to Political Groups

9.3 The appointment of any assistant to a political group willbe made in
accordance with the wishes of that political group.

Political Assistant to the Elected Mayor

9.4 Any Political Assistant to the Elected Mayor may only be appointed by the
Elected Mayor.

Disciplinary Action

10.1 There is a disciplinary process for the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive)
and all Chief Officers (statutory or non-statutory).

10.2 There is an additional special statutory process relating to disciplinary action
against the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer and
Chief Finance Officer which must be followed. The Council’s usual policies
and procedures will not apply.

10.3 The Appointments Committee will establish a Disciplinary Sub-Committee to
discharge all functions relating to disciplinary action against Chief Officers.
The Disciplinary Sub-Committee will consider if there is a case to answer and
whether suspension is necessary.

10.4 The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and Chief Officers may be
suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct. The
suspension will be on full pay and will normally last no longer than two
months.

10.5 Where it appears to the Council that an allegation of misconduct by the Head
of Paid Service (Chief Executive) or any other Chief Officer requires
investigation, then an investigator will be appointed to carry out the

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

313Page 435



investigation and compile an investigation report. The investigator appointed
may be independent of the Council.

10.6 In cases involving the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring
Officer and Chief Finance Officer, the appointment of a specific investigator
should be agreed between the Disciplinary Sub-Committee and the relevant
Officer or in default of such agreement the investigator should be a person
nominated by the Secretary of State.

10.7 The investigator may recommend that the suspension of the relevant Officer
be extended for a period beyond the initial two-month period in order to
complete the investigation.

10.8 The investigator may inspect any documents relating to the conduct of the
relevant Officer which are in the possession of the Council, or which the
Council has the power to authorise them to inspect.

10.9 The investigator may ask any member of the Council’s staff to answer
questions concerning the conduct of the relevant Officer.

10.10 The investigator will then forward the investigation report to the Disciplinary
Sub-Committee for consideration. The relevant Officer will also be provided
with a copy of the report.

10.11 The Council will pay reasonable remuneration to the investigator, together
with any costs incurred by them in completing the investigation.

10.12 The Disciplinary Sub-Committee will consider the investigator’s report. The
Officer will be given the opportunity to present evidence to the Disciplinary
Sub-Committee and to appear before it, prior to the Disciplinary
Sub-Committee making its decision.

10.13 No decision can be made by the Disciplinary Sub-Committee to dismiss the
Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Chief Finance Officer or the
Monitoring Officer; the Sub-Committee can only recommend dismissal for
these three officers. Where dismissal is recommended for them a statutory
process must be followed. The Disciplinary Sub-Committee can, however,
make decisions short of dismissal for all Chief Officers.

10.14 Where a Disciplinary Sub-Committee has made a decision short of dismissal
for any Chief Officer or a decision to dismiss a Chief Officer other than the
Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer or the Chief
Finance Officer. The relevant officer may appeal to the Appointments
Committee.

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

314Page 436



Statutory process relating to the disciplinary / dismissal of Head of Paid
Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer.

11.1 If the decision of the Disciplinary Sub-Committee is to recommend to Full
Council the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive),
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer, the evidence collected must be
put before an Independent Panel for its assessment.

11.2 For these purposes the Independent Panel will be a Committee appointed by
the Council under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the
purpose of advising the Council on matters relating to the dismissal of the
Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance
Officer.

11.3 The Council will invite relevant Independent Persons to be considered for
appointment to the Panel, with a view to appointing at least two Independent
Persons to the Panel.

11.4 The Independent Panel will comprise at least two Independent Persons who
have accepted an invitation from the following ‘pool’

(a) An Independent Person who has been appointed by the Council and
who is a local government elector.

(b) Any other Independent Person who has been appointed by the
Council; and

(c) An Independent Person who has been appointed by another Council
or Councils.

11.5 The Council must appoint the Independent Panel at least 20 working days
before the relevant Full Council meeting.

11.6 The Independent Panel will consider the investigator’s report and the
recommendation of the Disciplinary Sub-Committee and will then provide Full
Council with any advice, views and recommendations that it has on any
dismissal. The conclusions of the Independent Panel will be included in a
formal report to Full Council, together with the investigator’s report and
recommendations of the Disciplinary Sub-Committee.

11.7 The Independent Panel will provide the relevant Officer with an advance copy
of the report in order that any representations can be made.

11.8 Full Council will then consider the recommendations of the Independent Panel
and the conclusion of any investigation into the proposed dismissal. The Head

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

315Page 437



of Paid Service (Chief Executive), Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer
will be given the opportunity to make any representations. This will be
considered as their appeal process. Full Council will then consider whether to
uphold any recommended dismissal.

Notice of Dismissal

12.1 Where the Officer to be dismissed is the Head of Paid Service (Chief
Executive), the Monitoring Officer should be notified of the dismissal and any
other particulars which are considered relevant to the dismissal.

12.2 Where the Officer to be dismissed is the Monitoring Officer or the Chief
Finance Officer, the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) should be notified
of the dismissal and any other particulars which are considered relevant to the
dismissal.

12.3 The Elected Mayor and Cabinet will be consulted on any proposed dismissal
of a Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officer, other than those where the power
of dismissal is reserved for Full Council. The Elected Mayor and Cabinet will
be afforded a defined period to provide any views on the proposed dismissal.

Additional provisions relating to the Director of Public Health

13.1 With regard to the dismissal of the Director of Public Health, if the Secretary of
State believes that the Director of Public Health is not properly carrying out
any Secretary of State function that has been delegated to the Council, the
Secretary of State can direct the Council to review the Director of Public
Health’s performance, to consider what steps can be taken and to report back.

13.2 This power does not extend to the Director of Public Health’s performance of
the Council’s own health improvement duties. The Council must consult the
Secretary of State before dismissing its Director of Public Health. The Council
may suspend its Director of Public Health from duty. The Secretary of State
cannot veto its final decision on dismissal.

Involvement of Councillors in the disciplinary process

14.1 Councillors or the Elected Mayor will not be involved in disciplinary action or
dismissal against any Officer below Chief Officer except where such
involvement is necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged
misconduct.

14.2 Councillors and the Elected Mayor, as part of Full Council will be involved in
the consideration and determination of disciplinary action or dismissal against
the Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive), the Monitoring Officer and the

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

316Page 438



Chief Finance Officer of the Council following receipt of advice, views and
recommendations from an Independent Panel.

14.3 Members of the Disciplinary Sub-Committee will be involved in the
consideration and determination of disciplinary action or dismissal against the
Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and Chief Officers.

Part Eight - Officers
Section B - Officer Employment Procedure Rules

317Page 439



Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

General introduction to statutory responsibilities

1.1 The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment pursuant to section 5 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. This Protocol provides some
general information on how those statutory requirements will be discharged in
the London Borough of Hackney.

1.2 The current responsibilities of the Monitoring Officer role rest with the Director
of Legal, Democratic & Electoral Services, who undertakes to discharge their
statutory responsibilities with a positive determination and in a manner that
enhances the overall reputation of the Council.

1.3 The Monitoring Officer may appoint one or more Deputy Monitoring Officers if
they consider that it would be conducive to the effective conduct of their
statutory responsibilities.

1.4 A summary list of the statutory responsibilities appears in the table annexed to
this document. In general terms, the Monitoring Officer's ability to discharge
these duties and responsibilities will depend, to a large extent, on the Elected
Mayor, Councillors and Officers:

(a) Complying with the law (including any relevant Codes of Conduct);

(b) Complying with any general guidance issued from time to time;

(c) Making lawful and proportionate decisions;

(d) Not taking action that would bring the Council, their offices or
professions into disrepute; and

(e) Seeking early advice on issues relating to legal, constitutional or
ethical matters.

Working Arrangements

2.1 The following arrangements and understandings between the Monitoring
Officer, the Elected Mayor, Councillors and Chief Officers are designed to
ensure the effective discharge of the Council’s business and functions.

Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

318Page 440



2.2 The Monitoring Officer will:-

(a) Be alerted by the Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers to any
issue(s) that may become of concern to the Council, in particular
issues around legal powers, ethical standards, probity, propriety, and
procedural or other constitutional issues;

(b) Have advance notice (including receiving Agendas, Minutes, Reports
and related papers) of all relevant meetings of the Council, including
joint bodies, partnerships, etc at which a binding decision of the
Council may be made;

(c) Have the right to attend, and be heard, at any meeting of the Council
before any binding decision is taken by the Council;

(d) In carrying out any investigation(s), have unqualified access to any
information held by the Council and to any officer who can assist in
the discharge of their functions;

(e) Ensure the Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive and the s151 Officer
are kept up-to-date with relevant information regarding any legal,
ethical standards, probity, propriety, and procedural or other
constitutional issues;

(f) Meet regularly with the Head of Paid Service/Chief Executive and the
s151 Officer to consider and recommend action in connection with
corporate governance issues and other matters of concern regarding
any legal, ethical standards, probity, propriety, and procedural or other
constitutional issues;

(g) Report to the Council, from time to time, on the Constitution and any
necessary or desirable changes;

(h) Report to the Council, as necessary, on the staff, accommodation and
resources they require to discharge their statutory functions;

(i) Maintain and keep up-to-date relevant statutory registers for the
declaration of members’ interests, gifts and hospitality;

Relationships

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will develop effective working relationships to ensure
the effective and efficient discharge of Council business with:

(a) The Elected Mayor, Speaker, Group Leaders and Chairs of the
committees, sub-committees and panels; and

Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

319Page 441



(b) The external Auditor, the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman and the Housing Ombudsman;

3.2 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for preparing any training
programme for the Elected Mayor and Councillors on ethical standards and
Code of Conduct issues.

Monitoring the Protocol

4.1 The Monitoring Officer will report to the Constitution Committee as and when
necessary on whether:

(a) The arrangements set out in this Protocol have been complied with;
and

(b) Any amendments to this Protocol are required in the light of issues
which have arisen.

Conflicts

5.1 Where the Monitoring Officer has received a complaint, or is aware of an
event which may lead to them issuing a statutory report, relating to a matter
upon which they have previously advised the Council, they shall consult the
Chief Executive as to whether:

(a) The matter should be referred to the Deputy Monitoring Officer for
investigation and reporting; or

(b) A neighbouring authority should be asked to make their Monitoring
Officer available to investigate the matter and submit a report.

Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

320Page 442



Annex

Summary of Monitoring Officer Functions

Description Source

1 Report on contraventions or likely
contraventions of any enactment or
rule of law.

Local Government & Housing Act
1989 ss 5, 5A (as inserted by SI
2001/2237).

2 Report on any maladministration or
injustice where the Ombudsman has
carried out an investigation.

Local Government & Housing Act
1989 ss 5, 5A (as inserted by SI
2001/2237).

3 Appointment of Deputy Local Government & Housing Act
1989 s 5.

4 Power to delegate. Local Government Act 2000 s 82A
(as inserted by the Local
Government Act 2003 s 113)

5  Report on resources Local Government & Housing Act
1989 s5

6  Investigate misconduct in compliance
with the Council’s adopted Code of
Conduct

Localism Act 2011 s 28

7 Establish and maintain registers of
Members’ interests and gifts and
hospitality

Localism Act 2011 Chapter 7

Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

321Page 443



Description Source

8 Key role in promoting and
maintaining high standards of
conduct through support to the
Standards Committee.

Localism Act 2011 Chapter 7

9 Advice on vires issues,
maladministration, financial
impropriety, probity and policy
framework and budget issues to all
Members

Department for Communities & Local
Government, Local Government &
Social Care Ombudsman

Part Eight - Officers
Section C - Monitoring Officer Protocol

322Page 444



Part Nine - Codes and Protocols

Section A - Planning Code of Practice

Section B - Licensing Code of Practice

Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor /
Officer Relations

Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council
Interests in Companies

Section E - Protocol on Remote Attendance at Council
meetings

323
Page 445



Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

Introduction

1.1 Hackney has adopted a development plan that sets out how the Council
intends the borough to evolve; this plan along with the Supplementary Planning
Guidance describes what developments are likely to be permitted.

1.2 The planning process exists to ensure that developments are in line with the
Borough’s policies and while many minor applications are dealt with by officers
under delegated authority, major schemes and those raising substantial
objections are determined by the Planning Sub-Committee made up of elected
Councillors.

1.3 The Planning Code of Practice provides guidance on how Councillors sitting on
the Council’s Planning Sub Committee must conduct themselves when
determining any application before them, both in the lead up to and at the
Sub-Committee meeting itself.

1.4 This Code is supplementary to the Councillor Code of Conduct which sets out
the parameters for acceptable behaviour for Councillors. The Planning Code of
Practice and the Councillor Code of Conduct should therefore be read side by
side.

1.5 The Councillor Code of Conduct is set out at Part 5, Section A of the
Constitution.

1.6 The key objectives of this Code are to ensure that Councillors sitting on the
Planning Sub-Committee act reasonably and openly when dealing with matters
that are before them and protect the Council and individual Councillors from
allegations of unfairness, findings of maladministration and any legal challenge.

1.7 If at any time it appears that the rules and procedures set out in this document
are not being followed, the Legal Adviser and / or Governance Services Officer
will bring this to the attention of the Chair, who will take appropriate action. The
matter may also be brought to the attention of the Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

324Page 446



Failure to observe the Planning Code of Practice

2.1 Failure by a Councillor to observe this Planning Code of Practice will be a
breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct.

How to avoid a conflict of interest and still assist your constituents

3.1 Planning Sub-Committee members have to retain an open mind on any
application as they are a part of the decision-making process and cannot be
seen to side with either the applicant or those who are making representations
at the meeting at which the application would be determined. Adhering to the
following rules will also ensure that public confidence in the Sub-Committee is
maintained and serve to minimise the prospect of non-planning related matters
affecting the judgement of Sub-Committee members

3.2 As decision makers, Sub-Committee members should neither be seen to be
pre-judging the application before them for consideration, nor to be influenced
by those with whom they have a special relationship, their political party or
Councillors, at any stage prior to determination. Sub-Committee members
should similarly avoid making public statements as to their support of, or
opposition to, any application

3.3 Where Sub-Committee members receive lobbying material about an application
coming before the Planning Sub-Committee through the post or by email, they
should forward it to the Governance Service as soon as they realise it is
lobbying material. If a Sub-Committee member is approached by an individual
or an organisation in relation to a particular application on the agenda of an
upcoming meeting, the Sub-Committee member should advise the person or
organisation that it is not appropriate for them to personally comment on the
application but that the person or organisation may:

(a) Write to the Planning Service concerning the particular application
who will then respond and update the person or organisation
accordingly;

(b) Contact the Governance Service to request to speak at the
Sub-Committee meeting. Such representation must be received by 4
pm the day prior to a Sub-Committee meeting. Any request to speak
may be refused if the representation is not received by the deadline;
and

(c) Contact an alternative Councillor who is not to be part of the
Sub-Committee meeting at which the application may be heard.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

325Page 447



3.4 Councillors should represent the best interests of Citizens. Sometimes they
may find themselves in a difficult situation where they are sent lobbying
material. If a Councillor finds themselves in such a situation, they need to
decide whether they wish to sit on the Sub-Committee and hear the application
or to represent the interests of their Citizens

3.5 Sub-Committee members can hear applications from within their particular
ward.

3.6 If a Councillor is offered an inducement or is placed under pressure or is
intimidated to make a decision in a particular way on an application, they must
notify the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services.

3.7 If Sub-Committee members are under any doubt as to the implications of a
view which they might have expressed or a role which they might have played
on a planning matter before going to the Sub-Committee meeting, they should
seek advice from the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services in
advance of the relevant meeting or from the Legal Adviser to the Planning
Sub-Committee before the meeting begins.

When to declare an interest

4.1 In line with the provisions of the Councillor Code of Conduct, every Councillor
has a duty to notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer in writing of any disclosable
pecuniary interests they may have within 28 days of:

(a) The Code being adopted by Full Council; or

(b) The Councillor’s election or appointment (if that is later).

4.2 In addition, subject to agreement with the Monitoring Officer that the interest is
a sensitive one as defined in the Councillor Code of Conduct, a Councillor or
voting co-optee has a duty, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new
pecuniary interest or any change to any pecuniary interest notified to the
Monitoring Officer, to notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer in writing of that
new pecuniary interest or change.

Disclosable pecuniary interests

5.1 As a Councillor, you have a disclosable pecuniary interest if it is of a
description specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State and either:

(a) It is an interest of yours, or

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

326Page 448



(b) It is an interest of:

(i) your spouse or civil partner

(ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or

(iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were a civil partner
and you are aware that that other person has the interest.

Pecuniary interests in matters considered at meeting

6.1 If you attend a meeting including a Planning Sub-Committee meeting and are
aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be
considered, or being considered, at that meeting, you must - subject to
paragraph 8.1 below - disclose that interest to the meeting

6.2 If any doubt exists in a Sub-Committee member’s mind, they are advised to
seek advice from the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services in
advance of the Sub-Committee meeting, or from the Legal Adviser to the
Sub-Committee before the start of the meeting. In the final analysis, the duty to
declare and the decision as to whether an interest should be disclosed rests
with the Councillor, not with Officers.

What to do when a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared?

7.1 Once you have disclosed a pecuniary interest at the meeting, you may not –
unless you have obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Monitoring Officer:

(a) Participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting; or

(b) Participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the
meeting

7.2 Additionally, you will be excluded from a meeting while any discussion or vote
takes place that you are not permitted to participate in, as a result of paragraph
6.1 above

7.3 Restrictions in paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2 above do not apply where you attend
the meeting for the purposes of answering questions or otherwise giving
evidence relating to that decision, action or matter.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

327Page 449



Dispensations

8.1 As a Councillor, you may submit a written request to the Monitoring Officer well
in advance of meeting, for dispensation relieving you from the restrictions on a
participation in and voting on a disclosable pecuniary interest subject to the
provisions set out in the Councillor Code of Conduct. It should be noted that
some requests may need to go to the Standards Committee.

8.2 It is important to note that the rules relating to declarations of interest apply
equally to any Councillor who may from time to time wish to attend a meeting of
the Planning Sub-Committee and speak on a particular matter. Each Councillor
who attends a meeting must make an assessment of whether they have an
interest in the matter under discussion, whether they intend to participate in
proceedings or not. However, if a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary
interest, they must withdraw from the meeting room for the duration of the
discussion on that item subject to paragraph 7.3 above where a Councillor
wishes to answer questions or give evidence. However, if a Councillor who has
a disclosable pecuniary interest does not wish to speak, they must leave the
room when the agenda item is under discussion.

Predetermination or bias

9.1 Planning Sub-Committee members must hear all planning applications with an
open mind. They must not make up their mind on an application before they
have heard the full application and any representations made for or against it

9.2 Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue
which does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not
be prohibited from participating in a decision in your political role as a
Councillor. You may have even directly or indirectly expressed a view on a
matter which may be relevant to a decision. However, you should avoid placing
yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or
organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your
official duties.

9.3 When making a decision in such situations, you should consider the matter with
an open mind and on the facts before the meeting at which the decision is to be
taken. If a Councillor has made up their mind before the meeting, they should
not hear the application.

9.4 Where a planning matter is under consideration relating either to an external
body that you sit on as a Councillor, or to an individual whom you actively
engage in supporting, or an organisation which you actively engage in

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

328Page 450



supporting, then such an interest must be declared and you should not
participate in the meeting to discuss or vote on the matter (see ‘When to
Declare an Interest’ in paragraph 4.1 above). By becoming involved in a
planning application prior to the Sub-Committee meeting other than to read the
Planning Officer’s report and any additional documentation provided, the
Councillor risks the Sub-Committee decision being challenged or overturned on
appeal.

Decision Making – Permitted Considerations

10.1 Councillors should only consider the merits of an application as set out before
the Sub-Committee, as allowed for under the relevant legislation, before
determining whether or not to grant an application in full or in part.
Sub-Committee Councillors must not give weight to non-planning matters that
may be raised by any party involved in the Sub-Committee meeting.

10.2 Further, an applicant or objector may not raise any substantial new information
at a meeting (including by way of correspondence, other documents or
photographs) at the Sub-Committee meeting without due notice and agreement
by the Chair of the Sub-Committee and all parties attending the meeting. Any
attempt by applicants or objectors (or their agents) to introduce such
information without the necessary agreement is not permitted.

10.3 Applications must be determined in accordance with the relevant legislation
and the Council’s planning policy statements.

10.4 If a decision of the Planning Sub-Committee is seen to be made on other than
sound permitted grounds it could be open to legal challenge, and if the court
deems the decision to be flawed, it may be overturned. This could have serious
cost implications for the authority.

10.5 Any decision by the Sub-Committee must be substantiated by reasons, based
on the relevant legislation and the Council’s planning policy statements, and
these must be agreed by the Sub-Committee and included in the minutes of the
meeting by the Governance Officer.

Site Visits Protocol

11.1 Councillors can ask a Planning Officer to arrange site visits in respect of
applications to be determined by the Sub-Committee. Such visits may be with
or without a planning Officer in attendance.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

329Page 451



11.2 If a site visit is required the Planning Officer attending should advise the
Governance Service of the time / date of the site visit, those Councillors in
attendance and any other relevant information.

11.3 Councillors are reminded that they are required to retain an open mind on
applications and must not preempt a decision when undertaking site visits.

Councillors’ Training

12.1 All Councillors who sit on the Planning Sub-Committee MUST attend
appropriate and ongoing training before exercising their right to be involved in
the decision-making process at a Sub-Committee meeting.

Behaviour at Meetings

13.1 Councillors who sit on the Sub-Committee who are not present for the entirety
of a particular item for whatever reason must refrain from participating in the
discussion on that item and must not be involved in the decision-making
process.

13.2 Councillors who sit on the Sub-Committee must be seen to act fairly. They must
not discuss, or appear to discuss, any matter with members of the public during
the course of the meeting or in the lead up to it.

13.3 Councillors who are not members of the Planning Sub-Committee may only
speak at a Sub-Committee meeting if they have made a representation or are
acting on behalf of someone who has. Councillor’s should sit separately from
the Planning Sub-Committee members and they should declare whether they
have had any contact with the applicant / objector / property owner or their
agents and whether they are speaking on behalf of a third party and if so, who.

13.4 Councillors who are not members of the Planning Sub-Committee must not
communicate with those who are part of the Sub-Committee in any other
manner than that described above in the lead up to or during the course of the
Sub-Committee meeting.

Political Whips

14.1 Proceedings are quasi-judicial and should never run on party political lines.
Councillors should neither be whipped nor lobbied by other Councillors.
Councillors are advised that any political group meeting prior to the Planning
Sub-Committee meeting must not be used to decide how Councillors will
determine items before the Planning Sub-Committee meets.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

330Page 452



Councillors as Community Advocates

15.1 Councillors who are not sitting on the Planning Sub-Committee may represent
the interests of their constituents at that Planning Sub-Committee meeting.

15.2 A Councillor may advocate on behalf of their constituents and may stay in the
meeting room after making representations.

15.3 A Councillor who has a disclosable pecuniary interest in an application before
the Planning Sub-Committee may speak at the meeting about their objection
and their constituents’ objections to the application, in regard to the licensing
objectives. The Councillor must however, then leave the meeting room when
the application is being considered unless they have been granted
dispensation.

Breach of the Code

16.1 Where a Councillor believes the Code has been breached, this must be
brought to the attention of the Monitoring Officer.

Offences

17.1 It is a criminal offence if a Councillor or voting co-optee fails, without reasonable
excuse to disclose their own or their spouse’s or civil partner’s pecuniary
interest within 28 days of their taking office or fails to disclose a disclosable
pecuniary interest that they are aware of at a meeting where any matter to be
considered relates to their interest.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Planning Code of Practice

331Page 453



Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

Introduction

1.1 Hackney Council has adopted licensing policy statements under both the
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005, which set out the Council’s policies
when providing permissions to those wishing to carry out relevant licensable
activities within the Borough.

1.2 Licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003 consist of the sale and
supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late-night refreshment. The
Gambling Act 2005 defines gaming, betting and certain types of lotteries, as
licensable activities.

1.3 The legislation has laid down procedures and rules governing how all parties
should conduct themselves before and during a Sub-Committee meeting.

1.4 The Licensing Code of Practice provides guidance on how Councillors on the
Council’s Licensing Committee must conduct themselves when determining
any application before them, both in the lead up to and at the Sub-Committee
meeting itself.

1.5 This Code is supplementary to the Councillor Code of Conduct which sets out
the parameters for acceptable behaviour for Members. The Licensing Code of
Practice and the Councillor Code of Conduct should therefore be read side by
side.

1.6 The Councillor Code of Conduct is set out at Part 5, Section A of the
Constitution.

1.7 The key objectives of this Code are to ensure that Councillors of the Licensing
Sub-Committee act reasonably and openly when dealing with matters that are
before them and protect the Council and individual Councillors from allegations
of unfairness, findings of maladministration and any legal challenge.

1.8 If at any time it appears that the rules and procedures set out in this document
are not being followed, the Legal Adviser and / or Governance Services Officer
will bring this to the attention of the Chair, who will take appropriate action. The
matter may also be brought to the attention of the Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services.

Failure to observe the Licensing Code of Practice

2.1 Failure by a Councillor to observe this Licensing Code of Practice will be a
breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

332Page 454



How to avoid a conflict of interest and still assist your constituents

3.1 Sub-Committee members have to retain an open mind on any specific
application before them for consideration as they are a part of the decision
making process and cannot be seen to side with either the applicant or those
who are making representations at the meeting at which the application would
be determined. Adhering to the following rules will also ensure that public
confidence in the Sub-Committee is maintained and serve to minimise the
prospect of non-licensing related matters affecting the judgement of
Sub-Committee members.

3.2 As decision makers, Licensing Sub-Committee members should neither be
seen to be pre-judging the application before them for consideration, nor to be
influenced by those with whom they have a special relationship, their political
party or Councillors, at any stage prior to determination. Sub-Committee
members should similarly avoid making public statements as to their support of,
or opposition to, any application.

3.3 Where Sub-Committee members receive lobbying material about an application
coming before the Licensing Sub-Committee through the post or by email, they
should forward it to the Governance Service as soon as they realise it is
lobbying material. If a Sub-Committee member is approached by an individual
or an organisation in relation to a particular application on the agenda of an
upcoming meeting, the Sub-Committee member should advise the person or
organisation that it is not appropriate for them to personally comment on the
application but that the person or organisation may:

(a) Write to the Licensing Service concerning the particular application
who will then respond and update the person or organisation
accordingly;

(b) Contact the Governance Service to request to speak at the
Sub-Committee meeting, provided that they have written to the
Licensing Service making a representation against the application;
and

(c) Contact an alternative Member of the Council who is not to be part of
the Sub-Committee meeting at which the application may be heard.

3.4 Councillors should represent the best interests of Citizens. Sometimes they
may find themselves in a difficult situation where they are sent lobbying
material. If a Councillor finds themselves in such a situation, they need to
decide whether they wish to sit on the Sub-Committee and hear the application
or to represent the interests of their Citizens.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

333Page 455



3.5 Although ward Councillors who wish to make representations to the
Sub-Committee may do so, they cannot hear applications within their particular
ward.

3.6 If a Councillor is offered an inducement or is placed under pressure or is
intimidated to make a decision in a particular way on an application, they must
notify the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services.

3.7 If Sub-Committee members are under any doubt as to the implications of a
view which they might have expressed or a role which they might have played
on a licensing matter before going to the Sub-Committee meeting, they should
seek advice from the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services in
advance of the relevant meeting or from the Legal Adviser to the Licensing
Sub-Committee before the meeting begins.

When to declare an interest

4.1 In line with the provisions of the Councillor Code of Conduct, every Councillor
has a duty to notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer in writing of any disclosable
pecuniary interests they may have within 28 days of:

(a) The Code being adopted by Full Council; or;

(b) The Member’s election or appointment (if that is later).

4.2 In addition, subject to agreement with the Monitoring Officer that the interest is
a sensitive one as defined in the Councillor Code of Conduct, a Councillor or
voting co-optee has a duty, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new
pecuniary interest or any change to any pecuniary interest notified to the
Monitoring Officer, to notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer in writing of that
new pecuniary interest or change.

Disclosable pecuniary interest

5.1 As a Councillor, you have a disclosable pecuniary interest if it is of a description
specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State and either:

(a) It is an interest of yours, or

(b) It is an interest of:

(i) your spouse or civil partner

(ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or

(iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were a civil partner
and you are aware that that other person has the interest.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

334Page 456



Pecuniary interests in matters considered at meetings

6.1 If you attend a meeting including a Licensing Sub-Committee meeting and are
aware that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be
considered, or being considered, at that meeting, you must - subject to
paragraph 8.1 below - disclose that interest to the meeting.

6.2 If any doubt exists in a Sub-Committee member’s mind, they are advised to
seek advice from the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services in
advance of the Sub-Committee meeting, or from the Legal Adviser to the
Sub-Committee before the start of the meeting. In the final analysis, the duty to
declare and the decision as to whether an interest should be disclosed rests
with the Councillor, not with Officers.

What to do when a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared?

7.1 Once you have disclosed a pecuniary interest at the meeting, you may not –
unless you have obtained a dispensation from the Council’s Monitoring Officer:

● Participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the
meeting; or;

● Participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the
meeting.

7.2 Additionally, you will be excluded from a meeting while any discussion or vote
takes place that you are not permitted to participate in, as a result of paragraph
6.1 above.

7.3 Restrictions in paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2 above do not apply where you attend
the meeting for the purposes of answering questions or otherwise giving
evidence relating to that decision, action or matter.

Dispensation

8.1 As a Councillor, you may submit a written request to the Monitoring Officer well
in advance of meeting, for dispensation relieving you from the restrictions on a
participation in and voting on a disclosable pecuniary interest subject to the
provisions set out in the Councillor Code of Conduct. It should be noted that
some requests may need to go to the Standards Committee.

8.2 It is important to note that the rules relating to declarations of interest apply
equally to any Councillor who may from time to time wish to attend a meeting of
the Licensing Sub-Committee and speak on a particular matter. Each
Councillor who attends a meeting must make an assessment of whether they
have an interest in the matter under discussion, whether they intend to
participate in proceedings or not. However, if a Councillor has a disclosable

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

335Page 457



pecuniary interest, they must withdraw from the meeting room for the duration
of the discussion on that item subject to paragraph 7.3 above where a
Councillor wishes to answer questions or give evidence. However, if a
Councillor who has a disclosable pecuniary interest does not wish to speak,
they must leave the room when the agenda item is under discussion.

Predetermination or bias

9.1 Councillors must hear all licensing applications with an open mind. They must
not make up their mind on an application before they have heard the full
application and any representations made for or against it.

9.2 Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue
which does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not
be prohibited from participating in a decision in your political role as a
Councillor. You may have even directly or indirectly expressed a view on a
matter which may be relevant to a decision. However, you should avoid placing
yourself under any financial or other obligation to outside individuals or
organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your
official duties.

9.3 Where a licensing matter is under consideration relating either an external
body that you sit on as a Councillor, or an individual whom you actively engage
in supporting, or an organisation which you actively engage in supporting, then
such an interest must be declared and you should not participate in the meeting
to discuss or vote on the matter (see ‘When to Declare an Interest’ in
paragraph 4.1 above). By becoming involved in a licensing application prior to
the Sub-Committee meeting other than to read the Licensing Officer’s report
and any additional documentation provided, the Councillor risks the
Sub-Committee decision being challenged or overturned on appeal.

Decision Making – Permitted Considerations

10.1 Councillors should only consider the merits of an application as set out before
the Sub-Committee, as allowed for under the relevant legislation, before
determining whether or not to grant an application in full or in part.
Sub-Committee members must not give weight to non-licensing matters that
may be raised by any party involved in the Sub-Committee meeting.

10.2 Further, an applicant or objector may not raise any substantial new information
at a meeting (including by way of correspondence, other documents or
photographs) at the Sub-Committee meeting without due notice and agreement
by the Chair of the Sub-Committee and all parties attending the meeting. Any
attempt by applicants or those making representations (or their agents) to

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

336Page 458



introduce such information without the necessary agreement is not permitted
under the hearing regulations.

10.3 Applications must be determined in accordance with the relevant legislation
and the Council’s licensing policy statement(s).

10.4 If a decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee is seen to be made on other than
sound permitted grounds it could be open to legal challenge, and if the court
deems the decision to be flawed, it may be overturned. This could have serious
cost implications for the authority.

10.5 Any decision by the Sub-Committee must be substantiated by reasons, based
on the relevant legislation and the Council’s licensing policy statement, and
these must be agreed by the Sub Committee and included in the minutes of the
meeting by the Governance Officer.

Site Visits Protocol

11.1 Councillors are advised against attending site visits, unless its absolutely
necessary, as the decisions are based on the application made and the
representations received, which is then determined following a discussion at
the Sub-Committee meeting.

11.2 If in exceptional circumstances a site visit is required the Member attending
should advise Governance Services of the time/date of the site visit, those
Councillors in attendance and any other relevant information.

11.3 Councillors are reminded that they are required to retain an open mind on
applications and must not discuss pre-empt a decision when undertaking site
visits.

Pre-meeting Meetings

12.1 It is generally a good practice to have a pre-meeting of Councillors of the
Licensing Committee and officers to clarify issues and to consider additional
documents submitted by applicants and objectors. However, Members are
advised to maintain an open mind and not to make a decision on any
application at the pre-meeting.

Members’ Training

13.1 All members of the Licensing Committee MUST attend appropriate and
ongoing training before exercising their right to be involved in the
decision-making process at a Sub-Committee meeting.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

337Page 459



Behaviour at Meetings

14.1 Members of the Sub-Committee who are not present for the entirety of a
particular item for whatever reason must refrain from participating in the
discussion on that item and must not be involved in the decision-making
process.

14.2 Members of the Sub-Committee must be seen to act fairly. They must not
discuss, or appear to discuss, any matter with members of the public during the
course of the meeting or in the lead up to it. Nor should Councillors accept
letters or documents from members of the public at any time before or during
the meeting, in case this is misinterpreted.

14.3 Councillors who are not members of the Licensing Sub-Committee may only
speak at a Sub-Committee meeting if they have made a representation or are
acting on behalf of someone who has. Councillor’s should sit separately from
the members of the Licensing Sub-Committee and they should declare whether
they have had any contact with the applicant / representor / responsible
authority or their agents and whether they are speaking on behalf of a third
party and if so, who.

14.4 Councillors who are not members of the Licensing Sub-Committee must not
communicate with the members who are part of the Sub-Committee in any
other manner than that described above in the lead up to or during the course
of the Sub-Committee meeting.

Political Whip

15.1 Licensing Sub-Committee proceedings are quasi-judicial and should never run
on party political lines. Councillors sitting on Licensing Sub-Committee’s should
neither be whipped nor lobbied by other Members. Licensing Sub-Committee
Councillors are advised that any political group meeting prior to the Licensing
Sub-Committee meeting must not be used to decide how Councillors will
determine items before the Licensing Sub-Committee meets.

Members as Community Advocates

16.1 Councillors who are not sitting on the Licensing Sub-Committee may represent
the interests of their constituents at that Licensing Sub-Committee meeting.

16.2 A Councillor may advocate on behalf of their constituents and may stay in the
meeting room after making representations.

16.3 A Councillor who has a disclosable pecuniary interest in an application before
the Licensing Sub-Committee may speak at the meeting about their objection
and their constituents’ objections to the application, in regard to the licensing

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

338Page 460



objectives. The Councillor must however, then leave the meeting room when
the application is being considered unless they have been granted
dispensation.

Breach of the Code

17.1 Where a Councillor believes the Code has been breached, this must be
brought to the attention of the Monitoring Officer.

Offences

18.1 It is a criminal offence if a Councillor or voting co-optee fails, without
reasonable excuse to disclose their own or their spouse’s or civil partner’s
pecuniary interest within 28 days of their taking office or fails to disclose a
disclosable pecuniary interest that they are aware of at a meeting where any
matter to be considered relates to their interest.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section A - Licensing Code of Practice

339Page 461



Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

Elected Mayor and
Councillors Officers

Democratically elected
representatives who set
the Council’s budget and
policies

Politically neutral staff
who are employed to
manage and deliver
services using their skills
and professional
knowledge

The Elected Mayor and
Councillors will: Officers will:

Respect employed staff
and recognise
professional boundaries

Working Together Be sensitive to issues,
including operational and
political sensitivities and
be focussed on solutions

Encourage constructive
challenge from officers

Determination Take responsibility for
their actions and
outcomes

Consider the advice from
professional officers

Empowerment and
respect

Listen to and respect the
insight of the Elected
Mayor and Councillors

Embrace innovation and
celebrate success

Excellence Make recommendations
based on evidence

Engage with officers in an
honest and
straightforward way

Simplicity Be honest and open with
the Elected Mayor and
Councillors

Recognise legal and
financial constraints

Accountability Understand the
constraints that the
Elected Mayor and
Councillors operate under

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

340Page 462



Introduction

1.1 The Council has produced this Protocol to promote the highest standards in
public life and harmonious working relationships.

1.2 This Protocol recognises the varied and complex relationships between the
Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers.

1.3 If the Protocol is followed, it should frame the effective working relationship
that is essential to the successful operation of the Council’s business. Mutual
trust, respect and understanding between the Elected Mayor, Councillors and
Officers is crucial.

1.4 The Protocol also applies to dealings between voting and non-voting co-opted
members and Officers.

The Relationship: General Points

2.1 The Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers all serve the public and they are
indispensable to one another however their responsibilities are distinct. The
Elected Mayor and Councillors are responsible to the electorate and serve
only so long as their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible to the
Council as a whole, not to any political group; their job is to advise the Elected
Mayor, Councillors and the Council and to carry out the Council’s work under
the direction and control of the Council, the Cabinet, their committees and
sub-committees.

2.2 Mutual respect is at the heart of this Protocol. It is therefore important that
dealings between the Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers should be
courteous and neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their
position or exert undue influence on the other.

Obligations on Elected Mayor and Councillors

3.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must comply with the Council’s adopted
Councillor Code of Conduct, as set out in Part 7, Section A of this
Constitution.

3.2 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must not do anything that compromises,
or is likely to compromise, the impartiality of those who work for, or on behalf
of, the Council.

3.3 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must not disclose information given to
them in confidence, or information they believe to be confidential, unless they
have authorisation to do so, or are required to do so by law. They must not

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

341Page 463



prevent another person from gaining access to information to which they are
entitled by law.

3.4 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must use any Council facilities provided
for them in their role as an elected member strictly for that purpose and no
other.

3.5 The Council employs certain Officers to assist the Elected Mayor and
Councillors in their role. These Officers must not be asked to assist with any
personal, business or party-political matter and any inappropriate requests for
assistance will be referred to their Head of Service. The exception to this rule
is any duly appointed Political Assistant(s), who may assist with party political
matters.

3.6 The Elected Mayor and Councillors are under an obligation to disclose
personal interests in accordance with the Councillor Code of Conduct. They
must register financial and other interests as well as gifts and hospitality as
set out in the Councillor Code of Conduct.

3.7 The Elected Mayor and Councillors have a duty to act reasonably when taking
part in the Council’s decision-making processes. They must:

(a) Read all relevant papers provided;

(b) Declare any interests necessary in accordance with the Code of
Conduct;

(c) Take into account any legal or financial advice provided;

(d) Take into account all relevant considerations, and disregard anything
which is not relevant;.

3.8 The Elected Mayor and Councillors control the Council’s assets and finances.
They are in a position of trust and the law imposes on them a fiduciary duty to
act in the best interests of all the people of Hackney.

Relationship between the Elected Mayor, Councillors and Officers

4.1 Relationships with a particular individual or party groups should not be such
as to create suspicion that an officer favours that individual or party group
above others. Officers may be a member of a political party, but if an Officer is
in a politically restricted post they may not have an active political role or
stand for elected office.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

342Page 464



4.2 Any close personal or family relationships between Officers and the Elected
Mayor or Councillors should be disclosed to the Chief Executive who will
decide how far this needs to be disclosed to others. The Elected Mayor and
Councillors must also declare any relationship with an Officer which might be
seen as influencing their work to their party whip.

4.3 Generally, a close relationship between the Elected Mayor or Councillors and
a senior Officer is incompatible with the high standards of public life promoted
by the Council and should be avoided. Such relationships may put the Elected
Mayor or Councillor and the Officer in a position to exercise improper
influence over the workings of the Council. Even if there is no actual
impropriety, the situation may give rise to suspicion and the public may
perceive that the opportunity for improper influence exists.

4.4 Close personal familiarity between the Elected Mayor or Councillors and
Officers can damage professional relationships and prove embarrassing to
other elected members and Officers. Officers should refer to the Elected
Mayor and Councillors by the title of the office they hold; for example, Mayor,
Speaker, Chair, Vice-Chair, or Councillor. The Elected Mayor and Councillors
should similarly avoid excessive informality and should refer to Officers either
by their title or by their full name.

4.5 The same degree of formality is not necessary at any social events that The
Elected Mayor and Councillors attend with Officers. Nevertheless, people
attending events should be mindful that close personal familiarity could
embarrass others or damage the professional relationship.

The Role of Elected Mayor and Councillors

5.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors:

(a) Develop and set policies that will then be implemented by Officers.

(b) Monitor how those policies are being implemented.

(c) Where their office allows them to do so, provide guidance to Officers
on how those policies are to be implemented, either if Members wish
to do so or if Officers ask for guidance.;

(d) Represent the views of their communities and ward constituents, and
deal with individual casework.

(e) Recognise the statutory roles of the:

- Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service;
Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

343Page 465



- Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources as Section
151 Officer;

- Director of Legal, Democratic & Electoral Services as Monitoring
Officer;

- Group Director, Children and Education (the DCS)
- Group Director of Adults, Health and Integration (the DASS);

and
- Director of Public Health.

These Statutory Chief Officers have responsibilities in law over and
above their obligations to the Authority which they must be allowed to
discharge.

(f) Consult with the communities they represent on the development of
policy, particularly Best Value Reviews, the Best Value Performance
Plan, Community Planning and other local initiatives.

(g) Consult with the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer about
vires, maladministration, financial impropriety and probity or where
they have any doubt as to whether the particular decisions are, or are
likely to be, contrary to the policy framework or the law or contrary to,
or not wholly in accordance with the budget.

(h) Respect Officers’ political impartiality.

(i) Promote the highest standards of conduct and ethics.

5.2 The Elected Mayor and Councillors must not insist that any Officer take any
action, or not take action, that the Officer considers unlawful or illegal; is in
direct contradiction of any code or guidance, contrary to the Council’s budget
or policy framework, or which would be likely to amount to maladministration.

The Role of Officers

6.1 Officers:

(a) Implement the policies set by the Elected Mayor and Councillors.

(b) Will ask for guidance on implementation of the policies set by the
Elected Mayor and Councillors if they are unclear about any aspect of
those policies.

(c) Give such professional advice to the Elected Mayor and Councillors
as may be required of them from time to time, recognising the

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

344Page 466



different needs for advice there may be depending upon the role of
the Elected Mayor and Councillors.

(d) Carry out their delegated functions to the best of their ability and in the
interests of the Council.

(e) Must remember that they are employed by the London Borough of
Hackney as a whole and not by any particular part of the Council.

(f) Are under a duty to help all the Elected Mayor and Councillors,
Co-opted Members and all parts of the Council equally.

(g) Must take all relevant matters into account when formulating advice to
the Elected Mayor and Councillors.

6.2 Officers must not:

(a) Set policy other than for the smooth running of office procedures and
processes and as may have been delegated under the Council’s
Constitution and Scheme of Delegations.

(b) Take any action, or not take action, which would be unlawful or illegal,
is in direct contradiction of any code or guidance, contrary to the
Council’s budget or policy framework, or which would be likely to
amount to maladministration.

Expectations

7.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors can expect from Officers:

(a) A commitment to the Authority as a whole, and not to any political
group or individual Member;

(b) A working partnership;

(c) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and
pressures;

(d) Timely response to enquiries and complaints in accordance with
agreed standards and processes;

(e) Professional advice not influenced by political views or preference,
which does not compromise the political neutrality of employees;

(f) Regular, up to date information and discussion on matters that can
reasonably be considered appropriate and relevant to their needs,

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

345Page 467



having regard to any individual responsibilities that they have and
positions that they hold;

(g) Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment in which they
are working;

(h) Respect, dignity and courtesy;

(i) Training and development in order to carry out their role effective

(j) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality;

(k) That Officers will not use the relationship to advance their personal
interests or to influence decisions improperly;

(l) That Officers will at all times comply with the Code of Conduct for
Employees.

7.2 Officers can expect from the Elected Mayor and Councillors:

(a) A working partnership;

(b) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and
pressures;

(c) An understanding and knowledge of the local area and a willingness
to share this with staff;

(d) Political leadership and direction;

(e) Respect, dignity and courtesy;

(f) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality;

(g) Not to be subject to bullying or harassment or to be intimidated or put
under undue pressure or improper influence and that regard will be
had to the power relationship between the Elected Mayor, Councillor
and employee and the potential vulnerability of staff, particularly at
junior levels.

(h) That the Elected Mayor and Councillors will not use their position or
relationship with Officers to advance their personal interests or those
of others or to influence decisions improperly

(i) That Elected Mayor and Councillors will at all times comply with the
Councillor Code of Conduct.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

346Page 468



Relationship between the Chair and Members of the Scrutiny Panel and
Commissions and Officers

8.1 The Chair and members of the Council’s Scrutiny Panel and Commissions
and related bodies must:

(a) Seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer where they consider there is
doubt about the lawfulness of a decision, or the Monitoring Officer or
the s151 Officer where they consider a decision of the Elected Mayor
or the Cabinet might be contrary to the budget and policy framework.

(b) When considering calling Officers to give evidence, liaise with the
relevant Director or Chief Officer as to the most appropriate Officer to
attend.

(c) When asking Officers to give evidence, confine questions, so far as
possible, to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and
decisions. Officers may be asked to give a professional opinion, but
Officers must not be asked questions relating to political views.

(d) Where they consider it appropriate, ask Officers to explain and justify
advice given to executive members prior to decisions being
undertaken and justify decisions they themselves have taken under
the Council’s Constitution, and their response to consultations under
the Scheme of Delegations.

(e) Not question Officers in such a way as to be in breach of the Council’s
policy on harassment nor deal with matters which are of a personal or
disciplinary nature.

(f) At all times respect the political impartiality of the Officers.

8.2 Officers must:

(a) Maintain political impartiality at all times when commenting on the
Cabinet’s/Council’s policies and actions.

(b) Be prepared to explain and justify advice given to Councillors of the
Cabinet and the Council prior to decisions being taken and justify
decisions they themselves have taken under the Council’s
Constitution and Scheme of Delegations.

(c) Ensure that appropriate Officers appear before the relevant panel.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

347Page 469



Relationship between the Chair and Members of Committees and Officers

9.1 The Chair and Members of Council Committees must give Officers the
opportunity to present any report and give any advice they wish to present or
give.

Officer Relationships with Party Groups

10.1 When dealing with the various party groups:

(a) Any request for information to/from a political group or elected
member must be treated with strict confidence by the Officers
concerned and will not be accessible to any other political group.
Factual information will, if requested, be available to all political
groups.

(b) Officers shall exercise care when giving briefings or commenting on
the policies and actions of the Cabinet or any of the Council’s
Committees or panels and maintain political impartiality at all times.

10.2 When acting in party groups, and dealing with Officers, the Elected Mayor and
Councillors must:

(a) Recognise that Party Groups are not empowered to make decisions
on behalf of the Council.

(b) Ensure they do not do anything that may compromise Officer
impartiality.

(c) Ensure that confidential matters are not divulged to non-Councillors.

Councillors in their Ward Role

11.1 When acting in their ward role, Councillors

(a) Need to be mindful of their competing roles, i.e. acting for the Council
and acting for constituents, and the possible conflicts of interest that
can arise and the pressure this can bring on Officer time.

(b) Recognise the Officers’ right to suggest that senior Officers, the
Cabinet, Council, or a Committee/Commission need to authorise
additional work requested by individual Councillors.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

348Page 470



Complaints about Officers or services

12.1 The Elected Mayor and Councillors have the right to be critical about reports
or the actions taken by Officers, but they should always;

(a) Avoid personal attacks on Officers; and

(b) Ensure that criticism is constructive and well-founded.

12.2 The Elected Mayor and Councillors should avoid undermining respect for
Officers at meetings, or in any public forum. This would be damaging, both to
effective working relationships and to the public image of the Council. It would
also undermine the mutual trust and courtesy that is an essential element of a
well-run authority.

Member Access to Documents and Information

13.1 The rights of the Elected Mayor and Councillors with regards to accessing
information is dealt with in the Elected Mayor’s and Councillors’ Rights to
Access Information in Part 7, Section D of this Constitution.

Publicity and Press Releases

14.1 Councils are accountable to their electorate. Accountability requires local
understanding. This will be promoted by the Council, explaining its objectives
and policies to the electors and Council Tax payers. Councils use publicity to
keep the public informed and to encourage public participation. Good,
effective publicity aimed to improve public awareness of a Council’s activities
is to be welcomed.

14.2 Publicity is, however, a sensitive matter in any political environment because
of the impact it can have. Expenditure on publicity can be significant. It is
essential, therefore, to ensure that local authority decisions on publicity are
properly made in accordance with clear principles of good practice. The
Government has issued a Code of Recommended Practice on Local Authority
Publicity. It is therefore essential that any decisions about publicity take the
provisions of this Code into account. Particular care is required before and
during election (known as the “pre-election period”), and advice on this is
provided by the Monitoring Officer.

14.3 All Council press releases:

(a) Should be in accordance with the Council’s agreed Media Guidelines;
and

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

349Page 471



(b) Should be issued through the Council’s Communications Team.

Correspondence

15.1 When Councillors are writing in their capacity as a Councillor, they must make
it clear whether they are writing on behalf of the Council or as the ward
Member. All letters sent on behalf of the Council must be written on the
relevant headed paper. All emails should be sent via the corporate Hackney
email.

15.2 Correspondence may be subject to disclosure under the Freedom of
Information Act/Environmental Information Regulations. Where
correspondence is confidential, this should be clearly stated. For example,
correspondence written in connection with legal proceedings; contractual
matters; any other matter where papers can remain ‘exempt’ within the
meaning of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

If things go wrong

16.1 From time to time the relationship may break down or become strained. In
such cases, it will always be preferable to resolve matters informally.

Procedure for Elected Mayor and Councillors

16.2 In the event that the Elected Mayor or Councillor is dissatisfied with the
conduct, behaviour or performance of an Officer then they should raise the
matter with the appropriate Group Director. Where the matter concerns a
Group Director, it should be raised with the Chief Executive. Where the matter
concerns the Chief Executive it should be raised with the Elected Mayor. The
Elected Mayor may raise concerns about the Chief Executive with the
Monitoring Officer.

16.3 If the Elected Mayor or any Councillor is concerned about the way a service or
part of it is performing as opposed to the conduct of a specific Officer, and if
the concerns cannot be resolved through discussion with the manager of the
service, then this should be raised with the Chief Executive.

Procedure for Officers

16.4 If an Officer wishes to raise a concern about the behaviour of the Elected
Mayor or a Councillor they can either escalate it to their line manager, Group
Director or to the Council’s Monitoring Officer, as appropriate to the
circumstances. Officers also may use the Council’s Whistleblowing Procedure.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

350Page 472



16.5 Having been notified of a concern in this way, the line manager, Group
Director or Monitoring Officer will take appropriate action, including
approaching the person concerned and raising with the Group Leader and/or
Whip or referring the matter to the Monitoring Officer where there is a potential
breach of the Code of Conduct.

16.6 Group Leaders and Whips should promote a positive atmosphere of trust,
respect and understanding and must be prepared to deal with and seek to
resolve any reported incidents of breaches of this Protocol by their Group
Members. In the event of receiving a report of this nature, a Group Leader
and/or Whip will actively consider the matter and seek to achieve a
satisfactory outcome, reporting that outcome to the Officer who reported the
issue.

Advice on the application of the Protocol

17.1 Advice on the application of this Protocol should be sought from either the
Head of the Paid Service (the Chief Executive) or the Monitoring Officer.

Part 9 - Codes and Protocols
Section C - Protocol for Elected Mayor & Councillor/Officer Relations

351Page 473



Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

Introduction

1.1 It is imperative that companies in which the Council has an interest are set up,
managed and run according to the rules of good governance in order to
mitigate risk.

1.2 The Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 authorises councils to
enter into agreements with other local authorities and other designated public
bodies, for the provision of goods, materials and administrative, professional
and technical services, for the use of vehicles, plant and apparatus and
associated staff, and for the carrying out of maintenance.

1.3 The Local Government Act 2003 added new possibilities to charge for
services, to both provide extra services at cost and to trade with the private
sector. Under the 2003 Act, the Government authorised trading by means of a
trading order. The current trading order permits all councils in England to trade
or "to do for a commercial purpose", anything which they are authorised to do
for the purpose of carrying on their ordinary functions, which includes the
Council’s general power of competence under the Localism Act 2011.
Councils are therefore permitted to trade with the private sector for a profit;
these profits may then go back to the council through dividends or service
charges.

1.4 The law prescribes that the Council must use a company where it wishes to
do things for a commercial purpose.

1.5 Anyone within the Council intending to set up a company should refer to the
published Alternative Service Delivery Vehicle Framework Management
Handbook.

1.6 Before a company is established:

(a) Legal, financial and audit advice must be taken

(b) A robust business case must be prepared covering the objectives of
the business; the investment and other resources required to achieve
those objectives; any risks the business might face and how
significant these risks are; and the expected financial results of the
business, together with any other relevant outcomes that the business
is expected to achieve. Where the company is intending to exercise
the power to trade pursuant to the Local Government Act 2003, the

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

352Page 474



business case must also contain enough detail to satisfy the
requirements of the Act.

1.7 All listed companies are subject to the UK Corporate Governance Code. The
Council expects all of its companies and any subsidiaries to adopt the “comply
or explain” approach of the UK Corporate Governance Code as a
demonstration of best practice in corporate governance.

Controls and Freedoms

2.1 It is recognised that a trading company needs to be given commercial
freedoms to enable it to succeed. Governance arrangements will seek to
ensure that:

(a) The company will be provided with sufficient freedoms to achieve its
objectives; and

(b) The Council will retain sufficient controls to ensure that its investment
is protected, that appropriate social and financial returns on
investment can be obtained and that the trading activities of the
companies are conducted in accordance with the values of the
Council.

Relationship, Integrity and Accountability

3.1 Whilst a company operates in a way which protects that company’s
commercial interests, the Council must carry out its functions as an investor
in a way which pays due respect to the responsibilities it has as a local
authority. Governance arrangements will seek to ensure that:

(a) The Council makes investment decisions based upon complete and
accurate consideration of business cases and business plans;

(b) The Council evaluates social and financial benefits and returns on
investment; and

(c) The Council exercises its powers in relation to the reviewing of
decision making in a manner that ensures the companies can provide
full and frank financial and business reporting against their business
plans and be open to an appropriate level of scrutiny without fear of
commercial confidentiality being breached.

Understanding of role

4.1 As companies have a separate legal personality to the local authority, the
success and good governance of the company depends upon those involved

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

353Page 475



understanding their role and responsibilities collectively and individually.
Governance arrangements will ensure that there is sufficient induction,
training and other materials in place so that:

(a) Legal duties;

(b) Stewardship of assets;

(c) The provisions of the governing documents;

(d) The external environment; and

(e) The total structure of the organisations and the venture

are appropriately understood by the Elected Mayor and Councillors, by
officers of the Council and by the directors of the companies.

Ownership and control of the company

5.1 The London Borough of Hackney, in its capacity as the local authority as a
corporate body, will be a member of the company. The membership will be as
guarantor if a company is limited by guarantee or, as will be the norm for local
authority trading companies (LATC), the holder of shares (perhaps the only
share) in a company limited by shares.

5.2 The rights and duties as a member of the company will, however, almost
always fall to be exercised as a corporate responsibility. This means that
decisions to be taken by the Council as a member of the company (as
shareholder) fall to be decided on in the normal way. That is by the executive
(Elected Mayor and Cabinet) or by an Officer if appropriate powers have been
delegated. Decisions taken by the Council will be subject to access to
information rules.

5.3 The authority of the shareholder is exercised where decisions of the company
are reserved for approval of the Council before they can be implemented, but
also directly in the form of a shareholder’s written resolution or at the
company’s general meetings.

5.4 At the company general meetings the Council will be present and voting as a
member of the company, where this presence and voting will be in the form of
a single person known as the ’shareholder representative’.

5.5 Decisions to be made by the Council, rather than left to the company itself,
are known as ‘reserved matters’. Reserved matters cover such things as the
approval of the company’s annual business plan or mid-year amendments to
it, the appointment of directors, certain key financing decisions and so forth.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

354Page 476



These are established either through agreement with the company, known as
a shareholders’ agreement, or as set out in the company’s governing articles
of association.

5.6 The relationship between the local authority (and the companies it is a
member of) is governed by key documents that are required to establish a
local authority company, and a trading company in particular. In establishing
the local authority’s company and then in governing the relationship with what
is now a separate legal personality, the Council will need to put in place the
following documents:

(a) The business case which assesses the risk involved in the proposed
trading enterprise and decides whether or not it should be established
and proceed to trade. It starts the process of business planning.

(b) The articles of association, or the memorandum and articles of
association as it used to be called, which is the constitution of the
company. This is the legal document required to set up a limited
company and give details of its name, aims and authorised share
capital, conduct of meetings, appointment of directors and registered
office.

(c) The shareholders agreement, or management agreement, which
sets out the rights of the Council as the sole or co-shareholder and
how it can exercise those rights. It details the powers of the board of
the company and how and when the shareholder might influence
those powers. It is important to note that the shareholder agreement is
capable of being developed and added to as the company develops.

(d) The financial agreements which are the commercial agreements that
set out what assistance is to be provided and on what terms. This
may be purely financial, such as a direct loan or a facility such as a
parental guarantee, and made on commercial terms. It may also be in
the form of goods, services or staff to be provided and set out in a
resourcing agreement or a service level agreement, which is likely to
be on a service charge or cost recovery basis. The agreements may
require regular and detailed access to information and financial
reporting to the Council and/or holding company.

(e) The business plan which sets out the objectives of the business, how
they are to be achieved and standards met adjusted in the light of
experience and changing circumstances. It is a comprehensive
analysis of the business situation at a particular point in time. It is
often referred to as the annual business plan because it is expected to
be submitted for shareholder approval annually.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

355Page 477



Intelligent Shareholder

6.1 When a company is established, the Council designates an ‘intelligent
shareholder’ who is responsible for:

(a) Nomination of directors and company secretaries.

(b) Exercising the Council’s vote at general meetings of the company;

(c) Determining those matters that are reserved to the shareholder to
decide upon; and

(d) Holding the companies to account on a day to day basis for
performance against their agreed business plan; contractual matters
between the Council and the company; the company’s state of
financial health; and the social and financial return the company
provides on the Council’s investment.

6.2 The intelligent shareholder will report annually to Cabinet on the performance
of the Council’s companies. Such reports may either follow the end of each
accounting period for the company or be collated into one annual report at the
intelligent shareholder’s discretion.

6.3 The Council has designated the Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources to be the intelligent shareholder for all Council owned and
controlled companies.

Relationships

7.1 Cabinet is responsible for approving the business case to establish a
company, of setting the right balance between the economic, social and
environmental objects of a company when it is established and of
subsequently overseeing and scrutinising the exercise of the Council’s powers
as shareholder.

7.2 Once established, the company must then get on with the business of
delivering the objectives with which it has been tasked, within the parameters
set for it. It must be otherwise free, however, to operate in its own best
interests and to compete on an even basis with its competitors in the
marketplace.

7.3 This creates a flow of information and accountability, in which

(a) The company gets on with the business of delivery;

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

356Page 478



(b) The Council makes the company decisions reserved to it and to holds
the company to account for performing against them; and

(c) Councillors, as part of their overview role, scrutinise the decisions
made on the Council’s behalf.

7.4 The legal framework for local authority companies includes an express
requirement concerning the provision of information to Members of the
Council, which reflects the similar provision in relation to local authorities
generally. This states that a local authority regulated company “shall provide
to a Member of the Council such information about the affairs of the company
as the member reasonably requires for the proper discharge of his duties.”

7.5 The exception here is that the company cannot be required to provide
information in breach of legislation or in breach of an obligation owed to any
person.

Investment and Finance

8.1 The balance of how each company venture may be financed will be assessed
and set out in the business case, required at the very beginning of the venture
and the incorporation of the company as described above, and in business
plans as made or amended and agreed by the Council. Each decision will
take into account state aid implications and such matters as where legislative
and regulatory requirements demand full cost recovery or standard
commercial terms to be applied.

8.2 Where the purpose of a company is to better utilise assets owned by the
Council, for example, the principal investment in the company is likely to be
those assets. The assets may then be made use of by the company through
their being transferred in their entirety from the Council to the company or by
being provided to the company by the Council under a lease, loan or use
agreement.

8.3 Investment at the initial stage of a trading company will normally be by way of
purchase of share capital, often together with a loan or loan facility on
commercial terms. This is to fund those costs which arise at the start of the
company or company joint venture, including the holding company and its
subsidiaries, to cover initial set up costs, working capital costs and collateral
costs. For purchased company interests, share value should reflect the fair
value of the going concern.

8.4 Direct investment may well also be by various other forms of agreement. This
may be for the supply of monies, directly as a loan or under a parental
guarantee, credit agreement, facility and so forth, which should be on

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

357Page 479



standard commercial terms. It may also be for the supply of goods, property or
staff, as described above and at section 12 below.

Company Structure

9.1 Wherever advantageous and reasonably practicable to do so, the Council’s
companies and any subsidiary companies will be expected to adopt a
common ‘group’ approach. Where a Teckal company is used, this will involve
the companies using existing Council policies and strategies where
appropriate and, in particular, the Council will require the company and its
subsidiaries to adopt a common approach across the group on branding and
its finance, ethics and procurement policies and practices wherever
practicable. For example, the Council will require a Teckal and potentially
other companies owned by the Council to approve the procurement and
authorisation of spend levels set by each company for its directors and staff.

9.2 More detailed matters may also be set as a common approach by the Council,
where it considers that that will increase effectiveness, efficiency and
engender common understanding. This is likely to include such things as
group financial procedure rules, fraud and whistle-blowing policies, decision
making levels and procedures, capability and disciplinary procedures, health
and safety practices and so forth.

9.3 The Council and any holding company may similarly provide a natural home
and conduit for support and control roles that will be common across the
group, such as company secretarial services, procurement, finance and
human resources. These fall into two groups. The first is those services that
would be better employed directly by the company within any group structure,
such as financial and payroll systems for example. The other are those
provided as managed services to the companies by the Council, under a
resourcing agreement (or service level agreement), because this is more cost
effective, appropriate or is a demand of the shareholder, such as HR or
company secretarial and legal services.

9.4 The secondary purpose is financial, in that a range of company activities can
share VAT registration where appropriate and more than one company, one
arranged as a subsidiary to another, can be treated as holding group
accounts. The latter means that reporting is as one set of accounts and that
profit and loss can be distributed across the group, setting one off against
another, as might be desired to meet the aims and values set for the group.

9.5 The Council will approve the appointment of auditors for any company and its
accounts may be required to appear as part of the Council’s financial
statements.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

358Page 480



The Company’s Board

10.1 A local authority company will be run by its board of directors answerable to
the shareholders, in accordance with the articles of association. A board of
between 3 and 8 directors is likely to be most practical, although this will be
dependent on the circumstances of each company.

10.2 The representatives who are appointed directors by the Council will participate
directly in the activities of the company and are answerable to the company
and have the powers and duties of company directors whilst they do so.
Accordingly, careful consideration needs to be given as to the potential for
conflicts of interest when making appointments. Only persons who are
considered to best meet the requirements of the company in question should
be appointed as Directors.

10.3 Where an Officer is appointed to a company board, they will be provided with
an indemnity for their actions in that role. This is provided for under the Local
Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004. It should be
noted, however, that any such indemnity only covers actions taken honestly
and in good faith.

10.4 Directors currently receive no remuneration for fulfilling the role.

10.5 For the purposes of completeness, if a Councillor is appointed to serve as a
director, the law only permits them to receive payment for that directorship up
to the amount payable for that role under the authority’s Special Responsibility
Allowance (SRA), set as a result of the recommendation of anIndependent
Remuneration Panel. These payments may be made by the company directly
or, more normally by the Council for reasons of simplicity, accounting and
accountability.

Conflicts of interest

11.1 Councillors and Officers should be aware of potential conflicts of interest when
carrying out their roles for their authorities, or when acting as directors of
trading companies.

11.2 There will always arise a point where, in matters of reporting, contractual
discussion, investment requests or resourcing agreements, there is potential
for the same person to be a decision maker or advisor both for the Council
and the company. This is a reflection of the position of each company as a
separate legal entity and that the directors of each company are subject to.

11.4 A Briefing Note on Directors Duties and Conflicts of Interest has been
prepared which all Directors will read before their first Board Meeting. In

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

359Page 481



addition all Directors should ensure that they undertake training on their
responsibilities and conflicts of interest.

Managed Services, Support Arrangements and Employees

12.1 The Council is required to recover the costs of any accommodation, goods,
services, staff or any other thing it supplies to a company; it cannot subsidise
the operation of the company.

12.2 The Council may enter into an agreement with the companies to provide
services at cost or as a surplus service charge and that staff time and
resources utilised for company purposes should be carefully accounted for.
Where this is done at cost, which shall be the norm, the approach should be in
accordance with the CIPFA definition of ‘whole cost’.

12.3 The areas of the authority’s resources utilised might include project
management, initial set-up staff, human resources, audit, business continuity,
communications, procurement, legal and finance. It is for the company and
the Council to agree what is the appropriate level of authority led resource that
is appropriate, should or can be delivered to the company in each case. The
parameters of those services can be agreed through a Resourcing Agreement
or what is known as a Service Level Agreement (SLA).

12.4 The authority as shareholder, however, does need to be assured that there
are effective and robust support services in place in certain areas. This is to
satisfy itself that sufficient standards of operational governance, legal and
company secretarial compliance and effective financial management within
the company are adhered to. The authority will reserve to itself the ability
under the Shareholder Agreement to insist on supplying these services to a
controlled company, at cost, if it feels that these standards are not otherwise
being met or are not in its opinion likely to be met.

12.5 The Company Secretary role should have a consistent approach across all of
the Council owned companies or group of companies. This is to ensure
consistent interpretation of the compliance standards across the companies
and of the governance relationship between the companies and between the
companies and the Council. In addition, it ensures that appropriate and proper
intelligence is shared across the companies and the authority. In relation to all
authority-controlled companies and their subsidiaries, therefore, the position
of company secretary as an officer (not a director) of each company in the
group is fulfilled by an Officer from within the Legal & Governance Service.

12.6 In relation to company staffing, it is expected that staff of the local authority
trading companies will be directly recruited and employed by the companies
themselves, with the exception of those support staff supplied by or seconded

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

360Page 482



from the authority as described above. Where the business case includes that
staff are transferred, however, this will be subject to full reporting and then
consultation and requirements under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection
of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) and guidance.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section D - Protocol on the Governance of Council Interests in Companies

361Page 483



Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section E - Protocol concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings

Introduction

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility
of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and
Wales) Regulations 2020 which permitted remote attendance at, and remote
access to, council meetings expired on 7 May 2021.

1.2 As a consequence, all meetings of the Council, except for Licensing
Sub-Committee meetings which are not meetings convened under the Local
Government Act, must be held face to face. We recognise, however, that
sometimes elected Members and members of the public will not always be
able to attend in person.

1.3. This protocol concerns remote attendance at Council meetings.

Times and Access to Meetings

2.1 Meetings will be held at the time notified on the agenda and the agenda will
include details of the physical location for the meeting and the livestream link.
Calendar appointments for elected Members will include the link to access the
meeting via Google Meet.

Meetings of Council, Cabinet and all Council Committees etc (except
Licensing Sub-Committee meetings)

Elected Mayor and Councillors in Remote Attendance

3.1 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor who accesses a meeting remotely:

(a) Is not counted as being present at the meeting for the purposes of
s85 of the Local Government Act 1972;

(b) Does not count for the purposes of the quorum of the meeting;

(c) May not vote on any item under consideration at the meeting; and

(d) May speak on any item under consideration at the meeting with the
permission of the Chair.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section E - Protocol concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings

362Page 484



3.2 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor should:

(a) Use all reasonable efforts to ensure that they have a stable
connection to the meeting via wifi/mobile data. It is recommended
that the Elected Mayor or any Councillor join the meeting no later
than 5 minutes before the meeting is due to commence to test the
stability of their connection.

(b) Not join a meeting remotely if they are located in a disruptive or
noisy environment, for example on public transport or in a cafe.

(c) Ensure that their background is neutral or use the blurring option.

(d) Where they are a member of the Committee etc, have their
cameras turned on at all times and microphones on mute unless
they are called upon to speak.

(e) Where they are not a member of the Committee etc, have their
cameras turned off and microphones on mute unless they are
called upon to speak. If they are called upon to speak both the
camera and microphone should be turned on.

(f) Use the ‘raise hand’ function to indicate to the Chair that they wish
to speak.

(g) Not use the chat function for any reason other than to indicate that
there may be an ICT issue relating to the meeting or that they are
leaving the meeting.

(h) When referring to a specific part of a report or other document,
refer to the paragraph/page number so that all members have a
clear understanding of what is being referred to.

(i) Ensure that no other persons have access to the space from which
they attend the meeting when confidential/exempt information is
under consideration.

(j) Be careful not to allow exempt or confidential papers to be seen in
the video-feed. If exempt or confidential papers are seen on the
screen a member of the Governance team or the meeting facilitator
will turn off the camera of the member and bring this to the
attention of the elected member.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section E - Protocol concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings

363Page 485



3.3 The Elected Mayor or any Councillor in remote attendance will be deemed
to have left the meeting where, at any point in time during the meeting
their link to the meeting is disconnected for whatever reason and
reconnection is not achieved within a reasonable period.

Remote Attendance by Members of the Public

3.4 A member of the public may attend a meeting remotely in order to
exercise a right to speak at the meeting or ask a question.

3.5 Members of the public should:

(a) Use all reasonable efforts to ensure that they have a stable
connection to the meeting via wifi/mobile data. It is recommended
that members of the public join the meeting no later than 5 minutes
before the meeting is due to commence to test the stability of their
connection.

(b) Not join a meeting remotely if they are located in a disruptive or
noisy environment, for example on public transport.

(c) Ensure that their background is neutral or use the blurring option.

(d) Have their cameras turned on at all times and microphones on
mute unless they are called upon to speak.

(e) Not use the chat function for any reason.

(f) When referring to a specific part of a report or other document,
refer to the paragraph/page number so that all members have a
clear understanding of what is being referred to.

3.6 If the meeting needs to go into a ‘private’ session to discuss
confidential/exempt items of business, the Governance Officer will ensure
that any members of the public who are present leave the meeting before
consideration of the item begins.

Meeting Procedures

3.7 The Chair will follow the procedure rules set out in this Constitution.

3.8 The Chair, at the beginning of the meeting, will explain any arrangements
around participation. Any rulings given by the Chair during the course of
the meeting are final. The Elected Mayor or any Councillor may request an
explanation from the Chair as to their ruling, but once an explanation has
been provided the ruling will be final.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section E - Protocol concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings

364Page 486



Persons excluded from the Meeting

3.9 Where any person is required to leave the meeting under the terms of Council
Procedure Rules 25 or 26 or the applicable Cabinet Procedure Rules, the
person’s connection to the meeting will be severed by the Governance Officer.

Licensing Sub-Committee Meetings

4.1 Meetings of the Council’s Licensing Sub-Committees are not meetings
called under the Local Government Act 1972 and therefore may be held
remotely.

4.2 For the Elected Mayor or any Councillor this means that they

(a) Are counted as being present at the meeting for the purposes of s85
of the Local Government Act 1972;

(b) Are counted for the purposes of the quorum of the meeting; and

(c) May vote on any item under consideration at the meeting;

4.3 The rules relating to meetings referred to in paragraphs 3.1 to 3.9 above
will apply equally to Licensing Sub-Committee meetings.

Part Nine - Codes and Protocols
Section E - Protocol concerning Remote Attendance at Meetings

365Page 487



Appendices

1 - Council (non-executive) Functions

2 - Local Choice Functions

3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc

366
Page 488



Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

Functions relating to town and country planning and development control

A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 to 4 [No longer in the
Regulations]

5 Power to determine
application for
planning permission or
permission in
principle.

Sections 59A(1)(b),
70(1)(a) and (b) and
72, Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

6 Power to determine
applications to
develop land without
compliance with
conditions previously
attached.

Section 73, Town and
Country Planning Act
1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

7 Power to grant
planning permission
for development
already carried out.

Section 73A, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

8 Power to decline to
determine application
for planning
permission or

Section 70A, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

367Page 489



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

permission in
principle.

Climate, Homes and
Economy

9 Duties relating to the
making of
determinations of
planning applications

Sections 69, 76 and
92, Town and Country
Planning Act 1990
and Articles 8, 10 to
13, 15 to 22 and 25
and 26 of the Town
and Country Planning
(General Development
Procedure) Order
1995 (S.I. 1995/419)
and directions made
thereunder

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

10 Power to determine
application for
planning permission or
permission in principle
made by a local
authority, alone or
jointly with another
person.

Section 316, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990 and the
Town and Country
Planning General
Regulations 1992 (S.I.
1992/1492)

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

11 Power to make
determinations, give
approval and agree
certain other matters
relating to the exercise
of permitted
development rights.

Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19,
20, 21 to 24, 26, 30
and 31 of Schedule 2
to the Town and
Country Planning
(General Permitted
Development) Order
1995 (S.I. 1995/418)

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

368Page 490



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

12 Power to enter into
agreement regulating
development or use of
land.

Section 106, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

13 Power to issue a
certificate of existing
or proposed lawful use
or development.

Sections 191(4) and
192(2), Town and
Country Planning Act
1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14 Power to serve a
completion notice.

Section 94(2), Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

15 Power to grant
consent for the display
of advertisements.

Section 220, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990 and the
Town and Country
Planning (Control of
Advertisements)
Regulations 1992

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

16 Power to authorise
entry onto land.

Section 196A, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

369Page 491



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

17 Power to require the
discontinuance of a
use of land.

Section 102, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

18 Power to serve a
planning
contravention notice,
breach of condition
notice or stop notice.

Sections 171C, 187A
and 183(1), Town and
Country Planning Act
1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

18A Power to issue a
temporary stop notice.

Section 171E of the
Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

19 Power to issue an
enforcement notice.

Section 172, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

20 Power to apply for an
injunction restraining a
breach of planning
control.

Section 187B, Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

21 Power to determine
applications for
hazardous substances

Sections 9(1) and 10,
Planning (Hazardous
Substances) Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

370Page 492



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

consent, and related
powers.

22 Duty to determine
conditions to which old
mining permissions,
relevant planning
permissions relating to
dormant sites or active
Phase I or II sites, or
mineral permissions
relating to mining
sites, as the case may
be, are to be subject.

Paragraph 2(6)(a) of
Schedule 2 to the
Planning and
Compensation Act
1991, paragraph 9(6)
of Schedule 13 to the
Environment Act 1995
and paragraph 6(5) of
Schedule 14 to that
Act

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

23 Power to require
proper maintenance of
land.

Section 215(1), Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990

v

24 Power to determine
application for listed
building consent, and
related powers.

Sections 16(1) and
(2), 17 and 33(1),
Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

25 [No longer in the
Regulations]

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

371Page 493



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

26 Duties relating to
applications for listed
building consent.

Sections 13(1) and
14(1) and (4) of the
Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 and
Regulations 3 to 6 and
13 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Regulations (S.I
1990/1590) and
paragraphs 8, 15 and
26 of Department of
Environment,
Transport and the
Regions Circular
01/01

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

27 Power to serve a
building preservation
notice, and related
powers.

Sections 3(1) and 4(1)
of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

28 Power to issue
enforcement notice in
relation to demolition
of listed building in
conservation area

Section 38 of the
Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

372Page 494



A Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

29 Powers to acquire a
listed building in need
of repair and to serve
a repairs notice.

Sections 47 and 48 of
the Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Planning
Sub-Committee and
Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

30 Power to apply for an
injunction in relation to
a listed building.

Section 44A of the
Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

30A Power to authorise
stopping up or
diversion of highway.

Section 247 of the
Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

31 Power to execute
urgent works.

Section 54 of the
Planning (Listed
Buildings and
Conservation Areas)
Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

32 Duty to enter land in
Part 2 of the
brownfield land
register

Regulation 3 of the
Town and Country
Planning (Brownfield
Land Register)
Regulations 2017

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

373Page 495



Functions relating to licensing and registration (in so far as not covered by
any other paragraph of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000)

B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Power to issue
licences authorising
the use of land as a
caravan site (‘site
licences’).

Section 3(3), the
Caravan Sites and
Control of
Development Act
1960

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

2 Power to license the
use of moveable
dwellings and
camping sites.

Section 269(1) of the
Public Health Act
1936

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

3 Power to licence
hackney carriages
and private hire
vehicles.

a) as to hackney
carriages, the Town
Police Clauses Act
1847, as extended
by section 171 of
the Public Health
Act 1875, and
section 15 of the
Transport Act 1985;
and of the Local
Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act
1976;

b) as to private hire
vehicles, sections
48, 57, 58, 60, 79 of
the Local
Government

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

374Page 496



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

4 Power to license
drivers of hackney
carriages and private
hire vehicles

Sections 51, 53, 54,
59, 61 and 79 of the
Local Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

5 Power to license
operators of hackney
carriages and private
vehicles

Sections 55 to 58, 62
and 79 of the Local
Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

6 Power to register pool
promoters.

Schedule 2 to the
Betting, Gambling
and Lotteries Act
1963 as saved for
certain purposes by
article 3(3)(c) of the
Gambling Act Order

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

7 Power to grant track
betting licences

Schedule 3 to the
Betting, Gaming and
Lotteries Act 1963 [as
saved for certain
purposes by article
3(3)(d) of the
Gambling Act Order

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

375Page 497



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

8 Power to license
inter-track betting
schemes

Schedules 5ZA to the
Betting, Gaming and
Lotteries Act 1963 [as
saved for certain
purposes by article
3(3)(e) of the
Gambling Act Order

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

9 Power to grant
permits in respect of
premises with
amusement
machines.

Schedule 9, Gaming
Act 1968 as saved for
certain purposes by
article 4(2)(1) and (m)
of the Gambling Act
Order

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

10 Power to register
societies wishing to
promote lotteries.

Schedule 1 to the
Lotteries and
Amusements Act
1976 as saved for
certain purposes by
article 5(2)(a) and (3)
of the Gambling Act
Order

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

11 Power to grant
permits in respect of
premises where
amusements with
prizes are provided.

Schedule 3 to the
Lotteries and
Amusements Act
1976 as saved for
certain purposes by
article 5(2)(d) and (5)
of the Gambling Act
Order

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

376Page 498



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

12 Power to issue
cinema and cinema
club licences.

Section 1 of the
Cinema Act 1985

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

13 Power to issue
theatre licences.

Sections 12-14 of the
Theatres Act 1968

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14 Power to issue
entertainments
licences.

Section 12 of the
Children and Young
Persons Act 1933,
Section 52 of, and
Schedule 12 to, the
London Government
Act 1963, Section 79
of the Licensing Act
1964, Sections 1 to 5
and 7 of, and Parts I
and II of the Schedule
to, the Private Places
of Entertainment
(Licensing) Act 1967
and Part I of, and
Schedules 1 and 2 to,
the Local Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14A Any function of a
licensing authority.

Licensing Act 2003
and any regulations
or orders made under
that Act

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

377Page 499



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

14AZA Powers and functions
relating to late night
levy requirements.

Chapter 2 of Part 2 if
the Police Reform
and Social
Responsibility Act
2011 (c. 13) and any
regulations made
under that Chapter

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14AA Duty to comply with
requirement to
provide information to
Gambling
Commission.

Section 29 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14AB Functions relating to
exchange of
information.

Section 30 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14AC Functions relating to
occasional use
notices.

Section 39 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14B Power to resolve not
to issue a casino
premises licence.

Section 166 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

378Page 500



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

14C Power to designate
officer to a licensing
authority as an
authorised person for
a purpose relating to
premises.

Section 304 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14CA Power to make order
disapplying section
279 or 282 (1) of the
2005 Act in relation to
specified premises.

Section 284 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14D Power to institute
criminal proceedings.

Section 346 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14E Power to exchange
information.

Section 350 of the
Gambling Act 2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14F Functions relating to
the determination of
fees for premises
licences.

The Gambling
(Premises License
Fees) (England and
Wales) Regulations
2007 (S.I. 2007/479)

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

379Page 501



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

14G Functions relating to
the registration and
regulation of small
society lotteries.

Part 5 of Schedule 11
to the Gambling Act
2005

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

15 Power to license sex
shops and sex
cinemas.

The Local
Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982,
Section 2 and
Schedule 3.

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

16 Power to license
performances of
hypnotism.

The Hypnotism Act
1952

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

17 Power to license
premises for
acupuncture,
tattooing, ear-piercing
and electrolysis.

Sections 13 to 17 of
the Local Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

18 Power to license
pleasure boats and
pleasure vessels.

Section 94 of the
Public Health Acts
Amendment Act 1907

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

380Page 502



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

19 Power to register door
staff.

Paragraphs 1(2) and
9 of Schedule 12 to
the London
Government Act 1963
(c.33) and Part V of
the London Local
Authorities Act 1995

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

20 Power to license
market and street
trading.

Part III of the London
Local Authorities Act
1990 and section 6 of
the London Local
Authorities Act 1994

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

21 Power to license night
cafes and take-away
food shops.

Part II of the London
Local Authorities Act
1990 and section 5 of
the London Local
Authorities Act 1994

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

22 [No longer in
Regulations]

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

381Page 503



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

23 Power to license
dealers in game and
the killing and selling
of game.

Sections 5, 6, 17, 18
and 21 to 23 of the
Game Act 1831;
Sections 2 to 16 of
the Game Licensing
Act 1860, Section 4 of
the Customs and
Inland Revenue Act
1883, Sections 12(3)
and 27 of the Local
Government Act 1874
and Section 213 of
the Local Government
Act 1972

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

24 Power to register and
license premises for
the preparation of
food.

Section 19 of the
Food Safety Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

25 Power to license
scrap yards.

Section 1 of the Scrap
Metal Dealers Act
1964

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

26 Power to issue,
amend or replace
safety certificates
(whether general or
special) for sports
grounds.

The Safety of Sports
Grounds Act 1975

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

382Page 504



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

27 Power to issue,
cancel, amend or
replace safety
certificates for
regulated stands at
sports grounds.

Part III of the Fire
Safety and Safety of
Places of Sport Act
1987

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

28 Power to issue fire
certificates.

Section 5 of the Fire
Precautions Act 1971

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

29 Power to grant or
renew a licence for a
licensable activity
under the Animal
Welfare (Licensing of
Activities Involving
Animals) (England)
Regulations 2018
(selling animals as
pets, providing or
arranging for the
provision of boarding
for cats or dogs,
hiring out horses,
breeding dogs or
keeping or training
animals for
exhibition).

Regulation 4 of the
Animal Welfare
(Licensing of
Activities Involving
Animals) (England)
Regulations 2018

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

30-31 [No longer in the
Regulations]

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

383Page 505



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

32 Power to license
zoos.

Section 1 of the Zoo
Licensing Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

33 Power to license
dangerous wild
animals.

Section 1 of the
Dangerous Wild
Animals Act 1976

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

34 Power to license
knackers’ yards.

Section 4 of the
Slaughterhouses Act
1974. See also the
Animal By-Products
Order 1999 (S.I.
1999/646)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

35 Power to license the
employment of
children.

Part II of the Children
and Young Persons
Act 1933; Byelaws
made under that Act
and Part II of the
Children and Young
Persons Act 1963

Group Director,
Children and
Education

36 Power to approve
premises for the
solemnisation of
marriages.

Section 46A of the
Marriage Act 1949
and the Marriages
(Approved Premises)
Regulations 1995
(S.I. 1995/510)

Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate Resources

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

384Page 506



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

37 Power to register
common land or town
or village greens,
except where the
power is exercisable
solely for the purpose
of giving effect to:

a) an exchange
of lands affected
by an order under
section 19(3) of, or
paragraph 6(4) of
Schedule 3 to, the
Acquisition of
Land Act 1981; or

b) an Order
under section 147
of the Inclosure
Act 1845.

Regulation 6 of the
Commons
Registration (New
Land) Regulations
1969 (S.I. 1969/1843)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

38 Power to register
variation of rights of
common.

Regulation 29 of the
Commons
Registration (General)
Regulations 1966
(S.I. 1966/1471)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

39 Power to license
persons to collect for
charitable and other
causes.

Section 5 of the
Police, Factories, etc
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1916
and Section 2 of the
House to House

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

385Page 507



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

Collections Act 1939

40 Power to grant
consent for the
operation of a
loudspeaker.

Schedule 2 to the
Noise and Statutory
Nuisance Act 1993

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

41 Power to grant a
street works licence.

Section 50 of the New
Roads and Street
Works Act 1991

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

42 Power to license
agencies for the
supply of nurses.

Section 2 of the
Nurses Agencies Act
1957

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

43 Power to issue
licences for the
movement of pigs.

Article 12 of the Pigs
(Records,
Identification and
Movement) Order
1995 (S.I 1995/11)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

44 Power to license the
sale of pigs.

Article 13 of the Pigs
(Records
Identification and
Movement) Order
1995

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

45 Power to license
collecting centres for
the movement of pigs.

Article 14 of the Pigs
(Records,
Identification and
Movement) Order

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

386Page 508



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1995

46 Power to issue a
licence to move cattle
from a market.

Article 5(2) of the
Cattle Identification
Regulations 1998
(S.I. 1998/871)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

46A Power to grant
permission for
provision etc. of
services, amenities,
recreation and
refreshment facilities
on a highway, and
related powers.

Sections 115E, 115F
and 115K of the
Highways Act 1980
and Part 1 of the
Business and
Planning Act 2020

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

47 Power to permit the
deposit of builder’s
skip on highway.

Section 139 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

47A Duty to publish notice
in respect of
proposals to grant
permission under
section 115E of the
Highways Act 1980.

S.115G Highways Act
1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

48 Power to license
planting, trees etc in
part of the highway.

Section 142 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

387Page 509



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

49 Power to authorise
erection of stiles, etc
on footpaths or
bridleways.

Section 147 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

50 Power to license
works in relation to
buildings etc which
obstruct the highway.

Section 169 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

51 Power to consent to
temporary deposits or
excavations in
streets.

Section 171 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

52 Power to dispense
with obligation to
erect hoarding or
fence.

Section 172 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

53 Power to restrict the
placing of rails,
beams etc. over
highways.

Section 178 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

54 Power to consent to
construction of cellars
etc. under street.

Section 179 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

388Page 510



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

55 Power to consent to
the making of
openings into cellars
etc. under streets,
and pavement lights
and ventilators.

Section 180 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

56 Power to sanction the
use of parts of
buildings for storage
of celluloid.

Section 1 of the
Celluloid and
Cinematograph Film
Act 1992

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

57 Power to approve
meat product
premises.

Regulations 4 and 5
of the Meat Products
(Hygiene)
Regulations 1994
(S.I. 1994/3082)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

58 Power to approve
premises for the
production of minced
meat or meat
preparation.

Regulation 4 of the
Minced Meat and
Meat Preparations
(Hygiene)
Regulations 1995
(S.I. 1995/3205)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

59 Power to approve
dairy establishments.

Regulations 6 and 7
of the Dairy Products
(Hygiene)
Regulations 1995
(S.I. 1995/1086)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

389Page 511



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

60 Power to approve egg
product
establishments.

Regulation 5 of the
Egg Product
Regulations 1993
(S.I. 1993/1520)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

61 Power to issue
licences to retail
butchers’ shops
carrying out
commercial
operations in relation
to unwrapped raw
meat and selling or
supplying both raw
meat and ready-to-eat
foods.

Schedule 1A to the
Food Safety (General
Food Hygiene)
Regulations 1995
(S.I. 1995/1763)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

62 Power to approve fish
products premises.

Regulation 24 of the
Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live
Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998
(S.I.1998/994)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

63 Power to approve
dispatch or
purification centres.

Regulation 11 of the
Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live
Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

390Page 512



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

64 Power to register
fishing vessels on
board which shrimps
or molluscs are
cooked.

Regulations 21 of the
Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live
Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998

Not applicable to
London Borough of
Hackney

65 Power to approve
factory vessels and
fishery products
establishments

Regulations 24 of the
Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live
Shellfish) (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998

Not applicable to
London Borough of
Hackney

66 Power to register
auction and
wholesale markets.

Regulation 26 of the
Food Safety (Fishery
Products and Live
Shellfish (Hygiene)
Regulations 1998

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

67 Duty to keep register
of food business
premises.

Regulation 5 of the
Food Premises
(Registration)
Regulations 1991
(S.I. 1991/2828)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

68 Power to register food
business premises.

Regulation 9 of the
Food Premises
(Registration)
Regulations 1991

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

391Page 513



B Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

69 Power to issue near
beer license.

Sections 16 to 19 and
21 of the London
Local Authorities Act
1995 and, to the
extent that it does not
have effect by virtue
of regulation 2(3),
section 3, section 25
of that Act

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

70 Power to register
premises or stalls for
the sale of goods by
way of competitive
bidding.

Section 28 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1984

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

71 Power to register
motor salvage
operators.

Part I of the Vehicles
(Crime) Act 2001

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

72 Functions relating to
the registration of
common land and
town or village greens

Part I of the
Commons Act 2006
and the Commons
Registration
(England)
Regulations 2008
(S.I. 2008/1961)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

392Page 514



Functions relating to health and safety at work

C Function Statutory
Provision

Function
exercised by:

1 Functions under any
of the “relevant
statutory provisions”
within the meaning of
Part I (health, safety
and welfare in
connection with work
and control of
dangerous
substances) of the
Health and Safety at
Work etc. Act 1974,
to the extent that
those functions are
discharged otherwise
than in the authority’s
capacity as an
employer.

Part 1 of the
Health and
Safety at Work
etc Act 1974

Group Director,
Climate, Homes
and Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

393Page 515



Functions relating to elections

D Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Duty to appoint an
electoral registration
officer.

Section 8(2) of the
Representation of the
People Act 1983

Full Council

2 Power to assign
officers in relation to
requisitions of the
registration officer.

Section 52(4) of the
Representation of the
People Act 1983

Chief Executive

3 Functions in relation
to parishes and
parish councils.

Part II of the Local
Government and
Rating Act 1997 and
subordinate
legislation under that
Act

Currently not
applicable to London

4 Power to dissolve
small parish councils

Section 10 of the
Local Government Act
1972

Currently not
applicable to London

5 Power to make
orders for grouping
parishes, dissolving
groups and
separating parishes
from groups

Section 11 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Currently not
applicable to London

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

394Page 516



D Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

6 Duty to appoint
returning officer for
local government
elections

Section 35 of the
Representation of the
People Act 1983

Full Council

7 Duty to divide
constituency into
polling districts.

Section 18A and 18E
of, and Schedule A1
to the Representation
of the People Act
1983

Chief Executive

8 Power to divide
electoral divisions
into polling districts at
local government
elections.

Section 31 of the
Representation of
the People Act
1983

Chief Executive

9 Powers in respect of
holding of elections.

Section 39(4) of the
Representation of the
People Act 1983

Chief Executive

10 Power to pay
expenses properly
incurred by electoral
registration officers.

Section 54 of the
Representation of the
People Act 1983

Chief Executive

11 Power to fill
vacancies in the

Section 21 of the
Representation of the
People Act 1985

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

395Page 517



D Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

event of insufficient
nominations

12 Duty to declare
vacancy in office in
certain cases.

Section 86 of the
Local Government Act
1972

Chief Executive

13 Duty to give public
notice of a casual
vacancy.

Section 87 of the
Local Government Act
1972

Chief Executive

14 Power to make
temporary
appointments to
parish councils.

Section 91 of the
Local Government Act
1972

Currently not
applicable to
London.

15 [No longer in the
Regulations]

16 Power to submit
proposals to the
Secretary of State for
an order under
Section 10 (pilot
schemes for local
elections in England
and Wales) of the
Representation of the
People Act 2000

Section 10 of the
Representation of
the People Act
2000

Chief Executive

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

396Page 518



D Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

17 Duty to consult on
change of
scheme for
elections.

Sections 33(2), 38(2)
and 40(2) of the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Chief Executive

18 Duties relating to
publicity.

Sections 35, 41 and
52 of the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Chief Executive

19 Duties relating to
notice to Electoral
Commission.

Sections 36 and 42 of
the Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Chief Executive

20 Power to alter years
of ordinary election of
parish councillors.

Section 53 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Currently not
applicable to London

21 Functions relating to
change of name of
electoral area.

Section 59 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

397Page 519



Functions relating to name and status of areas and individuals

E Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Power to change the
name of a county,
district or London
Borough.

Section 74 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

2 Power to change the
name of a parish.

Section 75 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Currently not
applicable to London

3 Conferring the title of
Honorary Alderman
or to admit to be an
honorary freeman.

Section 249 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

4 Power to petition
for a charter to
confer borough
status

Section 245(b) of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Currently not
applicable to London

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

398Page 520



Functions relating to changing governance arrangements

EA Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 to 7 [No longer in the
Regulations]

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

399Page 521



Functions relating to community governance

EB Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Duties relating to
community
governance reviews

Section 79 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Full Council

2 Functions relating to
community
governance petition

Sections 80, 83 to 85
of the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Full Council

3 Functions relating to
terms of reference of
review.

Sections 81(4) to (6)
of the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Full Council

4 Power to undertake
community
governance review.

Section 82 of the
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Full Council

5 Functions relating to
the making of
recommendations.

Sections 87 to 92 of
the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

400Page 522



EB Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

6 Duties when
undertaking review.

Sections 93 to 95 of
the Local
Government and
Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007

Full Council

7 Duty to publicise
outcome of review.

Section 96 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Chief Executive

8 Duty to send two
copies of order to
Secretary of State and
Electoral Commission.

Section 98(1) of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Chief Executive

9 Power to make
agreements about
incidental matters.

Section 99 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

Chief Executive

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

401Page 523



Byelaws

F Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Making, amending,
revoking, re-enacting
or enforcing bylaws.

Any provision of any
enactment (including
a local Act) whenever
passed and section
14 of the
Interpretation Act
1978

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

402Page 524



Functions relating to smoke free premises etc

FA Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Duty to enforce
Chapter 1 and
Regulations under it.

Section 10(3) of the
Health Act 2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

2 Power to authorise
officers.

Section 10(5) of, and
paragraph 1 of
Schedule 2 to the
Health Act 2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

3 Functions relating to
fixed penalty notices.

Paragraphs 13, 15
and 16 of Schedule
1 to the Health Act
2006 and the
Smoke-Free
(Vehicle Operators
and Penalty Notices)
Regulations 2007
(S.I. 2006/760)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

4 Power to transfer
enforcement
functions to another
enforcement
authority.

Smoke-Free
(Premises and
Enforcement)
Regulations 2006
(S.I. 2006/3368)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

403Page 525



Local or Personal Bills

G Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Power to promote or
oppose local or
personal bills.

Section 239 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

404Page 526



Functions relating to pensions etc.

H Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

1 Functions relating to
local government
pensions, etc.

Regulations under
Sections 7, 12 or 24
of the Superannuation
Act 1972

Pensions Committee
within Terms of
Reference.

All other functions -
Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate
Resources.

Decisions on
individual exercise
of discretion - Chief
Executive and all
Group Directors
after consultation
with Group Director,
Finance and
Corporate
Resources.

2 Functions under the
Fire-fighters Pension
Scheme reflecting to
pensions etc as
respects pensions
employed by the Fire
and Rescue
authorities pursuant
to Section 1 of the
Fire and Rescue
Services Act 2004

Section 34 and 36 of
the Fire and Rescue
Services Act 2004

Not applicable to
London Borough of
Hackney

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

405Page 527



Miscellaneous functions

I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

Part I: Functions relating to public rights of way

1 Power to create a
footpath,bridleway or
restricted byway by
agreement.

Section 25 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

2 Power to create
footpaths, bridleways
and restricted
byways.

Section 26 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

3 Duty to keep a
register of information
with respect to maps,
statements and
declarations.

Section 31A of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes
and Economy

4 Power to stop up
footpaths, bridleways
and restricted
byways.

Section 118 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes
and Economy

5 Power to determine
application for public
path extinguishment
order.

Sections 118ZA and
118C(2) of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

406Page 528



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

6 Power to make a rail
crossing
extinguishment order.

Section 118A of
the Highways Act
1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

7 Power to make a
special
extinguishment order.

Section 118B of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

8 Power to divert
footpaths, bridleways
and restricted
byways.

Section 119 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

9 Power to make a
public path diversion
order.

Sections 119ZA and
119C(4) of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

10 Power to make a rail
crossing diversion
order.

Section 119A of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

11 Power to make a
special diversion
order.

Section 119B of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

407Page 529



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

12 Power to require
applicant for order to
enter into agreement.

Section 119C (3) of
the Highways Act
1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

13 Power to make an
SSSI diversion order.

Section 119D of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14 Duty to keep register
with respect to
applications under
sections 118ZA,
118C, 119ZA and
119C of the Highways
Act 1980.

Section 121B of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

15 Power to decline to
determine certain
Applications.

Section 121C of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

16 Duty to assert and
protect the rights of
the public to use and
enjoyment of
highways.

Section 130 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

17 Duty to serve notice
of proposed action in
relation to obstruction.

Section 130A of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

408Page 530



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

18 Power to apply for
variation of order
under section 130B of
the Highways Act
1980.

Section 130B(7) of
the Highways Act
1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

19 Power to authorise
temporary
disturbance of surface
of footpath, bridleway
or restricted byway.

Section 135 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

20 Power temporarily to
divert footpath,
bridleway or restricted
byway.

Section 135A of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

21 Functions relating to
the making good of
damage and the
removal of
obstructions.

Section 135B of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

22 Powers relating to the
removal of things so
deposited on
highways as to be a
nuisance.

Section 149 of the
Highways Act 1980

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

409Page 531



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

23 Power to extinguish
certain public rights of
way.

Section 32 of the
Acquisition of Land
Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

24 Duty to keep definitive
map and statement
under review.

Section 53 of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

25 Power to include
modifications in other
orders.

Section 53A of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

26 Duty to keep register
of prescribed
information with
respect to
applications under
section 53(5) of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.

Section 53(B) of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

27 [No longer in the
Regulations]

28 Power to prepare map
and statement by way
of consolidation of
definitive map and
statement.

Section 57A of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

410Page 532



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

29 Power to designate
footpath as cycle
track

Section 3 of the
Cycle Tracks Act
1984

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

30 Power to extinguish
public right of way
over land acquired for
clearance

Section 294 of the
Housing Act 1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

31 Power to authorise
stopping-up or
diversion of footpath,
bridleway or restricted
byway.

Section 257 of the
Town and Country
Planning Act 1996

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

32 Power to extinguish
public rights of way
over land held for
planning purposes.

Section 258 of the
Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

33 Power to enter into
agreements with
respect to means of
access

Section 35 of the
Countryside and
Rights of Way Act
2000

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

34 Power to provide
access in absence of
agreement.

Section 37 of the
Countryside and
Rights of Way Act
2000

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

411Page 533



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

Part II: Other miscellaneous functions

35 Functions relating to
sea fisheries

Section 1,2,10 and
19 of the Sea
Fisheries Regulation
Act 1966

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

36 Power to make
standing orders.

Section 106 of, and
paragraph 42 of
Schedule 12 to, the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

37 Power to appoint staff
and to determine the
terms and conditions
on which they hold
office (including
procedures for
dismissal).

Section 112 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Chief Executive and
Appointments
Sub-Committees for
chief officer posts.

Full Council for
dismissal of specified
statutory senior
officers.

38 Power to make
standing orders as to
contracts

Section 135 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

39 Duty to make
arrangements for
proper administration
of financial affairs etc.

Section 151 of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

412Page 534



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

40 Power to appoint
officers for particular
purposes
(appointment of
‘proper officers’).

Section 270(3) of the
Local Government
Act 1972

Full Council

41 Power to make
limestone pavement
order.

Section 34(2) of the
Wildlife and
Countryside Act
1981

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

42 Power to make
closing order with
respect to take-away
food shops.

Section 4 of the
Local Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

43 Duty to designate
officer as the Head of
the Authority’s Paid
Service, and to
provide staff, etc.

Section 4(1) of the
Local Government
and Housing Act
1989

Full Council

44 Duty to designate
Officer as the
Monitoring Officer
and to provide staff,
etc.

Section 5(1) of the
Local Government
and Housing Act
1989

Full Council

44A Duty to provide staff,
etc, to a person

Section 82A(4) and
(5) of the Local

Chief Executive

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

413Page 535



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

nominated by the
Monitoring Officer.

Government Act
2000

44B Powers relating to
overview and scrutiny
committees (voting
rights of co-opted
Members).

Paragraphs 12 and
14 of Schedule 1 to
the Local
Government Act
2000

Full Council

45 Duty to approve the
authority’s statement
of accounts, income
and expenditure and
balance sheet, or
record of payment
and receipts (as the
case may be).

The Accounts and
Audit Regulations
1996 (S.I. 1996/590)

Audit Committee

46 Powers relating to the
protection of
important hedgerows.

The Hedgerows
Regulations 1997
(S.I. 1997/1160)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

47 Powers relating to the
preservation of trees.

Sections 197 to 214D
of the Town and
Country Planning Act
1990, and the Trees
Regulations 1999
(S.I. 1999/1892)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

414Page 536



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

47A Powers relating to
complaints about high
hedges.

Part 8 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour Act
2003

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

48 Power to make
payments or provide
other benefits in
cases of
maladministration etc.

Section 92 of the
Local Government
Act 2000

Chief Executive and
Group Directors

49 Power to make an
order identifying a
place as a
designated public
place for the
purposes of police
powers in relation to
alcohol consumption.

Section 13(2) of the
Criminal Justice and
Police Act 2001

Corporate Committee

50 Power to make or
revoke an order
designating a locality
as an alcohol disorder
zone.

Section 16 of the
Violent Crime
Reduction Act 2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

51 Power to apply for an
enforcement order
against unlawful
works on common
land.

Section 41 of the
Commons Act 2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

415Page 537



I Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by:

52 Power to protect
unclaimed registered
common land and
unclaimed town or
village greens against
unlawful interference.

Section 45(2)(a) of
the Commons Act
2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

53 Power to institute
proceedings for
offences in respect of
unclaimed registered
common land and
unclaimed town or
village greens

Section 45(2)(b) of
the Commons Act
2006

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 1
Council (Non-Executive) Functions

416Page 538



Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

Local Choice Functions

Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

1 Any function under a
local Act other than a
function specified or
referred to under
Regulation 2 of or
Schedule 1 to the
Regulations.

Local Authorities
(Functions &
Responsibilities)
Regulations 2000 (S.I
2000/2853)

Full Council

(Non-executive
function)

2 The determination of
an appeal against any
decision made by or
on behalf of the
Authority.

Local Authorities
(Functions &
Responsibilities)
Regulations 2000 (S.I
2000/2853)

Corporate
Committee or
Licensing
Committee as
appropriate.

(Non-executive
function)

3 The appointment of
review boards

Regulations made
under sub-section (4)
of section 34
(determination of
claims and reviews)
of the Social Security
Act 1998

The Executive

(Executive function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

417Page 539



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

4 The making of
arrangements in
respect of appeals
against the exclusion
of pupils.

Subsection (1) of
Section 67 of
Schedule 18 to the
School Standards
and Framework Act
1998

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

5 The making of
arrangements in
respect admission
appeals.

Section 94(1) and (4)
of, and schedule 24
to, the School
Standards and
Framework Act 1998

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

6 The making of
arrangements in
respect of children to
whom section 87
applies: appeals by
governing bodies.

Section 95(2) of and
Schedule 25 to, the
School Standards
and Framework Act
1998

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

7 The making of
arrangements under
section 20 (questions
on police matters at
council meetings) of
the Police Act 1996
for enabling questions
to be put on the

Section 20 of the
Police Act 1996

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

418Page 540



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

discharge of functions
of a police authority

8 The making of
appointments under
paragraphs 2 to 4
(appointment of
members by relevant
councils) of Schedule
2 (police authorities
established under
section 3) of the
Police Act 1996

Schedule 2 of the
Police Act 1996

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

9 No longer in the
Regulations

10 Any function relating
to contaminated land.

Environmental
Protection Act 1990,
Part IIA

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

11 The discharge of any
function relating to
the control of pollution
or the management of
air quality.

Pollution Prevention
and Control Act
1990; Environment
Act 1995 (Part IV);
Environmental
Protection Act 1990
(Part I); Clean Air

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

419Page 541



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

Act 1993

12 The service of an
abatement notice in
respect of a statutory
nuisance.

Environmental
Protection Act 1990,
Section 80(1)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

13 The passing of a
resolution that
Schedule 2 to the
Noise and Statutory
Nuisance Act 1993
should apply in the
authority’s area.

Section 8 of the
Noise and Statutory
Nuisance Act 1993

The Executive

(Executive function)

14 The inspection of an
authority’s area to
detect any statutory
nuisance.

Section 79 of the
Environmental
Protection Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

15 The investigation of
any complaint as to
the existence of a
statutory nuisance.

Section 79 of the
Environmental
Protection Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

420Page 542



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

16 The obtaining of
information as to
interests in land.

Section 330 of the
Town and Country
Planning Act 1990

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

17 The obtaining of
particulars of persons
interested in land.

Section 16 of the
Local Government
(Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

(Executive function)

18 The making of
agreements for the
execution of
highways works.

Section 278 of the
Highways Act 1980,
(substituted by the
section 23 of the New
Roads and Street
Works Act 1991)

Group Director,
Climate, Homes
and Economy

(Non-executive
function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

421Page 543



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

19 The appointment of
any individual:

a) to any office other
than an office in
which he is
employed by the
authority;

b) to any body other
than the authority;
a joint committee
of two or more
authorities; or

c) to any committee
or sub-committee
of such a body,
and the revocation
of any such
appointment

Local Authorities
(Functions &
Responsibilities)
Regulations 2000 (S.I
2000/2853)

The Executive

(Executive function)

20 The making of
agreements with
other local authorities
for the placing of staff
at the disposal of
those other
authorities.

Local Authorities
(Functions &
Responsibilities)
Regulations 2000
(S.I. 2000/2853)

Chief Executive

(Executive function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

422Page 544



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Executive or /
Non-executive
function

21 Any function of a local
authority in their
capacity as a harbour
authority (to the
extent that the
function does not fall
within paragraph 1 of
this Schedule.

Not applicable to the
London Borough of
Hackney

22 Functions under
sections 106, 110,
111 and 113 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007 relating to
local area
agreements.

Sections 106, 110,
111 and 113 of the
Local Government
and Public
Involvement in Health
Act 2007

The Executive

(Executive function)

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

423Page 545



Local Choice – Local Act Functions

Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

1 Licensing of Buskers. Part V of the London
Local Authorities Act
2000.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

2 Service of penalty
charge notice on the
basis of information
provided by camera,
etc.

Section 4 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 2000.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

3 Service of penalty
charge notice where
parking attendant
prevented from
issuing a notice.

Section 5 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 2000.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

4 Cleansing relevant
land of refuse litter.

Section 19 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 2000.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

5 Fire safety and
entertainment
licensing.

London Local
Authorities Act 1996.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

6 Authority to license
near beer premises.

London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

7 Near Beer – Approval
of policies.

London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

424Page 546



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

8 Penalty charge
notices in respect of
bus lane
infringements.

Section 4 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

9 Making special
temporary prohibitions
within a special
parking area.

Section 9 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

10 Notice requiring
removal of
unauthorised
advertisement
hoardings, etc.

Section 11 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

11 Notice requiring
removal of signs on
buildings.

Section 12 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

12 Authority to register
door supervisors.

London Local
Authorities Act 1995.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

13 Consent to distribution
of free literature.

Section 4 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

14 Licensing of night
cafes.

London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

425Page 547



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

15 Renewal of street
trading licences.

London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

16 Night Café Licensing
approval of policies.

London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

17 Regulation of street
trading and associated
issues.

London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

18 Making of regulations
relating to dangerous
structure fees.

Section 8 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1994.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

19 Removal of
distribution containers
on the highway.

Section 22 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1991.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

20 Licensing of special
treatment premises.

Part II of the London
Local Authorities Act
1991.

Licensing Committee
and Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy.

21 Approval of policies in
respect of special
treatment licences.

Part II of the London
Local Authorities Act
1991.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

22 Crime Prevention
Policies.

London Local
Authorities (No.2) Act

The Executive

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

426Page 548



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

1990.

23 Crime prevention
measures.

Section 5 of the
London Local
Authorities Act (No.
2) 1990.

The Executive

24 Restoration of gas,
water and electricity.

Section 4 of the
London Local
Authorities Act (No.
2) 1990.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

25 Licensing of night
cafes.

London Local
Authorities Act 1990.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

26 Removal of luggage or
shopping trolleys
found in open air.

Section 43 of the
London Local
Authorities Act 1990.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

27 Street trading:
Regulation of street
trading and market
trading together with
the provision,
maintenance and
management of
storage
accommodation; and,
the approval of
policies in respect of
street trading.

London Local
Authorities Act 1990.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

427Page 549



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

28 Consent for demolition
works under street.

Section 5 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1986.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

29 Consent for
construction which
causes obstruction to
access to vaults and
cellars.

Section 6 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1986.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

30 Consent for infilling of
vaults and cellars.

Section 7 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1986.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

31 Powers relating to
certain retaining walls.

Section 8 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1986.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

32 Registration of
sleeping
accommodation

Part IV of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1984.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

33 Provision relating to
the sale of goods by
competitive bidding –
including registration
of premises or stalls.

Part VI of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1984.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

428Page 550



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

34 Power to charge for
approval of plans, etc
relating to drains.

Section 36 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1984.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

35 Removal of occupants
of buildings in vicinity
of dangerous
structures etc – apply
to court.

Section 38 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1984.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

36 Determination of
charges for London
Building Acts consents
etc.

Section 3 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1982.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

37 Control of
overcrowding in
certain hostels
including the ability to
serve notices.

Part VI Greater
London Council
(General Powers)
Act 1981.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

38 Control of Brown Tail
Moth.

Section 8 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1979.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

39 Power to establish
foreign loans reserve
fund.

Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1976.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

429Page 551



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

40 Power to extinguish
rights of interment.

Section 9 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1976.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

41 Prohibition of person
entering upon grass
verge.

Section 14(2) of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1974.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

42 Authorisation of
parking on verges.

Section 15(4)
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1974.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

43 Removal of vehicles
for street cleaning.

Section 21 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1974.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

44 Closure of unsanitary
food premises / stalls
– Council to seek
order from the court.

Section 30 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1973.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

45 Licences to erect
scaffolding.

Section 15 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1973.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

46 Contributions in
respect of railings.

Section 18 of the
Greater London

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

430Page 552



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Council (General
Powers) Act 1972.

47 Restoration of gas and
electricity services.

Section 19 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1972.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

48 Walkways. Section 11 of the
Greater London
Council (General
Powers) Act 1969.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

49 Boundary walls Section 6 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

50 Acquisition of
easements, etc.

Section 8 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

51 Underpinning of
houses near a street
improvement.

Section 9 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

52 Approval of trade
refuse disposal
facilities.

Section 11 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

431Page 553



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

53 Provision of shops etc
in subway.

Section 14 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

54 Power to provide
illumination,
floodlighting, etc.

Section 17 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1963.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

55 Service of notices for
prevention of flooding
etc.

Section 17 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1962.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

56 Restriction of
vehicular access to
and from street
improvements.

Section 13 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1960.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

57 Acquisition of land for
the purpose of
providing facilities for
storage, etc. of
horticultural produce.

Section 12 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1959.

Group Director of
Finance and
Corporate Resources

58 Provision of
accommodation and
charges.

Section 13 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1959.

Group Director of
Finance and
Corporate Resources

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

432Page 554



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

59 Power to lease and
enter into agreements.

Section 14 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1959.

Group Director of
Finance and
Corporate Resources

60 Provision of advances
for erection etc. of
buildings.

Section 78 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1957.

Group Director of
Finance and
Corporate Resources

61 Removal of bottles
from streets.

Section 81 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1957.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy.

62 Byelaws as to artificial
lighting of common
staircases.

Section 63 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1956.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

63 Powers of borough
Councils to maintain
burial grounds.

Section 36 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1955.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

64 Return of library
books.

Section 39 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1955,

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

65 Recovery of expenses
of fencing certain
lands.

Section 39 of the
London County

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

433Page 555



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

Council (General
Powers) Act 1955,

66 Defacement of streets
with slogans etc.

Section 20 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1954,

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

67 Powers of sanitary
authority to cleanse
aged and feeble
persons in their
homes.

Section 43 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1953.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

68 Expenses of Councils
in connection with
ceremonies etc.

Section 32 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1951.

Full Council

69 Improvement of
roadside amenities etc

Section 33 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1951.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

70 Power to supply storage
etc. for accommodation
to costermongers etc.

Section 34 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1951.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

71 Supply of heat. Part II of the London
County Council
(General Powers)
Act 1949.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

434Page 556



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

72 Maintenance of
forecourts to which
public have access
and power to serve
improvement notices.

Section 43 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1948.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

73 Fencing of
dangerous land in or
near streets.

Section 44 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1948.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

74 Recovery of expenses
and costs.

Section 44 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1948.

The Executive

75 Power to provide
concert halls etc.

Section 4 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1947.

The Executive

76 Power to provide
entertainment.

Section 5 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1947.

The Executive

77 Contributions to
cultural bodies.

Section 59 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1947.

The Executive

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

435Page 557



Function Statutory Provision Function exercised
by

78 Acquisition of
buildings or places of
historic interest.

Section 69 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1947.

The Executive

79 Gratuities to non-
pensionable
employees.

Section 61 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1930.

All Group Directors

80 Enclosure of
unenclosed land
adjoining streets.

Section 33 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1925.

Group Director,
Climate, Homes and
Economy

81 Compensation to
persons in the
Council’s service on
abolition of office.

Section 31 of the
London County
Council (General
Powers) Act 1921.

Chief Executive and
all Group Directors

Appendix 2
Local Choice Functions

436Page 558



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Appointments Committee

Functions

The Appointments Committee discharges on behalf of the Council, the functions of
the employer in relation to the appointment, discipline, pay, and terms and conditions
of service, and dismissal for all chief officers (as defined by section 43 of the
Localism Act 2011), subject to the Officer Appointment Procedure Rules set out in
Part 4 of the Constitution, and the approval of the Full Council where required.

The Appointments Committee also approves any discretionary payments made to a
Chief Officer either by way of honorarium or severance payment in accordance with
the Pay Policy Statement.

Type of Committee

The Appointments Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full
Council to discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum of the Appointments Committee shall be 2 elected Councillors.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Appointments Committee

437Page 559



(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Appointments Committee

438Page 560



Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Appointments Committee

439Page 561



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

Functions

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Council in discharging its
functions in relation to the Council’s risk management framework, the internal
financial and governance control environment and integrity of the financial reporting
and annual governance processes.

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance to
Councillors of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal
control environment. It provides an independent review of Hackney’s governance,
risk management and control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and
annual governance processes. It oversees internal audit and external audit, helping
to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place.

The Audit Committee is responsible for the functions set out below:

Governance, Risk and Control

(a) To review the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against the
good governance framework including the ethical framework and consider
the local code of governance.T

(b) To review the Council’s corporate governance arrangements against the
good governance framework including the ethical framework and consider
the local code of governance.

(c) To consider the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money and
review assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these
arrangements.

(d) To consider the Council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it
adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the Council.

(e) To consider the Annual Risk Management Report and Strategy.

(f) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in
the Council.

(g) To monitor progress in addressing risk related issues reported to the
Committee.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

440Page 562



(h) To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor
the implementation of agreed actions.

(i) To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the Council
from fraud and corruption.

(j) To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources.

(k) To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant
partnerships or collaborations.

Internal audit

(a) To approve the Internal Audit Charter and Strategy.

(b) To review proposals made in relation to the appointment of external
providers of internal audit services and to make recommendations.

(c) To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s
resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance
and any work required to place reliance upon those other sources.

(d) To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan
and resource requirements.

(e) To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the Head of
Internal Audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or
resource limitations.

(f) To consider reports from the Head of Internal Audit on internal audit’s
performance during the year, including the performance of external
providers of internal audit services. These will include:

1. Updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues
of concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work.

2. Regular reports on performance results.
3. Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not

conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and
Local Government Application Note, considering whether the
non-conformance is significant enough that it must be included in
the Annual Governance Statement.

(g) To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report:

1. The statement of the level of conformance with the PSIAS and Local
Government Application Note and the results of the Quality

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

441Page 563



Assurance and Improvement Programme that supports the
statement. These will indicate the reliability of the conclusions of
internal audit.

2. The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
Council's framework of governance, risk management and control
together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion. These
will assist the committee in reviewing the Annual Governance
Statement.

(h) To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.

(i) To receive reports outlining the action taken where the Head of Internal
Audit has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that
may be unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about
progress with the implementation of agreed actions.

(j) To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and
in particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes
place at least once every five years.

(k) To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the
Annual Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts
and Audit Regulations.

(l) The Head of Internal Audit must also establish effective communication
with the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Chief Executive, and have
unrestricted lines of communication with them if circumstances require.

Anti-Fraud & Corruption

(a) To monitor the Council’s policies on whistleblowing in respect of the
anti-fraud and corruption policy.

(b) To monitor the use of Regulatory of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA)
powers across the Council and review the corporate policy and guidance.

(c) To consider reports from the Office of the Surveillance Commissioner.

External Audit

(a) To support the independence of external audit through consideration of
the external auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review
of any issues raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSSA) or
the authority’s auditor panel as appropriate.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

442Page 564



(b) To consider the external auditor’s annual report to those charged with
governance in respect of the annual audit of accounts.

(c) To consider other specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.

(d) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure
it gives value for money.

(e) To commission work from internal and external audits.

(f) To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between
external and internal audits and other inspection agencies or relevant
bodies.

Treasury Management

(a) To maintain an overview on the Council’s investment and borrowing
arrangements including consideration of the annual Treasury
Management Strategy prior to its approval by Council as part of the
annual budget setting process.

(b) To consider regular reports on the Council’s investment and borrowing
arrangements in line with the Chartered Institute for Public Finance
Accountants (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management.

Financial Accounts

(a) To review and adopt the annual Statement of Accounts. Specifically, to
consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and
whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from
the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Council.

(b) To approve the Annual Governance Statement included within the annual
Statement of Accounts, ensuring that any areas highlighted within the
statement for action are addressed appropriately.

(c) To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with
governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts.

Accountability Arrangements

(a) To report to those charged with governance on the Committee’s findings,
conclusions and recommendations concerning the adequacy and
effectiveness of their governance, risk management and internal control
frameworks; financial reporting arrangements, and internal and external
audit functions.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

443Page 565



(b) To report to Full Council on a regular basis on the Committee’s
performance in relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of
the Committee in meeting its purpose. This will be achieved via an annual
report on the work of the committee and any such reports that may be
otherwise required.

(c) To put in place effective working relationships with the Standards
Committee and Scrutiny function to ensure appropriate collaborative
working without a duplication of responsibilities.

Type of Committee

Audit Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to
discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Audit Committee shall be two elected Councillors.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

444Page 566



(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

445Page 567



Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Audit Committee

446Page 568



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

Functions

Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee is responsible for the functions set out
below:

1. The Committee is authorised by Cabinet to give detailed consideration on all
issues relating to procurement practice and policy and to award all high-risk
contracts, including all contracts above £2m regardless of their risk rating. The
Committee may also reserve to itself the consideration to award any contract
for any other procurement listed on the Procurement Pipeline (Procurement
Forward Plan).

2. The Committee will exercise the following functions and those matters which
flow from them, which are executive functions and advise, as appropriate on:

(a) Improving the quality of public services to better meet the needs of all
local Citizens through the skilful use of procurement as a function to
support Council priorities;

(b) Ensuring the Council’s procurement processes deliver Value for
Money (VFM) outcomes where VFM is defined as the optimum
combination of both whole life costs and quality (or fitness for
purpose).

3. The Committee will oversee the progress of all contracting activities on the
Procurement Forward Plan.

4. The Committee will oversee those procurements put before it under the
Gateway process to ensure:

(a) They are consistent with Hackney’s procurement policy and
procedures and the Council’s statutory obligations as advised by
Officers;

(b) The “make or buy” decision is robust and consistent with achieving
best value for the Council, where best value is defined as providing
services that are efficient, effective and deliver Value for Money.

(c) The procurement approach will achieve best value for the Council,
promoting procurement options that, where consistent with this duty,
have regard to opportunities for collaborating with partners at local,
regional, and national level, are designed to deliver a mixed economy

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

447Page 569



of service provision, with ready access to a diverse, competitive range
of suppliers providing quality services, including small firms, social
enterprises, minority businesses and voluntary and community sector
groups.

(d) Contract awards are made having regard to identification of the most
economically advantageous tender (MEAT), considering issues such
as quality, performance, delivery, continuity of supply and whole life
costs.

(e) That the Benefits Realisation of contracts are considered and that
lessons learned are captured.

5. The Committee will give consideration to proposals for insourcing of existing
outsourced contracts as part of options appraisal for future service provision.
Where there is a clear demonstration that this option will consistently achieve
best value for the Council and its residents, the Committee will have the
power to approve the insourcing of contracts.

6. The Committee will review and where appropriate award contract variations
as set out in Contract Standing Orders.

7. The Committee will be responsible for considering any procurements that are
referred to the Committee by the Chair of Hackney Procurement Board (an
officer panel established in accordance with Contract Standing Orders).

8. The Committee has the discretionary right to refer any report at Gateway 2 or
4 review for decision by Cabinet,

9. The Committee will also consider and advise, as appropriate, on:

(a) A corporate approach to best value in Procurement and ensuring all
departments of the Council comply with these principles;

(b) Value for money studies following consideration by those bodies with
appropriate responsibility for the specific area of work;

(c) The use of procurement to support the Council’s wider Equalities,
Environmental, In-sourcing Services, Social and Community Benefit
objectives

10. The Committee will be responsible for considering any procurements that
arise from the acceptance of an Expression of Interest under Section 81 of the
Localism Act 2011.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

448Page 570



Type of Committee

Cabinet Procurement and Insourcing Committee is an Executive committee under
delegated authority of the Elected Mayor.

Membership

The membership of the Committee is appointed by the Elected Mayor and will
include the Cabinet Member for Finance, Insourcing and Customer Service and X
number of Cabinet members.

Chairing arrangements

This Committee is chaired by the Cabinet Member for Finance, Insourcing and
Customer Service.

In the absence of the Chair, and subject to availability, the Elected Mayor will Chair
this Committee.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The quorum for a meeting of this Committee is two members of the Cabinet which
must include the Chair. If neither of them are present the meeting will not be quorate.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by the Elected Mayor for the
purposes of establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular
committee members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from elected members;

(c) Consider any items of urgent business

(d) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting;

(e) Review procurement pipeline to ensure that appropriate plans and
resources are in place to re-procure or insource existing contracts before
they expire

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

449Page 571



(f) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(g) Receive questions from, and provide answers to Councillor questions on
matters covered on the agenda;

(h) Consider any matters delegated by Cabinet.

(i) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(j) Receive details of any procurement related decisions taken by Officers as
key decisions under delegated authority.

(k) Consider any report that any two of the Council’s statutory Officers, acting
within their statutory duties, decide ought to be considered by the
Committee.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.
Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

450Page 572



Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Cabinet Procurement & Insourcing Committee

451Page 573



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Constitution Committee

Functions

Constitution Committee is responsible for the functions set out below:

1. Shall review areas in the Constitution to ensure that they are fit for purpose
and propose appropriate changes;

2. Receive requests to review certain areas of the Constitution;

3. Consider changes proposed by Members, Officers and Committees;

4. Recommend proposed changes to Council for approval.

The Constitution Committee will set its own work programme. The following persons
/ bodies can request that it considers a particular area of the Constitution for review:

(a) The Mayor

(b) Full Council

(c) Party Whips

(d) The Monitoring Officer

The Constitution Committee can invite any Member or Officer to speak on a
particular item under consideration (e.g. the s151 Officer if the Committee is looking
at the rules relating to the setting of the budget).

Type of Committee

This is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to discharge
regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council and shall be:

(a) One member of the Executive who will be responsible for reporting the
view of Cabinet to the Committee;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Constitution Committee

452Page 574



(b) One member of the Majority Group who is not a member of the
Executive who will be responsible for reporting the views of the Majority
Group to the Committee;

(c) One member from each Opposition Group who will be responsible for
reporting the views of Opposition Groups to the Committee;

(d) One member of the Audit Committee; and

(e) One member of the Scrutiny Panel

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair will be appointed either at the Annual Meeting of Full
Council or at the first meeting of the Committee in each municipal year.

In the absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the
Committee members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the
number of those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Audit Committee shall be three elected Councillors.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Receive questions from, and provide answers to Councillor questions on
matters covered on the agenda;

(f) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(g) Consider any items of urgent business.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Constitution Committee

453Page 575



Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Last reviewed: Date xx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Constitution Committee

454Page 576



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Corporate Committee

Functions

The Corporate Committee is responsible for maintaining oversight of the Council’s
regulatory functions, planning, elections and human resources. The Committee is
also responsible for any other Council function that has not been specifically
allocated to Full Council or any other committee.

The Corporate Committee is responsible for the functions set out below:

Regulatory Framework

1. To discharge all non-executive functions not allocated to the Council or
another Committee.

2. To appoint a Planning Sub-Committee and approve its terms of
reference, procedures and protocols including the adoption of a
Planning Code of Practice.

3. To appoint any Sub-Committees within its remit deemed necessary to
perform its functions and approve their terms of reference, procedures
and protocols.

4. To develop, review, monitor and maintain a strategic overview of the
Council’s regulatory function.

5. To consider the functions relating to health and safety under any
relevant statutory provision within the meaning of Part 1 Health and
Safety at Work Act 1974, to the extent that those functions are
discharged otherwise than in the Council’s capacity as an employer.

6. To consider Polling District and Place Reviews undertaken in
accordance with the Representation of People Act 1983.

7. To develop, monitor, review and make recommendations to Full
Council on the adoption of byelaws.

8. To consider recommendations to other bodies of the Council on policy
development and responses to Government consultations within the
remit of the Committee or its Sub-Committees.

9. To approve any Member training deemed necessary for the Committee
or its Sub-Committees.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Corporate Committee

455Page 577



Human Resources

1. To maintain a strategic overview of Human Resources matters,
including adopting any proposed changes to current policies which may
affect the terms and conditions of staff employed by the Council.

Type of Committee

Corporate Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to
discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Corporate Committee shall be four elected Councillors.

Substitute

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Corporate Committee

456Page 578



Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Corporate Committee

457Page 579



Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Corporate Committee

458Page 580



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Council Joint Committee

Functions

The committee shall meet to carry out the following functions in relation to
employees of the Council:

1. To promote cooperation between the Council as an employer with its
employees through their Trades Unions through meaningful communication,
consultation and negotiation.

2. To keep the employer and employees informed on matters which concern
them.

3. To seek views on employment practices and procedures and to seek prior
agreement of proposed changes.

4. To seek views on health and safety issues.

5. To monitor compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements and
reinforce the Council's commitment towards equality in employment.

6. To monitor the employment element of the Council's equalities policies and
to advise the Council of suitable remedies to address possible complex
employment issues.

7. To make recommendations upon equalities matters to Full Council, Cabinet,
or Chief Officers, as appropriate, or to the appropriate external body.

8. To settle differences in interpretation and/or application of national,
provincial or local agreements which had not been resolved at Local Joint
Committees, the Corporate Trade Unions/HR Forums or which have
corporate implications.

9. To refer differences not resolved by the CJC to a Provincial Disputes
Procedure.

The CJC will not discuss any matter which specifically concerns an individual
employee or former employee.

Type of Committee

The committee is an advisory committee.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Council Joint Committee

459
Page 581



Membership

This meeting is open to only members of the committee and designated senior
officers.

The committee will ideally consist of an equal number of employer and trade union
members (so far as this is compatible with political balance rules) each representing
one of the following:

(a) The Cabinet (to include the Cabinet Councillor with responsibility for
Human Resources);

(b) Councillor

(c) Chair of the Council’s Corporate Committee;

(d) Representative of Building and Crafts Convenor;

(e) Representative of the General Municipal Boilermakers and Allied Trades
Union (GMB) Branch;

(f) Representative of UNITE;

(g) Representative of the UNISON Branch.

Chairing arrangements

This committee is chaired by the Cabinet Member for Employment, Human
Resources and Equalities.

There are no vice chairing arrangements in place for this Committee.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Council Joint Committee is as appointed by Full Council.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Apologies for Absence

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Council Joint Committee

460
Page 582



(b) Declarations of Interest

(c) Minutes of the Previous Meeting and the actions tracker

(d) Employee items

(e) Employer items

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

The meeting is not open to the public.

Questions to the Committee

The Committee does not accept questions from the public or Councillors.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on a quarterly basis as set out in the Council’s meetings
calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency. This is not a
public meeting.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Council Joint Committee

461
Page 583



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

Functions

The Hackney Health and Wellbeing Board is a strategic, multi agency partnership
board, established under the Health and Social Care Act (2012). It brings together
the Local Authority, the Integrated Commissioning Board, with local Healthwatch and
other partners, in order to improve the commissioning of health and social care
services and improve the health of the local population. Alongside its duty to improve
commissioning of these, the Board also has responsibility for promoting integration
between health and social care.

The Board brings together senior stakeholders and local representatives to
strategically plan the commissioning of the right health and social care services for
adults and children in Hackney, highlighting the most cost-effective ways to enable
Hackney residents to live longer, healthier, safer, happier lives. The Board promotes
the integration of services where this will promote more accessible, efficient and cost
effective solutions to the challenges that the residents of Hackney face.

To carry out the duties and responsibilities of a Health and Wellbeing Board as set
out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, in particular:

(a) To encourage integrated working between commissioners of NHS, public
health and social care services for the advancement of the health and
wellbeing of the local population;

(b) To provide advice, assistance or other support in order to encourage
partnership arrangements such as the development of pool budgets or
make lead commissioning arrangements under Section 75 of the NHS Act;

(c) To, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people in
its area, encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health or
social care services in its area to work in an integrated manner;

(d) To provide advice, assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for
the purpose of encouraging arrangements under Section 75 of the NHS
Act. These are arrangements under which, for example, NHS Bodies and
local authorities agree to exercise specified functions of each other or pool
funds;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

462Page 584



(e) To discharge the functions of the Integrated Commissioning Board and the
Local Authority in preparing joint strategic needs assessments (JSNA) and
joint health wellbeing strategies (JHWS);

(f) To, where appropriate, recommend Full Council to extend its functions
relating to wider determinants of health, such as housing, that affect the
health and wellbeing of the population. To inform the Local Authority of its
views on whether the authority is discharging its duty to have regard to the
JSNA and JHWS in discharging its functions;

(g) To discharge any non-executive function to enable it to carry out its
statutory duties as Full Council may from time to time choose to delegate.

(h) To prepare and publish a pharmaceutical needs assessment.

(i) A duty to exercise functions with regard to the need to reduce inequalities
between patients in outcomes and access to services.

Additional, non-statutory functions of the HWB include:

(a) Lead and have oversight of system action to improve the health of the local
population (beyond patients and service users) and reduce health
inequities, through

● Tackling the wider determinants of health by promoting and
embedding Health in All Policies across system partners

● Oversight of the following strategies and plans that include key aims to
improve health and/or reduce inequalities, including
a. Community Strategy
b. Public health strategy
c. Hackney Autism Strategy
d. Alcohol Strategy
e. Mental health Priorities
f. Dementia strategy
g. Tobacco Strategy
h. Ageing Well Strategy
i. Serious Violence Action Plan.

(b) Ensure a Health and Wellbeing Board work plan is implemented, reviewed
and updated.

(c) Establish relevant sub-groups or sub committees, determine their work
programmes and ensure these are kept on track.

(d) Ensure that Cabinet, the Integrated Commissioning Board and other
members’ boards are kept informed of progress and work of the board.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

463Page 585



(e) To receive the annual public health report/public health issues.

(f) Have oversight of Hackney HealthWatch Plans and receive its Annual
Report.

(g) Communicate the work of the Board to all Hackney residents and other
stakeholders, through its website and publications.

(h) Agree and maintain a procedure for questions from members of the public.

Type of Committee

The Hackney Health and Wellbeing Board is a strategic, multi-agency partnership
board, established under the Health and Social Care Act (2012).

Membership

The 2012 Act prescribes a core membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board of:

(a) At least one elected representative, nominated by either the Leader of the
council, the Mayor, or in some cases by the local authority;

(b) A representative from each ICB whose area falls within or coincides with,
the local authority area;

(c) The local authority directors of adult social services, children’s services and
public health;

(d) A representative from the local Healthwatch organisation;

The extended membership includes representatives from:

(a) The Police;
(b) The Community and Voluntary Sector;
(c) Primary Care Networks;
(d) The Housing Service;
(e) Education, and;
(f) Relevant Council Cabinet members

Chairing arrangements

The Health and Wellbeing Board is jointly chaired by the Cabinet member with the
relevant portfolio responsibility for Public Health and the Integrated Commissioning
Board Clinical Lead.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

464Page 586



In the absence of a Co-Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee members
can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of those present
in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The quorum for the Board will be at least 4 members, to include at least one
Co-Chair and a Councillor.

Substitutes

There is an expectation that Board members will prioritise attendance. If a member is
unable to attend the meeting they should nominate a substitute. This substitute
should have delegated authority to make the same level of decision as the member
they are representing.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;
(b) Receive any declarations of interest from members;
(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting;
(d) Review the action log
(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.
(f) Consider any items of urgent business

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.
Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

465Page 587



The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Health and Wellbeing Board

466Page 588



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Committee

Functions

The Licensing Committee is the statutory body established by the Licensing Act
2003. It is also responsible for other statutory licensing functions. The Committee is
responsible for developing and monitoring the Council’s licensing function, which
includes making recommendations on the Council’s licensing and gambling policies.
It has established Licensing Sub-Committees which are responsible for considering
and determining applications, including those applications made under the Licensing
Acts and the Gambling Act 2005.

The Licensing Committee will have responsibility for the functions set out below:

1. To develop, review, monitor and maintain a strategic overview for all of the
Council’s Licensing function;

2. To discharge functions under the Licensing Act 2003, including the setting of
fees under section 197A of the Licensing Act 2003, the Licensing Act 1964
and any other relevant legislation;

3. To discharge functions under the Gambling Act 2005 as delegated to the
Licensing Committee by virtue of Section 154 of that Act or otherwise and
also the function of setting fees under Section 212 of that Act;

4. To discharge functions under the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1982, as amended;

5. To discharge functions under Part II of the London Local Authorities Act 1991;

6. To establish and appoint Licensing Sub-Committees, and approve the
delegations of functions to the Sub-Committees and any additional
Sub-Committee hearing procedures over and above the Council’s Procedure
Rules;

7. To develop and submit to Full Council for approval a Licensing Policy
Statement;

8. To develop and submit to Cabinet and Full Council for approval a Gambling
Licensing Policy Statement;

9. To develop and submit to Full Council for approval a Sex Establishment
Licensing Policy;

10. To maintain an overview of the Council’s statement of licensing policies and
make recommendations to Full Council as appropriate during review;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Committee

467Page 589



11. To develop and adopt a Licensing Code of Practice;

12. To receive performance monitoring information on matters related to the
Council’s Licensing functions and to monitor appeals brought against the
decisions of the Sub-Committees;

13. To receive reports on management of the Borough’s night-time economy and
enforcement issues;

14. To receive reports and maintain oversight of legislative changes that impact
upon the Council’s licensing functions and procedures;

15. To consider and make recommendations to Full Council, Cabinet or any of
their committees, or any other relevant body, in respect of licensing functions
and procedures; and

16. To maintain an overview of licensing training for Members.

Type of Committee

Licensing Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to
discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The quorum for the Licensing Committee shall be 4 elected Councillors.

Substitutes

There are no substitute arrangements for this committee.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Committee

468Page 590



(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

Questions to the Licensing Committee may not relate to a specific licensing
application.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Committee

469Page 591



Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Committee

470Page 592



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Sub-Committees

Functions

The Licensing Sub-Committees are responsible for determining applications which
fall within the functions of the Licensing Committee.Licensing Sub-Committees will
have specific responsibility for the functions set out below.

Licensing Act 2003

1. To determine applications for premises licenses, club premises certificates
and provisional statements where a relevant representation is received.

2. To determine applications to vary premises licences and club premises
certificates where a relevant representation is received.

3. To determine applications for personal licenses where the police have served
an objection notice, or the applicant has an unspent conviction.

4. To determine applications to vary a designated premises supervisor where a
police objection is received.

5. To determine applications for transfer of premises licences where a police
objection is received.

6. To determine applications to review premises licences and club premises
certificates.

7. To determine applications for interim authorities where a police objection is
received.

8. To determine whether to issue a counter notice to a temporary event notice
where a police and/or environmental health authority objection is received.

9. To determine applications for expedited summary reviews of premises
licences.

10. To review premises licences following receipt of a notice from the Magistrates
Court of a closure order.

Gambling Act 2005

11. To determine applications for a premises licence and provisional statement
where a relevant representation is received.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Sub-Committees

471Page 593



12. To determine applications to vary premises licence and provisional statement

where a relevant representation is received.

13. To determine applications for transfer of premises licence where a relevant
representation is received.

14. To determine applications to review a premises licence.

15. To determine applications for a club gaming permit and club machine permit
where a relevant representation is received.

16. To determine whether to issue a counter notice to a temporary use notice
where a relevant representation is received.

Schedule 3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended

17. To determine new applications for a sex establishment licence.

18. To determine renewal applications for a sex establishment licence where a
relevant representation is received and not withdrawn.

19. To determine applications to transfer a sex establishment licence where a
relevant representation is received and not withdrawn.

Part II of the London Local Authorities Act 1991

20. The determination of all applications and registrations for massage and
special treatment licenses where a relevant representation is received

Type of Committee

Licensing Sub-Committee is a non-executive committee established by the Licensing
Committee to discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of these sub-committees are drawn from the membership of the
Licensing Committee, and its substitutes, as required. Political balance is not
required to be maintained.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair of the Sub-Committee is appointed at each sub-committee hearing.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The quorum for the Licensing Sub-Committee shall be 2 elected Councillors.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Sub-Committees

472Page 594



Substitutes

Any substitutes for these Sub-Committee will be appointed from the pool of members
of the Licensing Committee.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Consider applications as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider Temporary Event Notices

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Sub-Committee will normally be open to the public, unless
confidential or exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

Until further notice, this Sub-Committee meets remotely.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Speaking at the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works or is a member of a body representing local
residents or local business can register to speak at a Licensing Sub-Committee
hearing providing they have made a relevant representation to the Licensing
Authority.

A Councillor may register to speak at a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing.

The arrangements to speak at a Licensing Sub-Committee hearing is set out in the
hearing procedure.

Frequency of meetings

The Sub-Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Sub-Committees

473Page 595



Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Sub-Committee will be issued at least 5 working
days in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Licensing Sub-Committees

474Page 596



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

Functions

The Pensions Board is established by Hackney Council under the powers of the
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2015 (“the Regulations”). The Council as
administering authority may determine the procedures applicable to the Pensions
Board in accordance with the Regulations including as to the establishment of
Sub-Committees, formation of joint Committees and payment of expenses. The
Constitution applies to the Pensions Board unless specifically excluded by the Terms
of Reference.

Powers of the Pensions Board

The Pensions Board will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with
legislation and the Terms of Reference. The Pensions Board shall have the power to
do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the
discharge of its functions.

Role of the Pensions Board

Under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 by sections 5 (1) and (2) the role of the
Pensions Board is to assist Hackney Council as Scheme Manager of the London
Borough of Hackney Pension Fund:

1. To secure compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
Regulations and any other legislation relating to the governance and
administration of the Scheme, and any requirements imposed in relation to the
LGPS by the Pensions Regulator.

2. To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the
London Borough of Hackney Pension Fund.

The Pensions Board provides oversight of these matters and, accordingly, is not a
decision-making body in relation to the management of the Pension Fund. The
Pension Fund’s management powers and responsibilities which have been, and may
be, delegated by the Council to Committees, Sub-Committees and Officers of the
Council, remain solely the responsibility of those Committees, Sub-Committees and
officers including but not limited to the setting and delivery of the Fund's strategies,
the allocation of the Fund's assets and the appointment of contractors, advisors and
fund managers.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

475Page 597



The Pensions Board will ensure that in performing their role it is:

(a) Undertaken effectively and efficiently;
(b) Complies with relevant legislation; and
(c) Undertaken by having due regard to and in the spirit of the Code of Practice

on the governance and administration of public service pension schemes
issued by the Pensions Regulator and any other relevant statutory or
non-statutory guidance.

The Board must provide minutes of each meeting to the following Pensions
Committee, copied to the Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources, and
may make reports and recommendations to the Pensions Committee insofar as they
relate to the role of the Pensions Board. Any such reports or recommendations must
be provided at least 15 working days in advance of the next Pensions Committee to
the Director, Financial Management and Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources.

In addition, an annual report of the Pensions Board (as prepared by the Chair of the
Pensions Board), must be provided to the Lead Councillor for Finance; the Group
Director of Finance and Corporate Resources; the Director, Financial Management;
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services; the Pension Fund Committee
and Council as well as being published in the Fund's Annual Report and Accounts.

In the exceptional circumstances that the Board considers that a matter brought to
the attention of the Pensions Committee and Group Director, Finance and Corporate
Resources has not been acted upon or resolved to their satisfaction by the Pensions
Committee and/or Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources within a
reasonable period. The Pensions Board will provide a report to the Council.

Composition of the Pensions Board

The Appointments Panel will oversee the appointment process and decide which
individuals should be appointed to the Pensions Board. The Appointments Panel will
consist of:

(a) Lead Councillor for Finance

(b) Group Director, Finance and Corporate Resources

(c) Director of Financial Management

(d) Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

476Page 598



Membership

The Pensions Board shall consist of 4 or 5 members and be constituted as follows:

(a) Two Employer Representatives;
(b) Two Scheme Member Representatives;
(c) One Independent Member (optional).

Substitutes for the Employer or Scheme Member Representatives are not permitted.
The Independent Member, if appointed, may have an alternate who will carry out
Pensions Board business if the Independent Member is not available to do so.

Chairing arrangements

The Appointments Panel will appoint a Chair and a Vice Chair from the membership
of the Pensions Board.

Where the Appointments Panel do not consider that any of the members of the
Board to have the requisite knowledge and skills for the role of Chair at the point in
time they are to appoint the Chair, they will appoint an Independent Member to the
Pensions Board who will also undertake the role of Chair to the Pensions Board.
The Independent Member may have an Alternate who can undertake the role of
Chair in his absence.

The appointments to Chair and Vice Chair will be reviewed at such times as
considered appropriate by the Appointments Panel, unless the Chair is an
Independent Member, in which case the position will be linked to the term of
appointment for the Independent Member.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

A meeting of the Pensions Board will only be quorate when two of the four Employer
and Scheme Member Representatives are present, and where the Board has an
Independent Member they must also be present.

A meeting that is (or becomes at any point) not quorate will cease immediately.

Scheme Member and Employer Representatives will have individual voting rights.
Any other person attending a meeting will not have a right to vote. Where the Chair
is a Scheme Member or Employer Representative, they will have the deciding vote in
cases where an equality of votes exists.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

477Page 599



Any decision being reported to Council must receive agreement from a majority of
voting members. It is expected that the Pensions Board will as far as possible reach
a consensus in all voting matters.

The results of any voting outcomes will be reported in the Board minutes.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from elected members;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting;

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Receive questions from, and provide answers to Councillor questions on
matters covered on the agenda;

(f) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(g) Consider any items of urgent business

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Board will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Board meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Frequency of meetings

The Board will meet a minimum of twice each calendar year. The Board meets on
dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.
Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

478Page 600



Urgent business of the Pensions Board between meetings may, in exceptional
circumstances, be conducted via communications between members of the
Pensions Board including telephone conferencing and emails.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Board

479Page 601



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Committee

Functions

Pensions Committee is responsible for the functions set out below:

1. To act as Trustees of the Council's Pension Fund, consider pension matters
and meet the obligations and duties of the Council under the Superannuation
Act 1972, and the various pension legislation.

2. To act as Scheme Manager for the Pension Fund.

3. To make arrangements for the appointment of and to appoint suitably qualified
pension fund administrators, actuaries, advisers, investment managers and
custodians and periodically to review those arrangements.

4. To formulate and publish a Statement of Investment Principles.

5. To set the overall strategic objectives for the Pension Fund, having taken
appropriate expert advice, and develop a medium-term plan to deliver the
objectives.

6. To determine the strategic asset allocation policy, the mandates to be given to
the investment managers and the performance measures to be set for them.

7. To make arrangements for the triennial actuarial valuation, monitor liabilities
and to undertake any asset/liability and other relevant studies as required.

8. To monitor the performance and effectiveness of the investment managers
and their compliance with the Statement of Investment Principles.

9. To set an annual budget for the operation of the Pension Fund and to monitor
income and expenditure against the budget.

10. To receive and approve an Annual Report on the activities of the Fund prior to
publication

11. To make arrangements to keep members of the Pension Fund informed of
performance and developments relating to the Pension Fund on an annual
basis.

12. To keep the terms of reference under review.

13. To determine all matters relating to admission body issues.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Committee

480Page 602



14. To focus on strategic and investment related matters at two additional
Pensions Committee meetings.

15. To review the Pension Fund’s policy and strategy documents on a regular
cycle and review performance against the Fund’s objectives within the
business plan.

16. To maintain an overview of pensions training for Members.

Type of Committee

Pensions Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to
discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

The Pensions Committee will also co-opt a non-voting employer representative and
a non-voting scheme representative.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Pensions Committee shall be two elected Councillors.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Committee

481Page 603



(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Committee

482Page 604



Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Pensions Committee

483Page 605



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

Functions

In these terms of reference, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings:

Major Applications

Any application in excess of 2,000 sq. m or more than 15 residential units save
for any section 73 Application.

Non-Major Applications

Any application that does not fall within the definition of Major Applications, and
which for the avoidance of doubt includes residential schemes of up to 15 units
requiring affordable housing which comply with policy and / or educational
contributions according to agreed planning formulae and / or car free
developments/green travel plans; non-residential proposals of less than 2,000
sq. m. requiring a legal agreement under section 278 of the Highways Act
1980.

Section 73 Applications

Any application made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

1. The Planning Sub-Committee will consider the following categories that are
recommended for approval (categories 1-5) or refusal or as a consultation
response or endorsement or notification (as applicable) (categories 1(d), 1(e),
2, 4, 5, and 7 below under any legislative provisions that can relate to
development (“the Planning Acts”) subject to the exemptions in 6.

(a) Major Applications;

(b) Involve a significant departure from the approved Hackney
Development Plan;

(c) Any application requiring a legal agreement with the exception of the
following:

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

484
Page 606



(i) Legal agreements for any Non-Major Applications or Section 73
Applications (where the original condition was not specifically
imposed by Members of the Sub-Committee in response to
objectors).

(ii) Variation of legal agreements relating to the applications in (c)(i)
or where it does not substantially vary the nature of the
proposed development.

(d) Any application submitted by or on behalf of a Councillor or Officer of
the Council (or their spouse or partner or dependent).

(e) Any other planning matter which at the discretion of the Head of
Planning should be considered by the Planning Sub-Committee,
paying particular regard to applications which have received
substantial public response, a substantial number of objections or in
circumstances where an application has been appealed to Planning
Inspectorate or called in by any body and the Head of Planning
considers that Planning Sub-Committee should endorse a
decision/course of action.

2. Responses to consultation by authorities on applications with significant cross
borough impacts.

3. Involving the total or partial (substantial) demolition of any listed building, which
is not accompanied by an application for redevelopment.

4. Any ‘Council’s own’ application involving more than 100 sq. m of floor space, a
change of use, more than 5 residential units, (or) which have received any
individual letters of objection or a petition raising material planning issues.

5. Any application upon the written request of at least 5 members of the Planning
Sub-Committee or 10 or more members of the Council, stating the planning
reasons for this call-in and which request is received by the Head of Planning
prior to the expiry of the publicity time period for such an application.

6. The following are where applicable (subject to any of the above categories
applying or Planning Sub-Committee resolving otherwise in regards to a
particular matter) not to be determined / considered by the Planning Sub
Committee (being dealt with instead under delegated powers):

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

485
Page 607



(a) Section 73 applications unless approval is being sought to amend a
condition specifically imposed by Members of sub-committee in
response to objections of the original application;

(b) Non-major applications;

(c) Any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the recommended
heads of terms and/or recommended conditions as originally
approved by Planning Sub-Committee (and if applicable to authorise
any such changes requested by the GLA or other government /
statutory body) after consultation with the Chair of PSC (or in their
absence the Vice-Chair);

(d) All other planning matters, including all enforcement matters, whether
recommended for approval or refusal, as set out under the Planning
Acts, to be delegated to the Group Director, Climate, Homes and
Economy.

7. The Planning Sub-Committee may meet to consider pre-application planning
proposals in accordance with any pre-application meeting terms of reference.
No decisions will/can be taken at the pre-application meeting with the
consideration/determination of any consequent application subject to these
Planning Sub-Committee terms of reference.

Type of Committee

This is a non-executive Committee established by Full Council to discharge
regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this Committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

486
Page 608



Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The quorum for a meeting of this Committee is three members which must include
the Chair.

The Chair (or the Vice-Chair, in the Chair’s absence) will read out the
recommendation summary as set out in the planning application report(s) and
Committee members will be invited to raise their hand to vote on the
recommendation.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members. There are six substitute members for the Committee and reflect the
political balance of the Council.

Order of Business

(a) Apologies for Absence

(b) Declarations of Interest

(c) To consider any proposal/questions referred to the sub-committee by the
Council's Monitoring Officer

(d) Minutes of the Previous Meeting

(e) Planning application(s)*

(f) Delegated Decisions

(g) Any Other Business the Chair Considers to be Urgent

*If there is more than one planning application under consideration at the meeting
their order of priority on the agenda will be determined by the Planning Service
before the publication of meeting papers.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee are open to the press and public.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

487
Page 609



You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Speaking at the Committee

Persons who have submitted a previous written representation to the Council in
respect of a planning application, a nominated agent or any local Councillor can
register to speak at the meeting at which the application is considered by the
Committee. These persons must contact the Governance Officer the day before the
meeting by 4:00pm to register to speak (or 4:00pm on the last clear working day
before the meeting if the meeting is held on a Monday).

Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Planning Sub-Committee

488
Page 610



Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

Functions

The Standards Committee is responsible for promoting and maintaining high ethical
standards at the Council. The Standards Committee is responsible for the following
functions:

1. To review and maintain oversight of the Council’s ethical framework and
procedures and make reports and recommendations accordingly;

2. To review and maintain oversight of the conduct of councillors and co-opted
members of the Council and assist them in upholding high ethical standards;

3. To advise Full Council and its Committees on the adoption of a Members’
Code of Conduct, codes of practice and protocols relating to ethical
governance matters;

4. To hear and consider complaints made against councillors and co-opted
members under the Code of Conduct, codes of practice or protocols;

5. To adopt procedures for considering complaints made under the Code of
Conduct, codes of practice or protocols;

6. To consider whether to grant applications for dispensation to councillors and
co-opted Members, in accordance with Members’ Code of Conduct; and

7. To maintain oversight of ethical governance training provided to Members and
co-opted members and make reports and recommendations accordingly.

There are two sub-committees of the Standards Committee:

Standards Assessment Sub-Committee

To consider allegations that a member or co-opted member (herein referred to as
Subject Member) has failed to comply with the Member’s Code of Conduct as may
be referred to the Assessment Sub-Committee by the Monitoring Officer to
determine whether:

(a) No further action should be taken because the complaint does not reach
the required threshold;

(b) To refer the complaint for local resolution; or

(c) To refer the complaint for formal investigation.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

489Page 611



Quorum

The quorum of the Assessment Sub-Committee is three Councillor Members of the
Standards Committee in a voting capacity.

Notes:

One or more Co-opted Members of Standards Committee will be invited to attend the
Sub-Committee and contribute to the proceedings in a non voting capacity.

The Independent Person to Standards Committee will be invited to attend the
Sub-Committee and contribute to the proceedings in a non voting capacity.

Any member of the Standards Committee, against whom a Code of Conduct
complaint has been made, shall not be selected as a member of the Assessment
Sub-Committee until consideration of their complaint has been concluded.

Where possible the composition of the Assessment Sub-Committee will be politically
balanced.

Standards Hearing Sub-Committee

(a) To conduct hearings into allegations referred for formal investigation into an
alleged breach of the Member Code of Conduct, whether initiated by either
the Monitoring Officer or the Assessment Sub-Committee, concludes that
there have been one or more failures to comply with the Member Code of
Conduct and the Monitoring Officer has determined that the matter should be
referred to the Hearing Sub-Committee for consideration.

(b) Where the Hearing Sub-Committee determines that the Subject Member has
failed to comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct to determine what, if any,
lawful sanction should be imposed and where appropriate make
recommendations as to sanction to Full Council, the Elected Mayor, Group
Leader or other persons

(c) In consequence of the hearing and determination of any allegation to make
such recommendations to Full Council as the Hearing Sub-Committee
considers appropriate having regard to the need to promote and maintain
standards of conduct amongst members.

Quorum

The quorum of the Hearing Sub-Committee is three Councillors who are Members of
the Standards Committee in a voting capacity.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

490Page 612



Notes:

One or more Co-opted Members of the Standards Committee will be invited to attend
the Sub-Committee and contribute to the proceedings in a non voting capacity.

The Independent Person to Standards Committee will be invited to attend the
Sub-Committee and contribute to the proceedings in a non voting capacity.

Any member of the Standards Committee, against whom a Code of Conduct
complaint has been made, shall not be selected as a member of the Hearing
Sub-Committee until consideration of their complaint has been concluded.

Where possible the composition of the Hearing Sub-Committee will be politically
balanced.

Type of Committee

Standards Committee is a non-executive committee established by Full Council to
discharge regulatory functions.

Membership

Membership of this Committee is appointed in accordance with political balance at
Full Council.

Chairing arrangements

The Chair and Vice Chair of this committee is appointed at Full Council. In the
absence of the Chair or Vice Chair, and subject to being quorate, the Committee
members can agree who may preside over the meeting based on the number of
those present in person.

Quorum and Voting Arrangements

The Quorum for the Standards Committee shall be 3 elected Councillors.

Substitutes

Substitutes to the Committee will be appointed by Full Council for the purposes of
establishing a quorum and will have the same voting rights as regular committee
members.

Order of Business

(a) Receive apologies;

(b) Receive any declarations of interest from Councillors;

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

491Page 613



(c) Approve the minutes of the previous meeting

(d) Receive questions from, and provide answers to, members of the public on
matters covered on the agenda;

(e) Consider reports as set out in the agenda.

(f) Consider any items of urgent business.

Who may attend?

Meetings of the Committee will normally be open to the public, unless confidential or
exempt information is to be discussed.

Location

This Committee meets at the Council’s main offices or any other suitable location.

You can also view meetings online in accordance with the Access to Information
Procedure Rules in Part 6, Section C of the Council’s Constitution with the Protocol
on Recording and Live Streaming Council Meetings set out in Part 6, Section F of
the Constitution.

Questions to the Committee

A member of the public who lives, works, or studies in the Borough can ask a
question of the Committee with one supplementary question relating to an item on
the agenda.

A Councillor may ask a question of the Committee with one supplementary question
relating to an item on the agenda.

The total amount of time for questions with notice at the Committee will be no more
than 15 minutes.

If the Chair agrees, a member of the public can ask a question at the Committee
without having given notice. If a question without notice is asked, the Chair will
explain that it might not be possible to give a full answer at the meeting and that a
written response will be provided.

Frequency of meetings

The Committee meets on dates set out in the Council’s meetings calendar.

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

492Page 614



Papers and Notice

The agenda and any papers for the Committee will be issued at least 5 working days
in advance of the meeting, except in the case of matters of urgency.

Review

The terms of reference will be reviewed on an annual basis, or as necessary, to
support the functions and objectives of this Committee. Updates to the terms of
reference will be agreed annually at the Committee’s first meeting of the municipal
year.

Last reviewed: Date xxx

Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference of Council Committees etc
Standards Committee

493Page 615



This page is intentionally left blank



Title of Report Statement of Licensing Policy

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24 July 2023

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All wards

Group Director Rickardo Hyatt, Group Director, Climate, Homes and
Economy

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides Council with relevant information on the Licensing Act
2003 (“the Act”) following the consultation on the draft Statement of Licensing
Policy (“the Policy”).

2.1 The Licensing Committee is due to consider the draft Statement of Licensing
Policy (“the Policy”) at its meeting on 17 July 2023. This date falls after the
required publication date for Full Council. Should the Licensing Committee be
minded not to commend the report to Full Council for agreement or wish to
make any further amendments to the Policy, an update will be sent to Full
Council.

2. Recommendation(s)

Following consideration and recommendation by the Licensing Committee,
Full Council is recommended to:

2.1 Approve the Statement of Licensing Policy effective from 1 August 2023 for a
maximum period of 5 years.

2.2 Delegate authority to the Group Director of Climate Homes and Economy to
make any changes to the Policy as appropriate. Changes will be reported to
the Licensing Committee for noting.

Page 617

Agenda Item 11



3. Background

Statement of Licensing Policy

3.1 The Licensing Act 2003 requires each local authority to publish a Statement of
Licensing Policy and review it at least once every five years. This Statement
must establish the principles to be applied when determining applications
under the Act, such as applications for the sale/supply of alcohol, regulated
entertainment and the provision of late night refreshment.

3.2 The Act specifies that in drafting and implementing the Policy, it must
promote the four licensing objectives. These are:

● The prevention of crime and disorder.
● Public safety.
● The prevention of public nuisance.
● The protection of children from harm.

3.3 Home Office Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
(the “Guidance”) provides local authorities with direction on the discharge of
their functions under the Act. Licensing Authorities must have regard to the
Act and the Guidance when preparing its Policy.

3.4 The Council first published its Statement of Licensing Policy (‘Policy’) in
January 2005. This sets out the decision-making principles when licensing
premises for alcohol, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. Full
reviews of the Policy took place in 2007 and 2010. A further review took place
in 2013 to include a Special Policy Area (SPA) in Dalston that was introduced
in January 2014. Further reviews took place in 2015 and 2017. The current
iteration of the Policy became effective in August 2018.

3.5 Before determining its policy, the licensing authority must consult the persons
listed in section 5(3) of the Act. These are:

● the chief officer of police for the area;
● the fire and rescue authority for the area;
● the local authority’s Director of Public Health;
● persons/bodies representative of local premises licence holders;
● persons/bodies representative of local club premises certificate

holders; persons/bodies representative of local personal licence
holders; and persons/bodies representative of businesses and
residents in its area.

4. Consultation on the Draft Statement of Licensing Policy

4.1 The consultation on the draft Policy commenced on 15 May 2023 and
concluded on 26 June 2023. A total of 38 survey responses and a further 6
written responses were received.

Page 618



4.2 The consultation survey was centred around four main questions.

● Question 1 - To what extent do you agree or disagree that the
proposed core hours policy can continue to promote the licensing
objectives?

● Question 2 - To what extent do you agree or disagree that the
proposed policy can support outdoor events, activities and areas in
Hackney whilst minimising any negative impact on local communities?

● Question 3 - To what extent do you agree or disagree that the
proposed Special Policy Areas can promote the licensing objectives?

● Question 4 - To what extent do you agree or disagree that the
proposed Special Consideration Area policy can help to promote the
licensing objectives?

5. Consultation Survey Responses

Survey Question 1 - Core Hours (LP3)

5.1 Paragraph 14.52 of the guidance issued by the Home Office states
“Statements of licensing policy should set out the licensing authority’s
approach regarding licensed opening hours and the strategy it considers
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in its area.”

5.2 Just over half of survey respondents stated that they disagree that the
proposed core hours policy can continue to promote the licensing objectives,
with just under half stating that they agree with the Core Hours policy as an
approach to promote the licensing objectives. This difference between agree
and disagree was the response of 3 respondents.

5.3 However, it appears that many of those respondents who stated that they
agree that the proposed core hours policy can continue to promote the
licensing objectives, left a negative comment. For example a respondent
stated they agreed with the policy, but left “Core hours pose a threat to the
NTE and each venue should be considered on its merits.” as their comment
This may suggest that in some cases the question was misunderstood.
Respondents who disagreed with the statement in question 1 cited reasons
such as the core hours within the policy being too early/not late enough and
not reflective of the borough.

5.4 It should be noted that the Core Hours policy is a continuation of the Policy
published in 2018, and is designed to reflect the requirement in the Home
Office Guidance by seeking to balance the needs of licensed operators whilst
mitigating any negative residential impact and promoting the licensing
objectives.

Page 619



5.5 Core Hours are also designed to be aligned with hours that could be
considered night time (e.g. between 23:00 to 07:00), the hours for late night
refreshment and the hours that certain forms of regulated entertainment are
deregulated.

Survey Question 2 - External Events and Outdoor Activity

5.5 The external events and outdoor activity policy seeks to recognise the desire
for many events and activities to be carried on outdoors. This itself has
become more evident since the pandemic and the introduction of the
provisions under the Business and Planning Act 2020.

5.6 The survey response showed a 50/50 split in terms of agree and disagree as
to whether the proposed policy can support outdoor events, activities and
areas in Hackney whilst minimising any negative impact on local communities.
Sample comments of those that agreed suggested that 10pm is a reasonable
time and that there should be a case-by-case approach. Where there was
disagreement, references were made to less restriction on external activity in
continental Europe, but also that the core hours do not go far enough.

5.7 The policy therefore recognises that outdoor activity should be balanced with
any potential negative impacts, most notably on the promotion of public
nuisance licensing objectives. It is acknowledged that some operators will
seek to hold activities outdoors but it is also acknowledged that these
activities can lead to noise nuisance.

Survey Question 3 - Special Policy Areas

5.8 Special policy areas exist in areas where there are already a large number of
licensed premises and there is deemed to be a cumulative impact on local
residents. This cumulative impact could mean noise at particular times of the
night, litter, or increased alcohol-related crime or hospital admissions. An
independent ‘Cumulative Impact Assessment’ is being carried out that would
determine where, if any, special policy areas should be located in the
borough.

5.9 There will be a presumption to refuse applications in a special policy area
unless the applicant can demonstrate that their proposal will not add to the
cumulative impact already being experienced.

5.10 Almost two thirds of respondents stated that they disagree that the proposed
Special Policy Areas can promote the licensing objectives, with just over a
third stating that they agree that special policy areas would promote the
licensing objectives.

5.11 However, similar to the responses to the first survey question, it appears that
many of those respondents who stated that they agree left a negative
comment, also suggesting that the question was misunderstood by some

Page 620



respondents. For example a respondent states that the Shoreditch SPA has
had a negative impact, yet has stated that they agree that the proposed
Special Policy Areas can promote the licensing objectives.. This same
respondent did not clarify how the Shoreditch SPA has had a negative impact
or what the negative impact was.

5.12 A key theme that arises from those that disagree relates to concerns about
the removal of the SPA boundaries from the policy. These boundaries (if any)
would be defined in the Cumulative Impact Assessment (CIA). The Policy sets
out the approach to be taken in any area identified in the CIA as suffering
from cumulative impact.

5.13 It should be noted that paragraph 14.42 of the Guidance issued by the Home
Office states “The absence of a CIA does not prevent any responsible
authority or other person making representations on an application for the
grant or variation of a licence on the grounds that the premises will give rise to
a negative cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives,
However, in each case it would be incumbent on the person making the
representation to provide relevant evidence of cumulative impact.”

5.14 The above is reflected in paragraph 3.13 and LP12 (Cumulative Impact) in the
current and proposed Policy.

Survey Question 4 - Special Consideration Areas

5.15 Special Consideration Areas (SCA) may be introduced where the cumulative
impact from licensed premises is similar to that identified in Special Policy
Areas. However, any cumulative impact identified is deemed not to be at a
level that would require a presumed refusal of new licensing applications.
Instead applicants are expected to address any issue identified in their
application and put in place measures to mitigate these impacts. The location
of these areas, if any, would be decided following an independent
assessment, which will undergo public consultation.

5.16 Just over half of survey respondents stated that they disagree that such a
measure would promote the licensing objectives, with just under half stating
that they agree. This difference between agree and disagree was the
response of 3 respondents.

5.17 One respondent in agreement stated that it is good to raise awareness to
non-local operators. However, another person in agreement felt that there
should still be a presumption to refuse in Special Consideration Areas.
Coincidentally, a similar statement was made by a person in disagreement
with the approach.

5.18 It is important to reiterate that an SCA could only be introduced where this is
supported by evidence which would then be consulted on.

Page 621



Open-ended comments

5.19 A number of respondents sent open-ended comments rather than complete
the survey. These include responses from the Metropolitan Police, Public
Health, Dalston Pubwatch and Shoreditch Public. A local owner operator and
local resident also commented in this way.

5.20 Comments from the Police were generally supportive of the policy. However,
the Police feel that more detail could be provided in the document on matters
such as responsible drinking, nitrous oxide, welfare and misogyny in the night
time economy.

5.21 The Police as a responsible authority have the opportunity to make
representations on these issues upon receipt of an individual application on a
case-by-case basis where relevant to a particular proposal. Furthermore, the
late night levy funds activity via ‘Hackney Nights’ which aims to tackle issues
such as those highlighted above.

5.22 Public Health has made a request for reference to be made to the Council’s
Health and Well Being strategy, but are disappointed that the Core Hours
policy hours are from 08:00 rather than 10:00. Public Health also made
suggestions in relation to additional conditions to be included within the Pool
of Conditions.

5.23 Similar to the Police, Public Health as a responsible authority has the
opportunity to make representations on this matter upon receipt of an
individual application. Any such representation should be supported by
evidence.

5.24 The response on behalf of Shoreditch Pubwatch raises concerns mainly in
relation to the proposed SCA policy. However as the response states that
SPAs are being abolished and replaced with SCAs, it would suggest that the
changes to the Policy have been misunderstood. The response also highlights
LP5 (Planning Status) and paragraph 4.11 in relation to sex establishments,
despite there being very little and no changes to these sections respectively.

5.25 A local owner/operator has submitted a response seeking the removal of the
SPAs and SCAs from the Policy. The response also questions whether there
is evidence to support the effectiveness of the existing SPAs but also
highlights work done by the ‘Hackney Nights’ scheme funded by the Late
Night Levy and calls for more partnership work to keep customers and
residents safe.

5.26 The response on behalf of the Dalston Pubwatch also highlights whether the
effectiveness of the existing SPAs is supported by evidence, and also raises
concerns re the length of time that the consultation was held. The response
also states that the Dalston SPA has had a negative effect on the
development of Dalston’s evening and night time economy.

Page 622



5.27 The responses from the trade all express concerns about the Policy, notably
Core Hours and SPAs/SCAs. The reasoning behind the Core Hours Policy is
explained above and it should also be noted that the Policy seeks only to set
out the approach to be taken in SPA and SCA areas. A Cumulative Impact
Assessment would determine where (if any) these would apply.

5.28 Overall the Policy as proposed has had limited changes from the version
adopted in August 2018. However, the responses received during consultation
demonstrate the continued challenge for the Policy to promote the licensing
objectives whilst balancing the competing interests of interested parties.

6. Comments of the Group Director of Finance and Corporate Resources

6.1 This report informs Members of the review of the Licensing Policy following
statutory consultation. There are no immediate financial implications. The
activities leading up to the adoption of the Policy may have a financial impact,
which will need to be met from within existing budgets.

7. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

7.1 The Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’) confers various powers to the Council when
discharging the licensing functions for the sale and supply of alcohol,
regulated entertainment and late night refreshment.

7.2 Part of the functions requires the Council to produce and review a Statement
of Licensing Policy (‘the Policy). Section 5 of the Act now allows the Policy to
be reviewed every 5 years, following the changes brought in by the Police
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA 2011).

7.3 The existing Policy came into force on 1 August 2018 and expires on 31 July
2023. The Council must have a revised Policy in place by 1 August 2023.

7.4 The Act does not set out any review processes to be adopted. It will be a
matter for the Council to decide the process of review unless further
regulations are produced pursuant to Section 5(7) of the Act.

7.5 The drafting of any revised policy must be done in line with the Act and the
Section 182 Government Guidance (‘the Guidance’).

7.6 Since the current policy took effect, there have been a number of legislative
changes affecting the Act. This must be reflected in any revised Policy where
appropriate. Examples of the legislative changes that require the Policy to be
updated include:

● Policing and Crime Act 2009.
● Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.
● Live Music Act 2012.
● Licensing Act 2003 (Descriptions of Entertainment) (Amendment) Order

Page 623



● Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Conditions) Order 2014.
● Immigration Act 2016.
● Business and Planning Act 2020.

7.7 The Council’s consultation of the revised policy commenced on 15 May 2023
and concluded on 26 June 2023.

7.8 The Licensing Policy must be approved by Full Council pursuant to Schedule
1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England)
Regulations 2000 in order to take effect.

7.9 Within the terms of reference for Full Council it states that approving or
adopting the Policy Framework will be exercised by the Full Council. The
Statement of Licensing Policy is a document that falls within the Policy
Framework. Full Council is able to approve the recommendations set out in
paragraph 2 of this report.

Appendices

Appendix 1 - Statement of Licensing Policy for Approval

Appendix 2 - Report on the Consultation

Appendix 3 - Statement of Licensing Policy - Equalities Impact Assessment

Appendix 4 - Additional Responses - TO FOLLOW

Exempt

Not applicable.

Background Papers

None

Page 624



Report Author David Tuitt
Business Regulation Team Leader - Licensing
& Technical Support
david.tuitt@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 8974

Comments for the Group
Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources
prepared by

Avril Smith
Service Accountant
avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 3947

Comments for the Director
of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services
prepared by

Amanda Nauth, Corporate and Licensing
Lawyer
amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk
Tel: 020 8356 6345

Josephine Sterakides, Senior Lawyer,
Litigation and Public Realm
josephine.sterakides@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 2775

Page 625

mailto:david.tuitt@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:avril.smith@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.nauth@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:josephine.sterakides@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
 
2023 – 2028 
   

Page 627



2 
 

SECTION 1 – LICENSING IN HACKNEY 
 
 Page 
Purpose and Scope 4 
Review of the Licensing Policy 4 
Hackney: The Place 5 
Hackney Strategies 5 
Hackney Nights 5 
Hackney Nights Venue Accreditation Scheme 5 
Sustainable Community Strategy 6 
Local Plan LP33 6 
Community Safety Strategic Assessment 6 
Alcohol Strategy 7 
Climate Action Plan 7 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 7 
Partnership Working 7 
Children 8 
Public Health as a Responsible Authority 9 
The Licensing Authority as a Responsible Authority 9 
 
SECTION 2 – SPECIFIC POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
General Principles 10 
Licensing Objectives 10 
Core Licensing Hours 11 
Alcohol sales for consumption off the premises 12 
Planning Status 12 
External Areas and Outdoor Events 13 
Minor Variations 13 
Temporary Event Notices 14 
Personal licences 15 
 
SECTION 3 – CUMULATIVE IMPACT AND SPECIAL POLICIES 
 
Cumulative Impact and Special Policies 16 
 
SECTION 4 – OPERATIONAL ASPECTS 
 
Deregulation of Entertainment 19 
Immigration Matters 19 
Late Night Levy 19 
Sexual Entertainment 20 
Enforcement 20 
Reviews of licences and certificates 20 
Summary Reviews 21 
Wholesale of Alcohol 21 
Internet and mail order sales 21 
Early Morning Restrictions Orders 21 
Administration, Exercise and Delegations of Functions 22 
 

   

Page 628



3 
 

APPENDICES 
 
A Mandatory Conditions 
 
B Pool of Conditions 
 
C Delegation of Functions 
 
D Other Relevant Legislation  
 
  
   

Page 629



4 
 

SECTION 1 – LICENSING IN HACKNEY 
 
1. Purpose and Scope 
 
1.1 The purpose of this document is to set out the principles to be applied in considering 

applications under the Licensing Act 2003 (“the Act”).  
 
1.2 The policy has been prepared having regard to the Guidance issued by the Home 

Office under Section 182 of the Act and is designed to reflect local circumstances 
and characteristics whilst promoting the four licensing objectives: 

 
● Prevention of crime and disorder. 
● Public safety. 
● Prevention of public nuisance. 
● Protection of children from harm. 

 
It should be noted that the four licensing objectives are of equal importance and 
therefore each of these should be considered with equal weight. 

 
1.3 The Council is responsible for the determination of premises licences, club premises 

certificates, personal licences, provisional statements, review applications and 
temporary event notices that receive objections.   

 
1.4 The Policy covers all premises in Hackney where any of the following take place: 
 

● Sale or supply of alcohol. 
● Regulated entertainment. 
● The provision of late night refreshment . 
● Supply of alcohol in qualifying clubs. 

 
 Review of the Licensing Policy 
 
1.5 The Act requires that the Council must review the Policy at least every 5 years. When 

reviewing the Policy it must be consulted upon. 
 
1.6 The Council recognises the important role that responsible authorities, the licensing 

trade, local residents and other stakeholders have to play in influencing this Policy.  
 
1.7 Under s5 of the Act, consultation on the Policy must take place with: 
 

● The Police. 
● The Fire Authority. 
● The Director of Public Health. 
● Such persons as the Council considers to be representative of holders of 

premises licences issued by the Council. 
● Such persons as the Council considers to be representative of holders of club 

premises certificates issued by the Council. 
● Such persons as the Council considers to be representative of holders of 

personal licences issued by the Council. 
● Such persons as the Council considers to be representative of businesses and 

residents in its area. 
 
1.8 The Council will give due weight to the views of those consulted, making appropriate 

amendments to the Policy accordingly. In determining what weight to give to 
particular representations, the following factors will be taken into account: 

Page 630



5 
 

 
● Who made the representation (what was their expertise or interest). 
● What the motivation was for their views. 
● How many other people expressed the same or similar views. 
● How far representations related to matters the Council should include in its 

Policy. 
 
Hackney: The Place 
 
1.9 The London Borough of Hackney is an established centre for culture and leisure in 

London, with over 1400 premises authorised under the Act in an area of just 19 
square kilometres.  

 
1.10 According to the 2021 Census, Hackney’s population stood at 259,200. This, as well 

as Hackney’s relatively small geographical area makes it the third most densely 
populated boroughs in London. This population set to increase further to over 
298,000 by 2031. 

 
1.11 The vibrant mix of entertainment and leisure activities in the Borough makes 

Hackney attractive to visitors and an exciting place to live, not only at night but in the 
daytime and early evening too.  It is an example of how diverse attractions can co-
exist and complement one another.  This greater choice encourages people to travel 
into the Borough to enjoy their leisure time, generating jobs and business 
opportunities. 

 
Hackney Strategies and Initiatives 
 
1.12 The Council’s vision is to achieve balanced, sustainable communities and 

neighbourhoods which celebrate our diversity and share in London’s growing 
prosperity, to enable a good quality of life for all.  In consultation with its partners, it 
has developed and adopted a number of strategies, policies and plans that set out 
how it intends to achieve this vision.   

 
Hackney Nights 
 

1.13 The Hackney Nights scheme delivers a program around the management of licensed 
premises and safety in the night time economy. The scheme is funded entirely by the 
Late Night Levy. 

 
1.14 The Hackney Nights Portal is a first of its kind online tool for licensees, where 

businesses can access guidance and share best practice as well as access a free 
learning management system for nightlife staff, with a variety of both online and in 
person courses.  Licensees can also download posters, plans, policies and be 
signposted to specific areas of interest. It is also home to the Hackney Nights 
accreditation scheme. To sign up, licensees can 
contact  hackneynights@hackney.gov.uk or visit hackneynights.co.uk. 
  
Hackney Nights Venue Accreditation Scheme 

 
1.15 The Hackney Nights Accreditation scheme framework sets a standard for licensed 

premises across the borough by defining criteria across many areas, such as crime 
prevention, safety, sustainability, and promoting inclusivity.  Premises that gain the 
accreditation will benefit from a 30% reduction of the levy. The scheme also aligns 
with the Council’s commitment to ending violence against women and girls ensuring 

Page 631



6 
 

all venues taking part in the accreditation scheme sign up to the Women’s Safety 
Charter and promote Hackney’s ongoing work to protect women and girls. 

 
Sustainable Community Strategy 

 
1.16 Hackney’s Sustainable Community Strategy (the “Strategy”) sets out the Council’s 

overarching vision for Hackney as it grows and changes over the next decade. It 
provides a backdrop for all decision making throughout this period and a focus for 
working in partnership with residents, businesses, the voluntary and community 
sector and statutory agencies. The Strategy builds on what residents have told the 
Council about the challenges and opportunities presented to those who live and work 
in the borough. 

 
1.17 The Strategy will help the Council respond to residents’ experience of living in the 

borough, thinking about how the Council will co-ordinate activity and collaborate with 
partners to think about the whole place, rather than just running individual services. 
This will help put the needs, perspectives and feelings of the whole community at the 
heart of what the Council does through a time of continued change and uncertainty. 

 
1.18 The Strategy will set out the overall aspirations for Hackney in 2028 and then breaks 

this down into five key, crosscutting themes. Under each of the themes is a set of 
commitments the Council is making to move toward Hackney in 2028. The 5 
crosscutting themes are: 
1. A borough where there is a good quality of life and the whole community can 
benefit from growth. 
2. A borough with residents who are ambitious, engaging and want to contribute to 
community life. 
3. A green and environmentally sustainable borough. 
4. An open, cohesive, safer and supportive community. 
5. A borough with healthy, active and independent residents. 

 
Local Plan LP33 

 
1.19 Regard has also been given to the responsibility under the Council’s planning 

regime, in particular  the new borough-wide local plan known as LP33. This will be 
the key strategic planning document which will establish a vision and planning 
policies to direct and guide development in Hackney up to 2033. The plan is critical in 
ensuring that the right amount of development is built in the right place at the right 
time so that the future needs of the borough are met. 

 
1.20 In order to deliver continued growth and regeneration in the Borough, the Council 

must ensure a robust planning framework is in place. Currently there are three key 
documents (Core Strategy, Development Management and Site Allocations local 
plans). LP33 will combine and update these documents into a single clear document, 
helping to support growth and regeneration and provide clarity to our residents. 

  
Community Safety Strategic Assessment 

 
1.21 In devising this Policy, regard has been given to the findings of the Community 

Safety Strategic Assessment, which outlines priorities for reducing crime and 
disorder and tackling drug and alcohol misuse. 

 
  

Page 632



7 
 

Alcohol Strategy 
 
1.22 The Council’s Alcohol Strategy, which will set out the Council’s priorities for reducing 

alcohol related harm over the next three years, has also influenced the development 
of this Policy. The Alcohol Strategy draws the views of residents and partners as well 
as the range of local and national evidence summarised in the Councils Health and 
Wellbeing Profile. 

 
Climate Action Plan 

 
1.23 The Council is developing a climate action plan that sets out the borough’s journey to 

net zero. The plan shows the steps that need to be taken by businesses, 
organisations like the Council, and local residents to help respond to climate change, 
reduce their impact on the planet and secure benefits for local people, like cleaner 
air, greener neighbourhoods and cheaper heating and electricity. 

T 
1.24 The plan sets out five themes that define the borough’s response to the climate 

emergency: 
 

 Adaptation: Ensuring that Hackney is prepared for and resilient to the impacts of 
the climate emergency, protecting our most vulnerable residents. 

 Buildings: Removing gas boilers, adding solar panels and decreasing energy use 
in the borough’s existing buildings by retrofitting and ensuring new buildings 
(where required) are fit for the future. This will help to reduce fuel poverty. 

 Transport: Reducing emissions from the transport network, improving air quality 
and helping residents live active and healthy lifestyle. 

 Consumption: Changing what and how everyone in the borough buys, uses and 
sells, creating a new green economy in Hackney. 

 Environmental quality: Maximising the potential for biodiversity in our green 
spaces, reducing pollution and helping local ecosystems thrive. 

 
1.25 Within each theme are goals and objectives for the borough that will help guide how 

residents, businesses and organisations respond to the climate crisis.  
 
1.26 The Licensing Authority will also contribute to the plan by seeking to discourage the 

use of single use plastics, such as cups/receptacles, cutlery and containers. 
Applicants and licence holders will be guided on using alternative materials where 
possible as well as reusing and recycling where practicable. 

 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
1.27 Hackney Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022 - 2026 was developed jointly with 

people who live and work in the borough. The Strategy aims to improve health in 
Hackney, and reduce health inequalities and identifies three priority areas for action- 
improving mental health, increasing social connection and supporting greater 
financial security. These priorities will require a partnership effort over the next four 
years and the strategy will form part of this work. 

 
Partnership Working  
 
1.28 Whilst it is acknowledged that night-time economy premises contribute to the vitality 

and vibrancy of life in town centres by attracting visitors and investment into the 
Borough, the Council believes they should not unduly detract from the local 
residential amenity. The Council will continue to work in partnership with the Police, 

Page 633



8 
 

local residents, businesses, licensees and community and regulatory agencies 
towards safeguarding the quality of life for residents, and the creation of a safer and 
more pleasant environment for all. 

 
1.29 Partners such as the Metropolitan Police, Environmental Protection, Community 

Safety, the London Fire Brigade, Trading Standards, Public Health and Planning 
Enforcement work together to address the negative impacts of the night-time 
economy when they arise. This joined up approach is demonstrated through regular 
intelligence meetings as well as multi-agency joint enforcement operations. 

 

Children 
 
1.30 The Licensing Authority recognises the Children, Adults and Community Health 

Service as the responsible authority to advise on matters pertaining to the protection 
of children from harm. 

 
1.31 In certain circumstances ,where children will be present at a licensed premises, the 

Council expects responsible adults to be present to control children’s access and to 
ensure their safety. Measures must be taken to protect children from hazards and 
risks such as gambling, drugs or drug taking, entertainment of an adult nature and 
incidents of violence or disorder, as well as preventing underage sales. 

 
1.32 There are a range of alternatives which the Council may consider for limiting the 

access of children which include, but are not limited to:  
● a limit on the hours when children may be present;  
● a limitation or exclusion when certain activities are taking place;  
● the requirement to be accompanied by an adult;  
● limited access to parts of the premises; and  
● excluding persons who are under 18 years from the premises when any 

licensable activities are taking place.  
 
1.33 However, the authority will not seek to limit the access of children to any premises 

unless it is appropriate for the prevention of physical, moral or psychological harm. In 
all other cases it will be left to the discretion of the licensee. 

 
1.34 The Council will expect cinemas to stipulate that children will be restricted from 

viewing age-restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the 
British Board of Film Classification. Similarly, theatre productions should be suitable 
for the audience present, with consideration given in advance to the content and 
nature of the production. 

 
1.35 Where an authorisation for the sale or supply of alcohol is in place, there is a 

requirement for the mandatory condition in relation to age verification to be attached. 
The Council supports the promotion of ‘Challenge 25’ schemes, but also 
recommends additional measures be put in place. For example, regular documented 
staff training, relevant notices to be displayed and the use of a register to record 
refusals of alcohol sales. 

 
1.36 In recent years, incidents of child sexual exploitation (CSE) taking place in licensed 

premises have been of particular concern across the country. Whilst there has been 
no specific intelligence suggesting incidents have taken place in Hackney, the 
Council will work via existing partnerships, including the licensed trade, to ensure that 
any concerns in relation to CSE can be tackled and addressed appropriately. 

 

Page 634



9 
 

Public Health as a Responsible Authority 
 
1.37 Many people enjoy consuming alcohol safely and in moderation. However, the 

increase in harm caused by alcohol misuse is rapid and widespread, both in health 
terms and community safety. Nationally, alcohol-related deaths have doubled since 
1992, a rate unheard of in almost all other illnesses. Among men aged between 15 
and 59, alcohol is the leading risk factor for premature death. Alcohol-related harm is 
not confined to a minority of very heavy drinkers who experience acute problems. 
The greatest harm overall is suffered by the large population of regular drinkers 
whose exposure to alcohol has long-term consequences for their health and 
wellbeing.  

 
1.38 The Local Alcohol Profile for Hackney shows that the Borough has significantly 

higher alcohol-specific hospital admissions for men than the national and London 
average. Evidence also demonstrates that alcohol also drives inequalities: people 
from more deprived groups suffer far greater harm from alcohol than people in higher 
socio-economic groups.  The consumption of alcohol by children and young people 
can negatively impact on their health as well as other aspects of their lives, such as 
educational attainment and future employability.  Alcohol is often a significant 
contributor to the local levels of hospital admissions, injury and domestic violence. 

 
The Licensing Authority as a responsible authority 
 
1.39 The Act enables the Licensing Authority to act a responsible authority in its own right. 

These powers have been delegated to officers within the Council’s Licensing Service. 
Officers may choose to intervene where they consider it appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives without having to wait for representations from 
other responsible authorities. For example, where an application is in a cumulative 
impact area and officers have concerns about additional harm, they may make a 
representations to that effect. Also, where an application is received in respect of a 
premises which has a history of complaints which mean that additional activity may 
undermine the licensing objectives. 
 

1.40 The Licensing Service has taken steps to achieve a line of separation between those 
officers processing applications and those making representations. The officer 
presenting any application to a Licensing Sub-Committee will also be different from 
the officer acting as the responsible authority.   

Page 635



10 
 

 
SECTION 2 – SPECIFIC POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
2.1 The Policy does not prevent an applicant’s right to apply under the Act for a variety of 

permissions; nor does it override the right of any person to make representations on 
an application, or seek a review of a licence or certificate. 

 
2.2 The Council cannot reject an application for a licence or certificate, or impose 

conditions, unless relevant representations have been made. This also applies to 
premises in a Special Policy Area.   

 
2.3 The measures to be taken should be proportionate to the level of risk; for example, a 

busy town centre nightclub will be expected to take far more precautions than a small 
local restaurant. 

 
2.4 Where insufficient detail is provided in the application to satisfy responsible 

authorities and other persons, this is likely to lead to representations being made. 
 
2.5 The Act requires certain mandatory conditions to be attached to licences. The 

mandatory conditions override any pre-existing conditions and do not have to be 
specifically included on licences authorising the sale of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises. These are appended to this document. 

 
2.6 The Council must be satisfied that it is appropriate to attach conditions, other than 

those volunteered under the operating schedule or by mandatory conditions where its 
discretion has been triggered by a representation.  

 
2.7 The Council will not implement standard conditions and will as far as possible avoid 

the attachment of conditions that duplicate other regulatory regimes. 
 
2.8 Where appropriate, the Council will attach individual and tailored conditions on an 

authorisation that are reasonable, proportionate, and yet not over-burdensome. 
These must be robust enough to promote the licensing objectives and will be related 
only to those matters under the direct control of the licence holder. 

 
2.9 Applicants, responsible authorities and the Licensing Authority when preparing or 

considering applications, should refer to the Pool of Conditions which is appended to 
this document. This will assist in demonstrating or establishing that the operation of 
any authorisation will not undermine the licensing objectives. 

 
2.10 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance and 

anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed premises 
and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or business holding 
the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned. Nonetheless, it is a key aspect of 
such control and licensing law will always be part of a holistic approach to the 
management of the evening and night-time economy in town and city centres. 

 
2.11 The Pool of Conditions and any other relevant appendices contained within the policy 

will be updated, as appropriate, to assist anyone involved in the application process. 
The date of any update will be indicated on each relevant appendix.    

 
 
   

Page 636



11 
 

General Principles 
 
2.12 The general principles will normally be applied in each case where the Council is 

considering an application for a premises licence, club premises certificate, variations 
to those or a provisional statement. 

 
2.13 The Council will, where possible, seek to encourage a range of diverse activities 

within the evening and night time economy and a broad range of entertainment 
provision for enjoyment by a wide cross-section of the public. Applications for 
activities where alcohol consumption is not the primary feature will generally be 
welcomed, so as to broaden the appeal to a wider range of consumers.  

 
2.14 Applicants should note that operating schedules that are lacking in detail are more 

likely to be refused, have hours restricted, or have conditions attached to them by the 
Licensing Authority or by Responsible Authorities.  

 
2.15 The Council will not consider the issue of “need” in determining any licence 

application, as this is a matter for planning control and the market. Therefore, the 
Council will not seek to impose quotas of premises, licences or certificates.  

 
LP1 General Principles   

 The Council expects applicants to demonstrate: 

 (a) That they have an understanding of the nature of the locality in which the 
premises are located and that this is has been taken into consideration 
whilst preparing the operating schedule. 

 (b) Where the application is for evening and night-time activity, that the 
proposal reflects the Council’s aspiration to diversify the offer, whilst at the 
same time promoting the licensing objectives.  

 
Licensing Objectives 
 
2.16 Each of the licensing objectives are of equal importance and therefore each needs to 

be considered with equal weight. 
 
2.17 The Council expects applicants to risk assess their proposals and put forward 

measures aimed at promoting the licensing objectives. 
 
 LP2 Licensing Objectives 

 
Prevention of Crime and Disorder 
Whether the proposal includes satisfactory measures to mitigate any risk of the 
proposed operation making an unacceptable contribution to levels of crime and 
disorder in the locality. 
 
Public Safety 
Whether the necessary and satisfactory risk assessments have been undertaken, 
the management procedures put in place and the relevant certification produced to 
demonstrate that the public will be kept safe both within and in close proximity to 
the premises. 
 
 

Page 637



12 
 

 
Prevention of Public Nuisance 
Whether the applicant has addressed the potential for nuisance arising from the 
characteristics and style of the proposed activity and identified the appropriate 
steps to reduce the risk of public nuisance occurring. 
 
 
Protection of Children form Harm 
Whether the applicant has identified and addressed any risks with the aim of 
protecting children from harm when on the premises or in close proximity to the 
premises.  
 

 
Core Licensing Hours 
 
2.18 The Council supports the principle of flexibility in its approach to licensing hours and 

will consider the merits of each individual application. The hours for licensable activity 
will always reflect the individual merits of the application any relevant representations 
received as well as the requirement to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
2.19 However the Council is also mindful that the Borough is amongst the most densely 

populated in London with large numbers of residential premises often close to areas 
of commercial activity as well as other mixed-use neighbourhoods. The Council will 
therefore take an approach to licensing hours that seeks to balance the needs of the 
licensed trade whilst protecting residential amenity in order to promote the licensing 
objectives. 
 

2.20 The Core Hours have been designed to be generally aligned with hours of activity 
that have been deregulated by other legislative measures, such as the Live Music 
Act 2012 and the Deregulation Act 2015. The hours are also based on the Council’s 
own experience since the commencement of the Act as activities during these time 
are generally considered to be acceptable. 

 
2.21 If a request is made for later hours on the basis the premises is operating as a 

restaurant, for example, the Council expects this to be that of a genuine restaurant 
with alcohol being ancillary to a full table meal with seated waiter/waitress table 
service. It is expected that the premises will have a dedicated floor space for a 
kitchen and food preparation. 

 
2.22 However, it should be noted that some activity and any associated hours may be 

deemed inappropriate in certain circumstances and in certain areas of the borough 
as nuisance to residents is more likely to occur at night and in the early hours of the 
morning. 

 
LP3 Core Hours 

 
Hours for licensable activity will generally be authorised, subject to demonstrating 
LP1 and LP2,  as follows: 
 
● Monday to Thursday 08:00 to 23:00 
● Friday and Saturday 08:00 to 00:00 
● Sunday 10:00 to 22:30 
 
Hours may be more restrictive dependent on the character of the area and if the 
individual circumstances require it. 

Page 638



13 
 

 
Later hours may be considered where the applicant has identified any risk that may 
undermine the promotion of the licensing objectives and has put in place robust 
measures to mitigate those risks. 
 
It should be noted that this policy does not apply to those who are making an 
application within a special policy area (see section 3) unless they have been able 
to demonstrate that the proposed activity or operation of the premises will not add to 
the cumulative impact that is already being experienced. 
 
It should also be noted that where a premises is not in possession of planning 
permission for the proposed activity and/or hours may be further restricted during 
weekdays and not permitted at all at weekends. 
 

 
Alcohol sales for consumption off the premises 
 
2.23 Evidence from the Police and Public Health suggests that the availability of alcohol 

from premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises has had a 
negative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
2.24 There are particular concerns that alcohol sales of this nature are more likely to lead 

to incidents of anti-social behaviour, such as street drinking and pre-loading. 
 
2.25 A study commission by the Council showed that the Borough appears to have a large 

number of convenience stores/supermarkets that are licensed to sell alcohol until the 
early hours of the morning. Many of these are located in and amongst the 
entertainment/food and drink premises. 

 
2.26 The study also found that patrons have access to relatively cheap off-sales alcohol 

from local stores to supplement the alcohol purchased and consumed in the ‘on-
trade’. 

 
LP4 
 

‘Off’ Sales of Alcohol 
 
Hours for the supply of alcohol will generally be restricted to between 08:00 and 
23:00. 
 

 
Planning Status 
 
2.27 The Council recognises that the licensing process should not be seen as a re-run of 

any planning process and that there should be separation between the planning and 
licensing regimes to avoid duplication and inefficiency.  

 
2.28 Applicants for a premises licence need to be aware that the granting of a licence 

under the Act does not negate the need to obtain planning permission. Premises 
operating in breach of planning permission may be liable to prosecution or other 
enforcement measures under planning law. Applicants are therefore recommended 
to obtain the correct planning use for the type of premises they seek to operate.  

 
2.29 There will be circumstances when as a condition of planning permission, a terminal 

hour has been set for the use of premises. Where these hours differ from the hours 
authorised under Licensing, the operator will need to abide by the earlier closing 
time.  

Page 639



14 
 

 
LP5 Planning Status 

 Licence applications should normally be from premises where: 

 (a) The activity to be authorised by the licence is a lawful planning use or is a 
deemed permitted development pursuant to the General Permitted 
Development Order (1995) as amended. 

 (b) The hours sought do not exceed those authorised by any planning 
permission. 

 The Licensing Authority may take into account the lack of planning permission or 
an established lawful use in deciding whether there is likely to be any harm to the 
licensing objectives. 

 
External Areas and Outdoor Events 
 
2.30 The Council is aware of the popularity of external areas and outdoor events. These 

include beer gardens, terraces, rooftops, street parties, events in car parks and 
industrial yards pop-ups or activity on private land awaiting development. These 
activities can further add to Hackney’s rich cultural heritage, diversity and help bring 
communities together. 

 
2.31 As a response to the Coronavirus pandemic, the Licensing Authority has experienced 

further demand for the use of outside space as encouraged by Government under 
the Business and Planning Act 2020 provisions. This further highlights the need to 
strike a balance between allowing businesses to thrive whilst protecting residents 
from being disturbed by activity being carried on outdoors.   

 
2.32 Hackney Council already holds premises licences which authorise regulated 

entertainment in several of its parks and open spaces. These licences have been 
granted with control measures attached, including limited hours of activity, restricted 
numbers of events annually and other steps appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. These are further supported by the work of the Hackney Events 
Office where the events take place on Hackney owned or operated land. 

 
2.33 However, by their very nature, outdoor activity can often be the source of nuisance 

as a result of noise and disturbance. The Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
and/or premises users to have assessed the impact that any proposed external areas 
or outdoor  activity may have on any of the licensing objectives and identify the 
measures they will put in place to mitigate this impact. 

 
LP6 External Areas and Outdoor Events 

 The Licensing Authority will normally restrict external areas and outdoor activity to 
between 08:00 and 22:00 unless the applicant can demonstrate that 
comprehensive control measures have been implemented that ensure the 
promotion of the licensing objectives, in particular the public nuisance objective. 
Notwithstanding any proposed control measures, the Licensing Authority may 
restrict the hours and/or activity even further.  

 

Page 640



15 
 

Minor Variations 
 
2.34 The minor variations process allows applicants to benefit from a simplified variation 

process. An application for a minor variation requires a white coloured site notice to 
be displayed on the premises and there is also no requirement to consult with 
responsible authorities.  

 
2.35 For an application to be considered under this simplified process, the Council must 

be of the opinion that the variation(s) does not adversely impact on the licensing 
objectives.  

 
LP7 
 

Minor Variations 
 
The Council expects applications to be made in the following circumstances only: 
 
● Small changes in the layout/structure of the premises. 
● The addition of voluntary/agreed conditions. 
● Removal of conditions that are dated and have no impact on the operation of 

the premises. 
● Reduction of hours for any licensable activity. 
 

 
Temporary event notices (TENs) 
 
2.36 Temporary events notices are a light-touch method by which licensable activities can 

be authorised to take place without the need for a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. Advance notice must be given to the Metropolitan Police, Environmental 
Protection and the Licensing Authority. 

 
2.37 The Police and Environmental Protection are the only parties that can object to a 

TEN. Whilst both parties are able to object on the grounds of any of the licensing 
objectives, the Police will tend to focus on matters in relation to crime and disorder. 
The Environmental Protection service will be minded to object where there is a risk to 
the prevention of public nuisance objective. 

 
2.38 The role of the Licensing Authority is to ensure that the statutory limits for the giving 

of TENs in a calendar year by an individual and the restriction of the number of TENs 
in respect of a particular premises are not exceeded. The Police and Council remain 
the enforcement authorities and may monitor any event. Details on the numbers of 
TENs that can be given in respect of premises, individuals and calendar years can be 
found on the Council’s website. 

 
2.39 The Licensing Authority encourages premises users to provide advance notice of 

events and as early as possible prior to the start date of the activity. 

LP8 Temporary Event Notices 

 When considering an objection to a TEN the Council will: 
● Expect that any existing conditions will be maintained (where relevant) in 

circumstances where an event is to take place at a premises that has an 
existing authorisation. 

● Assess any history of complaints as a result of licensable activity that may or 
may not have been authorised by a TEN. 

● Consider the track record of the premises user. 
● Consider any other control measures proposed to mitigate the objection. 

Page 641



16 
 

Personal licences 
 
2.40 The supply of alcohol under a premises licence must be made by, or authorised by, a 

person who holds a personal licence. The Act requires any sale made when the 
personal licence holder is not present to have been authorised by a personal licence 
holder.  

 
2.41 Where an applicant has been convicted of a relevant offence, foreign offence, 

immigration offence or has been required to pay an immigration penalty, the Police 
will be provided with a copy of the application. If the Police object to the grant of the 
licence, the matter will be referred to a Licensing Sub-Committee for determination. 

 
LP9 Personal Licences 

 (a) The Council will consider whether a refusal of the licence is appropriate for 
the promotion of the crime prevention objective and will consider the: 
 

  (i) Seriousness and relevance of any conviction(s). 

  (ii) The period that has elapsed since committing the offence(s). 

  (iii) Any mitigating circumstances that assist in demonstrating that the 
crime prevention objective will not be undermined. 
 

 
   

Page 642



17 
 

SECTION 3 – Cumulative Impact and Special Policies 
 
3.1 The Council recognises that in areas where the number, type and density of 

premises selling alcohol are high or exceptional, serious problems of nuisance and 
disorder may be arising or have begun to arise outside or some distance from the 
licensed premises. 

 
3.2 In some parts of the Borough, there are valid concerns about the impact on the 

physical environment, the safety of visitors and residents, and the environmental 
disturbance to residents arising from the number, type and density of licensed 
premises is leading to a negative impact on the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
3.3 There are also parts of the Borough where there is some density of premises and/or 

evidence of growth that needs to be managed so as to ensure that these areas do 
not reach a point of saturation. 

 
3.4 Guidance under the Act sets out that the cumulative impact of licensed premises on 

the promotion of the licensing objectives is a proper matter for a licensing authority to 
consider within its licensing policy and that local authorities may as a consequence 
adopt cumulative policies. There should always be an evidential basis for a decision 
to include a cumulative impact policy within the statement of licensing policy.  

 
3.5 In summary, the steps to be followed in considering whether to adopt a cumulative 

impact policy within the borough are:  
 

● Identification of concern about crime and disorder or public nuisance or protection 
of children from harm. 

● Consideration of whether there is good evidence that crime and disorder or 
nuisance are occurring; or whether there are activities which pose a threat to 
public safety or the protection of children from harm. 

● If such problems are occurring, identify whether these problems are being caused 
by customers of licensed premises, or that the risk of cumulative impact is 
imminent. 

● Identifying the boundaries of the area where problems are occurring (this can 
involve mapping where the problems occur and identifying specific streets or 
localities where such problems arise.  

● Consultation with those individuals or groups specified within section 5(3) of the 
Act and subject to the outcome of the consultation, include and publish details of 
the special policy in the licensing policy statement.  

 
The Licensing Authority considers there to be two types of cumulative impact area; 
Special Policy Areas and Special Consideration Areas. 

 
Special Policy Areas 
 
3.6 A Special Policy Area (‘SPA’), creates a rebuttable presumption where applications 

for new premises licences and club premises certificates or variations of these 
authorisations will be refused unless the applicant can demonstrate in their operating 
schedule that there will be no negative cumulative impact on one or more of the 
licensing objectives in order to rebut any such presumption. 

 
3.7 Applicants are advised to give consideration to potential cumulative impact issues 

when setting out the steps they will take to promote the licensing objectives as well 
as showing how they will mitigate any potential negative harms in their application.  

 

Page 643



18 
 

3.8 The presence of a Special Policy Area does not relieve responsible authorities or 
other persons of the need to make a relevant representation. This can be done by 
simply referring to the information which had been before the licensing authority 
when it developed its Policy, before a licensing authority may lawfully consider giving 
effect to its special policy. If there are no representations, the licensing authority must 
grant the application in terms that are consistent with the operating schedule 
submitted. 

 
3.9 It should be noted that special policies are not absolute. The individual circumstances 

of each application will be considered on its merits. The Council will grant 
applications where the applicant has demonstrated that the operation of the premises 
is unlikely to add to the cumulative impact that is already being experienced in the 
area.  

 
LP10 Special Policy Areas 

 It is the Council’s policy to refuse applications where a relevant representation 
is made to any application within a Special Policy Area unless the applicant can 
demonstrate that the proposed activity will not add to the cumulative impact 
being experienced in these areas. This policy is to be strictly applied. 

It should also be noted that the; 

• quality and track record of the management;  

• good character of the applicant; and 

• extent of any variation sought 

May not be in itself sufficient. 

It should be noted that if an applicant can demonstrate that they will not add to 
the cumulative impact in their operating schedule and at any hearing, then the 
Core Hours Policy within LP3 will apply.  

 
Special Consideration Areas 
 
3.10 A Special Consideration Area will require an applicant for a premises licence, club 

premises certificate or variation of these authorisations to demonstrate that they have 
an understanding of the issues and concerns arising from cumulative impact in 
defined area as identified in a Cumulative Impact Assessment and include measures 
within their operating schedule to mitigate those issues and concerns. 

 
3.11 The existence of a Special Consideration Area does not relieve responsible 

authorities or other persons of the need to make a relevant representation. If there 
are no representations, the licensing authority must grant the application in terms that 
are consistent with the operating schedule submitted. 

 
3.12 It should be noted that special policies are not absolute. The individual circumstances 

of each application will be considered on its merits. The Council will grant 
applications where the applicant has demonstrated that the operation of the premises 
is unlikely to add to the cumulative impact that is already being experienced in the 
area.  

  

Page 644



19 
 

 
LP11 
 

Special Consideration Areas 

 Where an application is made within a Special Consideration area, the applicant 
is expected to demonstrate an understanding of the issues and concerns arising 
from a Cumulative Impact Assessment and address these matters in their 
operating schedule. 
 

 
Cumulative Impact – General 
 
3.13 The Council also notes the advice in the Guidance that the absence of a special 

policy does not prevent representations being made in relation to negative 
cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives. However, if a 
representation is to be made with regards to negative cumulative impact, the Council 
expects suitable and relevant evidence (statistical or otherwise) to be provided to 
demonstrate the licensing objectives are already being undermined due to negative 
cumulative impact. 

 
LP12 
 

Cumulative Impact – General 

 The Council will give due regard to any relevant representations received where 
concerns are raised and supported around the negative cumulative impact the 
proposed application has on one or more of the licensing objectives. 
 

 
   

Page 645



20 
 

SECTION 4 – OPERATIONAL ASPECTS 
 
Deregulation of Entertainment 
 
4.1 The Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 and Deregulation Act 

2015 deregulated some of the licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003 in 
addition to the deregulation created by the Live Music Act 2012. 

 
Some of the activities which may no longer require authorisation are: 
● exhibitions of films where they are incidental to another activity which is exempt 

from licensing, 
● ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibitions between 08:00 and 23:00 on any day held in 

community premises provided that the audience size is no more than 500 and the 
organiser gets consent from the person who is responsible for the premises and 
ensures that age classification ratings are complied with, 

● a performance of amplified live music or playing of recorded music between 
08:00 and 23:00 on any day on premises authorised to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises provided that the audience size is no more than 
500, 

● a performance of amplified live music or playing of recorded music between 
08:00 and 23:00 on any day in a church hall, community hall, or other similar 
community premises, that is not licensed to sell alcohol, provided that the 
audience size is no more than 500 and the organiser gets consent from the 
person responsible for the premises, 

● a performance of amplified live music or playing of recorded music between 
08:00 and 23:00 on any day at the non-residential premises of a local authority, a 
school or a hospital provided that the audience size is no more than 500 and the 
organiser gets consent from the local authority or the school or the health care 
provider for the hospital. 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
4.1 The Council must have regard to its public sector equality duty under the Equalities 

Act 2010.  In summary a Public Authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have 
due regard to the need to:  
 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under this Act.  
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it.  
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic 
 
4.2 The Licensing Authority will use the licensing process to promote and encourage 

equality and inclusivity whilst maintaining its aim to diversify the night time economy 
where possible. 

 
Immigration Matters 
 
4.3 The commencement of the Immigration Act 2016 made it a requirement for licensing 

authorities to be satisfied that an applicant has the right to work in the UK. An 
application made by someone who is not entitled to work in the UK must be rejected. 

 

Page 646



21 
 

4.4 Licences must not be issued to people who are illegally present in the UK, who are 
not permitted to work, or who are permitted to work but are subject to a condition that 
prohibits them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. 

 
4.5 A premises or personal licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 

April 2017 will lapse if the holder’s permission to live or work in the UK comes to an 
end. 

 
Late Night Levy 
 
4.6 The Late Night Levy (“the levy”) is a discretionary power enabling licensing 

authorities to charge an additional fee to persons who are licensed to sell or supply 
alcohol late at night as a means of raising a contribution towards the costs of policing 
the night-time economy. Any net revenue from the levy must be split between the 
licensing authority and the Police, with at least 70% of the ‘net’ levy paid to the 
Police. 

 
4.7 The legislative provisions relating to the levy are not part of the Licensing Act 2003 

but are contained in Sections 125 to 139 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011. The provisions came into force on 31 October 2012. 

 
4.8 Hackney Council consulted on the introduction of the levy in February 2017 and on 

26 July 2017, the Council decided that the levy would be introduced from 1 
November 2017 for premises authorised to sell or supply alcohol between the hours 
of 00:01 and 06:00 on one or more days of the year. 

 
 The Hackney Nights scheme is entirely funded by the Late Night Levy in Hackney. 

Further detail on this can be found in Paragraph xx 
 
Sexual Entertainment 
 
4.9 On 21 July 2010 the Council resolved to adopt Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by Section 27 of the Policing and 
Crime Act 2009. This applies to the area of the London Borough of Hackney and 
came into force on 15 September 2010. 

 
4.10 Any person wishing to operate a sex establishment (sex shop, sexual entertainment 

venue or sex cinema) will require a sex establishment licence.  
 
4.11 The Council has previously determined that the number of sexual establishments in 

Hackney should be nil in each ward, meaning that no licences will be issued. An 
exception was provided for “established operators” who operator a long-standing, 
well-run sex establishment which has not generated significant levels of concern 
among the community or statutory authorities.  

 
4.12 Please refer to the Council’s separate policy in regards to Sex Establishments which 

is available from the Licensing Service. 
 
Enforcement 
 
4.13 The Council is an enforcement authority for the purpose of exercising many of its 

statutory and regulatory functions.  Hackney aims to offer a graduated approach to 
enforcement. 

 

Page 647



22 
 

4.14 The Council has developed an Enforcement Policy across all environmental 
enforcement functions, including licensing.  It seeks to provide a corporate regulatory 
framework that identifies the key principles and factors for enforcement action. It 
develops partnership working both within the Council and with external agencies. 

 
4.15 The Council will also inspect premises using a targeted risk based approach. For 

example, inspections should not always be undertaken routinely but when and if they 
are judged necessary. This is to ensure that resources are used efficiently and can 
be effectively concentrated on premises most likely to lead to problems. 

 
Reviews of licences and certificates 
 
4.16 Responsible authorities and other persons can apply to the Council to review a 

premises licence where problems are arising at the premises in relation to any of the 
licensing objectives.  

 
4.17 A review can be applied for at any stage following the grant of a premises licence or 

club premises certificate. In every case, an evidential basis for the allegations made 
will need to be submitted to the Council.  However, in the first instance, the Council is 
required to consider whether the representation made is irrelevant to the licensing 
objectives, or is frivolous, vexatious or repetitious.  The Guidance recommends that 
more than one review on similar grounds originating from other persons should not 
be permitted within a twelve month period, except in exceptional or compelling 
circumstances, or where it arises following a closure order. 

 
4.18 In addition, a review will normally follow; 
 

a) Any action by the Police to close down the premises for up to 24 hours on grounds 
of disorder, or noise nuisance, and 

b) Any formal enforcement action by the Council, or 
c) Any action taken by the Immigration authority. 

 
4.19 The Licensing Authority can exercise a range of powers when dealing with a review 

(see guidance notes). In cases where the crime prevention objective is being 
seriously undermined it is expected that revocation of the premises licence, even in 
the first instance, will be seriously considered. 

 
Summary Reviews  
 
4.20 Where a licensed premises is considered to be associated with serious crime or 

serious disorder or both, the Police can apply for a summary, or expedited, review of 
the premises licence. Within 48 hours of receipt of that application the Council must 
consider whether it is appropriate to take interim steps pending the determination of a 
review of the premises licence. Within 28 days after the day of its receipt, a full 
review hearing must be held.  

 
4.21 Interim steps can include:  

● the modification of the conditions of the premises licence,  
● the exclusion of the sale of alcohol by retail from the scope of the licence,  
● the removal of the designated premises supervisor from the licence; and/or  
● the suspension of the licence.  

 
4.22 If the holder of the premises licence makes, and does not withdraw, representations 

against any interim steps taken by the Council, it must, within 48 hours of the time of 
its receipt of the representations, hold a hearing to consider those representations. 

Page 648



23 
 

Wholesale of alcohol 

4.23 The sale of alcohol in wholesale quantities to the public is a licensable activity under 
the Act. A premises licence and a designated premises supervisor who holds a 
personal licence are required for such transactions to take place lawfully.  

 
Internet and mail order sales 
 
4.24 A premises licence will be required for a warehouse or storage facility for alcohol. 

However the call centre where the order was placed would not require authorisation. 
The Council expects that the application will include procedures for ensuring that 
sales of alcohol are not made by or delivered to persons under 18 years of age. 

 
Early Morning Restrictions Orders 
 
4.25 Early Morning Restrictions Orders (“EMROs”) are a discretionary power enabling 

licensing authorities to restrict sales of alcohol with the aim of tackling high levels of 
alcohol related crime and disorder, nuisance and anti-social behaviour. The EMRO 
may be applied to the whole or part of the licensing authority area and, if relevant, on 
specific days and at specific times. A statutory process must be undertaken before it 
is introduced, and the licensing authority must be satisfied that such an order would 
be appropriate to promote the licensing objectives. 

 
Administration, Exercise and Delegations of Functions 
 
4.26 One of the major principles underlying the Act is that the licensing functions should 

be delegated to an appropriate level so as to ensure efficient determination of 
applications. The Council has arranged for its licensing functions to be discharged in 
accordance with the Act and the Guidance. Where a function is delegated to an 
officer, they will be responsible for determining the matter without the need for it to go 
before a Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
4.27 Where a matter is referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee, it will determine each 

case on its individual merits whilst taking into consideration the Act, the Guidance, 
the Policy and any evidence presented by the parties concerned in support of their 
cases. 

 
4.28 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation of functions under the Act has been appended 

to this document.  
 
   

Page 649



24 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A: Mandatory Conditions 
 
Supply of Alcohol 

1. No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence:  
 
(a) At a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the 

premises licence. 

(b) At a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal 
licence or his personal licence is suspended.  

2. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a 
person who holds a personal licence.  

 
3. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry 
out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises.  

 

(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the 
following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of 
encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises -  

(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require 
or encourage, individuals to;  

(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or 
supplied on the  premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible 
person is authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 

(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise);  

(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or 
discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;  

(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage 
or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less 
in a manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;  

(d) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or 
in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, 
encourage or glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness 
in any favourable manner.  

(e)  dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than 
where that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of a 
disability).  

3. The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 
customers where it is reasonably available.  

 

Page 650



25 
 

4. 5.1.  The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that 
an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sales 
or supply of alcohol.  
5.2 The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licences must 
ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the 
age verification policy. 

5.3. The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be 
under 18 years if age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce 
on request, before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date 
of birth and either:- 

A. a holographic mark or 
B. an ultraviolet feature.  

 
5. The responsible person shall ensure that: 

a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on 
the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in 
advance ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to 
customers in the following measures:  

• beer or cider:1/2 pint; 

• gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 35ml; and 

• still wine in a glass: 125ml; and  

a. these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material 
which is available to customers on the premises; and  

b. where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the 
quantity  of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that these 
measures are available. 

 

Minimum Drinks Pricing 

6. 7.1 A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption 
on or off the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.  
7.2  For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 7.1 above - 

(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979;  

(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula - P = D+(DxV)  

Where - 

(i)P is the permitted price, 

(ii)D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were 
charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 

(iii)V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value 
added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol;  

(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a premises licence - 

(i) the holder of the premises licence, 

Page 651



26 
 

(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or 

(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under 
such a licence;  

(d)  “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in 
force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the 
premises in a capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in 
question; and  

(e) “value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value 
Added Tax Act 1994.  

7.3 Where the permitted price given by Paragraph 8.2(b) above would (apart from 
this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-
paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually given by that sub-paragraph 
rounded up to the nearest penny.  

7.4 (1) Sub-paragraph 7.4(2) below applies where the permitted price given by 
Paragraph 7.2(b) above on a day (“the first day”) would be different from the 
permitted price on the next day (“the second day”) as a result of a change to the rate 
of duty or value added tax.  

(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies 
of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on 
the second day.  

Door supervision 

 (1) Where a premises licence includes a condition that at specified times one or 
more individuals must be at the premises to carry out a security activity the 
licence must include a condition that each such individual must be licensed by 
the Security Industry Authority. 

 (2) But nothing in subsection (1) requires such a condition to be imposed – 

  (a) in respect of premises within paragraph 8(3)(a) of Schedule 2 to the 
Private Security Industry Act 2001 (c.12) (premises with premises 
licences authorising plays or films), or 

  (b) In respect of premises in relation to –  

   (i) any occasion mentioned in paragraph 8(3)(b) or (c) of that 
Schedule (premises being used exclusively by club with club 
premises certificate, under a temporary event notice authorising 
plays or films or under a gaming licence), or 

   (ii) any occasion within paragraph 8(3) (d) of that Schedule (occasions 
prescribed by regulations under that Act). 

 (3) For the purposes of this section - 

  (a) "security activity" means an activity to which paragraph 2(1)(a) of that 
Schedule applies, and 

  (b) paragraph 8(5) of that Schedule (interpretation of references to an 
occasion) applies as it applies in relation to paragraph 8 of that 

Page 652



27 
 

Schedule. 

 

 
 
Exhibition of Films 
 
Admission of children (under 18) to the exhibition of any film must be restricted in 
accordance with: - 
 
(a) Recommendations made by the film classification body where the film classification 

body is specified in the licence, or  
 
(b) Recommendations made by the licensing authority where the film classification body 

is not specified in the licence, or the relevant licensing authority has not notified the 
holder of the licence that this subsection applies to the film in question.  

 
"film classification body" means person('s) designated under s4 of the Video Recordings Act 
1984(c.39).  
   

Page 653



28 
 

Club Premises Certificates 

Certificate authorising supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises 

 (1) A club premises certificate may not authorise the supply of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises unless it also authorises the supply of alcohol to 
a member of the club for consumption on those premises. 

 (2) A club premises certificate that authorises the supply of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises must include the following conditions. 

  (i) The first condition is that the supply must be made at a time when the 
premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol, in accordance 
with the club premises certificate, to members of the club for 
consumption on the premises. 

  (ii) The second condition is that any alcohol supplied for consumption off 
the premises must be in a sealed container. 

  (iii) The third condition is that any supply of alcohol for consumption off the 
premises must be made to a member of the club in person. 

Mandatory condition: exhibition of films 

 (1) Where a club premises certificate authorises the exhibition of films the 
certificate must include a condition requiring the admission of children to the 
exhibition of any film to be restricted in accordance with this section. 

 (2) Where the film classification body is specified in the certificate, unless 
subsection (3) (b) applies, admission of children must be restricted in 
accordance with any recommendation made by that body. 

 (3) Where -  

  (a) the film classification body is not specified in the certificate, or 

  (b) the relevant licensing authority has notified the club which holds the 
certificate that this subsection applies to the film in question, admission 
of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation 
made by that licensing authority. 

 (4) In this section -  
"children" means persons aged under 18; and 

"film classification body" means the person or persons designated as the 
authority under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 (c.39) (authority to 
determine suitability of video works for classification). 

   

Page 654



29 
 

Appendix B: Pool of Conditions 
 
This pool of conditions has been provided to help applicants applying for a new premises 
licence or club premises certificate or to vary an existing licence to prepare their operating 
schedule ensure that when licensable activities are taking place the four licensing objectives 
are promoted. 
 
This is not an exclusive or exhaustive list. It does not restrict any applicant, responsible 
authority, or other person from proposing any alternative conditions, nor would it restrict a 
licensing sub-committee from imposing any reasonable condition on a licence that it 
considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
Alcohol 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

A1 No beer, lagers or ciders exceeding 6.5% alcohol by 
volume (ABV) shall be sold or supplied at the premises. 

▬    

A2 No single cans or bottles of beer, lager or cider shall be 
sold or supplied at the premises. 

▬    

A3 No “miniature” bottles of spirits of 50ml or less shall be 
sold or supplied at the premises. 

▬    

A4 Alcohol shall not be sold, supplied, or consumed on the 
premises otherwise than to persons who are taking 
substantial table meals and that the consumption of 
alcohol by such persons is ancillary to taking such meals. 
The supply of alcohol shall be by waiter or waitress 
service only. 

▬    

A5 Consumption of alcohol in the bar area is restricted to 
customers waiting to be escorted to a table. 

▬    

A6 Numbers of patrons in the bar area (not awaiting tables) 
shall not exceed [Insert] persons. 

 
▬ 

   

A7 Any alcohol sold or supplied [for consumption off the 
premises] must be in a sealed container. 

▬  ▬  

A8 Any sales of alcohol shall be charged at no less than 
£0.50 per unit of alcohol.  The licence holder will prepare 
a price list calculating the units for each available 
produce, which shall be made available to the Police or 
Licensing Enforcement on request. 

 
▬ 

  
▬ 

 

 
Building Management 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

B1 The maximum number of persons (including staff and 
entertainers) allowed at the 
premises shall not exceed [number], subject to the 
following maximum occupancies: 
For example: 
[First Floor] [number] persons 
[Ground Floor] [number] persons 
[Basement] [number] persons 

 ▬   

B2 The maximum number of persons (including staff and 
entertainers) allowed at the 
premises shall not exceed [number] 

  
▬ 

  

Page 655



30 
 

B3 Sanitary accommodation shall be provided in accordance 
with BS 6465-1:2006+A1:2009 Sanitary installations - 
Code of practice for the design of sanitary facilities and 
scales of provision of sanitary and associated appliances 
standard for sanitary provisions or any British Standard 
replacing or amending the same. 

▬  ▬  

B4 The edges of the treads of steps and stairways shall be 
maintained so as to be clearly visible. 

 ▬   

B5 All external emergency exit doors shall be fitted with 
sensor alarms and visible indicators to alert staff when 
the doors have been opened. 

 ▬   

B6 The approved arrangements at the premises, including 
means of escape provisions, emergency warning 
equipment, the electrical installation and mechanical 
equipment, shall at all material times be maintained in 
good condition and full working order. 

 ▬   

B7 The means of escape provided for the premises shall be 
maintained unobstructed, free of trip hazards, be 
immediately available and clearly identified in accordance 
with the plans provided. 

 ▬   

B8 All emergency exit doors shall be available at all material 
times without the use of a key, code, card or similar 
means. 

 ▬   

B9 All emergency doors shall be maintained effectively self-
closing and not held open other than by an approved 
device. 

 ▬   

B10 The certificates listed below shall be submitted to the 
Licensing Authority upon written request: 
● Any permanent or temporary emergency lighting 

battery or system 
● Any permanent or temporary electrical installation 
● Any permanent or temporary emergency warning 

system 

 ▬   

 
CCTV 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

C1 The licensee shall install and maintain a comprehensive 
CCTV system as per the minimum requirements of a 
Metropolitan Police Crime Prevention Officer. All entry 
and exit points will be covered enabling frontal 
identification of every person entering in any light 
condition. The CCTV system shall as a minimum 
continually record whilst the premises is open for 
licensable activities and during all times when customers 
remain on the premises. All recordings shall be stored for 
a minimum period of 31 days with date and time 
stamping. Recordings shall be provided immediately 
upon the request of Police or authorised officer 
throughout the preceding 31 day period. 

▬ ▬ ▬  

C2 No less than one member of staff who is able to operate 
the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times. 

▬ ▬   

Page 656



31 
 

C3 The licence holder shall ensure that any queue to enter 
the premises which forms outside the premises is orderly 
and supervised by door staff. 

▬  ▬  

C4 An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made 
available on request to an authorised officer of the 
Council or the Police, which will as a minimum record the 
following: 
 
(a) all crimes reported to the venue 
(b) all ejections of patrons 
(c) any complaints received 
(d) any incidents of disorder 
(e) seizures of drugs or offensive weapons 
(f) any faults in the CCTV system or searching equipment 
or scanning equipment 
(g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol 
(h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service. 

▬ ▬ ▬ ▬ 

 
Controlled Substances 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

D1 The licensee shall operate a zero tolerance policy to drugs 
and comply with the Hackney Police/Council Community 
Safety Unit Drugs and Weapons policy where appropriate. 
Prominent signage shall be displayed by every entrance 
and exit detailing the drugs and weapons policies. 

▬ ▬   

D2 A written search policy that aims to prevent customers or 
staff bringing illegal drugs, weapons or other illegal items 
onto the premises at any time shall be in place and 
operate at the premises. 

▬ ▬   

D3 A secured, lockable drug box must be installed at the 
venue. Police attendance must be requested for removal 
of the contents. 

▬    

D4 Police and LBH contracted drugs dogs or drug detection 
equipment will be given immediate access to the premises 
without notice for the purpose of detecting and reducing 
incidences of drug misuse. 

▬ ▬   

 
General Management 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

G1 A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. 
The refusals book will be maintained at the premises and 
will be available for immediate inspection upon request by 
a representative of the statutory authorities upon request. 
Such refusals book to is to be inspected and signed by the 
DPS or, in the absence of the DPS, by an alternative 
member of store management at intervals not exceeding 
seven days. All occasions when persons have been 
refused service shall be recorded and kept at the premises 
for not less than 12 months after the last entry recorded. 

▬  ▬ ▬ 

G2 The licensee shall display the telephone number/email 
address of the Designated Premises Supervisor for use by 

▬ ▬ ▬ ▬ 

Page 657



32 
 

any Responsible Authority or any person who may wish to 
make a complaint during the operation of the licence in a 
prominent external location at the premises that is easily 
accessible to the public. 

G3 Toilets to be checked for evidence of any crime regularly 
throughout the day and at least hourly after [insert hours]. 
Records of these checks are to be documented and 
retained for no less than 31 days and shall be provided to 
the Police upon immediate request. 

▬ ▬   

G4 The licence holder shall enter into an agreement with a 
hackney carriage and/or private carriage firm to provide 
transport for customers, with contact numbers made 
readily available to customers who will be encouraged to 
use such services. 

▬  ▬  

G5 Plastic and/or toughened glass vessels shall be used for 
the consumption of drinks, intoxicating and non-
intoxicating, at [insert times/all times]. 

▬ ▬ ▬ ▬ 

G6 No glass receptacles containing beverages whether open 
or sealed, shall be given to customers on the premises 
whether at the bar or by staff away from the bar. 

▬ ▬   

G7 No entry to or re-entry to the premises after [time] by 
members of the public or guest of friends of members of 
staff or the premises licence holder. (except those patrons 
who have temporarily left the premises to smoke.) 

  ▬  

G8 No entertainment, performance, service or exhibition 
involving nudity or sexual stimulation which would come 
within the definition of a sex establishment as defined in 
Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 as amended by the Police and Crime 
Act 2009, shall be provided. 

▬ ▬  ▬ 

G9 Adequate and appropriate supply of first aid equipment 
and materials must be available on the premises at all 
times. 

 ▬   

G10 At least one member of staff who has received first-aid 
training from a HSE approved trainer shall be on duty 
when the public are present. 

 ▬   

G11 Seating for no less than [number] persons shall be 
provided in the premises at all times the premises are in 
operation. 

▬    

G12 Seating for no less than (insert) % of the maximum 
occupancy shall be provided in the premises at all times 
the premises are in operation. 

▬    

G13 There shall be a written dispersal policy, a copy of which 
shall be kept on the premises and made available to police 
or other authorised officer upon request. 

▬ ▬ ▬  

G14 Measures to be implemented to prevent theft. These 
measures may include, but are not limited to: 
Bag clips/hooks 
Property patrols 
Notices advising patrons that thieves operate in the area. 

▬    

G15 Substantial food shall be available at all times. ▬    
 
   

Page 658



33 
 

Hotels and Guest Houses 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

H1 The sale of alcohol between [xx:xx] and [xx:xx] is restricted 
to hotel residents and their bona fide guests (limited to XX 
guests per resident. 

▬  ▬  

H2 The sale and consumption of alcohol between [xx:xx] and 
[xx:xx] is restricted to hotel residents by way of room 
charge. 

▬  ▬  

H3 Between [xx:xx] and [xx:xx], access to the premises is 
restricted to hotel residents only. 

▬  ▬  

 
Noise and Odour Management 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

N1 Clear and prominent notices shall be displayed and 
maintained at all exits in a place where they can be seen 
and easily read by customers requiring customers to leave 
the premises and the area quietly. 

  ▬  

N2 Door supervisors and other members of staff to verbally 
request customers as they exit the premises to leave 
quietly and respect local residential neighbours. 

  ▬  

N3 All external doors and windows shall be kept closed, other 
than for access and egress, when regulated entertainment 
is taking place. 

  ▬  

N4 Background music shall not exceed a level that allows face 
to face conversation at normal speech level. 

  ▬  

N5 A detailed acoustic report should be carried out by a 
competent person and should be submitted to the 
Licensing Service [within timeframe]. Recommendations in 
the report should be approved by the Pollution Control 
Team and completed prior to any regulated entertainment 
taking place. 

  ▬  

N6 All music systems shall be routed through a sound limiting 
device. The limiting device(s) should be set to ensure 
inaudibility in all nearby residential premises, a certificate 
of compliance should be submitted to the pollution group. 
The device shall be controlled by the 
licensee/management and kept in a locked, tamper-proof 
box. 

  ▬  

N7 The sound limiting device must be recalibrated annually to 
ensure that the music is inaudible in nearby residential 
premises prior to the anniversary (of the grant of 
licence/variation/review). 

  ▬  

N8 All speakers must be isolated from the structure of the 
building to prevent the transmission of vibration. The final 
specification should be approved by the Pollution Control 
Team before installation. 

  ▬  

N9 The noise level from the premises whilst being used for 
regulated entertainment shall not exceed [insert limit] 
measured at any point(s) [insert location]. 

  ▬  

N10 Music noise from the licensed premises as measured 
spatially averaged within the habitable areas of the 

  ▬  

Page 659



34 
 

attached residential noise sensitive premises (measured at 
a height of 1.2 metres and 0.5 metres from any reflecting 
surface) at any time shall not cause any increase in the 
measured real time Leq(1min) 1/1 octave band sound 
pressure level centred on the frequencies [frequencies] 
and overall ‘A’ weighted levels when compared with the 
existing background noise equivalent Leq(1min) (‘A’ 
weighted levels, [frequencies]) to the levels at each of the 
following residential premises; (insert details) 

N11 Measurements should be taken in the same noise 
sensitive premises at a similar time without the music from 
the licensed premises in operation or at such level as not 
to cause noise nuisance, as determined by the council’s 
Noise Pollution Team. 

  ▬  

N12 Amplified music shall be played within the licensed 
premises during permitted hours through an in house 
sound system which shall be fitted with a sound limiter set 
to an internal reverberant sound level limited to LAeq 
[level] dB, as measured at the mid-point of the licensed 
premises bar at a height of 1.2 metres. In addition the 
system shall be limited via the in-house limiter to control 
the frequencies [frequencies] as measured in the same 
position as above, in real time simultaneous Leq (1min) 
1/1 octave band sound pressure level. These levels should 
be set to correspond with levels in condition 1, above. 

  ▬  

N13 The setting up of level controls of such devices shall take 
place before any amplified music is played and be carried 
out under the supervision of an acoustic consultant 
registered with the Institute of Acoustics who will provide 
a certificate of the completion and verification of the 
calibration and set up. The initial set up is to be witnessed 
by Council officers. 

  ▬  

N14 An annual check to the effectiveness, with re-calibration 
where necessary, of the devices shall be undertaken by an 
acoustic consultant registered with the Institute of 
Acoustics, who shall provide a certificate of verification of 
the calibration and set up, both initially and annually, to be 
provided to the Council’s Pollution Control Team within 21 
days of the check of effectiveness. 

  ▬  

N15 Such noise control devices or automatic volume control 
systems shall be secured within robust lockable security 
enclosure, or similar, to prevent unauthorised access to 
and tampering with the controls. In the case of computer 
controlled systems they shall only be accessed by an 
authorised Sound Engineer under the supervision of an 
acoustic consultant registered with the Institute of 
Acoustics authorised for this purpose by the Company. All 
changes shall be reported to the Council as soon as 
practicable after the event. 

  ▬  

N16 For residential premises directly attached to a licensed 
venue, these levels shall be measured with all residential 
windows closed and windows should be in a single or 
double glazed configuration only. Secondary internal 

  ▬  

Page 660



35 
 

panes should be opened or removed during 
measurements. For all other cases i.e. buildings separated 
from the licensed premises windows should be slightly 
open for ventilation. 

N17 No fumes, steam or odours shall be emitted from the 
licensed premises so as to cause a nuisance to any 
persons living or carrying on business in the area where 
the premises are situated. 

  ▬  

 
Outdoor Areas 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

O1 Patrons shall not be permitted to take glass off the 
premises/into external areas of the premises. 

▬ ▬ ▬  

O2 No more than [insert number] of patrons will be permitted 
in the designated smoking area at [any time/after insert 
time] 

▬  ▬  

O3 Use of outdoor area (shown on the plan) shall cease at 
[time]. 

  ▬  

O4 The designated smoking area shown on the plan, shall be 
de-lineated by a physical border. 

  ▬  

 
Preventing Underage Sales 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

P1 A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. 
The refusals book will be maintained at the premises and 
will be available for immediate inspection upon request by 
a representative of the statutory authorities upon request. 
Such refusals book to is to be inspected and signed by the 
DPS or, in the absence of the DPS, by an alternative 
member of store management at intervals not exceeding 
seven days. All occasions when persons have been 
refused service shall be recorded and kept at the premises 
for not less than 12 months after the last entry recorded. 

▬  ▬ ▬ 

P2 All store staff who are engaged or employed as cashiers 
will receive formalised training in the sale of age restricted 
products and training records evidencing such training will 
be kept and maintained in store, available for inspection by 
a representative of the statutory authorities for not less 
than 2 years. Such training is to be refreshed at intervals 
not exceeding [six/twelve] months. 
 

▬   ▬ 

P3 Where a person appears to be under the age of [insert 
age] identification in the form of a passport, photo driving 
licence or a proof of age card bearing the PASS hologram 
will be sought and if not provided service of alcohol shall 
be refused. 

▬   ▬ 

P4 Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at the point of 
entry to the premises and in a suitable location at any 
points of sale indicating that where a person appears to be 
under the age of [25] identification will be sought and if not 
provided service of alcohol will be refused. 

▬   ▬ 

Page 661



36 
 

P5 Prominent, clear notices shall be displayed at the premises 
about the supply of alcohol to minors and the relevant 
offences involved. 

▬   ▬ 

P6 A till prompt will appear on the initial sale of alcohol that 
will reminded the seller of their responsibilities including 
not to sell alcohol to anyone under the age of 18. 

▬   ▬ 

P7 All tills shall automatically prompt staff to ask for age 
verification identification when presented with an alcohol 
sale. 

▬   ▬ 

P8 Children under the age of ** years shall not be allowed on 
the premises after **:** hours unless accompanied by an 
adult. 

   ▬ 

P9 Children under the age of ** years shall not be allowed on 
the premises. 

   ▬ 

 
SIA and Security 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

S1 The licensee/management shall record the full name, 
home address and contact telephone number, SIA 
registration number, and the time/date of employment of 
any door supervisor(s) employed at the premises. Where 
door supervisor(s) are provided by an agency the name, 
business address and contact telephone number will also 
be recorded. These records are to be maintained for no 
less than [insert period]. 

▬ ▬   

S2  
A minimum of (X) SIA licensed door supervisors 
shall be on duty at the premises at all times whilst 
it is open for business.  

▬    

S3  
At least (X) SIA licensed door supervisors shall be 
on duty at the entrance of the premises at all 
times whilst it is open for business. 

▬    

S4  
All persons entering or re-entering the premises 
shall be searched by an SIA trained member of 
staff and monitored by the premises CCTV 
system. 

    

S5 Every person entering the venue should be counted in and 
out with a counting device to ensure that the maximum 
accommodation limit is not exceeded. 

▬ ▬   

S6 Every new patron entering the venue will be searched 
upon entry after [time]. 

▬    

S7 Door supervisors shall be employed at a ratio of xx 
patrons. At least one member of the door staff shall be 
female. 

▬    

S8 All door staff stationed at the front entrance shall wear high 
visibility jackets or vests. All security staff stationed in 
internal areas of the premises shall wear high visibility 

▬    

Page 662



37 
 

armbands. 

S9 Club Scan (or similar identification scanning device) is to 
be installed and maintained at the premises and shall 
operate [insert times/days]. 
 

▬    

 
Waste Management 
 
  CD PS PN PC 

W1 The licensee shall undertake a litter patrol at hourly 
intervals in [state xx radius/perimeter/pre-determined area] 
to collect any litter associated with the premises. The 
collection and removal of litter should include satisfactory 
disposal of spilled food and similar materials so as to leave 
the footway in a clean, safe and wholesome condition. 

▬  ▬  

W2 Waste collections shall be restricted to [time] and [time] 
and on xx days of the week/weekend. 

  ▬  

W3 No refuse and/or bottles are to be placed in external 
receptacles or in areas outside the premises after 
2300/between [xx:xx and xx:xx]. 

  ▬  

W4 The current trade waste agreement/duty of care waste 
transfer document shall be conspicuously displayed and 
maintained in the window of the premises where it can be 
conveniently seen and read by persons standing on the 
[insert location] façade of the premises. This should 
remain unobstructed at all times and should clearly 
identify:- 
 
● the name of the registered waste carrier 
● the date of commencement of trade waste contract 
● the date of expiry of trade waste contract 
● the days and times of collection 
● the type of waste including the European Waste Code 

  ▬  

W5 All staff are to be fully trained and made aware of the legal 
requirement of businesses to comply with their duty of care 
as regards the disposal of waste produced from the 
business premises.  The procedure for handling and 
preparing for disposal of the waste shall be in writing and 
displayed in a prominent place where is can be referred to 
at all times by staff. 

  ▬  

W6 Any contract for general and recyclable waste disposal 
shall be appropriate in size to the amount of waste 
produced by the business.  An adequate supply of waste 
receptacles shall be provided (refuse sacks or commercial 
waste bins) in order to ensure all refuse emanating from 
the business is always presented for collection by his 
waste carrier and shall not use any plain black or 
unidentifiable refuse sacks or any other unidentifiable or 
unmarked waste receptacles.    

    

W7 Where premises are situated in an area where time 
banded waste collections apply, waste must be kept within 
the premises until such time as its waste carrier arrives to 
collect the refuse. 

  ▬  

Page 663



38 
 

W8 Signage to be erected asking customers to refrain from 
littering the public highway outside the premises. 

  ▬  

 
Appendix C: Delegation of functions 
 

Matters to be dealt with 
 

Sub Committee  Officers  

Application for personal licence 
  

If a police objection  If no objection made  

Application for personal licence with 
unspent convictions  

All cases   

Application for premises licence/club 
premises certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application for provisional statement  If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary premises 
licence/club premises certificate  

If a relevant 
representation made  

If no relevant 
representation made  

Application to vary designated 
premises supervisor  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Request to be removed as 
designated premises supervisor  

 All cases 

Application for transfer of premises 
licence  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Applications for interim authorities  
 

If a police objection  All other cases  

Application to review premises 
licence/club premises certificate 

All cases   

Decision to withdraw club premises 
certificate 

All cases  

Decision on whether a representation 
is irrelevant, frivolous vexatious, etc  

 All cases 

Decision to object when local 
authority is a consultee and not the 
relevant authority considering the 
application  

 All cases 

Determination of an objection to a 
standard temporary event notice  

All cases   

Determination of an objection to a late 
temporary event notice 

 All cases 

Determination of application to vary 
premises licence at community 
premises to include alternative 
licence condition  

If a police objection  All other cases  

Decision whether to consult other 
responsible authorities on minor 
variation application  

 All cases  

Determination of minor variation 
application  

 All cases  

 
   

Page 664



39 
 

Appendix D 
 
Other relevant legislation 
 
Applicants should note other legislation that is likely to be relevant to their proposal: 
● The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 
● The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
● The Environmental Protection Act 1990 
● London Local Authorities Act 1990 (as amended by 2004 Act) 
● The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
● The Health Act 2006 
● The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 
● Policing and Crime Act 2009 
● EU Services Directive and the subsequent Provision of Services Regulations 2009 
● Food Safety Act 1990 
● The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporating the European Convention on Human Rights 

(ECHR) 
● The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
● Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
● The Gambling Act 2005 
● The Equality Act 2010 
● The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
● The Live Music Act 2012 
● The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
● The Legislative Reform (Entertainment Licensing) Order 2014 
● The Deregulation Act 2015 
● The Immigration Act 2016 
● The Business and Planning Act 2020 
 

Page 665



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 667



Contents

Introduction, Background, Consultation & Engagement Approach,
Response rate 2

Executive summary 3

Overview of results

● Are you a…. 4

● Please give your postcode: 5

● The Licensing Objectives:

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed
core hours policy can continue to promote the licensing
objectives?

6-7

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed
policy can support outdoor events, activities and areas in
Hackney whilst minimising any negative impact on local
communities?

8-9

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed
Special Policy Areas can promote the licensing objectives? 10-11

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed
Special Consideration Area policy can help to promote the
licensing objectives?

12-13

About you 14-17

Appendices

1Page 668



Introduction

The Council is consulting on the new Statement of Licensing Policy, which outlines
what will be considered when businesses apply for permission to sell alcohol, carry
out regulated entertainment such as live music, film or dancing or sell hot drinks and
hot food between 11pm and 5am.

Background

The Council is required by law to review the licensing policy at least every five years.
The Policy only applies to new licensing applications, not existing licences.

They are also required to promote the four licensing objectives set out in the
Licensing Act 2003, which are the prevention of crime and disorder; public safety; the
prevention of public nuisance; and the protection of children from harm.

The Policy aims to balance the need for pubs and clubs to thrive with the needs of
people living in the local neighbourhood and ensuring residents nearby are not
negatively impacted by nightlife. This impact could be noise at particular times of
the night; litter; or increased alcohol-related crime or hospital admissions. These
proposals would not affect existing licences. They would only affect those making
new licensing applications.

Consultation & Engagement Approach

A survey was created on the Council’s statutory consultation platform from 15 May
2023 until 26 June 2023.

The Licensing Team worked with staff from the Consultation and Engagement Team
and Communications Team to ensure the consultation was promoted via various
channels. These included:

● Mail to statutory consultees
● Hackney Licensing webpage - www.hackney.gov.uk/licensing
● A press release sent to local media, in addition to promotion through Love

Hackney
● Staff Headlines
● The consultation and information event was publicised through posts on the

Hackney Council Facebook page, Twitter page and the Hackney
● Business Network Twitter page (@HackneyBusiness)

Response rate

A total of 38 responses were received to the survey.
2Page 669



Executive summary

● Are you a….(Base 48 responses).
○ The majority of respondents, at just under two thirds, stated that they

were a Hackney resident. Just under 17% stated that they were an
owner, manager or employee of a licensed premises, followed by 10%
stating “other” and 8% stating a Hackney business.

● Please give your postcode: (Base 38)
○ Just over a third of respondents stated that they live in the E8 postcode

area, followed by under a quarter in N16, 11% each for E5 and N1, with the
others accounting for a small proportion.

The Licensing Objectives

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed core hours
policy can continue to promote the licensing objectives? (Base 38)

○ Just over half of respondents stated that they disagree, with just under
half stating that they agree. This difference between agree and
disagree was the response of 3 respondents.

● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed policy can
support outdoor events, activities and areas in Hackney whilst minimising
any negative impact on local communities? (Base 38)

○ This resulted in a 50/50 split in terms of agree and disagree.
● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed Special Policy

Areas can promote the licensing objectives? (Base 38)
○ Almost two thirds of respondents stated that they disagree, with just

over a third stating that they agree.
● To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed Special

Consideration Area policy can help to promote the licensing objectives?
(Base 38)

○ Just over half of respondents stated that they disagree, with just under
half stating that they agree. This difference between agree and
disagree was the response of 3 respondents.

3Page 670



Overview of results

Are you a: (Tick all that apply) (Base 48 responses)

Respondents were asked to specify whether they were a resident of Hackney, an
owner/manager/employee of a licensed premises, a Hackney business or other.
Respondents were able to tick all responses that applied to the.

The majority of respondents, at just under two thirds, stated that they were a
Hackney resident (31). Just under 17% stated that they were an owner, manager or
employee of a licensed premises (8), followed by 10% stating “other” (5) and 8%
stating a Hackney business (4).

Those who stated “other” were:
● Tower Hamlets resident.

○ As I live right on the border with the appallingly over-concentrated
Shoreditch Night Time Economy I expect that my views are afforded full
weight in spite of not being a Hackney resident.

● Enfield resident
● Chair - London Fields User Group
● Hackney employee
● Chair - London Fields Ward Safer Neighbourhood Panel

When looking at the data to see howmany Hackney residents also selected another
options, it found the following:

4Page 671



● 4 Hackney residents were also owner/manager/employee of a licensed
premises

● 4 Hackney residents were Hackney business owners
● 2 Hackney residents stated Other

○ Chair of London Fields User Group andWard Safer Neighbourhood
Panel

Please give your postcode: (Base 38)

Just over a third of respondents stated that they live in the E8 postcode area (14),
followed by under a quarter in N16 (8), 11% each for E5 and N1 (4), with the others
accounting for a small proportion.

Those who stated “other” gave N9 and N5 postcode areas.

5Page 672



The Licensing objectives

To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed core hours policy can
continue to promote the licensing objectives? (Base 38)

Respondents were asked whether they agree or disagree that the proposed core
hours policy can continue to promote licensing objectives.

Just over half of respondents stated that they disagree (21), with just under half
stating that they agree (17). This difference between agree and disagree was the
response of 3 respondents.

When asked to provide any comments to support their response, some of the
comments were:

● Agree
○ “Core hours pose a threat to the NTE and each venue should be

considered on its merits.”
○ “Closing at midnight was too early and the council should support

responsible landlords and club owners in staying open later while
minimising disturbance.”

○ “Night time workers, livers, operators, creators need a place to feel
welcome and included, so 24/7 hours are important.”

○ “Weekend core hours should be slightly extended until 1:00 am.”

6Page 673



○ “.....should be combined with attention to issues such as biodiversity
both within and beyond the core hours e.g. minimising light pollution
through use of downlighting and yellow spectrum LEDs.

○ “The core hours are too restrictive and at odds with Hackney's otherwise
vibrant, energetic and youthful culture.”

○ “Later hours should be encouraged to give hospitality venues greater
freedom in inner London.”

○ “While noise affects me as a resident, I appreciate the benefits that
licensed activities within these hours can bring to the area.”

● Disagree
○ “I think the late licensing hours should be reduced and if required then

they have to be specifically applied for within strict requirements and
carry a higher licensing fee.”

○ “In the case of shops in residential settings licensed to sell alcohol,
midnight is too late - it's likely to cause anti-social behaviour and
disturbance outside shops.”

○ “The core hours do not reflect the habits of Hackney residents or
visitors.”

○ “Current core hours are not being enforced tightly. This leads to licensed
premises operating well past their licensable hours late into the night.
Leading to excessive noise, litter, antisocial behaviour and in the
summer an increase in people peeping against residences during the
late nights.”

○ “The proposed core hours policy is anti-business and anti-youth, and
does not realise the potential for Hackney to have an enduring and
positive night time economy past 11pm.”

7Page 674



To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed policy can support
outdoor events, activities and areas in Hackney whilst minimising any negative

impact on local communities? (Base 38)

Respondents were asked whether they agree or disagree that the proposed policy
can support outdoor events, activities and areas in Hackney whilst minimising any
negative impact on local communities

This resulted in a 50/50 split in terms of agree and disagree (19 each).

When asked to provide any comments to support their response, some of the
comments were:

● Agree
○ “I think 10pm is a reasonable end time for any outside event in a

residential area and that no extensions should be offered beyond that.”
○ “I believe that unique punctual celebrations can be positive for the

community but that it has to be strongly regulated.”
○ “And that should be done more on a case-by-case basis as it does apply

to all venues.”
○ “Again greater case by case freedom should be given to encourage the

struggling culture and hospitality sectors.”
○ “Many venues have conditions within their existing licences that

external activities are limited to 9pm. This enables a good quality of life

8Page 675



for all. And matches with the Council's Sustainable community strategy
as noted in the Licensing strategy document.”

● Disagree
○ “For outdoor events in parks it should be 9pm - public nuisance to

residents.”
○ “We need to be more social for our health and for the strength and

community bonds of society. These types of laws are much less
restrictive in places like Spain, Greece and France, where there is
invariably a much tighter sense of community. In such places it's
extremely common to have outdoor events past 10pm - and this is to be
encouraged where appropriate.”

○ “For pubs and constantly opening venues that makes sense as a lot of
pubs have signs saying they are considering their residential
neighbours. One off events should not be so strict as they have less
potential for nuisance especially on an ongoing basis.”

○ “This does not go far enough. A default of 08:00 is far too early, it should
be more like 11:00.”

9Page 676



To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed Special Policy Areas
can promote the licensing objectives? (Base 38)

Respondents were asked whether they agree or disagree that the proposed policy
can support outdoor events, activities and areas in Hackney whilst minimising any
negative impact on local communities.

Almost two thirds of respondents stated that they disagree (24), with just over a third
stating that they agree (14).

When asked to provide any comments to support their response, some of the
comments were:

● Agree
○ “It is very helpful to have a Special Policy Area for Shoreditch. Core hours

should be until 23.00 only as there is saturation of licensed premises.”
○ “The implementation of the Shoreditch SPA has had no positive impact

on the licensing objectives - crime, anti-social behaviour nuisance have
all increased while it has been in place. The SPA in Dalston has had a
devastating effect on the local economy and community.”

○ “That seems very strict, all types of economic/human activity comes
with a downside, like markets produce food waste that has to be
cleaned by the council. It's better to have similar nightlife venues
localised in one vibrant area.”

10Page 677



○ “.......it can be demonstrated that smaller independent operators are
more interested and more effective in promoting the licensing
objectives, and that the implementation of an SPA threatens these
objectives by creating a commercial market into which only corporate
groups can afford to enter.”

● Disagree
○ “I would strongly object to any attempt in this new licensing policy to

reduce the Shoreditch SPA boundary or in any other way to make it any
easier for an applicant to obtain a licence in the area. I am also
concerned that a decision to drop reference to specific areas
(Shoreditch and Dalston) might prevent downgrading one or both of
them entirely. We need more and stronger licensing controls, not less.”

○ “An innovative night time industry depends on constant change.
Making it too difficult for new spaces to open might reduce the overall
attractiveness as a nightlife destination.”

○ “Applicants should be able to demonstrate good environmental
practice such that the proposed activity will not add to the cumulative
impact of unsustainable and therefore unsafe aspects such as single
use plastic. Offering reuse and recycling facilities plus means of
minimising impact on biodiversity such as use of downlighting and
yellow spectrum LEDs should be a requirement for applications to not
be subject to presumption of rejection (though rejection may be the
correct decision for other reasons).”

○ “The removal of the defined boundaries of the Special policy areas
would make these nebulous and harder for both the Council and
applicants to assess the applicability of the Special policy area to an
application. I do however support the presumption to refuse new
applications in these areas, unless the applicant can clearly prove that
the proposed activity(s) will not add to the cumulative impact being
experienced in the area in question. "

11Page 678



To what extent do you agree or disagree that the proposed Special Consideration
Area policy can help to promote the licensing objectives? (Base 38)

Respondents were asked whether they agree or disagree that the proposed Special
Consideration Area policy can help to promote the licensing objectives.

Just over half of respondents stated that they disagree (19), with just under half
stating that they agree (16). This difference between agree and disagree was the
response of 3 respondents.

When asked to provide any comments to support their response, some of the
comments were:

● Agree
○ “It is the council’s prerogative to accommodate and support and

provide strategies and solutions and encourage active engagement
with the night economy.”

○ “I think it's good if it is to raise awareness of local issues to a potentially
non local venue operator or owner.”

○ “In my opinion, all applicants should demonstrate their understanding
of the negative impacts the premise may have and include measures to
mitigate those issues.”

○ “This: "there will not be a presumption to refuse application." Why not?
The SPAs or SCAs are areas which are already saturated with late night
entertainment. The presumption to refuse application should remain.”

12Page 679



● Disagree
○ “Disagree with 70% of the late night levy going to the police”
○ “I don't agree. If an area has been identified as suffering a Cumulative

Impact it should be designated as a Special Policy Area. These controls
are already too weak to effectively deal with the impact, I can't see how
introducing a watered-down version would make much real difference
to consideration of a licence application.”

○ “There is room for a greater variety of cultural offerings in for example
Dalston, these new venues should be encouraged not discouraged.”

○ “The Special Consideration Area sounds like a much more proportionate
and flexible response to some of the pressures and issues Special Policy
Area is designed to address (but seek to do in an overly heavy handed
and prescriptive way).........”

13Page 680



About you

Gender: Are you... (Base 36)

Half of respondents stated that they were female (18), with just over a third stating
they were male (14). All others accounted for a much smaller proportion.

Age: What is your age group? (Base 35)

The highest age group of respondents was 35-44 (11), followed by 25-34 (9), 45-54 (6),
55-64 (4), 65-74 (3), 18-24 and 75-84 (1 each).

14Page 681



Disability (Base 32)

The majority of respondents stated that they did not have a disability (28), with a
smaller percentage stating that they do (4).

Caring responsibilities (Base 34)

The majority of respondents stated that they did not have caring responsibilities (28),
with a smaller percentage stating that they do (6).

15Page 682



Ethnicity. Are you… (Base 32)

Almost two thirds of respondents stated that they were “White or White British” (20),
followed by “Mixed Background” (7), “Other ethnic group” (4) and Black or Black
British (1).

Religion or belief: Are you or do you have…. (Base 29)

The majority of respondents stated that they were “Atheist/no religious belief” (17),
followed by just under a quarter of respondents “Christian” (7), and then a smaller
percentage for “Secular beliefs” (3) and “Buddhist” (2).

16Page 683



Sexual orientation: Are you… (Base 33)

The majority of respondents stated that they were “Heterosexual” (19), followed by
“Prefer not to say” (7), and all others accounting for a much smaller percentage
response.

17Page 684



APPENDICES

18Page 685



Received Comments

18/06/2023
Local resident

I was hoping to leave my comments at the link below but I
was unable to get the consultation survey page to open:

www.consultation.hackney.gov.uk

I note the following in bold below:

Special Policy Areas
Special policy areas exist in areas where there are already
a large number of licensed premises and there is deemed
to be a cumulative impact on local residents. This
cumulative impact could mean noise at particular times of
the night; litter; or increased alcohol-related crime or
hospital admissions. Hackney's existing special policy
areas are in Dalston and Shoreditch, but the new
licensing policy removes
references to these locations ahead of an independent
assessment that would determine where special policy
areas should be located in the borough. We would then
consult on these locations.

Does removing references to the SPA's in Dalston and
Shoreditch (or indeed any elsewhere in the borough) from
the revised policy mean that the SPA's have been
withdrawn? If so, what measures will LbH be taking to
mitigate this?

Why is an independent assessment (and its expense)
needed, surely the borough is well aware of areas of
concern within the borough?

20/06/2023
On behalf of
Shoreditch
Pubwatch

To whom it may concern, I am writing to you as pub watch
chair on behalf of licensees from the Shoreditch area.
I would like to outline concerns that we have with the new
licensing policy to be dated 2023-2028.
Please see notes below and refer to the licensing policy.
LP5 planning status- The policy outlines that whether or not
a venue has planning permission may affect the decision
made on a licensing application. Planning and licensing are

19Page 686

https://www.consultation.hackney.gov.uk/


2 separate legislations and need to not be considered by
each other.
LP10 3.10 Introduction of SCA and the abolition of the SPA
The policy sets out that SPAs will be replaced with SCAs,
these will be determined by independent cumulative impact
surveys and will allow hackney council to effectively have
pop up SPAs anywhere that they deem necessary. I
believe this to be a drastic and unnecessary precaution
which will deter independent businesses and entrepreneurs
from coming to Hackney.
I am aware that the policy says that the presence of an
SCA will not be absolute in terms of licence refusal.
However upon a licence being applied for it will be refused
by relevant authorities stating that the venue falls within
SCA.
This I know to be true having dealt with licensing in
hackney for the last 15 years. This response will not deter
large operators however it will deter smaller start up
concepts from starting businesses in Hackney and have a
negative impact on business diversification in Hackney.
Who will conduct these surveys for SCAs? And, how will
the timing of the surveys be determined? For example if a
survey were to be carried out in Victoria Park during
festival season. The results would determine that this
area would be considered an SCA.
It is also my understanding that if an area is to be
considered an SCA there will be a consultation period In
which it can be objected to by resident’s and licensees, is
this correct?
LP11 Special consideration areas - Applicants have to
demonstrate understanding of licencing and good
management in any case. Thus I believe there is no need
for there to be the assumption that the application will be
turned down.

Sexual entertainment 4.11
It is my belief that all types of venues should have the right
to apply to exist and be judged on the operator’s merits. By
banning sexual entertainment licences you will drive the
scene underground where no regulation exists and the
performers will be at risk of assault and trafficking. Also the
current sexual entertainment licensees that exist hold a
monopoly, which is decidedly undemocratic.
The last time the licensing policy was changed in 2013 a
meeting was set up for all businesses, residents, ward
councillors and relevant authorities to attend and discuss
the draft. I have recently been informed by Hackney
council that this will not be happening. As a community we
strongly object to this and insist that such a meeting

20Page 687



happens before any decisions on this draft policy are
made.

26/06/2023
Local
owner/operator

Dear all

I have been operating XXXXXXXXXX for 14 years and
XXXXXXXXXX (previously XXXXXXXl) since 2012. I am
co-chair of XXXXX pubwatch, which I founded in 2009. It’s a
genuine privilege to operate these spaces in Hackney, London’s
most exciting and progressive borough.

I ask the licensing committee to reconsider the effectiveness of
SPAs and to withdraw them from the policy completely.
Furthermore, the core hours proposed are restrictive, out-of-step
with those of neighbouring boroughs and bear no relation to the
demands and lives of Hackney residents or visitors.

I am aware of the complex and challenging issue that can be
associated with the night-time economy, but I passionately
believe the answer to these challenges is for more, safer,
regulated late night spaces not fewer. Dalston is one of
Hackney’s two major town centres, with our unique and
independent night-time economy specifically protected in the
draft Dalston plan.

In the draft policy and consultation, no evidence has been
provided that demonstrate the implementation of SPAs supports
the licensing objectives. The two SPAs have been in place long
enough to be able to assess their impact, their effectiveness
should be evaluated before they are proposed in a new policy. If
you look at noise data, for example, complaints regarding
licensed premises are dwarfed by complaints relating to
residential and other sources. Last year, noise complaints
relating to licensed premises were under 10% of the total volume
of complaints.

The ground-breaking work Samantha Mathys and colleagues
have been undertaking with Hackney Nights and the Late-Night
Levy Board (chaired by Maurice Mason) is exceptional, and I
imagine will be replicated across other local authorities. The
board meetings provide a pragmatic, cooperative and effective
approach the issues around safety, crime and nuisance relating
to the night-time economy, allowing stakeholders to focus on
problem solving together. This is where the future of you
approach to licensing should be, and not in regressive SPAs (or
SCAs). I believe that this partnership approach is the most
effective way to keep our customers and residents safe, and that
prohibitive measures like SPAs only serve to displace problems
to illegal, unsuitable, or residential settings.

26/06/2023 Following the Dalston Pubwatch meeting of Wednesday

21Page 688



On behalf of
Dalston
Pubwatch

21st June 2023, members make the following
representation to Hackney Council regarding the Draft
Licensing Policy and Consultation. We received 30 positive
votes for this representation and 0 negative votes.
We’d like to take the opportunity to remind the licensing
authority that although it is legally possible to write a policy
with strong negative presumptions such as the SPA and
SCA, there is no obligation to do so.
It should be noted that negative presumptions deter
investment, diversity choice and growth, as well as making
operation more difficult for independent businesses and
playing to the comparative advantage of corporate groups.
If the council has a desire to increase diversity and protect
independent businesses within the NTE it should be noted
that the SPA and SCA will be in conflict with this goal.
We recognise the obligation of the council to undertake a
fair consultation with relevant stakeholders, which in this
context should include consultation when the proposals are
still at a formative stage. We are therefore confident that
the council will take our views into conscientious
consideration with the weight that they deserve and make
changes to the draft policy accordingly.
While we are aware that the Government updated its
consultation principles: guidance in 2018 to allow more
flexibility on timelines, there remains an obligation for a
consultation to last for a proportionate amount of time. The
previous guidance for consultation was 12 weeks which we
believe would have been proportionate in this 2023
consultation as well.
A 12-week consultation would provide the opportunity to
create higher levels of awareness and understanding for all
stakeholders of the effects of implementing (or not) an SPA
or an SCA, bearing in mind that an SCA is a brand new
concept to Hackney’s night time economy operators.
Progressing this important 2023 policy at such an
unnecessary speed, risks preventing the best thoughtful
and constructive ideas and dialogue from all interested
parties, to be considered. An unnecessarily accelerated
consultation period in itself contradicts the whole nature of
fair consultation and will probably result in poor and
uninformed decision making that the night time economy,
local residents and Hackney would be saddled with for the
next five years.
Examples of the unnecessarily rushed consultation:
1. As the consultation period in this case is only six weeks,
this resulted in residents being sent letters dated 12.06.23
with a deadline of 26.06.23.
2. The policy was presented to Pubwatch only five days
prior to expiry of the consultation. This is anti-business and

22Page 689



anti-night-time-economy, a huge contradiction to recent
years of positive relationship-building between the night
time economy operators and the local authorities, namely
police and council stakeholders. We recognise everyone’s
best efforts (often during adverse conditions such as the
pandemic and this current cost of living crisis), to really
make a difference. Initiatives such as Hackney Nights and
the strengthening of Hackney’s four key Pubwatch groups
are strong because their growth and consolidation have
been thoughtful and meaningful.
We were expecting a consultation timeline from the policy
makers that would have been more constructive.
Whether short-notice provision of draft policy documents to
the stakeholders has been done by design, or by innocent
oversight, either way, the process is unfair for everyone
and we ask Hackney to address this anomaly by extending
the consultation time, before the process becomes
compromised and tarnished with unnecessary contradiction
and poor decision making.
In the interests of a positive outcome for all stakeholders,
we request that moving forward there is discussion (and
amendments made) around adequate timelines for
consultation, and as stakeholders, we would like to be a
part of that discussion.
In particular we request that timelines around the
implementation of any SPA or SCA, which are measures
that affect our businesses and communities profoundly, are
consulted upon with a 12-week time frame.

LP10 Special Policy Areas
No evidence base has been provided that supports the
existence of Special Policy Areas despite these being in
operation for 14 years in Shoreditch and 9 years in
Dalston. There should be an abundance of data to
demonstrate if SPAs support the licensing objectives. In
June’s Pubwatch meeting we asked Hackney why there
was no evidence to support SPAs, and the response was
that evidence could not be hypothetical in terms of the
possible alternative scenario of no SPA in place. Yet
hypothetical evidence is required by applicants in order to
prove they will not contribute to the cumulative impact.
The above contradiction isn’t logical. An Applicant for a
new licence (or variation to an existing licence) has to
provide evidence that supports the SPA, yet the creation of
that SPA requires no such evidence.
The language of the SPA remains intentionally vague and
gives no guidance on what factors may be looked
favourably for applicants in an SPA (‘It should also be
noted that the quality and track record of the management;

23Page 690



good character of the applicant; and extent of any
variation sought May not be in itself sufficient.’). Note
Islington’s draft policy, where each
Special Policy Area has clearly stated possible exceptions
that would be viewed favourably by the licensing
committee.

The implementation of the SPA has had a chilling effect on
the development of Dalston’s evening and night time
economy, and subsequently on the independent retail
sector and cultural offer.
Dalston is unique in both the density of culturally important
venues; and the number of independent owner-operated
premises and as such is a vital resource for the borough.
At May’s Pubwatch meeting we asked for a show of hands
for anyone who was granted their licence after the
implementation of the SPA. Not one hand went up.
While this situation could be viewed as temporarily
beneficial for existing licence holders, the reality is that the
potential stagnation of this resource and the lack of new
operators will continue to reduce opportunities in the area.
Due to these reasons, as well as the potential for licence
review, we challenge the repeated assertion in the
overview of the Licensing Policy that existing licences are
not affected by the new policy. We reject the proposals for
Special Consideration Policy areas on the same grounds.
LP3 Core Hours
We would like to see the core hours extended for more
diverse and youth friendly activities in a similar way to the
Islington Licensing Policy which recognises the importance
of nightclubs and their contribution to the culture of a
borough and encourages applications which have terminal
hours of 1am through the week and 2am on weekends.
This action would not only support young people in one of
London’s youngest boroughs, but also demonstrates
commitment to live music and the venues that serve as
creative incubators across the borough.
A review of the core hours within the policies of
Westminster, Islington, Tower Hamlets and Camden shows
Hackney’s proposed core terminal hours to be the most
restrictive, and Newham and City of London do not have a
core hours policy at all.
We would like to see Hackney’s core hours policy reflect
the needs of the residents within the borough as well as
visitors, investors, and future residents. We also
understand that Hackney has a desire to retain its world
class reputation as well as being proactive in encouraging
diversity within nightlife.

24Page 691



Recognising that Hackney has a well run NTE, and that the
possibility to increase the pool of Late Night Levy funding
from premises operating after midnight exists, we would
like to see core hours extended to the following:

General
Monday to Thursday 08:00 to 00:00
Friday and Saturday 08:00 to 01:00
Sunday 10:00 to 23:00

Nightclubs
Monday to Thursday 08:00 to 01:30
Friday and Saturday 08:00 to 02:30
Sunday 10:00 to 00:30

Hackney Nights & The Late Night Levy Board
There are mixed views among members on the Late Night
Levy itself, especially among some of our smaller
operators, but the impact of the Late Night Levy Board in
addressing key issues around the late night economy is
significant and positive.
The Board represents an effective partnership between
stakeholders of Hackney's licensed venues, the police,
enforcement and council members and has pooled
resources and knowledge to great effect. This partnership
approach has shown that the best way to address
challenges around licensed premises is through
cooperation and skillsharing.
The Hackney Nights initiative is a valuable suite of training
materials and resources that operators find extremely
useful in the training of their staff, especially around areas
of welfare and vulnerability.

Climate Action Plan
We would like to express our support for the Climate Action
Plan included within the Licensing Policy. We are proud to
be part of Hackney’s economic landscape, and as a group
of independent operators we champion measures that
result in Hackney being a progressive and sustainable
borough that is globally applauded.
We are also pleased with the specificity of sustainability
interests that we currently see within the mix of councillors
in Hackney, and look forward to jointly supporting policies
and partnerships where appropriate.

We ask that the licensing committee reconsider the
severity of the proposed measures in favour of a policy that
reflects Hackney’s diversity, innovation and progressive
legacy. Rather than prohibitive measures like SPAs we are

25Page 692



in favour of more cooperation and problem solving in the
spirit of the Late Night Levy Board and partnership.

26/06/2023
On behalf of
Metropolitan
Police

I have reviewed the proposed Hackney licensing policy and
have consulted with my Licensing Officers who have
requested some changes to the policy. I have considered
these proposed changes and I feel that they would go
further to assist venues in upholding the Licensing
objectives and will also assist my officers when working
with venues.

The changes bring clarity to what is expected of venues
when conducting risk assessments for their activities and
enables them to bring about steps to mitigate risk, working
with my Licensing Team where appropriate.

The Night Time Economy is in an important part of
Hackney which is constantly evolving as new venues open
and attract new people to the borough and therefore the
Licensing Policy must evolve with it.

I consider that more detail in the policy is preferable as this
may be particularly helpful to rely on it when the Legislation
or Guidance is silent (or minimal) on a particular issue.

CRIME & DISORDER

When addressing the crime and disorder licensing
objective the applicant should identify any particular risks
(having regard to their particular type of premises and /
or activities) which are likely to adversely affect the
promotion of the crime and disorder licensing objective.
The applicant should also list such steps that are required
to deal with these identified issues. Both risks and
mitigating steps should be included within the applications
operating schedule.
Where the Metropolitan Police, acting as a responsible
authority, makes recommendations in respect of an
application relating to the licensing objectives the Licensing
Authority would expect the applicant to incorporate these
into their operating schedule.

RESPONSIBLE DRINKING

Responsible Drinking - The Licensing Authority expects
alcohol to be promoted in a responsible way in the
Borough. This should incorporate relevant industry
standards, such as the Portman Group Code of Practice.

26Page 693



Where appropriate and proportionate, if its discretion is
engaged, the Licensing Authority will apply conditions to
ensure responsible drinking. The Licensing Authority also
recognises the positive contribution to best practice that
"Pubwatch" and other similar schemes can make in
promoting the licensing objectives and is committed to
working with them. Model Pool Conditions can be found in
the Secretary of State’s Guidance.

Nitrous Oxide

Misuse of nitrous oxide is associated with increased
antisocial behavior including littering, noise nuisance and
vandalism, all of which are detrimental to residents’
quality of life and feelings of safety. Use of nitrous oxide is
also a health concern and has other associated harms.

As a result, this Licensing Authority expects Licence
Holders to refuse entry to any person seen use or selling
NOX as a psychoactive Substance. Refusals should also
be entered into Licence Holders refusals logs.

Where its discretion is engaged this Licensing Authority
impose conditions to formally require refusal of persons
seen selling or using NOx as a psychoactive Substance.

DRINK SPIKING

In reference to the Local Governments Association (LGA)
Guidance note on drink spiking prevention, this Licensing
Authority expects license holders and applicants to have a
zero-tolerance policy towards drinks spiking. This involves
as a minimum ensuring all reports of spiking are acted
upon and that all incidents of alleged spiking are recorded
and reported to the police. Licence holders and applicants
should also be aware of the Metropolitan Police’s definition
of drink spiking:
“Spiking is where someone adds drugs or alcohol to
another person’s drink without them knowing, it is illegal.”

The LGA has set some recommendations for Licence
holder, and we would expect our Licence holders to follow
these where appropriate to their venues:
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/lga-guidance-note-dri
nk-spiking-prevention#recommended-actions-for-licensed-
premises-
Applicants for new and variations of exiting licences as well
as those submitting TENs are expected to work with the
Metropolitan Police in order to consider actions needed to

27Page 694



prevent drinks spiking in their venues/events

Where its discretion is engaged this Licensing Authority will
impose conditions on licences aimed at preventing drinks
spiking, specifically any recommended by the metropolitan
police.

WELFARE

This Licensing Authority believes that all Licensed venues
should train their staff in Welfare and Vulnerability
Engagement (WAVE). As of 2023 this Licensing Authority
in partnership with the Metropolitan Police and the London
Borough of Tower Hamlets is delivering monthly WAVE
training sessions for Licensed venues within both Tower
Hamlets and Hackney. As a result, we expect that all
Licensed venues who sell alcohol for consumption on their
premises should train their staff in WAVE and adopt Ask for
Angela or similar initiatives aimed at assisting vulnerability
within alcohol licensed venues.

MISOGYNY IN THE NIGHT TIME ECONOMY

Sadly this is still an issues for women working in and
visiting licensed venues in London. As a result, this
Licensing Authority encourages Licensed venues to sign
up to the Mayor of London’s Women’s Night Safety
Charter:

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/arts-and
-culture/24-hour-london/womens-night-safety-charter

As well as the Women’s Night Safety Charter we would
encourage applicants and licence holders to discuss
applications with the Council’s Violence Against Women
and Girls Service, who can provide advice and training to
venues on preventing misogyny within licensed premises.

Lastly, we expect Licence Holders to take a zero-tolerance
approach misogyny within their venues where this is
towards customers or employees. We would expect refusal
in the first instance of acts of misogyny and reporting to the
Metropolitan Police.

One of the Council’s Community Safety Partnership
Priorities is tackling violence against women and girls. As a
result the Licensing Authority expects Licence holders to
take a proactive approach to customer safety including the
following:

28Page 695



• Making provisions to ensure that customers safely leave
their premises, for example providing information on
licensed taxi companies, adequate lighting outside the
premises,
• Training of staff in spotting signs of harassment, and how
to intervene where safe and appropriate to do so, and/or
reporting such harassment to management/emergency
services.

TEMPORARY EVENT NOTICES

Expect that any existing conditions will be maintained
(where relevant) in circumstances where an event is to
take place at a premises that has an existing authorisation.
Risk Assessments: In order to assist the Metropolitan
Police, we would strongly urge that Risk Assessments are
either included with the TEN submission or sent to the
Police via the details in Council’s Responsible Authority list
on their website. Such risk assessments need to include a
description of the event, any risks identified with the event
such as increased possibility of intoxicated customers,
underage attending the event, or perceived drug use, and
any mitigating steps that have implemented to address the
identified risks.
Where promoted music events are taking place at the
premises such a risk assessment should include checking
previous venues where the artists / performers / promoters
have performed recently to see if there have been any
issues, and any social media sites to check for any
potential problems such as a young audience.
The risk assessment should also consider the provision
and numbers of SIA security, search, ejection policy and
entry and egress / dispersal plans.

Designated Premises Supervisors (DPS)

Though there is no requirement for a designated premises
supervisor (DPS) to be on the premises at all times that
alcohol is being sold, the Licensing Authority expects
where they are likely to be absent for a prolonged period,
perhaps due to ill health, maternity leave or extended
holiday, that a new DPS to be appointed to cover the
period of absence. If there are concerns that a DPS is
repeatedly absent, the Police may apply for a review of the
Premises Licence if this gives rise to concerns about the
operation of the premises and its impact on the licensing
objectives.

29Page 696



Special Policy Areas

We recognise the importance of Special Policy Areas in
helping us reduce the levels of Crime and Anti-Social
Behaviour in both Dalston and Shoreditch. The importance
of maintaining both policies in maintaining such hard won
reductions cannot be underestimated.

Special Consideration Area

We welcome the development of this policy as a tool that
can help tackle crime and disorder before they require
more restrictive policies. We look forward to working with
the council in its development.

26/06/2023
On behalf of
the Director of
Public Health

i've had a quick look at the policy and I think:

- it could mention the health and wellbeing strategy, especially
given the mention of healthy residents in 1.18

- I am very pleased that it mentions PH and the negative impact
of licensing activities on health in para 1.27 and para 1.33-1.36

- I am however a bit disappointed that the core hours are so
early in the morning (LP3 after para 2.22) is there any way we
could push these to 10 am every day and not only sunday? 8am
is awfully early for people to be drinking alcohol. Again LP 4 after
para 2.26 us there anyways this can be 10 am and not 8am?
could the policy mention public health in 4.25?

perhaps I have missed it but I did not see anything on:
price regulations
Voluntary removal of the sale of high strength alcohol server
training and accountability

I know my predecessor XXXXXX has already pushed for the
below and I was wondering what was possible and what wasn't
and it was not always clear from the licensing policy document:
During the screening process, officers could suggest the
specific conditions, detailed below, to be attached to certain
applications. These conditions are aimed at reducing the
misuse of alcohol and contribute to the licensing objectives.

30Page 697



31Page 698



32Page 699



This page is intentionally left blank



London Borough of Hackney
Equality Impact Assessment Form

Title of this Equality Impact Assessment:
Statement of Licensing Policy

Purpose of this Equality Impact Assessment:
To assess any equalities impacts arising from the development of the revised draft
Statement of Licensing Policy

Officer Responsible: (to be completed by the report author)
Name: David Tuitt Ext: 4942
Directorate:Climate, Homes and
Economy

Department/Division: Community Safety,
Enforcement and Business Regulation

Director: Aled Richards Date: 29/06/23

Comment :

Page 701



PLEASE ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS:
In completing this impact assessment, you should where possible, refer to the main
documentation related to this decision rather than trying to draft this assessment in
isolation. Please also refer to the attached guidance.

STEP 1: DEFINING THE ISSUE

1. Summarise why you are having to make a new decision

The Licensing Act 2003 requires each local authority to publish a Statement of Licensing
Policy and review it at least once every five years. This Statement must establish the
principles to be applied when determining applications under the Act for licensable
activities. Licensable activities are:

● The sale of alcohol by retail
● The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of

the club
● The provision of regulated entertainment
● The provision of late night refreshment

The Act specifies that the Policy must promote the four licensing objectives, which are:
● The prevention of crime and disorder
● Public safety
● The prevention of public nuisance
● The protection of children from harm

2. Who are the main people that will be affected?

● Any persons, businesses or organisations making applications under the Licensing
Act 2003 for premises licences, club premises certificates, provisional statements,
personal licences, or review of premises licence or club premises certificate.

● Responsible authorities under the Licensing Act 2003 and “other persons” when
making representations on applications.

● Any person giving a standard temporary event notice that has received an
objection from the Police and/or Environmental Health.

● Residents, visitors and other businesses.
● Licensing Committee members, along with all other Ward Councillors.
● Local Magistrates’ in the event of an appeal.

STEP 2: ANALYSING THE ISSUES
3. What information and consultation have you used to inform your decision

making?

● Licensing Act 2003.
● Guidance issued by the Home Office under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.
● Data held by the Licensing Service.
● Licensing Operational Enforcement Group.
● Night Time Economy Tasking Group.
● Previous iterations of the draft Statement of Licensing Policy.
● Internal consultation with colleagues, the Licensing Chair and partner authorities.

Equality Impacts Page 702



4. Identifying the impacts

4 (a) What positive impact could there be overall, on different equality groups, and
on cohesion and good relations?

The Licensing Policy sets out expectations for how the Council, Responsible
Authorities such as the Police and Planning Authority, applicants for
license/certificates will promote the licensing objectives; namely the prevention of
crime and disorder, public safety, the prevention of public nuisance and the
protection of children from harm. As a result of this review there is likely only to be
a positive impact across all equality groups by promoting inclusion and balancing
the needs of the wider community.

4 (b) What negative impact could there be overall, on different equality groups,
and on cohesion and good relations?

The Licensing Act 2003 is generally permissive. However, in areas where the number,
type and density of premises selling alcohol are high or exceptional, serious problems of
nuisance and disorder may be arising or have begun to arise outside or some distance
from the licensed premises. Guidance under the Act sets out that the cumulative impact
of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives is a proper matter for a
licensing authority to consider within its licensing policy and that local authorities may as a
consequence adopt special local saturation policies. There should always be an evidential
basis for a decision to include a special policy within the statement of licensing policy. A
Cumulative Impact Assessment must set out this evidence and before publishing the
assessment the authority must consult with those affected, including the public,
businesses and responsible authorities. The assessment must be reviewed every three
years.

In the areas defined as Special Policy Areas, it has been the Council’s policy that where a
relevant representation is made to any application, the applicant will need to demonstrate
that the proposed activity and the operation of the premises will not add to the cumulative
impact that is being experienced in these areas.

A Special Consideration Area will require an applicant for a premises license, club
premises certificate or variation of these authorisations to demonstrate that they have an
understanding of the issues and concerns arising from cumulative impact in defined area
as identified in a Cumulative Impact Assessment, and include measures within their
operating schedule to mitigate those issues and concerns.

Paragraph 14.52 of the Home Office guidance states that “…Statements of licensing
policy should set out the licensing authority’s approach regarding licensed opening hours
and the strategy it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in its
area…”

The ‘Core Hours’ have been designed to be generally aligned with hours of activity that
have been deregulated by recent legislative measures, such as the Live Music Act 2012
and the Deregulation Act 2015. The hours are also based on the Council’s own
experience since the commencement of the Act. Furthermore, 23:00 to 07:00 are
generally considered to be the ‘night-time’ hours, hence the desire to place activities
during late hours under more scrutiny whilst acknowledging that there may be slightly
more tolerance at weekends.

Page 703



The proposed Core Hours’ policy should not be seen as a blanket approach. It should
instead be treated as a guide for all parties involved in any license application process.

Applications are always considered on a case by case basis, assessing the merit of the
application having regard to the Licensing Act 2003, the Home Office Guidance, the
Licensing Policy and the four licensing objectives.

Concerns were raised during the previous consultation about a potential impact of the
Policy on the opportunities for young people to socialise. This was due to the Policy
placing restrictions on new sites opening and as a result, there would be less places for
younger adults to go out. There were also suggestions that the Policy would create a
barrier for young people to start hospitality business. However, no evidence was provided
to support these suggestions. And, in promoting the licensing objectives, the Policy seeks
to protect young people, for example, from becoming victims of crime by asking
applicants to demonstrate that appropriate measures are in place where relevant..

The Council has considered the potential impact of the Statement of those with protected
characteristics as defined by section 4 of the Equality Act 2010. This impact is
summarised in the table below:

Age A person of a particular age or being within an age group
Any impact on all of the community, including the elderly, young people and children,
has been taken into account in developing the statement. The statement seeks to
strike a balance between the needs of all age groups whilst seeking to promote the
licensing objectives, most notably the protection of children from harm.

Disability A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which has
a substantial and long term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal
day to day activities.
As set out above, the impact on all members of the community has been considered.
However, it is recognised that some members of this group may be less able than
others to use many licensed premises due to limitations relating to accessibility in
certain buildings and spaces. However, the Statement reflects the Licensing
Authority’s desire to promote inclusivity and diversity within the licensed offer.

Gender
reassignment

This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another. This includes
person who consider themselves to be trans, transgender, transsexual.
The Statement is expected to have a neutral effect on this group.

Marriage and
civil
partnership

Marriage: a union between a man and a woman, or of the same sex, which is
legally recognised in the UK as a marriage.
Civil partnership: civil partners must be treated the same as married couples on
a range of legal matters.
The Statement is expected to have a neutral effect on this group.

Pregnancy
and maternity

Pregnancy: being pregnant. Maternity: the period after giving birth linked to
maternity leave in the employment context, In the non-work context protection
against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a
result of breastfeeding
The Statement is expected to have a neutral effect on this group.

Race A group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship),
ethnic origins or race

Page 704



All members of the community have been considered when developing the Statement.
As stated the Statement reflects the Licensing Authority’s desire to promote inclusivity
and diversity within the licensed offer.

Religion or
belief

Religion means any religion. Belief includes religious and philosophical beliefs
including lack of belief (for example Atheism)
The Statement is expected to have a neutral effect on this group.

Sex Someone being a man or a woman
The Statement seeks to promote the inclusivity and diversity within the licensed offer.
The Statement reflects the aim of the Council to promote the safety of women and girls
as well as other Council campaigns and acivities such as Hackney Nights.

Sexual
orientation

A person’s sexual attraction towards his or her own sex, the opposite sex or to
both sexes
The Statement is expected to have a neutral effect on this group.

Page 705



STEP 3: REACHING YOUR DECISION

5. Describe the recommended decision

The Licensing Act 2003 requires the policy to be reviewed at least once every 5 years.
There was no option but to carry out this review of the policy.

Staff within the Licensing Service and at partner agencies/authorities have been involved
in the development of the Policy which will be delivered in the usual way; development of
the draft policy, public consultation, recommendation to be approved by the Licensing
Committee following consultation, and finally approval by the Council. The application of
the Policy will be managed within existing resources.

The Licensing Act 2003 is permissive legislation. However, where an application is within
a special policy area there will be a presumption to refuse (subject to applications in
certain exemption categories).

Monitoring of decisions over the life of the Policy via monthly reports to the Chair of the
Licensing Committee and the Cabinet Member for Community Safety and Regulatory
Services along with annual reports to the Licensing Committee and the biennial statistical
return to the Home Office.

Page 706



STEP 4 DELIVERY – MAXIMISING BENEFITS AND MANAGING RISKS

6. Equality and Cohesion Action Planning

Please list specific actions which set out how you will address equality and cohesion
issues identified by this assessment.

N
o Objective Actions

Outcomes highlighting
how these will be

monitored
Timescales / Milestones Lead Officer

1
Maintain/enhance
positive impacts

Have regard to the
policy and Home
Office guidance in all
decisions where
relevant

Licensing Sub-Committees,
and delegated decisions.
Annual reporting to the
Licensing Committee

Life cycle of the policy (up to
5 years)

David Tuitt -
Business Regulation
Team Leader
(Licensing and
Technical Support)

2
Mitigate any
negative impacts

Consider all
applications on a
case-by-case basis

Licensing Sub-Committees,
and delegated decisions.
Annual reporting to the
Licensing Committee

Life cycle of the policy (up to
5 years)

David Tuitt -
Business Regulation
Team Leader
(Licensing and
Technical Support

3

Maintain/improve
information and
evidence about a
specific client group

Annual reporting and
monitoring of data
and statistics

Annual reporting to the
Licensing Committee Annually

David Tuitt -
Business Regulation
Team Leader
(Licensing and
Technical Support

4

5

Page 707



This page is intentionally left blank



Title of Report Members’ Allowances Scheme 2023/24

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24 July 2023

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All

Group Director Ian Williams, Acting Chief Executive

1. Summary

1.1. Each year the Council is legally required to consider and agree a Members’
Allowances Scheme.

1.2. The Scheme is based on recommendations of the Independent Panel of
London Councils in their report; The Remuneration of Councillors in London
2022 and an independent report and recommendations for Hackney by Sir
Rodney Brooke CBE DL, who is a member of the London Councils
Independent Panel.

1.3. The Members Allowances Scheme takes account of the officer national pay
settlement (in April each year) in its formulation. There is no agreed
settlement in place yet for April 2023, therefore the 2022/23 Scheme rates
are being rolled forwards for 2023/24 to meet legal obligations (of having an
approved scheme in place for each year) until the national pay settlement for
local government negotiations are concluded.

1.4. A revised scheme for 2023/24 will be brought to Council for approval once
the pay negotiations have concluded.

1.5. Appendix 1 of this report details the Members Allowances Scheme for
2023/24 for approval.

1.6. There are no changes to the content of the scheme other than updating the
recent role name change of Deputy Cabinet Member from Cabinet Adviser.

2. Recommendations

2.1. Full Council is recommended to agree the report and the Members’
Allowances Scheme 2023/24 attached at Appendix 1.

Page 709

Agenda Item 12



3. Comments of the Group Director of Finance and Corporate Resources.

3.1. The Members Allowance Scheme for 2023/24 is detailed in Appendix 1. This
has not yet been updated to reflect any national pay settlement for Local
Government Officers for 2023/24 as this has not yet been settled. A further
report on the 2023/24 Scheme will be presented to Council for approval once
the national pay settlement is agreed..

3.2. The Members Allowance Scheme will be fully funded from the existing
budget allocation of £1.62m for 2023/24.

4. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

4.1. Section 18(1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 enables the
Secretary of State to make, by regulations, a scheme providing for the
payment of a basic allowance, attendance allowance and special
responsibility allowance to Members of a Local Authority. Section 18(2A)
stipulates that regulations may also authorise or require a scheme made by
a Local Authority to include provision for payment of allowances to Members
of the Council in respect of expenses in arranging for the care of children or
dependants as are necessarily incurred in carrying out their duties as
Members.

4.2. In exercise of these powers the Secretary of State has issued the Local
Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The
Regulations require that the Council make a scheme before the beginning of
each year for the payment of a basic allowance. The scheme must also
make provision for the Council’s approach to a special responsibility
allowance, dependent’s and carer’s allowance, travelling and subsistence
allowance and co-optees allowance.

4.3. In accordance with the Regulations, the Council is required to make
arrangements for the publication of the scheme once it has been made. The
form of publication must be in conformity with Regulation 16(1)(a) and
Regulation 16(1)(b).

4.4. Pursuant to Part 2, Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution, it is a function of
Full Council to adopt the Members’ Allowance Scheme.

4.5. In considering this scheme, the Council must have due regard to the need to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and
those who do not, in line with the public sector equality duty placed on all
public bodies pursuant to Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

Page 710



Appendices

Appendix 1 - Members’ Allowances Scheme 2023/24

Background documents

The Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 - Report of the
Independent Panel. Published by London Councils, January 2022.
https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/39359

Report Author Bruce Devile
Head of Business Intelligence, Elections &
Member Services
bruce.devile@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 3418

Comments for the Group
Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources
prepared by

Deirdre Worrell
Director, Climate Homes & Economy and Chief
Executive’s Directorate Finance
deirdre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 7350

Comments for the Director
of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services
prepared by

Louise Humphreys
Head of Legal and Governance
louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk
020 8356 4817

Page 711

https://www.londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/39359
mailto:bruce.devile@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:deirdre.worrell@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
Members’ Allowances Scheme 2023/24
(July 2023 Council)

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This Scheme is based on the independent report and recommendations of
Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL, Chair of London Councils Independent
Remuneration Panel. It also takes account of London Council’s report; The
Remuneration of Councillors in London 2022 published by its independent
panel of which Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL is a member.

1.2 This Scheme has been approved by Full Council of the London Borough
of Hackney in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.

1.3 This Scheme may be cited as the London Borough of Hackney Members’
Allowances Scheme for 2023/24.

1.4 At the start of each municipal year, Full Council shall adopt a Scheme for
the payment of Basic Allowances, as required by the Regulations.

1.5 In addition, provision for the following allowances shall be made in
accordance with the Regulations for payments of:

● Special Responsibility Allowance;
● Independent and Co-opted Members Allowance;
● Independent Person Allowance;
● Carers Allowance;
● Parental Leave and Sickness Pay;
● Travel and Subsistence Allowance;

1.6 The London Borough of Hackney has arrangements for its Scheme to be
independently reviewed when required with reference to London Councils
Independent Remuneration Panel.

2. BASIC ALLOWANCE

2.1 A Basic Allowance is paid to all Councillors in recognition of their -
2.2 commitment to attend formal meetings of the Council as well as meetings

with officers and constituents. The Basic Allowance is intended to cover
any incidental costs which may arise, such as the use of private
telephones.

2.3 Each Councillor is entitled to claim a Basic Allowance of £12,014.00 per
annum, which is payable monthly via the Council’s payroll.

1Page 713



3. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE

3.1 A Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) is payable in addition to the
Basic Allowance to those Councillors that are given significant additional
Council duties.

4. THE ALLO WANCES

4.1 The Basic Allowances and SRAs are as follows:-

BASIC ALLOWANCE

Basic Allowance
All Councillors (except the Mayor) £12,014.00

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES

Political Roles – Majority Group

Majority Group Chair £2,807.00
Majority Group Secretary £2,807.00
Majority Group Whip £6,119.34

Political Roles – Opposition Group
(When the Council is formed with one opposition group)

Opposition Group Leader £24,317.65
Opposition Group Whip £2,807.00

Political Roles – Opposition Groups
(When the Council is formed of two opposition groups and where
there is a majority and minority group)

First Opposition Group Leader £15,281.99
First Opposition Group Whip £2,807.00
Second Opposition Group Leader £9,532.61

Panel Members

Adoption Panel Member £2,807.00
Fostering Panel Member £2,807.00

Committee Chairs

Chair of Audit Sub Committee £8,671.22
Chair of Corporate Committee £8,671.22

2Page 714



Chair of Licensing Committee £19,256.42
Chair of Pensions Board £2,807.00
Chair of Pensions Committee £17,342.46
Chair of Planning Sub Committee £19,256.42
Chair of Standards Committee £2,807.00

Scrutiny

Scrutiny Commission Chairs £15,708.23
Chair of Scrutiny Panel £9,532.61
Vice Chair of Scrutiny Panel £6,355.07

Speaker and Deputy Speaker

Speaker (see 4.3 below) £21,145.70
Deputy Speaker (see 4.3 below) £5,853.05

Deputy Cabinet Members

Deputy Cabinet Members £17,342.46

Cabinet Members

Cabinet Members £39,015.33

Deputy Mayor

Deputy Mayor £45,964.43

Directly Elected Mayor

Directly Elected Mayor (see 4.4 below) £89,224.50

4.2 Only one SRA may be claimed. It will be for individual Members who
would otherwise qualify for more than one SRA to inform the Head of
Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services which allowance they
wish to claim, otherwise the highest allowance will be paid.

4.3 The roles of Speaker and Deputy Speaker do not attract a SRA but are
covered by a separate legal regime. Schedule 2 of the Local Government
Act 1972 provides that a London Borough may pay the Chair of the
Council (known as the Speaker in the London Borough of Hackney) such
allowances and full Council thinks reasonable for the purpose of enabling
the Chair to meet the expense of the office. There is a similar power in
respect of the Vice Chair (Deputy Speaker).

3Page 715



4.4 The role of the directly elected Mayor does not attract a Basic Allowance
or SRA. The Mayor receives one single allowance which covers all of the
responsibilities included in the role.

5. MEMBER ALLOWANCE UPLIFT

5.1 The Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances are normally uplifted
each year in line with the Local Government Pay Settlement Pay Rate
when this becomes known, and will be reviewed and approved by Full
Council at the start of each Municipal Year.

6. PENSIONS

6.1 In accordance with legislation, since the start of the 2014-18 electoral
term, Members of the Council are not entitled to participate in the Local
Government Pension Scheme.

7. PARENTAL LEAVE AND SICKNESS PAY

7.1 The Member Parental Leave Scheme is defined as Members’ entitlement
to maternity, paternity, adoption, surrogacy and shared parental leave.

7.2 All Members shall continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full in the
case of parental and sickness leave.

7.3 Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance shall continue to
receive their allowance in the case of parental and sickness leave in a
similar way that Council officers do. A replacement to cover the period of
absence can be appointed by Full Council, and the replacement will be
entitled to claim a SRA. Where the SRA in question relates to the Cabinet,
the appointment will be made by the Mayor.

7.4 Full details of the Member Parental Leave Scheme are attached at
Appendix A

8. DEPENDANT CARERS’ ALLOWANCE

8.1 The Council will make reasonable payments for the reimbursement of the
care of dependant relatives living with the Elected Member. Full details of
the Dependant Carers’ Allowance Scheme are attached at Appendix B.

9. TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE

9.1 The Council will provide an allowance to Members for any travel or
subsistence costs incurred as a result of attending a Council Approved
Duty or event outside of the Borough. Independent Members, Co-opted
Members and the Independent Person can claim for any travel or
subsistence costs associated with their Council duty. Full details of the
Travel and Subsistence Allowance are attached at Appendix C.

4Page 716



10. APPROVED COUNCIL DUTIES

10.1 The schedule of approved Council duties can be found at Appendix D of
this Scheme. Members of the Council may claim a Travel and
Subsistence Allowance and/or Carers’ Allowances when attending these
duties.

11. COUNCIL CYCLE SCHEME

11.1 Members are entitled to join the Council’s employee Cycle Scheme
whereby they can choose a bicycle and equipment from an approved
supplier (up to £3,000 in value) and the Council purchases it and loans it
to the Member. The Member will then repay the loan from their Basic
Allowance in return for the loan of the VAT free bicycle across an agreed
period. At the end of the loan period the Council may sell the bicycle to the
Member at a fair market value.

12. PART PAYMENTS

12.1 In the case of Basic Allowances, Special Responsibility Allowances, Travel
and Subsistence Allowance, or Dependent Carers’ Allowances, payment
will only be made for the period during which a person performs the duties
for which these allowances are payable. Where a Member, Independent
Member, Co-opted Member or Independent Person resigns or ceases to
be a Member, the part of the allowance payable for the period for which
they cease to be a Member, may be withheld by the Council.

13. REPAYMENTS

13.1 Where payment of any allowance has already been made in respect of
any period during which the Member, Independent Member, Co-opted or
Independent Person concerned ceases to be a Member, or is in any other
way not entitled to receive the allowance in respect of that period, the
Member, shall repay to the Council on demand such part of the allowance
as relates to any such period.

14. OPTING TO FORGO AN ALLOWANCE

14.1 Basic Allowance and SRAs will be paid automatically unless notice is
received in writing from the Member concerned forgoing the entitlement in
whole or in part. All such notices should be sent to the Head of Business
Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

5Page 717



15. CLAIMS AND PAYMENT

15.1 Payments in relation to Basic Allowances, SRAs, Independent Member,
Co-opted Member and Independent Person allowances shall be paid in
monthly instalments in accordance with this Scheme.

15.2 Basic, SRA, Independent Member, Co-opted Member and Independent
Person allowance payments are made net of income tax and National
Insurance through the PAYE system used for salaried employees. Bank
details are therefore required for each Member. If a Member changes their
bank details, the revised details should be provided to Member Services.

15.3 Claims for Travel and Subsistence allowances, and Dependent Carers’
allowance should be submitted no later than three months from the date
that expenses are incurred. Claims must be made on the agreed claim
form available from Member Services.

15.4 Claims will be checked on receipt by Member Services. Claims received
before the 20th day of the month will be paid on or before the 15th day of
the following month.

16. ALLOWANCES FOR INDEPENDENT MEMBERS AND CO-OPTED
MEMBERS

16.1 The standard rate for Independent Members and Co-opted Members
allowances is £129.80 per meeting. This is translated into an annual
allowance by multiplying this by the anticipated number of meetings. This
amount is payable to Co-opted Members on the Children and Young
People Scrutiny Commission, Pensions Board, Pensions Committee and
Standards Committee.

17. THE INDEPENDENT PERSON

17.1 The Council’s Independent Person for ethical governance matters shall be
entitled to an allowance of £523.16 per annum.

18 CHAIR AND MEMBERS OF THE DESIGN REVIEW PANEL

18.1 The Chair of the Design Review Panel shall be entitled to an allowance of
£450.00 per meeting.

18.2 Members of the Design Review Panel shall be entitled to an allowance of
£50.00 per hour, capped at £200.00 per meeting.

19. PUBLICATION

19.1 The Council is required to publish details of the Members’ Allowances
Scheme and the total amount received by each Member. The records
must also be available for inspection by any local government elector for

6Page 718



the authority, or by any local government elector of any principal Council in
whose area the authority operates.

20. REVIEW OF THE SCHEME

20.1 The Council has arrangements for its Scheme to be independently
reviewed with reference to London Councils Independent Remuneration
Panel.

20.2 Minor revisions are the responsibility of the Head of Business Intelligence,
Elections & Member Services in consultation with the Chair of the
Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel where needed.

21. QUERIES

21.1 Any specific queries regarding the entitlement to the Scheme should, in
the first instance, be addressed to the Head of Business Intelligence,
Elections & Member Services (members.services@hackney.gov.uk).
Queries regarding the processing of claims and payments should be
addressed to the Member Services team (020 8356 3373).

7Page 719



APPENDIX A

Member Parental Leave Scheme

The Member Parental Leave Scheme (and the term Parental Leave) is defined
as Members’ entitlement to maternity, paternity, adoption, surrogacy, and shared
parental leave.

The objective of the scheme is to ensure that insofar as possible Members are
able to take appropriate leave at the time of birth, adoption or surrogacy; that
both parents are able to take leave and that reasonable and adequate
arrangements are in place to provide cover for portfolio-holders and others in
receipt of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) during any period of leave
taken.

1. Introduction

In accordance with the Council’s Members’ Allowances Scheme, Members shall
continue to receive their Basic Allowance in full during Parental Leave.

Members entitled to a Special Responsibility Allowance will also continue to
receive this allowance during Parental Leave up to the same benefit levels as
officers in their equivalent policies.

Six-month rule
Any Member who takes Parental Leave retains their legal duty under the Local
Government Act 1972 to attend a meeting of the Council within a six month
consecutive period unless the Council Meeting agrees to an extended leave of
absence prior to the expiration of that six month consecutive period.

Resigning from Office
If the Member decides to not return to office following their Parental Leave,
Member Services must be notified. The Payroll Team must then be informed
within two working days of receiving notification.  Member allowance(s) will cease
from the effective resignation date, however any outstanding Maternity Pay
entitlement will continue to be paid by the Council.

Elections
If an election is held during the Parental Leave and Members are not re-elected,
or decide not to stand for re-election, their basic allowance and SRA if
appropriate will cease from the Monday after the election date.

Cover arrangements and returning to post
If a Member holds a position attracting a SRA, a temporary replacement would
normally be appointed for periods of extended Parental Leave.  The temporary
appointment would also be entitled to receive a SRA.

Unless the Member taking Parental Leave is removed from their post at an
Annual General Meeting of the Council whilst on Parental Leave, or unless the

8Page 720



Party to which they belong loses control of the Council during their Parental
Leave period, they will return at the end of their Parental Leave period to the
same post which they held before the Parental Leave began.

The Mayor however can change their Cabinet members and portfolios at any
time, though this would normally be in exceptional circumstances.  In such
circumstances, it is expected that any Cabinet member on Parental Leave would
normally return from their Parental Leave to a similar portfolio size.  

If there is a Mayoral election during a period of Parental Leave, any new Mayor
can form a new Cabinet and if this does not include the Member on Parental
leave, then their SRA will cease from the date the new Cabinet is formed.

2. Maternity Leave

Entitlement
All pregnant Members are entitled to Maternity Leave totalling 52 weeks,
regardless of their length of term in office (unless their term of office ends earlier
than this).

Compulsory Maternity Leave
Members must take a minimum of two weeks Maternity Leave from the date the
baby is born.

Maternity Leave Start Date
Maternity Leave will start:

● On a date chosen by the Member, which can be at any time after the
beginning of the 11th week before the Member’s expected week of
childbirth and up to the date the baby is born

Maternity Leave may be triggered before the chosen date where:
● The baby is born early. Maternity leave commences the day after the

Member gives birth; or
● The Member has sickness absence for a pregnancy-related reason in

the four weeks before the expected week of childbirth. Maternity
Leave commences the date after the sickness absence

In summary, Maternity Leave is triggered by the date notified by the pregnant
person, the actual birth of the baby, or pregnancy related sickness immediately
prior to the due date - whichever occurs first.

Notification of Maternity Leave
The Member must notify Member Services in writing no later than the end of the
15th week, or as soon as reasonably practicable, before the expected week of
childbirth.

Information must include:
● Confirmation of the expected date of childbirth.

9Page 721



● A copy of the MATB1 (a certificate available from a doctor or midwife). The
original must be provided if the Member wishes to claim Maternity Pay
(MP) from the Council.

● The Parental Leave Confirmation Form, which will confirm the date
Maternity Leave will start.  It should be noted that Maternity Leave can
start any day of the week.

On receipt of the information, within two weeks, Member Services will
acknowledge that the period of absence has been noted and forward the
information to the Council’s Payroll Team.

The Council’s Payroll Team will write to the Member to confirm the Maternity
Leave period, including the end date, i.e. a maximum of 52 weeks and
entitlement to allowance(s).

Member Maternity Allowance Entitlement

Basic Allowance
A Member on Maternity Leave will continue to receive this allowance throughout
the Maternity Leave period. If, however, an election is held during the Member’s
Maternity Leave and they are not re-elected, or they decide not to stand for
re-election, the basic allowance will cease from the Monday after the election
date, when their office officially ends.

Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA)
If a Member receives a SRA during their Maternity Leave it will be paid as
follows:

For Members not claiming Maternity Pay (MP) through the Council:

First six weeks 90% of SRA plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus basic allowance

25 to 52 week Basic allowance only

For Members claiming MP:

First six weeks 90% of SRA, including MP plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus MP and basic allowance

25 to 39 weeks MP and basic allowance

40 to 52 weeks Basic allowance only

Special Circumstances

Premature Baby Leave

10Page 722



Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive one extra day
of Premature Baby Leave receiving full SRA for every day their premature baby
spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave entitlement will be added to the
end of the Members Maternity Leave period after this leave entitlement has been
exhausted.

Illness due to pregnancy
If a Member has not started Maternity Leave, and cannot discharge their duties
as a Councillor due to a pregnancy related illness at anytime after the beginning
of the fourth week before the expected week of childbirth, Maternity Leave will
have to start the day after the first day of their illness.

The Member is responsible for informing Member Services if this situation
occurs.

Members Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed within
two working days of receipt of the details.

The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation of Maternity Leave and
allowance entitlement to the Member, with a copy to Members Services, within
ten working days.   

Early Delivery
If the baby is born earlier than expected and the Member has not yet started their
maternity leave, the Maternity Leave will automatically start the day after the
baby is born.

As soon as is practically possible, the Member must inform Member Services
with a MATB1 form produced to confirm the baby’s date of birth and the original
expected date of delivery.

Members Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed within
two working days of receipt of the details.    

The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation of Maternity Leave and pay
entitlement to the Member, with a copy to Members Services, within ten working
days.

Maternity Pay (MP)
For Members in receipt of a SRA who want to claim a Statutory Maternity Pay
equivalent (members are not entitled to SMP), an original copy of their MATB1
form must be provided.  

Multiple Births
Maternity Leave arrangements are unaffected by the number of babies born from
a single pregnancy.

Returning from Maternity Leave early
If a Member wishes to return from Maternity Leave earlier than originally planned
they should inform Member Services in writing.

11Page 723



Member Services will ensure that the Council’s Payroll Team is informed within
two working days of receipt of the details.

The Council’s Payroll Team will provide confirmation that the information has
been received and relevant reinstatement or adjustment of the SRA has been
actioned, with a copy to Member Services, within ten working days.  

Still Birth
If a baby is delivered after 24 weeks of pregnancy the Member is entitled to
Maternity Leave and allowance(s).

3. Paternity Leave

Entitlement
Members are entitled to a maximum of two weeks Paternity Leave (Six working
days at full allowance and four at the statutory rate).

Qualifying Criteria
Birth
To qualify the Member must

● Be the biological father and have or expect to have responsibility for the
child’s upbringing
OR:

● Be the spouse (husband or wife), civil partner or partner of the person
giving birth and have or expect to have the main responsibility for the
child’s upbringing, along with the person who gave birth

Adoption
The Member must

● Be the spouse (husband or wife), civil partner or partner of the adopter
and have or expect to have the main responsibility for the child’s
upbringing, along with the other parent

Surrogacy
To qualify the Member must (with their partner) meet the criteria for ‘Adoption
Leave’.
The Member must

● Be the intended parent and be responsible for the child (with their partner)
● Be in a couple
● Not be the parent who will take ‘Adoption Leave’

Note: Partners, couples and spouses can be of the same or a different sex.

Member Paternity Allowance Entitlement

Basic Allowance + Special Responsibility Allowance

12Page 724



A Member on Paternity Leave will continue to receive their basic allowance and
SRA throughout the Paternity Leave period.

Starting and ending Paternity Leave
Birth
A Member can chose to start their leave:

● From the date of the child’s birth (whether this is earlier or later than
expected)

● From a chosen number of days after the date of the child’s birth (whether
this is earlier or later than expected) e.g. ten days after the child is born

● From a chosen date after the baby is expected to be born
● From the date of the child’s birth if the baby is ‘stillborn’ at 24 weeks

Normally Paternity Leave must be taken within eight weeks of the birth of the
child. However, if the baby is premature, then the eight weeks starts from the
expected date of childbirth. If the baby is born late, the eight weeks starts from
the actual birth of the baby.

If a Member chooses to start their Paternity Leave from the date the baby is born
and they are at work on that date, then the Paternity Leave will begin the next
day.

Adoption
Where the child is adopted within the UK, a Member can choose to start their
leave:

● On the date the child is place; or
● from a chosen number of days after the date the child is placed (e.g. ten

days after the child is place); or
● from a chosen date after the child is expected to be placed

Paternity Leave must be taken after the child is placed.

Where the child is adopted from overseas, a Member can choose to start their
leave:

● The date the child enters Great Britain; or
● From a chosen date after the child enters Great Britain

Surrogacy
Paternity Leave can commence the day the child is born or the day after if the
Member is working that day.  Normally Paternity Leave must be taken within eight
weeks of the birth of the child. However, if the baby is premature, then the eight
weeks starts from the expected date of childbirth. If the baby is born late, the
eight weeks starts from the actual birth of the baby.

Notification of Paternity Leave
The Member must notify Member Services in writing no later than the end of the
15th week before the baby is expected, unless this is not reasonably practicable.

13Page 725



Information must include:
● The week the child is due (included in the Parental Leave Confirmation

Form)
● When they want to start their leave (included in the Parental Leave

Confirmation Form)
● SC3 form for Birth Parents (Link to Gov.uk website)
● SC4 form for an Adopting or Parental order parent (Link to Gov.uk

website)
● SC5 form for a parent adopting from overseas (Link to Gov.uk website)

The Member must notify Member Services when their child was actually born or
adopted as soon as is reasonably practicable after the birth or placement.

Where the baby is adopted within the UK, the Member must notify Member
Services no later than seven days after the date they are notified of being
matched with a child.

Where the child is adopted from abroad, the Member must notify Member
Services no later than 28 days after receipt of the official notification.

The Member must give at least 28 days notice of the date they want the Paternity
Leave to begin.

Special Circumstances
Multiple Births
Only one period of Paternity Leave is available, even if more than one child is
born as the result of the same pregnancy or if more than one child is placed with
the individual or couple for adoption under the same arrangement.

Premature Baby Leave
Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive one extra day
of Premature Baby Leave on full SRA allowance for every day their premature
baby spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave entitlement will be added to
the end of the Members Parental Leave period after this leave entitlement has
been exhausted.

4. Adoption and Surrogacy Leave (referred to as Adoption Leave)

Entitlement
Members are entitled to Adoption Leave totalling 52 weeks (unless their office
officially ends before this).

Qualifying Criteria
For Adoption and ‘Fostering to Adopt’ - The Member must be newly matched
with the child by an adoption agency, which must be recognised in the UK.

14Page 726

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-a-birth-parent-sc3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-an-adoptive-parent-sc4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-becoming-an-adoptive-parent-sc4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ordinary-statutory-paternity-pay-and-leave-adopting-a-child-from-abroad-sc5


For Surrogacy – The Member must have applied, or be intending to apply for a
Parental Order in relation to the child.

Exclusions
Private adoptions do not qualify e.g. a foster parent adopting a foster child, or a
step-parent adopting their partner’s child.

Notification of Adoption Leave
Adoption and ‘Foster to Adopt’
Members must notify Member Services in writing of their intention to take
adoption leave within seven days of being notified of the match by the adoption
agency; advising:

● The date the child is being placed with them
● The date the leave will start
● Whether or not they intend to return to work following the Adoption Leave.

The notification must be accompanied by the following evidence:
● Name and address of the adoption agency
● The date the employee was notified they would be matched with the child
● The date the agency expects to place the child
● Matching certificate completed by the adoption agency.

Surrogacy
Members must notify Member Services in writing of their intention to take leave
advising:

● The date that the leave is expected to start (which is the date the baby is
expected to be born)

● The period of time they intend to take.

This notification must be made either during or before the 15th week before the
date the child is expected to be born.

If requested, the Member must provide (within 14 days of receiving the request) a
declaration confirming that:

● The leave is being requested for the intended purpose
● That they meet the qualifying conditions
● That they will be applying for a parental order, with an appropriate other

person, who may be another person of the same sex.

Member Adoption Leave Allowance Entitlement
Basic Allowance
A Member on Adoption Leave will continue to receive this allowance throughout
the leave period.

Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA)
If a Member receives a SRA during their Adoption Leave it will be paid as follows:

15Page 727



First six weeks 90% of SRA  plus basic allowance

7 to 24 weeks 50% of SRA plus basic allowance

25 to 52 weeks Basic allowance only

Commencement of Adoption Leave
The Adoption Leave period may begin:

For Adoption and ‘Foster to Adopt’:
● From the date of the child’s placement – whether earlier or later than

expected; or
● From a pre-determined date which can be up to 14 days before the

expected date of placement

Or, where adopting a child from overseas:
● The date the child enters Great Britain
● A pre-determined date which is no later than 28 days after this date.

For surrogacy the leave period begins from the date the baby is born. If the baby
is born while the Member is at work, then the leave can start from the next day.

Special Circumstances
Premature Baby Leave
Parents of babies born before 37 weeks will be entitled to receive 1 extra day of
Premature Baby Leave on full SRA allowance for every day their premature baby
spends in hospital before 37 weeks. This leave entitlement will be added to the
end of the Members Adoption Leave period after this leave entitlement has been
exhausted.

For Adoption and ‘Fostering to Adopt’ eligibility will depend on the circumstances.
However, normally where a premature baby is placed with the adopting parents
before 37 weeks, premature baby leave will apply.

For surrogacy these provisions will normally apply from the birth of the premature
baby i.e. the date the new parents receive the baby.

Adopting more than one child
Adoption leave entitlements are the same regardless of the number of children
adopted at any one time.

This also applies to surrogacy in the event of a multiple birth.

5. Shared Parental Leave

16Page 728



Shared Parental Leave enables eligible parents to choose how to share the care
of their child during the first year of birth or adoption. Its purpose is to give
parents more flexibility in considering how best to care for, and bond with, their
child.

A Member who has made Shared Parental Leave arrangements through their
employment is requested to advise Member Services of these at the earliest
possible opportunity. Every effort will be made to replicate such arrangements in
terms of leave from Council.

Requests will be looked at on a case-by-case basis.

17Page 729



APPENDIX B
DEPENDANT CARERS’ ALLOWANCE

1. LEGALITY

1.1 The Scheme is established by the Council under the Local Authorities
(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. The Dependent
Carers’ Allowance is payable in respect of the approved duties set out in
Appendix D. The Scheme requires Members claiming the allowance to
demonstrate and certify that carer expenses are actually and necessarily
incurred in the conduct of their official duties.

2. ENTITLEMENT

2.1 The Scheme provides for payments to be made to Members in respect of
care for “dependent relatives” living with the Member. For the purposes of
the scheme, “dependent relatives” are defined as:

I. children aged 15 or under;
II. relatives requiring full time care as a result of disability or infirmity.

2.2 Under no circumstances will the allowance be payable to an immediate
relative of the Member.

2.3 For meetings or duties within the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will
be paid for the duration of the meeting or approved duty plus an allowance
for up to one hour’s travelling time before and after the meeting. For duties
outside the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will be paid for the
duration of the duty plus the actual travelling time to and from the venue.
In all instances, total time claimed should be rounded to the nearest
half-hour.

3. RATES OF ALLOWANCE

3.1 The Dependent Carers’ Allowance is set at the same level as the London
Living Wage and is paid at this rate irrespective of the number of
dependants.

3.2 Where a dependent relative requires specialist professional care, the full
cost of care will be allowed, with the prior written approval of the Director
of Legal Services.

4. CLAIMS PROCEDURES

4.1 Members wishing to apply for Dependant Carers’ Allowance must submit
an application form to the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections &
Member Services, declaring that:

(i) claims made shall only be made in respect of a named dependent
relative (or relatives) as defined in the Scheme;

18Page 730



(ii) claims shall only be made in respect of the entitlements set out in
paragraph 2 above;

(iii) receipts shall be provided in support of all claims; and

(iv) where a specialist professional carer is to be engaged, that this is a
necessary expense for which full reimbursement will be claimed.

4.2 Members are required to notify Member Services in the event of their
entitlement to Dependant Carers’ Allowance ending.

4.3 All claims will be processed through the Council’s Payroll system.

5. AUDIT

5.1 Internal Audit will review the systems for payment of Members’ Allowances
on a routine basis and include sample testing of Members’ Allowances
transactions in annual probity programmes.

19Page 731



APPENDIX C
TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE

1. PUBLIC TRANSPORT

1.1 Elected Members may claim expenses for journeys associated with an
approved duty or event (see Appendix D) outside of the Borough. The
Council will not provide an allowance for any travel within the Borough.

1.2 Independent Members and Co-opted Members of the Council and the
Independent Person may claim for travel both inside and outside the
Borough for journeys associated with an approved duty.

1.3 The rate must not exceed the ordinary standard class fare or any available
saver fare.

1.4 Booking arrangements for travel outside of London must be made by
Member Services to seek the most cost-effective deal within current
parameters.

1.5 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

1.6 For travel within London, Members may claim for travel on an Oyster
Card. To claim for travel paid for on an Oyster Card, Members must
provide Member Services with a printed record of the journey travelled,
which can be obtained from the TfL website.

2. PRIVATE VEHICLE

2.1 Elected Members, Independent Members, Co-opted Members and the
Independent Person may claim expenses for journeys by private vehicle
associated with an approved duty outside of the Borough. The Council will
not provide an allowance for any travel within the Borough.

2.2 An allowance of 24p per mile can be claimed for travel by motorcycle.

2.3 An allowance of 46.9p per mile can be claimed for travel by motor vehicle
up to the first 8,500 miles annually. After the first 8,500 miles, an
allowance of 13.7p per mile.

2.4 Members, if using a private motor vehicle, should note that the Council
does not provide any insurance cover. Members should have Business
Use cover as part of their policy.

3. TAXI

3.1 Members can claim an allowance for the amount of a taxi fare, and any
reasonable gratuity, to enable them to attend an approved duty if the
following exceptional circumstances and criteria apply:

20Page 732



− in cases of a genuine emergency;

− when no public transport is reasonably available to travel to the
approved duty;

− for safety reasons;

− or if there is insufficient time to travel from one approved duty to
another by public transport.

3.2 The cost of travel by taxi must have been incurred wholly and exclusively
for a Member’s attendance at an approved Council duty. Taxi fares can
only be claimed by Members once approved by the Head of Business
Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

3.3 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

4. HIRED VEHICLE

4.1 Other than for a taxi, Members will only be able to claim an allowance per
mile as per the rates detailed in paragraph 2 above. As such, Members
will be reimbursed as if they had owned the vehicle, and will not be
reimbursed for the cost of hiring the vehicle.

4.2 A receipt must be produced for any claim by the Member who hired the
vehicle.

5. AEROPLANE

5.1 Subject to prior approval by the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections &
Member Services, the cost of travel at the ordinary fare or any available
cheap fare by regular air service or where no such service is available or
in case of urgency the actual fare paid by the Member where the saving in
time against other available means of transport is so substantial as to
justify payment of the fare by that means.

5.2 A receipt must be produced for any claim.

6. BICYCLE

6.1 Members may claim an allowance in respect of travel by bicycle or by any
other non motorised form of transport undertaken, of 20p per mile, in
connection with or relating to an approved Council duty outside of the
Borough.

6.2 Independent Members, Co-opted Members and the Independent Person
may claim a cycling allowance for journeys inside and outside of the
Borough.

21Page 733



7. SUBSISTENCE

7.1 The payment of subsistence allowance will only be payable to Members
for approved Council duties and conferences subject to the approval of the
Head of Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services.

7.2 When more than 4 hours away from normal place of residence, the
repayment of subsistence allowances will be made to cover the actual cost
incurred up to the following rates –

(i) Breakfast - £5.50
(ii) Lunch - £7.50
(iii) Evening Meal - £10.50
(iv) Out of pocket expenses (per night) - £4.50

7.3 Members are also entitled to overnight accommodation, if required, when
attending an approved duty outside of London, subject to the approval of
the Head of Business Intelligence, Elections & Member Services. Member
Services shall be responsible for making any bookings and will pay for the
accommodation directly.

7.4 Receipts must be produced for any claim in order to be valid.

22Page 734



APPENDIX D
APPROVED COUNCIL DUTIES

For the purposes of the payment of Travel, Subsistence and Carers’ Allowances,
Approved Council duties are defined as the following official meetings set out
below. For information, some outside bodies may pay an allowance to Members
for their role and work on that specific outside body.

1. Appointments Committee or Sub Committees
2. Cabinet or Cabinet Sub Committees
3. Corporate Committee or Sub Committees
4. Corporate Parenting Board
5. Council
6. Council Joint Committee
7. Health and Wellbeing Board
8. Joint Committee of the Four Growth Boroughs
9. Licensing Committee or Sub Committees
10.Overview and Scrutiny Commissions
11. Pensions Board
12.Pensions Committee
13.Planning Committee or Sub Committees
14.Standards Committee or Sub Committees
15.Ward Forums
16.Duties for the office of Speaker or Deputy Speaker
17.Education related meetings such as:

● the Schools Admissions Forum
● School Governing Bodies

18. Independent Statutory Panels
● Adoption Panel
● Fostering Panel

19.A meeting of outside bodies:
● Abney Park Cemetery Trust
● Agudas Israel Housing Association
● Bangla Housing Association
● Chats Palace Arts Centre
● Clapton Park TMO
● CREATE London Ltd
● East London NHS Foundation Trust
● Finsbury Park Trust
● Groundwork London
● Hackney CAB
● Hackney Community Law Centre
● Hackney Empire Ltd Board
● Hackney Parish Almshouse Charity
● Hackney Parochial Charity
● Homerton NHS Foundation Trust
● Hornsey Parochial Charity
● Lee Valley Regional Park Authority
● LGA General Assembly
● Local Government Information Unit (LGIU)

23Page 735



● London Councils Executive
● London Councils Grants Committee
● London Councils Greater London Employment Forum (GLEF)
● London Councils Leaders’ Committee
● London Councils Transport and Environment Committee (TEC)
● London Housing Consortium
● London Pensions Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV)
● London Legacy Development Corporation Planning Decisions

Committee (LLDC)
● London Road Safety Council
● London Youth Games Foundation
● Manor House Trust
● Newable Ltd
● North London Waste Authority
● Reserve Forces and Cadets Association (GL RFCA)
● Shoreditch Town Hall Trust
● Shoreditch Trust
● South Hackney Parochial Charity
● Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE)
● Sun Babies Trust
● West Hackney Parochial Charity

20.Attendance at Conference meetings:
● London Councils
● Local Government Association

21.Attendance at any meeting which is an induction training session, seminar,
presentation, or briefing arranged by Chief Officers of the Council for all
Members of a Committee, Sub Committee or Panel to discuss matters
relevant to the discharge of the Council’s functions and to which Members
of more than one party Group have been invited.

22.Attendance at visits and inspection of sites and premises arranged by
officers (e.g. opening of new facilities).

23.Attendance by Members who have the relevant special responsibility on
matters concerning the discharge of the Council’s functions.

24.Attendance before parliamentary Committees, official bodies and inquiries
to give evidence or make representations on the Council’s behalf.

25.Attendance at events by Members where they are invited to showcase or
represent the work of Hackney.

24Page 736



Title of Report Appointment of Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid
Service) and Returning Officer, Appointment of Interim
Group Director Finance and Appointment of Acting
Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services
and Monitoring Officer

For Consideration By Council

Meeting Date 24 July 2023

Classification Open

Ward(s) Affected All

Group Director Group Director Finance & Corporate Resources

1. Purpose

1.1. The purpose of this report is to seek Full Council approval of the following
Appointment Sub-Committee recommendations to fulfil the statutory roles
and responsibilities of the following roles:

(i) Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and Returning Officer

(ii) Interim Group Director Finance (Section 151 Officer)

(iii) Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and
Monitoring Officer.

2. Recommendations

2.1. Full Council is asked to approve the Appointment Sub-Committee’s
recommendation for Dawn Carter-McDonald, Director of Legal, Democratic
and Electoral Services and Monitoring Officer to undertake the statutory role
of Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and Returning Officer from
1 August 2023. The post is designated as the Council’s Returning Officer
and Electoral Registration Officer for the purposes of legislation pertaining to
electoral law. This appointment is anticipated to be for up to six months,
whilst a permanent recruitment process is undertaken.

2.2. Full Council is asked to approve the Appointment Sub-Committee’s
recommendation for Jackie Moylan, Director, Financial Management, to
undertake the statutory role of Group Director Finance and Section 151
Officer. This is anticipated to be for up to twelve months.

Page 737

Agenda Item 13



2.3. Should Full Council approve the above Interim Chief Executive (Head of
Paid Service) and Returning Officer, Appointment Sub-Committee
recommendation for Dawn Carter-McDonald to undertake this statutory role,
Full Council is also asked to approve the Appointment Sub-Committee’s
recommendation for Louise Humphreys, Head of Legal & Governance, to
undertake the statutory role of Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and
Electoral Services and Monitoring Officer, to backfill the statutory role that
Dawn Carter-McDonald has been undertaking. This acting up arrangement
is anticipated to be for up to six months.

2.4. The honorarium salaries to be paid to the Interim Chief Executive (Head of
Paid Service), Interim Group Director Finance and Acting Director of Legal
and Monitoring Officer are in line with the Council’s Pay Policy Statement
and in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules. At the
conclusion of these temporary arrangements, all three members of staff will
be entitled to revert to their substantive posts and in the case of Dawn
Carter-McDonald, resume the role of Monitoring Officer.

3. Background

3.1. The Council’s general power to appoint staff is set out in Section 112 Local
Government Act 1972. The Chief Executive is designated as the Head of
Paid Service under Section 4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989. This
is a statutory post with the duties set out in Section 4 (3) of the 1989 Act,
which includes reporting, (where they think it appropriate) on the
co-ordination of the discharge of the Council’s functions, the number and
grades of staff required, the organisation of staff and their appointment and
proper management.

3.2. Ian Williams, Group Director of Finance and Resources (Section 151 Officer)
took up the duty of deputising for the Chief Executive and Head of Paid
Service on the 31st March 2023. As the temporary arrangement was
extended, he took up the position more formally, as Acting Chief Executive
with effect from 24th April 2023.

3.3. Ian Williams will be leaving the Council to take up a new appointment at
Liverpool City Council with effect from 31st July and the current Chief
Executive Mark Carroll, announced his resignation from his role on the 14th
July 2023. An internal recruitment process has been undertaken to fill the
Statutory roles of Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and
Returning Officer, as well as the Interim Group Director Finance and Section
151 Officer with effect from 1st August 2023.

3.4. The procedures for the appointment of all Chief Officers are set out in Part 4,
Section 8 of the Council’s constitution. Part 4, Section 8 of the Council’s
Constitution allows for internal Acting up Chief Officer arrangements to be
determined by the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service).

Page 738



3.5. An internal recruitment process was carried out to appoint an Interim Chief
Executive and the Group Director Finance roles with effect from 1 August
2023.

3.6. Given that the recommended Interim Chief Executive is currently
undertaking a statutory role as the Council’s Monitoring Officer, the
Appointment Sub-Committee has also been asked to formally recommend
the Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and
Monitoring Officer appointment.

3.7. In accordance with the requirements of the Local Authorities’ (Standing
Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 and the Officer Employment Rules, the
Elected Mayor and Cabinet have been consulted about the proposed
appointments and have raised no objections.

4. Comments of the Group Director, FInance and Corporate Resources

4.1 There are no financial implications. All costs associated with recruitment and
remuneration of the Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and
Returning Officer, Group Director Finance and Resources and Section 151
Officer and Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and
Monitoring Officer will be met in line with the service budgets set by Council
and Cabinet.

5. Comments of the Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services

5.1 The report outlines the Appointment Sub-Committee recommendations, in
line with the requirements of Officer Employment Procedure Rules, as
outlined in Part 4, Section 8 of the Constitution.

Appendices

None.

Background papers

No background papers have been relied upon for the drafting of this report.

Page 739



Report Author: Stuart Thorn
stuart.thorn@hackney.gov.uk
Head of HR

Legal Comments Louise Humphreys
louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk
Head of Legal & Governance

Financial Comments Ian Williams
ian.williams@hackney.gov.uk

Chief Executive (Acting) and Group Director
Finance & Resources

Page 740

mailto:stuart.thorn@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:louise.humphreys@hackney.gov.uk
mailto:ian.williams@hackney.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	9 Annual Update on Progress with Decarbonisation Commitments
	9. Appendix 1 Council Implementation Plan 2023-2026
	9. Appendix 2 Annual update on progress with decarbonisation commitments July 2023 (1)

	10 Adoption of Council Constitution
	10 - Appendix 1 - Council Constitution - 24 July 2023 Optimised
	_Index
	0 - Glossary  (1)
	1
	1A
	1B
	1C
	2A (2)
	3
	3A
	4
	4A (2)
	4B
	4C
	4D
	4E
	5
	5A
	5B
	6
	6A
	6B
	6C
	6D (3)
	6E (2)
	6F (2)
	7
	7A (2)
	7B
	7C (2)
	7D (2)
	8
	8A
	8B (2)
	8C
	9
	9A
	9B
	9C (2)
	9D (2)
	9E (2)
	Appendices
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3


	11 Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2028
	11. Appendix 1 - Final Statement of Licensing Policy 2023-2028
	11. Appendix 2 - Licensing Policy Consultation 2023 Report
	11. Appendix 3 - Equality-impact-assessment-form

	12 Members' Allowances Scheme 2023/24
	12. Appendix 1 - Members Allowances Scheme 2023-24 (July 2023

	13 Appointment of Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) and Returning Officer, Appointment of Interim Group Director Finance and Appointment of Acting Director of Legal, Democratic and Electoral Services and Monitoring Officer

